
CABINET 
AGENDA 

 
Page 1 of 3 

 

TUESDAY 12 JULY 2022 AT 7.30 PM 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, THE FORUM 

 
The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda. 
 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor Williams (Leader) 
Councillor Griffiths (Deputy Leader) 
Councillor Elliot 
 

Councillor Anderson 
Councillor Banks 
Councillor Barrett 
 

 
 
For further information, please contact Corporate and Democratic Support or 01442 228209 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. MINUTES  (Pages 4 - 11) 
 
 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 24th May 2022 

 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
  

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To receive any declarations of interest 

 
A member with a disclosable pecuniary interest or a personal interest in a matter who 
attends a meeting of the authority at which the matter is considered - 
 
(i) must disclose the interest at the start of the meeting or when the interest 

becomes apparent 
 

and, if the interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest, or a personal interest 
which is also prejudicial 

 
(ii)  may not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter (and must withdraw 

to the public seating area) unless they have been granted a dispensation. 
 

Public Document Pack



 
Page 2 of 3 

 

A member who discloses at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary interest which is not 
registered in the Members’ Register of Interests, or is not the subject of a pending 
notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 days of the 
disclosure. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests, personal and prejudicial interests are defined in Part 2 
of the Code of Conduct for Members 
 
[If a member is in any doubt as to whether they have an interest which should be 
declared they should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer before the start of the 
meeting]  
 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   
 
 An opportunity for members of the public to make statements and ask questions in 

accordance with the rules as to Public Participation. 
 

 
5. REFERRALS TO CABINET   
 
 There are no referrals to Cabinet 

 
6. CABINET FORWARD PLAN  (Page 12) 

 
7. SOUTH WEST HERTS JOINT STRATEGIC PLAN  (Pages 13 - 226) 

 
8. PROVISIONAL OUTTURN REPORT  (Pages 227 - 244) 

 
9. CHIEF HOUSING OFFICER  (Pages 245 - 250) 

 
10. PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDERS - TOWN CENTRE  (Pages 251 - 327) 

 
11. PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER - DOG  (Pages 328 - 370) 

 
12. PMO RESERVE  (Pages 371 - 376) 

 
13. PARADISE DESIGN CODE  (Pages 377 - 508) 

 
14. CONSTITUTION AND FINANCIAL REGULATIONS  (Pages 509 - 766) 

 
15. CREMATORIUM GOVERNANCE  (Pages 767 - 776) 

 
16. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC   
 
 To consider passing a resolution in the following terms: 

 
That, under s.100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 Schedule 12A Part 1 as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 
2006 the public be excluded during the items in Part 2 of the Agenda for this 
meeting, because it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted, that, if members of the public were present during those items, there 
would be disclosure to them of exempt information relating to the financial and 
business affairs of the Council and third party companies/organisations. 
 
Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Part 1, paragraph 3. 
 



 
Page 3 of 3 

 

17. COMMERCIAL PROGRAMME UPDATE  (Pages 777 - 784) 
 

 
 



MINUTES 
 

CABINET 
 

24 MAY 2022 
 
Present: 
 
Members: 
 
Councillors: Williams (Leader)  
 Griffiths (Deputy 

Leader) 
 

 Elliot  
 Anderson  
 Banks  
 Barrett  
 
Officers: Nigel Howcutt Chief Finance Officer (S151) 
 Sara Whelan Hemel Place Strategy Programme Manager 
 Farida Hussain Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 
Also Attendance: 
 
  

 
 
 
The meeting began at 7.00 pm 
 
 

CA/38/21   MINUTES 
 

Cabinet agreed the meetings from the previous meeting 
 

CA/39/21   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies were received from Claire Hamilton 
 

CA/40/21   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

None 
 

CA/41/21   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

CA/42/21   REFERRALS TO CABINET 
 

CA/43/21   CABINET FORWARD PLAN 
 

CA/44/21   HEMEL PLACE STRATEGY UPDATE AND CONSULTATION 
LAUNCH 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



Decision 

1. To approves the public launch of the Hemel Place Strategy 
 
2. Delegated authority to the Strategic Director (Place) to agree details of the Hemel 
Champions’ Programme including the launch Date 
 
3. Delegated authority to the Strategic Director (Place) to agree the approach and 
timing of community and investor engagement following consultation with the Hemel 
Place Board 
 
Corporate Objectives 
 

  
A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 
Building strong and vibrant communities 
Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 
Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those most in need 
Climate and ecological emergency 
 
 
Statutory Officer Comments: 
 
 
Monitoring Officer: 
 
There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 
S151 Officer: 
 
The Hemel Place Programme has an approved budget to fund these proposals. 
 
Advice  
 
Cllr Anderson introduced the report, He said that members would be aware that they 
set up the Hemel Place Strategy as a major exercise to review opportunities for 
Hemel as a place, working with their partners across the board to look at 
opportunities post pandemic and planning constraints with the future in mind. It did 
not have a lot to add to the report apart from thank the officers for the amount of work 
and effort that had been put I to the marketing, and commonplace the consultants 
that they had commissioned to do that for them. 
 
S Whelan wanted to take Cabinet through the three recommendations on the public 
launch of the place strategy and the details around the Hemel champions and around 
the investor engagement consultation with the Hemel Place Board.  
 
In terms of the report itself, it sets the clear direction of travel for Hemel Hempstead. 
It sets out 10 key themes in para 3.1, the delivery will be really important theme 
around the Hemel Place Strategy and this would be an action plan which would have 
the oversight of the Hemel Place Board as well as governance within Dacorum 
Borough Council. She said the critical thing around the Hemel Place Strategy work 
would be around flexibility, to adapt the strategy as they were going through.  

Page 5



3 
 

 
S Whelan referred to appendix a and advised she had left the members a mini story 
book and business card so they could see the visuals in reals life and that was what 
appendix a would take them through. They have visuals with the green background, 
visuals with a blue background and visuals with a purple background, which were 
more designed for the investor market. They had tested these at UK Reef with 
positive results. Her thoughts were that the green background visuals would be the 
overriding visuals that they could take going forward and that clicks in with the theme 
of Life is Greener. 
 
They were looking at early July for the launch of the Hemel Place work, that would 
include an open invitation to become a Hemel champion and to attend Hemel 
Champion type sessions where people would be able to hear a strategic update from 
Dacorum Borough Council and for Dacorum to hear updates from the community, 
partners, from all their sectors as well as horizon scanning together. This will really 
build on the work they have done in the old town for example and being able to 
understand the priorities from all different sectors of the community and to be able to 
work together to improve places. 
 
The key aspect around the Hemel Champions will be to educate colleagues as well 
as teachers of schools. 
 
As second call to action would include engagement with the communities to be able 
to think about them and be able to ask qualitative questions, such as how they feel 
about Hemel, their levels of aspiration, what could support them further, what’s the 
best thing about Hemel and what could ass more value. 
 
S Whelan concluded that the three recommendations of the report was to be able to 
seek approval to launch the strategy and then to take forward that consultation with 
the Hemel Champions, she was happy to take questions.  
 
Cllr Tindall asked if the process was that, the report would go to the scrutiny 
committee before Cabinet or would it go straight to Cabinet.  
 
SWhelan said that it would most likely go to Overview & Scrutiny, as the report would 
have a greater level of detail. When items seeks permission to launch a strategy they 
would expect when looking at a consultation to analyse that and have that time with 
scrutiny before it goes to Cabinet, 
 
 
Recommendation agreed 
 

CA/45/21   QUARTERLY RISK REGISTER 
 

Decision 

To noted that the content of the report 

Corporate Objectives 

 
A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Page 6



Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those most in need 

Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 

Climate and ecological emergency 

 

Statutory Officer Comments: 

 
 
Monitoring Officer: 
 
No comments to add to the report. 
 
Deputy S151 Officer: 
 
This is a S151 Officer report. Comments are contained within the body of the report. 
 
Advice 

Cllr Elliot introduced the report and wanted to note that point on Cyber-attacks and 

that it was pleasing to see that the Cabinet office had given them accreditation for 

another year. He highlighted the continued issues with recruiting and retaining staff, 

which had been an issue countrywide for many businesses. He was pleased to say 

that they were on top of that. He was happy to take questions.  

Cllr Barrett referred to the risk for social media and that it had gone from 6 to 9, he 

asked why that was.  

N Howcutt explained that the reason was twofold and partly subjective. What they do 

is try to assess what the actual risk would be, between quarter 2 and quarter 3 they 

had a change of risk owner. Therefore, from that perspective there was a slightly 

different nuance to it. Also although the jump was from 6 to 9 it was only a change by 

one in terms of the likelihood of outcome, this was because reviewing social media 

was becoming more and more important and the likelihood of risk is beginning to 

grow, even given the mitigations that they have in place. A lot more of the officers 

role now was to monitor social media and the feedback from residents. They have 

more controls in place and they do monitor their own social media extremely tightly, 

however it is perceived that it has a higher risk now than it had historically and he 

could not see that changing in the near future.  

N Howcutt added that they are starting a root and branches review of the Strategic 

Risk Register, they last did this in November 2019 and since then have had Brexit, 

Covid and now the war in the Ukraine so now is the right time to review and it may 

Page 7



5 
 

come with a different outcome. He mentioned that the Cabinet members and other 

colleagues in the room should have the 15th June in their diaries for the first 

workshop to look at the strategic risks to start that discussion and look at the 

process.  

Cllr Tindall asked about if there were a task & finish group had been reviewed for the 

Local plan. 

Cllr Anderson said that there has not been a task & Finish group as there has been 

nothing to report. The understanding was that as soon as there was something to 

report that body would resume.  

Recommendations agreed 

 

CA/46/21   BUSINESS ENGAGEMENT 
 

Decision 

1. To approve the new framework for Business engagement in Dacorum. 
 
2. To approved the establishment of a high-level Strategic Hemel Business Board. 
 
3. To approve holding a business event, hosted by the Leader, to launch the Hemel 
Business Board. 
 
Corporate Objectives 

Building strong and vibrant communities 
Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 
 
Statutory Officer Comments: 
 
 
Monitoring Officer 
 
There are no specific powers for local authorities to engage with businesses 
generally however section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 provides a general power of 
competence which can be relied upon to implement the proposals in this report. 
Under section 137 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the power to 
incur expenditure, which in its opinion is in the interest of and will bring direct benefit 
to its area or any part of it or all or some of its residents. 
 
Deputy s151 Officer: 
 
The financial investment to support these proposals are minimal and can be funded 
through existing approved budgets in 2022/23. 
 
Advice 
 

Page 8



Cllr Anderson said that the report outlines a proposal for a new framework for the 
business in Dacorum and asks for our approval to establish a high level Strategic 
Business Board and to approve holding a business event hosted by the leader to 
launch the Hemel Business Board. Our Business engagement has worked really well 
with somethings but somethings have fallen by the wayside and are not working as 
well so they needed to revamp them. He was happy to take questions.  
 
J Doe recognised there were changes to economic circumstances as Nigel had 
referred to also in his previous item, as their economic position evolves with things 
like the Hemel Place Strategy and other things moving forward there is a need for a 
more strategic oversight of the business engagement. He wanted to draw members 
attention too appendix one which sets out their current arrangements which do work 
really well but they cover many different fields. The second point was that they were 
trying to inform this review through a review of their intelligence which is taken from 
the economic dashboard which was published last year. So it is getting the right sort 
of business sectors, the right business representation for this strategic board. He was 
happy to take questions. 
 
Cllr Barratt referred to a point in the report, which mentions that they had been 
allocated £1.763.392 by the government from the UK shared prosperity fund; he 
asked what that could be spent on. 
 
J Doe responded that that was a non-competitive bid, which was good news. It was 
money that had been allocated to them and what they were required to do in the 
early part of next month was to submit an investment plan back through to the 
government ready to set out their proposals. It was largely around the supply side of 
things like skills and other issues around economic promotion rather than capital 
works and so on. There was a published prospectus online from the government, 
they were currently working with other districts, and the County Council as there was 
an expectation from the government that when you were looking at things like skills 
developments that you may look beyond traditional district boundaries. That plan was 
being pulled together and will be submitted in time for the cut off.  
 
Cllr Williams asked if there was 15, 16 17 million across Hertfordshire for this or was 
there a huge variation on what districts were allocated. 
 
JDoe said that they were different amounts; he could get the figures over however 
there are different amounts and an amount for county also.  
 
Recommendation Agreed 
 

CA/47/21   HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY AMENDMENT 
 

Decision 
 

1. To approve the capital threshold proposed in paragraph 2.4. 

 

Corporate Objectives: 
 
A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 
Building strong and vibrant communities 
Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those most in need 

Page 9



7 
 

 
Statutory Officer Comments 
 
Deputy Monitoring Officer: 
 
No further comments to add to the legal implications included in the report. 
 
Deputy S151 Officer: 
 
The introduction of the capital threshold limit is not projected to have a negative 
impact on void levels and hence there is no projected financial impact on the HRA. 
The introduction of the threshold at £400,000 is in line with local property prices and 
would appear appropriate to allow the HRA to support vulnerable residents in the 
borough. 
 
Advice 
 
Cllr Griffiths introduced the report and said that members would recall that in 
November last year they brought the revised allocation policy to Cabinet it had been 
through the Tenants & Leaseholders Committee and the Overview & Scrutiny 
committee. There has been lots of consultation with the tenants and it was all 
approved, however when they were going through the final detail of the implantation 
they had at that point removed any limit on elderly person dwelling. They had a large 
vacancy in there but they had also removed any requirement for any capital money 
that people may have, therefore there was a zero threshold to qualify to go into 
sheltered housing. Through a lot of work that had been done through the sheltered 
housing team and people coming out of the pandemic they now, do not have a large 
number of voids that they did have.  
 
It had also been thought that they should bring in a limit, it is proposed at £400K, the 
evidence is all in the report that had been complied by the officers, and quite a 
thorough job had been done. She felt it was a very sensible way forward. She said 
that they could always come back and look at that threshold if it is too high or too low 
or giving them other issues or exceptions to the policy. She was happy to take 
questions. 
 
NBeresford wanted to touch on and highlight some key detail. Detailed research had 
been undertaken in relation to average market value for supported housing 
properties in the private sector. Market consideration was also given to the rising 
energy costs, inflation and the overwhelming position with the financial climate in 
relation to the housing costs level that perspective applicants could have to resolve 
their own housing need within the private sector market. As mentioned in the report 
appendices page 94 and 98 provides the narrative to support the context and the 
decision making process  in respect of average market values in Dacorum for 
general needs accommodation, those are currently sitting at just over £400k. 
 
Our protocol market value of the properties size between one and three bedroom are 
just over £318K and the average market value for supported housing properties in 
Dacorum are currently just over £328k. The information contained in the appendices 
and were the basis of the decision-making has enabled them to set that threshold of 
£400k. Its felt that was a sufficient level to enable that individual to be able to resolve 
his or her own hosing needs in Dacorum. The policy dopes make allowance for any 

Page 10



circumstance where they may be an exceptional situation such as a household 
inability to access the property on the open market that may require extensive 
adaptations. Letting them access the capital and enabling them to afford that home 
and resolve their own housing need. She was happy to take questions.  
 
Recommendation agreed 
 
 
 
The Meeting ended at 7.57 pm 
 

Page 11



 
Last updated: 11/04/2022 

 

 CABINET FORWARD PLAN  
 

 DATE 

MATTERS FOR 
CONSIDERATION 

 
Decision 
Making 
Process 

Reports to 
Monitoring 

Officer/ 
S.151 

Officer 

CONTACT DETAILS 
BACKGROUN
D 
INFORMATION 

 22/09/22 Housing 
Development 
Models 

  Robin Barton, Strategic Director 
Corporate & Commercial  
Robin.barton@dacorum.gov.uk  

To Be Provided 

 22/09/22 Covid Response  08/09/22 Emma Walker , Head of 
Environmental Protection 
emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk 
 
 

To Be Provided 

 22/09/22 MTFS Refresh  08/09/22 Nigel Howcutt, Chief Finance Officer  
01442 228662 
Nigel.howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk  

To Be Provided 

 22/09/22 Commercial 
Strategy 

  Robin Barton, Strategic Director 
Corporate & Commercial  
Robin.barton@dacorum.gov.uk 

To be Provided 

 22/09/22 Appointment of the 
Principal Contractor 
for the St Margaret’s 
Way project 

 08/09/22 David Barratt  
Head of Housing Development 
David.barratt@dacorum.gov.uk  

To be Provided 

 22/09/22 Electric Vehicle 
Charging Point 

 08/09/22 Ben Hosier  
Ben.hosier@dacorum.gov.uk  

To Be Provided 

 
 

Page 12

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Robin.barton@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:emma.walker@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Nigel.howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Robin.barton@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:David.barratt@dacorum.gov.uk
mailto:Ben.hosier@dacorum.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Title of report: South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan: Adoption of Statement of Community 

Involvement and approval of Regulation 18 document and associated Sustainability 

Scoping Report for consultation 

Date: 12th July 2022 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Alan Anderson, Portfolio Holder for Place 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Appendix A – Statement of Community Involvement (Final) 

Appendix B – Joint Strategic Plan ‘Realising our Potential’ - Regulation 18 Consultation 

document 

Appendix C - – Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 

Appendix D - Community Impact Assessment  

Appendix E – Strategic Planning & Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Recommendations to Cabinet (to be provided verbally). 

Background papers: 

 

1. Strategic Planning & Environment Overview and Scrutiny report 6th July 2022 
2. SW Herts JSP: Statement of Common Ground (November 2021)  
3. Realising our Potential – A vision for SW Herts, Prior and Partners (March 

2022). 
4. SW Herts ‘Your Future’   –  Initial Engagement results, Iceni Projects (July 2020)  
5. Consultation and Engagement Strategy (May 2022) 

All JSP documents are available on https://www.swhertsplan.com/ 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

EqIA: Equalities Impact Assessment 

HIA: Health Impact Assessment   

JSP: Joint Strategic Plan 

LPA: Local Planning Authority 

SAC: Special Area of Conservation 

SCI: Statement of Community Involvement 

SPD: Supplementary Planning Document 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Alex Robinson - Assistant Director for Planning   

 

   

Cabinet 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7

https://www.swhertsplan.com/
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


 

alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228002 (ext. 2002) 

 

Chris Outtersides – Joint Strategic Plan Programme Director 

 

Chris.Outtersides@dacorum.gov.uk  /  07970 551 782 

 

Laura Wood - South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan Lead 



Laura.Wood@dacorum.gov.uk / 07815 028 998 
 

 

  

Corporate Priorities Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Climate and ecological emergency 

Wards affected ALL 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1. That Cabinet notes the views of Strategic 

Planning and Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee.  

2. To seek Cabinet approval to adopt the Statement 

of Community Involvement for the Joint Strategic 

Plan. 

3. To seek Cabinet approval to consult on the Joint 

Strategic Plan ‘Realising our Potential’ - 

Regulation 18 document. 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. That Cabinet approves the Statement of 

Community Involvement for adoption. 

2. That Cabinet approves the Joint Strategic Plan 

‘Realising our Potential’ - Regulation 18 and 

associated Sustainability Scoping Report for 

consultation. 

Period for post policy/project review: 5 years 

 

  

Page 14

mailto:Laura.Wood@dacorum.gov.uk


 

1 Introduction/Background:  

1.1 This report seeks Cabinet’s approval for two sets of documents relating to the preparation 

of the South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan (JSP). The first relates to the adoption of the 

final version of the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) (Item 1 below). This was 

approved for consultation on 21st September 2021. The second relates to the approval for 

consultation of the Regulation 18 consultation document for the SW Herts Joint Strategic 

Plan, ‘Realising our Potential’ and associated Sustainability Scoping Report (Item 2 below).  

1.2 Members will be aware that, on 6th July 2022, Strategic Planning & Environment Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee considered and supported these documents for further 

consideration by Cabinet and Full Council. Officers will summarise the comments made at 

Cabinet. 

2 The Statement of Community Involvement and the Joint Strategic Plan: 

2.1 The South West Herts authorities (Dacorum Borough Council, St. Albans City and District, 

Watford Borough Council, Hertsmere Borough Council and Three Rivers District Council, 

with the support of Hertfordshire County Council) have agreed to work together to produce 

the South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan (JSP). This will provide a South West 

Hertfordshire integrated strategic planning framework and supporting evidence base to 

support sustainable growth to 2050.  

2.2 The JSP will be a statutory planning document, prepared under Section 28 of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended). The Plan will identify the overall 

quantum of housing and economic growth within South West Hertfordshire to be planned 

for to 2050 and its broad distribution across the area. The plan will identify strategic 

allocations and priorities, as well as the strategic infrastructure necessary to deliver the 

spatial strategy. 

2.3 All five LPAs will retain ‘sovereignty’ over the JSP process, with the plan following 

essentially the same process as individual Local Plans and, therefore, needing approval 

from each of the partner authorities at each key stage of its preparation and final adoption. 

2.4 The JSP will not affect the content of this current round of Local Plans being prepared by 

partner authorities in the South West Hertfordshire area.  The aim of the JSP is to establish 

a longer-term policy framework for the area against which subsequent Local Plan reviews 

can take forward, expand upon and deliver locally.  

Item 1 - Statement of Community Involvement (Appendix A) 

2.5 Cabinet and Full Council are being asked to adopt the final version of the Statement of 

Community Involvement (SCI) for the South West (SW) Herts Joint Strategic Plan. The SCI 

will govern consultation arrangements on the emerging joint strategic plan process. 

2.6 Members will recall that Cabinet approved the draft SCI for consultation on 21 September 

2021. The consultation involved consulting statutory consultees as well as providing copies 

of documents at local deposit points and libraries. 

2.7 To supplement the notification of statutory bodies, individual districts also consulted any 

relevant local consultees they considered appropriate.  For Dacorum, this comprised local 

residents’ associations and relevant action groups. 

2.8 Members should note that the proposed SCI for the JSP will only cover the consultation 

arrangements for that plan-making process and that its content and structure is consistent 

with this Council’s own SCI. 

Item 2 - Joint Strategic Plan ‘Realising our Potential’ - Regulation 18 Consultation document 

and associated Sustainability Scoping Report (Appendices B and C) 
Page 15



2.9 Cabinet and Full Council are also being asked to agree for consultation the Joint Strategic 

Plan ‘Realising our Potential’ – Regulation 18 Consultation and its associated Sustainability 

Scoping Report. 

2.10 The engagement on the JSP will involve two separate regulation 18 stages: 

 An initial high-level ‘Issues and Options’ document, focussing on establishing a clear 

vision and set of objectives for the plan (the document before this committee). 

 A second Regulation 18 stage comprising of a draft ‘Spatial Options’ document. 

This report only seeks approval to consult on the first stage. 

2.11 The content of the Issue and Options document has been informed by two previous informal 

consultations. The document will also set out the long term planning issues that are 

expected to face the SW Herts area to 2050, and suggests some broad principles that could 

be used to develop a plan to address these issues. The document also begins a high level 

discussion on the types of future growth options that could be considered for the area, but 

at this stage excludes any indicative housing or employment targets or suggest any growth 

locations.  

Sustainability Appraisal 

2.12 The Issues and Options document will be accompanied by a Sustainability Appraisals 

Scoping Report, prepared by Land Use Consultants Ltd on behalf of the SW Herts 

authorities.  This sets out a suggested framework against which future iterations of the plan 

can be assessed to establish its likely social, economic and environmental impacts.  

2.13 As the JSP progresses, the Sustainability Appraisal work will be extended to reference the 

conclusions of a separate process relating to the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 

which must also accompany the later stages of a statutory plan.  Members will be aware of 

the publication of the recent Footprint Ecology Report which assesses the impact of 

recreational pressure on the Chiltern Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation (SAC). 

2.14 As required by the regulations, feedback will be sought on this Sustainability Appraisal 

Scoping Report as part of the Issues and Options engagement. 

The Issues and Options consultation  

2.15 This SCI is being supplemented by an updated Communications and Engagement Plan 

that provides more detail regarding the proposed consultation approaches that will be 

deployed.  This approach reflects the recent award of a ‘Proptech’ grant from central 

Government to progress an innovative approach to engagement using a variety of social 

media platforms, as well as via the SW Herts bespoke engagement website - 

www.swherstplan.com.  The latter is based on the successful informal engagement ‘SW 

Herts – Your Future’.  

2.16 Consultation on the ‘Realising Our Potential’ document and associated Sustainability 

Appraisal Scoping report is programmed for late July / early August 2022 and will run for 8 

weeks. The document will employ a range of mechanisms to raise awareness and increase 

response rates to the consultation material.  

2.17 Members should note that the social media focussed element of the engagement, which is 

the core of the Government funded ‘Proptech’ grant, will need to be completed by around 

the end of August / very early September and reported on to the Department of Levelling 

Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) by the end of September to meet the grant 

conditions.  The wider consultation will however continue beyond this cut-off. 

2.18 Following consultation, the JSP team will summarise the comments received and set this 

out in a Consultation Report.  The content of this report will be discussed with the cross-

authority Strategic Planning Officers Group (SPOG), Steering Group (SG) and Strategic 

Page 16



Planning Members Group (SPMG), before being formally reported back to the district 

authorities.  Formal reporting is likely to take place when approval is sought to progress the 

second Regulation 18 (‘Spatial Options’) document. The timing of this next stage will 

depend upon Local Plan progress.  

3 Options and alternatives considered: 

3.1 Not agreeing the draft SCI for the SW Herts JSP would mean that this document would not 
be in place in time for the first consultation on this new joint plan, which is currently 
scheduled for July / August 2022.  It is a legal requirement to have an adopted SCI in place 
before consultation commences on any statutory plan. Relying on existing broad references 
to JSP engagement processes within current district-level SCIs could result in confusion 
and a lack of consistency across the SW Herts area regarding how engagement on the joint 
plan is carried out. To fail to have an agreed SCI in place, or to have an inconsistent 
approach to consultation arrangements could potentially result in a successful future legal 
challenge to the JSP. 

3.2 In the case of the draft Issues and Options consultation documents, the principal alternative 
option is for the council to not agree it for consultation.  This option is not recommended as 
it would result in a significant delay to the JSP programme.  This programme, together with 
the broad coverage of the JSP, has been agreed by the participating councils through the 
signing of a Statement of Common Ground in November 2021 (see 
https://www.swhertsplan.com/11380/widgets/33598/documents/24472 ).  It would also 
mean that the JSP programme would not be able to meet the conditions of the substantial 
grant it has received from the Government’s ‘Proptech’ fund, which is covering the costs of 
the majority of the consultation activity.  Government requires a report of the effectiveness 
of the consultation to be submitted in September 2022.  This deadline can only be met if 
the proposed consultation timetable is satisfied. 

 
4 Consultation: 
 

The following officers/services have been consulted on the work undertaken to date:  

 James Doe, Strategic Director (Place) 
 Ronan Leydon, Team Leader - Strategic Planning 
 Sara Whelan, Hemel Place Strategy Programme Manager 
 Phillipa Zieba, Hemel Garden Communities Programme Director 

 
5 Financial and value for money implications: 

There are no direct financial implications related to this report. The Joint Strategic Plan Programme 
is supported by an annual contribution of £40k from each of the participating authorities.  The costs 
of preparing and consulting on this Issues and Options document are, however, covered by a 
Government ‘Proptech’ fund grant, so is at nil cost to the Council. 

6 Legal Implications: 

There are no direct legal implications.  The process of preparing the Issues and Options document 
for the Joint Strategic Plan has been carried out in accordance with Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended), Localism Act 2011, The Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended), and The Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020. The preparation of the 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report has been carried out in accordance with the relevant 
regulations referenced above. 

7 Risk implications: 

7.1 One of the main risks is that this Council, or another of the participating Councils, does not 
approve the Statement of Community Involvement or the Joint Strategic Plan ‘Realising our 
Potential’ - Regulation 18 Consultation document for public consultation. The consequence 
would that the consultation would be delayed.  

Page 17

https://www.swhertsplan.com/11380/widgets/33598/documents/24472


7.2 It is a legal requirement to have an adopted SCI in place before consultation commences 
on any statutory plan. To fail to have an agreed SCI in place, or to have an inconsistent 
approach to consultation arrangements could potentially result in a successful future legal 
challenge to the JSP. 

8 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 

8.1 The Council has also undertaken a Community Impact Assessment (CIA) of the Statement 
of Community Involvement (Appendix D). 

8.2 The consultation document is supported by an independent Sustainability Appraisal 
Scoping Report prepared by Land Use Consulting Ltd, upon which feedback is also sought 
as part of the consultation process.  This considers the impact of the document against a 
sustainability framework, covering a range of environmental, social and economic 
objectives.  The final Sustainability Appraisal report will also incorporate a high level 
Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) and Health Impact Assessment (HIA). 

8.3 There are no Human Rights Implications arising from this report. 

9 Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community 

safety) 

 The consultation document is supported by an independent Sustainability Appraisal Scoping 
Report prepared by Land Use Consulting Ltd.  This considers the impact of the document against 
a sustainability framework, covering a range of environmental, social and economic objectives.  
The final Sustainability Appraisal report will also incorporate a high level Equalities Impact 
Assessment (EqIA) and Health Impact Assessment (HIA).   

10 Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 

 There are no implications for Council infrastructure arising from this project. 

11 Statutory Comments 

Deputy Monitoring Officer: 

 The Council is required by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and 

Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2017 (as amended) to review its 

Statement of Community Involvement every five years. 

Section 151 Chief Finance Officer 

 There are no expected financial implications for the Council in the development and implementation 

of this strategy. 

12 Conclusions: 

12.1 The production of the Joint Strategic Plan will provide a long term strategic framework for 
the South West Hertfordshire Authorities, including Dacorum. The JSP will focus on climate 
resilience, infrastructure delivery, strategic housing and employment.  However, it will be 
about more than planning and will help create a framework for investor confidence in SW 
Herts. The JSP will increase potential for unlocking infrastructure investment from 
Government, creating a bigger canvas to make decisions about future growth, allowing an 
infrastructure-led approach, not ‘planning by numbers’. It will also enable a coordinated 
approach to investment and delivery of infrastructure giving priority to strategic solutions. 

12.2 This report seeks approval for three key early documents underpinning the JSP, without 
which progress on the JSP will not be possible.  

Page 18



0 
 

 

 

Statement of Community Involvement 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

June 2022 

 

 

 

   

Page 19



1 
 

CONTENTS 

 

1.0  INTRODUCTION         

 

− What is a Statement of Community Involvement?    2 

 

− What is the SW Herts Joint Strategic Plan?     2 

 

− Why is a Statement of Community Involvement being prepared?  3 

 

− What does this Statement of Community Involvement cover?   3 

 

− Joint Strategic Plan governance       4 

 

− Duty to Co-operate        5 

 

2.0  WHEN AND HOW THE COUNCILS CONSULT ON THE JOINT STRATEGIC PLAN 

 

− Background         6 

 

− How and when will we involve stakeholders?     6 

 

− How long we will consult for       9 

 

− How to comment on the JSP       9 

 

 

3.0 SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS AND NEIGHBOURHOOD   11

 PLANNING   

 

 Supplementary Planning Documents                 11 

 

 Neighbourhood Plans                                                                                          11                            

 

4.0 REVIEW OF THE SCI        12 

 

APPENDICES 

− Appendix 1 – Statutory Consultation groups      14 

 

− Appendix 2 - Document inspection points      16 

 

− Appendix 3 – Glossary of acronyms       18 

 

  

Page 20



2 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
What is a Statement of Community Involvement? 
 

1.1 This Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out how Dacorum Borough 
Council, St Albans City & District Council, Hertsmere Borough Council, Watford 
Borough Council, Three Rivers District Council and Hertfordshire County Council 
(referred to as ‘the Councils’), will engage stakeholders and the public in preparation 
of the South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan (JSP).  

 
1.2 The SCI describes how the Councils will ensure that the public, businesses, 

landowners, developers, adjoining local authorities, government agencies and any 
other individuals, groups and organisations within, and with an interest in, the local 
authority areas, can get involved in the creation of the JSP. 
 

1.3 The production of an SCI is required by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 

 
What is the South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan? 

 

1.4 The South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan (JSP) will provide South West 
Hertfordshire with an integrated strategic planning framework and supporting evidence 
base to support sustainable growth to 2050. The area covered by the JSP is shown in 
Figure 1.  
 

Figure 1: Area covered by the JSP 

 

  
 
 
 

Page 21



3 
 

1.5 The JSP will be a formal Development Plan Document (DPD), prepared under Section 
28 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) which enables 
two or more local planning authorities to agree to prepare a joint Plan. Hertfordshire 
County Council will support the plan preparation process.  
 

1.6 The JSP will identify the overall quantum of housing and economic growth within South 
West Hertfordshire to be planned for to 2050 and its broad distribution across the area. 
The plan will identify strategic allocations and priorities, as well as the strategic 
infrastructure necessary to deliver the spatial strategy.  
 

1.7 The JSP will build on the current suite of adopted and emerging Local Plans (that cover 
the periods up to between 2031 and 2038), the Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan, 
and will also link to a new Local Industrial Strategy prepared by the Hertfordshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP). 

 
1.8 The JSP will be formally adopted by the individual LPAs and will provide a high-level 

framework for the review and roll-forward of the Local Plans and related 
Neighbourhood Plans. Figure 2 shows the relationship between the JSP and other 
relevant plans. 
 
Why is a Statement of Community Involvement being prepared? 

 
1.9 There is a legal requirement on Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) to undertake public 

consultation on local plans. In addition, one of the aims of the planning system is to 
encourage effective and meaningful community and stakeholder involvement 
throughout all of the stages of the plan making process. Effective community 
involvement will give people the opportunity to say what sort of place they want South 
West Herts to be and explain how their views can make a difference.  

 
1.10 This SCI sets the steps that will be taken to ensure that the JSP will be shaped by 

early, proportionate and meaningful engagement between plan makers and 
communities, local organisations, businesses, infrastructure providers and statutory 
consultees.  
 

1.11 The outcomes of the consultation processes set out in this SCI will be an important 
element of the considerations of the LPA’s in developing the JSP. However, they are 
one element of a wider range of material considerations such as the evidence base 
and the Sustainability Appraisal. Consultees and those engaged should therefore 
recognise the multi-faceted considerations that will go towards informing the content 
of the JSP that is submitted for Examination.  
 

1.12 The South West Hertfordshire authorities are committed to a continuous review of the 
SCI to ensure that it continues to reflect current advice and best practice guidance. 

 
What does this Statement of Community Involvement cover? 

 
1.13 This SCI is specific to the production of the JSP. The Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) 

will also have their own individual SCIs concerned with the production of their Local 
Plans and any Neighbourhood Plans in their areas.  These district-level SCIs also set 
out how each authority will deal with planning applications arising as a result of site 
allocations.  
 

1.14 This SCI will therefore sit alongside the existing SCIs; it will not replace them.  
 

Page 22



4 
 

 
Figure 2: Relationship between JSP and Other Plans 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
JSP Governance 
 

1.15 A JSP Strategic Planning Member Group (SPMG) was established in November 2019 
to guide the preparation of the JSP. The SPMG will monitor progress on the JSP, 
approve its budget and review the milestones as part of an annual review. Minutes 
from the SPMG meetings can be found on each of the partner authority’s websites. 
 

1.16 This SCI has been endorsed by the Strategic Planning Members Group (SPMG) and 
formally considered through the governance arrangements of the respective South 
West Hertfordshire Local Planning Authorities. 
 

  

National and Sub-Regional Planning and 

Infrastructure Strategies 

Hertfordshire Local 
Transport Plan  

(Hertfordshire County 

Council) 

Neighbourhood Plans 

South West Hertfordshire 

Local Plans 

Hertfordshire 

Strategic Economic 

Plan 

South West 

Hertfordshire Joint 

Strategic Plan 

Page 23



5 
 

Duty to Cooperate 
 

1.17 The Localism Act 2011 places a ‘duty to cooperate’ on local planning authorities, 
 county councils, neighbouring authorities and other public bodies for any strategic 
 cross boundary issues. 

 
1.18 The duty to cooperate prescribed bodies are defined in the Town and Country Planning 

(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012) and listed in Appendix 1. 
 

1.19 The way the South West Hertfordshire local authorities are working together under the 
Duty to Cooperate to complete the JSP is set out in a South West Hertfordshire-wide 
Statement of Common Ground, available at 
https://www.swhertsplan.com/governance-and-papers.  The preparation of additional 
Statements of Common Ground covering the relationship of the JSP with other 
adjoining authorities will be considered as the plan-making process progresses. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 24

https://www.swhertsplan.com/governance-and-papers


6 
 

2.0 WHEN AND HOW WILL THE COUNCILS CONSULT ON THE JSP? 
 
Background 
 

2.1 A public-sector Equality Duty came into force on 5 April 2011. This means that public 

bodies must consider all individuals when carrying out their day-to-day work in shaping 

policy, in delivering services and in relation to their own employees. It also requires 

that public bodies have due regard to the need to:  

 eliminate discrimination 

 advance equality of opportunity  

 foster good relations between different people when carrying out their activities.  

 

2.2 The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 

amended) identifies certain prescribed bodies that must be consulted when preparing 

Local Plans and Supplementary Planning Documents. These bodies must be 

consulted where the proposed subject matter will be of interest to them. These groups 

are listed in Appendix 1.  

 

How and when will we involve Stakeholders? 
 

2.3 Government regulations set out the formal stages in the preparation process of the 

JSP i.e. when we must formally publish the documents for comment and for how long. 

This SCI reflects how these requirements will be met.  

 

2.4 The South West Hertfordshire Councils intend that all people should have the 
opportunity to have their say in how South West Herts is planned, irrespective of their 
differences; including by way of age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation. Research may be 
commissioned to understand public attitudes on relevant topics. Documents will be 
written in plain English. To achieve value for money and to ensure that consultation is 
proportionate to the issues being considered, the translation of documents into other 
languages will be balanced against the cost, time constraints and the available 
resources.  

 
2.5 The early stage of plan preparation (under Regulation 18) will involve engagement with 

stakeholders, prescribed bodies, partners and consultees to inform the identification of 
issues and options. Notwithstanding this, engagement with key stakeholders will be 
undertaken on a continuous basis to ensure options are thoroughly tested and policy 
preparation is robust. Panels or reference groups may be used as part of this 
engagement as well as additional research such as opinion polls. 
 

2.6 A JSP consultation database will be maintained in accordance with the General Data 

Protection Regulations. This will include contact information for the prescribed bodies 

listed in Appendix 1, together with any other groups or organisations who have asked 

to be kept notified.  When an individual or organisation makes a representation on the 

JSP, or its supporting documentation, we will add their details to this consultation 

database.  

 

2.7 There will also be opportunities to comment on the draft JSP when it is formally 

published (Regulation 19 stage) and to be involved during its examination by an 

independent Inspector (Regulations 23-24). 

Page 25



7 
 

 

2.8 A Sustainability Appraisal is an integral part of the plan preparation process and is 

required for Development Plan Documents (DPDs) such as the JSP. It looks at the 

environmental, social and economic effects of a plan to make sure that the plan 

promotes sustainable development and takes the most appropriate approach given 

reasonable alternatives. At each stage of the JSP preparation there will be a 

corresponding stage of the Sustainability Appraisal which will be made available for 

comment during public consultation. 

 

2.9 Groups we will engage with during the JSP preparation process will include:  

 

 the community and members of the public; 

 statutory consultees as set out in the relevant regulations, including 

neighbouring councils; 

 local service providers and other consultation bodies who may have an interest 

in the JSP; and  

 other interested groups, businesses, developers, landowners, agents, Town 

Councils and Parishes, and residents who register on our consultation 

database.  

2.10 Different levels and methods of community involvement will be appropriate as the JSP 

progresses through the plan-making process, but in summary, we will follow the 

following approach: 

 We will contact appropriate organisations and individuals directly (i.e. those 

listed in Appendix 1 and on the wider JSP consultation database).   

 We will publicise consultations by a combination of methods, as appropriate, 

such as: website, press release, displays, social media, and community events.  

 We will make consultation documents available at council offices and public 

libraries where appropriate (see list in Appendix 2).  

 Consultation documents will be made available for download via the JSP 

website, which will be signposted from each Council’s own website.  

 Where appropriate we will organise consultation events such as public 

exhibitions and stakeholder workshops.  

 We will publish comments received or a summary as soon as feasible. We will 

explain how these comments have been taken into account when decisions are 

made. 

2.11 Table 1 sets out the key consultation stages and milestone dates in the preparation of 

the JSP, together with the different groups we will involve in the plan-making process 

and how we propose to involve them and keep them updated on progress of the plan. 

 

 

 

  

Page 26



8 
 

Table 1 

Stages and methods of consultation and communications 

 

Plan stage What will we be 

consulting or 

communicating on? 

How will we consult / 

communicate? 

Issues and 

Options 

 

(Regulation 18) 

 

This stage can comprise 

one or more public 

consultations.  These can 

relate to broad issues and 

options, draft policies and/or 

potential sites.  To include 

consultation on associated 

sustainability appraisal. 

 

 Inviting representations 

through the JSP and 

signposted from individual 

council’s websites. 

 Advertising through social 

media, press releases and 

electronic alerts. 

 Written / email consultation 

with key consultees / 

organisations as required by 

the regulations. 

 Consultation documents 

available to view at specified 

deposit points (listed in 

Appendix 2) 

 Public consultation events 

such as targeted workshops 

and/or exhibitions, if 

appropriate to the nature of 

the consultation.   

Pre-submission 

publication 

 

(Regulation 19) 

This stage comprises 

consultation on the plan that 

the authorities wish to take 

forward to adoption. To 

include consultation on 

associated sustainability 

appraisal. 

 

 

Note:  All representations 

must be received within the 

specific consultation period.   

 

Submission 

 

(Regulation 22) 

This is the stage when the 

plan is formally passed to 

the Planning Inspectorate. 

 Notice on JSP website and 

signposted from individual 

council’s websites.  

 Written / email notification of 

consultees / organisations as 

required by the regulations. 

 Advertising through social 

media, press releases and 

electronic alerts. 

 Publication of documents 

listed in the Regulations. 

Examination 

 

(Regulations 23-

24) 

This stage comprises the 

formal Examination of the 

Plan by an independent 

Inspector 

 Notice on JSP website and 

signposted from individual 

council’s websites. 

 Written / email notification of 

consultees / organisations as 

required by the regulations 

(via Programme Officer) 

Page 27



9 
 

 Advertising through social 

media, press releases and 

electronic alerts. 

 

Consultation on 

Inspectors main 

modifications to 

the draft plan (if 

any) 

 

This stage comprises 

consultation on any 

changes to the plan 

required by the Inspector to 

ensure the plan is ‘sound.’  

To include consultation on 

any associated 

sustainability appraisal 

update required. 

 

 Inviting representations through 

the JSP and signposted from 

individual council’s websites. 

 Advertising through social 

media, press releases and 

electronic alerts. 

 Written / email notification of 

consultees/ organisations as 

required by the regulations. 

 Consultation documents 

available to view at specified 

deposit points (listed in 

Appendix 2). 

Publication of 

Inspector’s 

Report 

(Regulation 25) 

Notification of people/ 

organisations of the 

outcome of the 

examination. 

 

 Notice on JSP website and 

signposted from individual 

council’s websites. 

 Written / email notification to 

groups / organisations as 

required by the regulations. Adoption 

(Regulation 26) 

Notification of final adoption 

of the JSP. 

 

How long we will consult for 

2.12 Where a formal consultation is carried out (as set out in Table 1), this will be for a 

minimum of six weeks. Where part of the consultation falls over a holiday period, where 

possible, the consultation period will be extended to accommodate members of the 

public who may be away at these times, usually up to a maximum of 8 weeks. 

Timescales for informal consultation that is targeted at specific groups will be depend 

on the nature of that engagement. 

How to comment on the JSP  

2.13 Table 1 sets out the methods we will use to engage with stakeholders and residents 

on the development of the JSP. We will encourage electronic engagement as the 

primary portal for consultation and will encourage people to make use of the JSP 

consultation portal, accessed through the JSP website as this will set out the 

information we are seeking at each consultation stage, together with clear instructions 

on how to register comments. This will offer an easy method for response and in turn 

will help speed up the analysis of the comments received.  

2.14 A comments form will also be produced for each consultation stage that can be 

submitted by email or post. Verbal comments will not be recorded because it is 

important that all comments are accurately logged and reported. 

Page 28



10 
 

2.15 Comments will be made publicly available. The Councils will comply with the 

obligations under the General Data Protection Regulations, and the principles of the 

Data Protection Act, in how they manage any personal data collected through 

consultation processes.  

2.17 All comments made during the consultation periods will be carefully considered and 

will be reported to the relevant committee. A report summarising the consultation 

activities and the comments made and how these have informed the next stage of plan 

making will be prepared for each stage. This report will be made available. 

  

  

Page 29



11 
 

3.0 SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS AND NEIGHBOUHOOD PLANNING 

Supplementary Planning Documents 

3.1 SPDs cannot be progressed by the JSP programme until there are adopted, or well 

progressed policies, for them to relate to. Due to the limited size and resources of the 

JSP team, the work programme does not envisage production of any JSP-sponsored 

SPDs until the JSP itself is adopted.  Any joint SPDs in the meantime will be prepared 

by the districts and relate to policies within their adopted Local Plans. They will 

therefore need to comply with the requirements set out in their individual SCIs.  More 

detailed reference to engagement on SPDs will be set out when this SCI is next 

reviewed. 

Neighbourhood Planning 

3.2 Neighbourhood planning is led by Town and Parish Councils or designated 

Neighbourhood Forums.  The main aspects of neighbourhood planning are: 

 

 Neighbourhood Development Plan – a local framework for guiding future 

development, regeneration and conservation of an area; 

 Neighbourhood Development Order – a way for town and parish councils or 

designated Neighbourhood Forums to grant planning permission for certain kinds 

of development within a specified area; and 

 Community Right to Build Orders – a special kind of Neighbourhood Development 

Order, which grant planning permission for certain development schemes. 

3.3 It is the role of the district councils to support neighbourhood planning, and associated 

consultation, as per the Neighbourhood Planning regulations, However, before they 

can come into effect, all neighbourhood planning documents need demonstrate 

general conformity with the JSP (once adopted), as well as with the relevant Local 

Plans covering their area. 

3.4 Whilst advice on conformity will usually be provided by the relevant district council, the 

JSP team can also be contacted directly for advice via SWHJSP@dacorum.gov.uk. 

 

 

 

  

Page 30

mailto:SWHJSP@dacorum.gov.uk


12 
 

4.0 REVIEW OF THE SCI 
 

4.1 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 

2017, state that LPAs in England must review their SCI every five years to ensure it is 

kept up to date and reflects current legislation and best practice.  

4.2 Notwithstanding this, the SCI will be updated if a review is required due to changes to: 

 Legislation / national policy  

 Local decisions  

 Consultation methods  

 Technology 

 The development of any Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) related 

to the Joint Strategic Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



13 
 

 

Page 32



14 
 

Appendix 1 

Consultation Groups 

 

The following consultation bodies are prescribed by the Town and County Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

 

Specific consultation bodies 

 

Defined as: 

 Coal Authority 

 Environment Agency 

 Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (known as English 

Heritage) 

 Marine Management Organisation 

 Natural England 

 Network Rail Infrastructure Limited 

 National Highways 

 Hertfordshire County Council 

 Adjoining local authorities 

 Town and Parish Councils and Neighborhood Forums within and adjoin SW Herts 

 Police and Crime Commissioner 

 Relevant Telecommunications Companies 

 Clinical Commissioning Group 

 National health Service Commissioning Board 

 Relevant Electricity Undertakers 

 Relevant Gas Companies 

 Relevant Sewerage Undertakers 

 Relevant Water Undertakers 

 Homes England 

 

General consultation bodies 

 

Defined as: 

 voluntary bodies some or all of whose activities benefit any part of the local planning 

authorities’ areas; 

 bodies which represent the interest of different racial, ethnic or national groups in the 

local planning authorities’ areas; 

 bodies which represent the interests of different religious groups in the local planning 

authorities’ areas; 

 bodies which represent the interests of disabled persons in the local planning 

authority’s area; and 

 bodies which represent the interests of person’s carrying on business in the local 

planning authorities’ areas. 

 

  

Page 33



15 
 

Duty to Co-operate bodies 

 

(Note: there is some duplication with the lists above) 

 

In accordance with the Localism Act 2011 and Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012 

 

Defined as: 

 Neighboring authorities 

 Environment Agency 

 Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (known as English 

Heritage), 

 Natural England 

 Mayor of London 

 Civil Aviation Authority 

 Homes England 

 Clinical Commissioning Groups 

 National Health Service Commissioning Board 

 Office and Rail and Road 

 Transport for London 

 Relevant Integrated Transport Authorities 

 Highway Authority 

 Marine Management Organisation  

 Local Enterprise Partnership 

 Local Nature Partnership 

 

 

  

Page 34



16 
 

Appendix 2 

Document inspection points 

 

Main Council Offices 

 
Hertsmere Borough Council, 
Civic Offices, Elstree Way, Borehamwood, Hertfordshire, WD6 1WA 
 
Watford Borough Council 
Town Hall, Watford, Hertfordshire, WD17 3EX 

 
Dacorum Borough Council 
The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, Hertfordshire, HP11DN 

 
Three Rivers District Council 
Three Rivers House, Northway, Rickmansworth, Hertfordshire, WD3 1RL 
 
St Albans City and District Council 
Civic Centre, St Peter's Street, St Albans, Hertfordshire, AL1 3JE 
 

Local libraries 

 

Borehamwood Library  

96 Shenley Road 

Borehamwood 

WD6 1EB 

 

Potters Bar Library  

The Elms 

High Street 

Potters Bar 

EN6 5BZ 

 

Bushey Library  

Sparrows Herne  

Bushey 

WD23 1FA 

 

Radlett Library  

Radlett Centre 

1 Aldenham Avenue  

Radlett 

WD7 8HL 

 
North Watford Library 
St Albans Road 
Watford 

WD24 7RW 
 
Watford Library 
Hempstead Road 
Watford  
WD17 3EU 
 

Abbots Langley Library 
High Street 
Abbots Langley 
WD5 0AP 
  
Chorleywood Library 
Lower Road 
Chorleywood 
WD3 5LB  
 
Croxley Green Library 
Barton Way 
Croxley Green, 
WD3 3HB  
 
Rickmansworth Library 
High Street 
Rickmansworth 
WD3 1EH  
 
 

Page 35



17 
 

South Oxhey Library 
Bridlington Road 
South Oxhey  
WD19 7AG 
 
Adeyfield Library  
1A Queens Square 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4EW 
  
Berkhamsted Library 
185 High Street 
Berkhamsted 
HP4 3HB 
  
Bovingdon Library 
High Street 
Bovingdon 
HP3 0HJ 
 
Hemel Hempstead Library 
The Forum 
Marlowes 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP1 1DN 
  
Kings Langley Library  
The Nap 
Kings Langley  
WD4 8ET 
 
Leverstock Green Library  
Village Centre 
Leverstock Green Way 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP3 8QG 

  
Tring Library 
High Street 
Tring 
HP23 4AF 
  
Harpenden Library 
27 High Street 
Harpenden 
AL5 2RU 
  
London Colney Library 
Community Centre 
Caledon Road 
London Colney 
AL2 1PU 
  
Redbourn Community Library 
Redbourn Fire Station and Community 
Library 
Dunstable Road 
Redbourn 
AL3 7BE 
  
St Albans Library 
Level 2, The Maltings 
St Albans 
AL1 3JQ 
  
Wheathampstead Library 
Fire Station and Library 
Marford Road 
Wheathampstead 
AL4 8AY 
   

Page 36



18 
 

Appendix 3  

Glossary of acronyms 
 

CCG Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

The arm of the National Health 
Service responsible for 
commissioning primary healthcare 
services. 

DPD Development Plan Document A formal planning strategy 
document, such as a Local Plan or 
Joint Strategic Plan 

GLA Greater London Authority The office of the Mayor of London 

LPA Local Planning Authority The local council responsible for 
planning services in a particular 
area 

LDS Local Development Scheme The project plan setting out when 
Local Plans and Joint Strategic 
Plans will be prepared and when 
they will be issued for consultation 

JSP Joint Strategic Plan A high level planning policy 
document being prepared by a 
number of councils on a joint 
basis. 

NPPF National Planning Policy 
Framework 

The document which sets out the 
Government’s planning policies 
and approach to key issues, which 
must be taken into account by 
councils when preparing their own 
planning documents 

PINS Planning Inspectorate The organisation to are appointed 
by the Secretary of State to carry 
out independent public 
examinations of plans 

SCI Statement of Community 
Involvement 

The document which sets out how 
consultation on planning matters 
will be carried out by local 
councils. 

SPMG Strategic Plan Members 
Group 

The group of elected 
representatives (one for each 
council) who will oversee 
production of the Joint Strategic. 

 

Page 37



Realising our Potential
South West Hertfordshire 2050

August 2022

P
age 38



Foreword
As Leaders of the six authorities that make up 
South West Hertfordshire, we are pleased to 
introduce a vision for the future of our area and  
to seek your feedback.

This consultation marks the first exciting step in 
a new approach to long term planning in South 
West Hertfordshire, covering the areas of Dacorum 
Borough, Hertsmere Borough, St Albans City and 
District, Three Rivers District and Watford Borough.

The South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan (JSP) will 
establish a collective ambition and set a blueprint 
for the future of the area to 2050.  Eventually it will 
need to address big issues like the scale and location 
of new growth, the infrastructure needed to deliver 
it and our response to the challenges of climate 
change. However at this stage it is not about housing 
or employment numbers, or locations for growth. We 
don’t yet know where growth should go, but we know 
we want it to happen as sustainably as possible.

This is your chance to tell us how you think our area 
can realise its full potential and how we can ensure 
sustainable growth provides a better future for 
everyone. In section 5, you will find a draft vision and 

objectives for our area, which we want your thoughts 
on. This will then guide future stages of our plan.

We want the preparation of the Joint Strategic Plan to 
be an open process. This initial document is therefore 
designed to stimulate debate. We want the plan 
to be visionary, aspirational and use growth as an 
opportunity to improve the quality of life for those 
who currently live, work and play in the area, and 
those who wish to do so in the future.

When developing our draft vision, we have tried to 
recognise the many assets and strengths of SW Herts – 
in terms of our built, natural and human resources. We 
have also tried to ensure that we make the most of our 
economic strengths, enhance the quality of our life 
and reduce and adapt to the impact of  
climate change.

We want to talk to as many people as possible to 
ensure that the process of preparing the plan is 
fully collaborative and inclusive. Only by planning 
collectively for a sustainable future that benefits all 
our existing and new residents and businesses can we 
truly realise our area’s potential together. 

We look forward to hearing what you have to say.

 

Contents
Foreword 

Introduction

Our world is changing

SW Herts today

Planning for infrastructure  

The draft Vision – tell us what you think

Living green in a flourishing natural environment

Working locally in a global economy

Living in healthy, thriving local communities

Moving easily in connected places

Building the right homes in high quality places

Delivering smart and sustainable infrastructure 

Shaping the future

Making it happen

How to comment

Appendix: Background to the Joint 
Strategic Plan

5

6

4

3

8

2

7

1

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

00

32

SIGNATURE 1 SIGNATURE 2 SIGNATURE 3

SIGNATURE 4 SIGNATURE 5 SIGNATURE 6

P
age 39



Dacorum

Hemel 
Hempstead

Harpenden

Wheathampstead

London
Colney

Bricket
Wood

Borehamwood

Radlett

Rickmansworth

Chorleywood

Mill End
Croxley
Green

Watford

St Albans

Park Street/
Frogmore

How Wood

Redbourn

Chiswell
Green

Tring

Berkhamsted

Bushey
Elstree Village

Shenley

Markyate

South
Mimms Potters

Bar

South
Oxhey

Abbots
Langley

Kings
Langley

Bovingdon

Watford

Three
Rivers

Hertsmere

St Albans

The SW Herts area

We, the five local authorities which makes up South 
West Hertfordshire, supported by Hertfordshire 
County Council, are working together to produce a 
Joint Strategic Plan, which will provide a long-term 
blueprint for the future of the area to 2050.

Introduction1

Our collective ambition is that by working 
together and over a longer timescale, we will be 
in a stronger position to deliver and better fund 
the essential local transport links, health services, 
educational facilities, homes and employment 
that local people want to see, as well as ensuring 
that this part of Hertfordshire is sustainable, 
cleaner, greener and healthier. By considering 
the longer-term future of this area as a whole, 
and by working together, we believe that the 
opportunities to plan successfully for the future 
will be greater.

The Joint Strategic Plan will address cross boundary 
issues and set out high level policies covering:

•  Reducing the negative impacts of climate change 
and the amount of carbon we release into the 
atmosphere

•  Identifying needs for key infrastructure, such as 
schools and new public transport links, where this 
should go and how it is paid for

•  Reflecting important designations such as  the 
Green Belt and Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB)

•  Establishing long term opportunities for 
providing new homes and jobs

•  Identifying where any large scale growth should 
be located

It is important to recognise that in preparing this 
initial consultation document on the Joint Strategic 
Plan we don’t yet know the amount of growth 
needed, or where that growth might be best 
located.

These statutory stages and the timetable for when 
they will be completed are shown in Figure 2 
overleaf.

54

P
age 40



The Joint Strategic Plan will play a very important role in shaping the future of SW Herts, by drawing up a longer 
term strategy to 2050 which best meets the needs of our area as a whole. This will include defining where any 
large scale growth locations should be. 

The Joint Strategic Plan will not replace each district’s own Local Plan. Each district and borough will still be 
required to prepare their own Local Plan. Local Plans set out a local council’s policies and proposals for how 
land will be used and what types of development can happen in that area. Future Local Plans will sit within the 
framework set by the Joint Strategic Plan and will set out detailed site boundaries and the choice of smaller-
scale sites, as well as continuing to guide other day to day planning decisions.

You can read more at www.swhertsplan.com or in the background section at the end of this document.

Your views will help shape the 
future of SW Herts…
Please let us have your feedback by answering the question(s) at the 
end of each section. We will firstly ask for your views on the area as it 
currently is, and then ask for your views on whether you agree with 
our draft vision for the future and the types of growth that are the most 
appropriate for us to consider.

You don’t have to answer every question we ask, but we would like 
to receive as much feedback as possible, to help ensure that the Joint 
Strategic Plan reflects a wide range of views.  

If you would prefer to respond by email or letter, please see further 
information about how to do this at the end of this document.

The consultation closes at 5pm on **date** so please ensure that 
we receive your views by then.

Details of the full engagement programme that supports the Joint 
Strategic Plan is available on our website  

www.swhertspan.com/***

Sets out a series of high level 
(strategic) policies on key topics 
that apply across the whole of SW 
Herts and identify any large-scale 
development sites.

Local Plans (or equivalent documents)

Sets out for each district/borough:

•  the remaining planning policies required to enable 
the JSP polices to be implemented for that area;

• policies covering more local issues; and

•  the detailed boundaries for any large scale 
development sites identified in the JSP, together 
with any additional smaller sites

Planning policies covering the SW Herts area

76

How does the Joint Strategic Plan fit with Local Plans?

P
age 41



The future of South West Herts will be affected by trends and shifts occurring in the area, the country, and the world. Some of these 
are set out below. The Joint Strategic Plan will also need to take into account decisions that have already made through Local Plans.

Our world is changing

Climate
The UK Government and we, the SW Herts Authorities, have declared a climate 
emergency. In the face of this climate emergency we need to radically change 
the way our society and economy operates. To do so will both safeguard the 
planet and increase our own ability to adapt to a changing planet.

Economy
The UK’s decision to leave the EU has created considerable uncertainty for some 
UK businesses. It continues to be unclear what the UK’s eventual relationship 
with the EU will look like and how this will affect things such as market access, the 
availability of migrant labour and product regulation. In SW Herts 63% of jobs 
growth since 2010 has been among non-UK nationals. Migration controls may 
therefore limit an important labour supply.

Demographics
Across the country, populations are growing, changing, ageing and becoming 
more diverse. Families are getting smaller and more people are living alone. 
We’re living longer and healthier lives, although there remain inequalities in 
health and life expectancy. In SW Herts, as well as an ageing population there is 
also a predicted increase in young people and families moving in; young people 
who may have different priorities, skills and aspirations than their parents.

Mobility
Connectivity is more important now than ever, both to peoples’ daily quality of 
life and to the wider economy. The way people move around has been affected 
by the pandemic and it is too soon to see what the long term implications will 
be. However, traffic congestion and environmental impacts are still key things 
that will influence how we move around in the future. From better public 
transport, a move to electric vehicles and just getting more people walking and 
cycling, the future of mobility needs to be greener, easier and more joined-up.

Technology
Data and digital systems are becoming increasingly integrated into our day to day 
lives. A report by consultants McKinsey Digital suggests that digital adoption has 
accelerated by 7 years over the 2 years of the pandemic Link. As a result, how we 
manage, experience and participate in our towns and cities, and wider society, is 
changing. This shift poses many challenges, but it also has the potential to make 
our places more efficient, resilient, inclusive and better places to live.

COVID-19
In the past two years, the nature of the places and spaces where we live, work, 
shop, exercise and raise our children have been brought into sharp focus. Lines 
between home, office, schools, pub and gym have become blurred. High 
streets, local centres and parks have become focal points for daily life. We have 
learned that we still need to come together socially and professionally, but that 
this can take many shapes and forms. Many have suffered greatly and recovery 
may take many years. How we understand the challenges and opportunities the 
pandemic has created is an important backdrop for the future vision for  
our area.

Feedback
1)  Are there any other national or global issues or trends that we 

should take account of when preparing the Joint Strategic Plan?

If YES, please explain what these are and why:
YES NO

2

What you’ve already told us…
Before beginning work on the Joint Strategic Plan, we wanted to get a better understanding from those who live and work in 
SW Herts about what they like about the area now and what we should be prioritising as we look to shape the future.

To help with this we carried out a ‘SW Herts Your Future’ poll in early 2020.

One of the key messages from the poll was that 86% of local people felt happy about living or working in SW Herts. Their 
favourite things about the area were parks, open spaces and its closeness to London 

In terms of improvements, the provision of better health facilities was the priority for most respondents. Additionally, three 
key themes were also identified, these being the need for green spaces, infrastructure and healthcare facilities

In terms of the priorities for improving the area, 65% of respondents voted for ‘Better Health Facilities’. For the under 25s, 
they pointed to ‘Easier to get around’, ‘Better housing choice’ and ‘Better health facilities’.

South West Herts today is a great place to live, work and spend leisure time.

SW Herts today
It is a place defined as much by its urban character and proximity to London as its rural 
character, countryside and access to fantastic green and open spaces. From rural villages 
to historic market towns, a New Town, a small city and outer London feel, there is a great 
diversity of character across the area. 

But there are still issues that we need to address, especially when planning for the future.

We have also held a series of workshops involving elected Councillors, Council Officers, 
stakeholders and a SW Herts based youth group.

We have sought informal feedback from residents through our engagement website.

We asked for your views on SW Herts as it is today and what it should be like in the future.

The issues, challenges and opportunities raised through those conversations are included 
in the following summaries.

3

8 9

P
age 42



Climate emergency
•  All five South West Herts local authorities, as well 

as Hertfordshire County Council, have declared a 
climate emergency and the Hertfordshire Climate 
Change and Sustainability Partnership (HCCSP) 
was established in January 2020

•  Further action is required to meet, and ideally 
exceed, the Government’s target of net zero 
carbon by 2050

•  Area’s water resources are under particular 
pressure, with lower than average annual rainfall, 
a growing population, and water use higher than 
the national average

Home to important 
landscapes
•  Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

(AONB) characterised by its chalk streams, 
commons and beech woodlands, part of which is 
designated as a ‘Special Area of Conservation’ 

•  Colne Valley Regional Park, connecting 
Rickmansworth with the Thames

•  A wide range of public open spaces, such as the 
award winning Cassiobury Park and Verulamium 
Park, plus historic gardens, woodlands, and lakes

•  The Grand Union Canal is a key asset that could 
be further enhanced and utilised for wildlife and 
recreation

Strong historic heritage
•  Numerous listed buildings, many of which are 

located in designated Conservation Areas

•  Scheduled Ancient Monuments such as 
Berkhamsted Castle and St Albans Cathedral, 
which is thought to be the oldest site of 
continuous Christian worship in Britain

Our environment 
in South West Herts

Feedback
2)  Do you agree with our summary of the current issues relating to 

OUR ENVIRONMENT in SW Herts?

3)  Are there any issues or opportunities we have missed?

If NO please explain why:

If YES please explain why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

1110

Water use is 16% higher 
than the national average

Access to green space
•  Making better use of the land between our 

buildings and informal open space can help 
improve our public areas, improve connectivity 
with green spaces, support biodiversity and help 
mitigate the effects of climate change

•  Access to high quality green space can have a 
positive impact on our well-being

Attractive as a home for 
businesses and people
•  High quality natural environment that makes the 

area attractive as a location for businesses and a 
desirable place to live

40 Green 
Flag Award 
winning parks

9 
Registered 
Parks and 
GardensHome to Conservation 

Areas88

•  The Covid pandemic has made us value both 
public and private open space more than ever, 
with green space especially important to those 
living in more built-up parts of the area

•  The greening of urban areas can also help 
support biodiversity, link up wildlife corridors and 
lessen the impacts of climate change

P
age 43



Living
in South West Herts

Feedback
2)  Do you agree with our summary of the current issues relating to 

LIVING in SW Herts?

3)  Are there any issues or opportunities we have missed?

If NO please explain why:

If YES please explain why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

1312

Location
•  The area has many locational advantages, being 

attractive for those needing access to London, or 
to Heathrow, Gatwick, Stansted or Luton airports, 
whether for business or pleasure

Diversity of character
•  Home to a wide range of communities, from 

large towns to a number of smaller historic market 
towns, rural villages and hamlets

•  A variety of types of homes, ranging from large 
detached houses in more rural parts of the area, 
through to higher density apartments in  
central Watford

Population changes
•  The local population is growing. In particular, 

growth in the 65+ age group will increase 
demand for different types of housing, accessible 
healthcare and accessible local facilities.

•  Watford is also seeing an increase in younger 
people moving into the town, which places 
different demands on services and facilities

Housing pressures
•  Demand for housing is high, but a large 

proportion of the area is designated as Green 
Belt or rural area, so finding suitable locations for 
sustainable growth is a huge challenge

•  House prices are very high, making it very hard to 
get on the housing ladder and to afford the type 
of home that suits your family size and lifestyle

Prosperity hides some 
inequalities
•  There are some pockets of deprivation, mostly 

focussed in the larger centres of Watford, Hemel 
Hempstead and Borehamwood

•  There are health inequalities across the area, with 
differences in life expectancy of up to 10 years

•  Patients have variable access to local health and 
social care services

•  Hospitals within the area are in a poor physical 
condition and need upgrading to ensure they 
can continue to deliver the range and quality of 
services required

•  Those living outside of the larger towns are more 
likely to suffer from isolation and need access to a 
car to be able to reach local services and facilities

In 2019 those aged 65+ 
represented 16.8% of 

the area’s population, with 
this predicated to rise to 

22.7% by 2041

Population density House prices
Number of people per hectare (2011)

 

42.1

4.1

9.9 8.7

9.8

6.8

6.8

82% above 
the national 

average

2019 2041

22.7%

16.8%

P
age 44



Working
in South West Herts

Feedback
4)  Do you agree with our summary of the current issues relating to 

WORKING in SW Herts?

5)  Are there any issues or opportunities we have missed?

If NO please explain why:

If YES please explain why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

1514

Strong and growing 
economy
•  Economy has recovered well from the last 

recession, growing by around 4% a year  
since 2011

•  Historically driven by the professional and 
business services sectors, with other strong 
sectors emerging such as film/TV, life sciences, 
sustainable construction and advanced 
engineering and manufacturing

•  Home to a number of international business HQs, 
in area such as Clarendon Road in Watford and 
the Maylands Business Park in Hemel Hempstead

Economic Pressures
•  Some sectors have declined in recent 

years, particularly public administration and 
manufacturing

•  Land availability for both new and existing 
businesses is very challenging due to planning 
constraints and competition with housing

•  Some companies have moved out of the area in 
the search for cheaper and larger premises

•  Growth in the construction, education and 
healthcare sectors is particularly dependent on 
the employment of non-UK nationals

•  High house prices are one of the reasons key 
sectors struggle to recruit

Research and innovation
•  A strong research and innovation sector with the 

likes of Rothamsted Research and the Building 
Research Establishment - global leaders in the 
fields of agri-tech and building research

•  The Herts Innovation Quarter Enterprise Zone will 
encourage growth in these and other  
related sectors

Creative industries
•  A strong and growing location for creative 

industries including publishing, film and TV, arts 
and entertainment 

•  Home to Elstree Studios, BBC Elstree, Warner 
Bros Studios at Leavesden and the newly 
developed Sky Studios, Borehamwood 82% of the area’s working age population 

have either a part time or full-time job or seeking 
a job for the first time, compared to the national 

average of 78%

82%78%

Low unemployment
•  The proportion of the area’s working age 

population who have either a part time or full-time 
job or seeking a job for the first time is significantly 
higher than the national average.

•  Unemployment is lower than the national and 
county average, with all districts have seen a 
significant fall in those without jobs since 2010

A highly skilled workforce
•  Home to a highly skilled workforce, but there are 

not always suitable jobs to allow residents to work 
locally

•  Local skills and education opportunities are 
supported by the nationally respected University 
of Hertfordshire

•  Further education opportunities are offered by 
both West Herts College and Oaklands College

Agile working
•  The Covid pandemic has increased the 

importance of ensuring technology and data 
networks are sufficient to support changing ways 
of working, especially in some rural areas where 
access to broadband needs upgrading

3.5% of the working age 
population are unemployed, 
compared to an average of
4.2% across the county as a whole

3.5%
unemployed

S W Herts 4.2%
unemployed

UK

will deliver over 

8,000 new jobs 

and 800 new
businesses

New Herts 
Innovation 

Quarter 
Enterprise Zone Economic 

productivity is now 
2% lower than the 
UK average, having 

been 8% higher  
in 2001

63% of the 
local growth in 

employment
between 2010 and
2018 was among 

non-UK 
nationals

P
age 45



Playing
in South West Herts

Feedback
6)  Do you agree with our summary of the current issues relating to 

PLAYING  in SW Herts?

7)  Are there any issues or opportunities we have missed?

If NO please explain why:

If YES please explain why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

1716

Strong sporting community
•  SW Herts has one of the highest sports 

participation rates in the country, helping to keep 
obesity levels below the national average

•  Teams such as Watford, Arsenal, Boreham Wood, 
Kings Langley and other grassroots football clubs 
provide local outreach to people of all ages

High quality visitor 
attractions
•  The area is home to nine registered parks and 

gardens and six National Trust sites

•  Warner Bros. Studio and St Albans Cathedral 
attract local, national and international tourists

•  Most visitors only stay for the day, and more can 
be done to celebrate and promote SW Herts as a 
destination where visitors spend more time

Shopping and socialising
•  A number of well-established town centres, with 

Watford providing the largest range of leisure and 
shopping facilities

•  A better night-time and entertainment offer 
would attract a more diverse and younger range 
of people, but must be supported by improved 
public transport

•  Scope to provide new leisure, cultural and 
recreational facilities and to improve the 
accessibility of existing facilities for those who do 
not have access to a car

High quality cycle networks
•  There are a number of high quality cycle networks 

in the area that are predominantly used for leisure 
and recreation, including the Nickey Line that 
follows the route of the former Harpenden to

compared to the 
national average of

of adults recorded as 
physically active in 2019/2072%

66%

In 2019 ‘The Making of 
Harry Potter’ studio tour 
at Warner Bros. generated 
almost £133 million for the 

local economy
57% of adults 

classified as 
overweight

compared to the 
England average of 

63%Watford FC’s Community Sports and Education 
Trust run over 30 different projects engaging 

with over 158,000 participants annually

Streets and public spaces
•  There are opportunities for the well-planned 

regeneration of some town centres, which can 
boost local trade and improve the experience for 
those shopping there

Hemel Hempstead Railway and the Ebury Way 
connecting Watford and Rickmansworth and other 
routes along the Grand Union Canal

•  These networks form important green corridors, 
providing wildlife links as well as pleasant traffic 
free routes

P
age 46



Moving
around South West Herts

Feedback
6)  Do you agree with our summary of the current issues relating to 

MOVING  in SW Herts?

7)  Are there any issues or opportunities we have missed?

If NO please explain why:

If YES please explain why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

1918

Good North-South links
•  Connected by fast and efficient links to London 

and the Midlands by the M1, A1, M25, Midland 
Main Line and West Coast Main Line, as well 
as stops on the London Underground and 
Overground network

•  The Abbey Line connecting St Albans and 
Watford has significant future potential and a 
more frequent service would help improve local 
north south links

•  Residents have highlighted the importance 
of continued easy accessibility to leisure and 
employment opportunities in London

Poor East-West links
•  East-west movements, particularly for public 

transport, are however poor and focussed on the 
M25 and A414.

•  East-west travel is not possible by train, whilst bus 
services are infrequent and slow

Rail and road congestion
•  Road congestion is a particular issue along east-

west routes where there isn’t a realistic public 
transport alternative

•  Rail congestion is a common issue at peak times, 
and likely to increase with growing demand

•  A number of rail lines are forecast to be operating 
at over capacity by 2031, especially the Midland 
Main Line to St Pancras, West Coast Main Line 
suburban services and Great Northern services to 
Moorgate, although it is unclear how the Covid 
pandemic will affect these forecasts

Cycling connections
•  More than half of trips made in Hertfordshire are 

less than 5 miles, a distance that many could do 
on a bicycle with the right infrastructure in place

•  Cycling improvements around Hemel Hempstead 
and an off-road cycleway connecting St Albans 
to Luton via Harpenden, and along the A405 
from St Albans to Leavesden are helping to 
improve the otherwise patchy and variable quality 
cycle network. However these routes remain 
underused

Car reliance
•  Public transport in rural parts of SW Herts is poor. 

Car dependency in the area is therefore very 
high, both for local and longer trips. Car use has 
increased as a result of the pandemic

•  Discussions are underway to deliver an east-west 
Mass Rapid Transit scheme, broadly following 
the route of the A414 from Hemel Hempstead to 
Harlow, to help support a move away from reliance 
on the private car

•  Whilst there is a slow move towards greener 
movement with electric cars and shared travel 
options such as car clubs, there is a lack of 
supporting infrastructure to encourage  
greater uptake

9 out of 10 households 
own at least one car

63% of trips 
in Hertfordshire 

are less than 
5 miles

By 2036 there is 
predicted to be an 

increase in travel 
time of 43% in 

the morning 
rush hour

97% of the 
population live 

within 30 minutes 
of a town centre by 
public transport

Predicted 25% increase 
in trips originating in 

Hertfordshire by 2036

+25%

P
age 47



It is vital when planning for our area’s future that full account is taken of the infrastructure needed to deliver sustainable growth and what opportunities 
there are to help reduce gaps in existing provision. It is also critical to ensure these essential facilities and services are delivered at the right time and in 
the right place.

Planning for infrastructure

Work done to support our Local Plans highlights significant gaps in 
infrastructure provision, and in particular the difficulties in planning for services 
and facilities that cross council boundaries. These challenges are reflected in 
the informal feedback we have received so far, and will only increase over time.  

By working together, we will be in a stronger position secure funding and 
deliver the infrastructure that local people and businesses want to see.

The Joint Strategic Plan will need to be supported by a longer term delivery 
plan setting out what types of infrastructure are needed where, by when, and 
how they are expected to be paid for. This document will be prepared once it is 
clearer how much growth the area will need to accommodate and where it will 
be located.

Some of the challenges we face have been highlighted in the ‘SW Herts today’ 
section above, but there may be others that you wish to draw our attention to.

Feedback
12)  Are there any long term infrastructure challenges or opportunities that 

you would like to make us aware of as we begin work on the plan?

If YES, please explain what these are and why:
YES NO

4

What do we mean by ‘infrastructure’?
The term covers a wide range of services and facilities, from those we use 
every day to others we use more occasionally. It includes things like:

• Public transport – buses, trains and bike hire schemes

• Footpaths and cycle routes

• Roads

• Water (both drinking and waste)

• Internet and telephone connections

• Energy supplies

• Sports facilities – both indoor and outdoor

• Health services – such as GPs and hospitals

•  Green spaces – parks, country parks and more informal areas of 
open space

• Community halls

• Schools 

Whilst we don’t directly provide much of this infrastructure, it is important 
that when planning for our area we work with the relevant providers to 
ensure these services and facilities are provided at the right time and in 
the right place. New infrastructure should be planned so that it brings 
benefits to existing as well as new residents and employers.

Current and proposed key infrastructure

The Hertfordshire Essex rapid transit (HERT) is intended to be a new, 
sustainable passenger transport network running from Hemel Hempstead 
and West Watford, joining just south of St Albans in Hertfordshire, to Harlow 
in Essex and onwards to Stansted Airport. It will carry more people than a 
car but will be more convenient and reliable than a traditional bus.

Initial public consultation has been carried out to help inform the business 
case that will be submitted to government. This will explore what benefits 
the HERT could provide, the different options available and potential costs.  
See YouTube clip for more information

Two important large scale infrastructure projects are already at the planning stage, or underway across SW Herts. They provide an indication of 
the type and scale of infrastructure investment that will be required to support long term sustainable growth.

The West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust has been identified by 
Government as one of eight ‘Pathfinder’ Trusts to deliver their plans to build 
40 new hospitals across the UK by 2030.  The proposals would see Watford 
General redeveloped, together with significant improvements to the trust’s 
other sites in St Albans and Hemel Hempstead, – improving the range and 
quality of services on offer and the way in which they are delivered.

2120

P
age 48



The draft vision 
– tell us what you think

The objectives we set today will shape the lives of generations to come. And this is where it starts…

Feedback
13)  Does the draft vision statement summarise your aspirations for 

the future of South West Hertfordshire to 2050?

14)  Are there any changes you would like to see to the vision statement?

If YES, please explain what these are and why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

5 Setting clear objectives

The 6 Pillars

In order to achieve our vision, we have established six pillars to guide us.

These set out our ambitions for the key areas that the plan will cover. Each pillar contains a number of more specific objectives that that are designed to help shape 
future policies and allocations within the Joint Strategic Plan, and wider investment decisions in the area.

Through these pillars we aim to understand current and future needs and desires of those who live and work in the area, and where we want to be by 2050.

What if SW Herts made living green easy and led our 
country’s response to climate change?

What if SW Herts became nationally recognised as 
providing a high quality of life?

What if SW Herts was cleaner and greener, with more 
robust and sustainable infrastructure?

What if SW Herts had more people moving around by 
public transport, bikes and on foot than by car?

What if SW Herts was an affordable, sustainable and 
fulfilling place to live?

What if SW Herts was a place where investors, innovators, 
entrepreneurs and creators chose to come together?

These pillars are expanded in more detail overleaf. We would like your feedback on each of 
these and the objectives that sit beneath them.

Delivering robust and 
sustainable infrastructure

Building homes and places 
that people are proud of

Living in healthy, thriving 
local communities

Moving easily in well 
connected places

Living green in a healthy 
natural environment

Growing opportunities to 
work locally

2322

Our vision 
statement

Realising our 
potential

“South West Herts will realise its full potential 
of being globally connected, nationally 

recognised and locally cherished. Known 
for its creative spirit, collaborative working 

and willingness to accelerate positive 
change, it will be a place where 
sustainable growth provides a 

better future for everyone.”

We have drafted a vision statement for the South West Herts Joint Strategic 
Plan, which we would like your feedback on.

This vision has been developed in line with issues raised about our 
environment, and living, working, playing and moving around in the area.

P
age 49



Living green in a healthy 
natural environment
We have nationally recognised and locally cherished green and open spaces, 
but our natural environment is fragile. We are facing a climate and ecological 
emergency and it is time for us to accelerate change. Our future will balance 
demand for resources and growth with the natural capacity of our environment. 
We must be greener, healthier and leaders in climate action.

Commit to net zero carbon
Ensure all new development is net zero carbon and striving to be 
carbon negative, while improving the carbon performance of our 
existing built environment.

Bring people closer to nature
Protect the natural, recreational and character value of the area’s 
green spaces, integrate nature into all new development, and 
improve existing links.

Create sustainable buildings and infrastructure
Introduce nature based solutions that are resilient to the effects of 
climate change.

Enrich native biodiversity and ecology
Protect, enhance and connect new and existing biodiversity and 
ecological networks.

Green construction
Build responsibly with modern methods that reduce resource 
consumption and reuse materials.

Feedback
15)  Do you support the draft objectives relating to LIVING GREEN IN 

A HEALTHY NATURAL ENVIRONMENT?

Please explain your answer and any suggested changes:
YES NO

Growing opportunities 
to work locally
We have a high performing economy with globally leading scientific research, film, 
TV and creative media together with office and service sector jobs. But it will not 
be enough to rely on these businesses and sectors alone to drive our future. We 
must embrace new and growing sectors, new models of working, and new ways of 
shopping and accessing services. There must be opportunities for everyone.

Feedback
16)  Do you support the draft objectives relating to GROWING 

OPPORTUNITIES TO WORK LOCALLY?

Please explain your answer and any suggested changes:
YES NO

Create space to grow
Support the delivery of a wide range of quality workspaces, where 
new and existing businesses from different sectors can grow  
and flourish.

Target investment
Encourage investment in new and high performing sectors to allow 
the local economy to prosper and keep the workforce local.

Diversify and increase activity in centres
Encourage the resilience of high streets and town centres by 
supporting mixed use and their diversified role as destinations for 
leisure, culture and work.

Retain and develop talent
Support and promote the provision of facilities, funding, and links 
to business for education and training, including access to higher 
education, lifetime learning, apprenticeships, and re-skilling for all.

Strengthen the visitor economy
Build on our globally recognised attractions, to develop a thriving  
visitor economy.

2524

Our objectivesOur objectives

P
age 50



Living in healthy, thriving 
local communities
Our area is a desirable and attractive place 
to live. Our population is generally healthy, 
prosperous and people feel positive about 
the experience of living and working here. 
But this must not mask our challenges. We 
have areas of deprivation and a number 
of services under pressure. We know that 
our people are our future, and we must 
help both new and existing communities 
achieve the highest quality of life and 
support their physical and mental health 
and wellbeing.

Feedback
17)  Do you support the draft objectives relating to LIVING IN 

HEALTHY, THRIVING LOCAL COMMUNITIES?

Please explain your answer and any suggested changes:
YES NO

Provide healthy places to live
Focus on creating homes and neighbourhoods that provide 
opportunities for healthy living and strong physical and  
mental wellbeing.

Locate facilities to encourage community 
interaction
Support the timely delivery of well located, flexible spaces 
for work, leisure, health, learning, cultural, community and 
shopping facilities.

Ensure safe and inclusive places and spaces
Create and protect environments where individuals and 
communities feel safe and supported.

Moving easily in 
connected places
Our area is defined by its location and its easy access to London. However, our 
roads are congested and east-west public transport links are poor. It is time 
for us all to change the way we travel. We need a future where fast, efficient 
and affordable public transport and walkable neighbourhoods encourage 
greener travel, where our communities feel connected and where our people, 
businesses, visitors and goods can move around easily.

Feedback
18)  Do you support the draft objectives relating to MOVING EASILY 

IN CONNECTED PLACES?

Please explain your answer and any suggested changes:
YES NO

Transform travel
Encourage a radical shift away from car travel by providing 
accessible, efficient, safe, and affordable alternatives.

Connect towns and villages
Make travel between new and existing communities easier by 
strengthening public transport, cycle and walking networks and 
promoting on-demand services.

Improve delivery solutions
Support a move towards carbon negative and more sustainable 
delivery networks.

Create walkable neighbourhoods
Create a neighbourhood full of activity, where people can access 
all their daily needs, workplaces and transport options by foot and 
bike, and where life is active.

2726

Our objectives

Our objectives

P
age 51



Building homes and places 
that people are proud of
Our area’s distinct qualities have long attracted people to move here. The 
natural environment, the mix of towns and villages and the proximity to London 
are all key factors in what makes the area an enviable place to be. There is no 
single unifying character, but this variety is our strength. We want to build on 
our diversity and desirability by making strategic decisions about where and 
how we build.

Feedback
19)  Do you support the draft objectives relating to BUILDING HOMES 

AND PLACES THAT PEOPLE ARE PROUD OF?

Please explain your answer and any suggested changes:
YES NO

Design attractive places
Deliver places that are fit for current and future needs, where high 
quality buildings and public spaces create places that people feel 
proud to call home.

Celebrate a diverse place
Reinforce the varied urban and rural character of the area.

Deliver new homes in the right places
Ensure homes are built in sustainable, well connected locations, 
accompanied by the timely delivery of new infrastructure.

Recognise current and future housing needs
Ensure current and future residents can live in a high quality 
home they can afford, that is flexible and adaptable to different 
lifestyles and work patterns.

Delivering robust and 
sustainable infrastructure
Our area is growing and there is an ever increasing demand on resources. 
This will not change and indeed we want to actively encourage continued 
investment in our area. But we must change how we do this. We need a 
proactive and positive approach to planning and delivering infrastructure that 
focuses on a more resilient and sustainable future.

Feedback
20)  Do you support the draft objectives relating to DELIVERING 

ROBUST AND SUSTINABLE INFRASRUCTURE?

Please explain your answer and any suggested changes:
YES NO

Deliver key infrastructure
Identify the infrastructure required to support new and existing 
growth, work with partners to deliver it in a timely manner and ensure 
it meets local needs, and adapts to the effects of climate change.

Green energy generation
Promote local energy production with an increased focus on 
renewable sources.

Promote circular economies
Minimise waste by promoting the reduction, reuse and recycling  
of materials.

Advance digital infrastructure
Ensure everyone can be connected through fast digital networks.

Our objectives
Our objectives

28

Feedback
21)  Which of the six topics covered by the ‘pillars’ is of most 

importance to you?

Please tick the relevant box below:

Living green in a healthy natural environment
Growing opportunities to work locally
Living in healthy, thriving local communities
Moving easily in well connected places
Building homes and places that people are proud of
Delivering robust and sustainable infrastructure

Please explain the reasons for your choice:

29

P
age 52



Shaping the future
Between now and 2050 SW Herts will grow and 
change. The Joint Strategic Plan will play a very 
important role in shaping the future of the area, 
identifying broad locations for sustainable growth, 
with the allocation of detailed site boundaries and 
the choice of smaller-scale sites being left to Local 
Plans to define.

No decision on either the scale or location of new 
development has been made yet.

We know it will be a challenge to decide on the best 
locations for the most sustainable growth, and specific 
local concerns will need to be considered alongside 
the need for new infrastructure, homes and jobs before 
any decisions are made.

The pattern of sustainable growth that is eventually 
chosen for the Joint Strategic Plan is unlikely to be 
based on just one of the growth types outlined here. 
Rather it will include a mix of types of growth that 
are best suited to the SW Herts area and reflect local 
constraints, opportunities and ambitions.

6 We would like your feedback on each of each of these growth types. When answering the questions that follow, please think about how the growth types might 
impact on the 6 pillars and objectives set out in section 4:

Building homes and places 
that people are proud of

Moving easily in well 
connected places

Living in healthy, thriving 
local communities

Growing opportunities to 
work locally

Living green in a healthy 
natural environment

Delivering robust and 
sustainable infrastructure

Different types of growth can support different types of homes – whether that be houses 
or apartments – which can be suited to different people at different stages of their lives.  
Affordable housing may also be easier to deliver as part of some growth types than 
others, due to economies of scale.

Our ambition to meet and ideally exceed net zero carbon targets suggests that we should 
locate growth in places which will reduce the need to travel by private car. Think about which 
options will provide the best opportunities for residents to use more sustainable forms of 
transport, such as public transport, walking or cycling to get from one place to another.

New growth should ideally be located where it can benefit new and existing communities 
by ensuring it enables improved access to services, facilities and green space and 
support community interaction.

The success of some job types is based in part on companies co-locating so that 
businesses can work together. Equally, spreading job opportunities around, 
including to smaller towns and villages, can help to sustain existing and new town and 
local centres.

Green spaces and biodiversity could be enhanced through larger-scale growth, for 
example by creating large-scale new green spaces. Alternatively, smaller green spaces 
could be linked together or existing spaces could be extended.

When deciding where to locate new growth we need to consider where access to 
existing and planned infrastructure (see section 4) could promote the efficient 
use of resources.

5

4

3

2

1

6

3130

We are required by Government to ensure that 
we have maximised the use of land that has 
been previously built on (‘brownfield’ sites), 
before considering using any undeveloped land 
(‘greenfield’ sites).

P
age 53



A high-level assessment of how each of these different growth types performs 
in terms of their social, economic and environmental impacts is set out in a 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report that accompanies this consultation.  
This has been prepared by independent specialist consultants and is available 
at www.swhertsplan.com/***.  You are welcome to give your views on this 
assessment as part of your feedback.
 
There may also be other ways that you think the SW Herts area could 
accommodate sustainable growth that we haven’t mentioned and that you 
would like to put forward for consideration.

The potential levels of new homes and jobs that could be accommodated by 
each growth type will be assessed at the next stage of the plan-making process.  
The views received through this consultation will be taken into account when 
refining options.

Feedback
22)  Which option or options do you think is the most appropriate 

way to shape future growth in SW Herts?

23)  Are there any other growth types we have not mentioned that 
you think should be considered?

Please tick ALL that apply:

a) Growth within existing large settlements
b) Outwards growth of existing large settlements
c) New settlements
d) Growth of groups of settlements
e) Growth along key transport corridors
f) Growing the best connected places
g) Scattered growth

Please explain the reasons for your answer, relating this to the draft vision 
and objectives for the plan where possible.

If YES, please explain what these are and why. (Note: we are not 
considering specific locations or sites at this stage):

YES NO

33

A) Growth within existing large settlements
A continued focus on our existing city, towns and large villages, through a combination of more dense 
development than traditionally seen in SW Herts and maximising redevelopment opportunities.

B) Outward growth of existing large settlements
The outward growth of existing city, towns and large villages, through urban extensions.

C) New settlements
The creation of completely new communities. These would need to be large enough to ensure they 
can provide key local facilities.    

D) Growth of groups of settlements
Expanding the size of a number of existing communities which are located near to one another. 
These would need to be large enough in total to ensure they can provide key local facilities.

E) Growth along sustainable transport corridors
Locating growth where there is potential to create new connected and improved public transport 
corridors, particularly those running east-west through the area.

F) Growing the best connected places 
A focus on areas that already have, or have the potential for, good access to railway stations, high 
frequency bus routes, high quality cycle routes and good pedestrian accessibility.

G) Scattered growth 
Growth spread across the whole area, in all sizes of settlements, from large to small.

Shaping the future

32

We have set out a number of different growth types below, and your feedback will help us develop these in more detail in the next stage of our plan.

P
age 54



Making it happen

Rivertech, Rickmansworth
Flexible working is here to stay. Rivertech is 
a shared workspace in Rickmansworth for 
entrepreneurs, freelancers, start-ups, small and 
medium businesses. Inclusive and affordable 
workspace is complemented by a range of clubs 
and programmes that support skills exchange, 
partnerships, and member wellbeing.  
More information

Heartwood Forest
The Woodland Trust have created a new forest 
near Sandridge, in St Albans district. Heartwood 
Forest’s 347-hectare site was created on what was 
once mainly agricultural land. It’s so big that it’s 
now the largest continuous new native forest in 
England; a place where everyone can find space, 
peace, wildlife and miles of beautiful woodland to 
explore. More information

Lifetime neighbourhoods
Lifetime neighbourhoods are designed to be 
welcoming, accessible, and inviting for everyone; 
regardless of age, health, or disability. They are 
built to be accessible, offer a mix of services and 
amenities, promote social networks and interaction 
with nature, and offer a range of house types and 
tenures that can be flexible to meet residents’ 
changing needs. More information

7

Co-located community services
Loneliness can be a major issue in cities and towns, 
and the loss of community space and increasingly 
independent lifestyles are often considered 
contributing factors. Café 1759 in Whitehill & 
Bordon, Hampshire is a not-for-profit community 
café and multi-purpose space run by the local 
housing association. It provides a range of activities 
and services including programmes with the local 
GP surgery, employment and health-check events. 
More information

Cycle Superhighways
Denmark is developing a cycle superhighway 
network to link urban areas and workplaces across 
municipal borders. The first cycle superhighway 
opened in 2012 and there are now nine across 
the country. On average, there is a 23% increase 
in cycle trips every time a route is upgraded to 
a cycle superhighway. Cooperation between 
municipalities was key in realising this model.  
More information  

One Planet Living
Bioregional created the One Planet Living framework 
in 2003 from their experience developing the multi-
award-winning BedZED eco-village in South London. 
The One Planet Living sustainability framework 
comprises principles and guidance designed to 
support the creation of a ‘One Planet Action Plan’ that 
acts as a route map towards a more sustainable future 
for organisations and authorities. More information

Aarhus Carbon Neutral City
Aarhus, Denmark aims to become a carbon neutral 
city by 2030, having already cut its emissions by 
50% in the last 10 years. The city has undergone 
a radical energy transformation, moving from 
fossil fuel to heat pumps and electric boilers and 
switching the majority of heating and electricity 
to biomass. To reach its goal of 100% renewable 
energy, it is planning to increase solar and 
wind power, boost efficiency in buildings, and 
decarbonise transportation. More information

High density mixed use, Watford
The primary office location in SW Herts, Clarendon 
Road has seen £100m of private sector investment 
and commitments for 62,000sqm of new 
high quality employment floorspace including 
KPMG, PwC and TJX’s new flagship European 
headquarters. A public realm improvement scheme 
has been completed to prioritise pedestrians and 
sustainable travel choices that supports higher 
density living in a quality environment.     

Carbon capture
As concentrations of atmospheric carbon dioxide 
(CO2) continue to rise and drive climate changes, 
scientists have been researching options not just to 
reduce CO2 emissions, but to actually remove existing 
carbon from the atmosphere. ‘Carbon cracking’ is 
one such approach that is at the pilot stage.
Good News: Rocks Crack Under Pressure from 
Mineral CO2 Storage – Eos

3534

At this early stage of preparing a plan, details 
of precisely how the vision and objectives 
will be delivered are not being considered.  
That will come in future stages. However, it is 
important to consider how the Joint Strategic 
Plan could support innovative solutions to the 
challenges faced in SW Herts, as this will help 
determine how aspirational the Joint Strategic 
Plan should be.

Some case studies, ranging from an 
international to more local scale that show 
what we might want to try to achieve are set 
out below.  

Feedback
24)  Are there any further comments you would like to make on the 

SW Herts Joint Strategic Plan?

25)  Are there any other ‘good practice’ examples you feel should be 
considered for SW Herts?

If YES, please explain what these are and why:

If YES, please explain what these are and why:

YES

YES

NO

NO

P
age 55



How to comment
We are really keen to hear your views on the questions we ask within this consultation.  
Comments can be made from ***date*** to ***date***. Your views are important as they will 
help shape the next stages of the Joint Strategic Plan.

You can make your comments in a number of different ways.
The easiest way is via our website:

   www.swhertsplan.com

Alternatively if you would prefer to send us your 
written comments you can download a comment 
form from the website and return to:

 Email
***********************.gov.uk

 Post
SW Herts Joint Strategic Plan Team
c/o Dacorum Borough Council

The Forum, Marlowes, 
Hemel Hempstead, 
Hertfordshire HP1 1DN

You can also comment on the Sustainability 
Scoping Report that accompanies this 
consultation ***add link*** by sending an email 
or letter to the above addresses.

If you respond to this consultation we will also 
give you the opportunity to say if you would like 
your contact details added to our database to 
ensure you are kept informed of progress on  
the project.

All comments/completed forms must be 
received by 5pm on **date** 2022.

8

36 37

Timeline

All the comments received before the consultation closes will be 
analysed and a summary report produced and published on  
our website.

The responses will be carefully considered and used to help inform 
the next stage of the SW Herts Joint Strategic Plan. This will a ‘spatial 
options’ consultation, where we seek feedback on the appropriate 
amount and best locations for growth.

Further details of these next steps are available on our website.

Next steps

Early 2020: Initial consultation 
on ‘SW Herts Your Future’

Joint Strategic 
Plan adopted 

Joint Strategic Plan 
submitted for examination

Consultation on a draft 
Joint Strategic Plan

Consultation on options 
for the scale and pattern 

of growth in the area

Summer 2022: Consultation 
on ‘SW Hertfordshire 2050 – 

Realising our Potential’

WE ARE HERE

Autumn 2021: A ‘Statement of 
Common Ground’ is signed committing 

all five local authorities in SW Herts to 
preparing a Joint Strategic Plan and 

setting out what this will cover

P
age 56



3938

How the Joint 
Strategic Plan links to 
other key documents

National and Sub-
Regional Planning 
and Infrastructure 

Strategies

Hertfordshire 
Local Transport 

Plan

South West 
Hertfordshire 

Local Plans

Neighbourhood 
Plans

Hertfordshire 
Strategic 

Economic Plan

It is important to note that the Joint Strategic Plan will not replace our individual 
Local Plans, which will continue to be prepared by each of the district and 
borough councils. The Joint Strategic Plan will provide the overall strategic 
spatial strategy and set the level of housing and employment land to be 
provided to 2050 to meet the needs of SW Herts. It will also identify the key 
pieces of infrastructure required to support sustainable growth. As shown in the 
diagram below, the Joint Strategic Plan will be supplemented by more detailed 
plans prepared by the individual councils. New versions of these Local Plans 
are currently being prepared and, whilst they must usually cover a period of 
at least 15 years, there is a requirement that they are reviewed every 5 years 
after adoption. We would again note that no decisions have been made on any 
locations for growth. This will come later.

Future Local Plans (or their equivalents) will need to reflect  the vision, 
objectives and strategic policies set by the Joint Strategic Plan, to help ensure 
the strategy set out in the Joint Strategic Plan is delivered. This includes both 
additional policies and the land allocations that these Local Plans will contain. 

Any Neighbourhood Plans prepared in the SW Herts area will also need to take 
account of the Joint Strategic Plan when it comes into effect.

Statutory plan-making can be a complex and detailed process and it can be 
challenging to ensure everyone engages in this process, particularly when it 
looks a long way ahead and covers a large geographical area. However, the 
Joint Strategic Plan needs to be owned by our communities. To support this, 
effective public engagement and awareness raising is crucial. In July 2022 we 
adopted a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) (***inset web link***). 
This set out how we intend to consult on the Joint Strategic Plan. This was 
subject to public consultation from November 2021 to January 2022 before 
being finalised earlier this year. A more detailed Consultation and Engagement 
Plan that supports this current stage of the Joint Strategic Plan is on our website 
***add link***.

In 2014 we agreed a formal Memorandum of Understanding, 
pledging to work together to understand and plan strategically 
for the future development needs of South West Herts. This was 
followed by a signed Statement of Common Ground in 2021. This 
sets out a clear commitment to engage in a statutory plan making 
process, now taking shape in the form of the Joint Strategic Plan. It 
can be viewed here: Statement of Common Ground.

The Joint Strategic Plan will take time to prepare as there are a 
number of formal stages that it needs to go through before it is 
put before an independent Planning Inspector and then comes 
into effect. At each key stage in the plan’s preparation, there will 
be opportunities for further public comment and feedback (see 
timeline below).

The Joint Strategic Plan will be a formal statutory plan. This means 
that once finalised, the plan will carry significant weight and will 
be used to inform key planning decisions. The diagram below 
shows how the Joint Strategic Plan will fit with some other 
important documents. It will also be informed by a number of 
strategies relating to transport, health, climate change etc, the 
most important of which are listed within the Sustainability 
Scoping Report that accompanies this consultation  
****add link****  and within a series of more 
technical ‘Topic Papers’ that have been provided 
as background to this consultation 
***add link***

Appendix: Background to 
the Joint Strategic Plan

P
age 57



www.swhertsplan.com

P
age 58



 

    
  

    

 

 
 

South West Herts Joint 
Strategic Plan 

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 

South West Hertfordshire Authorities 

Final report  
Prepared by LUC 
April 2022 

Page 59



             

   

  

      

      
  

 
  

 
 

  

   
 

 
 

 
 

  

 
 

     

 

Version Status Prepared Checked Approved Date 

1 Draft Scoping Report B. Miller 
S. Newman 
H. Ennis 
O. Dunham 

O. Dunham 
K. Nicholls 

K. Nicholls 18.03.22 

2 Final Scoping Report B. Miller 
S. Newman 
H. Ennis 
O. Dunham 

O. Dunham 
K. Nicholls 

K. Nicholls 30.03.22 

3 Final Scoping Report with minor 
update 

O. Dunham O. Dunham K. Nicholls 26.04.22 

Land Use Consultants Limited   
Registered in England. Registered number 2549296. Registered office: 250 Waterloo Road, London SE1 8RD. 100% recycled paper 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 

P
age 60



 

   

 

  

 

  
  

   
  

  
  

  
   

   

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

Contents 

Contents 

Chapter 1 5 
Introduction 

The Plan Area 6 
South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 8 
Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment 8 
Health Impact Assessment 10 
Equalities Impact Assessment 10 
Habitat Regulations Assessment 10 
Approach to Scoping 11 
Meeting the requirements of the SEA Regulations 12 
Structure of the Scoping Report 16 

Chapter 2 18 
Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

Chapter 3 25 
Baseline Information 

Chapter 4 79 
Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the 
Plan 

Chapter 5 85 
Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 3 Page 61



 

   

  

  

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

96 

Contents 

Chapter 6 
SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

Chapter 7 109 
Next Steps 

Appendix A 110 
Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

References 140 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 4 Page 62



  

   

 
 

     
    

  
    

    
     

  
  

   
  

  

    

   

  
  

    
  

  
    

Chapter 1 Introduction 

Chapter 1 
Introduction 

1.1 The South West Hertfordshire authorities, supported by Hertfordshire 
County Council (HCC), commissioned LUC in December 2021 to carry out the 
Scoping stage of a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) incorporating Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) for the emerging South West (SW) 
Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan (JSP). As explained later in this chapter, 
Health Impact Assessment (HIA) and Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) will 
be carried out as part of the SA and are addressed within this Scoping Report; 
however for simplicity most references throughout the report are just to the SA, 
which should be taken as incorporating SEA, HIA and EqIA. 

1.2 The purpose of this Scoping Report is to provide the context for, and 
determine the scope of, the SA of the JSP and to set out the framework for 
undertaking the later stages of the SA. 

1.3 The Scoping stage of SA is summarised below: 

◼ Reviewing other plans, policies and programmes. 

◼ Considering the current state of the environment, as well as social 
economic factors in the plan area (South West Hertfordshire) 

◼ Identifying any key environmental, social and economic issues which 
may be affected by the JSP. 

◼ Setting out the ‘SA framework’, which comprises specific sustainability 
objectives against which the likely effects of the JSP can be assessed. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 5 Page 63



  

   

 

 
      

    
     

     
 

       
  

     
  

 
 

 

 
  

Chapter 1 Introduction 

The Plan Area 

1.4 SW Hertfordshire consists of the following five Local Planning Authorities: 
Dacorum, Hertsmere, St. Albans, Three Rivers and Watford (see Figure 1.1). 

1.5 The area has a rich and varied natural and historic environment, which 
makes it an attractive place to live, visit and work. SW Hertfordshire is defined 
by its varied urban character and proximity to London as well as its rural 
character and access to the countryside. There is a diversity in character across 
the area, from rural villages to historic market towns and areas with more in 
common with outer London. SW Hertfordshire also contains important 
landscapes such as the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
and Colne Valley Regional Park. 

1.6 The M1, West Coast Mainline and Midland Mainline all cut across the west 
of Hertfordshire, close to three of Hertfordshire’s largest towns, Watford, Hemel 
Hempstead and St Albans. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 6 Page 64



P
age 65



  

   

  

  

      
  

   
  

    
    

   

    
  

  
 

     
   

 

   
     

    
   

      

 

    
  

Chapter 1 Introduction 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 

1.7 The five SW Hertfordshire authorities – Dacorum Borough Council, 
Hertsmere Borough Council, St. Albans City and District Council, Three Rivers 
District Council and Watford Borough Council – have committed to producing a 
JSP for SW Herts, supported by Hertfordshire County Council. 

1.8 The JSP will provide an integrated strategic planning framework and 
evidence base to support sustainable growth across SW Hertfordshire to 2050, 
including the planned delivery of new homes and economic development, and 
the anticipated supporting infrastructure needed with an overall focus on 
combating the climate crisis and enhancing the natural environment. 

1.9 As part of the formation of the plan, the authorities are committed to 
ensuring there will be early, proportionate and meaningful engagement between 
plan makers and communities, local organisations, businesses, infrastructure 
providers and statutory bodies. A Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 
has been adopted and is supplemented by a more detailed Communications 
and Engagement Plan specifically covering the Issues and Options (Regulation 
18) engagement. 

1.10 The current programme anticipates that the JSP will be submitted to the 
Planning Inspectorate for independent examination in mid-2024 and adopted in 
late 2024, subject to the examination process. The programme is, however, 
dependent on progress made on the current round of district-level Local Plans 
and any national changes that may be announced to the plan-making system. 

Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic 
Environmental Assessment 

1.11 Under the amended Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 [See 
reference 1], SA is mandatory for Development Plan Documents. For these 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 8 Page 66



  

   

 
 

   
    

 
 

   
    

   
 

       
   

 

    
 

    

  

    

 

    

   

Chapter 1 Introduction 

documents it is also necessary to conduct an environmental assessment in 
accordance with the requirements of the Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA) Directive (European Directive 2001/42/EC) as transposed into law in 
England by the SEA Regulations [See reference 2], which remain in force 
despite the UK exiting the European Union in January 2020. Therefore, it is a 
legal requirement for the JSP to be subject to SA and SEA throughout its 
preparation. 

1.12 The requirements to carry out SA and SEA are distinct, although it is 
possible to satisfy both using a single appraisal process (as advocated in the 
national Planning Practice Guidance [See reference 3]), whereby users can 
comply with the requirements of the SEA Regulations through a single 
integrated SA process – this is the process that is being undertaken for SW 
Hertfordshire. From here on, the term ‘SA’ should therefore be taken to mean 

‘SA incorporating the requirements of the SEA Regulations’. 

1.13 The SA process comprises a number of stages, with Scoping being Stage 
A as shown below. 

Stage A: Setting the context and objecives, establishing the baseline and 

deciding on the scope. 

Stage B: Developing and refining options and assessing effects. 

Stage C: Preparing the Sustainability Appraisal Report. 

Stage D: Consulting on the JSP and the SA Report. 

Stage E: Monitoring the significant effects of implementing the JSP. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 9 Page 67



  

   

 

  
  

  
 

  
  

 

  
  

    
 

 
 

   
  

  
  

  

 

  
 

   
      

  

Chapter 1 Introduction 

Health Impact Assessment 

1.14 Although not a statutory requirement, Health Impact Assessment (HIA) 
aims to ensure that health-related issues are integrated into the plan-making 
process. The SA objectives will address health issues and the HIA of the JSP 
will be carried out as part of the SA. Recommendations will be made in relation 
to how the health-related impacts of the JSP can be optimised as the options 
are developed into detailed policies and broad locations for development. 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

1.15 The requirement to undertake formal Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
of development plans was introduced in the Equality Act 2010 but was 
abolished in 2012. Despite this, authorities are still required to have regard to 
the provisions of the Equality Act, namely the Public Sector Duty which requires 
public authorities to have due regard for equalities considerations when 
exercising their functions. 

1.16 In fulfilling this duty, similar to the HIA, the SA objectives will address 
equality issues and the EqIA of the JSP will be carried out as part of the SA. 
Recommendations will be made in relation to how the equality-related impacts 
of the JSP can be optimised as the options are developed into detailed policies 
and broad locations for development. 

Habitat Regulations Assessment 

1.17 The requirement to undertake Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of 
development plans was confirmed by the amendments to the Habitats 
Regulations published for England and Wales in July 2007 and updated in 2010 
and again in 2012 and 2017 [See reference 4]. The Regulations translate 
Directive 92/43/EEC on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and of Wild Fauna 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 10 Page 68



  

   

 
 

  
  

 

     
 

  

   
   

  
     

  
     

 
     

  

    

 

   

 

      

 

 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

and Flora (Habitats Directive) and 79/409/EEC (Birds Directive) into UK law and 
remain a legal requirement despite the UK exiting the European Union. 

1.18 The purpose of HRA is to assess the impacts of a land-use plan against 
the conservation objectives of a European site and to ascertain whether it would 
adversely affect the integrity of that site. 

1.19 The HRA will be undertaken separately but the findings will be taken into 
account in the SA where relevant (for example to inform judgements about the 
likely effects of potential broad development locations on biodiversity). 

1.20 Recently the HRA for the emerging Dacorum Local Plan concluded that 
there may be likely significant effects on the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC due to 
recreational impacts and therefore an Appropriate Assessment was required. 
The visitor survey and recreation impact assessment [See reference 5] 
published in March 2022 to inform the HRA of the emerging Local Plan includes 
the need for mitigation in the form of a ‘development exclusion zone’ of 500m 

around the European site. The same issues are likely to arise within the HRA 
that will be carried out for the emerging JSP. 

Approach to Scoping 

1.21 There are five tasks involved at the Scoping Stage: 

Stage A1: Setting out the policy context for the SA of the JSP (i.e. key 

government policies and strategies that influence what the JSP and the SA 

need to consider). 

Stage A2: Setting out the baseline for the SA of the JSP (i.e. the current 

and likely future environmental, social and economic conditions in SW 

Herts). 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 11 Page 69



  

   

   

 

 

   

 

   

   

  
 

   
  

   
  

      
     

   

 

   
  

 
  

  
 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

Stage A3: Drawing on A1 and A2, identify the particular sustainability 

problems and/or opportunities (‘issues’) that the JSP and SA should 

address. 

Stage A4: Drawing on A1, A2 and A3, develop a framework for SA 

objectives and assessment criteria to appraise the constituent parts of the 

JSP in isolation and in combination. 

Stage A5: Consultation on the scope of the SA. 

1.22 This Scoping Report fulfils the requirements set out above with a view to 
establishing the likely significant effects of constituent parts of the JSP in 
isolation and in combination. In accordance with national Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG), published on-line by the Government, the Scoping Report 
should be proportionate and relevant to the JSP, focussing on what is needed 
to identify and assess the likely significant effects. 

1.23 This report also includes an appraisal of the draft vision, objectives and 
high-level growth types as set out in the Regulation 18 consultation document 
(August 2022). 

Meeting the requirements of the SEA 
Regulations 

1.24 The relevant sections of the Scoping Report that are considered to meet 
the SEA Regulations requirements are signposted below (the remainder will be 
met during subsequent stages of the SA of the JSP). Signposting information 
should be included in the full SA Report at each stage of the SA to show how 
the requirements of the SEA Regulations have been met through the SA 
process. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 12 Page 70



  

   

    
  

  
  

     
   

    

  
    

   

  
 

   

   

 
  

   

  
 

  
 

     

    
 

 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

1.25 The SEA Regulations require the responsible authority to prepare, or 
secure the preparation of, an ‘environmental report’, which in this case will 
comprise the SA report. The report shall identify, describe and evaluate the 
likely significant effects on the environment of the following: 

a. An outline of the contents, main objectives of the plan or programme, 
and relationship with other relevant plans and programmes. 

◼ Covered in Chapters 1 and 3 and Appendix A. 

b. The relevant aspects of the current state of the environment and the 
likely evolution thereof without implementation of the plan or programme. 

◼ Covered in Chapters 3 and 4. 

c. The environmental characteristics of areas likely to be significantly 
affected. 

◼ Covered in Chapter 3. 

d. Any existing environmental problems which are relevant to the plan or 
programme including, in particular, those relating to any areas of a particular 
environmental importance, such as areas designated pursuant to Directives 
79/409/EEC and 92/43/EEC. 

◼ Covered in Chapters 3 and 4. 

e. The environmental protection, objectives, established at international, 
Community or national level, which are relevant to the plan or programme and 
the way those objectives and any environmental, considerations have been 
taken into account during its preparation. 

◼ Covered in Chapter 3 and Appendix A. 

f. The likely significant effects on the environment, including on issues such 
as biodiversity, population, human health, fauna, flora, soil, water, air, climatic 
factors, material assets, cultural heritage including architectural and 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 13 Page 71



  

   

   
 

   
   

    

     
  

  

    

   
 

 
 

    

  
  

    

    
 

    

  
    

 
 

  
 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

archaeological heritage, landscape and the interrelationship between the above 
factors. (Footnote: These effects should include secondary, cumulative, 
synergistic, short, medium and long-term permanent and temporary, positive 
and negative effects). 

◼ Requirement will be met at a later stage in the SA process. 

g. The measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as fully as possible 
offset any significant adverse effects on the environment of implementing the 
plan or programme. 

◼ Requirement will be met at a later stage in the SA process. 

h. An outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with, and a 
description of how the assessment was undertaken including any difficulties 
(such as technical deficiencies or lack of know-how) encountered in compiling 
the required information. 

◼ Requirement will be met at a later stage in the SA process. 

i. A description of measures envisaged concerning monitoring in 
accordance with Reg. 17. 

◼ Requirement will be met at a later stage in the SA process. 

j. A non-technical summary of the information provided under the above 
headings. 

◼ Requirement will be met at a later stage in the SA process. 

The report shall include the information that may reasonably be required taking 
into account current knowledge and methods of assessment, the contents and 
level of detail in the plan or programme, its stage in the decision-making 
process and the extent to which certain matters are more appropriately 
assessed at different levels in that process to avoid duplication of the 
assessment (Reg. 12(3)). 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 14 Page 72



  

   

 
 

    

 

   
 

   

    
  

 

       
 

 
 

    
 

 

    
     

 

    

  
   

  
    

Chapter 1 Introduction 

◼ This Scoping Report and the Environmental Reports will adhere to this 
requirement. 

Authorities with environmental responsibility, when deciding on the scope and 
level of detail of the information which must be included in the environmental 
report (Reg. 12(5)). 

◼ This SA Scoping Report will be published for consultation with the three 
statutory bodies (the Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural 
England) for a minimum of five weeks. 

Authorities with environmental responsibility and the public, shall be given an 
early and effective opportunity within appropriate time frames to express their 
opinion on the draft plan or programme and the accompanying environmental 
report before the adoption of the plan or programme (Reg. 13). 

◼ Public consultation on the Joint Strategic Plan and accompanying SA 
Reports will take place as the Plan develops. 

Other EU Member States, where the implementation of the plan or programme 
is likely to have significant effects on the environment of that country (Reg. 14). 

◼ The JSP is not expected to have significant effects on other EU Member 
States. 

Provision of information on the decision: 

When the plan or programme is adopted, the public and any countries 
consulted under Reg. 14 must be informed and the following made available to 
those so informed: 

◼ the plan or programme as adopted; 

◼ a statement summarising how environmental considerations have been 
integrated into the plan or programme and how the environmental 
report, the opinions expressed, and the results of consultations entered 
into have been taken into account, and the reasons for choosing the 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 15 Page 73



  

   

    
 

     

    

 
  

   

 
  

   
 

  

 

      
   

  

  
   

    
 

   
    

 

   
   

Chapter 1 Introduction 

plan or programme as adopted, in the light of the other reasonable 
alternatives dealt with; and 

◼ the measures decided concerning monitoring. 

◼ To be addressed after the JSP is adopted. 

Monitoring of the significant environmental effects of the plan's or programme's 
implementation (Reg. 17). 

◼ To be addressed after the JSP is adopted. 

Quality assurance: environmental reports should be of a sufficient standard to 
meet the requirements of the SEA Regulations. 

◼ This report has been produced in line with current guidance and good 
practice for SEA/SA and this section demonstrates where the requirements 
of the SEA Regulations have been met. 

Structure of the Scoping Report 

1.26 This chapter describes the background to the production of the JSP and 
the requirement to undertake SA and other assessment processes. The 
remainder of this Scoping Report is structured into the following sections: 

◼ Chapter 2 describes the other plans, policies and programmes of 
relevance to the SA of the JSP. 

◼ Chapter 3 presents the baseline information which will inform the 
assessment of the JSP. 

◼ Chapter 4 identifies the key environmental, social and economic issues in 
SW Hertfordshire of relevance to the emerging JSP and considers the 
likely evolution of those issues without its implementation. 

◼ Chapter 5 presents the SA framework that will be used for the appraisal of 
the JSP and the proposed method for carrying out the SA. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 16 Page 74



  

   

      
 

 

        

     
 

 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

◼ Chapter 6 presents an appraisal of the emerging Regulation 18 vision and 
objectives and alternative spatial growth scenarios presented within the 
JSP. 

◼ Chapter 7 describes the next steps to be undertaken in the SA of the JSP. 

1.27 Appendix A sets out the international and national plans, policies and 
programmes which are of most relevance to the JSP. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 17 Page 75



   

   

 

 

  

     

 

  

  

 

 

 

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

Chapter 2 
Policy Context for the Joint Strategic 
Plan 

2.1 Schedule 2 of the SEA Regulations requires: 

(a) “an outline of the contents and main objectives of the Plan and its 

relationship with other relevant plans or programmes” and 

(e) “the environmental protection objectives established at International, 

Community or Member State level, which are relevant to the plan and the 

way those objectives and any environmental considerations have been 

taken into account during its preparation” 

Outline of the SW Hertfordshire Joint Strategic 
Plan 

2.2 The SW Hertfordshire JSP will provide a strategic policy framework for SW 
Hertfordshire to 2050. It will consider cross boundary issues and will set out 
high level policies for SW Hertfordshire. The JSP will cover the south west 
portion of the county of Hertfordshire, and will be prepared jointly by: 

◼ Dacorum Borough Council. 

◼ Hertsmere Borough Council. 

◼ St. Albans City and District Council. 

◼ Three Rivers District Council. 

◼ Watford Borough Council. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 18 Page 76



   

   

    
 

     
 

      
 

   
    

  
 

 
  

 

   
  

 

    
   

  
 

   
 

  
  

 

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

2.3 The JSP is being prepared in partnership with Hertfordshire County Council, 
which has a key role given its responsibilities for the delivery of key 
infrastructure and services such as transport and education. It will also seek to 
address linkages to wider planning considerations. 

2.4 In order to establish a clear scope for the SA it is necessary to review and 
develop an understanding of the environmental, social and economic objectives 
contained within international, national and local policies, plans and strategies 
that are of relevance to the JSP. Given the SEA Regulations requirements 
above, it is also necessary to consider the relationship between the JSP and 
other relevant plans, policies and programmes. 

2.5 This chapter summarises the relationship of the JSP to the relevant 
international and national policies, plans and programmes which should be 
taken into consideration during preparation of the plan and its SA, as well as 
those plans and programmes which are of relevance at a County/sub-regional 
level. The objectives of these plans and programmes have been taken into 
account when drafting the SA framework in Chapter 5. 

The Implications of Brexit 

2.6 As of the end of January 2020 the UK has left the EU. As set out in the 
Explanatory Memorandum accompanying the Brexit amendments [See 
reference 6], the purpose of the Brexit amendments to the SEA Regulations is 
to ensure that the law functions correctly after the UK has left the EU. No 
substantive changes are being made by this instrument to the way the SEA 
regime operates. 

2.7 Relevant international plans and policy (including those at the EU level) are 
transposed into national plans, policy and legislation and these have been 
considered. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 19 Page 77



   

   

 
 

     
  

  
 

 
   

 
 

   

    

  

       
   

 
  

   
 

  

  

      
 

  

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

Relationships with other relevant plans or 
programmes 

2.8 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) [See reference 7] 
provides the national policy context for the JSP and it must be consistent with 
the NPPF requirements for local plan making. The JSP will then provide the 
spatial planning framework that will set the context for a future round of Local 
Plans to be prepared by the five SW Hertfordshire councils. This approach will 
allow those authorities to subsequently establish detailed planning policies and 
site allocations at a borough and district level. In doing so, it will also help to set 
the SW Hertfordshire planning policy framework for the preparation of 
neighbourhood local plans at the local community level. Other relevant national 
policies and plans are outlined in Appendix A. 

2.9 Relevant plans and initiatives at the County and area level include: 

Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan 2018 - 2031 

2.10 The Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan 2018 - 2031 [See reference 8] 
sets out how transport can help deliver a positive future vision for Hertfordshire 
by having a major input into wider policies such as economic growth, meeting 
housing needs, improving public health and reducing environmental damage 
whilst also providing for safe and efficient travel. The plan also considers how 
future planning decisions and emerging technology might affect the way that 
transport needs to be provided in the longer term. 

Hertfordshire’s Rail Strategy 

2.11 The Hertfordshire Rail Strategy [See reference 9] aims to demonstrate 
how the railway in Hertfordshire can support economic growth and 
development. The strategy sets out overall aspirations for the rail network in 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 20 Page 78



   

   

  
  

 

     

  
   

  
   
 

 

     
    

  
 

  

    
    

  

 

     
   

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

Hertfordshire from improvements to local to long-distance services to achieving 
net zero emissions from all forms of transport by 2050. 

South West Hertfordshire Growth and Transport Plan 
Prospectus 

2.12 The Growth and Transport Plan (GTP) [See reference 10] is a new 
approach to sub-county transport planning. This report is the first of a suite of 
new GTPs which will cover different sub-areas of Hertfordshire with the 
intention of promoting modal shift to non-motorised and public transport, 
providing greater modal choice, and facilitating growth sustainably. The Plan 
sets out seven objectives to address the transport challenges across SW 
Hertfordshire. 

South Central Hertfordshire Growth and Transport Plan 

2.13 The Growth and Transport Plan (GTP) [See reference 11] sets out a 
vision and objectives for the south-central area of Hertfordshire with an 
emphasis on a connected, reliable and accessible transport network for the 
area. 

Hertfordshire Public Health Service Strategy (2017-2021) 

2.14 The Hertfordshire Public Health Service Strategy (2017- 2021) [See 
reference 12] outlines the Council’s vision and principles for improving the 
health and wellbeing of people in Hertfordshire. 

Hertfordshire Adult Mental Health Strategy (2016-2021) 

2.15 The Hertfordshire Adult Mental Health Strategy (2016-2021) [See 
reference 13] outlines the steps that need to be taken to ensure that people in 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 21 Page 79



   

   

   
   

 

 

    
    

   
 

  

      
   

    

   

  

  

  
  

    
  

  
 

    

   
 

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

Hertfordshire can manage their own mental health and well-being, access 
treatment and help when they need it and recover, with support if required, and 
maximise the independence of Hertfordshire's residents. 

Hertfordshire County Active Travel Strategy 

2.16 The Hertfordshire County Council (2013) Active Travel Strategy [See 
reference 14] sets out how the County Council and its partners will identify, 
deliver and promote interventions to increase the number of people walking and 
cycling in Hertfordshire. 

Hertfordshire’s Recovery Plan, 2020 

2.17 Hertfordshire’s Recovery Plan 2020 [See reference 15] outlines the short-
and medium-term economic effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and defines 
recovery actions. The plan is structured around three main Delivery Packages: 

◼ Enterprise and Innovation. 

◼ Skills and Creativity. 

◼ International Trade and Investment. 

Perfectly Placed for Business Strategic Economic Plan 
2017 - 2030 

2.18 The Perfectly Placed for Business Strategic Economic Plan: 2017-2030 
[See reference 16] outlines four key economic strategies for Hertfordshire, 
reflecting the changes to the wider political landscape and the uncertainties 
surrounding the UK’s departure from the European Union for the County: 

◼ Priority 1: Maintaining global excellence in science and technology. 

◼ Priority 2: Harnessing Hertfordshire’s relationships with London and 

elsewhere. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 22 Page 80



   

   

   

  

 

      
  

  

    
 

 
 

    
   

  

  
 

 

   
  

   
  

     

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

◼ Priority 3: Reinvigorating our places for the 21st Century. 

◼ Priority 4: Foundations for growth. 

Hertfordshire Air Quality Strategy 

2.19 The Hertfordshire Air Quality Strategy [See reference 17] includes the 
County Council’s strategic vision, aims and objectives for improving air quality 
for Hertfordshire. The aims are as follows: 

◼ To gain a stronger understanding of the air quality issues within 
Hertfordshire. 

◼ To ensure that air quality is an integral part of everything that the County 
Council do. 

◼ To develop a productive relationship with partners, in particular the District 
and Borough Councils, to achieve positive air quality outcomes. 

◼ To create clear leadership on air quality 

◼ To establish a coherent workstream on air quality, including clarification on 
roles and responsibilities. 

Sustainable Hertfordshire Strategy 

2.20 Following the County’s Climate Emergency Declaration in July 2019, 
Hertfordshire County Council committed to developing a Sustainable 
Hertfordshire Strategy [See reference 18] that sets out the initial policies and 
strategies needed to embed sustainability across all Council operations and 
services and throughout the county. The strategy covers areas such as energy 
and carbon, climate change and flooding, biodiversity and air quality. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 23 Page 81



   

   

 

 
  

     
  

 
     

 

Chapter 2 Policy Context for the Joint Strategic Plan 

National and International 

2.21 At the international level, there is a wide range of plans and programmes 
which act to inform and shape national level legislation. Planning policy in 
England at a national and local level (i.e. the NPPF, the JSP and the individual 
authorities’ Local Plans) should be aware of and in conformity with the relevant 
legislation. The main sustainability objectives of international plans and 
programmes which are of most relevance for the JSP and the SA are included 
in Appendix A. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 24 Page 82



  

   

 
 

    
 

  

    
   

  
 

     
    

  

   
   

   
   

 

     
    

    
   

 

   
   

  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Chapter 3 
Baseline Information 

3.1 Baseline information provides the basis for predicting and monitoring the 
likely sustainability effects of a plan and helps to identify key sustainability 
issues and means of dealing with them. 

3.2 The baseline information presented in the most recent SA Reports for each 
district and borough’s Local Plan (listed below) has been drawn on to prepare 
this chapter (supplemented by more up to date sources as appropriate, which 
are referenced individually): 

◼ Dacorum Borough Council – Interim SA Report for the Dacorum Local 
Plan (2020 – 2038) Emerging Strategy for Growth (November 2020) [See 
reference 19] 

◼ Hertsmere Borough Council – SA report for the Draft Local Plan (October 
2021) [See reference 20] 

◼ St Albans City and District Council – SA Scoping Report for the St Albans 
City and District Local Plan 2020 to 2038 (January 2021) [See reference 
21] 

◼ Three Rivers District Council – Interim SA Report for the Regulation 18 
Preferred Policy Options and Sites [See reference 22] 

◼ Watford Borough Council – SA report for the Watford Final Draft Local 
Plan (January 2021) [See reference 23] 

Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation 

3.3 Climate change presents a global risk, with a range of different impacts that 
are likely to be felt within SW Hertfordshire across numerous receptors. The 
2018 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) identified a reduced 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 25 Page 83



  

   

  
    

    
    

  
 

   
   

   
 

  
 

 
  

   

 
    

    
  

     
 

   
  

     
   
 

  
   

  
   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

timeframe to act to keep world temperature rises to 1.5 degrees Celsius before 
2050 in line with the Paris Agreement [See reference 24]. 

3.4 Planning has a significant role to play in mitigating the effects of and 
adapting to the inevitable impacts of climate change. In the past this has 
focussed on reducing the need to travel but in the future buildings will need to 
be more energy efficient, use decentralised, low carbon or renewable energy 
sources and be designed and located to be resilient to more extreme weather 
events and increased risk of flooding. It should also be recognised that climate 
change is a cross cutting issue that can contribute to increasing the significance 
of effects related to other sustainability issues. Defra’s 25 Year Environment 
Plan aims to improve the global environment by providing international 
leadership in tackling climate change. 

3.5 Changes to the climate will bring new challenges to SW Hertfordshire’s built 
and natural environments. Climate change estimates (at the 50% probability 
level) for the East of England between 2080 to 2099, based on medium 
emissions scenarios, predict an increase in winter mean temperature of 
approximately 2.5 degrees Celsius and an increase in summer mean 
temperature of approximately 3.8 degrees Celsius [See reference 25] 
Furthermore, winter mean precipitation is predicted to increase by 16% and 
summer mean precipitation is predicted to decrease by 27%. 

3.6 Urban growth can contribute to the urban heat island effect. This is due to 
the land surfaces in towns and cities, which are made of materials like tarmac 
and stone, which absorb and store heat, that coupled with concentrated energy 
use and less ventilation than in rural areas, creates a heating effect [See 
reference 26]. With an expected increase in population in SW Hertfordshire, 
urban heat island effect becomes an increasing stressor on the towns and 
cities. 

3.7 Successfully adapting to climate change involves understanding the risks 
and quantifying the likely impacts, so that informed decisions can be taken 
about the costs and benefits of reducing those risks. Taking the impacts of a 
changing climate into account in all short, medium and long term planning is an 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 26 Page 84



  

   

    
 

 
   

  
   

 
  

  
   

    
   

    
 

     
 

    

       

  
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

       

       

 
 

      

       

       

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

investment to save money. Actions to increase resilience help to maximise the 
capacity of all to adapt. Adaptation plans need to be kept under regular review 
as adaptation will become increasingly important if appropriate mitigation is not 
put in place in time [See reference 27] 

3.8 Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) declared a climate emergency in July 
2019. Each of the councils within SW Hertfordshire have also declared climate 
emergencies. Following on from this, HCC developed a Sustainable 
Hertfordshire Strategy which sets out initial policies and strategies needed to 
embed sustainability throughout the county. Furthermore, in January 2020, the 
Hertfordshire Climate Change and Sustainability Partnership was formed with 
the aim of co-ordinating positive climate action across the county. Additionally, 
the Hertfordshire Energy Strategy (2019) set a goal of reducing carbon dioxide 
emissions to 80% of those in 2012/13 by 2025, with a longer-term ambition of 
achieving ‘net zero’. 

3.9 Table 3.1 sets out the per capita carbon dioxide emissions from each of the 
SW Hertfordshire authorities for 2019 and shows that the highest total 
emissions were from Hertsmere Borough. However, St Albans City and District 
has the highest transport emissions compared to the rest of SW Hertfordshire. 

Table 3.1: Carbon dioxide emissions 2019 [See reference 28] 

Borough/ 
District 

Industry 
(kt CO2) 

Commercial 
(kt CO2) 

Public 
Sector 
(kt 
CO2) 

Domestic 
(kt CO2) 

Transport 
(kt CO2) 

Total (t 
CO2 per 
person) 

Dacorum 40.6 80.8 23.8 224.4 269.5 4.0 

Hertsmere 46.4 65.3 16.2 164.7 354.3 6.1 

Three 
Rivers 

24.8 39.0 11.7 151.2 308.9 5.7 

Watford 26.3 62.5 15.7 125.4 95.2 3.4 

St Albans 32.6 57.4 13.8 230.5 534.9 5.8 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 27 Page 85



  

   

    
   

    
   

       
  

  
 

 
 

 

     

     

     

     

     

   
   

   
    

  
   

     

  
   

    
 

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.10 The Green Alliance Trust has estimated the capacity for renewable energy 
generation across England and Wales for 348 local authorities. Out of the 
Boroughs and Districts within SW Hertfordshire, Dacorum has ranked highest in 
terms of renewable energy capacity and generation (Table 3.2). 

Table 3.2: Renewable Energy Generation and Capacity [See 
reference 29] 

Borough/District Capacity 
(MW) 

Rank Generation 
(MWh) 

Rank 

Dacorum 21.8 184 23,789 244 

St Albans 7.1 286 10,370 290 

Watford 3.1 327 6,424 309 

Three Rivers 3.2 325 5,044 316 

Hertsmere 3.1 329 4,585 321 

3.11 There are currently three commercial renewable energy facilities within SW 
Herts, in Three Rivers and Hertsmere. The RES wind facility at Kings Langley 
which has a capacity of 0.23MW and the co-firing biomass fossil facility at 
Maple Cross which has a capacity of 2.88MW are both located within the Three 
Rivers. Therefore, there is 3.11MW of installed commercial renewable energy 
capacity in Three Rivers [See reference 30]. There is also a solar farm within 
Potters Bar, Hertsmere which has a capacity of 5.0MW [See reference 31]. 

3.12 Communities and governments around the world must adapt and plan in 
the face of climate uncertainty, as it is not possible to know the exact extent to 
which our climate will change. Adaptation and mitigation plans must incorporate 
the full range of climate risks, take account of uncertainty over timing and 
severity and build climate resilience [See reference 32]. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 28 Page 86



  

   

  

  
 

   
  

   
     

 

   
 

  
  

 
  

   
      
   

   
  

         
   

    
 

  
 

   

   

   

   

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Flood Risk 

3.13 Development within high flood risk areas, or the loss of greenfield land to 
development, could contribute to increased flood risk. Properties outside the 
floodplain are also susceptible to flooding due to an increase in surface water 
runoff and large development sites outside the floodplain may exacerbate 
surface water flooding issues further without appropriate mitigation. However, 
mitigation may be achieved through the incorporation of Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) into the new development. 

3.14 In Hertfordshire the main surfaces of flood risk are surface water, rivers 
and other watercourses (fluvial) and, less frequently, groundwater. The areas 
most at risk of surface water flooding are predominately within SW 
Hertfordshire, especially surrounding Watford. Surface water flooding is caused 
when local drainage capacity and infiltration is unable to cope with the volume 
of water experience during periods of sustained or heavy rainfall. The estimated 
numbers of properties for each SW Hertfordshire district/borough likely to be 
affected during a 1 in 30 year rainfall event and a 1 in 100 year rainfall event are 
shown in Table 3.3 below. The risk of surface water flooding in the county is 
likely to increase as the extent of built-up areas and the area of impermeable 
surfaces increase. 

Table 3.3: Number of properties shown to be at risk of surface 
water flooding [See reference 33] 

Local Authority 1 in 30 
(3.33% AEP) 

1 in 100 
(1% AEP) 

Dacorum 4,188 8,213 

St. Albans 3,667 7,661 

Watford 2,167 4,886 

Three Rivers 2,452 4,868 

Hertsmere 3,347 6,665 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 29 Page 87



  

   

     
   

  
 

 

  
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.15 Across the entire area of SW Hertfordshire, 3.6% falls within Flood Zone 2 
and 2.7% falls within Flood Zone 3. These areas are shown in Figure 3.1 
below. Climate change is forecast to result in milder and wetter winters and 
more storms in summer months. Changes in farming practices can exacerbate 
overland flow due to the removal of hedgerows and trees and the issue is likely 
to become increasingly important due to climate change. Further development 
pressure will increase the pressure on existing sewer systems effectively 
reducing their capacity, leading to more frequent flooding. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 30 Page 88



P
age 89



  

   

 

     
    

     
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

   
 

    

         
   

    

    

    

    

    

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Population, Health and Wellbeing 

3.16 SW Hertfordshire lies within the East of England, see Figure 1.1. The area 
is divided between five local planning authorities: Dacorum, Hertsmere, St. 
Albans, Three Rivers and Watford. The majority of the population of the area is 
spread across the following areas: 

◼ Hemel Hempstead 

◼ Watford 

◼ St. Albans 

◼ Rickmansworth 

◼ Harpenden 

◼ Radlett 

◼ Borehamwood 

3.17 Watford has the highest population density out of the five authorities. 

3.18 The latest population forecasts for SW Hertfordshire predicts an increase 
in the number of residents of 16,645 between 2018 and 2040 as shown in 
Table 3.4, with the largest percentage increase of 6.5% expected in Dacorum. 

Table 3.4: Projected growth in total resident population 2018 to 
2040 [See reference 34] 

District/Borough 2018 2040 % change 

Dacorum 154,280 164,343 6.5 

St. Albans 147,373 148,580 0.8 

Watford 96,767 97,523 0.8 

Three Rivers 93,045 93,739 0.7 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 32 Page 90



  

   

    

    

      
  

  
  

  
  

 

   
 

  
     

   
    

         
 

 
   

  
  

       

       

  
   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

District/Borough 2018 2040 % change 

Hertsmere 104,205 108,130 3.7 

3.19 Hertsmere has a higher than the area average proportion of those aged 
over 75 years, 6%, and this trend is predicted to continue. In 2019, those aged 
65 and over represented 16.8% of SW Hertfordshire’s population. This is 
predicted to rise to 22.7% by 2041. An ageing population will increase demands 
for different types of housing as well as accessible healthcare and local 
facilities. 

Health 

3.20 There are a wide range of leisure, cultural and recreation facilities 
throughout SW Hertfordshire. 

3.21 SW Hertfordshire tends to be relatively healthy compared with other parts 
of the country. The majority of the area has above average life expectancy 
compared to the rest of England; however Watford is below the England 
average as shown in Table 3.5 below. 

Table 3.5: Life expectancy in SW Hertfordshire [See reference 
35] 

Life 
expectancy 

England Dacorum Three 
Rivers 

St. 
Albans 

Watford Hertsmere 

Males 79.6 81.4 81.5 82.0 79.1 81.0 

Females 83.2 84.3 84.0 85.3 82.7 84.0 

3.22 Open space and sports and recreation facilities in SW Hertfordshire 
provide residents with space in which they can undertake physical activity to the 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 33 Page 91



  

   

 
   

 

 
   

    
   

    
   

    
  

  
  

 

 
     

 
  

      
  

    

     
    

 
  

 
   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

benefit of public health. The UK Chief Medical Officers advise that for good 
physical and mental health, adults should aim to be physically active every day. 
Over the course of a week adults should accumulate at least 150 minutes of 
moderate intensity activity; or 75 minutes of vigorous intensity activity day; or 
even shorter durations of very vigorous intensity activity; or a combination of 
moderate, vigorous and very vigorous intensity activity [See reference 36]. 

3.23 Hertfordshire contains a lower than average proportion of physically active 
adults (65.4% compared to 66.3% national average) and a very slightly higher 
than average proportion of adults over 18 with excess weight (62.1% compared 
to the national average of 62.%) [See reference 37]. Out of the five planning 
authorities within SW Hertfordshire, Watford is the only authority that is below 
the national average for physically active adults (60.5% compared to that 
national average 66.3%) and is above the national average for adults who are 
overweight with 67% compared to 62% nationally. 

Access to green space 

3.24 Access to the countryside via rights of way can provide an important 
recreation resource. Hertfordshire has a rich green infrastructure network 
encompassing parts of the Chilterns AONB, river valleys, chalk grasslands, 
farmlands, ancient woodland, designated historic landscape and parklands and 
urban greening assets. Part of the Chilterns AONB falls within SW Hertfordshire 
with the majority falling within Dacorum. 

3.25 The Heartwood Forest, located within St. Albans, is the largest continuous 
new native forest in England. The Forest is 347-hectares which is made up of 
new and ancient woodland and has a network of paths, including a public 
footpath and two bridleways. The Colne Valley Regional Park also runs into 
Rickmansworth covering 43 square miles. Both of these green spaces are 
essential parts of SW Hertfordshire’s green infrastructure network and provide a 
wide variety of benefits. However, the Regional Park in particular suffers from 
being poorly served by transport links. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 34 Page 92



  

   

  
 

   
      

 
  

  
 

   
     

  
   

  
     

 

    
   

  
    

  
  

   

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.26 An assessment of available green spaces within Hertfordshire against 
Natural England’s Accessible Natural Greenspace Standards (ANGSt) 
concluded that the main areas of deficiency are within Hertsmere as it does not 
meet the ANGSt standards. However, Watford also has below average 
provision of accessible natural greenspace. There is a relatively high proportion 
of accessible natural greenspace within St Albans District. However, Ashridge, 
within Dacorum Borough, is the closest 500ha accessible natural greenspace. 
Dacorum and Three Rivers have the largest proportion of accessible natural 
greenspace provision throughout Hertfordshire. Green links to the west of the 
County could help alleviate deficiencies in greenspace elsewhere [See 
reference 38]. Linking many of the existing recreational routes (e.g. 
Hertfordshire Way and Chilterns Way) could serve to create an integrated 
network of green corridors providing easy access to many of the County’s green 

infrastructure assets. Figure 3.2 below shows all of the accessible green spaces 
within SW Hertfordshire. 

3.27 Three Rivers, Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans and Watford have all 
conducted their own Green Infrastructure Strategies, prepared in 2011 and 
2012 (a new Green Infrastructure Strategy for Hertfordshire is currently being 
prepared). New and existing development has the potential to create additional 
green infrastructure or destroy the existing network, therefore affecting the 
area’s resilience to climate change, biological and ecological networks and the 
health and wellbeing of residents. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 35 Page 93



P
age 94



  

   

 

    
   

 
  

    
   

  
 

  
  

      
  

   
       

  
       

 

  

  

  

  

  

  
   

  

     
   
 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Housing 

3.28 The South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment (LHNA) 
[See reference 39] considers housing need in the South West Hertfordshire 
Housing Market Area (HMA). The HMA comprises the five local planning 
authorities within the area. 

3.29 The National Planning Policy Framework in February 2019 introduced a 
new Standard Method for assessing local housing need. It draws on 2014 -
based household projections and increases the local housing need based on 
local affordability. However, the new method is subject to review as part of the 
expected changes to the planning system due to be announced later this year. 
The average workplace-based mean affordability ratio in the HMA is 13.9, when 
using the prescribed formula, the local affordability ratio results in an average 
uplift of 61%. This means the latest local housing need projection for the area, 
as set out in the Local Housing Needs Assessment, has increased from 2,888 
dwellings to 4,043 dwellings per annum from the period 2020 to 2030. If 4,043 
dwellings per annum are provided this would likely result in an additional 
122,682 people in the area, over the period 2020-2036, likely to be divided as 
follows: 

◼ Dacorum: 31,724 

◼ Hertsmere: 21,765 

◼ St. Albans: 26,128 

◼ Three Rivers: 18,294 

◼ Watford: 24,771 

3.30 In terms of housing mix, the LHNA recommends that the majority of market 
housing should be 3 or more bedrooms, whereas 1, 2 and 3 bedroom properties 
are more in demand for affordable homes (both to buy and to rent). 

3.31 House prices in the area are impacted by its proximity to London, being, 
82% above the national average, 13% above the county and just 7% below 
London’s 2020 housing values. Over the last 20 years, housing values within 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 37 Page 95



  

   

    
 

   

 

  
 

  
  

  
  

  
 

 

  

  

  

  

   

  

   

  

  

    
 

    

    
  

    

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

SW Hertfordshire have grown above both the national and regional equivalents 
but just below London’s growth. As such, there are affordability pressures 
across the area. 

Equalities 

3.32 The Equality Act 2010 identifies nine ‘protected characteristics’ and seeks 
to protect people from discrimination on the basis of these characteristics. It 
presents three main duties: to eliminate discrimination, harassment, 
victimisation and other conduct that is prohibited under the Act; to advance 
equality of opportunity between persons who share relevant protected 
characteristics and persons who do not share it; and to foster good relations 
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 
who do not share it. The nine protected characteristics identified through the Act 
are: 

◼ Age; 

◼ Disability; 

◼ Gender reassignment; 

◼ Marriage and civil partnership; 

◼ Pregnancy and maternity; 

◼ Race; 

◼ Religion and belief; 

◼ Sex; and 

◼ Sexual orientation. 

3.33 The potential effects of the plan on these nine ‘protected characteristics’ 
will be assessed separately to the SA. This work will comprise the Equalities 
Impact Assessment (EqIA) which will be presented in an appendix to the SA. 

3.34 While socio-economic status is not a characteristic protected by the 
Equality Act 2010, the Council is committed to also considering the effects that 
the plan will have in this sense. The EqIA will therefore also consider the 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 38 Page 96



  

   

  
 

  

   

  

   

    
    

    

 

      
  

      
   

     
     

  
      

    
    

 

        
     

    

    

    

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

potential effects on socio-economic groups not limited to but including the 
following: 

◼ People on low incomes; 

◼ Young and adult carers; 

◼ People living in deprived areas/rural areas; and 

◼ Groups suffering multiple disadvantages. 

3.35 The population of SW Hertfordshire in mid-2020 was 600,834 compared to 
565,499 in the 2011 Census. The population in the mid-2020s was 307,169 
(51%) females and 293,665 (49%) males [See reference 40]. 

Age 

3.36 The median age for SW Hertfordshire’s population based on mid-2020s 
figures was 40.5 years. For the 10-year period starting in mid-2010 there was 
an increase in average age of 1.3 years from 39.2 years. The median age for 
SW Hertfordshire’s population in the mid-2020 was slightly higher than the 
median age for both the UK (39.7 years) and for the county of Hertfordshire as 
a whole (39.7 years). Based on the latest figures, the age profile for SW 
Hertfordshire was broadly similar to that for England as a whole although as a 
proportion there were slightly more people in Hertfordshire aged 65 and older 
than in the national population. A more detailed breakdown of the estimated age 
makeup of the population for SW Hertfordshire in 2020 is provided in Table 3.6 
below. 

Table 3.6: Estimated breakdown of SW Hertfordshire’s 2020 
population by age group [See reference 41] 

Age Group Male Female Total 

19 and younger 79,291 74,982 154,273 

20-34 48,484 50,412 98,896 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 39 Page 97



  

   

    

    

    

     

   
   

      
      

      
       

      

 

 
 

  
 

 
    

      

 

  
     

     
    

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Age Group Male Female Total 

35-49 63,277 67,786 131,063 

50-64 56,656 57,744 114,400 

65 and older 45,957 56,245 102,202 

3.37 It is expected that the ratio of those residents who are state pension age or 
older compared to those of working age will increase in the future throughout 
the UK. SW Hertfordshire has a similar old age dependency ratio (273.4) 
compared to Hertfordshire (274.8) - this indicates the number of people of state 
pension age per 1,000 people of working age. In SW Hertfordshire, this figure is 
expected to rise to 348 by 2043, while the Hertfordshire figure is expected to 
increase to a similar figure of 345.3 by this time [See reference 42]. 

Disability 

3.38 The 2011 census presented figures on people with disabilities in the UK. 
Within SW Hertfordshire, the proportion of population reporting a disability that 
limits them a lot in their activities is as follows for each of the five local 
authorities: Dacorum (13.1%), Hertsmere (13.3%), St Albans (11.2%), Three 
Rivers (12.2%) and Watford (15%). The proportion of SW Hertfordshire’s 
population who were reported as being 'limited a lot' is below the average for 
England and Wales of 17.9% in all five districts [See reference 43]. 

Marriage and Civil Partnership 

3.39 Based on the 2011 Census data, 37.3% of Hertfordshire’s population was 
married or in a same-sex civil partnership, with a further 9.8% cohabitating. 
36.6% of the population was single and 9.7% were lone parents with dependant 
or non-dependant children. The remaining 6.5% of the population falls within 
other household types [See reference 44]. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 40 Page 98



  

   

 

      
 

    
   

    
   

 
   

 

    
    

  
    

   
 

     
  

       

  

 

 

 
 

 
 
  

 
 
 

 

      

      

      

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Pregnancy and maternity 

3.40 In recent years, the number of births in the UK has decreased along with 
the fertility rate. For the fifth consecutive year, the number of live births in 2020 
for England and Wales decreased to 613,936, the lowest since 2002. In 2020 
there were 6,710 live births within SW Hertfordshire. Of these, 3,149 were to 
non-UK born mothers [See reference 45]. The average age of mothers at 
childbirth in 2020 remained the same as 2019, at 30.7 years following a gradual 
increase since 1973. The average fertility rate for SW Hertfordshire is 1.73 
children per woman [See reference 46]. 

Race 

3.41 The ONS publishes detailed population estimates by ethnic group for 
areas in England and Wales following each census. However, there are 
currently no reliable population estimates by ethnic group available at the local 
authority level for the years between censuses. Therefore, the most recent 
census data presents the most reliable overview of the likely ethnic makeup of 
SW Hertfordshire. 19.2% of Hertfordshire residents in 2011 were from an ethnic 
minority, equating to 214,056 residents. Table 3.7 below shows the broad 
ethnic makeup within the five local authorities that comprise SW Hertfordshire. 

Table 3.7: Broad Ethnic Makeup (%) of SW Hertfordshire 

Area Asian/ 
Asian 
British 

Black/ 
African/ 
Caribbean 
/Black 
British 

Mixed/ 
multiple 
ethnic 
groups 

Other 
ethnic 
group 

White 

Dacorum 4.7% 2.1% 2.1% 0.3% 90.8% 

Hertsmere 7.4% 3.9% 2.6% 1.0% 85.0% 

St Albans 6.4% 1.7% 2.8% 0.7% 88.4% 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 41 Page 99



  

   

  

 

 

 
 

 
 
  

 
 
 

 

 
 

     

      

    
 

    
   

     
  

     
     

 
    

   
   

  
    

 

     
  

      
      

  
    

   
      

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Area Asian/ 
Asian 
British 

Black/ 
African/ 
Caribbean 
/Black 
British 

Mixed/ 
multiple 
ethnic 
groups 

Other 
ethnic 
group 

White 

Three 
Rivers 

9.2% 1.8% 2.3% 0.5% 86.2% 

Watford 17.9% 5.8% 3.4% 0.9% 71.9% 

3.42 A significant majority of Hertfordshire’s resident population in 2011 (83.9% 
or 936,681 residents) were born in England. 3.7% (41,101) of the population 
were born in an EU country and 8.6% (96,025) of the population were born in a 
non-EU country [See reference 47]. 

3.43 Migration figures for SW Hertfordshire show that the area has experienced 
a small net inflow of both internal and international migration during most years 
from 2010 to 2020 (the exception being international migration for the period 
mid-2011 to mid-2012 when a small net outflow was experienced). Generally, 
internal migration outweighs international migration. During the most recent 
reporting period (mid-2019 to mid-2020) the inflow of long-term international 
migration was recorded as 3,220 individuals and the outflow was recorded as 
2,755 individuals across SW Hertfordshire. During the same period the inflow of 
internal migration was recorded as 35,317 individuals and the outflow was 
recorded as 34,432 individuals [See reference 48]. 

Religion 

3.44 In 2018 the majority of SW Hertfordshire’s total population (50%) 
considered themselves to be Christian. Those who reported to have no religion 
accounted for 36% of residents. A further 12% of residents were reported to 
follow other religions, with Hindu being the largest group (5% of residents). 
These figures demonstrate that for the five-year period beginning in 2013, the 
number of residents reporting to have no religion grew (from 184,800 to 
217,397 residents) and the number of residents recorded as Christian fell 
slightly (from 309,272 to 297,625 residents). The breakdown of religion by the 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 42 Page 100



  

   

     
  

          

    
  

   

       

       

       

       

       

       

      

       

 

  

  
  

   

 

      
  

   
    

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

five local authority areas within SW Hertfordshire is shown in Table 3.8 below 
[See reference 49]. 

Table 3.8: Number of people following a religion in 2018 

Dacorum Hertsmere Three 
Rivers 

Watford St. Albans 

No Religion 60,364 25,551 41,936 27,784 61,762 

Christian 79,609 49,869 39,007 49,704 79,436 

Buddhist - * * 2,341 * 

Hindu 4,127 6,352 5,266 10,352 2,558 

Jewish * 15,948 1,852 - * 

Muslim 5,483 3,145 2,628 6,316 1,535 

Sikh - - 1,436 - -

Other Religion 1,464 1,784 - * * 

* Sample size too small to provide reliable estimates. 

- No figures to report. 

3.1 There is little baseline information available that is directly relevant to other 
protected characteristics under the Equality Act, including gender reassignment 
and sexual orientation. 

Social Inclusion and Deprivation 

3.2 The English Indices of Deprivation of 2019 (IMD) is a measure of multiple 
deprivation in small areas or neighbourhoods, Lower Layer Super Output Areas 
(LSOA) to measure deprivation at local authority and county level. The seven 
distinct domains of deprivation: Income; Employment; Health Deprivation and 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 43 Page 101



  

   

  
  

   
  

      
  

     
      

    
   
     

   
   

  

   
  

    
  

    
    

     

         
  

     
  

      
    

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Disability; Education and Skills Training; Crime; Barriers to Housing and 
Services; and Living Environment. Each domain contains a number of 
indicators. The seven domains are combined to give a multiple deprivation 
score. There are 32,844 LSOAs nationally. 

3.3 In 2019, the following rankings for overall deprivation were given to the five 
local authorities within Hertfordshire: Dacorum (240 out of 317); Three Rivers 
(291 out of 317); St Albans (306 out of 317); Watford (195 out of 317); and 
Hertsmere (224 out of 317) (1 being the most deprived). SW Hertfordshire 
overall performs particularly strongly in terms of measures relating to income, 
employment, education skills and training, health and disability, income 
deprivation affecting children and income deprivation affecting older people. 
The area performed less favourably in relation to barriers to housing and 
services and crime [See reference 50]. Although the area is generally 
prosperous, there are pockets of deprivation, mostly focused within the larger 
centres of Watford, Hemel Hempstead and Borehamwood. 

3.4 Three Rivers is one of the 20% least deprived districts/unitary authorities in 
England. 22 out of 53 LSOAs (42%) fall within the 10% least deprived areas. 
Only one LSOA (Three Rivers 012D) falls within the 20% most deprived areas. 
In relation to living environment, 42 out of 53 LSOAs (79%) fall within the least 
deprived areas [See reference 51]. However, about 9.7% (1,620) children live 
in low-income families [See reference 52]. Within Three Rivers, it was 
estimated that 4,053 out of 37,918 households were fuel poor in 2019, which 
equates to 10.7% of all households [See reference 53]. 

3.5 In 2019, Watford had four out of 53 LSOAs within the 20 - 30% most 
deprived areas while 33 out of 53 LSOAs fell within the least deprived areas. 
About 11.5% (2,305) children lived in low-income families. Since 2015, the 
number of LSOAs within the most deprived in relation to crime has increased 
from 18 to 35 in 2019. Within Watford, it was estimated that 5,417 out of 39,453 
households were fuel poor in 2019, which equates to 13.7% of all households. 
Watford has the highest rate of fuel poverty in SW Hertfordshire. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 44 Page 102



  

   

  
     

       
  

     
     

   

    
  

 
   

   
   

   
    

  

   
      

    
 

    
   

  
    

    
   

   
    

 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.6 St Albans is one of the 20% least deprived districts/unitary authorities in 
England. There is only one LSOA (St Albans 009A) in St Albans that falls within 
the 30% most deprived areas. 23 areas within St Albans are in the 10 - 30% 
most deprived in relation to barriers to housing and services. Approximately 
44% of LSQA (38 out of 87) fall within 10% least deprived areas. About 8.5% 
(2,355) children live in low-income families. Within St Albans, it was estimated 
that 5,623 out of 60,507 households were fuel poor in 2019, which equates to 
9.3% of all households. 

3.7 The majority of Hertsmere lies within the least deprived areas, with 19% of 
LSOAs falling within 10% least deprived. There is one LSOA (Hertsmere 006C 
within Borehamwood Cowley Hill ward) that lies within the 10% most deprived. 
Hertsmere performs relatively poorly in relation to barriers to housing and 
services with 51 out of 62 LSOAs (82%) falling within the most deprived areas. 
This may be due to Hertsmere’s more rural setting. About 11.9% (2,380) of 
children live in low-income families. Within Hertsmere, it was estimated that 
4,537 out of 42,914 households were fuel poor in 2019, which equates to 11.0% 
of all households. 

3.8 Within Dacorum, only three LSOAs lie within the 20% most deprived areas. 
The majority of LSOAs (72%) are less deprived, with 24 LSOAs falling within 
the 10% least deprived domain. Dacorum ranks highest in relation to living 
environment with 68% of LSOAs falling within the least deprived. Crime is 
ranked the highest, however, with the majority of LSOAs falling within the most 
deprived. About 12.3% (3,450) children live in low-income families. Within 
Dacorum, it was estimated that 7,095 out of 64,610 households were fuel poor 
in 2019, which equates to 10.7% of all households. 

3.9 New development near to deprived neighbourhoods can help to stimulate 
regeneration in those areas. Therefore, the location of the JSP growth types in 
relation to the most deprived neighbourhoods could influence the extent to 
which they can have positive effects on those areas. Figure 3.3 shows the 
Indices of Multiples Deprivation for SW Hertfordshire. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 45 Page 103



  

   

    
 

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.10 Further information regarding unemployment levels and income is provided 
in the Economy section. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 46 Page 104



P
age 105



  

   

 

  
   

    

  
 

    
  

 
 

   

      
   

     
      

    

    
    

      

 

      
  

    
   
  

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Educational Attainment 

3.11 The quality of schools within the area is generally very good. In SW 
Hertfordshire, as of January 2017, only 2,143 pupils (out of a total of 48,868) 
are reported to attend primary schools that have been rated as ‘requiring 

improvement’ or ‘inadequate’ by Ofsted. Only 1,900 pupils (out of a total of 
33,703) are reported to attend secondary schools that have been rated as 
‘requiring improvement’ or ‘inadequate’ by Ofsted. 

3.12 The percentage of pupils reaching the expected standard in relation to 
attainment of primary pupils at Key stage 2 in reading, writing and mathematics 
for SW Hertfordshire is higher than the England average of 54%. The averages 
for the five local authorities are: Dacorum (57%), Hertsmere (56%), Three 
Rivers (62%), Watford (59%) and St Albans (68%). 

3.13 Pupils in SW Hertfordshire perform more favourably than the national 
average for Attainment 8 scores for English and Mathematics. For English, the 
average score for SW Hertfordshire in 2015/16 was 11.4 compared to the 
national average of 10.6, while for Mathematics the average score for the area 
was 11 compared to the national average of 9.8. 

3.14 SW Hertfordshire also reported a higher percentage (72.8%) of pupils 
attaining grades A to C in both English and Mathematics than the English 
average (63.3%) for the same period [See reference 54]. 

Economy 

3.15 At a county level, the Local Industrial Strategy (2019) [See reference 55] 
sets out the economic priorities for the county and builds on Hertfordshire’s 
Strategic Economic Plan [See reference 56]. The Strategic Economic Plan for 
Hertfordshire sets out actions based around four priorities for the county: 
maintaining global excellence in science and technology, harness relationships 
with London and elsewhere, reinvigorate Hertfordshire’s places for the 21st 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 48 Page 106



  

   

  
      
    

     
   

    
      

  
   

 
 

    
   

      
  

     

 
   

  
   

  

       
    

   
  

    
      

   
    

     
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Century and create foundations for long-term growth. Further to this, 
Hertfordshire’s Clean Growth Strategy [See reference 57] sets out how it aims 
to support a transition to clean growth across the county. One action set out to 
achieve this will be by developing the green economy through the growth of the 
Low Carbon Environmental Goods and Services sector. 

3.16 The SW Hertfordshire economy has grown since 2011 with the growth of 
real gross value added (GVA) by around 4% per year [See reference 58]. The 
key sectors that are present in SW Hertfordshire are the life sciences, advanced 
engineering/manufacturing, agri-science and agri-tech, sustainable construction 
and creative industries (film, TV, digital sectors). A number of international 
businesses’ headquarters are located within the area. 

3.17 At the county level, residents have a far higher level of earning than the 
national average. The earnings are higher for residents than by workplace, 
reflecting the fact that many people commute into London to access higher paid 
jobs. In broad terms, out-commuters from Hertfordshire tend to be better 
qualified than in-commuters into the county [See reference 59]. 

3.18 As of 2017, at a county level, there are 58,000 enterprises, most of which 
are small, producing a wide array of different good and services. These range 
from pharmaceutical products to accountancy services and sustainable 
construction techniques, and from logistics to advanced materials and satellites 
[See reference 60]. 

3.19 The county is home to many well qualified people, but still, over 40,000 
working age residents have no qualifications at all. The average resident of St. 
Albans who is employed on a full-time basis earns weekly pay of around £684, 
while the average weekly pay on a full-time basis in Hertsmere is £525 showing 
that there are substantial differences across the SW Hertfordshire area [See 
reference 61]. According to the 2011 census, 12,688 people were registered as 
unemployed and an additional 93,148 were economically inactive, not claiming 
anything from the state, but wanting a job. Dacorum has the highest number of 
people in both categories and Watford has the least compared with the rest of 
SW Hertfordshire. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 49 Page 107



  

   

      
  

 

    
 

  
 

 
  

 
  

 

  
   

    
   

   
 

       
 

  
 

  
   

      
   

   
 

    
    

  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.20 The South West Hertfordshire Economic Study (2019) [See reference 62] 
outlines key information about the economy in South West Hertfordshire, 
including: 

◼ The previous 2016 study identified a Functional Economic Market Area 
(FEMA) made up of Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans, Three Rivers and 
Watford. This was based on evidence of strong commuting and migration 
relationships and shared leisure, retail and public sector catchment areas. 
The definition of FEMA is still relevant. The FEMA is thought to share 
strong relationships with other areas (London, Luton/Central Beds, and the 
Cambridge-Milton Keynes-Oxford Corridor) which could exert a growing 
influence on economic and labour market trends in SW Hertfordshire. It is 
uncertain how these relationships might change in the future; however it is 
suggested that: 

◼ The loss of employment floor space in London presents opportunities 
for SW Hertfordshire to attract jobs and businesses. 

◼ As the economies of SW Hertfordshire and Luton/Central Beds are 
sufficiently different, the expected employment and housing growth 
planned around Luton is anticipated to complement rather than 
compete with growth in the FEMA. 

◼ While any effects on SW Hertfordshire of the significant growth up to 
2050 within the Cambridge-Milton Keynes-Oxford Corridor are 
expected to be long term, there may be a risk that the scale of 
development and new infrastructure investment could make this a 
more attractive investment location for certain sectors where there may 
be competition with SW Hertfordshire. 

3.21 Given the high level of housing growth already planned through emerging 
Local Plans for SW Hertfordshire and continuing affordability challenges in 
London, it is likely that the strong in-migration and out-commuting flows 
between the FEMA and London will continue to grow. The loss of employment 
floorspace in London presents opportunities for SW Hertfordshire to attract jobs 
and businesses, although this is dependent on SW Hertfordshire authorities 
addressing the current undersupply of employment space. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 50 Page 108



  

   

   
 

  
  

    
     

   
 

 
   

    
 

 

  
   

   

  

   
 

 
   

   
   

  
 

 

   

  

  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.22 Trends identified that employment was growing at a strong rate up until 
2019, as levels of growth were much stronger (1.5 to 2.8% p.a. based on the 
average growth rate over the previous ten and five year periods) when 
compared to the long-term growth rate of 0.4% p.a. 

3.23 Trends identified that productivity had fallen prior to COVID-19 and was 
lower than the UK average: average GVA per job fell by £1,000 and was 2% 
lower than the national average, having been 8% higher in 2001. Supporting the 
growth of established sectors (e.g. professional services, ICT and film and TV 
production) is thought to be key to addressing these productivity challenges. 
SW Hertfordshire has a large supply of highly skilled workers to support the 
growth of these sectors. The main barrier to growth has been a shortage of high 
quality business premises to attract investment and to support the growth of 
indigenous businesses. 

3.24 Supply of employment space is at critically low levels – a combination of 
growth and the loss of existing premises has resulted in a significant reduction 
in the availability of employment space in SW Hertfordshire. This has the 
potential to act as a significant constraint on growth, particularly in those office-
based sectors which are key to increasing productivity. 

3.25 Public transport access and connections to London are key for high value 
office investors. 

3.26 The COVID-19 pandemic brought unprecedented economic upheaval 
across the world, including for SW Hertfordshire. Businesses have experienced 
significant financial pressure and those within town centres have experienced 
particularly acute challenges [See reference 63]. Hertfordshire’s Economic 
Recovery Plan has been developed in response and is structured around three 
main Delivery Packages, which are concerned with Hertfordshire’s businesses 

and workforce (existing and future), and focus on: 

◼ Enterprise and innovation. 

◼ Skills and creativity. 

◼ International trade and innovation. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 51 Page 109



  

   

 
    

    
  

   
 
   

  

   
  

 

  
  

     
  

 
  

   
   

    
   

  
   

   
  

    

    
 

   
  

  
 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.27 Hertfordshire’s Economic Recovery Plan outlines the key challenges 
experienced by the Districts and Boroughs due to COVID-19 and what the 
future looks like. The future likely scenarios identified in this report for the five 
local planning authorities within SW Hertfordshire is outlined below: 

◼ Dacorum – Looking ahead, the future of logistics will be important, given 
high levels of local concentration. The future of professional services will 
also underpin the pattern of recovery. Among the risks that will need to be 
considered local is the relatively large concentration of retail activity. 

◼ Hertsmere – The London fringe economy of Hertsmere saw a sharp rise in 
the claimant count, those who claimed jobseeker’s allowance and 

universal credit, to a rate that went above the country average. 
Hertsmere’s economy is mixed in employment terms. The number of 
public sector and health jobs is small, so the future of the private sector is 
thought to be critical. 

◼ Three Rivers – Saw a sharp rise in the claimant count although the rate 
was lower than the average for Hertfordshire. The update of the various 
government schemes to cushion the effects of the pandemic were similar 
to the county average. Looking ahead, the data suggests that the future 
performance of the business services will be critical; and the construction 
sector will also have a big influence. 

◼ Watford – Appeared to see serious local economic effects linked to the 
pandemic. The uptake of furlough was high and the claimant count rose 
sharply; as a proportion of residents aged 16-64, it was among the highest 
in the county. Looking ahead, town centre functions could be vulnerable, 
and the high incidence of jobs linked to business administration and 
support services is a particular local feature. The resilience of those 
activities could be linked to head offices in Watford and elsewhere. 

◼ St Albans – The uptake of the various government schemes was lower in 
St Albans than the rest of Hertfordshire, and the claimant count rate was 
also lower than elsewhere. These observations are thought to be 
explained by the high rate of professional, scientific and technical 
activities. They may also reflect the high rate of highly qualified people 
locally. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 52 Page 110



  

   

    
   

      
 

     
 

 

 

  
  

 
 

  
  

   
 

     
 

   
  

  
     

   
 

 
    

 

   
 

 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.28 A number of districts within Hertfordshire have produced their own 
Economic Development Strategies to help address the adverse effects of 
COVID-19 on the local economy. Two of the SW Hertfordshire authorities have 
produced such strategies, Watford Economic Growth Strategy 2021-25 [See 
reference 64] and Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan [See reference 65]. 
Both set out priorities to create sustainable and lasting growth. 

Transport, Air Quality and Noise 

Transport 

3.29 Significant housing growth is planned in future years and as a result 
Hertfordshire’s population is forecast to grow by 21% by 2039, from 1.18million 
people in 2016 to 1.43million. This will fuel an increase in travel demand. 
Hertfordshire already has high levels of car ownership, good north-south links 
but relatively poor east-west connections, especially for public transport [See 
reference 66]. Existing problems, such as in Hertsmere for example, are 
caused by road links being better than access to public transport, particularly in 
terms of east to west transportation, which is reflected in the high levels of car 
ownership and traffic congestion [See reference 67]. Hertfordshire also 
experiences high levels of cross-boundary commuting and complicated 
movement patterns due to the high number of medium-sized towns. This all 
results in congestion between and within towns, rail overcrowding, and air 
quality problems. Those who live in rural areas, people who have a disability or 
other mobility impairment, or people who do not have access to a car often 
struggle to access key services because alternatives to the private car are 
currently not realistic, affordable or convenient. Tackling these issues requires a 
combination of support for walking, cycling and passenger transport provision, 
behaviour change initiatives and traffic demand management [See reference 
68]. 

3.30 The M1, West Coast Mainline and Midland Mainline all cut across the west 
of Hertfordshire, close to three of Hertfordshire’s largest towns, Watford, Hemel 
Hempstead and St Albans. These key transport routes are recognised for their 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 53 Page 111



  

   

     
 

  
  

      
  

     
 

    
  

 
    

 
      

     
     

  
 

   
 

     
    

      
   

   
  

  
 

 

   
     

     
    

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

importance on the economic geography of the area [See reference 69]. The 
M1 corridor which cuts across the west of Hertfordshire includes the districts of 
Dacorum, Hertsmere, Three Rivers, Watford and St Albans. Although there are 
differences between these areas, their access to the M1 and connections 
northwards to Luton, Milton Keynes and the Midlands and southwards to 
London are shared locational strengths which will help to drive future economic 
growth [See reference 70]. Figure 3.4 below shows the transport network 
across SW Hertfordshire. 

3.31 Congestion is a major local concern in SW Hertfordshire [See reference 
71]. The road network across SW Hertfordshire is currently under stress at key 
locations, and there is also stress on the strategic road network, particular the 
M25, such as within Three Rivers and Watford [See reference 72] [See 
reference 73]. Many congestion hotspots are where the strategic road network 
joins the local road network (e.g. in Hertsmere at Junction 23 of the M25 and 
Junction 5 of the M1, into and out of Hemel Hempstead to the M1 and within St. 
Albans City at peak times) [See reference 74]. Congestion is likely to continue 
to be an issue as forecasts predict a 25% increase in trips originating in 
Hertfordshire by 2036. Currently, car dependency in SW Hertfordshire is very 
high for local and longer trips. Nearly 9 out of 10 households own at least one 
car. 

3.32 Rail links are relatively good across SW Hertfordshire, with many of the 
districts and boroughs having access to multiple stations and some to more 
than one lines [See reference 75]. As noted above, whilst rail links are good in 
a north-south direction across SW Hertfordshire they are much less so in the 
west-east direction. Additionally, rail overcrowding is common at peak times and 
is likely to increase with growing demand. A number of rail lines are forecast to 
be operating over capacity by 2031, specifically the Midland Main Line to St 
Pancras, West Coast Main Line suburban services and Great Northern services 
to Moorgate. 

3.33 SW Hertfordshire has good access to air transport. Dacorum and St. 
Albans lie close to London Luton Airport; Watford has good transport links and 
is well placed at the intersection of the M25, M1 and A41 which provides good 
access to the major London airports of Heathrow, Gatwick, Stansted and Luton; 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 54 Page 112



  

   

   
   

    
     

  
 

  
  

   
         

     
 

  
  

 
    

   
 

   
  

  
   

  
  

  
 

  
   

 
  

    

 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Hertsmere also has good transport links to all the major London airports via the 
Thameslink rail service to Gatwick and the M1, A41 and the M25 and Three 
Rivers also has good access to Heathrow, Luton, City, Stansted and Gatwick 
Airports, with all being within 60 km of Three Rivers. 

3.34 In general, access to bus services is good across SW Hertfordshire, 
particularly within the main built-up areas but there are localised challenges, 
particularly where provision and regularity of services is poorer in the more rural 
area and areas with lower housing density [See reference 76]. Bus networks 
and service frequency is shrinking in some areas across SW Hertfordshire - the 
impact that COVID-19 has had on this trend is currently unknown. 

3.35 There are a number of cycle networks throughout the area including the 
Nickey Line that follows the route of former Harpenden to Hemel Hempstead 
Railway, the Ebury Way connecting Watford and Rickmansworth and other 
routes along the Grand Union Canal. However, there are only a few dedicated 
cycle routes between urban areas. The walking and cycling networks are 
considered to meet current demands in Dacorum and Three Rivers; however 
there are localised issues, such as congestion on some routes putting people 
off using those routes [See reference 77], and often the facilities for 
pedestrians are provided alongside roads, where high traffic levels adjacent 
may make walking a less attractive option [See reference 78]. However, 
Hertsmere Borough Council has recently approved plans for a cycle hire 
scheme to be introduced in Borehamwood and its adjoining areas to encourage 
active and sustainable travel in Borehamwood [See reference 79]. 
Furthermore, Watford Borough Council has recently produced a new travel 
strategy for the borough which is underpinned by six key themes including: 
increasing active travel opportunities, improving public transport for longer 
journeys, providing alternatives to petrol car, making the town centre more 
pedestrian and cycle friendly, supporting change and making moving goods 
more sustainable. Various actions to achieve the six themes include, but are not 
limited to, improved cycle and pedestrian routes with increased cycle parking 
throughout Watford [See reference 80]. Specific information about the 
adequacy of the walking and cycle networks in St. Albans is not available. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 55 Page 113



P
age 114



  

   

 

     
  

 
       

   
   

 
     

  

     
 

  
    
    

 
   

  
    

      
 

 

 
 

   
  

  

    
  
 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Air Quality 

3.36 Air pollution in Hertfordshire comes mainly from two sources; road 
transport and gas boilers (particularly in town centre locations). In total, there 
are 17 Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) across SW Hertfordshire, as 
listed in Table 3.9 and mapped in Figure 3.5 below. Air quality has improved 
over the past ten years, such as within the Chorleywood NO2 AQMA in Three 
Rivers [See reference 81], however the county still exceeds legal limits in some 
areas, particularly near busy roads, such as within the St Alban’s AQMAs which 
have annual average nitrogen dioxide levels above the legal minimum [See 
reference 82]. 

3.37 Many of the districts/boroughs have adopted measures to improve the air 
quality within the AQMAs as well as the borough/districts as a whole, principally 
targeting reducing pollution from road traffic. Watford Borough Council, for 
example, has adopted a number of measures to improve local air quality 
including the installation of rapid car charging points at nine major car parks, the 
extension of the e-car scheme, introduction of more cycle routes and facilities 
and providing better infrastructure to make roads safer for pedestrians. In 
addition, major road improvements have been made in a bid to alleviate 
congestion on key roads with AQMAs [See reference 83]. 

Table 3.9: Current AQMAs Declared by SW Hertfordshire 
Authorities 

Borough/ 
District 

AQMA 

Dacorum • AQMA No 1 Lawn Lane, Hemel Hempstead. 
• AQMA No 2 London Road, Apsley. 
• AQMA No 3 High Street, Northchurch, Berkhamsted. 

Hertsmere • AQMA 1 – An area comprised of the properties at 23-27 Dove 
Lane and the caravan site Brookes Place off the A1000 Barnet 
Road, near the M25. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 57 Page 115



  

   

 
 

   
  

    
 

   
 

 
  

    
  

 

   
  

 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

    
  

 
   

 
     

 
 

   
     

 
  

  
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Borough/ 
District 

AQMA 

• AQMA 2 – An area comprised of Charleston Paddocks, St 
Albans Road, South Mimms, Potters Bar, near the M25. 
• AQMA 3 – An area comprised of properties 31-29 Blanche 
Lane South Mimms near the M25. 
• AQMA 4 – An area comprised of the domestic properties 12 
Grove Place, Hartspring Lane and caravans numbered 1-4, 7-8, 
55-59 and 60 within Winfield Caravan site, Hartspring Lane, near 
the M1 at Bushey. 
• AQMA 5 – An area encompassing a number of houses on the 
eastern side of Watling Street, either side of the junction with 
Barnet Road. 
• AQMA 6 – An area comprised of a number of domestic 
properties on the High Street, opposite the bus station Potters 
Bar. 

Three 
Rivers 

• AQMA - Chorleywood NO2 AQMA, situated at Junction 18 of 
the M25. 

Watford • AQMA 1: St Albans Road 

• AQMA 2: Vicarage Road 

• AQMA 3: Alderham Road/Chalk Hill 
• AQMA 4: A405/Horseshoe Road 

St Albans • St Albans AQMA No. 7 - The area comprising of odd numbers 
1-7 London Road, 1-11c Holywell Hill and even numbers London 
Road, St Albans. 
• St Albans AQMA No. 2 - The area comprising of Beechtree 
Cottages, Hemel Hempstead Road, St Albans (adjacent to 
junction of M1 (J7) and M10). 
• St Albans AQMA No.7 - An area encompassing a number of 
domestic properties in Frogmore and Colney Street in the vicinity 
of the M25. 

3.38 It should also be noted that the Habitat Regulations Assessment for the 
emerging Dacorum Local Plan has noted a variety of pressures on the Chilterns 
Beechwoods SAC, one of which is nitrogen deposition due to the highly 
travelled roads within Dacorum. Similar issues are likely to be identified through 
the HRA for the SW Herts JSP and will be explored through that process. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 58 Page 116



P
age 117



  

   

 

     
  

      
 

  

   
 

   
    

   
  

    

 

 

   
 

  
 

 

  
   

     
   

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Noise 

3.39 Complaints about noise in Hertfordshire have declined since 2009/10 with 
the rate of complaints about noise in 2014/15 being 5.2 per 1000 population 
[See reference 84] [See reference 85]. Complaints received mainly relate to 
domestic noise (68.4% in 2015/16) and construction and commercial operations 
(20.4% in 2015/16) [See reference 86]. 

3.40 Hertfordshire is susceptible to noise from aircraft, due to its close proximity 
to the major airports of Stansted and Luton. In 2016 Hertfordshire residents 
raised 93% of aircraft noise complaints related to Luton and 10% related to 
Stansted Airport [See reference 87]. However, noise pollution levels from 
aircraft are not an issue for all areas of SW Hertfordshire, as there are no 
scheduled flight paths over Three Rivers from the London airports of Heathrow, 
Luton, City, Stansted and Gatwick [See reference 88]. 

Land and water resources 

3.41 In Hertfordshire, as elsewhere, there are conflicting pressures on land use. 
This is particularly true for housing and associated infrastructure which has to 
be balanced with the protection of the natural environment as well as the 
preservation of the Green Belt. 

Geology and soils 

3.42 According to Natural England’s Agricultural Land Classification, SW 
Hertfordshire consists of a mix of Grades 2, 3 and 4 agricultural land and urban 
areas. Figure 3.6 shows the agricultural land classification within SW 
Hertfordshire. Data is not available to show the split between Grades 3a and 3b 
(Grade 3a is considered to be high quality soil, while Grade 3b is not). The 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 60 Page 118



  

   

 
  

  
   

 
   

   
    
  

   
 

  
  

  

 
 

   

  
  

   
     

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

majority of the soils within SW Hertfordshire are considered loamy. Specifically, 
loamy and clayey soils are found in the south and loamy and slightly clayey 
soils are found in the north. 

3.43 Hertfordshire’s geology is primarily chalk bedrock from the Cretaceous 
period, with a covering of London clay in the south of the County. Lying on top 
of the bedrock, there are superficial deposits of clay-with-flints covering a large 
proportion of western Hertfordshire, including the Chilterns dip slope. Sand and 
gravel is the most commonly worked mineral in Hertfordshire, with land-won 
sand and gravel providing the only source of soft sand and sharp sand. The 
sand and gravel resources are found in most parts of the County, although they 
are particularly concentrated in a belt sitting across the southern half of the 
County. This area entirely covers the local authority areas of Watford, Three 
Rivers, Hertsmere, Welwyn Hatfield and Broxbourne. Large parts of St Albans 
and East Hertfordshire are also covered along with a small part of Dacorum 
[See reference 89]. 

3.44 Geodiversity is the variety of rocks, fossils, minerals, natural processes, 
landforms and soils that underlie and determine the character of our landscape 
and environment. Within Hertfordshire there are 19 sites designated as 
Regionally Important Geological and Geomorphological Sites (RIGs) which are 
the most important places for geology outside of statutorily protected land such 
as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs). There are nine sites within SW 
Hertfordshire: four sites currently designated within Dacorum, three within 
Hertsmere and two within St. Albans. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 61 Page 119



P
age 120



  

   

 

  
   

   
  

  
 

   

       
   

      
 

      

      

   
  

    
      

  
  

    

 

    
  

  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Waste 

3.45 Hertfordshire County Council is the waste disposal authority and the 
minerals and waste planning authority for the County. However, the authorities 
within SW Hertfordshire are responsible for waste collection. Table 3.10 below 
sets out the total waste generated per household within each of the authorities 
within SW Hertfordshire for the years 2011/12 and 2018/19. This shows that 
there has been a decrease in the amount of residual waste across the area. 
However, the amount of development proposed through the various Local Plans 
within SW Hertfordshire could increase waste arisings. 

Table 3.10: Total household waste generated in SW 
Hertfordshire (kilograms per household) 

Year Dacorum Hertsmere St. Albans Watford Three 
Rivers 

2011/12 912 946 874 861 975 

2018/19 851 863 838 810 864 

3.46 The percentage of Local Authority Collected Waste that is recycled or 
composted in Hertfordshire was 51.7% in 2018/19, which is higher than the 
England average of 44.9%. Each planning authority within SW Hertfordshire 
increased its recycling rate except Dacorum which had a slight reduction for the 
year 2018/19 compared to 2017/18. Furthermore, St. Albans and Three Rivers 
achieved recycling rates above 62% for the same year. Hertfordshire County 
Council aims to reach 65% by 2035 [See reference 90]. 

Water 

3.47 Water consumption in Hertfordshire is above average compared to the rest 
of the UK. At the Hertfordshire Water Summit in 2013, it was suggested that 
water consumption in Hertfordshire was 166 per capita consumption (pcc), 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 63 Page 121



  

   

        
  

 
   

  
 

    
  

  
  

   
 

 

    

     

  

   

   
  

  
 
  

 
 

   
 

 

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

compared to the UK average of 150 pcc [See reference 91]. Furthermore, with 
lower than average annual rainfall, a growing population and water use 16% 
higher than the national average, Hertfordshire’s water resource are under 
pressure and will continue to worsen due to climate change. 

3.48 Hertfordshire County Council, in conjunction with nine Hertfordshire local 
authorities and Chiltern District Council, commissioned a Water Study in 2015 
which was completed in early 2017 [See reference 92]. This involved 
collaborative working between the County and district councils, the Environment 
Agency, Hertfordshire LEP and the water companies that serve the area 
(Thames Water, Affinity Water and Anglian Water). The study describes the 
current environmental and infrastructure capacity with regards to water 
infrastructure and resources in the Hertfordshire area and considers solutions to 
any capacity issues identified over the period 2021 to 2051. This includes a 
provisional five-point action plan, including the following headline actions: 

◼ Establish a water and sewerage infrastructure delivery partnership. 

◼ Establish an integrated planning portal and single point of contact. 

◼ Create a growth risk profile. 

◼ Explore long term funding opportunities. 

◼ Plan for AMP7 (2020-25) and the Price Review Mechanism (PR19) [See 
reference 93]. 

3.49 Thames Water covers most of Hertfordshire’s drainage catchment split into 

two main catchments, each with a sewage treatment works (STW). Maple 
Lodge STW is located in Rickmansworth and serves the western portion of 
Hertfordshire. The Maple Lodge site serves Hemel Hempstead along with St 
Albans and Watford and given the future growth planned for this area will need 
to have upgrades in order to provide sufficient treatment capacity. There is also 
a smaller STW, Blackbirds, within Hertsmere to the west of Radlett. At present, 
Blackbirds is estimated to treat 17% of the total flow in the main trunk sewer, 
which comprises foul flows from St Albans, London Colney, Hatfield, Potters 
Bar and Borehamwood [See reference 94]. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 64 Page 122



  

   

  
 

  
   

 
  

  
   

    

 

   
 
    

 

 
  

  

  
   

      
  

    
  

      
    

  
 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

3.50 The River Colne is a river and tributary of the River Thames with over half 
its course within southern Hertfordshire. The river is under various pressures 
such as flow, physical modification, diffuse pollution and climate change. The 
River Colne has a Water Framework Directive (WFD) classification of moderate 
in the upstream section, but this falls to poor in the middle and downstream 
sections. All three sections are failing for flow and phosphates, the phosphate 
fluctuate slightly through the Colne starting as bad in the upstream section, 
which improves to moderate in the middle section but then drops to poor in the 
downstream section [See reference 95]. 

3.51 There are three chalk streams that run through SW Hertfordshire, the 
Rivers Bulbourne, Gade and Ver. These are globally rare habitats that are at 
risk of over abstraction. The Chilterns Chalk Streams Project [See reference 
96] has been created to improve river habitats, improve access and enjoyment 
and promote the sustainable use of water within the Chilterns. 

Minerals 

3.52 Where development takes place within areas of mineral resources, this 
may result in the sterilisation of minerals, meaning that potentially useful mineral 
resources will no longer be available for extraction and use in the future. 

3.53 Hertfordshire contains three main types of naturally occurring worked 
minerals: sand and gravel, chalk and brick clay, which can be seen in Figure 
3.7 below. Sand and gravel are the major aggregate minerals worked within the 
County. 

3.54 Sand and gravel deposits are found in most parts of Hertfordshire although 
they are concentrated in an area south of a line between Bishops Stortford in 
the east and Hemel Hempstead in the west (often referred to as the sand and 
gravel belt). This area includes the entirety of the District Council areas of Three 
Rivers, Watford and Hertsmere, large parts of St Albans and a small part of 
Dacorum. Currently there are seven operational sand and gravel quarries in 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 65 Page 123



  

   

  
    

  

   

  

  
    

      
     

 
  

    
 

   
   

  
    

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Hertfordshire, but of the seven sites, sand and gravel extraction is only taking 
place at three sites: 

◼ Thorley Hall Farm; 

◼ Tyttenhanger Quarry, Colney Heath; and 

◼ Hatfield Quarry with the linked Symondshyde extraction site. 

3.55 The remaining four sites are no longer extracting sand and gravel and are 
either in the process of infill/restoration or are not currently operating. An 
additional site (Coopers Green Land, Hatfield Quarry) has received planning 
approval subject to S106 agreements [See reference 97]. There are also some 
areas of small-scale clay extraction linked to the last remaining local brick 
makers in Bovingdon, Dacorum. 

3.56 Of the total land-won sand and gravel sales from quarries in Hertfordshire 
(1,170,985 tonnes) as reported in the Aggregate Minerals Survey 2014, 59% 
was used within Hertfordshire. Of this figure, 95% was transported by road and 
5% by rail. The remaining sand and gravel was exported to West London 
(12%), East of England (12%), Bedfordshire (8%), East London (5%) and 
Essex, Southend and Thurrock (3%) [See reference 98]. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 66 Page 124



P
age 125



  

   

 

   
 

 
       

  

   

    
  

   
  

    
 

  
 

 
   

  
 

     

    
  

  
 

   
 

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Biodiversity 

3.57 Across the UK, protected species have declined by 60% over the last 50 
years due to the adverse impacts of climate change. There has been a 13% 
decline in average species abundance and 5% decline in average species 
distribution. 15% of species were found to be currently threatened with 
extinction from the UK and 2% have already gone extinct since 1970 [See 
reference 99]. 

3.58 In the last 50 years, 76 species (1% of those assessed) became extinct in 
Hertfordshire; more than three species every two years. Of these, 35 were 
invertebrates, 26 were plants, 13 were vertebrates and two were lichens. 1,446 
species (19% of those assessed) are currently threatened with extinction in 
Hertfordshire. This includes over 1,000 invertebrates and 260 plants [See 
reference 100]. 

3.59 In response to these challenges, Hertfordshire County Council produced a 
Local Biodiversity Action Plan to identify priorities and actions for improving 
biodiversity within the county. The Action Plan seeks to ensure that national 
targets for species and habitats are implemented in a Hertfordshire context. 
Hertfordshire County Council has also implemented a Pollinator Strategy (2019-
2024) to optimise the use of county council owned land, allocating areas for 
beehives and installing and maintaining ‘bee hotels’ within suitable green 

spaces. 

3.60 At the European level, the Special Area of Conservation (SAC) designation 
applies to two areas of Chiltern Beechwoods in Dacorum. The largest area is at 
Ashridge, with a smaller area on the western boundary of the Borough, around 
Stubbings Wood which lies within Tring Park. This large site is protected for its 
beech forests, semi-natural dry grasslands and scrub, and its population of stag 
beetles. 

3.61 There are a total of 14 Special Sites of Scientific Interest (SSSI) in SW 
Hertfordshire which are designated for either their biological or geological 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 68 Page 126



  

   

 
       

  
  

      
  

 
    

   
   

 

       
    

      
    

  
  

  
 

  
   

    
   

 
      

 

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

interest. There are also 27 Local Nature Reserves (LNRs) across SW 
Hertfordshire. The County Council owns and manages two woodland areas 
which fall within National Nature Reserves in Hertfordshire. Figure 3.8 shows 
the locations of biodiversity designations within SW Hertfordshire. 

3.62 SW Hertfordshire contains seven priority habitats: Chalk Rivers, Lowland 
Meadow, Good Quality Semi-Improved Grassland, Coastal and Floodplain 
Grazing Marsh, Lowland Heath, Traditional Orchards and Deciduous Woodland. 
The area also contains numerous patches of Ancient Woodland scattered 
throughout the area. Notably, chalk streams are important habitats for wildlife 
and support a range of plants and animals and are a key characteristic of the 
Chilterns landscape. 

3.63 The Hertfordshire Biodiversity Action Plan [See reference 101] identified 
12 Key Biodiversity Areas in SW Hertfordshire ranging from wetlands and heath 
to woodlands and chalk grassland. These areas are to be prioritised for 
conservation action as they represent concentrations of important habitats. 

3.64 Many of the older towns within SW Hertfordshire are historic market towns 
with relatively high development density. Therefore, tree cover within the public 
realm is quite limited. It covers occasional areas of street tree planting except in 
lower density leafy suburbs, such as in parts of St. Albans, Harpenden and 
Rickmansworth, or where mature woodland have become absorbed within 
larger settlement growth [See reference 102]. 

3.65 Recently the HRA for the emerging Dacorum Local Plan concluded that 
likely significant effects on the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC were possible due to 
recreational impacts, so a full Appropriate Assessment was required. The 
mitigation strategy includes a ‘development exclusion zone’ of 500m around the 
European site. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 69 Page 127



P
age 128



  

   

 

   
    

     
      

  
    

  
    

      

 
   

 
 

  

 

 

      

      

      

      

      

      
   

  
    

    
   

    

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Historic Environment 

3.66 There are many historic and heritage designations within SW 
Hertfordshire, including 103 Conservation Areas, 2,504 listed buildings, 12 
Registered Parks and Gardens and 58 Scheduled Monuments. Figure 3.9 
below shows the locations of the designated heritage assets within the area. At 
present, there are five heritage assets included on Historic England’s Heritage 

at Risk Register within SW Hertfordshire [See reference 103]. Table 3.11 
below summarises the number of heritage designations across the five 
authorities, including the number of heritage assets at risk. 

Table 3.11: Summary of cultural heritage designations 

District/Borough Listed 
Buildings 

Conservation 
Areas 

Scheduled 
Monuments 

Registered 
Parks and 
Gardens 

Heritage 
Assets at 
Risk 

Dacorum 911 25 32 4 2 

Three Rivers 349 22 3 2 1 

Hertsmere 317 23 4 4 0 

Watford 92 10 0 1 1 

St. Albans 857 19 19 2 1 

3.67 There are no registered battlefields or World Heritage Sites within 
Hertfordshire, but there are six National Trust properties within SW 
Hertfordshire. There are also a number of locally listed Historic Parks and 
Gardens within the area [See reference 104]. 

3.68 Development can affect both designated and undesignated heritage assets 
either directly or as a result of impacts on the setting of these assets. As well as 
listed buildings and scheduled monuments, consideration will also need to be 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 71 Page 129



  

   

 
 

  
  

  
 

   
  

  

  
     

  
  

  
 

    
 

  
     

  

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

given to areas of archaeological potential which could be affected by new 
development. 

3.69 The Hertfordshire Historic Environment Record (HER) contains information 
on historic buildings, archaeological remains, historic sites and military remains. 
It can be used to identify significant historic remains and contains information on 
surveys and archaeological excavations undertaken in Hertfordshire. 

3.70 Proximity to London and the rapid growth in development pressures in the 
20th century have resulted in the growth of suburban development in the 
southern part of Hertfordshire. This in turn led to the designation of a large 
proportion of the county as Green Belt. Hertfordshire’s built environment is 
generally low rise, including in SW Hertfordshire. Guidance from Hertfordshire 
County Council [See reference 105] states that historic buildings need to adapt 
and manage change to remain viable. It also encourages new development to 
respect historic buildings, but not to replicate them. Much of Hertfordshire is 
characterised by traditional (mainly pre 1850s) building materials related to its 
geology and landscape. However, Hemel Hempstead New Town differs from 
the rest of SW Hertfordshire as it was developed in the late 1940s. The town is 
compact and is divided into residential neighbourhoods each with their own 
service centre. Much of the town’s features are modernist, but it includes 
distinctive landscape features such as the Grand Union Canal and the Gade 
and Bulbourne Valleys. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 72 Page 130



P
age 131



  

   

 

    
     

   
   

  

       
  

    
   

   

  

    

  

  

   
  

  
 

      
 

     

       
   

   

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

Landscape 

3.71 The Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) falls within SW 
Hertfordshire, as shown in Figure 3.10 below. Figure 3.10 also shows the 
Chilterns Beechwoods SAC and other SACs within a 10km buffer of SW 
Hertfordshire for context. 

3.72 The Chilterns contain an important diversity of habitats ranging from chalk 
grassland and to the country’s most extensive areas of beech woodland. Over 
11% of the AONB lies within a total of almost 500 Local Wildlife Sites [See 
reference 106]. Chalk streams are a characteristic and attractive feature of the 
Chilterns landscape. The Chilterns AONB Management Plan [See reference 
107] sets the framework for protecting and enhancing the Chilterns. It outlines 
that many of the wildlife and plant species present in the Chilterns are in long-
term decline due to: 

◼ changes in land management practices, 

◼ lack of wildlife habitat management, environmental and ecological change 

◼ impact of people and dogs; and 

◼ habitat fragmentation. 

3.73 England has been divided in to 159 separate National Character Areas 
(NCAs), each of which are regarded as distinct natural areas. A unique 
combination of landscape, biodiversity, geodiversity, history, and cultural and 
economic activity defines each area in question. The boundaries of each NCA 
relate to how these elements have combined to form the landscape and do not 
relate to administrative boundaries. 

3.74 SW Hertfordshire is split between four NCAs, as shown in Figure 3.11: 

◼ Chilterns is an extensively wooded and farmed landscape which is 
underlain by chalk bedrock that rises up from the London Basin to form a 
north-west facing escarpment offering long views over the adjacent vales. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 74 Page 132



  

   

    
   

  

   
     

    
 

 
  

 

 
  

    
  

  
  

 
 

   

   
  

 
   

   
   

 
  

Chapter 3 Baseline Information 

◼ Bedfordshire and Cambridgeshire Claylands is a broad, gently undulating, 
lowland plateau dissected by shallow river valleys that gradually widen as 
they approach The Fens NCA in the east. 

◼ Northern Thames Basin contains a diverse range of semi-natural habitats 
including ancient woodland, lowland heath and floodplain grazing marsh. 

◼ Thames Valley is a mainly low-lying, wedge-shaped area, widening from 
Reading, which includes Slough, Windsor, the Colne Valley and the 
southwest London fringes. The River Thames provides a unifying feature 
through a very diverse landscape of urban and suburban settlements, 
infrastructure networks, fragmented agricultural land, historic parks, 
commons, woodland, reservoirs and extensive minerals workings. 

3.75 Hertfordshire is particularly wooded in some areas. Significant areas of 
wood pasture and pollarded veteran trees are also present. Mixed farming is 
characteristic of the Thames basin, with arable land predominating in the 
Hertfordshire plateaux. 

3.76 The southern portion of the county is mostly acidic and has a highly 
distinctive character, extending down into much of Middlesex. This is the most 
wooded part of Hertfordshire and also contains the majority of the county’s 
remaining heathland and acid grassland. The west of the county also holds a 
number of chalk rivers, chalk grassland and acidic areas [See reference 108]. 

3.77 The Green Belt, whilst a planning rather than a landscape designation, 
plays an important role in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment, 
preserving the setting and special character of the area’s historic settlements 
and assisting in urban regeneration. In Hertfordshire, an area of 84,640 
hectares of land is designated as Green Belt, making up 51.5% of the county 
and around 70% of SW Hertfordshire, as shown in Figure 3.12. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 75 Page 133



P
age 134



P
age 135



P
age 136



  

   

 

 

  
  

 
   

   

 

  

  

    
   

   
    

  
    

Chapter 4 Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the Plan 

Chapter 4 
Key Sustainability Issues and Likely 
Evolution without the Plan 

4.1 Analysis of the baseline information has enabled a number of key 
sustainability issues facing SW Hertfordshire to be identified. Identification of 
the key sustainability issues and consideration of how these issues might 
develop over time if the JSP is not implemented help to meet the requirements 
of Annex 1 of the SEA Directive to provide information on: 

“the relevant aspects of the current state of the environment and the likely 

evolution thereof without implementation of the plan; and any existing 

environmental problems which are relevant to the plan.” 

4.2 Key sustainability issues for SW Hertfordshire, as identified through the 
baseline information, are presented below. 

4.3 It is also a requirement of the SEA Directive that consideration is given to 
the likely evolution of the environment in the plan area (in this case SW 
Hertfordshire) if the new JSP was not to be implemented. This analysis is 
presented below each of the key sustainability issues. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 79 Page 137



  

   

 

 
    

  

    

 
    

  

   
 

 
 

 
 

    
 

  
  

  
 

     
     

 

Chapter 4 Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the Plan 

Key Sustainability Issues and their Likely 
Evolution without the JSP 

Sustainability Issue 1: Impacts of climate change 
including temperature rises and an increase in 
extreme weather events 
◼ Without the emerging JSP, it is likely that the impacts of climate change 

will still be mitigated against. National Policy will continue to seek to 
reduce carbon emissions through encouraging the switch to renewable 
energy, and more efficient use of energy and reduce the risk of flooding. 
The Sustainable Hertfordshire Strategy (2020) sets out the county 
council’s vision for tackling climate change, detailing policies and 
initiatives. Therefore, this is likely to continue without the JSP and will be 
encouraged through the District and Borough Local Plans. 

◼ However, the JSP provides the opportunity to strengthen the area’s policy 
framework and provide regional guidance to encourage energy efficient 
development within SW Hertfordshire, to reduce the need to use the car 
through planning and support active and public transport options and 
presents an opportunity for the five Councils to work together alongside 
the Environment Agency to locate development in sustainable locations 
that would be significantly impacted by flooding and to mitigate the effects 
of potential future flooding. The JSP will help to guide future plans and 
strategies by setting out high-level policies on climate change mitigation 
and energy use. 

Sustainability Issue 2: High house prices and 
affordability issues 
◼ Without the emerging JSP, it is likely that housing and services and 

facilities would still be delivered through each of the District and Borough 
Local Plans, but without a strategic approach it may be more difficult to 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 80 Page 138



  

   

  
  

 
   

   
     

 
 

 
   

   
   

  
 

 
 

  
  

  
    

  

  
      

 
 

Chapter 4 Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the Plan 

keep pace with demand. Without the JSP it is likely that house prices will 
continue to rise within the area. As highlighted in the South West 
Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment (LHNA), there are 
affordability pressures within the South West Hertfordshire Housing Market 
Area (HMA), and without a strategic approach it will be difficult for 
affordable housing delivery. The JSP offers the opportunity to facilitate and 
expedite the delivery of affording housing across the area. 

Sustainability Issue 3: Inadequate access to 
natural green space in various parts of SW 
Hertfordshire 
◼ The JSP presents an opportunity to help address any existing deficiencies 

in accessible greenspace and to consider the multi-functionality of the 
green infrastructure network at a more strategic level to ensure there is 
connectivity between the walking, cycling and bridleway network as well 
additional greenspace. 

Sustainability Issue 4: Health issues including 
excess weight in adults 
◼ The JSP could further contribute to tackling issues of health and wellbeing 

and general health disparities through policies that strongly support uptake 
of active modes of transport. access to green space, community facilities, 
improved public realm and other recreation opportunities, an in particular 
in more deprived areas. 

Sustainability Issue 5: Ageing population 
◼ Without the emerging JSP, it is possible that the diverse and distinct 

nature of socio-economic challenges occurring across SW Hertfordshire 
will remain. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 81 Page 139



  

   

   
  

   
  

 
     

   
 

 
  

 
  

   
  

   
   

 
  

   
     

 
 

 
 

Chapter 4 Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the Plan 

◼ As the JSP encourages more collaborative working between the five SW 
Hertfordshire Councils, the JSP offers the opportunity to ensure that 
appropriate resources are being targeted to areas with the greatest 
specific needs. 

Sustainability Issue 6: Pockets of deprivation 
within an otherwise affluent area 
◼ As above, the JSP offers the opportunity to ensure that appropriate 

resources are being targeted to areas with the greatest specific needs. As 
the JSP encourages more collaborative working between the five SW 
Hertfordshire Councils, it could result in opportunities for economic growth 
and development, which can help to reduce inequality. 

Sustainability Issue 7: Critically low amount of 
available employment space 
◼ The JSP provides the opportunity to focus planning and investment on key 

economic sectors and strategic corridors and locations, supported by 
sufficient infrastructure to provide the conditions to attract investment and 
support the growth of SW Herts indigenous businesses to help promote a 
competitive economy across the area. 

Sustainability Issue 8: Impacts of the Covid-19 
pandemic including drop in productivity 
◼ The JSP offers the opportunity to promote the Local Industrial Strategy 

and district level recovery plans, where published, throughout the area to 
promote employment and productivity focusing directly on strategic 
employment need, supporting the growth of established sectors to target 
productivity challenges, especially within communities in need of economic 
investment. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 82 Page 140



  

   

  
  

   
   

   
 

 
    

 
 

 

   
     

  
 

   
  

  

  
     

  
    
   

Chapter 4 Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the Plan 

Sustainability Issue 9: Poor public transport 
linkages 
◼ The JSP provides additional opportunity to improve the public transport 

choices within SW Hertfordshire through the promotion of alternative travel 
modes to the motorised vehicle, in line with wider county and national 
policy aspirations. Additionally, through collaborative working between the 
five Councils, the JSP could help to deliver and better fund essential local 
transport links to discourage car dependency and encourage modal shift. 

Sustainability Issue 10: Congestion and stress on 
the road network across SW Hertfordshire 
◼ Recent national policies and the emergence of new technologies (such as 

improved electric vehicles, e-bikes and cleaner fuels/energy sources) are 
likely to help reduce the release of air pollutants. The JSP presents the 
opportunity to address issues associated with congestion through 
providing clarity for infrastructure providers at the same time as promoting 
a joined-up strategic approach to transport planning, integrated with the 
delivery of housing and economic development. Additionally, the JSP 
provides opportunities to support a modal shift and discourage car 
dependency. 

Sustainability Issue 11: Pressure on water 
resources 
◼ The JSP provides the opportunity to create a framework at a localised 

scale to ensure that strategic development is located to take into account 
the sensitivities of the water resources and provide an opportunity to 
encourage better and more sustainable use of water resources. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 83 Page 141



  

   

 
       

    
 

 
   

   
  

 
   

   
    
 

 

 

 

Chapter 4 Key Sustainability Issues and Likely Evolution without the Plan 

Sustainability Issue 12: Loss of biodiversity. 
◼ Ongoing development, in addition to pollution and intensive recreational 

use, produce ongoing pressures that the JSP can help to address at a 
strategic scale, seeking to safeguard and improve not only designated 
sites, but the ecological networks and supporting habitats that support 
them and their species. Additionally, the JSP provides the opportunity to 
coordinate the provision of alternative SANGs to alleviate recreational 
pressure at designated biodiversity sites. 

Sustainability Issue 13: Potential harm to the 
local landscape, specifically the Chilterns Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
◼ The JSP provides a further opportunity to ensure that the character and 

quality of the landscape is taken into account in the siting of strategic 
development, whilst maximising any opportunity for the protection and 
enhancement of the landscape. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 84 Page 142



  

   

 
 

   

 

    
   

  
  

    
  

   
   

   
 

   
   

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

Chapter 5 
Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

5.1 The development of a set of SA objectives (known as the SA framework) is 
a recognised way in which the likely environmental and sustainability effects of 
a plan can be described, analysed and compared. 

5.2 The proposed SA framework for the new JSP is presented in Table 5.1. The 
framework has been developed from the analysis of international, national and 
local policy objectives, the baseline information, and the key sustainability 
issues identified for the Plan area. 

5.3 It comprises a series of SA objectives against which the sustainability of the 
JSP will be appraised. The appraisal of the JSP options and policies against 
these SA objectives will be guided in part by the appraisal questions 
accompanying each objective. The questions included in the framework are not 
exhaustive, and some may be more relevant to certain Plan elements than 
others. 

5.4 All of the topics specifically required by the SEA Regulations (set out in 
Schedule 2 of the SEA Regulations) are addressed by the SA objectives. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 85 Page 143



  

   

 

  
  

 

  
  

     

    

  
 

 

   
   

     

   

    

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

SA Framework for the SW Hertfordshire Joint 
Strategic Plan 

SA Objective 1: To minimise SW Hertfordshire’s 
contribution to climate change and build 
resilience for adaptation to the changing climate 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Promote climate change resilience through sustainable siting, design, 
landscaping and infrastructure? 

◼ Promote energy efficient approach and sustainable construction? 

◼ Encourage the provision of renewable energy infrastructure? 

SA Objective 2: To support meeting SW 
Hertfordshire’s housing needs 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Provide opportunities to deliver the range of housing types and tenures 
and the affordable homes needed over the Plan period? 

◼ Support addressing the housing needs of an ageing population? 

◼ Enable the delivery of housing where it is most needed? 

◼ Promote high quality housing? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 86 Page 144



  

   

 

 

   

     
 

   

    

  

 
 

 

    

   

    

    
 

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

SA Objective 3: To improve the health and 
wellbeing of SW Hertfordshire’s population 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Promote access to healthcare facilities? 

◼ Maintain, connect and create multifunctional open spaces and green 
infrastructure? 

◼ Provide access to recreation and sports facilities? 

◼ Encourage and facilitate walking and cycling? 

◼ Put healthy placemaking at the core of the plan? 

SA Objective 4: To reduce inequalities within SW 
Hertfordshire 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Reduce the disadvantage faced by those with protected characteristics? 

◼ Assist in the reduction of health inequalities? 

◼ Reduce poverty and social exclusion in the areas most affected? 

◼ Promote developments that benefit SW Hertfordshire’s most deprived 

areas? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 87 Page 145



  

   

 
 

 

  

  

    
 

 

 

     
  

  
 

    
 

     
 

    

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

SA Objective 5: To sustain and create vibrant and 
safe communities with good access to services 
and facilities 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Facilitate the integration of new communities with existing communities? 

◼ Ensure access to a range of services and facilities? 

◼ Help create places that address safety, crime and the fear of crime, and 
disorder? 

SA Objective 6: To support the development of 
SW Hertfordshire’s economy and achieve high 
and stable levels of employment 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Support the provision of a sufficient range, type and location of 
employment land to meet local needs? 

◼ Allow for sufficient flexibility to respond to uncertainties and changing 
economic circumstances? 

◼ Support opportunities for the expansion and diversification of business and 
inward investment? 

◼ Support opportunities for new and improved education and training 
facilities? 

◼ Support the diversification of employment types? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 88 Page 146



  

   

 

 

   
 

   
 

  

    

 

 

    
 

  

     

  

   

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

SA Objective 7: To reduce the need to travel by 
car 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Promote the delivery of integrated, compact communities (15 minute 
neighbourhoods) made-up of a complementary mix of land uses? 

◼ Support the maintenance and expansion of high-quality public transport 
networks? 

◼ Enhance connectivity of the sustainable transport network? 

◼ Support the provision of new cycling and walking infrastructure? 

SA Objective 8: To minimise air and noise 
pollution in SW Hertfordshire 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Minimise increases in polluting traffic, and its impact on Air Quality 
Management Areas? 

◼ Reduce congestion, particularly involving HGVs? 

◼ Support the take up of low / zero emission vehicles? 

◼ Help reduce air pollution from commercial and industrial sources? 

◼ Help minimise exposure to noise pollution? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 89 Page 147



  

   

 

 

  

  
 

  
  

    

  

 
 

 

  

    

    

 
 

 

     

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

SA Objective 9: To maintain and enhance water 
quality and quantity 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Minimise inappropriate development in Source Protection Zones? 

◼ Ensure there is sufficient waste water treatment capacity to serve SW 
Hertfordshire? 

◼ Ensure there are sufficient water resources to support existing and new 
development? 

◼ Support efficient use of water in new development? 

◼ Help safeguard the water quality and ecological integrity of waterbodies? 

SA Objective 10: To reduce the risk from all 
sources of flooding in SW Hertfordshire 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Minimise built development in areas prone to flooding? 

◼ Help promote the use of SuDS and flood resilient design? 

◼ Help promote the use of Natural Flood Management techniques? 

SA Objective 11: To protect SW Hertfordshire’s 

soils and ensure efficient use of land 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Prioritise the development of brownfield land over greenfield land? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 90 Page 148



  

   

    

   

   

 
 

 

  

    

  

 

  
  

 
 

   

   

      
 

  

  

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

◼ Avoid development on best and most versatile agricultural land? 

◼ Take an appropriate approach to remediating contaminated land? 

◼ Promote nutrient neutral development? 

SA Objective 12: To safeguard SW 
Hertfordshire’s mineral resources 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Avoid sterilising mineral resources? 

◼ Promote the appropriate restoration of sites that are no longer used? 

SA Objective 13: To conserve and enhance SW 
Hertfordshire’s biodiversity and geodiversity 

Appraisal Questions 

◼ Safeguard and enhance SW Hertfordshire’s internationally, nationally and 

locally designated biodiversity assets? 

◼ Safeguard and enhance SW Hertfordshire’s ancient woodlands, chalk 
grasslands and other characteristic habitats? 

◼ Help to conserve, connect and enhance ecological networks? 

◼ Achieve overall net gains in biodiversity? 

◼ Provide and manage opportunities for people to come into contact with 
resilient wildlife places whilst encouraging respect for and raising 
awareness of the sensitivity of such locations? 

◼ Protect SW Hertfordshire’s designated geodiversity sites? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 91 Page 149



  

   

  
 

 

 

    
 

   
 

 

    
  

   
 

 

  
 

  
 

   
 

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

SA Objective 14: To protect and enhance the 
significance of SW Hertfordshire’s historic 
environment 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Conserve and enhance SW Hertfordshire’s designated and undesignated 
heritage assets, including their setting? 

◼ Encourage the conservation, management and enhancement of the 
region’s heritage assets, particularly heritage at risk and historic 
landscapes? 

◼ Help raise awareness, understanding and appreciation of, and access to, 
the historic environment? 

SA Objective 15: To protect and enhance SW 
Hertfordshire’s landscape character and quality 

Appraisal Questions: 

◼ Protect and enhance the character of the Chilterns AONB including its 
setting? 

◼ Avoid development that would have adverse effects on sensitive 
landscapes? 

◼ Safeguard the character and distinctiveness of SW Hertfordshire’s 
settlements? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 92 Page 150



  

   

  

   
  

 

       
        

  
 

  
  

  

            
       

 
 

   
  

    
   

   
  

    
  

   
    

  
     

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

Use of the SA Framework 

5.5 The SA should be undertaken in close collaboration with the officers 
responsible for drafting the new JSP in order to fully integrate the SA process 
with the production of the plan. 

5.6 The findings of the SA will be presented using matrices, with a colour coded 
symbol showing for the likely effect of the option or policy on each of the SA 
objectives along with a concise justification for the effect identified, where 
appropriate. 

5.7 The use of colour coding in the matrices will allow for likely significant 
effects (both positive and negative) to be easily identified, as shown in Table 
5.1 below. 

Table 5.1: Key to symbols and colour coding to be used in the 
SA of the SW Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan 

Symbol and Colour 
Coding 

Description 

++ The option or policy is likely to have a significant 
positive effect on the SA objective(s). 

+ The option or policy is likely to have a positive 
effect of the SA objective(s). 

0 The option or policy is likely to have a negligible or 
no effect on the SA objective(s). 

- The option or policy is likely to have a negative 
effect on the SA objective(s). 

-- The option or policy is likely to have a significant 
negative effect on the SA objective(s). 

? It is uncertain what effect the option or policy will 
have on the SA objective(s), due to a lack of data. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 93 Page 151



  

   

 
 

 
   

     
 

  
  

   
       

  
  

    
     

 
   
 

 

   
    

  
  

  
  

  
     

 

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

Symbol and Colour 
Coding 

Description 

+/-
The option or policy is likely to have a mixture of 
positive and negative effects on the SA 
objective(s). 

5.8 The dividing line between sustainability effects is often quite small. Where 
significant effects are distinguished from more minor effects this is because, 
using the appraisal questions and criteria and applying professional judgement, 
the effect of the option or policy in question on an SA objective will be of such 
magnitude that it will have a noticeable and measurable effect compared with 
other factors that may influence the achievement of that objective. 

5.9 In determining the significance of the effects of the options for potential 
inclusion in the JSP it will be important to bear in mind its relationship with the 
other components of the planning system such as the NPPF, as these may 
provide additional safeguards or mitigation for potentially significant adverse 
effects. 

Health Impact Assessment 

5.10 Health Impact Assessment (HIA) aims to ensure that health-related issues 
are integrated into the plan-making process. As described in Chapter 1, the HIA 
will be incorporated into the SA. SA objective 3 directly addresses health 
issues, while achievement of SA objectives 1, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 13, 14 and 15 would 
also indirectly benefit people’s health. The high level growth types and policy 
options for the JSP will all be assessed against these objectives as part of the 
SA. The SA Report will make recommendations for how the health-related 
impacts of the JSP can be optimised as the options are developed into more 
detailed policies. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 94 Page 152



  

   

 

  
    

 

   
   

 
 

   
  

   
 

  
   

 
    

       

 

 

 

Chapter 5 Sustainability Appraisal Framework 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

5.11 There are three main duties set out in the Equality Act 2010, which public 
authorities, including the five planning authorities within SW Hertfordshire, must 
meet in exercising their functions: 

◼ To eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct 
that is prohibited under the Act. 

◼ To advance equality of opportunity between persons who share relevant 
protected characteristics and persons who do not share it. 

◼ To foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

5.12 The Equality Act 2010 identifies nine ‘protected characteristics’ and seeks 
to protect people from discrimination on the basis of these characteristics. 
Socio-economic status (people on low incomes, young and adult carers, people 
living in deprived areas/rural areas, groups suffering multiple disadvantages 
etc.) is not a characteristic protected by the Equality Act 2010. However, the 
SW Herts Councils are committed to also considering the impact that the JSP 
will have on these groups. As described in Chapter 1, the EqIA will be 
incorporated into the SA - SA objective 4 directly addressed equality issues. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 95 Page 153



  

   

 
 

 

  
 

         

 
 

   

  

   

  

    

  

     
  

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

Chapter 6 
SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives 
and Growth Types 

6.1 The initial JSP Vision for 2050 represents the overarching goal for the area. 
The vision is an aspirational, crosscutting statement and as such is not itself 
suitable for appraisal, but the following six draft pillars that support the vision 
are appraised below. It should be noted that the vision and set of 
pillars/objectives may change as a result of the feedback received from the 
consultation. 

1. Living green in a healthy natural environment 

2. Growing opportunities to work locally 

3. Living in healthy, thriving local communities 

4. Moving easily in well-connected places 

5. Building homes and places that people are proud of 

6. Delivering robust and sustainable infrastructure 

6.2 Table 6.1 summarises the SA findings for these six draft pillars, which are 
explained below the table. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 96 Page 154



  

   

       

        

   
       

         

         

  
       

  
       

  
       

         

         

         

  
       

         

  
       

  
 

 
      

  

 
      

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

Table 6.1: SA Scores for the Six Draft Pillars 

SA objectives Pillar 1 Pillar 2 Pillar 3 Pillar 4 Pillar 5 Pillar 6 

SA1 – Climate 
change ++ 0 0 + 0 + 

SA2 - Housing 0 0 + 0 ++ 0 

SA3 - Health + + ++ + + 0 

SA4 -
Inequalities + + + 0 + 0 

SA5 -
Communities + + ++ 0 ++ 0 

SA6 -
Economy + ++ 0 0 0 + 

SA7 - Travel 0 0 0 ++ + 0 

SA8 - Pollution + 0 0 + 0 0 

SA9 - Water 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SA10 -
Flooding ++ 0 0 0 0 0 

SA11 - Soils 0 0 0 0 0 0 

SA12 -
Minerals + 0 0 0 0 + 

SA13 – 
Biodiversity & 
Geodiversity 

++ -? 0 0 -? -? 

SA14 – 
Historic 
Environment 

0 -? 0 0 -? -? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 97 Page 155



  

   

        

  
       

  

 

     
  

   
      

     
  

     
       

   

      
  

    
  

 

  

  
   

  
     

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

SA objectives Pillar 1 Pillar 2 Pillar 3 Pillar 4 Pillar 5 Pillar 6 

SA15 -
Landscape 0 -? 0 0 -? -? 

Pillars and associated Objectives 

Living green in a healthy natural environment 

6.3 Pillar 1 aims to ensure that all new development is net zero carbon, carbon 
negative and incorporates nature-based solutions to build climate resilience. As 
such, a significant positive effect is expected for SA objectives 1 (climate 
change) and 10 (flooding). Pillar 1 also seeks to protect, enhance and connect 
new and existing biodiversity and ecological networks; therefore a significant 
positive effect is expected in relation to SA objective 13 (biodiversity and 
geodiversity). A minor positive effect is also expected for SA objective 12 
(Minerals) as the reuse and recycling of construction materials could reduce the 
consumption of mineral resources. 

6.4 Adapting to and mitigating against the impacts of climate change will also 
have minor positive effects on SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 (Inequalities), 5 
(Communities), 6 (Economy) and 8 (Pollution) as this may help protect people 
from extreme weather events as well as the associated economic costs, 
increase job opportunities and minimise air pollution. 

Growing opportunities to work locally 

6.5 Pillar 2 promotes targeted investment into the local economy and workforce, 
supports the provision of education and training facilities and aims to diversify 
local job prospects thereby making the local economy more resilient. As such, a 
significant positive effect is expected in relation to SA objective 6 (Economy). 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 98 Page 156



  

   

   
  

    
  

  
  

  
 

 

 

       

     
 

 
  

 

  

      
     

    
 

  
       

    
 

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

6.6 Minor positive effects are expected in relation to SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 
(Inequalities) and 5 (Communities) as an increase in training opportunities and 
the provision of local facilities will help to support local communities and reduce 
deprivation in the areas most affected. 

6.7 It is possible that the delivery of new workspaces could have negative 
effects on the environmental SA objectives, e.g. SA objectives 13 (Biodiversity 
and Geodiversity), 14 (Historic Environment) and 15 (Landscape); however this 
is uncertain until the precise location and design of any such development is 
known. 

Living in healthy, thriving local communities 

6.8 Pillar 3 seeks to provide healthy places that are inclusive, safe and 
interactive. This could increase levels of pedestrian activity and outdoor 
interaction; therefore significant positive effects are expected in relation to SA 
objectives 3 (Health) and 5 (Communities). Additionally, this pillar aims to create 
homes that provide opportunities for healthy and supported living, therefore 
minor positive effects are expected in relation to SA objectives 2 (Housing) and 
4 (Inequalities). 

Moving easily in connected places 

6.9 Pillar 4 seeks to give people the opportunity for active and healthy living 
through the improved provision of public transport and active travel options. As 
such, significant positive effects are expected in relation to SA objective 7 
(Travel). Minor positive effects are also expected for SA objectives 1 (Climate 
change), 3 (Health) and 8 (Pollution) as an improvements to the cycling and 
walking network can benefit physical and mental health and minimise the 
greenhouse gas emissions and air and noise pollution associated with vehicle 
traffic. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 99 Page 157



  

   

 

  
     

  
  

   
 

   

  
  

    
 

 

    
  

   
 

 

  
  

  
 

 

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

Building homes and places that people are proud of 

6.10 Significant positive effects are recorded for SA Objective 2 (Housing) 
because this pillar aims to create homes and places that will fit the current and 
future needs of the local residents. It also seeks to create high quality public 
spaces creating sustainable communities. Therefore, a significant positive effect 
is expected for SA objective 5 (Communities). Additionally, the homes will be 
flexible, adaptable and built in sustainable locations; therefore minor positive 
effects are expected for SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 (Inequalities) and 7 (Travel). 

6.11 It is possible that the delivery of new residential development could have 
negative effects on the environmental SA objectives, e.g. SA objectives 13 
(Biodiversity and Geodiversity), 14 (Historic Environment) and 15 (Landscape); 
however this is uncertain until the precise location and design of any such 
development is known. 

Delivering robust and sustainable infrastructure 

6.12 Pillar 6 aims to deliver key infrastructure to meet local needs and adapt to 
climate change. To do this, this pillar promotes local renewable energy 
generation, the reuse and recycling of materials and access to fast digital 
networks for all. As such, minor positive effects are expected in relation to SA 
objectives 1 (Climate change), 6 (Economy) and 12 (Minerals). 

6.13 It is possible that the delivery of new infrastructure could have negative 
effects on the environmental SA objectives, e.g. SA objectives 13 (Biodiversity 
and Geodiversity), 14 (Historic Environment) and 15 (Landscape); however this 
is uncertain until the precise location and nature of any such infrastructure is 
known. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 100 Page 158



  

   

 

       
     

   
   

    
  

  
   

   
 

    
   

  

    
 

   
  

    
   

  

    

 

     
 

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

Growth Types 

6.14 Table 6.2 presents the SA findings for the seven potential growth types 
identified in the SW Hertfordshire JSP Regulation 18 Issues and Options 
document. These are broad and conceptual development types and not linked 
to an overall spatial scenario at this stage: 

a. Growth within existing large settlements – a continued focus on the 
existing city, towns and large villages, through a combination of more dense 
development than traditionally seen in SW Herts and maximising 
redevelopment opportunities. 

b. Outward growth of existing large settlements – the outward growth of 
existing city, towns and large villages through urban extensions. 

c. New settlements – the creation of completely new communities. These 
would need to be large enough to ensure they can provide key local 
facilities. 

d. Growth of groups of settlements – expanding the size of a number of 
existing communities which are located near to one another. These would 
need to be large enough in total to ensure they can provide key local 
facilities. 

e. Growth along sustainable transport corridors – locating growth where 
there is potential to create new connected and improved public transport 
corridors, particularly those running east-west through the area. 

f. Growing the best-connected places – a focus on areas that already have, 
or have the potential for, good access to railway stations, high frequency bus 
routes, high quality cycle routes and good pedestrian accessibility. 

g. Scattered growth – growth across the whole area, in all sizes of settlements, 
from large to small. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 101 Page 159



  

   

      

 
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  

  
 
  

       

  
        

          

  
        

  
        

  
        

          

  
         

          

  
        

          

  
        

  
        

  

 
       

  
         

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

Table 6.2: SA findings for Growth Types 

SA 
Objective 

Growth 
Type a 

Growth 
Type b 

Growth 
Type c 

Growth 
Type d 

Growth 
Type e 

Growth 
Type f 

Growth 
Type g 

SA1 – 
Climate 
change 

++? ++? - - ++? ++? +/-? 

SA2 -
Housing ++? ++? ++? ++? ++? ++? ++? 

SA3 - Health +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/-

SA4 -
Inequalities +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/-

SA5 -
Communities +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/- +/-

SA6 -
Economy ++ ++ +? +? ++ ++ +/-

SA7 - Travel ++? ++ - - ++ ++ +/-? 

SA8 -
Pollution -? -? - - -? -? +/-? 

SA9 - Water - - - - - - --? 

SA10 -
Flooding - - - - - - --? 

SA11 - Soils +/-? +/-? --? --? +/-? +/-? --? 

SA12 -
Minerals 0? 0? 0? 0? 0? 0? 0? 

SA13 -
Biodiversity - - --? --? - - --? 

SA14 -
Historic 
Environment 

- - - - - - --? 

SA15 -
Landscape - - - - - - --? 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 102 Page 160



  

   

    
    

 
  

 
 

       
      

   
  

    
    

 
      

   
      

      
   

  
  

 
     

       
   

   
    

   
     

  
    

  
   

  

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

6.15 There is limited variation between the likely effects identified for Growth 
Types a, b, e and f as they all would result in some or all new development 
being either within or close to existing towns and cities, along sustainable 
transport corridors and/or around strategic transport hubs, which means all 
would offer more alternatives to private vehicle use including more active travel 
modes, and generally better access to jobs, services and facilities. Growth 
Types c, d and g are likely to have the most potential negative effects because 
they may result in more new growth across the more rural areas of the area, 
where environmental assets are more likely to be adversely affected and where 
accessibility may be less good and levels of car use higher. 

6.16 For the purposes of this initial appraisal it is assumed that the same scale 
of growth would occur under each growth type. However, as the Issues and 
Options document explains, it is likely that a number of growth types would 
ultimately make up the spatial strategy for the plan. Given that the overall scale 
of growth to be planned for has yet to be determined and will be established 
later in the plan making process, all growth types have been identified as having 
potential but uncertain significant positive effects on SA objective 2 (Housing) at 
this stage. Although all growth types have the potential to deliver a significant 
number of new homes, their affordability is unknown. The same general 
assumption has been made with regards to the provision of employment land; 
however the spatial pattern of existing employment opportunities has offered 
greater scope to draw out variations in likely effects of the growth types to SA 
objective 6 (Economy), which are described in more detail below. 

6.17 Growth Types a, b, e and f are considered likely to have similar effects 
across all the SA objectives, because concentrating development in and around 
existing settlements and areas of good public transport connectivity is assumed 
to mean that development would be located mostly within SW Hertfordshire’s 

existing towns and cities. These growth types would all have significant positive 
effects in relation to SA objective 6 (Economy) because development would 
take place in areas where there are already employment and educational 
facilities, allowing economic clusters to form and providing access to local 
employment opportunities. Employment opportunities could be more easily 
accessed by walking, cycling and public transport, potentially resulting in ‘20 
minute neighbourhoods’, in part because development would be intensified in 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 103 Page 161



  

   

     
     

    
  

  

 
   

       
   

   
   

     
    

      

  
   

 
    

    

        
    

    
     

   
     

 

  
 

    
    

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

existing urban areas, resulting in significant positive effects on SA objective 7 
(Travel). Minor positive effects are expected for SA objective 11 (Soils) because 
development within existing settlements could result in the use of brownfield 
land thereby minimising the loss of greenfield land, particularly land which is in 
agricultural use. However, this is uncertain at this stage. 

6.18 Denser development in urban areas and/or around sustainable transport 
nodes would make district heating easier and use less energy per dwelling than 
lower density communities. This, combined with the reduced need to travel, 
would likely result in significant positive effects from Growth Types a, b, e and f 
on SA objective 1 (climate change). It is uncertain whether a range of services, 
facilities and infrastructure would be developed alongside new housing under 
these Growth Types, therefore uncertainty is attached to the likely effects on SA 
objectives 1 (climate change), 7 (travel) and 8 (pollution) as the use of private 
vehicles may still be needed, particularly in the early stages of development. 
Minor negative effects are expected from these Growth Types in relation to SA 
objective 8 (pollution) as there are currently 17 Air Quality Management Areas 
within SW Hertfordshire, many of which lie within existing settlements; therefore 
focussing new development in these areas would place more people in close 
proximity to these air quality issues, and potentially exacerbate them as a result 
of new traffic generation, including from HGVs in the short to medium term 
during the construction phase. 

6.19 Growth Types a, b, e and f would have mixed minor positive and negative 
effects on SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 (Inequalities) and 5 (Communities). 
Existing towns and cities tend to have the highest concentration of existing 
healthcare facilities which could be accessed by new residents; however 
concentrating new development in those areas could also place existing 
facilities under increased pressure and would miss opportunities to potentially 
stimulate improved services in more rural areas. Existing residents are likely to 
feel negative impacts from a large increase in population, although new 
residents are likely to benefit from the existing services (e.g., leisure and retail 
facilities). 

Although Growth Type e in particular may result in the development of 
greenfield land along existing transport corridors, Growth Types a, b, e and f are 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 104 Page 162



  

   

     
 

    
      

  
     

   
  

  
     

  
   

     

 

       
    

       

   
  

   

       
    

  
  

 
  

  
    

    
    

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

all based on a principle of maximising development in and around existing 
centres. This has the potential to help minimise negative effects on biodiversity 
assets and achieve the more efficient use of land. However, Growth Type b in 
particular is still likely to result in large urban extensions at existing settlements, 
resulting in the loss of greenfield land. Furthermore, the densification of existing 
centres could result in fewer green spaces in and around urban areas, with 
associated losses of biodiversity. Therefore, a minor negative effect is expected 
for SA objective 13 (Biodiversity). Minor negative effects are also expected on 
SA objectives 9 (water), 10 (Flooding), 11 (Soils),14 (Heritage) and 15 
(Landscape) because some key existing settlements such as Watford are 
mostly in/near the floodplain therefore additional development in those areas 
could increase the risk of flooding. Additionally, existing settlements tend to 
have a higher number of designated heritage assets and attractive and 
distinctive townscapes, which would be affected by significant quantities of new 
development. 

6.20 Growth Types d and g are considered likely to have broadly similar effects 
across the SA objectives as they would involve more dispersed growth across 
the area. The expansion of existing settlements could lead to the creation of 
new service centres able to support new healthy and vibrant communities, but it 
is likely that, at least in the short term, additional residents could put pressure 
on existing services and facilities. Therefore, mixed minor positive and minor 
negative effects are recorded against SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 (Inequalities) 
and 5 (Communities). 

6.21 Growth Types d and g could result in growth within the rural areas of SW 
Hertfordshire away from the main service centres. As such, it is likely these 
Growth Types will utilise more greenfield land for development compared to the 
other Growth Types, resulting in less efficient use of land and greater potential 
for the loss of habitats. In addition, there are many Local Wildlife Sites, patches 
of Ancient Woodland, Local Nature Reserves and SSSIs that could be 
adversely impacted by development in the rural areas of the area, resulting in 
the potential for significant negative effects on SA objectives 11 (soils) and 13 
(biodiversity). However, uncertainty is attached to the effects of Growth Type g 
because development could be directed to larger existing settlements which 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 105 Page 163



  

   

    
 

     
    

 
  

    
   

      
    

     
  

 

   
   

   
    

 
 

    
 

      
     

  
    

  
   

    
    

 
 

    

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

could provide opportunities for the development of brownfield land over 
greenfield land. 

6.22 Although new service centres would be created in new settlements and 
growth of groups of settlements, they are unlikely to be of a scale to be able to 
support significant new and improved local service centres of a scale needed 
for the level of growth likely to be required in the area, resulting in the need for 
more commuting to larger centres in existing and larger settlements. Growth 
Types d and g would therefore likely increase greenhouse gas emissions, traffic 
congestion and use of the private car resulting in minor negative effects on SA 
objectives 1 (climate change), 7 (travel), and 8 (pollution). However, uncertainty 
is attached to the effects of Growth Type g as development could be directed to 
larger existing settlements which are likely to be in closer proximity to 
sustainable methods of transport. 

6.23 Additional development throughout the area including within the rural areas 
could result in more rural infrastructure which would open up new opportunities 
within the rural economy and encourage residents to stay within the rural areas 
for work, resulting in minor positive effects in relation to SA objective 6 
(economy). For example, there is potential for an innovative rural economy with 
regard to farming practices in response to climate change and policy changes, 
as well as more home working. However, the long-term viability and capacity of 
these practices is currently uncertain. 

6.24 With the potential greater loss of open countryside resulting from Growth 
Types d and g, development could result in the loss of permeable land thereby 
increasing the risk of flooding. Development could also result in the 
deterioration of the water supply. As such, minor negative effects are expected 
on SA objectives 9 (water) and 10 (flooding). Although the density of 
development outside of the main settlements would likely be lower, it would 
have to be more dispersed across SW Hertfordshire, which could potentially 
affect the setting and special character of the area’s historic and landscape 
character. Therefore, minor negative effects on SA objectives 14 (historic 
environment) and 15 (landscape) are expected. However, uncertainty is 
attached to Growth Type g as development could be directed to larger existing 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 106 Page 164



  

   

  
 

     
  

    
  

  
   

 
     
  

 
     

  
    

   
  

     
     

    
   

   
  

       
  

    
    

   
 

     
  

 
   

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

settlements and therefore could have less of a negative impact on the 
landscape. 

6.25 Growth Type c would involve creating new settlements within the area 
which would provide key local facilities alongside housing. As such, the new 
settlements could promote the cohesion of new communities through provision 
of social infrastructure and could provide communities in surrounding areas with 
additional services and facilities. Therefore, minor positive effects are expected 
in relation to SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 (Inequalities) and 5 (communities). 
However, the additional social infrastructure that will be provided by new 
settlements may not provide easy access for existing residents and could be 
quite remote from existing service centres, introducing a risk that some new 
communities become commuter suburbs, acting as dormitories for local 
workers. In addition, new settlements can take a long time to deliver, which 
means that additional infrastructure may not be provided in the early years of 
the plan period but only once the settlement reaches a size large enough to 
support them. As such, minor negative effects are also expected in relation to 
SA objectives 3 (Health), 4 (Inequalities) and 5 (communities). 

6.26 In addition to social infrastructure, new settlements are likely to provide 
additional local job opportunities, however it may take some time to attract 
businesses to invest in new settlements. Therefore, mixed minor positive and 
negative effects are expected in relation to SA objective 6 (economy). Mixed 
effects are also expected in relation to SA objectives 1 (climate change), 7 
(travel) and 8 (pollution) as new settlements would provide services and 
facilities on site; however this may not be the case in the short term, so 
increased use of the private car is likely, thereby increasing traffic congestion 
and greenhouse gas emissions. New settlements could be masterplanned and 
sensitively planned to reduce the need for travel through good site layout and 
the creation of ’20-minute neighbourhoods’; however the design and layout is 
unknown at this stage. 

6.27 Similar to Growth Types d and g, Growth Type c is likely to utilise more 
greenfield land for new settlements compared to the other Growth Types, 
resulting in less efficient use of land and greater potential for the loss of 
habitats. Additionally, the conversion of greenfield land to impermeable surfaces 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 107 Page 165



  

   

   
  
    

   

       
 

   

   
    
 

 

Chapter 6 SA Findings for the Vision, Objectives and Growth Types 

through development could increase the risk of flooding within the area. 
Therefore, under the precautionary principle, uncertain significant negative 
effects are identified in relation to SA objectives 10 (flooding), 11 (soils), 13 
(biodiversity), 14 (heritage) and 15 (landscape). 

6.28 All of the Growth Types are considered to have likely negligible effects on 
SA objective 12 (minerals) on the assumption that safeguarded minerals within 
allocated areas would be recovered before development occurred. 

6.29 These growth types will be reassessed within future SA reports when it is 
clear how they will be configured as part of the overall growth/spatial strategy 
for SW Hertfordshire. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 108 Page 166



  

   

 
 

    

    
  

 

    
 

 
 

  
   

  
  

  
  

 

     
    

    

Chapter 7 Next Steps 

Chapter 7 
Next Steps 

7.1 In order to meet the requirements of the SEA Regulations, the views of the 
three statutory consultees (Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural 
England) are being sought in relation to the scope and level of detail to be 
included in the SA Report. In particular, consultees are in particular requested 
to consider whether: 

◼ The scope of the SA is appropriate considering the role and priorities of 
the SW Herts JSP. 

◼ The plans, policies or programmes referenced comprehensively cover 
those relevant to the SA of the SW Herts JSP. 

◼ The baseline information provided is robust and comprehensive and 
provides a suitable baseline for the SA of the SW Herts JSP. 

◼ All known significant sustainability issues of relevance to SW Herts and 
the JSP have been accurately represented. 

◼ The defined SA framework is fit for purpose and includes a suitable set of 
SA objectives for assessing the effects of the SW Herts JSP and 
reasonable alternatives. 

7.2 Responses from all consultees (both statutory and non-statutory) will be 
reviewed and appropriate amendments made to the Scoping Report, including 
to the baseline, policy context and SA framework where necessary. This may 
be addressed during the preparation of the first iteration of the full SA report. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 109 Page 167



  
 

   

 
 

 

 

 

  
 

  
  

   
 

  
  

   
   

  
 

  

   
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

Appendix A 
Review of Relevant International and 
National Plans and Programmes 

Population, health and wellbeing 

International 

A.1 The United Nations Declaration on Sustainable Development 
(Johannesburg Declaration) (2002) sets the broad framework for international 
sustainable development, including building a humane, equitable and caring 
global society aware of the need for human dignity for all, renewable energy 
and energy efficiency, sustainable consumption and production and resource 
efficiency. 

A.2 United Nations Convention on Access to Information, Public 
Participation in Decision-Making and Access to Justice in Environmental 
Matters (the ‘Aarhus Convention’) (1998): Establishes a number of rights of 
the public (individuals and their associations) with regard to the environment. 
The Parties to the Convention are required to make the necessary provisions so 
that public authorities (at national, regional or local level) will contribute to these 
rights to become effective. 

A.3 Other topic based international policies relating to human health and 
wellbeing are described under the relevant topics below: 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 110 Page 168



  
 

   

 

  
  

     
  

  
  

 

   
 

  
 

 
  

   
  

  
 

  
  

  
  

   
   

  
  

     
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

National 

A.4 The NPPF includes as part of its social objective the promotion of “strong, 
vibrant and healthy communities” by: 

◼ “ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to 
meet the needs of present and future generations; and 

◼ by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe places, with accessible 
services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and 
support communities’ health, social and cultural wellbeing.” 

A.5 Ultimately planning policies and planning decision making should “aim to 
achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places”. 

A.6 The document states that strategic policies should set out an overall 
strategy for the pattern, scale and design quality of places, and make sufficient 
provision for: housing (including affordable housing) … [as well as] community 
facilities (such as health, education and cultural infrastructure).” Policies should 
reflect “the size, type and tenure of housing needed”. This policy approach is to 
include but should not be limited to housing requirements relating to affordable 
homes, families with children, older people, students, people with disabilities, 
service families, travellers, those who rent their homes and people wishing to 
commission the construction of their own homes. Major developments that 
involve the provision of new housing planning policies and decisions should 
expect at least 10% of the total number of homes to be delivered for affordable 
home ownership subject to conditions and exemptions. 

A.7 To help to diversify opportunities for builders, promote the development of a 
good mix of sites, local planning authorities should identify, through the 
development plan and brownfield registers, land to accommodate at least 10% 
of their housing requirement on sites no larger than one hectare; unless it can 
be shown, through the preparation of relevant plan policies, that there are 
strong reasons why this 10% target cannot be achieved. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 111 Page 169



  
 

   

  
 

  
   

  

    
  

 

  
  

   
  

 
 

 

    
 

    
 

 

   
    

 
  

   
 

    
   

   

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.8 Where there is an identified need, development of sites not already 
allocated for housing to provide entry-level homes suitable for first-time buyers 
is to be supported by local planning authorities unless such need is already to 
be met at other locations within the authority area. These sites should comprise 
of entry-level homes that offer one or more types of affordable housing. 

A.9 The document also promotes a theme of enhancing healthy and safe 
communities which is to be achieved by creating places which “promote social 
interaction (and) enable and support healthy lifestyles.” 

A.10 To provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the 
community needs, planning policies and decisions should : 

◼ plan positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community 
facilities (such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, 
cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship) and other local 
services to enhance the sustainability of communities and residential 
environments; 

◼ take into account and support the delivery of local strategies to improve 
health, social and cultural well-being for all sections of the community; 

◼ guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, 
particularly where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its 
day-to-day needs; 

◼ ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop 
and modernise, and are retained for the benefit of the community; and 

◼ ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, 
economic uses and community facilities and services. 

A.11 Plan making through the guidance of the NPPF recognises the important 
role of access to open spaces and other facilities which provide opportunities for 
sport and physical activity has in terms of health and wellbeing of communities. 
The importance of delivering a sufficient choice of school places to meet the 
needs of existing and new communities is also recognised in the document and 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 112 Page 170



  
 

   

   
  

   
 

  
    

  
 

      
  

    
   

  
 

      
 

 
 

 
 

    
   

   
 

  
 

  
 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

local planning authorities should take a “proactive, positive and collaborative 
approach to meeting this requirement”. 

A.12 The NPPF also sets out that the standard method provided in national 
planning guidance should be used to undertake a local housing need 
assessment identifying the minimum number of homes needed. The Housing 
Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book [See reference 109] provides this 
standard method allowing for calculation of objectively assessed housing need 
using government household forecasts adjusted for local house prices and local 
earnings. Unmet need from neighbouring areas will also need to be taken into 
account as part of the calculation. 

A.13 National Design Guide [See reference 110] : sets out the Government’s 
priorities for well-designed places in the form of ten characteristics: context, 
identity, built form, movement, nature, public spaces, uses, homes and 
buildings, resources and lifespan. 

A.14 Fair Society, Healthy Lives [See reference 111] investigated health 
inequalities in England and the actions needed in order to tackle them. 
Subsequently, a supplementary report was prepared providing additional 
evidence relating to spatial planning and health on the basis that there is 
“overwhelming evidence that health and environmental inequalities are 
inexorably linked and that poor environments contribute significantly to poor 
health and health inequalities”. 

A.15 Select Committee on Public Service and Demographic Change report 
Ready for Ageing? [See reference 112]: warns that society is underprepared 
for the ageing population. The report states “longer lives can be a great benefit, 
but there has been a collective failure to address the implications and without 
urgent action this great boon could turn into a series of miserable crises”. The 

report highlights the under provision of specialist housing for older people and 
the need to plan for the housing needs of the older population as well as 
younger people. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 113 Page 171



  
 

   

   
    

 

    
    

     

      
 

 
  

 

    
 

   

  

    

  

  
  

  
    

    

  
      

  
 

  
 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.16 Laying the foundations: a housing strategy for England [See 
reference 113] : Aims to provide support to deliver new homes and improve 
social mobility. 

A.17 Homes England Strategic Plan 2018 to 2023 [See reference 114] : Sets 
out a vision to ensure more homes are built in areas of greatest need, to 
improve affordability, and make a more resilient and diverse housing market. 

A.18 Planning Policy for Traveller Sites [See reference 115] sets out the 
Government’s planning policy for traveller sites. The Government’s overarching 

aim is to ensure fair and equal treatment for travellers, in a way that facilitates 
the traditional and nomadic way of life of travellers while respecting the interests 
of the settled community. 

A.19 Planning for the Future White Paper [See reference 116]: Sets out a 
series of potential reforms to the English planning system, to deliver growth 
faster. The White Paper focuses on the following: 

◼ Simplifying the role of Local Plans and the process of producing them. 

◼ Digitising plan-making and development management processes. 

◼ Focus on design, sustainability and infrastructure delivery. 

◼ Nationally determined, binding housing requirements for local planning 
authorities to deliver through Local Plans. 

A.20 The Housing White Paper 2017 (Fixing our broken housing market) 
[See reference 117]]: sets out ways to address the shortfall in affordable 
homes and boost housing supply. The White Paper focuses on the following: 

◼ Planning for the right homes in the right places – Higher densities in 
appropriate areas, protecting the Green Belt while making more land 
available for housing by maximising the contribution from brownfield and 
surplus public land, regenerating estates, releasing more small and 
medium-sized sites, allowing rural communities to grow and making it 
easier to build new settlements. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 114 Page 172



  
 

   

    

 

     
 

 

     
  

    
 

 

   
 

 

     
  

 
 

 

   
  

  

  
 

  
   

   
   

      
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

◼ Building homes faster – Improved speed of planning cases, ensuring 
infrastructure is provided and supporting developers to build out more 
quickly. 

◼ Diversifying the Market – Backing small and medium-sized house builders, 
custom-build, institutional investors, new contractors, housing 
associations. 

◼ Helping people now – supporting home ownership and providing 
affordable housing for all types of people, including the most vulnerable. 

A.21 Public Health England, PHE Strategy 2020-25 [See reference 118] : 
identifies PHE’s priorities upon which to focus over this five-year period to 
protect people and help people to live longer in good health. 

A.22 Healthy Lives, Healthy People [See reference 119]: Our strategy for 
public health in England : Sets out how our approach to public health 
challenges will: 

◼ Protect the population from health threats – led by central government, 
with a strong system to the frontline. 

◼ Empower local leadership and encourage wide responsibility across 
society to improve everyone’s health and wellbeing, and tackle the wider 
factors that influence it. 

◼ Focus on key outcomes, doing what works to deliver them, with 
transparency of outcomes to enable accountability through a proposed 
new public health outcomes framework. 

◼ Reflect the Government’s core values of freedom, fairness and 

responsibility by strengthening self-esteem, confidence and personal 
responsibility; positively promoting healthy behaviours and lifestyles; and 
adapting the environment to make healthy choices easier. 

◼ Balance the freedoms of individuals and organisations with the need to 
avoid harm to others, use a ‘ladder’ of interventions to determine the least 
intrusive approach necessary to achieve the desired effect and aim to 
make voluntary approaches work before resorting to regulation. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 115 Page 173



  
 

   

     
 

   

    
   

   

 

 

  
    

  
 

 

    
 

 
  

    
  

  
  

    
 

 

 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.23 The 25 Year Environment Plan sets out goals for improving the 
environment over the next 25 years. It details how the Government will work 
with communities and businesses to leave the environment in a better state 
than it is presently. The document identifies six key areas upon which action will 
be focused. Those of relevance to the topics of population growth, health and 
wellbeing are using and managing land sustainably; and connecting people with 
the environment to improve health and wellbeing. 

Economy 

International and National 

A.24 There are no specific international economic policy agreements relevant to 
the preparation of the South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan, although 
there are a large number of trading agreements, regulations and standards that 
set down the basis of trade within the European Union (subject to changes post-
Brexit) and with other nations. 

A.25 The NPPF contains an economic objective to “help build a strong, 
responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the 
right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, 
innovation and improved productivity.” 

A.26 It also requires that planning seeks to “create the conditions in which 

businesses can invest, expand and adapt” with policies required to “set out a 
clear economic vision and strategy which positively and proactively encourages 
sustainable economic growth”. Policies addressing the economy should also 
seek “to address potential barriers to investment, such as inadequate 
infrastructure, services or housing, or a poor environment.” 

A.27 Of particular relevance to South West Hertfordshire is the requirement for 
planning policies to “recognise and address the specific locational requirements 
of different sectors. This includes making provision for clusters or networks of 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 116 Page 174



  
 

   

  

 

  
  

   
 

 

     
 

  
 

  
 

    

  
  

 

    
 
 

   
 

    
 

 
 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

knowledge and data-driven, creative or high technology industries; and for 
storage and distribution operations at a variety of scales and in suitably 
accessible locations.” 

A.28 Planning policies are also required specifically to address support for the 
rural economy. Sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and 
enterprise in rural areas should be supported, both through conversion of 
existing buildings and well-designed new buildings, while the diversification of 
the rural economy and promotion of sustainable rural tourism and leisure 
developments is also supported. 

A.29 The NPPF also supports the role of town centres as functioning at the 
heart of local communities. This support is required to provide for a “positive 
approach to [town centres’] growth, management and adaptation.” Included 
within this support is a requirement to “allocate a range of suitable sites in town 
centres to meet the scale and type of development needed, looking at least ten 
years ahead.” 

A.30 The Local Growth White Paper (2010) [See reference 120] highlights 
the importance of economic policy that focusses on the delivery of strong, 
sustainable and balanced growth of income and employment over the long-
term, growth which is broad-based industrially and geographically to provide 
equality of access and opportunity and build businesses that are competitive 
internationally. 

A.31 Build Back Better: Our Plan for Growth [See reference 121]: Sets out a 
plan to ‘build back better’ tackling long-term problems to deliver growth that 
delivers high-quality jobs across the UK while supporting the transition to net 
zero. This will build on three core pillars of growth: infrastructure, skills and 
innovation. 

A.32 The Ten Point Plan for Green Industrial Revolution [See reference 
122] outlines the national strategy for accelerating the UK’s transition to a net 
zero carbon economy. A key theme running through the document is the 
opportunity to ‘build back better’ through investing in strategies to mitigate and 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 117 Page 175



  
 

   

 
     

   

 

     
  

   

 

      
 

  
 

    
 

 

   
     

  
   

  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

adapt to climate change. The Government has committed to investing a total of 
£12 billion in various programmes and estimates this will leverage up to £36 
billion of private investment and create up to 250,000 new ‘green’ jobs by 2030. 

A.33 The Agriculture Act 2020 [See reference 123] sets out a framework for 
the Government to establish new regulations for farming in the UK following 
Brexit. These include: financial assistance, multi-annual support and reporting 
programmes, food security, fair dealing in the supply chain and the reform of 
agricultural tenancies. 

A.34 Agricultural Transition Plan 2021 to 2024 [See reference 124] aims to 
achieve a renewed agricultural sector where farms are profitable and 
economically sustainable and where farming contributes to environmental goals 
such as addressing climate change. 

A.35 National Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2016-2021) [See reference 125] 
sets out the government’s plans for economic infrastructure over a five year 
period with those to support delivery of housing and social infrastructure. 

A.36 UK Industrial Strategy: building a Britain fit for the future (2018) [See 
reference 126] lays down a vision and foundations for a transformed economy. 
Areas including: artificial intelligence and big data; clean growth; the future of 
mobility; and meeting the needs of an ageing society are identified as the four 
‘Grand Challenges’ of the future. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 118 Page 176



  
 

   

 

 

     
  

 
 

  
 

 

    
  

  
  

    
  

    
   

     
  

 
 

   

    
   

  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

Transport 

International 

A.35 The Trans-European Networks (TEN) was created by the European 
Union by Articles 154-156 of the Treaty of Rome (1957), with the stated goals of 
the creation of an internal market and the reinforcement of economic and social 
cohesion. These include the Trans-European Transport Networks (TEN-T), 
which includes High Speed 1, and the Trans-European Telecommunications 
Networks (eTEN). 

National 

A.36 The NPPF requires that “transport issues should be considered from the 
earliest stages of plan-making”. The scale, location and density of development 
should reflect “opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure”. 
To help reduce congestion and emissions, and improve air quality and public 
health the planning system should focus significant development “on locations 
which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and 
offering a genuine choice of transport modes.” 

A.37 The framework also requires that planning policies support an appropriate 
mix of uses across an area to further help reduce the need to travel as well as 
the provision of high quality walking and cycling network. While the framework 
promotes the use and development of sustainable transport networks it also 
requires that “where there is robust evidence, sites and routes which could be 
critical in developing infrastructure to widen transport choice and realise 
opportunities for large scale development” should be identified and protected. 

A.38 The Road to Zero [See reference 127] sets out new measures towards 
cleaner road transport, aiming to put the UK at the forefront of the design and 
manufacturing of zero emission vehicles. It explains how cleaner air, a better 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 119 Page 177



  
 

   

  
   

 

     
 

 
   

   
  

    
  

  

  
     

  
 

  
 

  

  
 

   

   
  

 
 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

environment, zero emission vehicles and a strong, clean economy will be 
achieved. One of the main aims of the document is for all new cars and vans to 
be effectively zero emission by 2040. 

A.39 Transport Investment Strategy [See reference 128]: Sets out the four 
objectives that the strategy aims to achieve: 

◼ Create a more reliable, less congested, and better connected transport 
network that works for the users who rely on it. 

◼ Build a stronger, more balanced economy by enhancing productivity and 
responding to local growth priorities. 

◼ Enhance our global competitiveness by making Britain a more attractive 
place to trade and invest; and 

◼ Support the creation of new housing. 

A.40 Door to Door: A strategy for improving sustainable transport 
integration [See reference 129] : Focuses on four core areas which need to 
be addressed so that people can be confident in choosing greener modes of 
transport. There are as follows: 

◼ Accurate, accessible and reliable information about different transport 
options. 

◼ Convenient and affordable tickets. 

◼ Regular and straightforward connections at all stages of the journey and 
between different modes of transport. 

◼ Safe and comfortable transport facilities. 

A.41 The strategy also includes details on how the Government is using 
behavioural change methods to reduce or remove barriers to the use of 
sustainable transport and working closely with stakeholders to deliver a better-
connected transport system. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 120 Page 178



  
 

   

 
   

 
   

 
 

 
     

    
  

  

  
    

     

   

    

     

  
  

   
     

   

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.42 Department for Transport, Decarbonising Transport: Setting the 
Challenge (2020) [See reference 130] sets out the strategic priorities for a new 
Transport Decarbonisation Plan (TDP), to be published later in 2020, will set out 
in detail what government, business and society will need to do to deliver the 
significant emissions reduction needed across all modes of transport, putting us 
on a pathway to achieving carbon budgets and net zero emissions across every 
single mode of transport by 2050. This document acknowledges that while there 
have been recently published strategies [See reference 131] to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions in individual transport modes, transport as a whole 
sector needs to go further and more quickly, therefore the TDP will take a 
coordinated, cross-modal approach to deliver the transport sector’s contribution 

to both carbon budgets and net zero. 

A.43 Department for Transport, Decarbonising: A Better, Greener Britain 
[See reference 132] sets out the government’s commitments and the actions 
needed to decarbonise the entire transport system in the UK. It includes: 

◼ the pathway to net zero transport in the UK. 

◼ the wider benefits net zero transport can deliver. 

◼ the principles that underpin our approach to delivering net zero transport. 

A.44 The plan follows on from Decarbonising transport: setting the challenge, 
published in March 2020, which laid out the scale of additional reductions 
needed to deliver transport’s contribution to legally binding carbon budgets and 

delivering net zero by 2050. This plan takes into account the changes in 
transport demand following the pandemic. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 121 Page 179



   
 

   

 

 

    
   

    
  

   
  

  
      

 

    
  

   
  

 
  

     
   

  

   
 

 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

Air, land, and water quality 

National 

A.45 The NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing 
valued soil and the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile 
agricultural land. Policies should also prevent new and existing development 
from “contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution.” 

A.46 The document also requires that strategic policies should seek to make 
the most effective use of land in meeting local requirements making as much 
use as possible of previously-developed or ‘brownfield’ land. Furthermore 
policies should “support appropriate opportunities to remediate despoiled, 
degraded, derelict, contaminated or unstable land”. 

A.47 Environmental Protection Act 1990 [See reference 133]: makes 
provision for the improved control of pollution to the air, water and land by 
regulating the management of waste and the control of emissions. Seeks to 
ensure that decisions pertaining to the environment are made in an integrated 
manner, in collaboration with appropriate authorities, non-governmental 
organisations and other persons. 

A.48 Building Regulations [See reference 134]: requires that reasonable 
precautions are taken to avoid risks to health and safety cause by contaminants 
in ground to be covered by building and associated ground. 

A.49 National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) [See reference 135]: Key 
planning objectives are identified within the NPPW, requiring planning 
authorities to: 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 122 Page 180



  
 

   

 
  

   
 

  
 

   
  

 
  

     
   

  
 

     
   

  

    

 
  

 

  
  

 

   
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

◼ Help deliver sustainable development through driving waste management 
up the waste hierarchy. 

◼ Ensure waste management is considered alongside other spatial planning 
concerns. 

◼ Provide a framework in which communities take more responsibility for 
their own waste. 

◼ Help secure the recovery or disposal of waste without endangering human 
health and without harming the environment. 

◼ Ensure the design and layout of new development supports sustainable 
waste management. 

A.50 The Nitrate Pollution Prevention Regulations [See reference 136] 
provides for the designation of land as nitrate vulnerable zones and imposes 
annual limits on the amount of nitrogen from organic manure that may be 
applied or spread in a holding in a nitrate vulnerable zone. The Regulations also 
specify the amount of nitrogen to be spread on a crop and how, where and 
when to spread nitrogen fertiliser, and how it should be stored. It also 
establishes closed periods during which the spreading of nitrogen fertiliser is 
prohibited. 

A.51 The Urban Waste Water Treatment Regulations [See reference 137] 
protect the environment from the adverse effects of urban waste water 
discharges and certain industrial sectors, notably domestic and industrial waste 
water. The regulations require the collection of waste water and specifies how 
different types of waste water should be treated, disposed and reused. 

A.52 The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) Regulations 
[See reference 138] protect inland surface waters, transitional waters, coastal 
waters and groundwater, and outlines the associated river basin management 
process 

A.53 The Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations [See reference 139] 
focus on the quality of water for drinking, washing, cooking and food 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 123 Page 181



  
 

   

   
  

   

    
  

 
     

     
  

   

     
 

     
 

  

      
  

   
   

  

  
 

  
 

   
     

 
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

preparation, and for food production. Their purpose is to protect human health 
from the adverse effects of any contamination of water intended for human 
consumption by ensuring it is wholesome and clean. 

A.54 The Environmental Permitting Regulations [See reference 140] 
streamline the legislative system for industrial and waste installations into a 
single permitting structure for those activities which have the potential to cause 
harm to human health or the environment. They set out how to prevent or, 
where that is not practicable, to reduce emissions into air, water and land and to 
prevent the generation of waste, in order to achieve a high level of protection of 
the environment and human health. 

A.55 The Air Quality Standards Regulations [See reference 141] set out 
limits on concentrations of outdoor air pollutants that impact public health, most 
notably particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2). It also 
sets out the procedure and requirements for the designation of Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMAs). 

A.56 The Environmental Noise Regulations [See reference 142] apply to 
environmental noise, mainly from transport. The regulations require regular 
noise mapping and action planning for road, rail and aviation noise and noise in 
large urban areas. They also require Noise Action Plans based on the maps for 
road and rail noise and noise in large urban areas. The Action Plans identify 
Important Areas (areas exposed to the highest levels of noise) and suggest 
ways the relevant authorities can reduce these. Major airports and those which 
affect large urban areas are also required to produce and publish their own 
Noise Action Plans separately. The Regulations do not apply to noise from 
domestic activities such as noise created by neighbours; at work places; inside 
means of transport; or military activities in military areas. 

A.57 The Waste (Circular Economy) (Amendment) Regulations [See 
reference 143] amend a range of legislation to prevent waste generation and to 
monitor and assess the implementation of measures included in waste 
prevention programmes. They set out requirements to justify not separating 
waste streams close to source for re-use, recycling or other recovery 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 124 Page 182



  
 

   

 
  

   
   

    
  

      
 

  
  

 
  

 

     
  

 
  

   
 

    
 

 
 

  

   
   

  

 
  

  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

operations, prohibit incineration and landfilling of waste unless such treatment 
process represent the best environmental outcome in accordance with the 
waste hierarchy. The Regulations set out when waste management plans and 
in waste prevention programmes are required. The Regulations focus on the 
circular economy as a means for businesses to maximise the value of waste 
and waste treatment. 

A.58 Safeguarding our Soils – A Strategy for England [See reference 144] 
sets out how England’s soils will be managed sustainably. It highlights those 

areas which Defra will prioritise and focus attention in tackling degradation 
threats, including: better protection for agricultural soils; protecting and 
enhancing stores of soil carbon; building the resilience of soils to a changing 
climate; preventing soil pollution; effective soil protection during construction 
and; dealing with contaminated land. 

A.59 The Water White Paper [See reference 145] provides out the 
Government’s vision for the water sector including proposals on protecting 
water resources and reforming the water supply industry. It outlines the 
measures that will be taken to tackle issues such as poorly performing 
ecosystems, and the combined impacts of climate change and population 
growth on stressed water resources. 

A.60 National Policy Statement for Waste Water [See reference 146]: sets 
out Government policy for the provision of major waste water infrastructure. The 
policy set out in this NPS is, for the most part, intended to make existing policy 
and practice in consenting nationally significant waste water infrastructure 
clearer and more transparent. 

A.61 Future Water: The Government’s Water Strategy for England [See 
reference 147] : Sets out how the Government wants the water sector to look 
by 2030, providing an outline of steps which need to be taken to get there. 
These steps include: improving the supply of water; agreeing on important new 
infrastructure such as reservoirs; proposals to time limit abstraction licences; 
and reducing leakage. The document also states that pollution to rivers will be 
tackled, whilst discharge from sewers will be reduced. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 125 Page 183



  
 

   

 
    

    
 

 
  

  

    

   

    
   

  
  

   
 

  
   

 
 

    
 

       
  

 

    
     

    
    

  

   

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.62 The Air Quality Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern 
Ireland [See reference 148] sets out a way forward for work and planning on 
air quality issues by setting out the air quality standards and objectives to be 
achieved. It introduces a new policy framework for tackling fine particles, and 
identifies potential new national policy measures which modelling indicates 
could give further health benefits and move closer towards meeting the 
Strategy’s objectives. The objectives of the Strategy are to: 

◼ Further improve air quality in the UK from today and long term. 

◼ Provide benefits to health quality of life and the environment. 

A.63 The Road to Zero [See reference 149] sets out new measures towards 
cleaner road transport, aiming to put the UK at the forefront of the design and 
manufacturing of zero emission vehicles. It explains how cleaner air, a better 
environment, zero emission vehicles and a strong, clean economy will be 
achieved. One of the main aims of the document is for all new cars and vans to 
be effectively zero emission by 2040. 

A.64 The UK Plan for Tackling Roadside Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations 
[See reference 150] provides the Government’s ambition and actions for 
delivering a better environment and cleaner air, including £1 billion investment 
in ultra-low emission vehicles (ULESvs), a £290 million National Productivity 
Investment Fund, a £11 million Air Quality Grant Fund and £255 million 
Implementation Fund to help local authorities to prepare Air Quality Action 
Plans and improve air quality, an £89 million Green Bus Fund, £1.2 billion 
Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy and £100 million to help improve air 
quality on the National road network. 

A.65 Of the key areas in the 25 Year Environment Plan around which action 
will be focused, those of relevance to the South West Hertfordshire in terms of 
the protection of air, land and water quality are: using and managing land 
sustainably; recovering nature and enhancing the beauty of landscapes; and 
increasing resource efficiency, and reducing pollution and waste: 

◼ Using and managing land sustainably: 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 126 Page 184



  
 

   

   
 

  

  

   

  

    

    
  

   
  

 
   

   
 

     
  
   

 
 

    
  

  
 

  
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

◼ Embed a ‘net environmental gain’ principle for development, including 

natural capital benefits to improved and water quality. 

◼ Protect best agricultural land. 

◼ Improve soil health, and restore and protect peatlands. 

◼ Recovering nature and enhancing the beauty of landscapes: 

◼ Respect nature by using our water more sustainably. 

◼ Increasing resource efficiency and reducing pollution and waste. 

◼ Reduce pollution by tackling air pollution in our Clean Air Strategy and 
reduce the impact of chemicals. 

A.66 Our Waste, Our Resources: A strategy for England (2018) [See 
reference 151] aims to increase resource productivity and eliminate avoidable 
waste by 2050. The Strategy sets out key targets which include: a 50% 
recycling rate for household waste by 2020, a 75% recycling rate for packaging 
by 2030, 65% recycling rate for municipal solid waste by 2035 and municipal 
waste to landfill 10% or less by 2035. 

A.67 Clean Air Strategy 2019 [See reference 152]: This strategy sets out the 
comprehensive action that is required from across all parts of government and 
society to meet these goals. New legislation will create a stronger and more 
coherent framework for action to tackle air pollution. This will be underpinned by 
new England-wide powers to control major sources of air pollution, in line with 
the risk they pose to public health and the environment, plus new local powers 
to take action in areas with an air pollution problem. These will support the 
creation of Clean Air Zones to lower emissions from all sources of air pollution, 
backed up with clear enforcement mechanisms. The UK has set stringent 
targets to cut emissions 2030. The goal is to reduce the harm to human health 
from air pollution by half. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 127 Page 185



  
 

   

 

 

   
 

 

 

      
  

  
     

   

    
 

   
  

    
  

 
   

 
  

  
   

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

Climate change mitigation and 
adaptation 

International 

A.68 United Nations Paris Climate Change Agreement (2015) is an 
international agreement to keep global temperature rise this century well below 
2 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels. 

National 

A.69 The Climate Change Act 2008 (amended 2019) [See reference 153] 
sets targets for UK greenhouse gas emission reductions of at least 80% by 
2050 and CO2 emission reductions of at least 26% by 2015, against a 1990 
baseline. An update to the act was made in 2019 which sets a new target for 
UK greenhouse gas emissions of 100% by 2050. 

A.70 Planning and Energy Act (2008) [See reference 154]: enables local 
planning authorities to set requirements for carbon reduction and renewable 
energy provision. It should be noted that while the Housing Standards Review 
proposed to repeal some of these provisions, at the time of writing there have 
been no amendments to the Planning and Energy Act. 

A.71 The NPPF contains as part of its environmental objective a requirement to 
mitigate and adapt to climate change, “including moving to a low carbon 
economy”. The document also states that the “planning system should support 
the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account of 
flood risk and coastal change.” To achieve these aims new development should 

be planned to ensure appropriate adaptation measures are included (including 
green infrastructure) and should be designed, located and orientated as to help 
to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 128 Page 186



   
 

   

  
  

  
 

    
  

  
  

 

    
    

 
   

 

    
  

   
 

      

  
 

 
    
 

    
    

 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.72 The revised framework also requires that development is directed away 
from areas which are at highest existing or future risk of flooding. Where 
development is required in such areas, the “development should be made safe 
for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere.” 

A.73 In relation to coastal change in England planning policies and decisions 
should take account of the UK Marine Policy Statement and marine plans. 
Furthermore, plans should “reduce risk from coastal change by avoiding 
inappropriate development in vulnerable areas and not exacerbating the 
impacts of physical changes to the coast”. 

A.74 The Energy Performance of Buildings Regulations [See reference 
155] seek to improve the energy efficiency of buildings, reducing their carbon 
emissions and lessening the impact of climate change. The Regulations require 
the adoption of a standard methodology for calculating energy performance and 
minimum requirements for energy performance, reported through Energy 
Performance Certificates and Display Energy Certificates. 

A.75 The UK Renewable Energy Strategy [See reference 156] describes out 
the ways in which we will tackle climate change by reducing our CO2 emissions 
through the generation of a renewable electricity, heat and transport 
technologies. 

A.76 The Energy Efficiency Strategy [See reference 157] aims to realise the 
wider energy efficiency potential that is available in the UK economy by 
maximising the potential of existing dwellings by implementing 21st century 
energy management initiatives on 19th century homes. 

A.77 The UK Low Carbon Transition Plan: National Strategy for Climate 
and Energy [See reference 158] : sets out a five point plan to tackle climate 
change. The points are as follows: protecting the public from immediate risk, 
preparing for the future, limiting the severity of future climate change through a 
new international climate agreement, building a low carbon UK and supporting 
individuals, communities and businesses to play their part. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 129 Page 187



  
 

   

   

 

  
 

    

   
  

 
   

    

  
   

   
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

  
    

 

     
   

 
  

  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.78 UK Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017 [See reference 159]: sets 
out six priority areas needing urgent further action over the next five years. 
These include: 

◼ flooding and coastal change risks to communities, businesses and 
infrastructure, 

◼ health, well-being and productivity from high temperatures, 

◼ shortages in public water supply, and for agriculture, energy generation 
and industry with impacts on freshwater ecology, 

◼ natural capital, including terrestrial, coastal, marine and freshwater 
ecosystems, soils and biodiversity, 

◼ domestic and international food production and trade and 

◼ new and emerging pests and diseases and invasive non-native species 
affecting people, plants and animals. 

A.79 Independent Assessment of UK Climate Risk [See reference 160]: 
published by the Committee on Climate Change as an independent assessment 
of the UK's climate risk. It will feed into the UK's third National Adaptation 
Programme when it is published later in 2022. As such it represents the latest 
thinking in terms of the level of risk that the UK faces in relation to climate 
change. One of the key findings of this report is that there is new evidence to 
suggest that the gap between the level of risk we face and the level of 
adaptation underway has widened since the publication of the previous National 
Adaptation Programme in 2018. 

A.80 The National Adaptation Programme and the Third Strategy for 
Climate Adaptation Reporting [See reference 161] sets out visions for the 
following sectors: 

◼ People and the Built Environment – “to promote the development of a 

healthy, equitable and resilient population, well placed to reduce the 
harmful health impacts of climate change...buildings and places (including 
built heritage) and the people who live and work in them are resilient and 
organisations in the built environment sector have an increased capacity to 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 130 Page 188



  
 

   

     
 

  
  

     
  
 

  
    

   
 

      

     
    

 
  

  
  

  
 

 
  

   
  

  
   

   

    
 

    
 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

address the risks and make the most of the opportunities of a changing 
climate.” 

◼ Infrastructure – “an infrastructure network that is resilient to today’s natural 
hazards and prepared for the future changing climate”. 

◼ Natural Environment – “the natural environment, with diverse and healthy 
ecosystems, is resilient to climate change, able to accommodate change 
and valued for the adaptation services it provides.” 

◼ Business and Industry – “UK businesses are resilient to extreme weather 
and prepared for future risks and opportunities from climate change.” 

◼ Local Government – “Local government plays a central in leading and 

supporting local places to become more resilient to a range of future risks 
and to be prepared for the opportunities from a changing climate.” 

A.81 The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 [See reference 162] and 
The Flood and Water Regulations [See reference 163] sets out measures to 
ensure that risk from all sources of flooding is managed more effectively. This 
includes: incorporating greater resilience measures into the design of new 
buildings; utilising the environment in order to reduce flooding; identifying areas 
suitable for inundation and water storage to reduce the risk of flooding 
elsewhere; rolling back development in coastal areas to avoid damage from 
flooding or coastal erosion; and creating sustainable drainage systems (SuDS). 

A.82 Understanding the risks, empowering communities, building 
resilience: The national flood and coastal erosion risk management 
strategy for England [See reference 164] This Strategy sets out the national 
framework for managing the risk of flooding and coastal erosion. It sets out the 
roles for risk management authorities and communities to help them understand 
their responsibilities. The strategic aims and objectives of the Strategy are to: 

◼ Manage the risk to people and their property. 

◼ Facilitate decision-making and action at the appropriate level – individual, 
community or local authority, river catchment, coastal cell or national. 

◼ Achieve environmental, social and economic benefits, consistent with the 
principles of sustainable development. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 131 Page 189



  
 

   

    
    

  
 

   

   
   

  

  
   

    
 

 
 

     
   

 

 

  
    

 

 
   

  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.83 The 25 Year Environment Plan sets out policy priorities with respect to: 
responding to climate change are using and managing land sustainably; and 
protecting and improving our global environment. Actions that will be taken as 
part of these two key areas are as follows: 

◼ Using and managing land sustainably: 

◼ Take action to reduce the risk of harm from flooding and coastal erosion 
including greater use of natural flood management solutions. 

◼ Protecting and improving our global environment: 

◼ Provide international leadership and lead by example in tackling climate 
change and protecting and improving international biodiversity. 

A.84 The Ten Point Plan for Green Industiral Revolution [See reference 
165] outlines the national strategy for accelerating the UK’s transition to a net 
zero carbon economy. A key theme running through the document is the 
opportunity to ‘build back better’ through investing in strategies to mitigate and 

adapt to climate change. The Government has committed to investing a total of 
£12 billion in various programmes and estimates this will leverage up to £36 
billion of private investment and create up to 250,000 new ‘green’ jobs by 2030. 

Biodiversity 

International 

A.83 International Convention on Wetlands (Ramsar Convention) (1976) is 
an international agreement with the aim of conserving and managing the use of 
wetlands and their resources. 

A.84 European Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and 
Natural Habitats (Bern Convention) (1979) aims to ensure conservation and 
protection of wild plant and animal species and their natural habitats, to 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 132 Page 190



  
 

   

 
   

   
  

  

  
   

 

 

    

   
 

  
  

 
 

   
   

 
 

        
  

 
  

  
  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

increase cooperation between contracting parties, and to regulate the 
exploitation of those species (including migratory species). 

A.85 International Convention on Biological Diversity (1992) is an 
international commitment to biodiversity conservation through national 
strategies and action plans. 

A.86 United Nations Declaration on Forests (New York Declaration) (2014) 
sets out international commitment to cut natural forest loss by 2020 and end 
loss by 2030. 

National 

A.87 A requirement of the NPPF’s environmental objective is that the planning 
system should contribute to protecting and enhancing the natural environment 
including helping to improve biodiversity, and using natural resources prudently. 
In support of this aim the framework states that Local Plans should “identify, 
map and safeguard components of local wildlife-rich habitats and wider 
ecological networks” and should also “promote the conservation, restoration 
and enhancement of priority habitats, ecological networks and the protection 
and recovery of priority species; and identify and pursue opportunities for 
securing measurable net gains for biodiversity.” 

A.88 The framework requires that plans should take a strategic approach in 
terms of “maintaining and enhancing networks of habitats and green 
infrastructure; and plan for the enhancement of natural capital at a catchment or 
landscape scale across local authority boundaries”. 

A.89 The Environment Act 2021 [See reference 166] introduces a 
requirement that all applications for the development of land will have to deliver 
a 10% biodiversity net gain above the ecological baseline for the application 
site. The Act also introduces Local Nature Recovery Strategies which will guide 
the delivery of biodiversity net gain projects. The requirements of the 
Environment Act will come into force in 2023 following a two-year transition 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 133 Page 191



  
 

   

    

   
    

    
  

 
  

   
    

   
    

 
  

 
 

  
    

 
  

 
 

    
 

  

    
   

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

period to enable local planning authorities, developers and others to prepare for 
the proposed requirement. 

A.90 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations [See 
reference 167] protect biodiversity through the conservation of natural habitats 
and species of wild fauna and flora, including birds. The Regulations lay down 
rules for the protection, management and exploitation of such habitats and 
species, including how adverse effects on such habitats and species should be 
avoided, minimised and reported. 

A.91 The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 [See 
reference 168] places a duty on public bodies to conserve biodiversity. 

A.92 England Biodiversity Strategy Climate Change Adaptation Principles 
[See reference 169] : sets out principles to guide adaptation to climate change. 
The principles are: take practical action now, maintain and increase ecological 
resilience, accommodate change, integrate action across all sectors and 
develop knowledge and plan strategically. The precautionary principle underpin 
all of these. 

A.93 Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem 
services [See reference 170] guides conservation efforts in England up to 
2020 by requiring a national halt to biodiversity loss, supporting healthy 
ecosystems and establishing ecological networks. The Strategy includes 22 
priorities which include actions for the following sectors: Agriculture, Forestry, 
Planning & Development, Water Management, Marine Management, Fisheries, 
Air Pollution and Invasive Non-Native Species. 

A.94 Biodiversity Offsetting in England Green Paper [See reference 171] 
sets out a framework for offsetting. Biodiversity offsets are conservation 
activities designed to compensate for residual losses. 

A.95 The key areas of the 25 Year Environment Plan of relevance in terms of 
the protection and promotion of biodiversity are recovering nature and 
enhancing the beauty of landscapes; securing clean, productive and biologically 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 134 Page 192



 
 

   

     
 

   
  

 

     
 

  

  
   

    

 

 

    
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

 
 

  
  

   

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

diverse seas and oceans; and protecting and improving our global environment. 
Actions that will be taken as part of these three key areas are as follows: 

◼ Develop a Nature Recovery Network to protect and restore wildlife, and 
provide opportunities to re-introduce species that have been lost from the 
countryside. 

◼ Achieve a good environmental status of the UK’s seas while allowing 

marine industries to thrive, and complete our economically coherent 
network of well-managed marine protected areas. 

◼ Provide international leadership and lead by example in tackling climate 
change and protecting and improving international biodiversity. 

◼ Support and protect international forests and sustainable agriculture. 

Heritage 

International 

A.95 United Nations (UNESCO) World Heritage Convention (1972) : 
promotes co-operation among nations to protect heritage around the world that 
is of such outstanding universal value that its conservation is important for 
current and future generations. 

A.96 European Convention for the Protection of the Architectural Heritage 
of Europe (1985): defines ‘architectural heritage’ and requires that the 

signatories maintain an inventory of it and take statutory measures to ensure its 
protection. Conservation policies are also required to be integrated into planning 
systems and other spheres of government influence as per the text of the 
convention. 

A.97 Valletta Treaty, formerly the European Convention on the Protection 
of Archaeological Heritage (1992): agreed that the conservation and 
enhancement of an archaeological heritage is one of the goals of urban and 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 135 Page 193



  
 

   

  
   

  

 

        
    

    
 

     
   

   
   

  
  

  
 

 
  

    
   

   
  

  
  

   
  

 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

regional planning policy. It is concerned in particular with the need for co-
operation between archaeologists and planners to ensure optimum 
conservation of archaeological heritage. 

National 

A.98 Of relevance to the approach of the planning system to the historic 
environment the NPPF contains an environmental objective to contribute to the 
protection and enhancement of the built and historic environment. The 
document also sets out a strategy to seek “the conservation and enjoyment of 
the historic environment, including heritage assets most at risk through neglect, 
decay and other threats.” Such a strategy is required to take into consideration 

the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and bringing them into viable use. 

A.99 It should also be considerate of the wider benefits of conserving the 
historic environment, the contribution new development can make in terms of 
character and distinctiveness and the opportunity for the historic environment to 
contribute to this character and distinctiveness. Local authorities should also 
maintain or have access to a historic environment record which is to be 
supported by up to date evidence. 

A.100 Ancient Monuments & Archaeological Areas Act 1979 [See 
reference 172] : a law passed by the UK government to protect the 
archaeological heritage of England & Wales and Scotland. Under this Act, the 
Secretary of State has a duty to compile and maintain a schedule of ancient 
monuments of national importance, in order to help preserve them. It also 
creates criminal offences for unauthorised works to, or damage of, these 
monuments. 

A.101 Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 [See 
reference 173] : An Act of Parliament that changed the laws for granting of 
planning permission for building works, with a particular focus on listed buildings 
and conservation areas. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 136 Page 194



  
 

   

   
   

 

  
    

  
   
  

 
 

 

      
  

    
  

 

 
    

   

 

 

 

    
   
  

  

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

A.102 Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 1953 [See reference 
174] : An Act of Parliament that makes provision for the compilation of a register 
of gardens and other land (parks and gardens, and battlefields). 

A.103 The Government’s Statement on the Historic Environment for 
England [See reference 175] sets out the Government’s vision for the historic 
environment. It calls for those who have the power to shape the historic 
environment to recognise its value and to manage it in an intelligent manner in 
light of the contribution that it can make to social, economic and cultural life. It 
includes reference to promoting the role of the historic environment within the 
Government’s response to climate change and the wider sustainable 

development agenda. 

A.104 The Heritage Statement [See reference 176] describes out how the 
Government will support the heritage sector and help it to protect and care for 
our heritage and historic environment, in order to maximise the economic and 
social impact of heritage and to ensure that everyone can enjoy and benefit 
from it. 

A.105 Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic Environmental Assessment, 
Historic England Advice Note 8 [See reference 177] : Sets out Historic 
England’s guidance and expectations for the consideration and appraisal of 
effects on the historic environment as part of the Sustainability 
Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment process. 

Landscape 

International 

A.106 The European Landscape Convention (2002) : promotes landscape 
protection, management and planning. The Convention is aimed at the 
protection, management and planning of all landscapes and raising awareness 
of the value of a living landscape. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 137 Page 195



  
 

   

 

   
  

    
  

  

  

    
  

 
 

    
    

   
  

 
 

 

     
   

  
    

   
  

 

    
 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

National 

A.107 The South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan will be required to 
have consideration for the conservation and enhancement of landscape 
character in the District. The NPPF includes as part of its approach to protecting 
the natural environment, recognition for the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside, and the wider benefits to be secured from natural capital. 
Importantly, great weight is to be given to conserving landscape and scenic 
beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

A.108 As part of the approach to achieving well-designed places the NPPF 
states that planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments 
“are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting.” 

A.109 National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 [See 
reference 178] : An Act of Parliament to make provision for National Parks and 
the establishment of a National Parks Commission; to confer on the Nature 
Conservancy and local authorities powers for the establishment and 
maintenance of nature reserves; to make further provision for the recording, 
creation, maintenance and improvement of public paths and for securing access 
to open country. 

A.110 Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2010 [See reference 179] : An Act 
of Parliament to make new provision for public access to the countryside. 

A.111 England National Parks and the Broads: UK Government Vision and 
Circular 2010 [See reference 180]: provides updated policy guidance on the 
English National Parks and Broads. It also sets out a vision for 2030 and the 
key outcomes the Government is seeking over the next five years to ensure 
early progress towards the vision. 

A.112 The key area in the 25 Year Environment Plan of relevance in terms of 
the conservation and enhancement of landscape character is recovering nature 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 138 Page 196



   
 

   

   
   

  

  
 

  

 

Appendix A Review of Relevant International and National Plans and 
Programmes 

and enhancing the beauty of landscapes. Actions that will be taken as part of 
this key area are as follows: 

◼ Working with AONB authorities to deliver environmental enhancements. 

◼ Identifying opportunities for environmental enhancement of all England’s 
Natural Character Areas, and monitoring indicators of landscape character 
and quality. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 139 Page 197



 

   

  

   

 

  
   

 
 

     
 

 

   

  

  
  

 

 

    
  

 

   
 

  
  

 

  

References 

References 
1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 was amended under 

the Environmental Assessments and Miscellaneous Planning (EU Exit) 
Regulations 2018. 

2 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
2004 (SI 2004/1633), as amended by The Environmental Assessments 
and Miscellaneous Planning (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2018 (SI 
2018/1232). 

3 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (last updated 31 
December 2020) Planning Practice Guidance: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-
sustainability-appraisal. 

4 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (SI 
2017/1012), as amended by The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 (SI 2019/579). 

5 Footprint Ecology (2022) Visitor Survey, Recreation Impact Assessment 
and Mitigation Requirements for the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC and the 
Dacorum Local Plan https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-
source/strategic-planning/dacorum-recreation-evidence-base-
200322.pdf?sfvrsn=fbe079e_0 

6 Explanatory Memorandum to the Environmental Assessments and 
Miscellaneous Planning (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2018 No. 
1232. 

7 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

8 Hertfordshire County Council (May 2018) Hertfordshire’s Local Transport 
Plan 2018 – 2031. Available at: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-
library/documents/about-the-council/consultations/ltp4-local-transport-
plan-4-complete.pdf 

9 Hertfordshire County Council (2020) Hertfordshire’s Rail Strategy 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 140 Page 198

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and


 

   

 

 

    
 

 

   
 

 

    

 

   

 

  

 

  

 

    
  

 

  

 

References 

library/documents/highways/transport-planning/local-transport-plan-
live/rail-strategy.pdf 

10 Hertfordshire County Council and AECOM (2019) South West 
Hertfordshire Growth and Transport Plan 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/sw-
herts-gtp-prospectus.pdf 

11 Hertfordshire County Council and AECOM (2020) South Central 
Hertfordshire Growth and Transport Plan 
https://www.knebworthparishcouncil.gov.uk/uploads/scgtp-interventions-
101219.pdf 

12 Hertfordshire County Council (2017-2021) Hertfordshire Public Health 
Service Strategy:  https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-
library/documents/public-health/health/hertfordshire-ph-strategy-2017-
21.pdf 

13 Hertfordshire County Council (2016-2021) Hertfordshire Adult Mental 
Health Strategy: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-
library/documents/about-the-council/data-and-information/adult-mental-
health-strategy.pdf 

14 Hertfordshire County Council (2013) Active Travel Strategy: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-
council/data-and-information/active-travel-strategy.pdf 

15 Hertfordshire County Council (2020) Unlocking Hertfordshire, 
Hertfordshire’s Recovery Plan, 2020: 
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/ix4hbcdw/hertfordshire-recovery-
plan-august-2020.pdf 

16 Hertfordshire County Council (2017) Perfectly Placed for Business: the 
refreshed Strategic Plan 2017 – 2030: 
https://www.lepnetwork.net/media/2108/hertfordshire-lep-sep.pdf 

17 Hertfordshire County Council (2015) Air Quality Strategy: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-
council/data-and-information/air-quality-strategy.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 141 Page 199

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the
https://www.lepnetwork.net/media/2108/hertfordshire-lep-sep.pdf
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/ix4hbcdw/hertfordshire-recovery
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media
https://www.knebworthparishcouncil.gov.uk/uploads/scgtp-interventions
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/highways/sw


 

   

 

   

 

    
  

  

   

 

  
  

 

    
 

  

   
 

 

   

  

 

  

  

References 

18 Hertfordshire County Council (2020) Sustainable Hertfordshire Strategy: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/Media-library/Documents/About-the-
council/data-and-information/Sustainable-Hertfordshire-Strategy-2020.pdf 

19 Dacorum Borough Council (November 2020) Dacorum Local Plan (2020 – 

2038) Emerging Strategy for Growth Interim SA Report. Available at: 
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-
planning/dacorum-local-plan-interim-sustainability-appraisal-report-
november-2020.pdf?sfvrsn=53bf0c9e_6 

20 LUC (October 2021) SA of the Hertsmere Draft Local Plan. Available at: 
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-
Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/10017-Draft-Local-Plan-SA-Report-
PDF-4.23-Mb.pdf 

21 St Albans City and District Council (January 2021) SA Scoping Report for 
the St Albans City and District Local Plan. Available at: 
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/St%20Albans% 
20City%20and%20District%20Council%20-
%20Sustainablity%20Appraisal%20-%20Scoping%20Jan%202021.pdf 

22 TRL Limited (June 2021) Interim SA Report for the Preferred Policy 
Options and Sites for Potential Allocation. Available at: 
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/new-local-plan 

23 ClearLead Consulting Limited (January 2021) SA Report for the Watford 
Final Draft Local Plan. Available at: 
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/198/2-sustainability-appraisal-
report 

24 United Nations Treaty Collection (2016) Paris Agreement 

25 UK Climate Projections (July 2021) 
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/pub/data/weather/uk/ukcp18/science-
reports/UKCP18-Key-results.xlsx 

26 Met Office (2012) Urban Heat Islands 
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/binaries/content/assets/mohippo/pdf/8/m/mo 
_pup_insert_health.web.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 142 Page 200

https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/binaries/content/assets/mohippo/pdf/8/m/mo
https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/pub/data/weather/uk/ukcp18/science
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/198/2-sustainability-appraisal
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/new-local-plan
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/St%20Albans
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/Media-library/Documents/About-the


 

   

 

   

 

   

  

  
  

   
 

    
 

   

    

     

 

  
 

  

    
 

  
  

References 

27 Environment Agency (2018) Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/758983/Climate_change_impacts_and_adaptation 
.pdf 

28 Department of Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (August 2021) UK 
local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 
2005-2019 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-
and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2019 

29 The Green Alliance, Renewable Energy Locator 
https://renewablelocator.green-alliance.org.uk/area/374 

30 Three Rivers District Council (2021) Annual Monitoring Report 2020-2021 
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/annual-monitoring-report 

31 UK Electricity Production (2022) Potters Bar Solar Farm 
https://electricityproduction.uk/plant/GBR0005660/ 

32 Environment Agency (2018) Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/758983/Climate_change_impacts_and_adaptation 
.pdf 

33 Hertfordshire County Council (2019 - 2029) A Strategy for the 
Management of Local Sources of Flood Risk 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-
and-planning/water/flood-risk-management/lfrms-for-hertfordshire-full-
report.pdf 

34 Office for National Statistics (2020) Population projections for local 
authorities: Table 2 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig 
ration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2 

35 Public Health England (2019) Each District within SW Hertfordshire: 
Health Profile 2019 

36 UK Chief Medical Officers (2019) UK Chief Medical Officers' Physical 
Activity Guidelines 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 143 Page 201

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://electricityproduction.uk/plant/GBR0005660
https://www.threerivers.gov.uk/egcl-page/annual-monitoring-report
https://renewablelocator.green-alliance.org.uk/area/374
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa


 

   

 

   
 

    
  

 

  

 

     

 

     
 

 

    
  

 

 

     
  

 

References 

37 Public Health England (2019) Each District within SW Hertfordshire: 
Health Profile 2019 

38 Hertfordshire Strategic Green Infrastructure Plan (Incorporating the 
GreenArc area) 2011 [online] Available at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-
and-planning/landscape/hertfordshire-strategic-gi-plan-2011.pdf 

39 South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs Assessment (2020) 
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-
Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/LHNA-Sept-2020-PDF-8.52Mb.pdf 

40 ONS (2020) Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland [online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig 
ration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandand 
walesscotlandandnorthernireland 

41 ONS (2020) Estimates of the population for the UK, England and Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland [online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig 
ration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandand 
walesscotlandandnorthernireland 

42 ONS (2020) Population of State Pension age and working age, and old 
age dependency ratios, for local authorities and regions in England 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig 
ration/populationprojections/datasets/populationofstatepensionageandwor 
kingageandoldagedependencyratiosforlocalauthoritiesandregionsinenglan 
d 

43 ONS (2015) Nearly one in five people had some form of disability in 
England and Wales [online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialca 
re/disability/articles/nearlyoneinfivepeoplehadsomeformofdisabilityinenglan 
dandwales/2015-07-
13#:~:text=In%202011%2C%20nearly%201%20in,exists%20across%20E 
ngland%20and%20Wales. 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 144 Page 202

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialca
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmig
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment


 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

  

 

    

     
 

 

    
  

 

   
 

   
 

 

    

 

References 

44 ONS (2011) 2011 Census: Household Composition [online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populatio 
nandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeystatisticsforlo 
calauthoritiesinenglandandwales/r21ewrttableks105ewladv1_tcm77-
290578.xls 

45 ONS (2020) Parents Country of Birth [online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandm 
arriages/livebirths/datasets/parentscountryofbirth 

46 ONS (2020) Births in England and Wales: 2020 [online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandm 
arriages/livebirths/bulletins/birthsummarytablesenglandandwales/2020 

47 Herts Insight: Diversity Profile for Hertfordshire [online] Available at: 
https://reports.instantatlas.com/view-
report/f589797e29b14c50a0f7cffdaa2c4420/E10000015?clear=true# 

48 ONS (2021) Local area migration indicators, UK [online] Available at: 

49 ONS (2019) Religion by Local Authority, Great Britain, 2011 to 2018 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/reli 
gion/adhocs/009830religionbylocalauthoritygreatbritain2011to2018 

50 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (2019) IoD2019 
Interactive Dashboard – Local Authority Focus [online] Available at: 
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTdjYzIyNTMtMTcxNi00YmQ2LW 
I1YzgtMTUyYzMxOWQ3NzQ2IiwidCI6ImJmMzQ2ODEwLTljN2QtNDNkZS 
1hODcyLTI0YTJlZjM5OTVhOCJ9 

51 Indices of Deprivation: 2019 and 2015 [online] Available at: 
http://dclgapps.communities.gov.uk/imd/iod_index.html# 

52 Public Health England: Three Rivers Local Authority health Profile [online] 
Available at: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health-
profiles/2019/E07000102.html?area-name=Three%20Rivers 

53 ONS (2021) Sub-regional fuel poverty data 2021 [online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/sub-regional-fuel-poverty-data-
2021 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 145 Page 203

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/sub-regional-fuel-poverty-data
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/health
http://dclgapps.communities.gov.uk/imd/iod_index.html
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTdjYzIyNTMtMTcxNi00YmQ2LW
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/reli
https://reports.instantatlas.com/view
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandm
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandm
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populatio


 

   

 

     
  

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

  

 

    
  

 

    

 

  

 

References 

54 ONS (2017) Education statistics by LA district and pupil disadvantage 
[online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-statistics-by-la-
district-and-pupil-disadvantage 

55 Hertfordshire Local Industrial Strategy (2019) 
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/f4yfed3x/hertfordshire-lis-
consultation-draft-2019.pdf 

56 Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (2017) Strategic Economic Plan 
(2017-2030) https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/o4pj0kru/strategic-
economic-plan-executive-summary-2017.pdf 

57 Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (undated) Clean Growth 
Strategy https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/kytp2les/a-strategy-for-
clean-growth-in-hertfordshire.pdf 

58 Hatch Regeneris (2019) South West Herts Economic Study Update 
(September 2019) https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning-
-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/South-West-Herts-Economic-
Study-Final-Report-Final.pdf 

59 Department of Education (2017) Hertfordshire Area Review Final Report 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/635241/Hertfordshire_Area_Review_Report_FINA 
L.pdf 

60 Hertfordshire County Council (2017) Perfectly Placed for Business: the 
refreshed Strategic Plan 2017 – 2030: 
https://www.lepnetwork.net/media/2108/hertfordshire-lep-sep.pdf 

61 ONS (2021) Earnings and Hours Worked: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earnin 
gsandworkinghours/datasets/placeofresidencebylocalauthorityashetable8 

62 South West Herts Economic Study Update (September 2019) 
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-
Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/South-West-Herts-Economic-Study-
Final-Report-Final.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 146 Page 204

https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earnin
https://www.lepnetwork.net/media/2108/hertfordshire-lep-sep.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/kytp2les/a-strategy-for
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/o4pj0kru/strategic
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/f4yfed3x/hertfordshire-lis
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-statistics-by-la


 

   

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

    

 

    

 

  

 

   
 

References 

63 Hertfordshire’s Recovery Plan – Unlocking Hertfordshire (2020) 
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/ix4hbcdw/hertfordshire-recovery-
plan-august-2020.pdf 

64 Watford Borough Council (2021) Watford Economic Growth Strategy 
2021-25 https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/695/watford-economic-
growth-strategy 

65 Dacorum Borough Council (2021) Dacorum Economic Recovery Plan 
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/documents/s30990/FINAL%20-
%20DACORUM%20RECOVERY%20PLAN%20final.pdf 

66 Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (2018-2031) 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-
council/consultations/ltp4-local-transport-plan-4-complete.pdf 

67 Sustainability Appraisal of the Hertsmere Draft Local Plan, Appendices 
(October 2021) https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--
Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/10017-Draft-Local-Plan-SA-
Report-Appendices-PDF-6.39-Mb.pdf 

68 Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (2018-2031) 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the-
council/consultations/ltp4-local-transport-plan-4-complete.pdf 

69 Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (2017) Strategic Economic Plan 
(2017-2030) https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/o4pj0kru/strategic-
economic-plan-executive-summary-2017.pdf 

70 Hatch Regeneris (2019) South West Herts Economic Study Update 
(September 2019) https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning-
-Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/South-West-Herts-Economic-
Study-Final-Report-Final.pdf 

71 Local Development Plan: Infrastructure Assessment (2013) 
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--
BuildingControl/Planning-Policy/Planning-Publications/CD12-
HertsmereInfrastructure-Assessment.pdf 

72 Three Rivers District, Local Plan Regulation 18, Interim Sustainability 
Appraisal Report Appendices (June 2021) 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 147 Page 205

https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/o4pj0kru/strategic
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-the
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/documents/s30990/FINAL%20
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/695/watford-economic
https://www.hertfordshirelep.com/media/ix4hbcdw/hertfordshire-recovery


 

   

 

 

  

  

  

 

   

   
 

 

    

  

   
 

 

   
 

 

   
 

 

   

References 

file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation-
18-interim-sa-report-appendices-june-2021%20(2).pdf 

73 Watford Final Draft Local Plan, Sustainability Appraisal Report, Appendix 
B: Baseline Data (January 2021) 
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/200/4-sustainability-appraisal-
report-appendix-b-baseline-data 

74 Sustainability Appraisal of the Hertsmere Draft Local Plan, Appendices 
(October 2021) https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--
Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/10017-Draft-Local-Plan-SA-
Report-Appendices-PDF-6.39-Mb.pdf 

75 Ibid 

76 Three Rivers District, Local Plan Regulation 18, Interim Sustainability 
Appraisal Report Appendices (June 2021) 
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation-
18-interim-sa-report-appendices-june-2021%20(2).pdf 

77 Dacorum Local Plan (2020-2038) Emerging Strategy for Growth Interim 
Sustainability Appraisal Report Appendices (November 2020) 
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-
planning/dacorum-local-plan-interim-sustainability-appraisal-report-
appendices---november-2020.pdf?sfvrsn=6abe0c9e_4 

78 Three Rivers District, Local Plan Regulation 18, Interim Sustainability 
Appraisal Report Appendices (June 2021) 
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation-
18-interim-sa-report-appendices-june-2021%20(2).pdf 

79 Hertsmere Borough Council (2022) Cycle Hire Scheme coming to 
Borehamwood https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/News/Articles/February-
2022/Cycle-hire-scheme-coming-to-Borehamwood.aspx 

80 Watford Borough Council (2021) Transforming Travel in Watford@ the 
strategy for 2021-2041 
https://www.futuretravelwatford.com/_files/ugd/b57e7b_3c4db73a8c8f466 
88555235c7dbfd28a.pdf 

81 Ibid 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 148 Page 206

https://www.futuretravelwatford.com/_files/ugd/b57e7b_3c4db73a8c8f466
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/News/Articles/February
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/200/4-sustainability-appraisal
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation


 

   

 

   

 

  

  

    

  

  
 

   

   

   
 

 

    

 

    

 

    

   

References 

82 St Albans City and District Local Plan 2020 to 2038 Sustainability 
Appraisal Scoping Report, Consultation Draft (January 2021) 
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/St%20Albans% 
20City%20and%20District%20Council%20-
%20Sustainablity%20Appraisal%20-%20Scoping%20Jan%202021.pdf 

83 Watford Final Draft Local Plan, Sustainability Appraisal Report, Appendix 
B: Baseline Data (January 2021) 
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/200/4-sustainability-appraisal-
report-appendix-b-baseline-data 

84 Dacorum Local Plan (2020-2038) Emerging Strategy for Growth Interim 
Sustainability Appraisal Report Appendices (November 2020) 
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic-
planning/dacorum-local-plan-interim-sustainability-appraisal-report-
appendices---november-2020.pdf?sfvrsn=6abe0c9e_4 

85 Noise Facts https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/microsites/building-futures/a-
sustainable-design-toolkit/technical-modules/noise/noise-facts.aspx 

86 Ibid 

87 Ibid 

88 Three Rivers District, Local Plan Regulation 18, Interim Sustainability 
Appraisal Report Appendices (June 2021) 
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation-
18-interim-sa-report-appendices-june-2021%20(2).pdf 

89 Hertfordshire County Council (2021) Local Aggregates Assessment 2021 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-
and-planning/planning/planning-in-hertfordshire/final-laa-2021-002.pdf 

90 Hertfordshire Waste Partnership (2019) Annual Report 2018/19 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-
and-planning/waste-and-recycling/hwp-annual-report-2018-19.pdf 

91 Hertfordshire Water Summit, 14 March 2013. 

92 Hertfordshire Water Study 2017, Infrastructure & Resources, Sub-
catchment Solutions (2021-2051) (March 2017) 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 149 Page 207

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment
file:///C:/Users/Miller%20B/Downloads/three-rivers-local-plan-regulation
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/microsites/building-futures/a
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/strategic
https://www.watford.gov.uk/downloads/file/200/4-sustainability-appraisal
https://www.stalbans.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/St%20Albans


 

   

 

 

  
 

   

  

    
 

   
 

   

 

   
 

 

  
 

  

   

  
 

    

 

References 

https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-
Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/Hertfordshire-Water-Study-2017-.pdf 

93 Ofwat, 2019 Price Review (2019) https://www.ofwat.gov.uk/regulated-
companies/price-review/2019-price-review/ 

94 Arcadis (2017) Hertfordshire Water Study 2017 
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-
Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/Hertfordshire-Water-Study-2017-.pdf 

95 Essex Rivers Hub (undated) River Colne 
http://essexrivershub.org.uk/index.php/pressures/river-colne-pressures 

96 Chilterns AONB (undated) Chalk Streams Project 
https://www.chilternsaonb.org/projects/chalk-streams-project.html 

97 Hertfordshire County Council (2021) Local Aggregates Assessment 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-
and-planning/planning/planning-in-hertfordshire/final-laa-2021-002.pdf 

98 Hertfordshire County Council (2020) Proposed Submission Hertfordshire 
Minerals Local Plan Available at: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-
library/documents/about-the-council/consultations/environment/a-minerals-
local-plan-proposed-submission-document.pdf 

99 The Wildlife Trusts Herts and Middlesex (2020) Hertfordshire’s State of 
Nature [online] Available at: 
https://www.hertswildlifetrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
03/Hertfordshire%27s%20State%20of%20Nature%20Report%202020_0.p 
df 

100 Ibid 

101 A Local Biodiversity Action Plan (reviewed March 2006) 
http://www.hef.org.uk/nature/biodiversity_vision/ 

102 Hertfordshire Strategic Green Infrastructure Plan (Incorporating the 
GreenArc area) 2011 [online] Available at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment-
and-planning/landscape/hertfordshire-strategic-gi-plan-2011.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 150 Page 208

https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/Hertfordshire-Water-Study-2017-.pdf
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building-Control/Planning-Policy/Local-Plan/Hertfordshire-Water-Study-2017-.pdf
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment
http://www.hef.org.uk/nature/biodiversity_vision
https://www.hertswildlifetrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/environment
https://www.chilternsaonb.org/projects/chalk-streams-project.html
http://essexrivershub.org.uk/index.php/pressures/river-colne-pressures
https://www.ofwat.gov.uk/regulated
https://www.hertsmere.gov.uk/Documents/09-Planning--Building


 

   

 

   

 

   
 

    
 

 

    
 

 

   

  
 

  

   
 

  

   

  

  
 

   
  

 

References 

103 Historic England (2021) Heritage at Risk, East of England 
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/har-2021-
registers/ee-har-register2021/ 

104 Hertfordshire Gardens Trust (2021) Hertfordshire Gardens Trust 
https://hertsgardenstrust.org.uk/ 

105 Hertfordshire County Council (date unavailable) Building Futures website 
[online] available at: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/microsites/building-
futures/a-sustainable-design-toolkit/technical-
modules/design/understanding-hertfordshires-character.aspx 

106 Chilterns Conservation Board (2019) Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty Management Plan (2019-2024) [online] Available at: 
https://www.chilternsaonb.org/uploads/files/ConservationBoard/Managem 
entPlan/Chilterns_Management_Plan_2019-2024_Full.pdf 

107 Ibid 

108 The Wildlife Trusts Herts and Middlesex (2020) Hertfordshire’s State of 
Nature [online] Available at: 
https://www.hertswildlifetrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
03/Hertfordshire%27s%20State%20of%20Nature%20Report%202020_0.p 
df 

109 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (July 2018): 
Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule Book: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-
measurement-rule-book  

110 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (January 2021) 
National Design Guide: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide 

111 The Marmot Review (2011) Fair Society, Healthy Lives: 
https://www.local.gov.uk/marmot-review-report-fair-society-healthy-lives w 

112 Select Committee on Public Service and Demographic Change (2013) 
Ready for Ageing? [online] Available at: 
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201213/ldselect/ldpublic/140/140.pd 
f 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 151 Page 209

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201213/ldselect/ldpublic/140/140.pd
https://www.local.gov.uk/marmot-review-report-fair-society-healthy-lives
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test
https://www.hertswildlifetrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020
https://www.chilternsaonb.org/uploads/files/ConservationBoard/Managem
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/microsites/building
https://hertsgardenstrust.org.uk
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/har-2021


 

   

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

  

  

   
  

 

   

 

  

 

     

 

  

 

References 

113 HM Government (2011) Laying the Foundations: A Housing Strategy for 
England: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/7532/2033676.pdf 

114 Homes England (2018) Strategic Plan 2018 to 2023: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/7532/2033676.pdf 

115 Department for Communities and Local Government (2015) Planning 
policy for traveller sites: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/457420/Final_planning_and_travellers_policy.pdf 

116 Department for Housing, Communities and Local Government (2020): 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/907647/MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf 

117 Department for Communities and Local Government (2017) Fixing our 
broken housing market: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing-
market 

118 Public Health England (2019) PHE Strategy 2020-25: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/831562/PHE_Strategy_2020-25.pdf 

119 HM Government (2010) Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our strategy for 
public health in England: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/216096/dh_127424.pdf 

120 Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (2010) Local Growth: 
Realising Every Place’s Potential: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-growth-realising-every-
places-potential-hc-7961 

121 HM Treasury (2021) Build Back Better: Our Plan for Growth: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/build-back-better-our-plan-
for-growth/build-back-better-our-plan-for-growth-html 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 152 Page 210

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/build-back-better-our-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-growth-realising-every
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fixing-our-broken-housing
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data


 

   

 

  
 

 

  
 

   
 

 

   

 

  

 

   

  

  

 

   
 

 

   
 

 

References 

122 HM Government (2020) The Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial 
Revolution 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf 

123 HM Government (2020) Agriculture Act 2020: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/21/contents/enacted/data.htm 

124 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2020) An 
Agricultural Transition Plan 2021-2024: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/954283/agricultural-transition-plan.pdf 

125 HM Treasury (2016) National Infrastructure Delivery Plan (2016-2021): 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-infrastructure-
delivery-plan-2016-to-2021 

126 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (2017): 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-building-a-
britain-fit-for-the-future 

127 HM Government (2018) The Road to Zero: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-
road-transport-road-to-zero-strategy 

128 Department for Transport (2017) Transport Investment Strategy: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/918490/Transport_investment_strategy.pdf 

129 Department for Transport (2013) Door to Door: A strategy for improving 
sustainable transport integration: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/142539/door-to-door-strategy.pdf 

130 Department for Transport (2020) Decarbonising Transport Setting the 
Challenge [online] Available at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/932122/decarbonising-transport-setting-the-
challenge.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 153 Page 211

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-building-a
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-infrastructure
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/21/contents/enacted/data.htm
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa


 

   

 

      
  

    
 

 
 

 
  

   
 

 

   
 

   

 

    

 

      
 

   
 

  

  

  
 

References 

131 These have not been summarised, since the upcoming TDP will 
supersede them to some extent: the Road to Zero strategy, Maritime 2050 
and the Clean Maritime Plan, the Aviation 2050 Green Paper and 
forthcoming net zero aviation consultation and Aviation Strategy, the 
Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy, Future of Mobility: Urban 
Strategy, the 2018 amendments to the Renewable Transport Fuel 
Obligation, Freight Carbon Review, the Rail Industry Decarbonisation 
Taskforce and the Carbon Offsetting for Transport Call for Evidence. 

132 Department for Transport (2021) Decarbonising Transport, A Better, 
Greener Britain: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/1009448/decarbonising-transport-a-better-
greener-britain.pdf 

133 HM Government (1990) Environmental Protection Act 1990: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/contents 

134 HM Government (2010) Building Regulations: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/431943/BR_PDF_AD_C_2013.pdf 

135 Department for Communities and Local Government (2014) National 
Planning Policy for Waste: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/364759/141015_National_Planning_Policy_for_Waste.pdf 

136 HM Government (2016) The Nitrate Pollution Prevention Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/en/uksi/2016/1190/made 

137 HM Government (2003) The Urban Waste Water Treatment Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/1788 

138 HM Government (2017) The Water Environment (Water Framework 
Directive) (England and Wales) Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made 

139 HM Government (2016) The Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2018/647/contents/made 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 154 Page 212

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2018/647/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/1788
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/en/uksi/2016/1190/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/43/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa


 

   

 

  
  

   

   
  

  
 

   

  

    
 

 

    

 

  
 

 

   
 

 

   

   

  
  

References 

140 HM Government (2016) The Environmental Permitting Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/1154/contents/made 

141 HM Government (2016) The Air Quality Standards Regulations: ? 

142 HM Government (2018) The Environmental Noise (England) Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/1089/made 

143 HM Government (2020) The Waste (Circular Economy) Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/904/made 

144 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2009) Safeguarding 
our Soils: A Strategy for England: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-our-soils-a-
strategy-for-england 

145 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2012) The Water 
White Paper:  
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmenvfru/374/37 
4.pdf 

146 HM Government (2012) National Policy Statement for Waste Water: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/69505/pb13709-waste-water-nps.pdf 

147 HM Government (2008) Future Water: The Government’s water strategy 
for England [online] Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/69346/pb13562-future-water-080204.pdf 

148 Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (2007) The Air Quality 
Strategy for England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/69336/pb12654-air-quality-strategy-vol1-
070712.pdf 

149 HM Government (2018) The Road to Zero: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-
road-transport-road-to-zero-strategy 

150 Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs and Department for 
Transport (2017) UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 155 Page 213

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201213/cmselect/cmenvfru/374/37
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-our-soils-a
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/904/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/1089/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/1154/contents/made


 

   

 

 

   

 

   

  

  
 

     
 

   
  

 

  

 

  

 

   

   

    
 

 

References 

concentrations: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/633270/air-quality-plan-detail.pdf 

151 Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs and Environment 
Agency (2018) Resources and waste strategy for England: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/765914/resources-waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf 

152 DEFRA, Clean Air Strategy 2019: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/770715/clean-air-strategy-2019.pdf 

153 HM Government (2008) Climate Change Act 2008: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/contents 

154 HM Government (2008) Planning and Energy Act 2008: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/21/contents 

155 HM Government (2021) The Energy Performance of Buildings 
Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/3118/contents/made 

156 HM Government (2009) The UK Renewable Energy Strategy: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/228866/7686.pdf 

157 Department of Energy & Climate Change (2012) The Energy Efficiency 
Strategy: The Energy Efficiency Opportunity in the UK: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/65602/6927-energy-efficiency-strategy--the-
energy-efficiency.pdf 

158 HM Government (2009) The UK Low Carbon Transition Plan [online]: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/228752/9780108508394.pdf 

159 HM Government (2017) UK Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017 
[online]: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/584281/uk-climate-change-risk-assess-2017.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 156 Page 214

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/3118/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/21/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa


 

   

 

   
 

 

   
 

   

 

    
 

    

  

   
   

  

  
 

 

   
 

    
  

   
 

References 

160 Climate Change Committee (2021) Independent Assessment of UK 
Climate Risk https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2021/07/Independent-Assessment-of-UK-Climate-Risk-
Advice-to-Govt-for-CCRA3-CCC.pdf 

161 HM Government (2018) The National Adaptation Programme and the 
Third Strategy for Climate Adaptation Reporting: Making the country 
resilient to a changing climate: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/727252/national-adaptation-programme-2018.pdf 

162 HM Government (2010) Flood and Water Management Act: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents 

163 HM Government (2019) The Flood and Water Regulations: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/460/contents/made#:~:text=The% 
20Flood%20and%20Water%20%28Amendments%29%20%28England%2 
0and%20Wales%29,Coastal%20Erosion%20%28Wales%29%20Order%2 
02011%20More%20items...%20 

164 HM Government (2011) Understanding the risks, empowering 
communities, building resilience: The national flood and coastal erosion 
risk management strategy for England: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/228898/9780108510366.pdf 

165 HM Government (2020) The Ten Point Plan for a Green Industrial 
Revolution 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf 

166 HM Government (2021) The Environment Act 2021: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents/enacted 

167 HM Government (2019) The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111176573 

168 HM Government (2006) Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 157 Page 215

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111176573
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/contents/enacted
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/460/contents/made#:~:text=The
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp


 

   

 

   
  

 

   
  

  

  
 

 

    

 

   

 

  
 

 

  

 

    

 

References 

169 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2008) The England 
Biodiversity Strategy Climate Change Adaptation Principles: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/69270/pb13168-ebs-ccap-081203.pdf 

170 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2011) Biodiversity 
2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem services: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/69446/pb13583-biodiversity-strategy-2020-
111111.pdf 

171 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2013) Biodiversity 
offsetting in England Green Paper: 
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/biodiversity/biodiversity_offsetting/supporting_ 
documents/20130903Biodiversity%20offsetting%20green%20paper.pdf 

172 HM Government (1979) Ancient Monuments & Archaeological Areas Act: 
https://consult.environment-
agency.gov.uk/engagement/bostonbarriertwao/results/b.21---ancient-
monuments-and-archaeological-areas-act-1979.pdf. 

173 HM Government (2002) Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) 
Act (1990): 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/pdfs/ukpga_19900009_en.pdf. 

174 HM Government (1953) Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 
1953 [online] Available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Eliz2/1-
2/49/contents 

175 HM Government (2010) The Government’s Statement on the Historic 
Environment for England 2010: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/229834/Acc_HeritageVision_Part1.pdf 

176 Department for Digital, Culture Media and Sport (2017) Heritage 
Statement 2017: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/664657/Heritage_Statement_2017__final_-
_web_version_.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 158 Page 216

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Eliz2/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/pdfs/ukpga_19900009_en.pdf
https://consult.environment
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/biodiversity/biodiversity_offsetting/supporting
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa


 

   

 

  
 

 

    
 

    
 

   

 

References 

177 Historic England (2016) Sustainability Appraisal and Strategic 
Environmental Assessment: Historic England Advice Note 8: 
https://content.historicengland.org.uk/images-
books/publications/sustainability-appraisal-and-strategic-environmental-
assessment-advice-note-8/heag036-sustainability-appraisal-strategic-
environmental-assessment.pdf/ 

178 HM Government (1949) National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 
1949: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo6/12-13-14/97 

179 HM Government (2010) Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2010: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/37/section/85 

180 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2010) English 
National Parks and the Broads UK Government Vision and Circular 2010: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa 
ds/attachment_data/file/221086/pb13387-vision-circular2010.pdf 

South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan 159 Page 217

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploa
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/37/section/85
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo6/12-13-14/97
https://content.historicengland.org.uk/images


  

 

 

   
  

 

  
 

 

 
 

 

    
  

 

 
 

 

 

  
  

  
 

Report produced by LUC 

Report produced by LUC 
Bristol  
12th Floor, Beacon Tower, Colston Street, Bristol BS1 4XE 
0117 929 1997 
bristol@landuse.co.uk 

Edinburgh  
Atholl Exchange, 6 Canning Street, Edinburgh EH3 8EG 
0131 202 1616 
edinburgh@landuse.co.uk 

Glasgow  
37 Otago Street, Glasgow G12 8JJ 
0141 334 9595 
glasgow@landuse.co.uk 

London  
250 Waterloo Road, London SE1 8RD 
020 7383 5784 
london@landuse.co.uk 

Manchester  
6th Floor, 55 King Street, Manchester M2 4LQ 
0161 537 5960 
manchester@landuse.co.uk 

landuse.co.uk 

Landscape Design / Strategic Planning & Assessment 
Development Planning / Urban Design & Masterplanning 
Environmental Impact Assessment / Landscape Planning & Assessment 
Landscape Management / Ecology / Historic Environment / GIS & Visualisation 

Page 218

https://landuse.co.uk
mailto:manchester@landuse.co.uk
mailto:london@landuse.co.uk
mailto:glasgow@landuse.co.uk
mailto:edinburgh@landuse.co.uk
mailto:bristol@landuse.co.uk


September 2019 V2 1 

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template 

Policy / service / decision  

Description of what is being impact assessed 

What are the aims of the service, proposal, project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do you 

need to reference/consider any related projects? 

Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the public, service users, partners, staff, Members, etc 

It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment,  dependent on likely level of impact 

Dacorum Borough Council, St Albans City & District Council, Hertsmere Borough Council, Watford Borough Council, Three 

Rivers District Council and Hertfordshire County Council are preparing the South West Hertfordshire Joint Strategic Plan (JSP). 

The JSP will provide a strategic planning framework for growth and infrastructure up to 2050 across the South West Hertfordshire 

area.  

There is a legal requirement to prepare a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) during the plan-making process which is 

set out in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. Therefore, the JSP must be accompanied by a SCI. This SCI 

demonstrates that these legal requirements are being met in developing the JSP. The document also seeks to positively address 

the needs of all members of the community where they are influenced by the built environment or provision of infrastructure 

signalled by this plan. 

The SCI has been prepared in conjunction with this Council. It mirrors the framework used by our own planning consultation 

document and which has been tested on a number of occasions in practice. 

The SCI sets out these Councils’ shared approach to community involvement in the preparation of the JSP. It details their 

strategy for actively engaging the community (in a meaningful and appropriate fashion). The document is designed to give a clear 

indication of the extent of the opportunities for getting involved in planning matters, the techniques which will be used, as well as 

the means to do so.  

P
age 219



September 2019 V2 2 

The SCI ensures that these authorities take account of various planning regulations (which we have to accord with), and the 

emergence of new consultation techniques/processes. It also allows us to move towards more efficient, effective and modern 

ways of working and communicating with the local community.  

The SCI establishes an inclusive approach to engagement with the community, including those with protected characteristics, 

alongside a range of other stakeholders. It is important that the authorities consult with as wide an audience as possible in an aim 

to reduce inequality and accessibility. Thus it should have a positive impact on all groups in the local community. All planning 

officers are expected to accord with the SCI in the development of the Joint Strategic Plan. This affects anyone who lives, 

studies, works, visits, or has an interest in Dacorum and the South West Hertfordshire area, such as:  

 The community (residents, businesses, voluntary and specialist groups (i.e. residents associations))  

 Those who engage in planning matters in Dacorum  

 Parish, Town and County Councils (including those within and surrounding the South West Hertfordshire area)  

 Interested developers, landowners and agents  

 Statutory consultees and various partners  

 Council staff and elected members  

The SCI affects the way the authorities will involve the community and how people can engage with the planning process in the 

South West Hertfordshire area. Improving access will provide greater opportunities to better understand, engage with and 

influence the preparation of the JSP. Through its objectives, the SCI aims to promote equality for all and a more inclusive and 

sustainable communities. 

P
age 220



September 2019 V2 3 

Evidence 

What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups? 

(include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects 

or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

South West Hertfordshire Initial Engagement Results (July 2020). 

The SCI to the JSP has been compared against our own SCI (and associated CIAs) for the Regulation 18 Local Plan, and also 

the groups we actually engaged with as part of recent consultations on this Plan. 

The Regulation 18 consultation summary report provides a basic comparison profile of respondents and methods of 

communication (and their relative success). 

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups?  If you have not consulted other people, please 

explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

As the SCI to the JSP mirrors the Council’s own SCI to the Local Plan (and which has previously been subject to the CIA process 

and consultation), no further individuals or groups have been consulted. Furthermore, the SCI to the JSP has also itself been 

subject to consultation involving a number of community groups. 

P
age 221



September 2019 V2 4 

Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others) 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 

good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, 

detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own 

understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any 

mitigation. 

 The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment. 

 Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability). 

Protected group 

Summary of impact 

What do you know?  What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service 

users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t 

and why? Feedback/complaints?  

Negative 

impact / 

outcome 

Neutral 

impact / 

outcome 

Positive 

impact / 

outcome 

Age The SCI sets out engagement activities across all age ranges, and is 
designed to reach as many sectors in the local community as 
possible, including ‘hard to reach’ groups.  
It includes consultation methods aimed at every age group that can 
be used when appropriate e.g. the use of the internet and emails 
and online consultation may make it more accessible to younger 
people, the working population and those who find it physically 
difficult to access Council offices or other deposit points. Other forms 
of communication (e.g. hard copy documents and use of local press 
notices) should also ensure that those who do not have access to 
the internet can be catered for, including the elderly. 
The SCI encourages a wide range of people to get involved in 
planning, including those who cannot go to events and/or come to 
Council offices (due to their age / disability / other factors).  
The SCI ensures improved general accessibility to information and 
better engagement with the plan-making process for the benefit of all 

☐ ☐ ☒ 

P
age 222



September 2019 V2 5 

protected groups in the community. The greater availability of 
information online may help reduce barriers to involvement for those 
with physical and mental disabilities, age related or otherwise, who 
may find it difficult to access Council information and events in 
traditional ways. 
The SCI should enable all to have an equal opportunity to both be 
involved (if they so wish) in planning and to better influence 
outcomes. Furthermore, reasonable adjustments to meet needs can 
be made where required. 

Disability (physical, 

intellectual, mental) 

Refer to CIA Guidance Notes 

and Mental Illness & 

Learning Disability Guide 

(see above) 

☐ ☐ ☒ 

Gender reassignment No material impact on this protected group. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Race and ethnicity No material impact on this protected group. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Religion or belief No material impact on this protected group. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

P
age 223



September 2019 V2 6 

Sex No material impact on this protected group. 
☐ ☒ ☐ 

Sexual orientation No material impact on this protected group. 
☐ ☒ ☐ 

Not protected 

characteristics but 

consider other 

factors, e.g. carers, 

veterans, homeless, 

low income, 

loneliness, rurality 

etc. 

The SCI encourages the use of a wide range of engagement 
methods and tools. Information will be more accessible to a variety 
of disadvantaged groups in the community, and thus more people 
can better participate / have their say in the plan-making process 
and how it affects them.  
This ensures both individuals with and without protected 
characteristics have improved opportunities to become involved in 
the process and to better influence outcomes.  

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan 

Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of 

these.  Please detail below the actions that you intend to take. 

Action taken/to be taken 

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action) 
Date 

Person 

responsible 
Action complete 

n/a Select date  ☐ 

P
age 224



September 2019 V2 7 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below. 

n/a 

Completed by (all involved in CIA) Francis Whittaker 

Date 14/06/2022 

P
age 225



September 2019 V2 8 

Signed off by (AD from different Directorate 

if being presented to CMT / Cabinet) 

Alex Robinson – Assistant Director (Planning) 

Date 14/06/2022 

Entered onto CIA database - date  

To be reviewed by (officer name)  

Review date  

 

 

P
age 226



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet  

Title of report: Provisional Financial Outturn 2021-22 

Date: 12th July 2022 

Report on behalf 

of:  

Cllr Graeme Elliot, Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Appendix A – General Fund Revenue Provisional Outturn 2021-22 

Appendix B – Housing Revenue Account Provisional Outturn 2021-22  

Appendix C  – Capital Programme  Provisional Outturn 2021-22 

Background 

papers: 

 

None. 

Glossary of 

acronyms and 

any other 

abbreviations 

used in this 

report: 

GF – General Fund 

HRA – Housing Revenue Account 

 

 

Report Author  

Fiona Jump, Head of Financial Services 

 

Fiona.Jump@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228162 (ext. 2162) 

Responsible Officer  

Nigel Howcutt,  Chief Finance Officer 

 

Nigel.Howcutt@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 22862 (ext. 2662) 

 

  

Corporate Priorities A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

 
   

  

Cabinet 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 227

Agenda Item 8

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Providing good quality affordable homes, in 

particular for those most in need 

Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service 

delivery 

Climate and ecological emergency 

Wards affected All 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1.  To provide details of the provisional financial 

outturn 2021-22 for the: 

 General Fund 

 Housing Revenue Account 

 Capital Programme 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker 

(s): 

1. That Cabinet notes the provisional financial 

outturn position for 2021-22. 

2. That Cabinet recommends to Council to approve 

the following General Fund reserve movements 

in respect of 2021-22: 

 £0.009m surplus Filming income to be 

transferred to the Dacorum Development 

Reserve, to be drawn down in 2022-23 for work 

on town centre improvements. 

 £0.216m surplus CIL admin income to be 

transferred to the Dacorum Development 

Reserve to support the costs of CIL 

administration in future years.   

 £0.565m overall General Fund surplus to be 

transferred to a new reserve- Inflationary 

Pressures- in order to meet unexpected 

inflationary pressures brought about by 

fluctuations in the current economy. 

3. That Cabinet recommends to Council to approve 

the following General Fund reserve movements 

in respect of 2022-23: 

 £0.022m draw down from the Dacorum 

Development reserve to support the cost of the 

Armed Forces event in 2022-23. 

Page 228



 £0.020m draw down from the Dacorum 

Development reserve to support the cost of the 

Queen’s Baton relay event in 2022-23. 

 £0.150m reserve draw down from the Dacorum 

Development reserve for Berkhamsted Leisure 

Centre redevelopment planning. 

4. That Cabinet recommends to Council to approve 

an HRA transfer of £0.020m to the HRA Lift 

sinking fund reserve. 

5. That Cabinet recommends to Council to approve 

the following slippage on the capital programme: 

 £2.777m to be slipped to 2022-23 in respect of 

General Fund capital schemes. 

 £0.595m to be slipped to 2022-23 in respect of 

Housing Revenue Account capital schemes. 

 

Period for post policy/project review: The Council’s financial position is reported to 

committee on an ongoing, quarterly basis. 

 

  

Page 229



 

1 Introduction:  

1.1 This report presents the provisional financial outturn position for the Council as at 31 March 

2022.  The final position for the year is subject to: 

 the finalisation of reserve movements 

 The completion of the audit of the Council’s accounts by the Council’s external auditors 

Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

1.2 The General Fund revenue account records the income and expenditure associated with 

all Council functions, except the management of the Council’s own housing stock, which is 

accounted for within the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). 

1.3 General Fund revenue outturn – across all scrutiny committee areas, General Fund 

revenue budgets are reporting a surplus of £0.565m. It is recommended that Cabinet 

recommends to Council that this surplus be transferred to a newly created Inflationary 

Pressures earmarked reserve, to help the Council meet unexpected inflationary pressures 

that may arise as a result of the current economic climate. 

1.4 The General Fund position includes a draw-down of funding from the Economic Recovery 

Reserve (ERR) to cover Covid- related pressures, an approach which was previously 

approved by Council. The ERR was specifically set up to fund pressures associated with 

Covid.  

1.5 Housing Revenue Account outturn – The HRA is reporting a balanced outturn position. 

There are various pressures and underspends within this position which are detailed in this 

report.   

1.6 General Fund Capital budgets are reporting further slippage of £2.777m and a pressure of 

£1.078m.  The slippage is the combined position across a number of different schemes.  

The pressure is driven by expenditure on the Highbarns stabilisation project and 

expenditure on Garages.  Highbarns expenditure was previously approved for revenue 

reserve funding and, following additional technical advice, will now be capitalised.  The 

Garages expenditure was approved by Cabinet in March 2022. 

1.7 HRA Capital – there is further slippage of £0.595m in the HRA capital programme and an 

underspend of £0.141m. The slippage relates predominantly to commissioned capital works 

on the Council’s housing stock.  

2 General Fund Position – all Scrutiny Committee Areas 

2.1 Appendix A provides an overview of the General Fund forecast outturn position.  

2.2 The table below provides an overview by Scrutiny area of the provisional outturn for 

controllable budgets within the General Fund. 

 Table 1- General 

Fund Provisional 

Outturn 2021-22 

Current 

Budget 

£m 

Forecast 

Outturn 

£m 

Variance 

£m % 

Finance & Resources 7.300 7.300 0 0.0% 

Strategic Planning and 

Environment 
10.950 10.884 (0.066) (0.6%) 

Housing and 

Community 
1.857 2.046 0.189 10.2% 

Page 230



Total Operating Cost 20.107 20.230 0.123 0.6% 

Core Funding (20.107) (20.795) (0.688) 3.4% 

(Surplus)/ Deficit 0 (0.565) (0.565)  

 

3 General Fund Position- Finance and Resources and Core Funding 

Table 2 – Finance and 

Resources Provisional Outturn 

2021-22 

Current Forecast     

Budget Outturn Variance 

£m £m £m % 

Resident Services 0.466  0.548  0.082  17.6% 

Place (2.239) (2.796) (0.557) 24.9% 

People and Transformation 2.862  3.148  0.286  10.0% 

Corporate and Commercial 4.805  4.962  0.157  3.3% 

Other Corporate 1.406  1.438  0.032  2.3% 

Total Operating Cost 7.300  7.300  0  0.0% 

 

3.1 Key variances against Finance and Resources service areas (greater than £0.100m) are 

outlined below. 

3.2 Place- additional income of £0.557m 

 The Council’s investment property portfolio has performed strongly during the financial 

year, leading to additional income over budgeted levels. 

3.3 People and Transformation- pressure of £0.286m 

The additional expenditure incurred within People and Transformation relates to approved 

Council’s Transformation Programme costs attributable to the HRA of £0.100m. These 

additional costs are offset by increased recharges from the HRA to the General Fund, 

shown as a favourable variance to budget against ‘Core Funding’ in Table 1 above.   

3.4 Corporate and Commercial- pressure of £0.157m 

 The pressure within Corporate and Commercial Services relates to additional costs incurred 

during the year relating to the Council’s insurance requirements, including those for the 

HRA.  These additional costs are offset by increased income from the HRA to the General 

Fund, shown as a favourable variance to budget against ‘Core Funding’ in Table 1 above. 

3.5 Core Funding- favourable variance of £0.688m 

 The Council has received additional grant funding from the Government during the financial 

year, £0.575m over budget assumptions.   In addition, the level of income recovered by the 

General Fund for services provided to the HRA has exceeded budget by £0.291m.  The 

balance of the position on corporate funding relates to lower than expected returns on the 

Council’s investments, driven by the relatively low interest rates applicable for 2021-22. 

 

 

Page 231



4 General Fund Position- Strategic Planning and Environment 

Table 3 – Strategic Planning 

and Environment General Fund 

Outturn 2021-22 

Current Forecast     

Budget Outturn Variance 

£m £m £m % 

Resident Services 10.106  10.055  (0.051) (0.5%) 

Place 0.844  0.829  (0.015) (1.8%) 

Total Operating Cost 10,950  10,884  (0.066) (0.6%) 

 

4.1 Strategic Planning and Environment budgets are reporting a relatively small favourable 
variance to budget overall. Included within this are some significant variances.  This 
includes a pressure against Waste Services £0.700m, funded via previously approved 
reserve draw- downs and a favourable variance to budget arising from gates fees on co- 
mingled recycling, £0.360m.  

 
5 General Fund Position- Housing and Community 
 

Table 4 – Housing and 

Community General Fund 

Outturn 2021-22 

Current Forecast     

Budget Outturn Variance 

£m £m £m % 

Resident Services 0.495  0.796  0.301  60.8% 

Place 0.320  0.267  (0.053) (16.6%) 

People and Transformation 1.065  1.024  (0.041) (3.8%) 

Corporate and Commercial (0.023) (0.041) (0.018) 78.3% 

Total Operating Cost 1.857  2.046  0.189  10.2% 

  

5.1 Key variances against Housing and Community service areas (greater than £0.100m) are 

outlined below. 

5.2 Resident Services- £0.301m pressure against budget 

A pressure of £0.310m has arisen against the budget for Temporary Accommodation (TA) 

income.  

This has arisen from void properties in the Council’s hostels and in properties used for TA. 

During 2021-22 it has not been possible to achieve maximum capacity on all units and 

would have been unsafe to do so due to the pandemic. In properties being used for TA, 

there were a high number of void properties due to complexity of the work required to 

ensure the properties are fit for purpose. 

The pressure is also driven by a project to convert new units into TA. This has taken longer 

than anticipated due to the extensive work that is required in converting the properties into 

suitable accommodation, including obtaining planning permission. 

The pressure is offset partly by other minor underspends within the Strategic Housing 

Service. 

6 Housing Revenue Account Position  
Page 232



6.1 The HRA is a ring-fenced account relating to the Council’s Landlord functions. A guiding 

principle of the HRA is that revenue raised from rents and service charges must be sufficient 

to fund expenditure incurred. The provisional outturn position for the HRA is shown at 

Appendix B. 

6.2 The HRA is reporting a balanced provisional outturn position for 2021-22. 

6.3 Dwelling Rents - £0.250m under achievement in income 

The void rate on dwellings is running slightly higher than the budgeted 0.8%, at 1.16%. This 

is particularly attributable to voids at sheltered schemes as a direct result of the pandemic. 

6.4 Contribution towards Expenditure - £0.520m over achievement in income 

Additional income over budget for minor capital receipts and rechargeable works has been 

achieved during the year.  

6.5 Repairs and Maintenance - £0.100m underspend against budget 

There is an underspend of £0.180m against responsive repairs, offset by a pressure of 

£0.080m on planned works. 

6.6 Supervision and Management - £0.980m pressure against budget 

  This pressure is comprised of a number of items including the following: 

 £0.180m share of the Council’s Transformation programme costs. This figure includes 

£0.100m of costs incurred by the General Fund and recovered by the HRA recharge 

process, the balance being Transformation costs incurred directly by the HRA. The 

funding of these costs from the HRA was previously approved by Council during 2021-

22.   

 £0.200m of expenditure required to ensure asbestos compliance 

 £0.240m in additional insurance costs. 

Included within the total pressure is a £0.450m technical adjustment relating to an upfront 

pension contribution made during 2020-21. This payment was budgeted for in 2020-21 but 

in agreement with external audit, is accounted for in 2021-22 against supervision and 

management costs. 

6.7 Rent, Rates and Taxes - £0.150m over budget 

This pressure has arisen due to Council Tax liability from the change in empty homes 

discount from 3 months to 1 month. This pressure was seen in 2020-21 and is continued 

into 2021-22. The budget for these costs has been adjusted for 2022-23. 

7 Housing Revenue Account- Technical and Accounting Adjustments 

7.1 In addition to the service-related variances above, technical adjustments have arisen. They 

can be balanced by a reduction in the revenue contribution to capital. 

7.2 Interest and Investment Income - £0.150m under achievement in income 

This pressure has arisen due to interest rates remaining very low following the Bank of 

England base-rate reduction in March 2020.  Income targets have been adjusted for 2022-

23 budgets. 

7.3 Interest Payable - £200k surplus  

A revised forecast outturn is reported based on an updated interest schedule and interest 

charges are lower than budgeted. 

7.4 Provision for Bad Debts - £0.600m surplus  
Page 233



Whilst tenants have needed the support of the service during a challenging year, the budget 

allocation to top up the bad debt provision has not been required in full. Arrears are down 

10% year on year and collection rates are up, therefore the bad debt provision is estimated 

to be lower than budgeted. The full projected impact of pandemic and Universal Credit on 

bad debt has not been realised to date.  

7.5  Depreciation - £2.630m over budget 

An increased depreciation charge has been seen this year to due increases in the value of 

the Council’s housing stock.  

8 Reserve movements  

 It is recommended that Cabinet recommends to Council to approve the following reserve 

movements: 

General Fund Reserve movements currently incorporated in the reported provisional outturn 2021-

22 position: 

 £0.009m surplus Filming income to be transferred to the Dacorum Development Reserve, to 

be drawn down in 2022-23 for work on town centre improvements. 

 £0.216m surplus CIL admin income to be transferred to the Dacorum Development Reserve to 

support the costs of CIL administration in future years.   

Other General Fund reserve movements: 

 £0.565m overall General Fund bottom line surplus to be transferred to a new reserve- 

Inflationary Pressures- in order to meet unexpected inflationary pressures in 2022-23 brought 

about by fluctuations in the current economy. 

 £0.022m draw down from the Dacorum Development reserve to support the cost of the Armed 

Forces event in 2022-23. 

 £0.020m draw down from the Dacorum Development reserve to support the cost of the Queen’s 

Baton relay event in 2022-23. 

 £0.150m reserve draw down from the Dacorum Development reserve for Berkhamsted Leisure 

Centre redevelopment planning. 

HRA reserve movements incorporated into the reported position: 

 £0.020m transfer from HRA revenue to the Lift sinking fund reserve. 

9 Capital Programme 

9.1  Appendix C shows the projected capital provisional outturn in detail by scheme. 

      The table below summarises the overall capital outturn position by Scrutiny committee area.  

The current budget is the original budget approved by Cabinet in February 2021, plus 

approved in year amendments.  

 The ‘rephasing’ column refers to projects where expenditure is still expected to be incurred 

but will now be in 2022/23 rather than 2021/22 (‘slippage’), or conversely, where 

expenditure planned initially for 2022/23 has been incurred in 2021/22 (‘accelerated 

spend’).   

 The ‘Variance’ column refers to projects which are expected to come in under or over 

budget and projects which are no longer required. 

 

 

 

Page 234



 Table 5- 

Capital 

Provisional 

Outturn 

2021-22 

Current Re-phasing Revised Forecast   

Budget (To)/from future years Budget Outturn Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 % 

Finance and 

Resources 
3.699 (0.584) 3.115 3.658 0.543  14.7% 

Strategic 

Planning 

and 

Environment 

2.610 (0.335) 2.275 2.437 0.163  6.2% 

Housing & 

Community 
3.639 (1.858) 1.781 2.153 0.372  10.2% 

GF Total 9.948 (2.777) 7.170 8.248 1.078  10.8% 

HRA Total 21.616 (0.595) 21.021 20.880 (0.141 ) (0.7%) 

Grand Total 31.563 (3.372) 28.191 29.128 0.937  3.0% 

 

9.2     General Fund Capital Programme Major Variances 

General Fund capital budgets are reporting further slippage of £2.777m. The slippage of 

includes the following items: 

 Line 58: Slippage of £0.222m against Rossgate Shopping Centre structural works 

relating to phase 2 of the works. 

 Line 86: Slippage of £0.330m on the Fleet Replacement programme due to delays in 

delivery of new fleet from manufacturers. 

 Line 106: Accelerated spend of £0.222m against the Berkhamsted Leisure Centre 

redevelopment. 

 Line 109: Slippage of £0.135m against car park refurbishment works 

 Line 153: Slippage of £0.273m against Disabled Facilities Grant.  Not all grant budgeted 

to be spent in 2021-22 has been allocated.  The unspent balance will be carried into 

2022-23. 

 Line 157: slippage of £0.488m against payment of capital grants to Registered 

Providers (RPs) (Affordable Housing Development Fund). Delays in RP developments 

mean that Council contributions to these developments have slipped to meet revised 

programme builds. 

 Line 159: Slippage of £0.275m against the creation of new temporary accommodation 

units. 

 Line 160- slippage of £0.824m against the creation of affordable housing move on units 

at Aragon Close. 

There is a pressure of £0.372m against General Fund capital budgets, including the 

following items: 

 Line 152: a pressure of £0.293m on garages.  This additional spend was approved by 

Cabinet in March 2022. 

 Line 202: and overspend of £0.630m on stabilisation works at Highbarns.  These works 

originally received approval for funding via revenue reserves and will now be 

capitalised. 

 

Page 235



Note that the following schemes includes expenditure funded by external grant funding or 

other external contributions, which offsets the stated pressure: 

 Line 120: Rolling programme- hardware. 

 Line 137: Adventure Playgrounds 

 Line 116: CCTV equipment refresh 

9.3 Housing Revenue Account Major Variances 

There is further slippage of £0.595m in the HRA capital programme. This includes the 

following items: 

 Line 178: Slippage of £0.281m on Planned Fixed Expenditure relating to the Asset 

Management contract.  

 Line 181: Slippage of £0.213m relating to communal gas and heating.  

 Line 182: Slippage of £1.051m relating to DBC commissioned capital works.  

 Accelerated spend of £0.614m against the Council’s new build housing programme. 

There is a minor underspend of £0.141m against the HRA capital programme.  The 

represents less than 1% of the current budget. 

10 Financial and Value for Money implications 

 Contained within the body of the report 

11 Legal Implications 

 The Council has a statutory responsibility to make arrangements for the proper administration of 

its financial affairs.  This report forms part of these arrangements. 

12 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights 

 Community Impact Assessments on Council activities are carried out by relevant services with 

responsibility for those activities. A separate Community Impact Assessment has not been carried 

out in respect of this report. 

There are no Human Rights Implications arising from this report. 

13 Sustainability implications  

 There are no specific sustainability implications arising from this report. 

14 Council infrastructure  

 The content of this report sets out the implications of the Council’s activities for its financial 

resources for 2021-22. 

15 Statutory Comments  

 Deputy Monitoring Officer 

 No comments to add to the report. 

Deputy s151 Officer 

 This is a Deputy s151 Officer report. 

16 Conclusions   

16.1 At provisional outturn 2021-22, there is a surplus of £0.565m against Council General Fund 

budgets. Housing Revenue Account budgets are reporting a balanced position. 

Page 236



16.2 It is proposed that the General Fund surplus be transferred to a newly created Inflationary 

pressures reserves to support unexpected inflationary costs that may arise in 2022-23 and 

beyond. 

16.3 At provisional outturn 2021-22, General Fund capital budgets are reporting additional 

slippage of £2.777m with a pressure of £1.078m Against Housing Revenue Account capital 

schemes, there is additional slippage of £0.595m and an underspend of £0.141m. 

 

Page 237



Dacorum Borough Council Appendix A

Provisional Outturn 2021-22

Full Year

Forecast

Budget Outturn Variance

£000 £000 £000

Cost of Services

Finance and Resources 7,300 7,300 0

Housing and Community 1,857 2,046 189

Strategic Planning and Environment 10,950 10,884 (66) 

Net Cost of Services 20,107 20,230 123

Other Items

Investment Income (425) (115) 310

Interest Payments and MRP 1,037 905 (132) 

Parish Precept Payments 1,000 1,000 0

Government Grants (1,968) (2,543) (575) 

Revenue Contribution to Capital 350 350 0

Taxation (Council Tax and Business Rates) (15,494) (15,494) 0

Surplus / Deficit on Provision of Services (15,500) (15,897) (397) 

Transfers between Reserves / Funds

Net Recharge to the HRA (4,607) (4,898) (291) 

0 (565) (565) 

abcdefgh

(Surplus)/ Deficit

P
age 238



APPENDIX B

2021-22 Provisional Outturn 

Budget
Forecast 

Outturn
£000 £000 £000 %

Income:

Dwelling Rents (55,465) (55,213) 252 -0.5%

Non-Dwelling Rents (102) (99) 3 -2.9%

Tenants Charges (1,517) (1,464) 53 -3.5%

Leaseholder Charges (593) (671) (78) 13.2%

Interest and Investment Income (192) (47) 145 -75.5%

Contribution towards Expenditure (645) (1,160) (515) 79.8%

Total Income (58,514) (58,654) (140) 0.2%

Expenditure:

Repairs & Maintenance 11,608 11,513 (95) -0.8%

Supervision & Management 13,692 14,674 982 7.2%

Rent, Rates, Taxes & Other Charges 36 185 149 413.9%

Interest Payable 11,586 11,389 (197) -1.7%

Provision for Bad Debts 975 375 (600) -61.5%

Depreciation 12,905 15,530 2,625 20.3%

HRA Democratic Recharges 341 233 (108) -31.7%

Revenue Contribution to Capital 7,371 4,735 (2,636) -35.8%

Total Expenditure 58,514 58,634 120 0.2%

Transfer to / (from) Housing Reserves 0 20 20 0.0%

HRA Deficit / (Surplus) 0.00 (0) (0) 0.0%

Housing Revenue Account Balance:

Opening Balance at 1 April 2021 (2,892) (2,892) 0 0.0%

Deficit / (Surplus) for year 0 (0) (0) 0.0%

Proposed Contributions to Reserves 0 0 0

Closing Balance at 31 March 2022 (2,892) (2,892) (0) 

Variance

Dacorum Borough Council
Housing Revenue Account

Page 239



 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-22 PROVISIONAL OUTTURN Appendix C

Scheme Original Budget
Prior Year 

Slippage

Adj's, Supps, 

Virements

Adjustments 

(Slip. C/F)

In-Year 

Adjustments
Current Budget YTD Spend

Projected 

Outturn

Forecast 

Slippage

Projected      

Over / (Under)

General Fund

Finance and Resources

Property Services

46 Strategic Acquisitions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

47 Service Lease Domestic Properties 30,000 0 0 0 0 30,000 21,882 21,882 (8,118) 0

48 Old Town Hall - Cafe Roof and stonework renewal 0 60,000 0 (60,000) (60,000) 0 0 0 0 0

49 Demolition of Civic Centre 0 0 0 0 0 0 31,395 31,395 0 31,395

50 Berkhamsted Civic Centre Staircase Renewal 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,100 1,100 0 1,100

51 Berkhamsted Civic Centre Lift Renewal 20,000 0 0 0 0 20,000 10,865 10,865 0 (9,135) 

52 Renew Mains Water Supply to Berkhamsted Civic Centre 25,000 0 0 0 0 25,000 10,251 10,251 0 (14,749) 

53 Boxmoor War Memorial Structural Improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0 500 500 500 0

54 Tring Community Centre - new play area for Children's Nursery 0 11,144 0 0 0 11,144 0 0 (11,144) 0

55 Adeyfield Community Centre Structural Improvements 17,000 0 0 (17,000) (17,000) 0 0 0 0 0

56 Boiler Replacement Programme 140,000 (71,245) 0 0 0 68,755 63,709 63,709 (5,046) 0

57 Tring Community Centre - Retaining Wall for New Play Area 20,000 0 0 0 0 20,000 0 0 (20,000) 0

58 Rossgate Shopping Centre - Structural Works 0 300,901 0 0 0 300,901 79,324 79,324 (221,577) (0) 

59 Bennettsgate Shopping Centre - External Render 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

60 100 High St (Old Town), Hemel - Window Replacement 0 14,000 0 0 0 14,000 0 0 (14,000) 0

61 Long Chaulden Roof 0 55,020 0 0 0 55,020 0 0 (55,020) 0

62 Bellgate - Walkway Renovation 0 27,000 0 (74,780) (74,780) (47,780) 7,450 7,450 55,230 0

63 Bennettsgate - Window Renewal 0 74,780 0 0 0 74,780 0 0 (74,780) 0

64 Commercial Assets - Shopping Centres 0 4,897 0 0 0 4,897 47,440 47,440 0 42,543

65 Improvement Works to Market Stores 0 20,000 0 0 0 20,000 22,477 22,477 0 2,477

66 Refurbishment of Dacre House 450,000 0 0 0 0 450,000 265,210 265,210 0 (184,790) 

67 Renew Surface Water Drains to Henry Wells Square 40,000 0 0 0 0 40,000 20,900 20,900 (19,100) 0

68 Void Commercial Property Refurbishment 70,000 0 0 0 0 70,000 86,258 86,258 0 16,258

69 Bennettsgate - Structural Concrete Improvements & Façade Renewal 90,000 0 0 (79,500) (79,500) 10,500 10,238 10,238 (262) 0

70 Bellgate - Concrete Renewal & Refurbishment 25,000 0 0 0 0 25,000 0 0 (25,000) 0

71 Village Centre  - Soffits & Facias 45,000 0 0 0 0 45,000 0 0 (45,000) 0

72 9 High Street Tring, Electrical Works 21,000 0 0 0 0 21,000 6,207 6,207 (14,793) 0

73 Broadwater Road Resurfacing 93,000 0 0 0 0 93,000 0 0 (93,000) 0

74 Gadebridge Park Roadway Improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

75 Allotment Improvement Programme 40,000 9,590 0 0 0 49,590 32,840 32,840 (16,750) 0

76 Stone Works to Charter Tower 18,000 0 0 0 0 18,000 0 0 (18,000) 0

77 Nickey Line Bridge Refurbishment 50,000 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 (50,000) 0

78 Bunkers Farm 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,739 4,739 0 4,739

1,194,000 506,087 0 (231,280) (231,280) 1,468,807 722,785 722,785 (635,860) (110,162) 

Page 1    

P
age 240



 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-22 PROVISIONAL OUTTURN Appendix C

Scheme Original Budget
Prior Year 

Slippage

Adj's, Supps, 

Virements

Adjustments 

(Slip. C/F)

In-Year 

Adjustments
Current Budget YTD Spend

Projected 

Outturn

Forecast 

Slippage

Projected      

Over / (Under)

Commercial Development

103 Dacorum Athletics Track - Resurface Track 0 117,029 (80,000) 0 (80,000) 37,029 0 0 0 (37,029) 

104 Hemel Hempstead Sports Centre - Astroturf renewal 0 280,000 0 (280,000) (280,000) 0 0 0 0 0

105 Leisure Works - Replace Pool Cover Structure (Hemel) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (720) (720) 0 (720) 

106 Berkhamsted Leisure Centre Redevelopment 0 500,000 0 77,575 77,575 577,575 799,644 799,644 222,069 0

107 Leisure Centre - Fire Door Improvements 0 0 95,000 0 95,000 95,000 107,501 107,501 0 12,501

108 Hemel Hempstead Leisure Centre - Pool Dosing Equipment 0 0 50,000 0 50,000 50,000 49,220 49,220 0 (780) 

109 Car Park Refurbishment 60,000 623,193 0 0 0 683,193 548,193 548,193 (135,000) (0) 

110 Multi Storey Car Park Berkhamsted 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,633 2,633 0 2,633

111 Water Gardens North Car Park Drainage Improvements 35,000 0 0 0 0 35,000 0 0 (35,000) 0

112 Multi Functional Devices 90,000 0 0 (90,000) (90,000) 0 0 0 0 0

113 Town Centre Access Improvements 0 391,864 215,314 (0) 215,314 607,178 570,059 570,059 0 (37,119) 

185,000 1,912,086 280,314 (292,425) (12,111) 2,084,975 2,076,530 2,076,530 52,069 (60,514) 

Digital Services

120 Rolling Programme - Hardware 75,000 0 0 0 0 75,000 117,864 117,864 0 42,864

121 Software Licences - Right of Use 40,000 29,850 0 0 0 69,850 28,901 28,901 0 (40,949) 

123 Future vision of CRM (25,000) 123,600 0 (98,600) (98,600) 0 0 0 0 0

124 Renewal of Data Centre Hardware 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

90,000 153,450 0 (98,600) (98,600) 144,850 146,765 146,765 0 1,915

Legal and Democratic Services

202 Highbarns Land Stabilisation Project 0 0 0 0 0 0 630,478 630,478 0 630,478

128 Audio-visual Improvement Works at The Forum 0 0 0 0 0 0 42,512 42,512 0 42,512

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 672,990 672,990 0 672,990

Corporate and Commercial

91 Civic Zone Regeneration Upgrade (DevCo) 0 0 0 0 0 0 38,438 38,438 0 38,438

0 0 0 0 0 0 38,438 38,438 0 38,438

Totals: Finance and Resources 1,469,000 2,571,623 280,314 (2,104,530) (341,991) 3,698,632 3,657,509 3,657,508 (583,791) 542,667

Page 2    

P
age 241



 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-22 PROVISIONAL OUTTURN Appendix C

Scheme Original Budget
Prior Year 

Slippage

Adj's, Supps, 

Virements

Adjustments 

(Slip. C/F)

In-Year 

Adjustments
Current Budget YTD Spend

Projected 

Outturn

Forecast 

Slippage

Projected      

Over / (Under)

Strategic Planning and Environment

Environmental Services

82 Wheeled Bins & Boxes for New Properties 100,000 0 0 0 0 100,000 228,040 228,040 0 128,040

83 Waste & Recycling Service Improvements 25,000 0 0 0 0 25,000 24,961 24,961 0 (39) 

84 Resurfacing Works and Building Improvement to Depot 0 60,000 0 (60,000) (60,000) 0 0 0 0 0

85 Chipperfield Common Car Park Resurfacing 200,000 0 0 (200,000) (200,000) 0 0 0 0 0

86 Fleet Replacement Programme 3,111,905 901,345 0 (1,613,250) (1,613,250) 2,400,000 2,069,610 2,069,610 (330,390) 0

3,436,905 961,345 0 (1,873,250) (1,873,250) 2,525,000 2,322,610 2,322,610 (330,390) 128,000

Development Management and Planning

142 Planning Software Replacement 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,020 8,020 0 8,020

143 3D Modelling Software for Planning 0 60,000 0 0 0 60,000 50,600 50,600 0 (9,400) 

144 Tablets for Planning 0 20,000 0 0 0 20,000 12,020 12,020 0 (7,980) 

0 80,000 0 0 0 80,000 70,640 70,640 0 (9,360) 

Strategic Planning and Regeneration

164 Urban Park/Education Centre (Durrants Lakes) 0 134,015 0 (129,015) (129,015) 5,000 0 0 (5,000) 0

165 Maylands Business Centre 0 0 0 0 0 0 44,072 44,072 0 44,072

166 The Bury - Conversion into Museum and Gallery 0 53,150 0 (53,150) (53,150) 0 0 0 0 0

0 187,165 0 (182,165) (182,165) 5,000 44,072 44,072 (5,000) 44,072

0 0 0 0 0 0 672,990 672,990 0 672,990

Totals: Strategic Planning and Environment 3,436,905 1,228,510 0 (4,110,830) (2,055,415) 2,610,000 2,437,322 2,437,322 (335,390) 162,712

Page 3    

P
age 242



 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-22 PROVISIONAL OUTTURN Appendix C

Scheme Original Budget
Prior Year 

Slippage

Adj's, Supps, 

Virements

Adjustments 

(Slip. C/F)

In-Year 

Adjustments
Current Budget YTD Spend

Projected 

Outturn

Forecast 

Slippage

Projected      

Over / (Under)

Housing and Community

Place, Communities and Enterprise 0

136 Verge Hardening Programme 350,000 (24,898) 0 (105,102) (105,102) 220,000 211,066 211,066 (8,934) 0

137 Adventure Playgrounds Improvement Programme 0 0 0 0 0 0 47,604 47,604 0 47,604

138 Capital Grants - Community Groups 20,000 3,500 0 (4,500) (4,500) 19,000 19,000 19,000 0 0

370,000 (21,398) 0 (109,602) (109,602) 239,000 277,669 277,669 (8,934) 47,604

Commercial Development

152 Garages Renewal Programme 0 0 0 0 0 0 292,545 292,545 0 292,545

0 0 0 0 0 0 292,545 292,545 0 292,545

Neighbourhood Delivery

114 Rolling Programme - CCTV Cameras 25,000 1,456 0 0 0 26,456 15,166 15,166 (11,290) 0

115 Alarm Receiving Centre 0 33,627 0 0 0 33,627 0 0 (33,627) 0

116 CCTV Equipment Refresh 110,000 (41,713) 0 0 0 68,287 155,747 155,747 55,460 32,000

135,000 (6,630) 0 0 0 128,370 170,913 170,913 10,543 32,000

Property and Place

153 Disabled Facilities Grants 741,000 202,842 0 0 0 943,842 671,008 671,008 (272,834) 0

741,000 202,842 0 0 0 943,842 671,008 671,008 (272,834) 0

Strategic Housing/ Development

157 Affordable Housing Development Fund 829,000 275,614 0 0 0 1,104,614 617,020 617,020 (487,594) 0

159 Temporary Accommodation - creation of new units 300,000 23,386 0 0 0 323,386 48,185 48,185 (275,201) 0

160 Aragon Close - Creation of Affordable Housing Move-on Units 0 0 900,000 0 900,000 900,000 75,712 75,712 (824,288) 0

1,129,000 299,000 900,000 0 900,000 2,328,000 740,917 740,917 (1,587,083) 0

Totals: Housing and Community- General Fund 2,375,000 473,814 900,000 (291,767) 790,398 3,639,212 2,153,052 2,153,051 (1,858,308) 372,148

Total General Fund 7,280,905 4,273,947 1,180,314 (2,787,322) (1,607,008) 9,947,844 8,247,883 8,247,882 (2,777,490) 1,077,528

Page 4    

P
age 243



 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021-22 PROVISIONAL OUTTURN Appendix C

Scheme Original Budget
Prior Year 

Slippage

Adj's, Supps, 

Virements

Adjustments 

(Slip. C/F)

In-Year 

Adjustments
Current Budget YTD Spend

Projected 

Outturn

Forecast 

Slippage

Projected      

Over / (Under)

Housing Revenue Account

Housing and Community

Housing Property Services

178 Planned Fixed Expenditure 4,635,000 2,242,000 0 (1,077,400) (1,077,400) 5,799,600 5,518,360 5,518,360 (281,240) 0

179 Pain/Gain Share (Planned Fixed Expenditure) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (296,919) (296,919) 0 (296,919) 

180 M&E Contracted Works (220,000) 1,320,000 0 (100,000) (100,000) 1,000,000 1,254,317 1,254,317 100,000 154,317

181 Communal Gas & Heating (1,000,000) 3,500,000 0 0 0 2,500,000 2,286,725 2,286,725 (213,275) 0

182 DBC Commissioned Capital Works 5,746,000 758,132 0 (2,035,682) (2,035,682) 4,468,450 3,417,839 3,417,839 (1,050,611) 0

183 Special Projects (47,147) 847,147 0 (750,000) (750,000) 50,000 286,979 286,979 236,979 0

9,113,853 8,667,279 0 (3,963,082) (3,963,082) 13,818,050 12,467,301 12,467,301 (1,208,147) (142,602) 

Development

187 New Build - General Expenditure 0 0 0 184,000 184,000 184,000 0 0 0 (184,000) 

188 Martindale 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,685 3,685 0 3,685

203 Stationers Place / Apsley Paper Mill 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,129 1,129 0 1,129

189 Bulbourne 823,155 117,165 0 (892,020) (892,020) 48,300 38,726 38,726 (9,574) 0

190 Coniston Road 925,145 978,087 0 (418,230) (418,230) 1,485,002 1,596,502 1,596,502 111,500 0

191 Eastwick Row 5,267,730 714,189 0 (4,835,320) (4,835,320) 1,146,599 1,159,656 1,159,656 13,057 0

192 St Margaret's Way 554,645 (18,886) 0 (217,760) (217,760) 317,999 318,843 318,843 844 0

193 Paradise Fields 3,276,000 (846,436) 0 (2,212,560) (2,212,560) 217,004 480,355 480,355 263,351 0

194 Gaddesden Row (70,985) 69,482 0 0 0 (1,503) 3,471 3,471 0 4,974

195 Randalls Ride 1,611,820 8,019 0 (1,297,840) (1,297,840) 321,999 549,954 549,954 227,955 0

196 Garage Sites - New Build Developments 4,363,935 768,185 0 (2,157,000) (2,157,000) 2,975,120 2,893,078 2,893,078 (82,042) 0

197 Wilstone 1,251,000 75,403 0 (750,260) (750,260) 576,143 666,810 666,810 90,667 0

198 Marchmont Fields 3,042,000 53,470 0 (2,971,700) (2,971,700) 123,770 172,075 172,075 48,305 0

199 Paradise Depot 1,660,000 128,548 0 (1,608,000) (1,608,000) 180,548 210,065 210,065 29,517 0

200 Cherry Bounce 245,000 265,190 0 (287,690) (287,690) 222,500 142,547 142,547 (79,953) 0

201 Stoneycroft and Great Sturgess 0 0 0 0 0 0 175,891 175,891 0 175,891

22,949,445 2,312,416 0 (17,464,380) (17,464,380) 7,797,481 8,412,786 8,412,786 613,626 1,679

Totals: Housing and Community- HRA 32,063,298 10,979,695 0 (21,427,462) (21,427,462) 21,615,531 20,880,087 20,880,087 (594,521) (140,923) 

Total General Fund and HRA 39,344,203 15,253,642 1,180,314 (24,214,784) (23,034,470) 31,563,375 29,127,969 29,127,969 (3,372,010) 936,605

Page 5    

P
age 244



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Title of report: Chief Housing Officer Post  

Date: 12 July 2022 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Andrew Williams (Leader of the Council) 

 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Nil 

Background papers: 

 

Nil 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

HTIP – Housing Transformation Improvement Programme 

HAP - Housing Action Plan  

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Claire Hamilton (Chief Executive)  

Claire.hamilton@dacorum.gov.uk   

 

  

Corporate Priorities A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for 

those most in need 

Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 

Climate and ecological emergency 

Wards affected All 

Purpose of the report: 

 

To seek approval for a Chief Housing Officer (Tier 3) post 

within the Resident Services Directorate.  

 

 

   

Cabinet 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 245

Agenda Item 9

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): That Cabinet recommends: 

1 That Council approves an additional post of Chief 

Housing Officer to be added to the establishment which 

will sit at Tier 3 within the Corporate Leadership Team 

2 That Council approves a total budget for the post of up 

to £130,000 per annum. 

Period for post policy/project review: N/A 

 

  

Page 246



 

1. Introduction/Background:  

1.1  The Housing Action Plan (HAP) for the Council’s Housing Services was developed in the 

early part of 2021 across several key areas, ranging from Customer, Operations to IT, 

functional design, partner engagement and resident engagement. This set out the 

requirements for the housing service to accommodate legal changes in the national 

pipeline, as well as recover from the impact of the Pandemic. Additionally, there has been 

a significant drive across the Council to place the customer at the centre of service delivery 

and this needed to be better reflected in the Council’s approach to the delivery of housing 

services 

1.2  The HAP was designed to improve the way the service works for, and with customers, and 

it took an approach which essentially considered, People, Process, Place and Technical 

opportunities. The Strategic Leadership Team approved the planned service improvements 

on the 4th October 2021.   

1.3  Following the themes identified in the HAP, subsequent detailed service reviews have 

identified further opportunities to improve business as usual operations, to put customers 

at the centre, to move faster on improvement opportunities and to consider whether the 

plan, albeit wide in scale, is genuinely addressing transformational opportunities that would 

deliver significant improvement in the outcomes we want to achieve for our residents.  With 

this in mind a number of interventions are underway which address: 

 Business as usual 

 Improvement and 

 Transformation 

 

1.4  A series of reviews have now been undertaken which consider an approach designed 

through Programme Management and Appreciative Inquiry to achieve a re-set of the 

Housing Service activities and delivery. 

1.5  The theme of the programme reset is around “front door to back door” with the customer at 

its absolute centre. It also focuses on a place-based setting, to ensure that our housing 

neighbourhoods provide attractive and pleasant places in which to live. This means, firstly, 

that the programme outcomes are driven around how we make life better for Dacorum 

residents.  Secondly these outcomes will be delivered more quickly, much more easily, 

digitally, where this works for residents, and through collaborative arrangements whereby 

they know and agree what outcomes will be delivered, by when, by who and how.  

1.6  The programme now has a clear narrative that is understood, it has a clear schedule of 

activities and our customers can input into its development from a customer perspective.  

1.7  As a part of latest work, the narrative has been around the three key areas mentioned above 

in order to help people begin to understand “where they are” in terms of the programme 

map. A quick and focused piece of work, for the purposes of the activity, called a Gateway 

Review, highlighted that there has been a trend which “projectised” activity which 

essentially was business as usual. Where there were genuine improvement activities and/or 

transformational opportunities, these became diluted, and the potential pace and grip 

required to gain momentum, (central to the programme approach), was not apparent. There 

is also an overall lack of project sponsorship, all of which can cause drift and a lack of 

direction. This is all, of course, resolvable, and activity is underway to reset the HAP into a 

Housing Improvement and Transformation Programme (HTIP). 

Page 247



1.8  One key strand of the newly created HTIP has focussed on staff resources and the Council 

is reviewing whether it has the right people with the rights skills working within the 

appropriate staffing structure.  

2. Findings and Proposals   

2.1  The HTIP’s early work has focused on reviewing staff resource and structures to ensure 

the Council has the appropriate leadership oversight and control of a very large housing 

stock of over 10,000 properties.  

2.2  The Council’s large housing stock is complex to manage and it is vital that that the 

leadership team has effective oversight of its operations to ensure that our customers are 

safe and  live in good quality affordable homes, within attractive neighbourhoods. 

2.3  The HTIP has quickly identified that there is a need for a greater oversight from the 

Council’s current leadership team within the Residents Service Directorate.  

2.4  It is therefore proposed that a new post of Chief Housing Officer is created at Tier 3 within 

the existing leadership team.  This post will report into the Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

within the Residents Services Directorate.  The early appointment to this role will also 

enable the post holder to continue to drive the excellent progress already achieved via the 

HTIP and can help shape future teams/structures to ensure a greater control over service 

delivery. 

2.5  The new role will be responsible for all housing services across the Resident Services 

directorate and will be accountable for the delivery of the HTIP as well as ensuring 

performance is maintained/improved in line with Council expectations.  The grade of the 

post is to be determined, but benchmarking and alignment with Council existing pay 

structures, suggest that it would attract a salary of up to £99,000 per annum.  Reporting 

lines will also be determined before advertising the role.     

2.6  The HTIP is a fast-paced delivery programme designed to bring significant change to 

Dacorum’s housing service.  As such, we will regularly review the make-up and structure 

of both the programme and service to ensure it is designed optimally.  This is likely to result 

in further recommendations and advice in future months. 

3. Options and alternatives considered 

3.1  Leaving the structure as it is, was an option that was considered.  However, this was 

dismissed as it is considered that there is not enough leadership oversight and control of 

our housing stock given its size and complexity.  The progression of the ambitious and 

necessary HTIP would also be at risk with the existing resource within the leadership team. 

3.2  Consideration was also given to adapting the recent vacant post of Assistant Director – 

Housing Operations.  This option was again dismissed on the grounds of level of leadership 

resource required to see the successful delivery of HTIP and the need to have greater 

control/oversight of the housing stock and improve service delivery on the ground.  

4. Consultation 

The Strategic Leadership Team has been consulted and fully endorses this proposal.  Finance, 

legal and HR teams have also been consulted on this proposal.  

5. Financial and value for money implications: 

The Council needs to have the correct level of leadership resource and capability in the structure 

to ensure its housing stock is safe and suitable for tenants and leaseholders.  This revised 

structure, and new Chief Housing Officer position, ensures the Council has the appropriate 

leadership oversight of its housing stock so that it can meet the Council’s corporate objective of 

providing good quality affordable homes.  

Page 248



6. Legal Implications 

There are no direct legal implications associated with this paper.  

7. Risk implications: 

7.1  A possible risk is that the Council cannot appoint to this new role. To mitigate this, we will 

ensure that a professional recruitment campaign is undertaken with the support from 

specialist recruitment consultants.    

7.2  The recommendation to create a new post is mitigating risks identified by the HTIP in that 

there is insufficient leadership resource and capability to ensure the successful delivery of 

HTIP and having greater management control/oversight of the housing stock. 

8. Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 

8.1    Additional resource in the Housing service will help to improve the service which will benefit 

all areas of the community who require assistance from the service.  

8.2  Human Rights – there are no Human Rights Implications arising from this report.   

9. Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community 

safety) 

The new post will lead on improving the health and wellbeing of our housing tenants by ensuring 

our properties and safe and are good quality affordable homes. 

10. Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 

10.1  This new post will play a leading role in making sure our health and safety obligations to 

our tenants are compliant with relevant law and guidance.  

10.2  The Human Resources team will need to appropriately grade the new role and support with 
the recruitment process so that the Council can appoint a suitably qualified/experienced 
staff member.  

 
11. Statutory Comments 
 

Monitoring Officer: 
 

The addition of a Chief Housing Officer post will provide a clear line of accountability and help to 
ensure that the Council meets all of its statutory requirements. 

 
S151 Officer:  
 
The addition of a new Chief Housing Officer Post will require additional growth to the HRA housing 
management and supervision budget of up to £130k. In 2022/23 this will need to be taken from the 
Revenue contribution to capital as the HRA has a statutory requirement to show a self financing 
budget. 
 
The impact of this role on other roles and structures in the Council will need to be carefully reviewed 

to ensure that this does not have an impact on general fund recharges and budgets, at this point 

in time this is not expected to impact on the general fund, if that changes further funding reports 

and decisions will be brought back to members.  

The further reduction of the HRA revenue contribution to capital in 22/23 reduces the HRA’s funds 
that are available to invest in future capital works. The ongoing baseline pressure this creates in 
the HRA going forward will have to be carefully assessed as part of the HRA 2023/24 budget setting 
and longer term 30 year HRA business plan.  

 
12. Conclusions:   
 

Page 249



It is absolutely critical that the Council continues to drive the excellent progress already achieved 
via the HTIP and has the right leadership capacity in the future to ensure a greater control over 
service delivery.  This new role will be fundamental to the success of this and will ensure that we 
can continue to provide good quality affordable homes to our tenants and leaseholders.  

 

 

Page 250



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Title of report: Town Centre Public Spaces Protection Order  

Date: 12th July 2022 

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Julie Banks, Portfolio Holder for Communities 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Appendix A – Consultation Responses including comments 

Appendix B – draft PSPO 

Appendix C – Current PSPO 

Appendix D – Community Impact Assessment 

Background papers:  

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

PSPO – Public Spaces Protection Order 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Richard Le-Brun, Assistant Director (Neighbourhood Delivery)   

 

Richard.Lebrun@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228355 (ext. 2355) 
 

  

Corporate Priorities A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Wards affected ALL 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1. To note the consultation results and the report  

2. To consider the PSPO to be introduced 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. That Cabinet approves the proposed Public 
Spaces Protection Order (Hemel Town Centre) 
(Dacorum Borough Council) 2022 

Period for post policy/project review: 3 years 

 

  

 

   

Cabinet 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 251

Agenda Item 10

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


1 Introduction/Background:  

 
Dacorum Borough Council is committed to improving the environment, maintaining low crime and 
improving community safety. Directly relating to this commitment are the Council’s actions to 
address anti-social behaviour and related complaints in its main urban centre. 
 
In March 2014, the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 came into force, with 
commencement of various provisions staggered.  One of the aims of the legislation is to enable 
intervention before issues become bigger problems.  
 
As a result, a PSPO was introduced in 2019 to prohibit a number of activities in the town centre, 
detailed below.  Any PSPO lasts for a maximum 3 years, leading to the need to re-consult to seek 
to renew for up to a further 3 years.   

 
2 Public Spaces Protection Orders 
 

Public Spaces Protection Orders provide a power to deal with particular nuisances, or problems, 
that directly affect an area. 
 
The ASB, Crime and Policing Act 2014, Section 59 sets out the conditions that need to be met for 
a PSPO to be made. 
 
The first condition is that: 
 
(a) Activities carried on in a public place within the authority’s area have had a detrimental effect 

on the quality of life of those in the locality, or 
 
(b) It is likely that the activities will be carried on in a public place within that area and that they will 

have such an effect. 
 

 The second condition is that the effect, or likely effect, of the activities: 
 

(a) Is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature, 
 
(b) Is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable, and 
 
(c) Justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice 
 
The only prohibitions or requirements that may be imposed are ones that are reasonable to impose 
in order: 
 
(a) To prevent the detrimental effect referred to in the first condition above 
 
(b) To reduce the detrimental effect or to reduce the risk of its continuance, occurrence or 

recurrence 
 
2.2.  Hemel Town Centre PSPO 

 
This report seeks to renew powers around the following activities: 
 

 Cycle or skateboard in the defined area  

 Spit, urinate or defecate in the defined area 
 

It also seeks to introduce a new power around: 
 

 Riding an electric scooter in the defined area 
 

2.2.1  Cycling and Skateboarding 

 Page 252



Proposed Restriction: No person shall cycle or skateboard within the area coloured 
blue on order plan 2.  
 
The consultation highlighted that cycling and skateboarding in the town centre is 
perceived to be a problem which has an impact on the enjoyment of the area.  85.2% 
of respondents supported the inclusion of the prohibition in the PSPO. This figure 
has increased from 61.9% from when the PSPO was first introduced. Specific 
comments made by respondents have highlighted problems with people being at 
risk from injury by persons cycling or skateboarding and aggressive or intimidating 
behaviour. However, respondents also commented that a blanket ban would not be 
appropriate as it may push people into more dangerous areas and respondents also 
highlighted that it is a healthy activity which should not be discouraged, especially 
in light of the climate emergency changes. 
 
It is not the intention of the PSPO to stop people cycling or skateboarding to and 
from the town centre and using this as a means of travel; however, in a 
pedestrianised area such as the town centre, there is a conflict if users are riding 
through a heavily congested area particularly if users are acting inconsiderately.  
The prohibition will not stop persons from dismounting and walking with their cycle 
or skateboard once they have arrived within the town centre.  
 
Comments from the consultation have been taken on board in terms of cycle lanes 
so opportunities to improve such access in the future will be explored. 
 
Contraventions of the proposed prohibitions may be by juveniles (aged 10-17) but 
a common sense approach is being adopted where warnings are given, parents / 
legal guardians are written to and Community Protection Warnings are used where 
appropriate. 
 
In summary, the consultation responses highlight that cycling and skateboarding is 
an issue within the town centre and it is therefore recommend for inclusion in the 
proposed PSPO. 

 
2.2.2  Spitting (including discharge of chewing gum), public defaecation or 

urination. 

 
Proposed Restriction: Not to Spit (including discharge of chewing gum), urinate or 
defecate in a public place within the area coloured blue on order plan 1. 
 
The consultation received overwhelming support for this power, with 97.53% being 
in favour, up from 83.1% previously.  
 
Specific issues raised highlighted included that chewing gum on pavements was an 
issue and this is evidenced by significant areas of newly laid paving now being 
covered with chewing gum. Respondents reported issues with standing in chewing 
gum and it getting stuck to pushchairs. 
 
There have also been reports of urinating/defaecation in public areas of the town 
centre, particularly in areas around the Full House public house.  
 
The prohibited activity will often be linked to the consumption of alcohol and 
enforcement actions will generally need to take place in the evening and therefore 
this will need to be planned appropriately taking account of available resources.  
 
Comments made included a concern around over-zealous enforcement and medical 
reasons.  These are noted, with clear guidelines for enforcement to ensure FPNs 
are issued only where confident they can be defended if challenged.  As with all 
legislation, the enforcement of a PSPO does take into account reasonable excuses, 
and therefore medical reasons (evidenced) are accepted.  

Page 253



 
In summary, however, and noting the issues with enforcement, the consultation 
responses highlight that spitting, urinating and defecating are an issue within the 
town centre and is therefore recommended for inclusion in the proposed PSPO. 
 
Over recent years the number and type of bins in the town centre area have also 
been increased to remove excuses, and further education and communication will 
take place. 
 

2.2.3  Electric Scooters 

 
Proposed Power: Unauthorised use of a privately owned Electric scooter (E scooter) 
on the public highway within the designated area. (Excluding rental scooters under 
any Council recognised trial scheme).  
 
Whilst privately owned e-scooters remain illegal to use in public spaces, they are 
widely available for purchase. Private e-scooters are currently unregulated, 
meaning they are not currently required to meet any minimum vehicle standards. 
 
The consultation highlighted that scooters in the town centre are perceived to be a 
problem which has an impact on the enjoyment of the area.  82.2% supported the 
inclusion of the prohibition in the PSPO, although there were a lot of general 
comments around the use of manual scooters by children. The specific comments 
made by respondents did highlight similar complaints related to bikes and 
skateboards around safety, but with concerns over the “silent” nature increasing the 
risk.  A total of 223 people travelling on foot were wounded by e-scooters in Britain 
last year, including 63 who were seriously hurt. That is up from 57 pedestrian 
casualties in 2020, which included 13 serious injuries1.  With increased accessibility 
to e-scooters, and resulting increased use, it is accepted that such statistics are 
likely to increase, especially where the segregation between pedestrians and riders 
is not defined. 
 
Mobility scooters did get mentioned as one aspect that should fall outside the 
prohibition, which is a sensible and agreed way forward. 

 
2.3  How will the PSPO be enforced? 

 
Failure to comply with a PSPO is an offence and can lead to a summary conviction and fine 
not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.  In February 2015, the Council agreed that a 
Fixed Penalty (FPN) of £80 could be applied to any non-compliance with a PSPO if 
appropriate, rather than a prosecution.  However, for repeat offenders or in cases where it 
is believed the issuing of a FPN would not deter future action, or the offence is deemed or 
if the offender fails to pay the FPN, a prosecution may be taken.  A person authorised by 
the Council, a Police Officer and / or a Police Community Support Officer (PCSO) if 
authorised can enforce the PSPO.   
 
In line with the normal approach taken with the Borough Wide PSPO already in place, as 
well as other matters of low level environmental issues, education and engagement will be 
the primary stance.  This involves explaining to those potentially breaching the order what 
the requirements are and how to meet them.  Persistent offenders or those who refuse to 
heed advice will lead to escalation.  
 
As is the situation at present, the use of the Third Party Enforcement company will continue 
to provide a visual presence to deter, educate and enforce the requirements of any PSPO 
put in place. This started in November 2021, with the enforcement figures being: 
 

                                                           
1 Hertfordshire could be set for E-Scooter accidents surge following new law change - HertsLive (hertfordshiremercury.co.uk) Page 254

https://www.hertfordshiremercury.co.uk/news/uk-world-news/hertfordshire-set-e-scooter-accidents-7204056


Offence Type 
Offence Type 
Count 

PSPO-Cycling or Skateboarding 
(PSPO) 280 

PSPO-Spitting (PSPO) 70 

PSPO-Urinating or Defecating 3 

 
2.4  How will the PSPO be advertised? 

 
If the Order is put in place, then information will be placed on the Council’s Website, and 
other forms of media. Signage is already erected in relevant areas and other methods as 
appropriate will be used to maximise publicity for the Order.  This will include working with 
partners to raise awareness. 

 
2.5  How long will the PSPO last? 

 
Any PSPO can last a maximum of 3 years, although it can be extended if necessary, and/or 
reviewed (and varied or discharged) during the course of its life.  In this case, the proposed 
PSPO is sought for 3 years. 
But this is not to state that the PSPO will stay in place for the full 3 years, as the intention 
is to conduct further consultations over the next year to capture what other areas of 
annoyance, nuisance and harassment that people suffer in the town centre.   

 
2.6  Will it work? 

 
The previous PSPO showed that it was an efficient and effective means to control issues 
in the Borough, streamlining the approach to them and giving clear requirements and 
enforcement action.  Therefore, it is considered that this approach does work but it will be 
kept under review to make sure it is effective. 

 
3 Options and alternatives considered 
 

In relation to the recommendation in this report, the main options include: 
 
1. Cabinet approves the Public Spaces Protection Order (Hemel Town Centre) 

(Dacorum Borough Council) 2022 (as drafted in Appendix C) 
 

This would result in all aspects of the proposed PSPO coming into force for a duration of 3 
years.  This is the preferred option and is supported by the consultations carried out as set 
out in Appendix to this report. 

 
2. Cabinet approves some aspects of the Public Spaces Protection Order (Hemel Town 

Centre) (Dacorum Borough Council) 2022 (as drafted in Appendix C) 
 

Where Cabinet does not agree with all the proposals, these can be removed or amended.  
Additionally, Cabinet can choose a shorter period for the PSPO. 

 
3. Cabinet does not approve the Public Spaces Protection Order (as drafted in 

Appendix C) 
 
By choosing this option, the Council will rely on current provisions, if any, to seek to achieve 
the same outcomes. However, this is likely to put additional strain on the Police, who have 
certain powers related to the prohibitions suggested, and unlikely to be an area they can 
resource properly.  In addition, a lot of the legislation, that may be used, allows for grey 
areas which limit enforcement prospects.  

 
4 Consultation 

Page 255



The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 and the ‘Reform of anti-social behaviour 
powers Statutory guidance for frontline professionals’ sets out the requirements for consultation 
around a PSPO. 
 
Before making a PSPO, the Council must consult with the Chief Officer of Police, and the local 
police body, which was done in relation to the proposed PSPO and support was given (see 
consultation responses).  Police are in favour of the continuation of the PSPO across all elements, 
and have been regularly using social media to promote and support the scheme.  Hemel BID were 
also consulted and in favour of its continuation. Additionally, Ward Councillors were also kept 
informed of the intent to introduce the PSPO and provided support around this. 

 

The Council must also consult whatever community representatives they think appropriate, 
including charities that the Council works with in terms of homelessness. In this case, a consultation 
took place on the Council website in March 2022, to seek maximum coverage and so that anyone 
could comment on the proposal.  Communications took place around this to advertise the 
consultation, including the use of social media.  Overall, there were 649 responses (Appendix A) 
 
Appendix B provides the feedback from the consultation.  As can be seen, there is wide support 
for all aspects of the proposed PSPO.  The results regarding support for each proposal is seen 
below: 
 

 For Against 

Spitting, Urination and Defecation 97.53% 2.47% 

Riding of bicycles and 
skateboards 

85.2% 14.8% 

Riding of manual and electric 
scooters 

82.2% 17.8% 

 
As mentioned, even though the consultation included manual scooters, the feedback from the 
consultation recognised the main issues to be that of e-scooters and therefore the approach being 
taken is to tackle this aspect.  Should evidence emerge of increased issues with manual scooters, 
then the PSPO can be amended as stated above. 

 
5 Financial and value for money implications: 

 
The enforcement shall be carried out within the Environment and Community Protection Service 
as well as the Police and the use of the Council’s current third party enforcement contractor.  The 
third party enforcement contractor works on the basis of taking a proportion of Fixed Penalty 
Notices (FPN) income successfully collected, so there is no cost to the Council.  
 
Any income from FPN will be used to offset costs associated with managing the PSPO 
requirements and issuing fixed penalty notices which will be met from existing budgets, as well as 
environmental campaigns to increase education and compliance.  To this end the scheme is based 
on cost recovery but should any income above and beyond this be received it shall be ring fenced 
to the environmental compliance team for this purpose and a review of fees carried out as it is not 
intended as an income generation tool.  

 
6 Legal Implications 

 
Chapter 2 of Part 4 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 deals with Public 
Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO).   
 
Sections 59 – 61 inclusive deal with the power to make such orders, their duration, and their 
variation and discharge.  
 
In order to make a PSPO, a local authority has to be satisfied on reasonable grounds that two 
conditions are met:  
 

Page 256



1. That— 
 
(a)     activities carried on in a public place within the authority's area have had a detrimental 
effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, or 
 
(b)     it is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place within that area and that they 
will have such an effect. 
 

And  
 
2.That the effect, or likely effect, of the activities— 
 
(a)     is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature, 
 
(b)     is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable, and 
 
(c)     justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice. 

 
A PSPO prohibits, or requires, things to be done in an area or for both – i.e. prohibit and require, 
but these must be to prevent or reduce detrimental effect in the area.  A PSPO can be limited 
to apply by time/circumstances etc but must be clear to understand what is required and/or 
prohibited.  The legislation sets out the requirements for the content of a PSPO and publication 
requirements that must be followed. 
 
Under Section 60 of the Act, a PSPO cannot have effect for longer than 3 years unless extended. 
 
Sections 62 and 63 covers aspects relating to PSPOs prohibiting the consumption of alcohol. 
 
Sections 64 and 65 deal with orders restricting public rights of way over the highway. 
 
Section 66 specifically provides an interested party (as defined in the Act) the ability to challenge 
the validity of a PSPO, or its variation, by application to the High Court.  The grounds for such a 
challenge are that the local authority did not have the power to make or vary the order or include 
certain prohibitions/requirements, or that a requirement under the relevant part of the Act was not 
complied with.   
 
There is a 6 week time limit to make such an application from the date of the order or variation.  
Pending full determination, the High Court can suspend the operation of the order, or variation. 
Upon determining the application, the Court, if it finds that the authority did not have the power to 
do what it did/required under the order, or that the interests of the applicant have been substantially 
prejudiced by a failure to comply with a requirement of the Act in relation to PSPOs, can quash or 
vary the order or any prohibitions or requirements under it. 
 
When considering any proposed PSPOs, the authority must consider any equality issues pursuant 
to its duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.   
 

7 Risk implications: 
 

The following key risks should be taken into account when agreeing the recommendations in this 
report: 
 

Risk Description  Mitigations  
RAG 

Status  

Bad publicity due to 
level of fine issued 

 Consultation has taken place to understand any 
issues that may lead to bad publicity 

 Fines are standard for PSPO as agreed by Cabinet 
 Communication in place and will be continued to 

seek compliance prior to need for fines to be 
issued 

 

Page 257



Poor payment of fines, 
therefore limited impact 

 Work has taken place with legal about streamlining 
prosecution process for non-payment including 
standardising templates 

 More emphasis put on initial messaging to those 
receiving fines about consequences, as well as 
better follow up 

 Past experience of collection of such fines shows a 
high payment rate (above 70%) and all others go 
to prosecution 

 

Lack of resources to 
take these fines 
forward 

 3rd Party on street enforcement team in place, 
working 7 days a week 

 Re-investment of fines to increase capacity if 
needed 

 

Lack of evidence to 
support follow up 
action 

 All Officers are required to provide statements to 
support offence as well as attend court 

 Use of body worn cameras by 3rd party 
enforcement officers 

 Quality assurance checks carried out by 
Management 

 Contract with 3rd party company results in payment 
only for each successfully paid fine 

 

Inconsistent approach 
to issuing, leading to 
loss of reputation 

 Operational policy in place around fixed penalty 
notices 

 Training of officers issuing tickets 
 Monthly performance checks to understand what 

has been issued by whom and why 

 

Cost of administering 
the scheme outweighs 
the benefits 

 Contract with 3rd party company results in payment 
only for each successfully paid fine 

 Systems set up to minimise cost of the scheme, 
including on line payment system 

 

3rd party officers fail to 
follow council policies 
and procedures, 
leading to loss of 
reputation 

 Clear contract in place with 3rd party 
 Monthly performance and monitoring meetings 
 Team leader conducts regular 1-2-1 meetings, 

team meetings and checks 

 

Proposal not agreed 
leading to limitations of 
action by officers 

 Offences would have to be pursued through use of 
legal notices where feasible (e.g. Community 
Protection Notices) or prosecution 

 Those FPNs already in place could still be 
enforced at the levels already set 

 

 
8 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 
 

Community Impact Assessment reviewed/carried out and annnexed*   - the use of the PSPO will 
not have a detrimental impact based on the evidence to date, but will positively impact those with 
visual and audio disabilities.   
 
Human Rights – there are no Human Rights Implications arising from this report  
 
Pursuant to section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (“the Act”), the Council, in the exercise of its 
functions, has to have ‘due regard’ to (i) eliminating discrimination, harassment, victimisation and 
any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act; (ii) advancing equality of opportunity 
between those with a relevant protected characteristic and those without; and (iii) fostering good 
relations between those who have a relevant protected characteristic and those without.  
 
The relevant protected characteristics are age, race, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy 
and maternity, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.  The duty also covers marriage and 
civil partnership, but to a limited extent. 
 

Page 258



In line with this, an initial Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) was completed but did not find that 
a full EqIA was required as no potential adverse impacts in relation to the decision for this report 
were considered likely for any of the protected groups. This was reviewed post consultation and 
no changes are required. 

 
9 Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community 

safety) 

 
The aspects seeking approval are expected to have a hugely positive impact on the Environment, 
by putting in place a proactive scheme that addresses matters evidenced within the area. 
 
By having clear requirements in place, backed up by the means of a timely penalty for non-
compliance (Fixed Penalty Notices), it allows matters that affect the environment to be addressed 
in a more efficient and effective means and hopefully leading to longer term behavioural changes. 
 
Improving the environment and reducing matters of anti-social behaviour will have a positive impact 
on helping make a difference to families, businesses and communities.     
 
The introduction of the Public Spaces Protection Order puts in place clear requirements across the 
Borough that are less bureaucratic and more efficient to enforce.   
 
If the scheme is not introduced, then it will limit the ability to enforce by the Council in these areas, 
with resources being focused on individual problems, not addressing the wider issues and limiting 
the action that is feasible to be taken   and  prevents the widening the ability for partners (e.g. 
Police) to deal with anti-social behaviour.  

 
10 Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 

 
The resourcing of such a PSPO was an area of concern highlighted in the consultation feedback.  
The main enforcement activity will be undertaken by District Enforcement, the on street contracted 
enforcement officers.  This provides the capacity to allow visible presence and effective 
enforcement. 
 
In addition, Environment & Community Protection Officers, Police and all authorised officers will be 
able to take action where an offence under the PSPO is witnessed.  These Officers are used to 
understanding and enforcing PSPOs due to the history of the Borough wide PSPO. 

 
11 Statutory Comments 
 

Deputy Monitoring Officer:  
 

Further to section 60 of the Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014, a public space 
protection order cannot be in force for more than three years unless it is extended before its 
expiry.  The requirement to undertake the necessary consultation in relation of the proposed 
extension of the Town Centre PSPO has been met and will not therefore pose a risk of legal 
challenge.  

 
Deputy S151 Officer:  

 
The financial implications of this decision are detailed at section 5 to this report.  No further 
comments to add to the content of the report. 

 
12 Conclusions:   

 
If the scheme is not introduced, then it will limit the Council’s ability to undertake enforcement action 
in these areas, with resources being focused on individual problems, which may not address the 
wider issues and which will limit the action that is feasible to be taken and prevent the widening the 
ability for partners (e.g. Police) to deal with anti-social behaviour.  
 

Page 259



Therefore, in conclusion, it is recommended that the draft PSPO in Appendix B is approved 
 

Page 260



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 

1 / 30 

 

 

 

Q1 Do you agree or disagree with the continuation of the order that a 

person should not spit, urinate of defecate within the public areas defined 

by Plan 1 (page 5)? Please note that urinating and defecating in public 

toilets within the blue area in Plan 1 (page 5) are exempt. 

Answered: 649 Skipped: 5 

 
 
 
 

Yes I agree 

 
 
 
 
 

No I don’t 

agree 

 
 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 

 
 

 

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES 

Yes I agree 97.53% 633 

No I don’t agree 2.47% 16 

 

  
TOTAL 649 

Page 261



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

 

Q2 If you do not agree, please tell us why in the box below. 

Answered: 19 Skipped: 635 

 
 
 

# RESPONSES Council Response 

1 From what publicity I've heard the enforcement of this PSPO includes other issues such as 

littering, feeding birds. Whilst these things are perhaps not all good, the council appointed 

enforcement officers are over zealous targeting children and old people without any degree of 

common sense. It is better to have the occasional issue than turn Hemel hempstead into 

something resembling a police state. 

The enforcement officers do not target children, and will issue on only 18 years and above.  They may advise 
where necessary and educate.  Performance is monitored and there are clear rights of representation should a 
person feel they have been treated unfairly.  Ultimately all have a responsibility to keep their environment tidy and 
not litter 

2 Skateboarding and cycling are not crimes. They give young people a healthy hobby away from 

bad influence. If you must do this permit skateboarding after peak times. The town centre 

needs life after dark. It’s scary when nobody is about. 

Understood but unfortunately they do cause a health and safety risk to pedestrians, with quite serious accidents 
being caused.   

3 If this is to continue, there needs to be better provision of public toilets, particularly at night Noted 

4 People weeing and pooing in the street need help, not fines. The Council will always look to see what support and help can be put in place with any such person if needed.  

5 Should concentrate on more shops and getting rid of the ‘homeless’ Noted 

6 If you're urinating or defecating in a public place to hem it would already be covered by public 

indecency. As well as exposing yourself in public. 

This would then be purely down to the Police as the Council are not authorised under this, so the PSPO aims to 
free up Police resource but still tackle the issue 

7 Are you being sly here. Are you asking questions that divert away from the main issue of the 

wardens jumping on people that accidentally drop litter. Scary the elderly when they have been 

hiding and then jumping out on people. 

The Officers are visible and will listen to any reasonable explanation.  Additionally, there are checks in place and 
means to appeal if any fine is felt to be unjustified 

8 What happens when toilets are not open. I have issues with bowels and waterworks so if I 

urgently need to go, I’m sorry but I will go, literally anywhere. With covid as an excuse we are 

not always able to use facilities even at the council offices, even in an emergency ! 

If there is a medical issue, ,this is taken into account 

9 coz its vibes Noted 

10 I do not see why spitting is an issue. Noted – most people disagree and it does have public health risks 

11 Waste of money Noted 

12 It's disgusting. Noted 

13 Public toilets in the Hemel town centre always locked for some reason taxpayers money if 

they're just sitting there not 24/7 

Noted – this will be looked at 

14 I agree with the order but exemptions should be allowed Noted – there are under “reasonable” so covers aspects such as medical conditions.  

15 Please provide disabled toilets 24 hours as the bus service is terrible & some times jave to 

wait for over an an hour or two in the mornings or light time . It's not always possible to use a 

restaurant or pub for access . 

Noted 

16 Why do you even feel the need to ask the question? Statutory Requirement 

P
age 262



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

17 There is no toilets and how many people have been find Noted – we will look to publish this to help with education 

18 Urinating & defecating yes but save the law enforcements for more serious things than gum or 

spit ( unless spitting at a person ) 

Noted 

19 Obviously all of the above are horrible but someone taken Ill may have no choice Noted – and will be taken into accoint 

P
age 263



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 

4 / 30 

 

 

 

Q3 Do you agree or disagree with the continuation of the order that a 

person should not cycle or skateboard within the public areas defined by 

Plan 2 (page 7)? 

Answered: 635 Skipped: 19 

 
 
 
 

Yes I agree 

 
 
 
 
 

No I don’t 

agree 

 
 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 

 
 

 

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES 

Yes I agree 85.20% 541 

No I don’t agree 14.80% 94 

 

  
TOTAL 635 

Page 264



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

 

Q4 If you do not agree, please tell us why in the box below. 

Answered: 88 Skipped: 566 

 
 
 

# RESPONSES Council Response 

1 This means that anyone who wants to lower their carbon footprint can no longer do so and 

there fore need to drive a deisel or petrol vehicle around the local area before they can finally 

park. The local skatepark wasn't built to an appropriate standard so a lot of the local 

community tend to use the town as a comfortable place to hangout meaning they need to use 

their boards/bike in order to get there 

Not at all – it just means that a person would need to push their bike through this area or hold their skate 
board.  It is only one distinct area and allows use to get to the town centre 

2 Cycling should be encouraged throughout Dacorum, not subject to unnecessary restrictions. Noted – it is only restricted in a set area due to being pedestrianised and a risk to safety  

3 Again over zealous enforcement without common sense. Noted 

4 Kids need to be aloud to have fun, and also if we are trying to help the planet Noted 

5 As above skateboarding and cycling are healthy and harmless hobbies. Kids need things to do 

and Hemel seems to do little for them and this encourages them into other more harmful 

behaviours 

Noted – there are parks and a skate park nearby 

6 Although I agree they should be asked to come off then or slow down it's never really been a 

big problem but to fine someone when they do not no is ridiculous, especially up Riverside end 

where I've not noticed any signs to say you cant 

Noted – there are signs at all entrances to the town centre 

7 We should be encouraging sustainable transport. Who is going to use their bike scooter or  

skateboard to get around if they can’t use it when they pass through the town? This rule 

makes sustainable transport a less convenient option and also discourages exercise. I would 

rather people skating or riding bikes around town enjoying themselves and exercising, than 

more people driving or worse just sitting at home doing nothing. 

Noted – see above 

8 The council could, as an idea, create a cycle/skateboard lane; those who utilise either form of 

transport would be able to access this route. 

Noted – but this area is pedestrianised and would be difficult to ensure safety 

9 As a skateboarder myself as long as they are being respectful and not charging into people I 

see no issues. Not only that it’s a good mode of transport and with Gadebridge skatepark a lot  

of us skate into town to get drinks ect. 

Noted – and can do that, but not use them when in the actual area 

10 No harm, anything that gets people off the pc Noted 

11 In the context of a climate emergency, the town should be doing all it can to promote cycling 

as a form of transport. With some updated infrastructure a cycling link through the town centre 

will promote access to the town. The current ban on all cycling is outdated and counter 

productive. If anti social behaviour of individuals using bicycles is a concern there is already 

other provisions within the law to deal with this. Please take the first step towards making 

Hemel town centre more welcoming to people using bicycles. 

Noted – see above 

12 Skateboarding is not a crime!! Noted – see above 

P
age 265



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

13 It's a public space cycling and sport should be encouraged especially since signage of current  

rules is missing and the people handing out fines are very selective. I get the whole being 

dangerous but if your being safe leave it be 

Noted 

14 Skateboarding and cycling is a great mode of transport and through the town is a safe area to 

ride through compared to roads. As long as people keep their distance from walkers which 

previously was common etiquette allowing this rule will be beneficial to many people. 

Noted 

15 As long at it done responsibly it should be allowed Noted 

16 people who skateboard or cycle in town will usually stay out of peoples way and are often just 

trying to get from A to B 

Noted – but the risk remains as weaving in between people 

17 This policy was created years ago before we had a skatepark as a means to deter skaters and 

BMXers from riding in town, it was a stupid rule then and still is a stupid rule. If the order is to 

stay it should be for ANY FORM OF WHEELEDD TRANSPORT including ROLLER SKATES, 

and SCOOTERS, otherwise this is classed as DISCRIMINATION AGAINST 

SKATEBOARDERS AND BIKERS. 

Noted 

18 if they have to be banned from town, there should at least be a warning system for them before 

they are fined. i dont skate or cycle, but i witnessed the aggressive way the wardens dealt with 

a skateboarder the other day and it didnt seem right. 

Noted – there are clear signs and officers will ask people to dismount 

19 They need to get somewhere just like everyone else Noted 

20 Encourages exercise Noted 

21 The area where the old market used to be is a big open space which is often not used. It 

poses an opportunity for kids to skate or ride bikes here where it is ratively safe and there are 

shops overlooking the area. There should perhaps be designated times. Marlowes and 

Riverside areas should remain skate and bike free. 

Noted 

22 If safely done it Noted 

23 I think there should be a cycling/skateboarding zone in the town centre. It just needs a 

designated and marked area. The pedestrian zine is large enough to accommodate this. 

Noted 

24 skateboarding, no. Cycling gets people from A to B. Maybe people who are doing it not just a 

means of transport then yeah 

 

25 I think cycling should be allowed as long as it is not in an antisocial manner and is at low 

speed 

Noted 

26 It's never the bike or the skateboard that's the issue but the user, most of which are don't 

cause a danger. The biggest issue I have personally faced moving through the town centre on 

something on wheels or foot is pedestrians straight up walking with the head down paying no 

heed to what is around them. 

Noted  

27 It's fun. Noted 

28 careful cycling should be allowed through the town (maybe adding cycle path). it is dangerous 

to cycle along Waterhouse Street as cars keep pulling out not looking almost hitting me. we 

also need a safe place to cross Leighton Buzzard Road 

Noted – but these are covered in the main under other legislation 

29 I think cyclists can safely share space with pedestrians given a suitable framework Noted 

P
age 266



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

30 It’s about time the council and police stepped up and actually reinforce this as kids are ridding 

and wheelieing towards us , there are No police down the town keeping a eye on things it’s s  

free for all and Dacorum should be ashamed of their own actions that have been next to 

nothing trying to stop them 

Noted – this is being enforced 

31 There is nothing wrong with skateboarding or cycling in a public space. Noted 

32 Use of cycles, in particular, allow persons with disability to access shops. The ban is direct 

discrimination. 

Noted 

33 Have a rule of no groups, individuals can use a certain route to get a to b. Rather than assume 

everyone being a nuisance 

Noted 

34 From reports I have read, those who have been issued with a penalty notice were, in the main,  

not causing any nuisance. Those causing a nuisance were, again in the main, too young to be 

issued with a penalty notice. Furthermore, the signage is explaining the no cycling etc is either 

incorrect or not presence. eg the pathway alongside the water gardens does not have any 

signage but a friend of mine was issued with a penalty notice. 

Noted – signage has been checked 

35 how do you encourage cycling and activity if you ban people doing it. What about creating 

space for them to do so. Does it apply to children? 

Noted – see above 

36 Not enough through cycle ways which need to be encouraged Noted – this will be fed back to County Highways 

37 Cycling nor skateboarding never appeared a big problem in the town centre. Noted 

38 nah coz its like walking with wheels Noted 

39 People should be encouraged to cycle and skateboard in public areas. Dangerous cycling and 

skateboarding should be questioned however, we should be encouraging people to stay fit and 

healthy and not use cars. 

Noted 

40 We should be teaching and encouraging people to live with courtesy and respect together, not 

by banning and dining people. Allow people to skate/cycle but respectfully and educate 

pedestrians to also be courteous. 

Noted 

41 Cycling and skateboarding can be reasonable activities and a navigation route should be 

provided. 

 

42 People should be free to skate or cycle where they choose Noted – unfortunately not if it causes a risk 

43 It's a free use the paths (walking or on a bike) next to will be asking mums with a pram to pay. 

So no it's still a free counter 

Noted – unlikely to get hit and cause serious injury from a pram 

44 Marlowes is 40 yards wide - wider than most roads so we can probably blame HH kids and 

their parents for not cycling nicely. The law is a blanket ban discriminating against cyclists with 

zero tolerance, not just those who cause a nuisance and could be dealt with by other laws 

(Tory policy). People under 17 are not covered. The law was provoked by HH parents and kids 

who could have laws against them anyway. I was born in Kings Langley, passed my Cycling 

Proficiency Test in 1966 before starting Grammar School and went on to win the World Cup. 

Lovely lady from the council? It was a mercenary but they call them contractors. Zero 

tolerance. 

Noted – Officers will use common sense but unfortunately must be consistent in approach 

45 Some cyclists and skateboarders are not causing a nuisance if bthey are being respectful to 

pedestrians. 

Noted – see above 

P
age 267



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

46 exercise. let ppl live Noted 

47 As well as electric scooters Noted 

48 To encourage people out of their cars, we have to make shared spaces. Including bicycles. Noted 

49 This is not enforced by the Council. Can a cycle lane be created instead? Noted – see above 

50 Because u let vehicles drive doenbherebsilly rule Noted 

51 Why do you even feel the need to ask the question? Statutorily required 

52 Because cycling is one of the green agenders and is being encouraged so why would it be 

banned when it’s in the governments net zero plan when limited speed could be unforced 

Noted – see above 

53 There is no harm if a few skaters use the ramp , but cyclist should dismantle Noted 

54  just a mode of transport. There’s little reason to stop people from doing this apart from the  

motive of “those bloody kids”, the town centre should be for everybody. Are cyclists and 

skateboarders not part of the towns community? With all this talk of inclusivity, I think more 

effort should be made to let people commune in the town centre. Not fine then for possibly 

rolling a few meters on a skateboard. 

Noted 

55 Cycle lanes should be installed Noted 

56 This is not antisocial behaviour! And often a through way to get to the skate park, the 

assumption that skateboarders or cyclists are young and oblivious as to not take care where 

they are riding is offensive, it’s a healthy activity, where people belong to a nice community. 

Skateboarding is now an Olympic sport as well as cycling, stop this outdated ordinance 

Noted – unfortunately it can cause nuisance and annoyance 

57 I see no problem with cycling or skateboarding of an evening when very few pedestrians are 

around, after all, there are many shared cycle, walkways in Hemel where walking, cycling and 

skateboarding has caused no problems. 

Noted 

58 People should be allowed to use the area for these persists but with careful consideration for  

pedestrians. Signs that it is a mixed ) shared use space with a code of conduct could help 

Understood but unfortunately this doesn’t work at the moment 

59 I think this should be amended to be prohibited during certain times e.g. between the hours of  

9am to 5.30pm Monday to Saturday. The restriction is not required when the public area is not 

busy. 

Noted – but unfortunately this is not consistent as can be busy at any time, just as it can be quiet  

60 It is a public area and for the use of all. Dangerous or otherwise inconsiderate should not be 

allowed but it is selfish to prohibit behaviour just because some people do not like it. 

Noted 

61 It seems unreasonable to allow driving but not skateboarding or cycling. Noted 

62 Children with parents should be able to cycle or skateboard taking care of people around them Noted – Officers do use common sense in this case 

63 I don't have a problem with sensible cycling/skating... Noted 

64 It's not something I feel strongly about, if they cycle or skateboard considerately Noted 

65 As long as these activities are carried out giving consideration to other people I do not think 

prohibiting these activities is useful and goes against campaign to increase this method of 

travel. 

Noted 

P
age 268



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

66 Mostly these riders are children, if not then it is a safer way for cyclists to travel as there are 

pitifully few cycling lanes anywhere 

Noted 

67 There are adequate existing laws against cycling on pavements and pedestrian areas. 

Skateboarding and other activities (roller-skating, non motorised scooters, etc) are not a 

significant anti-social activity and should not be banned. 

Noted 

68 Don’t mind Noted 

69 Toddlers on bikes maybe permitted? Noted – see above 

70 Introduce a designated cycle lane. Seems an odd thing to outlaw if you want more people to 

use bikes then cars to travel around. Re: skateboards - promote the skate park in Gadebridge 

Park more 

Noted 

71 This is unduly unfair on children Noted – see above 

72 There is nothing anti-social about skateboarding or cycling. Noted – see above 

73 This order clearly hasn’t worked. Teenagers cycle and skateboard through The Marlowes all 

weekend. So I question the sense in a rule continuing when it hasn’t worked thus far 

Noted – Enforcement started at the end of the year and feedback is that it has helped improve 
matters 

74 Are we not supposed to be promoting exercise? This heavily penalises young people also. 

Build better cycle routes if you do not want people using the safety of town 

Noted – see above 

75 Kids with parents should be allowed to use bikes, scooters or skateboards thru the town as 

long as they are not teenagers / adults 

Noted – see above 

76 I just did Noted 

77 I agree with the plan to not cycle as the plan is but surely you need to look at allowing cycling 

in special markded lanes. 

Noted 

78 As lon GB as these activities are controlled properly, people should be allowed to 

cycle/skateboard through the Water Gardens, which is so much safer than using either the 

Leighton Buzzard Road or Waterhouse Street. 

Noted 

79 It is a very large area and asking people to remember not to cycle is too much, when they can 

do this around Sacorum normally. 

Noted 

80 I STRONGLY disagree. You are assuming that all people on cycles are a nuisance, this is 

simply not the case. How do you expect to have a green policy if you ban cyclists? 

Noted – no, we are taking a consistent approach that removes a problem that is being experienced 
by pedestrians  

81 I think we should be doing all we can to encourage people, particularly young people, to be 

active, and to avoid using private cars. Cycling and skateboarding should both be encouraged 

and supported, perhaps by redesignating parts of the pedestrian area. If there is still a feeling 

that cycling and skateboarding should be restriced, might thee be a way to allow these 

activities for under 16s or 18s, but not for adults? 

Noted 

82 Not to cycle aggressively. Cycling should be encouraged though Noted 

83 It does not cover the ramp on Bridge street. Noted 

84 I think that people should be encouraged into the town centre. Marlowes is a wide Noted 

 thoroughfare, without cars, and should be big enough to accommodate cyclists and 

skateboarders alongside pedestrians. 

 

P
age 269



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

85 Can we not allow children on cycles, people going slow and carefully in quiet hours, 

skateboarders going home ... 

Noted – Officers will not patrol / actively enforce when the areas are quiet as reasonable 

86 Agree but add electric scooters Noted 

87 But it should include scooters especially electric Noted 

88 It's a large area that can accommodate pedestrians and allocated areas for cycling / boarding. Noted 

P
age 270



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 

11 / 

30 

 

 

 

Q5 Do you consider that there is also an issue with electric or manual 

scooters (excluding mobility scooters) within the public areas defined by in 

Plan 2 (page 7)? 

Answered: 618 Skipped: 36 

 
 
 
 

Yes I agree 

 
 
 
 
 

No I don’t 

agree 

 
 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 

 
 

 

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES 

Yes I agree 82.20% 508 

No I don’t agree 17.80% 110 

 

  
TOTAL 618 

Page 271



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

 

Q6 Please tell us the reasons for your answer to Question 5. 

Answered: 233 Skipped: 421 

 
 
 

# RESPONSES  

1 They are no more of an issue than mobility scooters. All scooter riders, including mobility 

scooters and bike riders should demonstrate consideration towards pedestrians 

Noted 

2 Never seen an issue Noted 

3 I'm partially sighted and I don't visit the town now because bikes scooters even for the 

disabled they are careless of people around them. 

Noted 

4 No there is no problem just a perceived problem with young people from loud voices. Noted – but some of the comments do indicate there is 

5 No there is no issue let people use whatever transport they want. Hemel town needs to 

modernise these rules 

Noted – as above 

6 I have not witnessed any such issues Noted 

7 Electric scooters are lethal. I have experienced many near-misses in the town centre. They 

cannot be heard and the ride them recklessly. 

Noted 

8 They can be dangerous in a crowded area Noted 

9 No issue Noted 

10 There's no agreed or sponsored scheme in place so its minimal impact Noted 

11 Focus of any law enforcement involving vehicles should be proportional to the risk of harm. If  

cycling infrastructure is improved scooters could use this too and reduce Hemel’s reliance on 

the car. Again, if anti social behaviour is the problem, focus on the individual and their 

behaviour using other provisions in the law. 

Noted 

12 Against the law Noted 

13 My neighbour was struck by an electric scooter. Noted 

14 Same as before Noted 

15 They are again great modes of transport and shouldn't be banned. Noted 

16 If there is a problem with skateboards and bikes it should extend to ALL forms of wheeled 

transport or preferrable none. 

Noted 

17 i have never experienced any issues, everyone has control Noted 

18 Children on scooters in town ate a constant problem. E-scooters are dangerous motorised 

transport which require no license or test to use. 

Noted 

19 Lots of kids use scooters irresponsibly & are a danger to others especially the vulnerable & 

elderly 

Noted 

P
age 272



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

20 electric ones maybe, due to their speed, but not manual ones. Noted 

21 There is no issue that I have seen with Electric scooters Noted – see other comments 

22 Electric scooters are a hazard to pedestrians, far more dangerous than manual scooters. Noted 

23 Scooters whether electric or not are a hazard in pedestrian areas, particularly to those who are 

blind or inferm and can't get out of the way in time. 

Noted 

24 I haven't noticed too much issue with e-scooters but I have had to sharply get out of the way 

of mobility scooters a number of times. They should be permitted as they are needed but 

perhaps designated lanes for them would help. 

Noted 

25 These scooters are not legal. Laws and rules are made but not enforced. Why? Noted 

26 Electric scooters are becoming an increasing menace. It should be an area for pedestrians 

only. I have seen on differing occasions many teens through to adults nearly knock over 

pedestrian 

Noted 

27 There are not many used and they could use a designated cycle zone if one is implemented. 

They are no more dangerous tha a mobility scooter. Which I use myself due to disability. 

Noted 

28 Problem is most culprits are juveniles so legislation impotent Noted 

29 No one does anything to stop it so it just gets worse Noted 

30 I do not include the mobility scooter! Noted 

31 People don’t pay attention - accident waiting to happen. Noted 

32 There are far too many people using illegal electric scooters in Hemel Hempstead causing 

danger to themselves and the public 

Noted 

33 The people who ride these have no respect, insurance , correct training so are a menace. Noted 

34 E-scooters and larger mobility scooters travelling too fast close to pedestrians and small children 

 

 

 

35 I've seen electric scooters speeding through Marlowe's unhindered many times Noted 

36 Never really notice many down there, like pervious answer, most people don't cause a danger. 

A minority may you shouldn't be tarring everyone with the same brush. 

Noted 

37 Electric scooters are becoming a problem for pedestrians. Noted 

38 I've had problems with potentially hazardous use of mobility scooters in various places but 

never actually in the centre of town - as with cycling, it should be perfectly possible to share 

that space safely 

Noted 

39 It's a pedestrian area - they have no concern for pedestrians Noted 

40 Yes and you put up signs but do Nothing Noted – enforcement is taking place 

41 You can’t allow 1 electric item & not the other. Noted 

P
age 273



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

42 Have seen a few on electric scooter can be quite dangerous seen people have few near 

misses. Dont mind the small manual scooter for young children providing parents keep an eye 

on them 

Noted 

43 Even the manual scooters are too fast through there. Noted 

44 I have come across just a few electric/manuel scooters. I have a mobility issue and in one 

instance I just stood still as a scooter was aiming for me. My husband had to intercept. It is a 

problem if you can't get out of their way quick enough. 

Noted 

45 I’ve had more problems with cyclists to be honest Noted 

46 No don't see a problem. Scooters should be permitted as well as cycling. Noted 

47 Serveral times I've experienced near-miss collisions Noted 

48 Children & young adults go wizzing around shoppers and terrorise old people Noted 

49 Supposed to be a pedestrian area Noted 

50 The odd scooter will be fine. Noted 

51 I have seen a few incidents of electric scooters travelling stvwuite high speed around busy 

areas with young children 

Noted 

52 Teenager riding scooters in the Marlowes. I don’t hear them behind me then pass close and 

fast. Teenagers on bikes are a problem too. 

Noted 

53 Not personally experienced an issue Noted 

54 Not personally seen any of these Noted 

55 They are dangerous and ridden without care Noted 

56 I am unsure as I haven't experienced any Noted 

57 no issue there Noted 

58 Use of electric scooters in public areas is illegal! Manual scooters are usually used by young 

people, and create a similar hazard to cycles when used by them. 

Noted 

59 From observation, there seems to have been a significant increase in scooter & electric 

scooter ownership. From media reports (wich may not be unbiased) there seems to be an 

association with anti social behaviour and street crime. Local authorities are having to be 

reactive in the management of the rise in scooter ownership. 

Noted 

60 Need to embrace modern technology and far better than pollution and traffic Noted 

61 Please include mobility scooters that exceed 4mph as well as ebike/scooters Noted 

62 They move faster than a pedestrian can react upon seeing them. Humdrum may not see them 

or be seen by the riders of these scooters. Collisions can lead to serious injuries. 

Noted 

63 I have not been in that area recently and don't feel qualified to answer the question Noted 

64 a bit unfair on small children on their scooters but fully agree for anyone over the age of 10 and 

especially electric scooters for teens and above. 

Noted 

P
age 274



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

65 These are the same as skateboards and bikes. Noted 

66 they are everywhere and it is a completely unlegislated matter right now, a risk for the rider and 

the general public 

Noted 

67 I have witnessed scooters being used inside shops which is dangerous Noted 

68 I've only ever seen one e-scooter in town. Noted 

69 These are often irresponsibility ridden and their speed and the random weaving in and out of 

areas where people are walking/shopping, is very disturbing and dangerous. 

Noted 

70 no coz their vibes Noted 

71 It's not the publics fault that licenses for those scooters aren't mandatory. Noted 

72 Escooter is dangerous for elderly people Noted 

73 I don't really see many of them but relating to my answer to q4 if people of all ages are encouraged to 
ride safely and with courtesy and respect I can't see an issue. Might help people to live amongst each 
other generally also 

Unfortunately not the case at present 

74 Scootering can be reasonable activities and a navigation route should be provided. Noted 

75 Electric scooters move far to fast ,it's speed that is the issue Noted 

76 Am disabled and I am terrified as have very nearly been hit by an electric scooter Noted 

77 Too many electric scooters being driven by in experience youths not caring for peoples safety Noted 

78 Not mobility but youth on scooters Noted 

79 I use mobility scooter. Full access where appropriate should be essential Noted 

80 Haven't seen any . . . YET. Noted 

81 It is purely dangerous especially when toddlers and elderlies are walking Noted 

82 Some scooters are more dangerous than a cyclist or skateboarder. Noted 

83 They're a hazard and the users are usually irresponsible. Noted 

84 They are dangerous Noted 

85 no difference between a cycle and a scooter Noted 

86 Too dangerous Noted 

87 You cant hear then coming, the speeds that some are capable of would inflict life changing 

injuries in the event of a collision, lack of regulation insurance and registration. 

Noted 

88 There is an issue as many users do not pay sufficient attention to what is going on around 

them. However, total exclusion seems hard to justify and people should be allowed to push 

them through. 

Noted 

89 haven't noticed worrying levels of nuisance Noted 

90 Shopmobility was set up to allow people who have difficulty walking access the Town Centre. 

As far as I know there is no issue or problems with scooters. 

Noted 

P
age 275



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

91 Mobility scooters are a necessity for some, electric scooters are not yet legal, micro scooters 

are a harmless toy. 

Noted 

92 My suggestion is to create a cycle lane to make the town centre safe for all users. Noted – will be fed into any future public realm works 

93 They are fast, and unlicensed, a recipe for disaster and very gangerous, especially for old 

people. 

Noted 

94 Electric scooters are silent and can "creep" up on people making them jump. Generally people 

who use these scooters are sensible but there's always the odd person who thinks they are 

above everyone else. 

Noted 

95 It is important to differentiate between adults and older young people on electric/manual 

scooters moving at pace as opposed to a under 12 on a manual scooter travelling at low spec 

accompanied by an adult. 

Noted 

96 Children aged under 8 should be allowed to use scooters. Makes the school run so much 

quicker and easier. 

Noted 

97 Yes , I often see kids on scooters around town with little consideration for those around them Noted 

98 They hold no insurance and speed through with very little thought for members of the public. Noted 

99 There has been a real increase of the use of e scooters across Hemel Hempstead. They being 

used on pavements and within Marlowe's shopping centre. They should be totally banned. If  

anyone is caught using one illegallu, they should be fined and have the e scooter confiscated 

and destroyed. 

Noted 

100 They should not be used as kids and old persons can’t hear them coming Noted 

101 How can you justify banning bicycles if you don’t ban electric scooters which can travel as fast 

if not faster? 

Noted and the reason the consultation is asking about them 

102 They are a danger to pedestrians. Especially the elderly and small children who should be able 

to walk around the area safely. 

Noted 

103 Too fast and zip through people unaware. Noted 

104 I use a mobility aid a rollater & have actually been hit by an e- scooter rider & cyclist both 

wearing headphones . Luckily I didn't get hurt but they did coming off their bike / scooter going 

too fast . 

Noted 

105 Some mobility scooters are being used at speed and antisocially Noted 

106 Don’t really see much Noted 

107 Youths on electric scooters are particularly dangerous, travelled Ng very fast and deliberately 

weaving between people walking. 

Noted 

108 Electric scooters are a far cleaner mode of transport than a car, bus, or motorbike Noted 

109 Iv personally never had this issue when in town Noted 

110 Electric scooters are illegal anyway and manual scooters are a hazard to pedestrians Noted 

111 The above are dangerous in public area’s, with disregard for other people using the area Noted 

112 If people use them responsibly then fine, if not, take them off them. Simple. Noted 

P
age 276



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

113 Dangerous as too fast Noted 

114 Some people go too fast and end up running into people Noted 

115 BOTH TYPES OF SCOOTER ARE AS DANGEROUS AS CYCLING. Noted 

116 They are illegal to use in a public environment.I see no enforcement of this law.There have 

been many near misses involving old people in particular who don’t always have the agility to  

avoid collisions 

Noted 

117 The government wants electric vehicles so what’s the problem with electric scooters surely 

better than petrol motorise bikes 

Noted – but again it is where appropriate 

118 Their use risks injury to less mobile people who cannot easily get out of the way of a speeding 

scooter. 

Noted 

119 Of course not. What’s the problem with scooters? That they allow people to travel faster than if 

they were walking? Do you also plan on stopping people running through the centre? 

Noted 

120 It could knock vulnerable people ovet Noted 

121 See previous answer Noted 

122 Far as I'm concerned scooters as much a hazard as bikes. Noted 

123 Yes I have almost been knocked over several times and the speed at which they go at is 

sometimes faster than a bike . I have seen them used in ifevghe marlowes as well . Due to the 

being easy to use and speed they are a favourite form of transport for drug dealers as well . 

Also if left dumped o. The floor hazards for disabled people 

Noted 

124 Only electric scooters are an issue die to the speed and so much harder to stop Noted 

125 As long as these devices are used sensibly there should be no problem, don't ban the use of  

something just because of the few who can not behave. 

Noted 

126 They are silent and a danger to pedestrians. Noted 

127 Electric scooters are too fast and are often driven by inconsiderate people. Manual scooters 

are not a oroblem 

Noted 

128 They are So dangerous to the elderly.I'm fact everyone.older people can suffer life changing 

injuries. 

Noted 

129 I have not come across any reason to have an issue. Would zealous enforcement officers be 

ordering children off their manual scooters? Will there be exemptions? 

Noted 

130 There are teenagers riding electric scooters through the Marlowes and pedestrians can’t hear 

them coming so anyone could get knocked down 

Noted 

131 The town centre is no place for electric scooters. People who use them in this area have a 

complete disregard for pedestrians or their safety 

Noted 

132 Danger to pedestrians Noted 

133 They are dangerous to use in pedestrianised areas, and are illegal to use in public places, so 

should be banned from being ridden. 

Noted 

P
age 277



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

134 Scooter users often on the pavement and walkways Noted 

135 Too fast for pedestrianised area. Safety comes first. Noted 

136 There are a numner of reckless scooter rivers who do not appear to have control of their 

scooters 

Noted 

137 Electric scooters in the town centre are dangerous have been hit by a scooter they are too 

quiet and illegal 

Noted 

138 You cannot hear them. You can not identify them to complain. They are quite fast and drivers 

do not consider possible movements by pedestrians. 

Noted 

139 Kids whizzing about on them are dangerous Noted 

140 Many elderly use this area and they should feel safe to do so. Noted 

141 Manual Scooters are like skate boards but have handle bars and I thought electric where illegal 

except in trial areas. 

Noted 

142 No issues. Just busybodies wanting to impose their behaviour on to others. Noted 

143 Have seen too many on electric scooters going too fast plus as far as I know still illegal Noted 

144 I haven’t had any issues Noted 

145 Riders are often going too quickly and are not fully in control Noted 

146 Having had an electric scooter driven directly at me by teenagers, although not in the town 

centre, greater need for law enforcement is needed. 

Noted 

147 They are a danger to people with mobility problems and the elderly Noted 

148 They go all over the place and you don’t know they are coming up behind you as have no bell Noted 

149 Mobility scooters are no problem but electric scooters that people stand on need to be on the  
 road . If in a place where they are not able to use the road I think they should walk through 

those areas and push the scooter. 

Noted 

150 Electric scooters should be banned but mobility and childre with parents should be able to use 

their scooters 

Noted 

151 They tend to be moving fast, silent and can be below one's sight-lines Noted 

152 I have no personal experience of this issue. Noted 

153 there are too many electric scooters in use in Hemel Hempstead, the police are never to be 

seen, when this happens 

Noted 

154 they go to fast to be used in pedestrian areas Noted 

155 These scoooters suddenly come up behind people, weave in & out of walkers & generally 

present as a danger 

Noted 

156 I don’t know why you have included mobility scooters in this. They are definitely not the same 

issue as manual or electric scooters. 

Noted 

157 These vehicles are silent and fast, I worry asbout bag snatchers or being knocked over Noted 

P
age 278



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

158 The use of them is disgraceful and extremely dangerous. Drug dealers are using them Noted 

159 I find e scooters go too fast and know someone who was knocked down by one on a pavement 

in London 

Noted 

160 They are dangerous to pedestrians , due to their speed and weaving through said pedestrians Noted 

161 Again I do not think there is an issue with there use , the issue is how they are used. Many 

people would use these scooters sensibly and responsibly . It seems draconian to ban all use 

to stop the minority of inconsiderate users. 

Noted 

162 I've never seen anyone using scooters in the town centre Noted 

163 They are used everywhere now and the law is usually ignored mainly because there is no 

police presence and the offenders know that pcsos are powerless and generally regarded as a 

joke 

Noted 

164 some users of mobility scooters do not take enough care and consideration to others too Noted 

165 The users often act as though they are entitled to priority and are aggressive towards 

pedestrians. 

Noted 

166 I do not know Noted 

167 I have nearly been knocked down by scooters on many occasions. Have reported to police Noted 

168 Going too fast and out of control a danger to pedestrians Noted 

169 I’ve never seen any Noted 

170 If cycles and skateboards are being included, so to should electric scooters. Noted 

171 There are existing laws prohibiting use of motorised scooters on public land. Manual scooters 

should not be banned as I don't believe their use is typically anti-social. 

Noted and taken on board 

172 Users (usually youths) ride them with no care for pedestrians Noted 

173 Mobility scooter riders feel they have right of way, and are often not looking out for pedestrians 

at all, they show no consideration and are often travelling too fast 

Noted 

174 Unruly children Noted 

175 They are dangerous to pedestrians Noted 

176 Butts end back alley way they zoom down and also the fields between Gadebridge and 

warners end no respect for anyone 

Noted 

177 I dont see many about Noted 

178 not controlled, problems for vulnerable pedestrian people not considered. Noted 

179 - Blank 

180 I haven’t seen any along Marlowes Noted 

181 Any transport that isn't cars should be fully embraced. There are so many anti social cars and 

drivers on the roads 

Noted 

P
age 279



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

182 The people ride them carelessly Noted 

183 manual scooters are essentially skateboards with handlebars, the same should apply. Electric 

scooters (excluding mobility) are already illegal are they not? 

Noted 

184 They are a menace in crowded public areas because of the speed of them, also they are illegal 

to use on the roads. 

Noted 

185 Disabled people need to use these and stopping them would be discrimination Noted 

186 I don't think there is an issue. Noted 

187 They don't go as fast I think Noted 

188 People ride them on pavements at speed which could lead to a serious accident Noted 

189 They are illegal to use on any public area so should not be allowed within the area. Noted 

190 They are a hazard to pedestrians, especially the elderly, deaf and those who use walking aids 

(crutches, walking stick). They are often ridden too fast by users who have little regard for 

pedestrians. Electric scooters are illegal. 

Noted 

191 People are riding electric scooters which are themselves illegal and the rider commits traffic 

offences. They are a danger to the public because they cannot be heard and travel quickly, 

occasionally used in an anti social manner. Scooters that are manual are also a hindrance.  

These are particularly dangerous for the elderly and disabled such those who have nearing or 

vision issues or are unsteady on their feet.. 

Noted 

192 I haven’t seen issues re this Noted 

193 Definitely electric scooter, no regard for pedestrians Noted 

194 Similar rules should apply to the electric scooters as the operators can be quite reckless at 

times. I don't believe manual scooters are an issue. 

Noted 

195 It's a general issue about their use but most dangerous in busy areas. Noted 

196 I dont agree that the above should be allowed on pavements Noted 

197 Yes they are a danger to people unsteady on their feet Noted 

198 Scooters of all sorts can go as fast as a bike Noted 

199 It would remove any inconsiderate actions by irresponsible scooter users and there is 

absolutely no reason for them to use scooters in this area. 

Noted 

200 A number of them are used to travel through the areas marked, better enforcement is needed 

an all fronts, the cycles are still an ongoing issue. 

Noted 

201 I have not seen a problem with scooters Noted 

202 You can’t hear them coming and if you’re going to ban bikes and skateboards then scooters 

should also be banned 

Noted 

203 Not a MAJOR issue but have witnessed an electric scooter being ridden in this area Noted 

204 They cannot be heard; they move so fast; weave in and out between all pedestrians, old 

people and children; and also come from all directions. Very dangerous. 

Noted 

P
age 280



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

205 If properly managed these activities should not be a problem. Noted 

206 I see then being ridden around Hemel often, sometimes in the road and sometimes on 

pavements. 

Noted 

207 The scooters appear from no where very quickly causing the public to be frighten. Noted 

208 Manual scooters, lets give them a try. Electric scooters, its a no for now. I see the value of 

mobility scooters, however I have recently nearly been hit on a few occaisons by people who 

treat them as a sort of snowplough to move around very quickly and intimidate peole to get out  

of their way. Perhaps you could allow speed limited mobility scooters. 

Noted – and taken on board 

209 Electric scooters are often driven by selfish persons with little, if any, regard for others. They 

are a particular menace to small children, the elderly and the handicapped (mobility, sight or  

hearing). 

Noted 

210 I don't see them very often and when I do they are being ridden by small children Noted 

211 I don't see many scooters on the high street Noted 

212 I think they can be a valuable form of exercise and transport. Noted 

213 Mobility scooters must be allowed but they should only go at walking speed Noted 

214 Mobility scooters are also misused Noted 

215 They are dangerous especially for the elderly and people with limited mobility Noted 

216 Small kid's on manual scooter's should be exempt. Some mobility scooter's should have a 

speed restriction. 

Noted 

217 Electric scooters are virtually silent and give no warning of their approach. They are dangerous 

in areas where there are large numbers of pedestrians. 

Noted 

218 This is a difficult area as small children should be allowed to use manual scooters. Electric 

scooters are not legal anyway and should not be allowed anywhere. 

Noted 

219 I do not see this as an issue. Again, we need to encourage people to use the town centre. Noted 

220 I think they can be dangerous in pedestrian areas. Noted 

221 Electric scooters are fast and heavy, and should be excluded. Manual scooters, especially for 

children, require more consideration. 

Noted 

222 have seen more people on bikes than on scooters Noted 

223 Yes, the speed of electric scooters, but really they are not allowed anyway Noted 

224 They move silently and fast and are a public danger particularly on pavedareas Noted 

225 Electric scooters you can not hear Noted 

226 They can injure pedestrians and possibly seriously when travelling at speed Noted

P
age 281



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

 

227 Not very many scooters Noted 

228 Not regulated - you can't hear them. Danger to pedestrians Noted 

229 Yes I think that this causes a danger to all shoppers and should be enforced more rigidity Noted 

230 Scooters on playfields, pavements are a hazard to people with children or hearing impaired or  

partially sighted as scooters are not expected to be on the pavement..this makes it unsafe for 

the above mentioned. 

Noted 

231 Scooters should be treated the same way as cycles. They are generally used with little 

consideration for other users of the space. 

Noted 

232 Electric scooters are too fast / dangerous Noted 

233 A pedestrian centre should be jus that. Both electric and manual scooter riders can sometimes 

be dangerous 

Noted 

P
age 282



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

 

Q7 Are there any other behaviours you would like to see included in the Public Space Protection Order that you feel are 

detrimental to the quality of life in Hemel Hempstead town centre? 

Answered: 372 Skipped: 282 

 
 
 

# RESPONSES Council Response 

1 The frequent use of bicycles through the pedestrianised area of the town centre and the speed 

at which people use their mobility scooter at through same area and inside shopping centre. 

Comments are not made against each of these, as they will all feed into a review of the PSPO as well as 
the overall Borough approach, to understand what (if any) other controls are needed, can be justified and 
are not covered under other legislation 

2 The PSPO are rather forceful in their manner when It comes to the halting of people using 

personal transport, meaning I would rather drive my deisel vehicle around the local town 

instead of choosing greener options as it won't cost me £80 each time 

 

3 No, quality of life is also about protection from persecution by over zealous enforcement 

officers. I have not personally seen this but I am outraged by stories I have seen related on 

social media. If officers cannot be adequately trained to differentiate between those where 

perhaps a warning would be more appropriate instead of just doling out fines to create income 

for the council, then it is better to not create such an order. It's creating a police state 

environment and discouraging people from going into the area. If a child is feeding birds and 

does not realise this is against the local 'state control' rules, they should simply be asked to 

stop in the 1st instance. I've never noticed any signs to this effect so perhaps if there are 

some they are not obvious enough Also the wastage of police time when they are called if 

someone refuses to give details we are not part of Russia yet! 

 

4 People throwing rubbish on the floor even cigarettes being thrown on the floor. I also think if  

people are seen blowing smoke from a vape or cigarette into people's faces this should be an 

offence. Even if the smoke blows behind them. Its unhealthy and inconsiderate to non 

smokers and asthmatics or other health conditions. 

 

5 Noise overly loud bus service! Needing to get Electric bus services!!!  

6 No. The town centre needs more life at night not more people excluded from using it.  

7 Well I've looked at what you've mainly been fineing people for which is cigarette butts, which is 

easily swept up with a sweeper in the mornings but my main concern with all of this, is the fact 

that your fining mother's for there children feeding pigeons which is absurd especially when 

theoretically it's not even littering when the pigeon eats it! Also the amount of people that have 

been fined because something has fell out there pocket without there knowledge and rather 

then being told about it to give them a chance to clear there own rubbish up there fined! These 

are people that can't afford such a hefty fine over something so absurd and it seems to me this 

has nothing to do with trying to keep the town centre clean but rather taking money from the 

poor and putting it in the pockets of the council! 

 

8 Yes poor paving very dangerous  

9 No  

10 Public arguments, excessive alcohol behaviour and aggressive begging  

P
age 283



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

11 Begging and rough sleeping should be stopped, particularly near cash machines. The rough 

sleepers really make the town centre look 'down at heel' with their tents, bedding and 

accumulated effects. 

 

12 People feeding the pigeons.  

13 I still see people doing the things that are supposedly banned as anti social behavior. May help 

if the ban is actually enforced. 

 

14 Big groups of boys intimidating people. I think having an eye full watch of some sort or town 

monitor. A lot of underage teen vaping and smoking with multiple shops serving. People 

staying in large crowds in one place ext 

 

15 Back off big brother.  

16 Please consider the wider implications of this order. Cyclists already face prejudice from other 

road users and the inclusion of a ban on cycling only goes to reinforce this and demonise 

those who chose a sustainable method of transport. With foot traffic being quieter in the town 

centre than ever before surely there is an opportunity to revisit cycling infrastructure in the 

town and bring more people in. 

 

17 Groups of teenagers gathering when it’s dark  

18 The people walking around giving fines out on the spot should learn some manners and give 

people a second chance 

 

19 Many people (usually the same offenders) loitering in town consuming Alcohol/Drugs. Maybe a 

3 strike policy to discourage them hanging around in town. 

 

20 Intimidating behaviour from youths hanging around in the area.  

21 it would be good if the marshalls didn't openly follow people that are smoking cigarettes in an 
imtimidating fashion to see if they are going to dispose of the butts correctly. i have been 
followed twice in town now and have never littered in my life, and when i asked why, they said 
because seems pretty heavy-handed to me. i've also seen them give a fine to a man because 
his dog ran near the cafe on gadebridge park for about 2seconds as he was calling it back, again 
i think a warning should have sufficed as there was clearly no intent on his part. from the 
encounters i've seen and experienced at least two of the marshalls seem aggressive and 
somewhat power-hungry and dont seem to care whether anyone was aware of the rules or broke 
then on purpose or any kind of intent, and as people are struggling now, the fines seem a bit 
harsh, and there is an intimidating vibe from the marshalls that i've seen and spoken to.  

  

22 The non-homeless beggars, that are begging. I am happy to give food or money to the 

homeless 

 

23 No, but the recent introduction of Wardens to police this area has caused some problems with 

them being over-zealous and perhaps they should operate with more discretion? 

 

24 I don’t like the fake homeless people outside WHSmith. It has been well documented online  

that these people have homes, and pretend they don’t. They are quite intimidating and should 

be fined. 

 

25 Rough sleeping in doorways or begging.  

26 Begging. Sale and exchange of illegal substances.  

P
age 284



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

27 People pretending to be homeless begging for drugs and sat in daylight smoke a pipe of drugs 

why kids are there playing on the play area. Help the homeless and keep them away from town 

begging 

 

28 Foul language and littering  

29 Teens doing wheelies on their bikes, and becoming gobby when challenged!  

30 Agression  

31 No  

32 I agree BUT - there is very little provision for disabled children such as a changing places 

toilets and there is no way I would change my child who is too large for a changing table on the 

floor. I also think that small children (under 6 say) should be able to ride their little baby bikes. 

It's a bit different from someone over the age of 12 doing it. 

 

33 Laws, Rules, ASB ...... what is the point if you are not enforcing them. Fine people, stop them 

littering, spitting and especially the bikes and skateboards. 

 

34 Begging  

35 I don't think a PSPO is required for the town centre. And if one simply keeps getting extended 

it just shows that it doesn't work. There are PCs, PCSOs and the town centre security that all  

patrol the area. As long as they are visible on regular patrols there won't be many problems. 

 

36 Get rid of all the vagrants( most of whom have properties to stay in) FACT. Always swearing 

and fighting with each other over who has best begging rights outside Tesco express 

Marlowes. Complete eyesore running town down and whose behaviour terrifies the elderly 

 

37 That wardens act in a kind gentle manner and give the benefit of doubt and warn if it happens 

again they will be fined. 

 

38 People smoking drugs. People drinking alcohol outside.  

39 Actually have people stop anyone on bikes - pedestrians are intimated and getting hurt  

40 Homeless people's,drunk use of weed and unleashed dogs!  

41 Homeless people begging  

42 Sleeping rough outside shops when we have Dens to help  

43 Youngsters on bikes in the town also need to be included as they are the biggest issue  

44 Drunk people shouting  

45 People sitting outside the cafe’s smoking. Smoking should be banned in the whole town centre 

- not fair on others. I constantly have to walk past people smoking with my baby. 

 

46 Alas we still have begging and rough sleeping in town.  

47 Attention should also be given to those cycling in the pedestrian subways at the Moor End 

side of town. It would also be good to rid the town of the fake homeless people. ( They are 

never at their begging spots at nighttime) 

 

48 spitting on floor, cycling/scooters not policed effectively - frequently seen  

P
age 285



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

49 When people accidently drop litter they should be given a chance to pick up their rubbish as a 

warning. The people issuing fines have been giving fines to people who accidently dropped 

something without giving anyone a chance to pick it up. 

 

50 Yes ban groups of youngsters in school holidays  

51 I think it's a pity that while the order exists, it is not enforced very well. There are often people 

cycling in the area under the PSPO, particularly at weekends and school holidays, with very 

little evidence of enforcement. 

 

52 People rough sleeping inthe town and begging  

53 Rough sleepers in doorways  

54 Homeless people in the town centre  

55 Yes we need a per name to police presence  

56 Drunk and homeless people. As someone who works on the Hemel town market this doesn’t 

help business 

 

57 Littering  

58 The contract with the “wardens” that bully & fine people should be terminated immediately. 

Their behaviour on numerous times is disgraceful. 

 

59 Littering  

60 Whatever is decided needs to be policed properly. All these activities are going on because 

they are not policed. What is the protocol for the homeless that sleep in the town? 

 

61 Drinking of alcohol and drug abuse. The use of profound language especially in earshot of 

young children and speeding in vehicles on roads 

 

62 Homelessness. There are multiple homeless people living outside shops. One especially is 

very abusive to the general public, even for just looking at him. This really is not good enough.  

He has been there a long time now. 

 

63 Homeless camping outside or in doorways of shops. Also said people begging and passing 

rude or nasty comments if one does not give. 

 

64 If people litter give them the opportunity to pick it up before a fine is issued!!!!  

65 The people playing musical instruments in the street are noisy and it makes the high street a 

place where i do not want to stay for long periods. the music is bad and not to everyones 

taste. 

 

66 Street begging.  

67 I dislike the level of professional charity collectors being allowed. I have no issue with giving to 

charity, but object to the way these organised teams spread across the whole pedestrian area 

so as to 'catch' everyone. Id like to be able to walk the length without being harassed and say 

'no thank you' multiple times. 

 

68 I would like to see the banning of pigeon feeding in the town center. The pigeon mess is a 

disgrace. People should be dissuaded from this habitat and or fined. I think It should be in the 

class of anti social behaviour. 

 

P
age 286



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

69 Closing Market square was a mistake we had so much vibrant life in the market. put the 

Market back were it should be in the square. There are not enough PCSO's in the town 

comming down hard on these out of control children and young adult's. A smack never did us 

any harm for being naughty so why can't parents chastise their children because some children 

only listen when they have a smack. A smack on the legs or the hand is not a beating and is 

not over doing the punishment. It's time parents and the authorities took back control of the 

children, young adults and the streets. 

 

70 Begging Smoking by doorways  

71 Drinking alcohol and smoking in the bus stops.  

72 Groups congregating being a nuisance or threatening behaviour  

73 No homeless encampments  

74 Groups of men loitering in the evening  

75 Persons in charge of children/child buggies or dogs, should not be permitted to walk with them, 

whilst looking at a mobile phones, therefore being not either in proper control or in genuine 

awareness of the said dependents 

 

76 Stop the religious zealots, of any religion from broadcasting their beliefs. Make the whole area 

non smoking as you can't see for the fug of smoke surrounding all the cafes 

 

77 Busking! They are often to loud and put me off spending time in town. They could add 

atmosphere but there should be rules about playing music or preaching above a certain level. It 

that can’t be done ban them altogether. Also love the ticketing of litter bugs! People should 

know better. 

 

78 Mainly bikes and scooters but also the litter sometimes left behind after they have their lunch 

in the old market square. Although our street cleaners do a very good job clearing up. We also 

have kids trespassing on the KD tower car park riding their bikes and coming into the building 

 

79 The number of people living/ sleeping in shop doorways in the town center  

80 If the scheme is trying to eliminate anti-social behaviour then good. However, from my 

experience it is only alienating good minded people who mistakenly cycled etc in the prohibited 

area because signage is poor or non-existent. E.g. someone from outside of Dacorum visits 

the town centre on their cycle. They could easily be issues with a penalty notice through no 

fault of their own. What impression would that give them of Dacorum? Furthermore, who are 

these Officers who issue the notices? What do they look like? I've never seen you showing us 

what uniforms they wear (I guess they wear uniforms?) and what id they have. In my view a 

poorly established scheme which has very limited chance of succeeding other than to alienate 

people. 

 

81 District Enforcement officers not doing their job properly and just chasing the revenue and 

money rather then preventing. But this is what happens when a public body issues a contract  

o a private company where they can self regulate and only answer to themselves 

 

P
age 287



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

 

82 Loitering in large groups, with anti-social behaviour is an issue, also consuming alcohol and 

smoking weed/ substances. 

 

83 People disrespecting people in any form.  

84 Control and regulation over e-scooters please! Currently, e-scooters are widely available to 

use, and are in regular use. I have seen many e-scooters used at speed, on pavements or on 

roads, and without much real regard to safety and consequences of their own actions (ie.,  

dodge the silently fast e-scooter, wherever these might come from). I'm a regular cyclist and 

was recently an Approved Driving Instructor, so am well aware of how the actions of some road 

users may unknowingly lead to adverse effects on other vulnerable road users (pedestrians) 

 

85 I find the presence of rough sleepers in the town centre personally unsettling. I will only visit 

Hemel Hempstead town centre at peak times, when I may otherwise have preferred an off 

peak time e.g. late afternoon. I find myself checking ahead and behind before I walk through 

Bank Court or other parallel paths from main shopping street back to Water Gardens parking. I 

feel on edge in the town centre. 

 

86 Abusive language  

87 Although to be green spaces should be included where it is secure to leaves bikes/scooters 

even though they should be walked to these spaces. As well as manual bikes and scooters 

 

88 Dropping Litter. It encourages rats and foxes. People should use the bins provided.  

89 These powers are useless unless there is someone present to implement them. I rarely see a 

police officer or community officer in the town centre. I spent an hour waiting for Arriva buses 

(which did not arrive ) watching a youngster cycling backwards in circles at the junction on 

Marlowes and Bridge Street . At least it needs prominent notices as noone takes any noitce of 

the ones uo now. 

 

90 I agree with all the above points and it is all very well putting signs around town to make 

people aware, but who is actually around to enforce this order? The police are stretched 

already and never around when you need them. I've never seen any other type of enforcement 

officer around town. I also believe there is an increasing problem with homeless people in the 

town centre, they position themselves near cash machines and I see how they can be 

intimidating. They also beg for money, surely this needs addressing. 

 

91 Urinating in the carpark for example water gardens ..  

92 The town NEEDs attention, make it more attractive to large brand shops to stay in the town. 

It’s a disgrace that a large town like Hemel will soon not have a place to shop. Less coffee 

shops and run down places attract riffraff. More community support when incident do happen. I  

witnessed a young lad in the process of being robbed most people walked past only myself 

and another mother stopped to help. Call to 111 was fruitless as they were too busy to attend. 

It was an absolute joke. We had to sit in the bank to gain access to his parents phone number 

as phone had been robbed. For a very expensive place to live it’s a disgrace and Dive 

someone from the local council needs to take responsibility!!! Angry local resident who has 

lived locally all my life. 

 

93 group of people gathering and swearing during busy shopping times, a disgraceful behaviour to 

witness for family with children 

 

94 Smoking in outside public seating areas.  

P
age 288



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

95 As well as elecrtric scooters and bicycles, the use of all wheeled conveyances ( except 

mobility devices) should be banned from all pedestrian areas. 

 

96 Smoking! People seem to think it's okay to smoke around the areas where children play. 

Smoking should be banned in those areas. Homeless problem. It seems to be getting worse 

with multiple doorways occupied. Drug dealing! It's right under everyone's nose and seemingly 

ignored by local police. Far more important issues than kids on skateboards. 

 

97 No.But i still see boys riding bikes fast through the town and boys doing wheelies.The speed 

they sometimes go could actually kill someone if they hit an old person.I ve seen them 

weaving in and out of people so this is not being controlled enough.!! 

 

98 Rough sleeping in shopping centre. There must be a better way for these unfortunate people.  

99 People who sing/perform in the centre ( with or without permission) have microphones and 

amplifiers which are far too loud. 

 

100 not enough weed  

101 Drinking alcohol in public on the street  

102 The pigeons causing such a mess should be culled and tge mess cleared up from shops and 

offices fronts and doorways everyday as part of regular street cleaning 

 

103 No begging  

104 Personally smoking and swearing but I know they are not realistic or achievable. We need 

people to live together and encourage people to come to the town not discourage them by 

fining and banning things everywhere. We are a free country. 

 

105 There is not enough active transport and there is too much parking congestion across town.  

Cycling, skateboarding and scootering need to be encouraged, which means a navigation route 

should be allowed in the town centre, and wheels should be directed to use it. 

 

106 Though cycling is not allowed this rule is disregarded  

107 remove the video screen  

108 No  

109 No.  

110 Yes the parking in town near K.F.C . You have used the take payers money to make a new 

layout for disabled cars an all the fast food company's use the spaces and the traffic wardens 

are never there to ticket cars. An when the wardens are there on rare occasions the ask for the 

cars to be moved!??. It clearly says disabled parking,these cars should be ticket at the first 

presence off a warden an not told to move there cars first it's a joke an the police should 

manage the spaces at night cause it's ever worse at night 

 

111 Keeping dogs on a leash and making sure they are properly supervised with regards to fouling 

etc 

 

112 Drinking and swearing I had two people one homeless and a women have a shouting match 

last week 

 

113 Throwing chewing gum , rubbish, cigarette butts, dog fouling. Youths that spin around 

roundabout on both sides of the car doing wheelies. 

 

P
age 289



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

114 Large groups hanging around Need more greenary  

115 Respect for others. The town is dying on its feet. The toilets outside should continue to be 

checked regularly so that they're not being used appropriately 

 

116 Mercenaries that you call contractors should be banned as they enforce arbitrary laws with 

zero tolerance. 

 

117 Cigarette buds.  

118 You haven’t included smoking in this. The enforcement officers you employ are awful. They  

are bullies and threatening. I am in complete support of making Dacorum a better place to live 

but why can’t you issue someone a warning to start with and then escalate it if necessary? To  

see these enforcement officers intimidating pensioners who have dropped their cig butt on the 

floor makes me ashamed to live in Dacorum. Please do something about them, people don’t 

come to town to be threatened and bullied. 

 

119 I’m strongly in favour of this but it needs to be policed properly which I don’t think it is at the 

moment. I always see young people cycling through the centre often swerving around doing 

wheelies. I don’t have a problem with genuine cyclists, especially families with young children  

but these teenagers spoil it for the rest of the community and are rarely challenged. This isn’t  

aimed at all teenagers, just those displaying anti social behaviour 

 

120 Smoking, swearing, rude behaviour around/near the children’s play areas.  

121 Children play in the water fountain outside Vodafone which makes it smell of wee all summer, 

it’s not pleasant!! The water fountain is for everyone to enjoy and is decorative. I totally avoid 

the area during summer it’s looks and smells disgusting. Gadebridge park is a short walk from  

here why can’t parents take their children to the designated place for water play 

 

122 No  

123 Littering  

124 Men with their tops off. It’s not a beach. They make the town look cheap.  

125 Gangs of teenagers being disrespectful & unruly in & out of the marlowes centre.  

126 General antisocial behaviour. I’ve seen drunk people being threatening and swearing during the 

day. 

 

127 Sort out the town centre. It is a dump.  

128 The amount of people openly walking on public areas smoking spliffs, the smell is appalling 

and I believe this is an entry level to serious hard drug taking with all the complications this 

causes. Break up of families. Neglect of child family members. Debt. Non payment violence 

by dealers. Shoplifting, theft, burglary, robbery, violence to non related members of public etc. 

to fund the habit. 

 

129 I think control of dogs and dropping litter are already included by PSPO's.  

130 I am not sure that authorised vehicle users always exercise sufficient caution when driving 

through the pedestrianised area though I assume that this is already covered. 

 

131 Graffiti and flyposting could be added for anti social behavior. The officers I have seen in the 

town centre are foing a great job. I have noticed such a difference. Keep the PSPO in place 

 

P
age 290



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

132 People seem to think they can get away with the order and ignore the officer and not give their 

name and address. Can something be done about this to give them more powers to take a 

name and address, and to fail to do so, they can be fined further? 

 

133 drunkenness  

134 Cycling in particular is a problem. Youths and adult males frequently and deliberately ignore the 

ban and I have seen any attempts at enforcement, which is no doubt why the existing order is 

ignored. I have been the subject of several near misses by speeding cyclists in recent years 

 

135 Persons Drinking alcohol / affected by drink or drugs banned in a public space at a time when 

vulnerable persons/children are in the area. 

 

136 Chuggers and 'in your face, new best friend' street sales bother me a lot.  

137 If you walk from Riverside to Marlowe's - as soon as you get close to Boots the whole 

atmosphere changes. There are vagrants, drug dealers, drug addicts, hooded teens and 

loiterers. That area always seems to attract kids who are looking for a fight or people who are 

out of work. We go from feeling relatively safe to uncomfortable. 

 

138 Groups of kids causing a nuisance in town  

139 Young people riding bikes down the Marlowes and in the Marlowes. Electric scooters totally 

banned. Any anti social behaviour that is unacceptable to the majority of the public. 

 

140 No  

141 Some beggars can be intimidating. We need to be helping the genuine homeless people in our 

area and taking steps to stop organised begging. 

 

142 Stop drinking of alcohol also to reduce risk of associated antisocial behaviour.  

143 Littering, drink and disorderly conduct such as shoplifting (which is rife and I’ve seen it most 

times when in town). 

 

144 Bicycles are a pain. Litter.  

145 Spiting is disgusting and very common in the town, please enforce and fine people doing this, 

Smoking and vaping is also disgusting when walking behind the person you get a face full of  

whatever they are smoking. 

 

146 Being hassled by people that want you to sign up to give money or just want money  

147 No  

148 Yes, the amount of begging and people sleeping rough. This should not be allowed and those 

involved be given appropriate help and shelter. There is almost a permanent camp outside WH 

Smith's. 

 

149 Well, the town needs more shops , but not coffee shops or pound shops. I feel I never find any 

clothes shops but the quality ones. Town centre is so empty and doesn’t feel like a shopping 

centre. Definitely you need to do something about that. Always end up going London or 

Watford if I need to buy something. 

 

150 Gangs of hoody teenagers shouting abuse for no reason, at the general public and elderly, 

while just hanging around the precinct and pedestrian areas with nothing to do. 

 

P
age 291



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

151 One way to discourage the behaviour exampled in your survey is to encourage high end 

boutique and status retailers. Hemel is losing out to Watford and Berkhamsted. We have few if  

any independent retailers and little evidence of the higher end retailers that favour Watford. We 

need to encourage a better 'class' of shopper. Our town is losing out. We want top retailers to 

be beating down our doors. Why are we letting Hemel become so mediocre. 

 

152 Vaping  

153 Alcohol free zone. There is a tendency for people who have been in the pubs near the council 

offices to wander down the town during the day. It is very intimidating as they can get 

aggressive and very loud. 

 

154 No  

155 I haven’t actually seen anyone in town monitoring. There doesn’t seem to be anyone visible.  

156 Littering  

157 The whole town centre is an embarrassing mess to walk through these days. I only visit if I 

really have to. Much prefer Watford or St Albans. I don’t see why anyone would choose to  

come here any more! 

 

158 Begging, drinking alcohol, smoking weed, rough sleeping in doorways It is all very well having 

these laws but unless they are enforced then they are pointless 

 

159 Zero tolerance to threatening behaviour and violence towards the general public and shop 

assistants/managers etc. 

 

160 I have 2 small children age (4 ) we are in town every day and sometimes there are homeless 

people near Tesco area probably drunk and showing unacceptable behaviour such us (  

swearing , shouting and being aggressive . Now with the summer coming we do t want to avoid 

going out just because of them I think this is a major problem in Hemel Town for me also the 

pigeons poops are not really hygienic 

 

161 Smoking in the town centre  

162 Weed smoking in public areas. The stench is awful sometimes. Keeping dogs on leads as 

some people don't seem to be able to do that. 

 

163 Homeless people sleeping on the floor next to the shops (e.g. Tesco) covered with rubbish all  

around. Plus full dirty bins and pigeons excrements (e.g. building with scaffolding in front of the 

bus area/roundabout) which in sum provide a general sense of degradation & unhealthy place. 

The public toilet at the park is very dirty (wc, floor, walls) and the sink is not working. Plus no 

toilet paper of course 

 

164 Drinking cans and bottles of alcohol in the street. Riding bikes in pedestrian zones.  

165 Dropping litter. Feeding the pigeons.  

166 Drug dealers  

P
age 292



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

167 The people that try to get you to sign up for charity direct debits and take a % of what is given 

to the charity 

 

168 Yes  

169 Rough sleepers in doorways- off putting for the public  

170 Too many people claiming to be homeless, also people still cycle through the town  

171 Shouting by some people, drunken sometimes  

172 Prohibit drinking alcohol in public areas other than in licensed premises etc.Prohibit spitting in 

public areas. 

 

173 Littering is still an issue People using mobility scooters need to take more care they are 

moving far to fast around the shopping areas. 

 

174 Cannot recall any at the moment  

175 Problem is no one is around to stop the behaviours and children nearly get hit all the time  

176 Rough sleeping on the streets: also begging..  

177 Pigeon feeding  

178 Yes I would like to see your public space protection staff act more like professional people 

What I mean is Advising people not to spit or litter in a polite professional manor and not like a 

person who thinks they are above any person because they have a uniform on This public 

space protection racket is nothing to do with keeping Hemel clean it’s about making more 

money for private firms And make a very bad taste in manor of providing service as fining in all 

cases is rather harsh specially when representing local authorities YOU 

 

179 Ban street drinking.  

180 All I would like to see is a clean and tidy town centre. I don’t care for any restrictions on what 

activities people should be allowed to do in the centre, such a cycling, skateboarding, etc. if 

you want it to be a happy atmosphere, encourage the community to do what they enjoy in a 

communal area. I don’t mean let people treat the town as a skatepark, but it sounds a bit 

preposterous to say that riding a skateboard should reward a fine. I’m not sure “No Fun Here” 

signs around the town centre would be of any benefit. 

 

181 Littering , swearing , and loitering .  

182 The antisocial orders have stopped the town centre from being able to have a night life, which 

it so desperately needs. Hemel being a destination has simply died. No flagship shops want to 

be there, no one wants to come for the evening and the two feed each other, and therefore the 

economy. Make it easier for the town centre to include bars. 

 

183 If there isn't already i believe mobility scooter users should be expected to keep to a low speed  

184 Rough sleeping and begging plus all dogs on a lead  

185 Speeding in built up areas and drinking of alcohol on pathways very near to peoples houses.  

186 persons sitting or sleeping in empty shop doorways  

187 Street drinking/drugs  

P
age 293



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

188 The use of cannabis is widespread through out the whole of Hemel Hempstead. It is not only 

the smell which is very pungent but also that the smell can be so strong that I have no doubt  

that I am passive smoking cannabis. 

 

189 People smoking weed in the town centre.  

190 Dogs without a leash in town centre or public areas  

191 Alcohol and drugs being consumed in public areas or on benches. Loitering around public 

seating in the town centre making it unpleasant, such as the seating outside of Boots where 

many people seem to spend the day sitting around, drinking etc. Teenagers hanging around in 

groups in public areas and walkways, such as subways. I've witnessed this especially near 

Astley Cooper School. Littering 

 

192 Homeless people should be receiving the care they need to not have to stray on the town 

centre. 

 

193 Openly smoking cannabis around town  

194 Homeless people camping out in town centre / begging.  

195 Enforce the anti litter law. Get homeless people into safe hostels and off the streets  

196 A space for you people to skateboard at one end of the high street would keep too many 

skateboards and scooters away from the shops. Calming measures such as seats, trees and 

raised beds dotted around would mean there was not a long stretch of high street for scooters 

and skateboards to build up speed. 

 

197 I personally feel that when you get a large group of rowdy kids or even people it's very 

intimidating...I know elderly people who won't go into town for fear of being intimidated.. No one 

wants to see youngsters running riot.... 

 

198 Sleeping on the pavements by shop fronts and begging.  

199 This PSPO should be enforced by PCs or PCSOs rather than Council Enforcement Officers. 
EOs do not always seem to have the training, empathy or awareness to see the "bigger picture" 
reason for an incident such as the recent incident when a teenager with Tourettes Syndrome 
was issued a fine for spitting. 

 

P
age 294



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

   

200 No  

201 We have too many cyclist in the non-cycling area, sometimes it's difficult for young kids to 

walk free next their parents without the worries that will be run over by a bicycle. 

 

202 i agree with all the above but i have never seen it enforced. I believe it should be extended to 

the whole of Marlowes including Old Town 

 

203 Litter, people sitting in doorways begging.  

204 Dacorum Council and the Police in Hemel have failed to address the anti social behaviour in 

Gadebridge Park. The cars revving up in the car park have been a feature for decades now and 

the police seem unable to deal with this. I didn't think 'policing by consent' meant keeping the 

consent of the offender .......... So can you please include gadebridge park and excessive road 

noise 

 

205 Playing of loud music.  

206 Large groups of teenagers/young adults playing loud music, shouting, arguments, threatening 

violence towards people being intimidating to the public and the residents that live within the 

area having to hear and witness on a daily basic. The high street should have a curfew on it  

unless you live and can prove you live within the area. 

 

207 There is lack of enforcement in the town centre. Not enough patrols  

208 people not picking up after their dogs Not dogs fault Perhaps more/bigger bins if budget 

available ? 

 

209 I’d just like to see more officers in the Marlowes enforcing the rules  

210 Youngsters in the evening seem to find it amusing to ride around on their bikes and intimidate 

pedestrians in the town centre. It needs to be more closely monitored and offenders or their  

parents fined. 

 

211 Charity workers pestering you to give them money, literally following you down the precinct 

should be stopped it’s intimidating. 

 

212 Motorcycles on playing fields  

213 Children riding bikes on one back wheel, so dangerous and intimidating  

214 Whilst you focus on spitting as a heath issue and bad habit, people are more likely to be 

impacted by the amount of pigeon crap on the pavements in both zones. It’s difficult to 

convince people not to spit when there is worse mess already on the pavements. 

 

215 Whilst agreeing with the aims of the order I strongly object to its enforcement being given over 

to a private company. Enforcing the law should be the responsibility of the police and the 

money used to pay this company should be used instead to employ more police, or at least 

PCSOs. 

 

216 Large groups of intimidating people who have no respect for others.  

217 drinking alcohol in pubic spaces  

P
age 295



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

218 Drugs being smoked/ dealt in town  

219 it would be nice to have someone monitoring the parking around JFKennedy school both in the 

mornings and evenings. Parents bringing and collecting their children cause problems as well 

as the school buses. 

 

220 Green grass areas with cars and vans parked on them, when they should not be, which then 

churn up the grass and mud and ruin the ground. They should be issued with parking tickets 

and the council would make a lot of revenue from this. Plus the green spaces would not be 

spoilt. Wake up council and sort this out. If you issued tickets for wrongful parking, people 

would think twice about where they park instead of ruining the spaces. It seems to be a free for 

in all in Hemel at the moment with no law and order! 

 

221 I have a big bee in a big bonnet about littering anywhere. It is wrong on so many levels. Also 

swearing, putting chewing gum on the floor and aggresive behaviour. Also badly behaved dogs. 

I'm getting very Victor Meldrew. 

 

222 People parking in the bus only part of marlowes  

223 People setting up camp in public areas and shop deoorways , and or leaving their personal 

items there during the day should be removed 

 

224 Dropping litter and cigarette ends. Sleeping in doorways. Roller skating.  

225 No other behaviours but should include access to Town centre via the Magic roundabout where 

adults and children cycle dangerously. 

 

226 Large groups of youngsters together  

227 rough sleeping bedding etc let lying around.  

228 Smoking  

229 Begging and rough sleeping  

230 The car parks in Gadebridge park that are used by joyriders in the evenings.  

231 I think that no one should be allowed to use loudspeakers or amplifiers for religious reasons. 

Some of the preachers are so loud you can hear them indoors. That is wrong. Preach by all  

means but let people have a sit down or have a cup of tea in peace and quiet.Thank you. I  

think that you should enforce the no cycling more regularly. 

 

232 Stop bullying our children and young people. Scrap the wardens.  

233 The space between Wh Smith and Poundland used as toilets. Smell of strong urine plus,used 

as rubbish tip 

 

234 Police presence is important as electric scooters and bicycles on back wheels riding through 

the town at speed are very frightening for everyone and for the elderly in particular. There 

needs to more emphasis on fining and confiscation of these items if the rules are not adhered 

to. Signage should be more prominent with larger signs at all entrances of the town stating 

what will happen if the rules are not taken seriously. I have seen instances in the past where 

people have been threatened with being stabbed by gangs of youths when confronted about 

riding bikes on back wheels at speed up and down the high street. 

 

235 Although there are sufficient rubbish collection bins there is still major issues with littering.  

P
age 296



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

236 Dog mess, aggressive behaviour,  

237 This should also apply to Berkhamsted as there is a serious problem of skate boarders skating 

down Lower Kings Road ......... in the road. I would also add drinking in public and chanting late 

at night as antisocial behaviour. Football "yobism". 

 

238 The park at Cavendish to the cricket fields most days 1 to 2 lads use a motor bike dirt bike 

and race along field . Also done on Sunday when under 11 to under 18 use pitch . While match 

is on they ride through players . Needs to stop. Around Reynolds way park end also 

 

239 A need for training for users of mobility scooters is needed. I am fed up with having to jump 

out of their way as they speed through the town centre and shopping area with no 

consideration of pedestrians. 

 

240 Feeding of pigeons is creating huge problems. They are nesting above Bonmarche and 

creating an absolute mess in the Marlowes. Dogs apart from guide dogs should not be allowed 

in the Marlowes. 

 

241 Littering.  

242 People begging outside Tesco express and sleeping rough outside Smiths. Kids riding bikes 

through Marlowes. Provide a dedicated, segregated bike lane 

 

243 smoking areas - could there be smoking areas so non-smokers can avoid gum dropped on the 

floor - bins at regular intervals 

 

244 I think street beggars should be done for loitering. Street Beggars sitting quietly are not a 

problem, whatever the reason for needing the money, there are worse things they could be 

doing. But the people should be able to walk through public places without being harassed for 

money whatever the excuses are for needing it. 

 

245 More people who can intervienne at the weekend and after school. Giving community orders to  

people who do not follow the rules Fine parents of children who don't follow the rules and create 

chaos in town 

 

246 Groups of people mainly interacting with each other and wandering without regard for other 

pedestrians. 

 

247 I don't appreciate being ambushed by promoters of broadband, insurance etc whilst in the 

town. 

 

248 The town is a disgrace it ever seems to be clean and nothing has been done about rough 

sleepers in shop doorways. Surely they should be banned. 

 

249 begging, from rough sleepers  

250 People camping in areas such as outside WH Smith, Whether homeless or not  

251 Laughing too loudly  

252 Move on rough sleepers who are often quite threatening & unpleasant. It is not conducive to 

shopping in Hemel to have to manoeuvre around their "homes" which are often not just 

unsightly but flithy. 

 

253 Allowing vagrants to sleep in shop doorways.  

254 A ban on alcohol  

P
age 297



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

255 If it is possible to include something to try and reduce/prevent littering that would be good.  

256 Groups. Foreign groups and customs which are threatening. Drug use especially cannabis.  

257 Rough Sleepers who beg , the encroachment of tables onto the paved area usually in the area 

of the bus stops. 

 

258 I think smoking cigarettes and the E-vape at the bus stop and other public places are 

detrimental to the public. Even if the E-vape is considered safer than cigarettes, it causes lots 

of smokes and it makes people (adults and children) to cough and smoke the fumes. I am a 

COPD and disabled patient and I had to stand away under the rain from the bus stop while 

waiting because someone's E-vape was making me cough and caused an exacerbation to my 

COPD (Asthma) and I was very unwell. 

 

259 Smoking in large groups which force others to passively inhale other peoples discharge while 

attempting to pass  

 

260 Yes, Swearing. When shopping in town I constantly hear people especially school children If  

I’m in town at around 4pm using copious amounts of foul language, I don’t use such language  

myself and find it very offensive if other people do so and I have to hear it. If they must swear 

they should lower the volume of their voice so that other people and young children do not 

have to put up with it. 

 

261 Drinking alcohol and smoking drugs in public areas. Why is it that almost every time I go to the 

town centre I see people riding bikes in the pedestrian areas? It needs to be policed much 

better. 

 

262 Litter.  

263 Rough sleepers and beggars  

264 Dropping of litter / animal fouling / groups of youths hanging about / mobility scooter 

awareness of others and speed 

 

265 Tea leaves, other day when was in Tesco a group of lads came in and one of them stole 

something. Tesco say it is a regular occurance now and they feel power less to do any thing. 

Wheel chairs and mobilty scooters excluded but amount of times see people zoom down the 

Marlowes on bikes and scooters is scary considering this is a pedestrian area full of shoppers. 

Spitting and swearing. 

 

266 Cannabis being smoked. Hemel Hempstead has a real drug problem. Dogs being left at houses 

all day. 

 

267 Litter dropping, not picking up their dog fouling, spitting out chewing gum, dropping fag butts 

and smoking marijuana as if its normal in everyday life as it happens everywhere you go in the 

town, especially Gadebridge Park before the college starts. 

 

268 Dog owners/walkers who are not able to control their animals are a real nuisance and should be 

added to the list of nuisances. 

 

269 Large groups of men can be intimidating.  

270 Smokers dumping their cigarette ends everywhere and litter droppers  

271 Fireworks late at night and throughout the year.  

P
age 298



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

272 Yobbish behaviour and a complete disregard for other people. Upsetting and deters me from 

visiting 

 

273 Drinking alcohol. Drug taking. Abusive behaviour.  

274 Littering including cigarettes butt dumping  

275 LITTER, SMOKING, GRAPHITTI, FLY TIPPING, SWEARING (AS IN f & c'S), ALCHOHOL 

CONSUMPTION. 

 

276 People walking an excessive amount of dogs off the lead. In all pedestrianised areas dogs 

should be on a lead 

 

277 Yes, A few years ago I witnessed police community officers trying to stop some young 

teenagers cycling in the pedestrian area around W.H.Smiths. The officers were trying to 

explain to them, cycling was not permitted. All they got in return was taunting and cycling 

close to the officers in a teasing manner, cycling away then returning to tease ant taunt them. 

How that can be stopped I am not sure. However what happened next was deplorable. An adult 

woman then harangued the officers for trying to perform their duty. Is there a solution to this in 

that perhaps the order can emphasize that penalties exist for adults supporting the anti social 

behaviour. I will be interested to hear any views on the above. Many Thanks A.G. Cameron 

 

278 The pigeons are a nuisance  

279 I am concerned for the welfare of people living in shop doorways in the town. However I am 

increcingly concern that their bedding, pets and mess cause issues. When the needs required 

it these people are known to the local community to steel and cause building entery damage.  

They need to be moved to somewhere far safer for their health and the people using the town 

centre. 

 

280 Something that deals with beggars and rough sleepers in doorways, why don't the police use 

enforcement powers, such as town and police causes and vagrancy act? 

 

281 I feel those on patrol do not help the situation as they seem to be lurking in the town, and are 

not approachable at all. They congregate together and make you feel uneasy... Continually 

watching everyone, it's horrible to be watched when you are doing nothing wrong 

 

282 Dispersal of large group of younger people.  

283 The rules have changed regarding cyclist and motorist Police should enforce cyclists nor riding 

on pavements anywhere I have to give way to them on the road I do not wish to avoid them 

when walking on pavements 

 

284 Smoking/vaping  

285 There should be more public toilets available in the town, not locked up like so many seem to 

be nowadays. 

 

286 Littering, drinking alcohol on the streets,  

287 CCTV cameras should be used more in public places and in flat communal buildings. This will 
protect the local community and can prevent crime. 

 

P
age 299



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

288 Homeless loitering around everywhere.. why are their tents allowed to stay middle of the high 

street? It gives such bad look for the town.. 😪 

 

289 Begging  

290 Why focus on just the town centre  

291 Gangs of teenagers, more security needs to step up and act when issues arise. The Riverside 

security are useless. 

 

292 Not having a dog on a lead, allowing a dog to poo and not picking it up, filling dog poo bins or  

other bins with household rubbish, playing football in inappropriate area's, not allowing cold 

calling in sheltered housing areas, parking in disabled spaces when not being disabled, parking 

on pavements 

 

293 Foul and abusive language  

294 Roaming canvassers that just approach and pester people while they are walking about.  

295 Main problem in the Marlowe area is cycling and the verbal abuse if you complain  

296 Please do something about smokers throwing cigarettes on the ground as well as general 

littering everywhere. 

 

297 There is a tension in the public drinking element. We are seeing a very welcome increase in 

the provision of outdoor dining from cafes and trucks, restaurants should be able to have 

outdoor service when the weather suits. This should be positively encouraged as it will bring a 

good atmosphere to the town centre and by encouraging legitimate use discourage ASB. There 

is a good case to prevent street drinking/drunkeness/ASB. The solution is to allow lawful and 

legitimate use of this shared speace and encourage 'cafe society' which includes al fresco 

drinking in controlled circumstances while concentrating PCSO/Warden patrols to discourage 

ASB. Let's reclaim this space for lawful enjoyment even when the shops are shut. 

 

298 Children congregating in car parks. It's unsafe.  

299 Dropping of litter mostly cans, face masks and fast food detritus  

300 Smoking  

301 No  

302 Not that I can think of at the moment.  

303 Feeding of birds.litter dropping.  

304 Stop drunk and drug abusing homeless people from threatening violence against others. More 

police in town centre that actually do their jobs and stop the bike riders. 

 

305 Littering, modified vehicle exhausts creating a horrendously loud noise..  

306 Religious preaching and Evangelism is very anti-social.  

307 I regularly see people urinating up walls and even when I’ve called the police nothings gets 

done 

 

308 No shouting/screaming or rough sleeping  

P
age 300



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

309 Smoking weed openly is also a huge problem with gangs of youngsters.  

310 vehicles parking too near bus stops or even in clearly marked bus bays  

311 Foul and abusive language  

312 The removal of ‘homeless’ persons should be reviewed as they are harassing people by 

begging and sitting next to cash machines. 

 

313 Sound amplification unless scheduled with DBC or BID for planned activities.  

314 1. Electric scooters as stated 2. People seated on the floor in the town on bedding on 

cushions, purporting to be 'down on their luck' or homeless (who are often people with 

substance abuse issues). 3. Begging 4. Unlicensed musical entertainment of varying quality. 

5. The littering of the town with general litter but also bedding materials. 

 

315 Homeless and drug users causing a nuisance to public  

316 Sadly, there are increasing numbers of homeless people sleeping in the town/shopping centre, 

or their bedding etc is left in doorways. These people need to be helped to find accommodation 

and should not be sleeping rough. 

 

317 no more than what you have already mentioned  

318 Smoking  

319 No.  

320 Men with nipples out  

321 No  

322 Fines for litter dropping should be enforced  

323 I feel along strongly with others that cyclist should not be allowed on canal paths. Priority should 
be givin to walkers and at present there are so many cyclist using the canal paths that walkers 
constantly have to move aside to let them pass. it is also dangerous if walkers have a dog with 
them as often one does not know a cyclist is behind and many cyclist do not slow down they just 
expect everyone to move out of there way. It spoils the walk for so many. Cyclist shoud only be 
allowed to cycle on roads 

 

P
age 301



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

   

324 Loitering in large gangs. What is large? I would say over 12 but others may know better.  

325 The only issue I have is that people who accidentally drop litter are not given the chance to 

pick it up and aren’t educated instead the wardens pounce on you and immediately issue a fine  

I also think more should be done to stop scammers fining people 

 

326 Dropping of cigarette butts is as bad as chewing gum and should be banned in the main town.  

327 Runners should give way to slower pedestrians  

328 On the spot fines for littering including dropping cigarette butts and not cleaning up dog mess ,  

no drinking alcohol . 

 

329 Drinking alcohol / drug related foul mouthed behaviour  

330 Homless persons placing themselves in or near shop entrances . I refuse to enter any 

premises that allow such persons to encamp on or near the entrance. 

 

331 All I would say is that if the order is to work and be a deterrent to anti social behaviour there 

has to a will and means to enforce it. This will require adequate funding and resources, not just  

a token response. 

 

332 Camping, begging  

333 That this becomes enforceable I live in town centre and this anti social behaviour is rife. 

Skateboarding in the Old Town is non stop with the area under the Town Hall used as a 

congregation area during the day as well as early evening when I am in this area. It is irritating 

as well as dangerous for both boarders and pedestrians alike 

 

334 No but better cycling lanes and electric scooter lanes are required especially through the 

Marlowes pedestrianised area or at the very least decent places to secure your bike in the 

town centre if your pushing it. 

 

335 People busking or preaching religion and other items of make believe. Also the street sellers 

pushing for energy or broadband suppliers. 

 

336 There does seem to be an increase in people making their beds in the street. I do have 

sympathy for those without a home and it is a shame that we cannot find a solution but it does 

make it uncomfortable to visit the shops around them. 

 

337 BEGGING. SLEEPING IN DOORWAYS.  

338 So called, homeless, sleeping in town and accumulating stacks of rubbish  

339 Leaving litter!  

340 Rough sleeping detracts from the ambience of the town centre. I appreciate the pressures 

affecting the homeless but there must be more suitable places for them to stay. 

 

341 No  

342 I am a little concerned about the number of rough sleepers in the Marlowes outdoors section. 

They seem to be turning into campsites. The town centre is really not the place for this. 

 

343 If you have a protection order, it must be enforced or it is worthless.  

P
age 302



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

344 Litter, dog fouling.  

345 1) Reduce the maximum speed of mobility scooters. Whilst I support the idea of the availability 

of mobility scooters in the town they should not be allowed to go faster than walking speed. 

Some of the people who ride them just expect everybody to jump out of their way. 2) Pigeons; 

you've done a good job with the Canada Geese. Please see if you can control the numbers of 

pigeons as well and stop them making such a mess everywhere. 

 

346 drunk and disorderly conduct can be intimidating, particularly when I am with my young 

children 

 

347 Rough sleeper & beggers  

348 Not controlling dogs properly, allowing them to jump up at people and prams, even if they are 

on a lead. 

 

349 No  

350 No I think it is managed very well especially monitoring and fining people who drop litter  

351 Drunken rowdy behaviour  

352 Enormous mobility scooters which are driven at speed and with no consideration of 

pedestrians. Rough sleepers and daytime beggars are a threatening presence . 

 

353 I think there is a problem with the level of people smoking at the tables of the coffee shop's. 

Also those who "vape" do not give a dame about other people in the town. 

 

354 Littering.  

355 I really wonder what you can be thinking of, bundling cyclists into a bylaw alongside people 

who urinate on the pavement. What sort of signal does that send about Dacorum being open to 

cyclists. The sight of enforcement officers stopping and issuing fixed penalties to cyclists is 

utterly ridiculous. 

 

356 More to be done to stop cyclist/skaters etc riding through the town centre. It is not enforced 

enough 

 

357 I trust that it is already an offence to drink alcohol in the town centre unless in licensed 

premises. If not that also needs to be banned. I do wonder whether it should be allowed fir  

people to almost set up camp & sleep overnight in the town centre? Shouldn’t people be 

encouraged to go into shelters? I appreciate the people sleeping rough have problems but the 

issue needs addressing. 

 

358 No  

359 sleeping rough in shop doorways-and accompanying mess - mattresses, duvets and litter  

360 Gathering of teenagers sometimes they can be threatening and running around the town 

haphazardly b 

 

361 No  

362 Groups of people behaving in a rowdy or intimidating way. Although this should not be applied 

to groups of people participating in a legitimate demonstration. Poor repair/laying of pedestrian 

surfaces! Motorcycles prohibited from the pedestrian areas. 

 

P
age 303



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 
 

 

363 Ban smoking  

364 Littering I believe you are trying to sort this out.  

365 Littering Drinking alcohol  

366 Druggies..homeless...beggars.it makes our town look awful  

367 I think especially kids on bikes in the town centre should be enforced. Everytime I visit town 

centre they are masses of kids on bikes. Especially at weekends and school holidays. I 

witnessed a old lady knocked down by a group.. Its illegal but they do not care.. 

 

368 People sleeping rough and leaving collections by their bedding they need to be moved  

369 Yes all the homeless sleepers in the Marlows  

370 Drinking  

371 People walking their dogs off lead. Too many distraction for the dog, owner cannot watch the 

dog while shopping. 

 

372 Work should be done to support the homeless people in not needing to live/beg in the PSPO 

area either by council support or using DENS. The PSPO should be actively monitored and 

breaches dealt with quickly and effectively. 

 

P
age 304



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 

45 / 30 

 

 

 

Q8 Please tell us what your relationship is to Dacorum. Please select all 

that apply. 

Answered: 519 Skipped: 135 

 

 

Local resident 

who lives... 

 
Local resident 

who lives... 

 
Person who 

works in... 

 
Local business 

owner/manager. 

 
Land owner 

within the... 

 
Visitor to 

Dacorum 

 
Local 

Councillor... 

 

Parish Council 

 
 

Representative 

of a local... 

 
Employed by 

the Council,... 

 
Other (please 

specify) 
 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 

 
 

 

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES 

Local resident who lives within Dacorum 95.57% 496 

Local resident who lives outside Dacorum 1.73% 9 

Person who works in Dacorum 11.37% 59 

Local business owner/manager. 2.50% 13 

Land owner within the proposed area 0.96% 5 

Visitor to Dacorum 1.35% 7 

Local Councillor (Town or County). 0.77% 4 

Parish Council 0.19% 1 

Representative of a local community or voluntary group 1.54% 8 

Employed by the Council, Police or any other agency with an interest 3.08% 16 

Other (please specify) 2.50% 13 

 

 
 

# OTHER (PLEASE SPECIFY) DATE 

1 Horse stabled in Hemel therefore in Hemel tc a lot 4/6/2022 12:10 AM 

2 HCC employee. 4/4/2022 10:20 PM 

3 Observer 4/4/2022 9:31 PM 

4 and I pay my council tax on time!!! 4/2/2022 2:48 PM 

 

Page 305



Public Spaces Protection Order - Hemel Hempstead town centre 

46 / 30 

 

 

5 I have lived in Dacorum all my 65 years 11 months and 3 weeks 4/2/2022 12:10 PM 

6 mayor 3/30/2022 12:48 AM 

7 Have lived in Dacorum most of life 3/19/2022 11:11 AM 

8 Former resident who visits often 3/17/2022 7:57 PM 

9 Retired 3/17/2022 6:26 PM 

10 No 3/17/2022 3:35 PM 

11 Council volunteer, conservation, litter picker, street champion. 3/17/2022 1:22 PM 

12 Elderly and disabled. 3/17/2022 12:38 PM 

13 Own and live in a property very close to Hemel town centre. 3/17/2022 12:00 PM 

 

Page 306



ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR, CRIME AND POLICING ACT 

2014 SECTION 59 

PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 

 

 
This order is made by Dacorum Borough Council (the 'Council') and shall be known 

as the Public Spaces Protection Order (Hemel Hempstead) 2022. 

 
 

PRELIMINARY 

 
1. The Council, in making this Order is satisfied on reasonable grounds that: 

 
The activities identified below have been carried out in public places within the 

Council's area and have had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those 

in the locality, 

and that: 

 
the effect, or likely effect, of the activities: 

 
is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature, 

 
is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable, and 

justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice. 

2. The Council is satisfied that the prohibitions imposed by this Order are 

reasonable to impose in order to prevent the detrimental effect of these 

activities from continuing, occurring or recurring, orto reduce that detrimental 

effect orto reduce the risk of its continuance, occurrence orrecurrence. 

3. The Council has had particular regard to the rights and freedoms set out in 

Article 10 (right of freedom of expression) and Article 11 (right of freedom of 

assembly) of the European Convention on Human Rights and has concluded 

that the restrictions on such rights and freedoms imposed by this Order are 

lawful, necessary and proportionate. 

 
 

 
I Page 307



THE ACTIVITIES 

 
4. The Activities prohibited by the Order are: 

 
i) Not to spit (including discharge of chewing gum), urinate or defecate 

ii) Not to cycle or skateboard 

iii) Not to use an e-scooter 
 
 

 

Tl::lEPROHIBlTION 

 
5. A person shall not engage in any of the Activities in 4(i) above anywhere 

within the restricted area as shown shaded blue on the attached map labelled 

'Public Space Protection Order - Plan 1. 

6. A person shall not engage in any of the Activities in 4(ii) and 4(iii) above 

anywhere within the restricted area as shown shaded blue on the attached map 

labelled 'Public Space Protection Order - Plan 2'. 

 
 

 

EXCEPTION 

 

 
7. The prohibition of the Activity specified in 4 (i) shall not apply to toilets open to 

the public. 

 
 

 

PERIOD FOR WHICH THIS ORDER HAS EFFECT 

 
8. This Order will come into force at midnight on 29 July 2022 and will expire at 

midnight on 28Juty2025. 

 

9. At any point before the expiry  of this three year period the Council can extend the 

Order by up to three years if they are satisfied on reasonable grounds that this 

is necessary to prevent the activities identified in the Order from occurring or 

recurring or to prevent an increase in the frequency or seriousness of those 

activities after that time. 

 
 
 

 
2 Page 308



WHAT HAPPENS IF YOU FAIL TO COMPLY WITH THIS ORDER? 

 
10. Section 67 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 says that 

it is a criminal offence for a person without reasonable excuse - 

 
• to do anything that the person is prohibited from doing by a public 

spaces protection order, or 

•  to fail to comply with a requirement to which the person is subject 

under a public spaces protection order 

 
A person guilty of an offence under section 67 is liable on conviction in the 

Magistrates Court to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale 

 

FIXED PENALTY 

 

11. A constable, police community support officer or authorised council 

enforcement officer may issue a fixed penalty notice to anyone he or she 

believes has committed an offence under section 67 of the Anti-Social 

Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act. You will have 14 days to pay the fixed 

penalty of £75. If you pay the fixed penalty within the 14 days you will not be 

prosecuted. 

 

APPEALS 

 
 

12. Any challenge to this order must be made in the High Court by an interested 

person within six weeks of it being made. An interested person is someone 

who lives in, regularly works in, or visits the restricted area. This means that only 

those who are directly affected by the restrictions have the power to 

chall1;;nge. The right to challenge also exists where an order is varied by the 

Council. 

 
13. Interested persons can challenge the validity of this order on two grounds: that 

the Council did not have power to make the order, or to include particular 

prohibitions or requirements; or that one of the requirements of the legislation has 

not been complied with. 

3 Page 309



 

14. When an application is made the High Court can decide to suspend the operation 

of the order pending the Court's decision, in part or in totality. The High Court 

has.the ability to uphold the order, quash it, or vary it. 

 
Dated:  

 

 

 
The Common Seal of 

Dacorum Borough 

Council was affixed in 

the presence of: 

- 

Authorised Signatory 

 

 

Authorised Signatory 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

4 Page 310



·•J?:STJS 

PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER - PLAN 1 

 
 
 
 

 
Gadebridge 

Park , ,,
 

' 
,I 

 

 

,,,,
,.' 

' ,,. . 
,1 ) ,., 

 

<> 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7 / 
tl'EM jE' ,' 

-/ ' 

\' ,_.,.r:;"" 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 Cr!d e t : 
, Ground 'Ji m 

',,   _ _ ,_ .[;  Pav 

1:::::---..._ · ' '' - :; [ 1 
-- ... 1..l !.i 

 

-     _r l.!'- - -  II 
 

 

 

 
:rid :e t , 

Ground : Pu 

 
 

r
B
-r
O
•
R
x•

O
m
UG

r
H
- 

© Crow n copyr igh t and database rights 2018 OS 100018935 

Valuation & Estates 
Dacorum Borough Council 

The Forum 
Marlowes 

Heme! Hempstead 
Herts 

HP11DN 

 
 

 
Scale: 1:6000 

Date: 28/02/2018 

' 

Page 311



 

Page 312



( e met,ery1 

,, 

:: 

,1 

k J•m I• 

PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER - PLAN 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

\,, 
 
 
 
 

 

106111 

;;: ) 

' 1' \Q] 
1' -: ', 

'- --_.--=- ( \ 

[ 
J r \ \ \ 

1 

,,::: _

-
.     \I 

- 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

l l 
11 

rI O ,I ,i 
--, -  -- -=.-=.-. - -· 
Th e H e m e l 

H emp stea d 

School 

Playing Field 
 

 

 

atnh   [j ' 

I 

,
,
,
, 

 

 

, 

' r--=,   I 
 
 
 
 

I
BORO
J
UGH 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 OS 100018935 

Valuation & Estates 
Dacorum Borough Council 

The Forum 
Marlowes 

Heme! Hempstead 
Herts 

HP1 1DN 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Scale: 1:3000 

Date: 05/04/2018 

  

I 

\ 

, 

C' 

11 

Page 313



 

Page 314



Page 315



Page 316



Page 317



Page 318



Page 319



Page 320



Page 321



Page 322



September 2019 V2 1 

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template 

Policy / service / decision Town Centre PSPO 

Description of what is being impact assessed 

What are the aims of the service, proposal, project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do you 

need to reference/consider any related projects? 

Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the public, service users, partners, staff, Members, etc 

It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment,  dependent on likely level of impact 

The aim is to renew the  Public Spaces Protection Order in Hemel Town Centre for the purposes of preventing the riding of bicycles, e-scooters and 

skateboards, as well as the activities of spitting, urination and defecation.  This was first introduced in 2019. 

Those affected are the users of said items for riding, as well as those affected by the use (e.g. pedestrians in the area).  The aspect of urination, 

defecation and spitting can apply to all and any party carrying out the activity. 

Evidence 

What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups? 

(include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects 

or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

The last 3 years of the PSPO in the town centre showed no detrimental impact on any protected group.  The most likely would be 

those seen as “young” due to skateboards, but the PSPO has shown that it can be any age range involved.   

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups?  If you have not consulted other people, please 

explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

P
age 323



September 2019 V2 2 

A full public consultation has taken place, as well as Police and Hertfordshire County Council  

Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others) 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 

good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, 

detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own 

understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any 

mitigation. 

 The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment. 

 Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability). 

Protected group 

Summary of impact 

What do you know?  What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service 

users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t 

and why? Feedback/complaints?  

Negative 

impact / 

outcome 

Neutral 

impact / 

outcome 

Positive 

impact / 

outcome 

Age No one age range has been shown to be more impacted than 
another.  The PSPO for instance prevents the riding of a skateboard 
in the town centre, but not up to it (thus allowing use to travel) and 
can be carried at that point. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Disability (physical, 

intellectual, mental) 

Refer to CIA Guidance Notes 

and Mental Illness & 

Learning Disability Guide 

The use of the PSPO has a positive impact on those with visual or 
audio impairments who may be detrimentally affected by those using 
bikes, skateboards or e-scooters due to not being as aware by their 
presence and increasing risks of accidents.  Mobility scooters are 
not affected.   
In terms of urination, defecation and spitting, those with medical 
issues that affect this are recognised and will not be penalised as a 
result based on them able to demonstrate such a condition. 

☐ ☒ ☒ 

P
age 324



September 2019 V2 3 

Gender reassignment None 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

Race and ethnicity None 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

Religion or belief None 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

Sex None 
☐ ☐ ☐ 

Sexual orientation None 
☐ ☐ ☐ 

Not protected 

characteristics but 

consider other 

factors, e.g. carers, 

veterans, homeless, 

low income, 

loneliness, rurality 

etc. 

None 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 325



September 2019 V2 4 

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan 

Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of 

these.  Please detail below the actions that you intend to take. 

Action taken/to be taken 

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action) 
Date 

Person 

responsible 
Action complete 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 

P
age 326



September 2019 V2 5 

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below. 

N/A 

Completed by (all involved in CIA) Richard Le-Brun 

Date 4th May 2022 

Signed off by (AD from different Directorate 

if being presented to CMT / Cabinet) 

N/A 

Date N/A 

Entered onto CIA database - date  

To be reviewed by (officer name)  

Review date  

 

 

P
age 327



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Title of report: Renewal of Dog Public Space Protection Order  

Date:  

Report on behalf of:  Councillor Banks, Portfolio Holder for Regulatory and Community  

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Appendix 1 Overview and Scrutiny Paper June 14th 2022  

Appendix 2 Overview and Scrutiny Minutes 14th June 2022  

Appendix 3 Cabinet Paper 2019 

Appendix 4 Community Impact Assessment   

Background papers: 

 

Public Space Protection Orders – Guidance for Councils, Local Government Association  

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, Anti-Social Behaviour Powers, 

Statutory Guidance for Frontline Professionals, Home Office  

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

PSPO – Public Space Protection Order  

PCSO- Police Community Support Officer  

ASB – Anti-Social Behaviour  

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Emma Walker, Head of Regulatory Services    

 

Emma.Walker@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228861 (ext. 2861) 

 

  

Corporate Priorities A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 

 

 

   

Cabinet 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 328

Agenda Item 11

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


Wards affected All Wards  

Purpose of the report: 

 

1. To approve the extension of the Dog Control 

Public Space Protection Order, as the current 

order will expire on 28th July 2022.  

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. That Cabinet approves the extension of the Dog 

Control Public Space Protection Order.  

 

Period for post policy/project review:  

 

  

Page 329



1 Introduction/Background:  

 
The current Public Space Protection Order (Dog Control) 2019 is due to expire on the 
28th of July 2022.  There is a need for this to be extended or withdrawn.  

 
2 Key Issues/proposals/main body of the report:   
 

Under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, local authorities may 
make orders to prohibit specified activities, and/or require specified activities to be 
carried on in accordance with certain requirements, within a designated area in the 
public domain, which may include public highways and footways, parks and open 
spaces, pedestrianised areas, or similar. Such orders are known as Public Spaces 
Protection Orders (PSPO). 
 
PSPOs can be used by authorities to control a variety of problematic behaviours which 
satisfy two statutory conditions: 
 
“The first condition is that— 
 
(a) activities carried on in a public place within the authority's area have had a 

detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, or 
 
(b) It is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place within that area and that 

they will have such an effect. 
 
The second condition is that the effect, or likely effect, of the activities— 
 
(a) is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature, 
 
(b) is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable, and 
 
(c) Justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice.” 

 
Prohibitions or requirements on activities covered by a PSPO must be reasonable in 
order to: 
 
(a) prevent the detrimental effect from continuing, occurring or recurring, or 
 
(b) Reduce that detrimental effect or to reduce the risk of its continuance, occurrence 

or recurrence. 
 

Where a PSPO is in force, it is a criminal offence to do anything which is prohibited 
under the Order, or to fail to comply with requirements of the Order. Persons guilty of 
such offences are liable, on summary conviction, to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the 
standard scale (currently up to £1,000). Offences may also be disposed of by way of 
a fixed penalty notice of up to £100, payable to the local authority our fines are currently 
set at £80. 
 
PSPOs may be enforced by a police officer, PCSO, or a person authorised by the local 
authority for that purpose.  
 
A PSPO will be valid for a period of up to 3 years, at the end of which it may be 
extended. Orders may also be varied or discharged by the local authority at any time 
during their validity. 
 

Page 330



Prior to making, extending, varying or discharging a PSPO, a local authority must: 

 Consult the chief officer of police and the Policing and Crime Commissioner for 
the applicable area; any community representatives that it is thought appropriate 
to consult; and the owners/occupiers of land included within the restricted area; 

 Publish the draft Order (or details of variation/discharge proposal); 

 Notify any parish/town councils within the restricted area, and the County 
Council; 

 
The power to make PSPOs replaced and consolidated several earlier area-control 
orders, including designated public place orders which have previously been used by 
the Council in respect of street drinking.    
 
PSPOs may be challenged in the High Court by any person who lives in, regularly 
works in, or regularly visits a restricted area, within 6 weeks of an Order being made 
or varied. 
 

3 Options and alternatives considered 
 

Options to be considered include withdrawal, amendment or renewal of the Dog 
Control PSPO.  
 
Withdrawal would reduce the powers available to the Council to deal with nuisance 
dog behaviour including fouling, means to clear fouling, dogs to be put on a lead at 
request of an authorised officer and exclusion of dogs from children’s play equipment.  
 
Renewal would allow officers to deal with the issues above by way of enforcement 
action where dog behaviour has breached one of the orders.  
 
The department has continued to receive requests relating to anti-social dog 
behaviour. In addition to this, enforcement action has been taken by the Council’s pilot 
enforcement partner, District Enforcement Ltd.  

 
3.1 Current Orders 
 

Dog Fouling 
 
Order One  
 
A person in charge of a dog in any public place within the Borough of Dacorum 
(excluding National Trust land shown in Schedule 3) must forthwith clear up 
and remove any faeces deposited by the dog and either take away the faeces 
or place the faeces in a general litter or dog waste bin; 
 
Order Two  
 
A person in charge of a dog in any public place within the Borough of Dacorum 
(Schedule 2) must comply with any request from a Constable or a person duly 
authorised by the Council to clear up and/or remove any faeces deposited by 
the dog where they have otherwise failed to do so. The faeces must either be 
taken away or placed in a general litter or dog waste bin; 
 
Order Three  
 

Page 331



A person in charge of a dog in any public place within the Borough of Dacorum 
(Schedule 2) must have with them an appropriate means to pick up dog faeces 
deposited by that dog.  The obligation is complied with if, after a request from 
an authorised officer, the person in charge of the dog produces an appropriate 
means to pick up dog faeces. 
 
Dog Control 
 
Order Four 
 
A person in charge of a dog on any public place within the Borough of Dacorum 
(Schedule 2) must comply with a direction given to them by a Constable or a 
person duly authorised by the Council to put and keep the dog on a lead unless: 
 
(a) they have reasonable excuse for failing to do so, or 
 
(b) the owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of the land 
has consented (generally or specifically) to his failing to do so. 
 
Exclusion of Dogs in Specified Areas 
 
Order Five 
 
A person in charge of a dog in a public space within the borough of Dacorum 
Borough Council is prohibited from allowing the dog to enter the “Dog Exclusion 
Zones” these include enclosed children’s play areas, adventure playgrounds 
and splash parks (shown in Schedule 1)  

 
3.2  Exception 
 

Nothing in this Order shall apply to a person who –  
 
a) Is registered as a blind person on a register complied under section 29 of 

the National Assistance Act 1948; or 
 
b) is deaf, in respect of a dog trained by Hearing Dogs for Deaf People 

(registered charity number 293358) and upon which he relies for 
assistance; or 

 
c) has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term 

adverse effect on the ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities, in 
respect of a dog trained by any current or future members of Assistance 
Dogs UK or any other charity registered in the UK with a purpose of training 
assistance dogs and upon which he relies for assistance 

 
d) has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term 

adverse effect on the ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities and in 
the reasonable opinion of the Council that person relies upon the 
assistance of the dog in connection with their disability  

 
For the purpose of the orders  
 
a)  A person who habitually has a dog in his possession shall be taken to be 

in charge of the dog at any time unless, at the time of the offence, some 
other person is in charge of the dog  

Page 332



b)  Being unaware of the defecation (whether by reason of not being in the 
vicinity or otherwise), or not having a device or other suitable means of 
removing the faeces shall not be a reasonable excuse for failing to remove 
the faeces. 

 
c)  The Borough of Dacorum is shown in Schedule 2 
 
d)  A person duly authorised by the Council means an employee, partnership 

agency or contractor of Dacorum Borough Council who is authorised in 
writing by Dacorum Borough Council for the purpose of giving direction 
under the order. 

 
4 Consultation 
 

Public Consultation on the measures that are currently in place for the Dog Control 
Public Space Protection Order has been carried out. In addition to this, Hertfordshire 
Police, Hertfordshire Highways, Boxmoor Trust, National Trust and Parish Councils 
have been consulted.  
 
 After the consultation period, National Trust have since stated that they wish to review 
the position regarding National Trust land and previous adoption of the ‘Stick and Flick’ 
approach. National Trust will be meeting with Officers on 1st July to look at options to 
review the current arrangements in the Public Space Protection Order (Dog Control) 
which may result in a variation being brought to Cabinet at a later date.   
 
Members asked that the splash park dog exclusion zone be amended to allow the café 
to be used by dog walkers. Upon further investigation of the area and consideration of 
their wishes to protect families and children using the splash park, it is currently 
deemed impractical to amend the geography of the area to accommodate this. 
However, as part of the old town project, this will be reviewed and, in the meantime, 
there will be additional signage to direct dog owners to the food businesses and 
facilities in the Old Town area.  

 
5 Financial and value for money implications: 
 

The local authority must arrange for the display of signage advising of the effect of the 
Order. There is no prescribed format nor size requirements for these signs, and costs 
will ultimately depend upon the number of signs required and the design/materials 
used. There will be ongoing maintenance costs to replace any damaged signage. 
Existing signage for the Dog Control PSPO is in situ, so there will be maintenance and 
replacement costs for damaged signage.  
 
There is also a cost for enforcement of the Public Space Protection Order, this is 
currently enforced by District Enforcement Ltd as a pilot scheme, with 22% of the 
income from these fines going to the Council and 78% retained by District Enforcement 
Ltd. If this scheme is not continued, there will be an additional cost associated with 
enforcement of this order.  

 
Value for money 
 
PSPOs are seen as a more cost-effective means of controlling the activities in question 
rather than under byelaws, and they also provide for a wider range of enforcement 
options. 

 
6 Legal Implications 

Page 333



 
Public Space Protection orders are made under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014. Certain criteria must be met prior to the Council making the order.  

 
7 Risk implications: 
 

There will be risks associated with Council enforcement officers and others who will be 
tasked with enforcing the PSPO and appropriate training will need to be given.  Risk 
assessments will be completed for the enforcement activity and all reasonable 
precautions taken to minimise any risk. 
 
There are also reputational risks in terms of the Council being perceived as enforcing 
against vulnerable persons and seeking to criminalise certain behaviours which would 
not normally attract fixed penalty notices or prosecution for non-payment. 
 
The PSPO will raise expectations that prohibited behaviours will be eliminated entirely; 
however due to difficulties in identifying some of the contraventions and taking a 
proportionate approach to enforcement there will not always be immediate results 
which will be noticeable to the public. 

 

Risk Description  Mitigations  
RAG 
Status  

Bad publicity due to level 
of fine issued 

 Consultation has taken place to understand 
any issues that may lead to bad publicity 

 Fines are standard for PSPO as agreed by 
Cabinet 

 Communication in place and will be continued 
to seek compliance prior to need for fines to 
be issued 

  

Poor payment of fines, 
therefore limited impact 

 Work has taken place with legal about 
streamlining prosecution process for non-
payment including standardising templates 

 More emphasis put on initial messaging to 
those receiving fines about consequences, as 
well as better follow up 

 Past experience of collection of such fines 
shows a high payment rate (above 70%) and 
all others go to prosecution 

  

Lack of resources to 
take these fines forward 

 3rd Party on street enforcement team in place, 
working 7 days a week 

 Re-investment of fines to increase capacity if 
needed 

  

Lack of evidence to 
support follow up action 

 All Officers are required to provide statements 
to support offence as well as attend court 

 Use of body worn cameras by 3rd party 
enforcement officers 

 Quality assurance checks carried out by 
Management 

 Contract with 3rd party company results in 
payment only for each successfully paid fine 

  

Inconsistent approach to 
issuing, leading to loss 
of reputation 

 Operational policy in place around fixed 
penalty notices 

 Training of officers issuing tickets 

  

Page 334



 Monthly performance checks to understand 
what has been issued by whom and why 

Cost of administering 
the scheme outweighs 
the benefits 

 Contract with 3rd party company results in 
payment only for each successfully paid fine 

 Systems set up to minimise cost of the 
scheme, including on line payment system 

  

3rd party officers fail to 
follow council policies 
and procedures, leading 
to loss of reputation 

 Clear contract in place with 3rd party 
 Monthly performance and monitoring 

meetings 
 Team leader conducts regular 1-2-1 

meetings, team meetings and checks 

  

Proposal not agreed 
leading to limitations of 
action by officers 

 Offences would have to be pursued through 
use of legal notices where feasible (e.g. 
Community Protection Notices) or prosecution 

 Those FPNs already in place could still be 
enforced at the levels already set 

 

 
8 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 
 

A Community Impact Assessment was carried out in 2019, and this exercise was 
repeated in 2022. The Public Space Protection Order continues to have a positive 
impact on the community by addressing antisocial dog ownership by a minority of 
people. Dogs that aid those with disabilities are excluded from the requirements of the 
Order.  
 
The authority must also consider its proposed restrictions against the rights of freedom 
of expression (Article 10) and assembly (Article 11) under the European Convention 
on Human Rights.   The proposed restrictions have been considered against the rights 
in Article 10 and 11 but it is not considered that there will be any infringement on these 
rights.  If there is any infringement it is considered that it is proportionate for the 
prevention of disorder and crime. 

 
9 Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, 

community safety) 
 

This Order will improve community safety issues regarding dog behaviour.  
 
10 Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other 

resources) 
 

The continuation of this order should not have any implications on current Council 
Infrastructure. Currently enforcement of this order is carried out by District Enforcement 
Ltd. If this pilot is not continued, resources will need to be found internally to enforce 
this order. 

 
11 Statutory Comments 
 

Deputy Monitoring Officer: 
 

Further to section 60 of the Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014, a public 
space protection order cannot be in force for more than three years unless it is 
extended before its expiry.  The requirement to undertake the necessary consultation 
in relation of the proposed extension of the Dog Control PSPO has been met and will 
not, therefore, pose a risk of legal challenge. 

Page 335



 
Deputy S151 Officer: 

 
Enforcement of the current PSPO is carried out by a third party under a pilot scheme, 
who retain a proportion of income generated from fines issued.   Should this 
arrangement cease after the pilot period has ended, any costs associated with 
enforcement of the PSPO would be expected to be met within the current approved 
resource for the service.  

 
12 Conclusions:  
 

In order to make a recommendation to cabinet the officers must ensure that the 
legal requirements mentioned in section 2 of this report have been properly 
considered.  
Activities included in the PSPO have continued within the Authorities area and 
have a detrimental impact on the quality of life of those in the locality  
 
This point can be demonstrated by the results of the consultations, 754 
respondents have stated that dog behaviour has detrimentally impacted their life, 
in addition to this Environmental and Community Protection has received 471 
animal related service requests indicating this is a concern for members of the 
public. 216 requests have been submitted to Environmental Services to clear dog 
fouling on the highway. Despite the PSPO being introduced 689 respondents 
highlighted they had come across antisocial dog behaviours within the borough 
and 28 Fixed Penalty Notices have been served for breach of the PSPO 
demonstrating it is likely that these behaviours have continued to be carried out 
in a public place and be persistent and unreasonable justifying the renewal of the 
PSPO.  
 
The intention of the OSC report was to amend the splash bark dog exclusion 
zone to allow dog owners to use the café facilities. This however would prove 
logistically difficult and costly, and would be at the expense of the splash park 
users. Therefore, Portfolio Holder suggests that this is kept the same and that 
signage is installed in line with general plans for the park to redirect dog owners 
to facilities in the nearby old town.  
 
Officers and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommend the PSPO is 
extended, with the same Orders approved in 2019.  

 
 

Page 336



 
 

Report for: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date of meeting: 14th June 2022 

Part: 1 

If Part II, reason:  

 

Title of report:  

Contact: 
Cllr Julie Banks, Portfolio Holder for Community & Regulatory 
Services 
Emma Walker – Group Manager ECP 
Dawn Rhoden – Team Leader Operations 
 

Purpose of report: 1. Consider if the Dog Control PSPO should be extended 

2. Consider if further consultation should occur around new 
areas of control 

Recommendations 
1. To approve the continuation the PSPO in its current form for 

a further period of 3 years  
 

Corporate 
objectives: 

A Clean safe and enjoyable environment 

Implications: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
‘Value for money’ 
implications 

Financial 
The local authority must arrange for the display of signage 
advising of the effect of the Order. There is no prescribed 
format nor size requirements for these signs, and costs will 
ultimately depend upon the number of signs required and the 
design/materials used. There will be ongoing maintenance 
costs to replace any damaged signage. 
 
Value for money 
 

PSPO’s are seen as a more cost-effective means of 
controlling the activities in question than under 
byelaws, also providing a wider range of 
enforcement options. 

Agenda item: 
 

Summary 

Page 337



Risk implications There are also reputational risks in terms of the council 
being perceived as enforcing against vulnerable persons 
and seeking to criminalise certain behaviours which 
wouldn’t normally attract fixed penalty notices or 
prosecution for non-payment. 
 
There are also limited resources for enforcement and 
therefore enforcement will have to be targeted at certain 
periods. The PSPO will raise expectations that 
prohibited behaviours will be eliminated entirely; 
however due to difficulties in identifying some of the 
contraventions and taking a proportionate approach to 
enforcement there will not always be immediate results 
which will be noticeable to the public. 

Community Impact 
Assessment 

Community Impact Assessment reviewed 

Health and safety 
Implications 

Some Health & Safety implications may arise from the 
enforcement of orders, this will be incorporated within 
individual service risk assessments for authorised 
enforcing officers. 

Consultees: Hertfordshire Police 
Hertfordshire Highways 
Residents of Dacorum 
Boxmoor Trust 
National Trust 
Parish Councils 

Background 
papers: 

Strategic and Planning Overview and Scrutiny Report 20th 
November 2018 

Cabinet Report 19th March 2019 

Historical 
background 
(please give a brief 
background to this 
report to enable it 
to be considered in 
the right context). 

A Public Space Protection Order (Dog Control) has been in 
place for the past 3 years, this must be renewed every 3 years. 

Glossary of 
acronyms and any 
other abbreviations 
used in this report: 

PSPO - Public Space Protection Order 

FPNs – Fixed Penalty Notices 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 

The current Public Spaces Protection Order (Dog Control) 2019 is due to expire on 

the 28th July 2022.  This report shows the consultation response as to if there is a 

need for this to be extended or withdrawn. 

Page 338



 

2. Background 
 
Under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, local authorities may 
make orders to prohibit specified activities, and/or require specified activities to be 
carried on in accordance with certain requirements, within a designated area in the 
public domain, which may include public highways and footways, parks and open 
spaces, pedestrianised areas, or similar. Such orders are known as Public Spaces 
Protection Orders (PSPO). 

 
PSPO’s can be used by authorities to control a variety of problematic behaviours which 
satisfy two statutory conditions: 

 
“The first condition is that— 
(a) activities carried on in a public place within the authority's area have had 

a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, or 

(b) it is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place within that area 

and that they will have such an effect. 

 
The second condition is that the effect, or likely effect, of the activities— 
(a) is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature, 

(b) is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable, and 

(c) justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice.” 

 
Prohibitions or requirements on activities covered by a PSPO must be reasonable in 
order to: 

 
(a) prevent the detrimental effect from continuing, occurring or recurring, or 

(b) reduce that detrimental effect or to reduce the risk of its continuance, 

occurrence or recurrence. 

 
Where a PSPO is in force, it is a criminal offence to do anything which is prohibited 
under the Order, or to fail to comply with requirements of the Order. Persons guilty of 
such offences are liable, on summary conviction, to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the 
standard scale (currently up to £1,000). Offences may also be disposed of by way of 
a fixed penalty notice of up to £100, payable to the local authority our fines are currently 
set at £80. 

 
PSPOs may be enforced by a police officer, PCSO, or a person authorised by the local 
authority for that purpose.  
 
A PSPO will be valid for a period of up to 3 years, at the end of which it may be 
extended. Orders may also be varied or discharged by the local authority at any time 
during their validity. 

 
Prior to making, extending, varying or discharging a PSPO, a local authority must: 

 Consult the chief officer of police and the Policing and Crime 

Commissioner for the applicable area; any community representatives 

that it is thought appropriate to consult; and the owners/occupiers of land 

included within the restricted area; 

 Publish the draft Order (or details of variation/discharge proposal); 

Page 339



 Notify any parish/town councils within the restricted area, and the County 

Council; 

 
with regards to its proposals. The authority must also consider its proposed restrictions 
against the rights of freedom of expression (Article 10) and assembly (Article 11) under 
the European Convention on Human Rights.   The proposed restrictions have been 
considered against the rights in Article 10 and 11 but it is not considered that there will 
be any infringement on these rights.  If there is any infringement it is considered that it 
is proportionate for the prevention of disorder and crime. 

 
 

The power to make PSPO’s replaced and consolidated several earlier area-control 

orders, including designated public place orders which have previously been used by 

the Council in respect of street drinking.    

 

PSPO’s may be challenged in the High Court by any person who lives in, regularly 
works in or regularly visits a restricted area, within 6 weeks of an Order being made or 
varied. 

 

3. Consultation Responses 

A public consultation was carried out in March 2022 to gather views on if the order 
should continue, a summary of the results follow (Please note that for all schedules 
stated in the following questions they can be seen in Appendix 1): 
 
  
Dog Fouling 

 
3.1 A person in charge of a dog in any public place within the Borough of 

Dacorum (excluding National Trust land shown in Schedule 3 must 
forthwith clear up and remove any faeces deposited by the dog and 
either take away the faeces or place the faeces in a general litter or dog 
waste bin. 

Note – The National Trust specifically requested to be not included in this part of 

the PSPO as they prefer the stick and flick method) 

Question.  Do you agree or disagree that with the continuation of the order that 

faeces deposited by a dog must be removed and either taken away or 

placed in a general litter or dog waste bin within the areas shown on the 

map in Schedule 3 (Please note this excludes National Trust land)? 

 Responses % 

Yes  I agree 1097 95.31 

No I don't 
agree 46 

4.0 

Don't know 8 0.70 

 

 

3.2 A person in charge of a dog in any public place within the Borough of Dacorum 
(Schedule 2) must comply with any request from a Constable or a person duly 

Page 340



authorised by the Council to clear up and/or remove any faeces deposited by 
the dog where they have otherwise failed to do so. The faeces must either be 
taken away or placed in a general litter or dog waste bin. 

 

Question. Do you agree or disagree with the continuation of the order that if any 

person responsible for a dog fails to clear up and/or remove any faeces 

deposited by the dog they can be requested by a Constable or an 

authorised officer to do so within the areas shown on the map in 

Schedule 2. 

  

 

 

 

 

3.3 A person in charge of a dog in any public place within the Borough of 
Dacorum (Schedule 2) must have with them an appropriate means to pick 
up dog faeces deposited by that dog.  The obligation is complied with if, 
after a request from an authorised officer, the person in charge of the dog 
produces an appropriate means to pick up dog faeces. 

 

Question. Do you agree or disagree with the continuation of the order that any 
person responsible for a dog must have with them an appropriate 
means to pick up dog faeces deposited by that dog within the areas 
shown on the map in Schedule 2? 

  Responses % 

Yes  I agree 1016 93.47 

No I don't agree 61 5.61 

Don't know 10 0.92 

 

Dog Control 

3.4 A person in charge of a dog in any public place within the Borough of Dacorum 
(Schedule 2) must comply with a direction given to them by a Constable or a 
person duly authorised by the Council to put and keep the dog on a lead 
unless: 

 a) they have reasonable excuse for failing to do so, or 
b) the owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of 
the land has consented (generally or specifically) to his failing to do 
so. 
 

Note - Dacorum Borough Council Staff are authorised alongside their 

contractors. Herts Police obviously do not prioritise PSPO 

  Responses % 

Yes  I agree 1049 96.42 

No I don't agree 31 2.85 

Don't know 8 0.74 

Page 341



enforcement however them being named allows them to use the 

powers if the need arises. 

 

Question. Do you agree or disagree with the continuation of the order that 
dogs must be placed on a lead if required by a Constable or an 
authorised officer within the areas shown on the map in Schedule 
2?   

  Responses % 

Yes  I agree 944 90.33 

No I don't agree 65 6.22 

Don't know/None of the above 36 3.45 

   

 

Exclusion of Dogs in Specified Areas 

3.5  A person in charge of a dog in a public space within the borough of 

Dacorum Borough Council is prohibited from allowing the dog to enter the 

“Dog Exclusion Zones” which include enclosed children’s play areas, 

adventure playgrounds and splash parks (listed in Schedule1). Dogs are 

also not permitted within 3 metres of any unenclosed play equipment.  

 

Question. Do you agree or disagree with continuation of the order that dogs 

should be prohibited from all children’s play areas? 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Service Requests 

Over the last year the Animal Welfare Team has received 471 animal related 

service requests, these include dog on dog attacks, dogs worrying livestock, 

fouling, complainant’s perception of excessive numbers of dogs being walked 

by individuals and businesses and animal welfare concerns.   

 

The Clean Safe and Green Team received 216 requests to clear fouling from 

pavements (dog waste is not removed from grassed areas so there are no 

figures on this). 

 

5. Enforcement 

  Responses % 

Yes  I agree 902 86.65 

No I don't agree 113 10.85 

Don't know 26 2.50 

Page 342



As you will be aware District Enforcement started on a 12 month pilot contract 

with us in November 2021 they have issued the following FPNs 01 November 

2021 to 31 April 2022; 

Offence Type Offence Type Count 

PSPO-Dog Bags 16 

PSPO-Dog Fouling  6 

PSPO-Dogs Exclusion Zones 2 

PSPO-Dogs on Lead by Direction 4 
 

We are fully aware that the vast majority of dog owners are responsible and 

have always complied with the appropriate legislation in regards to their dogs, 

however the complaints and the issuance of FPN shows that not all owners are 

responsible. 

 

6. Other Concerns Raised During Consultation 

 
 
Question.  Have you come across any of the following activities within 

Dacorum? Please select all that apply. 

 

 Responses (Total Respondents 689) 
Individuals walking more dogs than 
they could reasonably control 400 
Dogs being walked off the lead in 
locations you consider inappropriate 360 
Dogs being walked in locations you 
believe to be inappropriate 160 

Have you have experienced any other 
issues regarding the behaviour of dogs 
and dog owners in public areas within 
Dacorum?  (Please specify below) 421 

 

 
 
 
Question. If you have experience of /or have witnessed any of the following 

behavioural activities, has this behaviour had a detrimental impact on 

your quality of life within, or usage of, the public areas within 

Dacorum? Please select all that apply. 

 Responses (Total Respondents 754) 

Dog Fouling 627 

Page 343



Individuals walking more dogs than they 

could reasonably control 

290 

Dogs being walked off lead in locations 

you consider inappropriate 

274 

Dogs off the lead in appropriate locations, 

however out of control or acting 

aggressively 

318 

Dogs being walked in locations you 

believe to be inappropriate 

138 

Dogs in children’s play areas 174 

 

 

Question. How many dogs do you believe is a reasonable number for one 

individual to walk and monitor? 

 Responses (total number of respondents (973) 

1-2 564 

3-4 301 

5-6 36 

7-8 5 

9+ 2 

Don’t know 65 

 

 

7. Other concerns Raised during consultation 

General feedback was also requested on other areas of concern, this can 

be seen in Appendix 7 

8.0 Recommendations 

 

In order to make a recommendation to this committee the officers must 

ensure that the legal requirements mentioned in section 2 of this report have 

been properly considered.  

 

Activities included in the PSPO have continued within the Authorities area 

and have a detrimental impact on the quality of life of those in the locality  

This point can be demonstrated by the information in section 6, above 754 

Page 344



respondents have stated that dog behaviour has detrimentally impacted 

their life, in addition to this Environmental and Community Protection has 

received 471 animal related service requests (Section 4) indication this is a 

concern for members of the public. In addition to this 216 requests have 

been submitted to Environmental Services to clear dog fouling on the 

highway. Despite the PSPO being introduced 689 (Section 6) respondents 

highlighted they had come across antisocial dog behaviours within the 

borough and 28 Fixed Penalty Notices have been served (Section 5) 

demonstrating it is likely that these behaviours have continued to be carried 

out in a public place and be persistent and unreasonable justifying the 

renewal of the PSPO.  

 

Officers recommend;  

 The PSPO is renewed 

 There is an amendment to the access of the refreshment kiosk in 

Gadebridge Park (Splash Park) for dogs on a lead.  

 

Appendix 1 – copy of the current PSPO including its schedules 

Appendix 2 – copy if written responses Q1 

Appendix 3 – copy if written responses Q2 

Appendix 4 – copy of written responses Q3 

Appendix 5 – copy of written responses Q4 

Appendix 6 – copy of written responses Q5 

Appendix 7 - Other comments 

 

 

Page 345



MINUTES 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING & ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
 

14 JUNE 2022 
 
Present: 
 
Members: 
 
Councillors: England  
 Foster  
 Harden (Chairman)  
 P Hearn  
 Riddick  
 Rogers (Vice-

Chairman) 
 

 Stevens  
 Taylor  
 Timmis  
 C Wyatt-Lowe  
 
Officers: Richard LeBrun Assistant Director - Neighbourhood Delivery 
 Dawn Rhoden Regulatory Services Operations Team 

Leader 
 Alex Robinson Assistant Director - Planning 
 Ben Stevens ASB Officer 
 Craig Thorpe Head of Environmental Services 
 Emma Walker Head of Environmental Protection 
 
Also Attendance: 
 
  

 
 
 
The meeting began at 7.30 pm 
 
 

1   MINUTES 
 

The minutes from the last meeting were approved.   
 
Though the minutes were an accurate recording, Cllr Banks highlighted that during 
the previous meeting she had informed Cllr Wyatt-Lowe that revenue from fixed 
penalty notices for public space protection orders was split equally between Dacorum 
Borough Council and district enforcement.  After further investigation, Cllr Banks 
wished to correct this, as after expenses the split was 22% to Dacorum Borough 
Council and 78% was retained by district enforcement.  Cllr Banks apologised for 
misleading members of the council.  The previous minutes would be updated 
accordingly. 
 

Page 346



2   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies were noted from Cllrs Sutton, Beauchamp and Wilkie. 
 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

None 
 

4   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

There was no public participation.   
 

5   CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE 
COMMITTEE IN RELATION TO CALL-IN 
 

No matters had been referred. 
 

6   ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES ANNUAL REVIEW 
 

It was explained that this matter had been withdrawn from the agenda and deferred 
due to a change in process 
 

7   ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES PERFORMANCE Q4 
 

CThorpe presented the salient points from the report.   
 
Waste services operations continued to suffer from COVID-related absence plus a 
national shortage of drivers, but had nonetheless managed to provide a successful 
full service.  Fewer mechanical sweeper drivers had been available due to drivers 
having been redeployed to waste collection, and difficulties were still being 
encountered with recruiting new drivers with 7 current driver vacancies. 
 
Over the last few months annual refresher training had been delivered to 110 
frontline staff and a further 90 Council staff, plus agency staff.  Driver CPC training 
had also been provided to the 30 drivers on waste services.  An ISO14001 report had 
revealed several issues to be resolved in relation to the depot.  CSG assisted the 
tree contractors in the 3 storms that occurred in March.   
 
DBC had worked alongside other organisations on town cleaning, particularly 
targeting graffiti on all structures.   
 
The A41 was deep cleaned and all traffic islands were swept before grass cutting 
operations were recommenced in April.   
 
The Splash Park was recommissioned and opened earlier than in previous years.  
Some maintenance was required, though the park was operating well. 
 
95 standard trees and 900 whips had been planted across the borough and 60 new 
planted troughs had been supplied, along with further plants and a green canopy.  
Several organisations had contributed further plants, work and best practices. 
 

Page 347



3 
 

Bunkers Park and Chipperfield Common had retained their green flag status and 
other parks would be judged later in the year. 
 
The River Gaye project had been pushed back to the following year. 
 
On education awareness, Christmas Tree recycling had been a large success with 
6,000 trees having been collected and chipped.   
 
Several ‘Nappy Natter’ events had been held with success, with a view to changing 
mothers’ behaviour in terms of reuse of nappies.   
 
3 successful clothes swaps had been very popular with the public. 
 
130 new street champion registrations had been received, with a total of 628 
registered champions as of 31st March.  It was clarified that the total number of 
active champions each week was slightly lower, though champions were regularly 
contacted to monitor engagement levels. 
 
324 individuals took part in the Great British Spring Clean. 
 
Primary and secondary school talks continued with a brand-new pack. 
 
Over 11,000 requests for services had been received by the customer services 
department at Cupid Green depot.  An outline of the individual services requested 
and delivered was then provided including clinical waste and sharps collection. 
 
In terms of performance, the figure for WR001A was slightly higher than target due to 
a number of agency drivers being deployed and several vehicles without the required 
in-cab technology to monitor assisted collections.  As such, with new staff recruitment 
this was expected to be alleviated. 
 
Garden waste collections had been lower than target in Winter, though this was to be 
expected and reflected a requirement for more seasonal variance in the targets. 
 
The report was noted, and the floor was then opened for questions. 
 
Cllr Timmis expressed gratitude for the update and Cllr Timmis then asked, in 
relation to sharps collection, Cllr Timmis was surprised to hear that sharps were 
being delivered and collected by DBC and asked why this was the case, and whether 
this related in any way to fly tipping and a report highlighting high areas of drug use 
in the Dacorum area.  In response, it was highlighted that in years past DBC had 
collected a large amount of clinical waste, though now this had been referred to other 
services.  It was clarified that these clinical waste requests were not due to illicit drug 
use but rather were health care related.  Sealed sharps boxes were collected in a 
purpose-built vehicle and disposed of via incineration at a local facility. 
 
Cllr England congratulated those involved on maintaining bin collection levels and 
expressed gratitude for the planting of a tree that had been centre of the recent 
Jubilee celebrations.  Cllr England then asked whether there were plans to achieve 
green flag status for more local parks.  It was responded that this would be possible 
but the required management plans and organisation would be time-consuming. 
 

Page 348



Cllr Wyatt-Lowe echoed the praise for the work carried out.  The Cllr then 
commented on the ISO14001.215 audit carried out at Cupid Green depot, which had 
identified some compliance problems.  Cllr Wyatt-Lowe wished to know the nature of 
these problems and what impact they had had on service delivery.  It was explained 
that ISO14001 related to the proper storage and disposal of waste.  This 
accreditation had been a considerable achievement, though it had been rescinded 
due to Council-wide decision making and as a result some of the paperwork was no 
longer up to the standard of an external auditor.  It was stressed that Cupid Green 
depot remained compliant with the Environment Agency’s requirements, though work 
was to be done to update and improve the paperwork. 
 
 
Cllr Wyatt-Lowe then enquired in relation to the employment of sweeper drivers, 
highlighting several local issues that required more extensive work than sweepers 
were able to carry out, and may present an issue in any future storms.  In response, 
it was highlighted that 8 LGV drivers had been trained and pay and employment 
terms and conditions had been enhanced which should aid retainment of drivers in 
waste collection.  It was also hoped that in future even more drivers could be 
recruited. 
 
Cllr Wyatt-Lowe then asked a third question in relation to which schools were 
involved in the previously mentioned educational awareness schemes, and also 
whether any trees had been planted outside of Hemel.  In response to the question 
on plants, it was highlighted that details of recent planting locations would soon be 
made available online.  It was also pointed out that local wards were able to submit 
bids for wildflower patches to be planted in their areas.  It was also highlighted that 
this was to be balanced with the use of public spaces for other uses such as dog 
walking. 
 
Cllr Rogers commented on the traffic light reporting system used in the report, asking 
whether it was possible to incorporate a graph to indicate trends over time.  It was 
agreed that this would be done in future. 
 
Cllr Rogers also asked in relation to a visit for Councillors to visit Cupid Green depot.  
In response, it was highlighted that this was certainly a possibility. 
 
Cllr England then asked how best to inform the grass-cutting services that grass-
cutting was needed in a local ward or area.  In response, it was highlighted that this 
was currently rather vague but work was being done to make grass-cutting vehicle 
tracking information more readily available online.  The window for grass-cutting was 
eight weeks from the previous cut, though most crews were managing to cut grass 
every 4-5 weeks. 
 
Cllr Foster asked, given the current emphasis on litter, the significance of zero litter 
inspections having been conducted.  It was clarified that this had not been possible 
due to resourcing issues during COVID, however it was hoped that inspections would 
resume in time. 
 
Cllr Timmis asked, in relation to educational awareness and the recent Nappy Natter 
events and clothes swaps, if these were localised to Hemel Hempstead and, if so, 
whether these could be carried out in conjunction with other local organisations 
across the Borough to widen the coverage of these operations.   

Page 349



5 
 

 
Cllr Timmis also asked what the cost of A41 cleaning operations were.  It was 
highlighted that the bulk of the cost was due to traffic management.  It cost £1,100 
per day to employ Hertfordshire County Council’s traffic management services for 
such an operation, so this was generally done on a single day to minimise costs 
given a budget of £25,000, and also when the Hertfordshire County Council 
contractor used traffic management services in order to cut the grass.   
 
Cllr Timmis opined that, where possible, services should be rolled out across the 
Borough and not just in Hemel.   
 
Cllr Stevens, in relation to the clothes swaps, pointed out that a local environment 
group in Berkhamsted also ran similar local schemes. 
 
It was also asked that in future reports, commentary be provided on any issues 
allocated a ‘Red’ indicator status.   
 

8   ENVIRONMENTAL AND COMMUNITY PROTECTION 
PERFORMANCE REPORT Q4 
 

The salient points from the report were presented by EWalker. 
 
Sarah Stefano had been appointed Team Leader for Environmental Health, 
beginning her role on 31st January 2021 and replacing her predecessor Paul O’Day. 
 
The team had continued to support COVID-19 related tasks, with 320 self-isolation 
checks carried out in January, along with other local work to aid transition to the 
Living with COVID plan.  Test and Trace officers had however transferred to the 
Partnerships team to assist with vaccination planning and support. 
 
Work was undertaken to meet targets for the food safety recovery plan presented in 
October 2021.  New contractors had been brought in to deal with the pandemic-
related backlog.  A steady flow of new food business requests was being received 
and work was being done in relation to pest-related closures. 
 
Rebecca Connelly had won the Performance Award for her outstanding contribution 
to setting up and running a COVID-19 test and trace service, and her instrumental 
role in designing a food safety recovery plan amid the pandemic. 
 
The title of Health and Safety Champion was awarded to Chris Connelly of Clean, 
Safe and Green after his considerable efforts in this area. 
 
Russel Hamm was a finalist for a Performance Award for his work on safety systems 
throughout the pandemic. 
 
The Operations team had been busy throughout Q1, securing an animal welfare 
warrant and successfully rehoming several animals. 
 
Following the presentation to the Animal Welfare service of another Golden Pawprint 
award to the Animal Welfare service, MP Gagan Mohindra had visited and had been 
provided a presentation by lead officer Rachel Smith.   
 

Page 350



9 fixed penalty notices had been served for fly-tipping in Q4, and 4 abandoned 
vehicles removed.  There were 3 outstanding warrants in place for defendants who 
had failed to appear in court, being regularly pursued in conjunction with four different 
police forces. 
 
On Monday 24th March, 9 people were ordered to pay fines for littering offences and 
breaching public space protection orders, after failure to pay fixed penalty notices.  
These had been the first prosecutions of this kind issued by the Council. 
 
Ben Stephens was the finalist for the Innovation Award for an innovative approach 
leading to engagement third-party enforcement organisation. 
 
The Neighbourhood Delivery service were finalists for Team of the Year for 2021. 
 
The report was noted, and the floor was then opened for questions. 
 
EWalker was congratulated for her Excellence in Leadership Award in 2021. 
 
A question was raised regarding the Corporate Health & Safety Team and reporting 
of accidents.  Clarity was requested on the statistics provided, particularly in relation 
to apparent duplication of some figures.  In response, EWalker clarified that the 
apparent duplications between slips, trips and falls and strike by object were different 
incidents.  The numbers appeared higher than in previous years due to an increased 
number of types of incidents now recorded.  EWalker also agreed to clarify some 
differences in figures between slips, trips and falls and strikes by object. 
 
Cllr England, in relation to the figure of 41% of noise cases closed within 60 days, 
asked whether the 41% represented the easiest cases to close and what happened 
with the other 59%.  EWalker responded that several senior individuals were out of 
the office, so the majority of the remaining 59% had not yet been closed for 
administrative reasons, but that operationally in many cases nothing more remained 
to be done. 
 
Cllr Hearn asked how any vacancies the department had currently.  EWalker 
responded that there was one vacancy in the permanent establishment and 4 in the 
temporary establishment. 
 
The Chair thanked all those officers having received awards for their contributions. 
 

9   PSPO & ENFORCEMENT REVIEW 
 

The report was taken as read, though several points were highlighted.  Over 1,500 
abandoned vehicles had been reported, resulting in 45 vehicles being removed and 
destroyed.  The Abandoned Vehicle Policy released in 2021 had improved 
understanding among officers and vehicle owners alike.   

On crime, a marked increase in fly-tipping had been seen in comparison to the 
previous year.  There had also been several operational difficulties owing to an 
increase in drug related fly-tipping, use of hired vehicles, and court no-shows.  59 
waste crime FPNs had been issued, with a total of 4 prosecutions.  Dacorum 
Borough Council continued to be a leading authority within Hertfordshire in this 
domain and maintained a good working relationship with court authorities.   

Page 351



7 
 

Deployment targets were in place for each ward. 

To clarify a point in relation to the earlier question from Cllr Timmis, it was made clear 
that drug-related fly tipping involved cannabis, rather than drugs requiring the use of 
sharps. 

The report was noted, and the floor was opened to questions. 

Cllr Timmis was disheartened to see the increase in fly-tipping, and particularly drug-
related fly-tipping, and especially in the north part of the district which was Cllr 
Timmis’ ward of Wapping.  Cllr Timmis was surprised not to have been informed of 
this previously.  She also remarked on the number of court no-shows and wished to 
see greater action taken by the police given the destructive and criminal impact of fly-
tipping.  In response, it was stressed that Dacorum Borough Council, police 
authorities and other authorities north of the Hertfordshire border were working to 
curb the local increase in fly-tipping.   

EWalker asked Cllr Timmis whether she had any suggestions as to specific actions 
she would like to see.  In response, Cllr Timmis highlighted that 2 individuals 
prosecuted for fly-tipping had been caught thanks to covert surveillance.  Increased 
police presence and advertisement of surveillance as a stronger deterrent were also 
recommended.  It was also added that Dacorum was working closely with Luton 
authorities to ensure that further action was taken.  EWalker pointed out that the 
number of covert cameras had been increased in recent times, along with 
authorisation to place these in areas identified as hotspots.  EWalker however 
pointed out the difficulty of catching individuals given the unpredictable nature of the 
crime.  Efforts were also being made to influence local police authorities to 
encourage police presence, though DBC could not direct police agencies, who 
themselves had resource issues.  EWalker also commented on the costs associated 
with court cases and also theft of camera equipment and the need for sufficient 
resources for the camera footage to be perused.  It was also highlighted that 12 fixed 
penalty notices had been issued last year which was a proportionate response and 
allowed the avoidance of court proceedings. 

Cllr England commented that cigarette waste was still above 95% of all litter, and 
hoped to see this figure drop below 80% by September.  Cllr England also reiterated 
Cllr Birnie’s previous remarks that there should be sufficient reporting on the number 
of public complaints reviewed by DBC.  Cllr England also requested further 
clarification on the criteria used to determine district enforcement patrol allocations.  
In response to the latter point, it was clarified that the criteria related to, among 
others, whether the area was urban or rural, footfall through the area, and whether 
any specific requests had been received. 

Cllr Foster requested further information on the education package discussed in the 
report, and particularly which schools were involved.  In response, it was explained 
that one package targeted primary schools.  However, there was a more correlated 
littering issue with secondary schools, and so presentations were planned to be 
delivered to a range of schools.  Further documentation could be provided on this.  A 
pack was distributed to the education awareness team, who would visit schools to 
deliver a presentation and involve pupils in activities.   

Page 352



Cllr Foster then asked whether information was available outlining when and where 
district enforcement had patrolled. 

On the topic of abandoned vehicles, the Chair commented that 1,508 were closed 
without a removal necessary.  The Chair then suggested that more work could be 
done to educate the public about reporting such cases.  In response, it was 
highlighted that automated letters were being devised. 

The Chair appreciated that there was collaboration with landowners to improve the 
service yards.  It was added that a concerted effort had been made to identify and 
engage with private landowners, particularly around waste accumulations and 
uncontained commercial waste.  Work was also being done to place the onus on the 
landowners to carry out any required clear-ups, along with regular inspections and 
visits from DBC.  It was added that a number of partnership meetings had been held 
on this subject, with other local organisations involved in visiting and inspecting sites. 

The Chair then asked why some PSPOs appeared in brackets in the report.  This 
was erroneous and would be remedied.  It was also commented that one PSPO had 
been issued to an individual for dropping a sweet wrapper.  Investigation would be 
carried out to ascertain why a littering notice was not instead served to this individual. 

On a further query from the Chair, it was clarified that the figure provided was a 
cumulative sum of the fines across all individuals, but that this was not distributed 
evenly between all 9 recipients of the fines. 

Cllr England asked what happened to the 19% of FPNs that were not paid.  In 
response, it was explained that these remained in the system and, should they not be 
paid, further warnings and eventually prosecutions would be served. 

Cllr England then asked whether there was any information on complaints reviewed 
by district enforcement.  In response, it was pointed out that only one such complaint 
had been received. 

EWalker then summarised a report in relation to the upcoming expiry of the PSPO on 
dog control, explaining the significance of this and outlining the various options 
available.   

A consultation had been conducted in March 2022 on various public restrictions in 
relation to dog control.  An overwhelming majority of survey participants supported 
the proposed PSPOs.   

A significant number of requests had been received in the previous year in relation to 
dog behaviour, and a number of FPNs had been served.   

The report also outlined that the legal requirements for continuing the PSPO were 
required, and there was evidence that dog control related issues remained a public 
problem and there was justification for the PSPO to be continued, with some 
exceptions regarding particular local facilities. 

Cllr England expressed disappointment with the questioning style used in the survey 
in relation to the above PSPO, opining that the survey had been designed to lead 
respondents to support the continuation of the PSPO.  It was then suggested that 

Page 353



9 
 

there was insufficient evidence that the current PSPO was proportionate to the scale 
of the problem, though Cllr England was in support of the continuation of a PSPO in 
relation to dog control.  In response, EWalker pointed out that there was likely 
underreporting of incidences related to dog control, and that in any case the PSPO 
was intended as a deterrent rather than a stick with which to strike responsible dog 
owners.  Cllr England then rephrased his comment to clarify that his challenge was in 
relation to the tone of the survey, which in his view overstated the problem related to 
dog control.  He also opined that some of the rules underpinning the PSPO were 
unreasonable and might be made less stringent.  In response, Cllr Banks pointed out 
that she did not recognise Cllr England’s comments.  She expressed her support of 
the PSPO and felt that the residents of Dacorum deserved to be protected by it.  She 
also outlined several testimonies from local residents.  In addition, Cllr Foster 
suggested that the National Trust may be approached to reconsider their previous 
decision to exclude certain land from the PSPO.   

EWalker replied that the National Trust were consulted as part of the latest report, 
and correspondence from the organisation was still being awaited.  Cllr Foster also 
drew attention to the issue of some dog owners walking more dogs than they were 
able to control, sometimes up to ten dogs at a time.  EWalker highlighted that more 
consultation was required on the exact figure that would be chosen as the maximum 
number of dogs to be walked at a time, along with other considerations.  Cllr Timmis 
acknowledged that many dog owners were responsible, though some weren’t, and 
the deterrent of the PSPO was hoped to convince the latter group to be more 
responsible.  Cllr Wyatt-Lowe opined that Cllr England’s insinuation that the survey 
was leading was an unjustified one, and urged all councillors to support this policy 
which was backed by considerable public support.  Cllr Hearn added that the report 
was very well-written and congratulated its authors.   

In response to a comment from Cllr England that the rule that people with dogs must 
maintain a 3-metre distance from an unfenced play area was unreasonable, Cllr 
Stevens pointed out that most children’s play areas in Dacorum were fenced.  Cllr 
Stevens added that the 3-metre rule appeared not to be well-advertised, and asked 
that notices be placed in unfenced areas, particularly in Mill Street.   

The Chair asked whether individual by-laws could be devised in relation to the 
maximum number of dogs that any one person could walk at a time.  EWalker 
pointed out that this was possible, though further research and consultation was 
required to establish the exact maximum number.  It was added that several 
concerns had been raised by the public in relation to the number of dogs being 
walked by some individuals.  Another option was to look at licensing schemes.  To 
summarise, the Chair pointed out the difficulty of striking a balance between ensuring 
responsibility among dog owners, while minimising inconvenience to businesses that 
provided dog-walking services.  Lastly, Cllr Hearn had asked officers to examine the 
option of a dedicated dog park where owners could take dogs off their lead, as a 
positive balance to restrictions elsewhere. 

The PSPO report was noted. 

 

10   TOWN CENTRE PSPO 
 

RLeBrun took the report as read, though several points were highlighted.   

Page 354



The PSPO whose continuation was under consultation related to prohibitions around 
cycling and skateboarding in a defined area, as well as spitting, urinating and 
defecating in a defined area.  In addition, the consultation had examined the issue of 
electric scooters in the town centre.  Cycling and skateboarding were still perceived 
to be a problem, with a large majority of support for the inclusion of this.  IT would not 
preclude people from dismounting and carrying their bikes or skateboards through 
the town centre.  There was also overwhelming support for the provisions on spitting, 
urinating and defecating.  The proposed addition related to prohibition of 
unauthorised electric scooters on a public highway within a defined area, excluding 
rental scooters and scooters for certain uses.  It was recognised that a trial scheme 
for electric scooters may be introduced in the future, and the proposed addition to the 
PSPO did not preclude this.  The approach would focus on e-scooters, but the PSPO 
could be amended to include manual scooters should this be deemed necessary at a 
later date. 

As part of the consultation, many members of the public had suggested other 
additions to the PSPO, which would be reviewed and assessed in time, and the 
current provisions of the PPO would also be reviewed regularly during its three-year 
period of validity, should it be renewed.   

The report was noted, and the floor was opened for comments and questions. 
 
Cllr Wyatt-Lowe pointed out that many members of the public felt threatened by the 
silent nature of e-scooters.  She questioned why a by-law was not in place to ensure 
that all scooters and similar vehicles had an approach warning mechanism fitted.  In 
response, this would be explored, though it was highlighted that the fitting of warning 
devices did not necessarily entail their use by the rider. 
 
Cllr Stevens was pleased to see the proposed extension of the scope of the PSPO.  
He then pointed out the inconsiderate nature of a number of cyclists on canal 
walkways, and asked whether speed provisions for cyclists on canal towpaths might 
be included in the PSPO.  Though this was possible, Cllr Stevens was advised that 
the capacity to enforce such a rule may prove challenging.  Another avenue may be 
to approach the Canal & River Trust about what might be done in partnership, 
including changes to towpath layout or educational initiatives. 
 
The Chair challenged how enforcement officers might enforce the PSPO in general 
given the speed considerations implied.  In response, it was pointed out that within 
the town centre it was generally not possible to gain sufficient speed for this to pose 
a risk to the enforcement officers, though it was stressed that no officer would be 
expected to place themselves at risk of a collision.  Other avenues may also be 
explored, such as speed bumps. 
 
Cllr Rogers was concerned that the PSPO might undermine efforts to increase 
electric scooter and cycle use from an environmental perspective.  It was pointed out 
that these considerations had been included within current deliberations. 
 
Cllr England highlighted that the consultation reached 0.5% of the population, and 
suggested that evidence in support of the proposals was scant.  Cllr England also 
took issue with the wording and design of the survey.  He then suggested that an 
area might be defined within the town centre for people to traverse by bike or 
scooter, which might be a more universally acceptable solution.  Cllr Banks was in 

Page 355



11 
 

support of the sentiments expressed by Cllr England, though she highlighted that 
they related to responsible cycle use, and that the PSPO was greatly needed in order 
to prevent antisocial behaviour.  Cllr Taylor asked whether it would be possible for a 
PSPO to impose speed limits for cyclists and scooter users.  The Chair reiterated the 
challenge of enforcing such restrictions, especially given the need to measure 
speeds exactly, as well as the need for clear rules from the point of view of those 
trying to abide by them.   
 
Cllr Banks advocated for the need to respect pedestrianised areas and not to build 
cycling lanes in areas that were currently fully pedestrianised. 
 
In response to a further question from Cllr England, it was pointed out that the issue 
of irresponsible use of e-scooters and cycles at speed was a national issue and was 
in need of a solution. 
 
Following the above considerations, the proposed PSPO for Hemel Hempstead town 
centre was approved. 
 

11   PLANNING, DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
PERFORMANCE Q4 
 

The report was taken as read, with the following salient points highlighted.  During 
the Q4 period, a planning moratorium had been initiated, which affected the figures in 
the report.  There was an extended text in section 2 highlighting key priorities that the 
department had undertaken in the previous quarter.  Section 3 set out the majority of 
the key performance indicators.  Namely, planning fee income was ahead of budget.  
However, there had been some decline in performance, primarily due to the planning 
moratorium. 
 
The report was noted and the floor was opened to questions and comments. 
 
Cllr Timmis asked for further details on the proposed fully automated committed 
development software to process town planning applications.  It was explained that a 
pilot programme had been secured with £350,000 from Central Government for a 
service that would improve the efficiency of the advice given to residents in respect of 
town planning applications, allowing members of the public to check in advance, prior 
to submission, whether their application was likely to be approved, with the aim of 
freeing up resources.  Cllr Timmis expressed concern that residents may be able to 
bypass local authorities.  In response, it was stressed that the proposed model was 
not a mechanism to circumvent the existing town planning approval mechanisms, but 
rather was a pre-application process to screen out those applications likely to be 
declined.  Nonetheless, Cllr Timmis was concerned that this may give residents the 
impression that they could continue with proposed works despite their application 
having been declined.  In response to this, it was clarified that the intention of the 
model being piloted was to deal with binary yes-or-no decisions that did not require 
town planning judgment.   
 
Cllr Timmis also referred to the issue of an insufficient number of enforcement 
officers to meet the demand for enforcement issues in need of processing.  As a 
result, many cases were in danger of expiring before they could be duly addressed.  
In response, the ongoing difficulties in this area were acknowledged.  A senior 
enforcement officer had been appointed, though resourcing issues remained to affect 

Page 356



the service.  Recruitment efforts were ongoing, along with efforts to engage with 
partners to secure additional resources, and to make enforcement officer roles more 
attractive to prospective recruits.  It was highlighted that there was widespread 
difficulty within the industry in terms of recruiting planning and enforcement officers. 
 
Further on the issue of enforcement, Cllr Hearn seconded concerns at the lack of 
resources to sufficiently meet demand for cases before they expired.  In response, it 
was explained that there was a 4-year rule and a 10-year rule, depending on whether 
the case involved a change of use.  More broadly, enforcement plans were in place 
and the majority of site visits were conducted within the prescribed period, and all 
cases continued to be investigated.  In summary, the lack of resources did not mean 
to say that enforcement officers were not investigating existing cases.  Other 
solutions were also being explored, such as the removal permitted development 
rights in light of the practice of some landowners selling off plots of land.  Cllr Hearn 
wondered whether high local house prices was having an impact on the ability to 
recruit individuals.  It was acknowledged that this may be one factor among several, 
but no data was available to support this.  It was added that work was ongoing 
across the county to address the industry-wide issue of recruitment into town 
planning roles. 
 
Cllr Foster requested further information on the ESRI project.  In response, it was 
explained that this was an exciting pilot to digitise and graphically present data 
relating to development contributions in respect of section 106 agreements.   
 
The report was noted. 
 

12   WORK PROGRAMME 
 

The next meeting was scheduled for 6th July 2022.  The agenda items for that 
meeting were outlined.  Colleagues were encouraged to submit any further issues 
they wished to the Chair. Cllr England wishes to discuss the matter of air quality.  
The Chair pointed out that a report on this was scheduled for discussion in November 
2022.  In response to Cllr England’s question of why this had been delayed, it was 
explained that the steering group on this matter had been suspended due to COVID-
19 and its next meeting was scheduled for later in June 2022. 
 

13   AOB 
 

 
 
The Meeting ended at 9.00 pm 
 

Page 357



Agenda Item 
Page 1 of 8 

 

Agenda item 
Page 1 of 8 

 
 

Report for: Cabinet 

Date of meeting: 19th March 2019 

Part: 1 

If Part II, reason:  

 

Title of report: Public Space Protection Order (Dog Management) 

Contact: 
Councillor Neil Harden  
Portfolio Holder for Community and Regulatory Services 
 
Author/Responsible Officer: 
David Austin – Assistant Director (Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 
Emma Walker – Group Manager Environmental & 
Community Protection 
Dawn Rhoden –Team Leader Operations & Public 
Health 
 

Purpose of report: To propose the introduction of a Public Space Protection 
Order to provide a means of controlling a number of dog 
activities having a detrimental effect on the quality of life 
for those living in, working in and visiting the area of 
Dacorum Borough Council 

Recommendations 
That Cabinet agree to: 
 
1.Approve the implementation of a Public Space 
Protection Order under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014 with restrictions relating to the 
control of dogs Borough wide as set out in paragraph 4 
of the report.from 1st July 2019. 
 
2. To set £75 as the sum payable for a fixed penalty notice. 

 
  
 

Corporate 
Safe and Clean Environment 
Maintain a clean and safe environment 

AGENDA ITEM: 
 

SUMMARY 

Page 358



Agenda Item 
Page 2 of 8 

 

Agenda item 
Page 2 of 8 

Objectives: 

Implications: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
‘Value For Money 
Implications’ 

Financial 
 
The local authority must arrange for the display of 
signage advising of the effect of the Order. There is no 
prescribed format nor size requirements for these signs, 
and costs will ultimately depend upon the number of 
signs required and the design/materials used. There will 
be ongoing maintenance costs to replace any damaged 
signage. 
 
There may be additional income from fixed penalty 
notices, which could partially defray the costs of 
enforcing the Order. No data is held that would allow an 
estimate for the likely income, as much would depend 
on the availability of resources to carry out enforcement 
activities. 
 
It is proposed that enforcement of the dog management 
PSPO will be carried out within existing resources. 
 
Value for Money 
PSPO’s are seen as a more cost-effective means of 
controlling the activities in question than under byelaws, 
also providing a wider range of enforcement options. 

Risk Implications There will be risks associated with Council enforcement 
officers who will be tasked with enforcing the PSPO and 
appropriate training will need to be given.  Risk 
assessments will be completed for the enforcement 
activity and all reasonable precautions taken to minimise 
any risk. 
 
There are also reputational risks in terms of the council 
being perceived as enforcing against vulnerable persons 
and seeking to criminalise certain behaviours which 
wouldn’t normally attract fixed penalty notices or 
prosecution for non-payment. 
 
There are also limited resources for enforcement and 
therefore enforcement will have to be targeted at certain 
periods. The PSPO will raise expectations that 
prohibited behaviours will be eliminated entirely; 
however due to difficulties in identifying some of the 
contraventions and taking a proportionate approach to 
enforcement there will not always be immediate results 
which will be noticeable to the public. 
 

Community Impact 
Assessment 

N/A 

Page 359



Agenda Item 
Page 3 of 8 

 

Agenda item 
Page 3 of 8 

Health And Safety 
Implications 

Some Health & Safety implications may arise from the 
enforcement of orders, this will be incorporated within 
individual service risk assessments for authorised 
enforcing officers. 

Monitoring 
Officer/S.151 
Officer Comments 

Monitoring Officer:   
 
The PSPO will assist with the prevention of anti-social 
behaviour in the borough.  There will need to be a 
proportionate approach to enforcement particularly where the 
order is being breached by young and vulnerable persons. 

  
 
 
Deputy S.151 Officer 
The implementation of this recommendation will be 
funded through existing approved budgets. 
 

Consultees: 
Hertfordshire Police 
Hertfordshire Highways 
Residents of Dacorum 
Boxmoor Trust 
National Trust 
Parish Councils 

Background 
papers: 

Home Office – Reform of anti-social behaviour powers: 
Statutory guidance for frontline professionals (section 
2.6) 
 
Home Office - Anti-social behaviour powers  
Statutory guidance for frontline professionals  
Updated December 2017 
 
Cabinet Minutes 24th April 2018. Proposal for 
consultation to commence. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Minutes 20th November 2018  
 

Glossary of 
acronyms and any  
other abbreviations 
used in this report: 

PSPO – Public Spaces Protection Order 
 

FPNs – Fixed Penalty Notices 

 
 
1. Background  
 

1.1. Under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, local 

authorities may make orders to prohibit specified activities, and/or 

require specified activities to be carried on in accordance with certain 

requirements, within a designated area in the public domain, which 

Page 360

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/352562/ASB_Guidance_v8_July2014_final__2_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/352562/ASB_Guidance_v8_July2014_final__2_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/352562/ASB_Guidance_v8_July2014_final__2_.pdf


Agenda Item 
Page 4 of 8 

 

Agenda item 
Page 4 of 8 

may include public highways and footways, parks and open spaces, 

pedestrianised areas, or similar. Such orders are known as Public 

Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO). 

 
1.2. PSPO can be used by authorities to control a variety of problematic 

behaviours which satisfy two statutory conditions: 

 
“The first condition is that— 
(a) activities carried on in a public place within the authority's area 

have had a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the 

locality, or 

(b) it is likely that activities will be carried on in a public place within 

that area and that they will have such an effect. 

 
The second condition is that the effect, or likely effect, of the 
activities— 
(a) is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature, 

(b) is, or is likely to be, such as to make the activities unreasonable, 

and 

(c) justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice.” 

 
1.3. Prohibitions or requirements on activities covered by a PSPO must be 

reasonable in order to: 

 
(a) prevent the detrimental effect from continuing, occurring or 

recurring, or 

(b) reduce that detrimental effect or to reduce the risk of its 

continuance, occurrence or recurrence. 

 
1.4. Where a PSPO is in force, it is a criminal offence to do anything which 

is prohibited under the Order, or to fail to comply with requirements of 

the Order. Persons guilty of such offences are liable, on summary 

conviction, to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale 

(currently up to £1,000). Offences may also be disposed of by way of a 

fixed penalty notice of up to £100, payable to the local authority. 

 
1.5. PSPOs may be enforced by a police officer, PCSO, or a person 

authorised by the local authority for that purpose.  

 
1.6. A PSPO will be valid for a period of up to 3 years, at the end of which 

it may be extended. Orders may also be varied or discharged by the 

local authority at any time during their validity. 

 

Page 361



Agenda Item 
Page 5 of 8 

 

Agenda item 
Page 5 of 8 

1.7. Prior to making, extending, varying or discharging a PSPO, a local 

authority must: 

 Consult the chief officer of police and the Policing and Crime 

Commissioner for the applicable area; any community 

representatives that it is thought appropriate to consult; and the 

owners/occupiers of land included within the restricted area; 

 Publish the draft Order (or details of variation/discharge proposal); 

 Notify any parish/town councils within the restricted area, and the 

County Council; 

 
with regards to its proposals. The authority must also consider its 
proposed restrictions against the rights of freedom of expression 
(Article 10) and assembly (Article 11) under the European Convention 
on Human Rights.   The proposed restrictions have been considered 
against the rights in Article 10 and 11 but it is not considered that 
there will be any infringement on these rights.  If there is any 
infringement it is considered that it is proportionate for the prevention 
of disorder and crime. 

 
1.8. PSPO’s may apply to all persons or only to persons in/not in specified 

categories; at all times or only within/not in specified times; and in all 

circumstances or only in/not in specified circumstances. 

 
1.9. The power to make PSPO’s replaced and consolidated several earlier 

area-control orders, including designated public place orders which 

have previously been used by the Council in respect of street drinking.  

PSPO’s may be challenged in the High Court by any person who lives 

in, regularly works in or regularly visits a restricted area, within 6 

weeks of an Order being made or varied. 

2. Proposal for new PSPO 

2.1. A variety of dog related educational programs have taken place 

across the Borough, these events include: 

 targeted fouling events in Chaulden and surrounding areas 

 dog fouling educational patrols across the Borough  

 attending community meetings 

 involving local schools  

 letter drops 

 joint events with the People Dispensary for Sick Animals (PDSA) 

and other local charities to promote responsible dog ownership.   

 
Despite all of these events concerns still exist around a number of dog 
related activities currently occurring across Dacorum, these activities 

Page 362



Agenda Item 
Page 6 of 8 

 

Agenda item 
Page 6 of 8 

are considered detrimental to the quality of life for persons living in and 
using Dacorum.  

 
2.2 It is therefore proposed to introduce dog management PSPO covering 

the whole of Dacorum. 
 
 
 
 

3. Consultation  

 
Following Cabinet’s recommendation in April 2018 a public consultation 
was initiated which invited comments from residents and interest groups 
on the proposals for the PSPO.   There were over 1220 responses to the 
consultation. 
 

A report was taken to OSC on the 20th November 2018 following the 

public consultation.  After this meeting the proposed orders were 

amended and further consultation was undertaken with the Chief Officer 

of police and the Policing and Crime Commissioner for Hertfordshire. No 

comments were received from this consultation. 

 
3.1. Aside from ensuring that the statutory tests, particularly in respect of 

proportionality and justifiability, are satisfied, there are a number of 

considerations around the introduction of PSPO’s which would also need 

to be considered and are highlighted further below. 

 
4. Proposed Orders 

 

4.1 Dog Fouling 

 
 Proposed Order One  

A person in charge of a dog in any public place within the Borough of 
Dacorum (excluding National Trust land shown in Schedule 3) must 
forthwith clear up and remove any faeces deposited by the dog and either 
take away the faeces or place the faeces in a general litter or dog waste 
bin; 
 
Proposed Order Two  
A person in charge of a dog in any public place within the Borough of 
Dacorum (Schedule 2) must comply with any request from a Constable or 
a person duly authorised by the Council to clear up and/or remove any 
faeces deposited by the dog where they have otherwise failed to do so. 
The faeces must either be taken away or placed in a general litter or dog 
waste bin; 

 
Proposed Order Three  
A person in charge of a dog in any public place within the Borough of 

Page 363



Agenda Item 
Page 7 of 8 

 

Agenda item 
Page 7 of 8 

Dacorum (Schedule 2) must have with them an appropriate means to pick 
up dog faeces deposited by that dog.  The obligation is complied with if, 
after a request from an authorised officer, the person in charge of the dog 
produces an appropriate means to pick up dog faeces. 

 

4.2 Dog Control 

Proposed Order Four 
A person in charge of a dog on any public place within the Borough of 
Dacorum (Schedule 2) must comply with a direction given to them by a 
Constable or a person duly authorised by the Council to put and keep the 
dog on a lead unless: 
 
(a) they have reasonable excuse for failing to do so, or 
(b) the owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of the 
land has consented (generally or specifically) to his failing to do so. 

 

4.3 Exclusion of Dogs in Specified Areas 

Proposed Order Five 

A person in charge of a dog in a public space within the borough of 
Dacorum Borough Council is prohibited from allowing the dog to enter the 
“Dog Exclusion Zones” these include enclosed children’s play areas, 
adventure playgrounds and splash parks (shown in Schedule 1)  

 

4.4 Exception 

Nothing in this Order shall apply to a person who -  
a) Is registered as a blind person on a register complied under section 29 

of the National Assistance Act 1948; or 
b) is deaf, in respect of a dog trained by Hearing Dogs for Deaf People 

(registered charity number 293358) and upon which he relies for 
assistance; or 

c) has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long 
term adverse effect on the ability to carry out normal day-to-day 
activities, in respect of a dog trained by any current or future members 
of Assistance Dogs UK or any other charity registered in the UK with a 
purpose of training assistance dogs and upon which he relies for 
assistance 

d) has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long 
term adverse effect on the ability to carry out normal day-to-day 
activities and in the reasonable opinion of the Council that person relies 
upon the assistance of the dog in connection with their disability  

 

4.5 For the purpose of the orders  

Page 364



Agenda Item 
Page 8 of 8 

 

Agenda item 
Page 8 of 8 

  a) A person who habitually has a dog in his possession shall be taken to 
be in charge of the dog at any time unless, at the time of the offence, 
some other person is in charge of the dog  

 b) Being unaware of the defecation (whether by reason of not being in 
the vicinity or otherwise), or not having a device or other suitable 
means of removing the faeces shall not be a reasonable excuse for 
failing to remove the faeces. 

 c) The Borough of Dacorum is shown in Schedule 2 
 d) A person duly authorised by the Council means an employee, 

partnership agency or contractor of Dacorum Borough Council who is 
authorised in writing by Dacorum Borough Council for the purpose of 
giving direction under the order. 

 
5.0     Enforcement 

 
5.1 If the Order is imposed, consideration will also need to be given to 

enforcement as there will be raised expectations from the public which 
will need to be managed.  A stepped and proportionate approach to 
sanction will need to be developed.  The Councils enforcement policy 
must be followed in all instances. 

 
 

5.2     Furthermore, there is currently no dedicated resource, enforcement sits 
across a numbers of different council services.  Accordingly, a 
coordinated and targeted approach to enforcement, working together 
with other enforcement agencies, will need to be developed.  

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 365



September 2019 V2 1 

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) Template 

Policy / service / decision Town Centre PSPO 

Description of what is being impact assessed 

What are the aims of the service, proposal, project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do you 

need to reference/consider any related projects? 

Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the public, service users, partners, staff, Members, etc 

It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment,  dependent on likely level of impact 

The aim is to renew the  Public Spaces Protection Order in Hemel Town Centre for the purposes of preventing the riding of bicycles, e-scooters and 

skateboards, as well as the activities of spitting, urination and defecation.  This was first introduced in 2019. 

Those affected are the users of said items for riding, as well as those affected by the use (e.g. pedestrians in the area).  The aspect of urination, 

defecation and spitting can apply to all and any party carrying out the activity. 

Evidence 

What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups? 

(include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects 

or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

The last 3 years of the PSPO in the town centre showed no detrimental impact on any protected group.  The most likely would be 

those seen as “young” due to skateboards, but the PSPO has shown that it can be any age range involved.   

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups?  If you have not consulted other people, please 

explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

P
age 366



September 2019 V2 2 

A full public consultation has taken place, as well as Police and Hertfordshire County Council  

Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others) 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 

good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, 

detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own 

understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any 

mitigation. 

 The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment. 

 Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability). 

Protected group 

Summary of impact 

What do you know?  What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service 

users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t 

and why? Feedback/complaints?  

Negative 

impact / 

outcome 

Neutral 

impact / 

outcome 

Positive 

impact / 

outcome 

Age No one age range has been shown to be more impacted than 
another.  The PSPO for instance prevents the riding of a skateboard 
in the town centre, but not up to it (thus allowing use to travel) and 
can be carried at that point. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Disability (physical, 

intellectual, mental) 

Refer to CIA Guidance Notes 

and Mental Illness & 

Learning Disability Guide 

The use of the PSPO has a positive impact on those with visual or 
audio impairments who may be detrimentally affected by those using 
bikes, skateboards or e-scooters due to not being as aware by their 
presence and increasing risks of accidents.  Mobility scooters are 
not affected.   
In terms of urination, defecation and spitting, those with medical 
issues that affect this are recognised and will not be penalised as a 
result based on them able to demonstrate such a condition. 

☐ ☒ ☒ 

P
age 367



September 2019 V2 3 

Gender reassignment None 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

Race and ethnicity None 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

Religion or belief None 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

Sex None 
☐ ☐ ☐ 

Sexual orientation None 
☐ ☐ ☐ 

Not protected 

characteristics but 

consider other 

factors, e.g. carers, 

veterans, homeless, 

low income, 

loneliness, rurality 

etc. 

None 

☐ ☐ ☐ 

P
age 368



September 2019 V2 4 

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan 

Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of 

these.  Please detail below the actions that you intend to take. 

Action taken/to be taken 

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action) 
Date 

Person 

responsible 
Action complete 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 

P
age 369



September 2019 V2 5 

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below. 

N/A 

Completed by (all involved in CIA) Richard Le-Brun 

Date 4th May 2022 

Signed off by (AD from different Directorate 

if being presented to CMT / Cabinet) 

N/A 

Date N/A 

Entered onto CIA database - date  

To be reviewed by (officer name)  

Review date  

 

 

P
age 370



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Title of report: PMO (Project Management Office) Resource Funding 

Date: 12th July 2022 

Report on behalf of:  Cllr Graeme Elliot, Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services 

Part: I  

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices:  

Background papers: 

 

 

Glossary of 

acronyms and any 

other abbreviations 

used in this report: 

PMO – Project Management Office 

HTIP – Housing Transformation and Improvement Programme 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Hannah Peacock, Head of Transformation 

 

Hannah.Peacock@dacorum.gov.uk / 01442 228037 (ext. 2037) 

 

  

Corporate Priorities Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 

Wards affected All 

Purpose of the report: 

 

To provide Cabinet with an update on PMO resource and 

to request permission to drawn down £170k from the 

Council Management of Change reserves, and to allocate 

an additional £80k of HRA funding to temporarily 

resource additional PMO resources. 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s): 1. To note the update on PMO resource 

2. That Cabinet recommends that Council approves 

the funding of £170,000 to temporarily fund the 

 

   

Cabinet 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 371

Agenda Item 12

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


General Fund PMO while permanent resource is 

planned and implemented. 

3. That Cabinet approves a one off 22/23 

reallocation of £80k of funding HRA budget from 

the Revenue contribution to capital to the HRA 

HTIP programme.  

4. That Cabinet retrospectively agrees to set aside 

the commissioning and procurement standing 

orders to approve the award of the temporary 

PMO contracts each valued above £75,000. 

Period for post policy/project review:  

 

  

Page 372



 

1 Introduction/Background:  

A paper outlining the requirement for a dedicated Project Management Office was brought to the 

Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) in January 2022. Following SLT approval, a short procurement 

exercise was completed, and an agency, 31ten, was appointed in February 2022 to: 

1. Utilise existing templates, training opportunities and communications material to establish 
a clear project methodology across Dacorum. 

2. Collate the Project Register, develop a prioritisation matrix and work alongside Directors to 
prioritise projects across Dacorum. 

3. Establish clear structures for project oversight and ensure project documentation is stored 
in one place with reporting mechanisms to the Strategic Leadership Team.  

4. Resource a PMO reporting into the Head of Transformation and the Strategic Director for 
People and Transformation.  

5. Lead the development of resource proposals for this to ensure that the established PMO is 
sustainable.  
 

This procurement exercise was previously referenced in a February 2022 Cabinet Report, which 

highlighted the need to bring in temporary resource to establish initial programme and project 

reporting and oversight, and to support the interim Strategic Director for People and Transformation 

to plan and resource a permanent PMO.  

This Cabinet Report also requested a drawdown of reserves in order to create the Head of 

Transformation role on a two-year fixed-term basis, this was approved in February 2022.  

Key Issues / Proposal: 

As outlined above, a key element of the temporary PMO was to support the Head of Transformation 

and Strategic Director in resourcing a permanent and sustainable PMO following the departure of 

31ten in early June 2022.  

31ten supported the Head of Transformation to re-purpose the Innovation and Improvement Team 

Leader role (Head of Transformation’s substantive post) to a PMO Team Leader role. This vacancy 

has been internally and externally advertised, with the closure date extended to mid-June to 

encourage more applications. To ensure rapid progress following the departure of 31ten, this post 

has been filled with an interim who started on 6th June 2022. 

In light of the clear need for project management resource to support the Housing Transformation 

and Improvement Programme (HTIP), Waste Transformation and Commercial programmes, three 

agency project managers have been brought in on an day-rate basis for  3-6 months to allow for 

further work to be done to permanently resource the PMO. The total cost of this interim support is 

around £250k. 

In addition to this, the Council has made some further cost-neutral staffing changes to optimise its 

project management delivery approach: 

 The Business Analysis and Service Improvement Lead Officer will be seconded to focus on the 

HTIP programme, with the aim to backfill this vacancy to provide Business Analyst resource to 

other programmes and projects. 

 The Improvement and Engagement Projects Lead Officer will be transferred to the 

Transformation Service with the role re-focused to focus on direct HTIP project delivery. 

  The Environmental Projects Lead Officer will be transferred to the Transformation Service to 

support the Climate and Ecological Emergency programme. In addition to this, a more detailed 

piece of work is underway to understand the resource requirements of the Climate and 

Ecological Emergency Strategy.  

The table below outlines both the existing roles within the Transformation Service and the 

recommended changes, along with the expected costs for these.  

Page 373



    Forecast 
Spend 
22/23 

  

HRA 
Funded  Role 

22/23 
Budget Variance 

PMO Team 
Leader 68,120 75,737 7,617   

Corporate 
Performance  
Management 
Lead Officer 53,470 53,470 0   

6 month PM – 
Housing   80,000 80,000 Yes 

6 month PM - 
Waste    80,000 80,000   

6 month PM – 
Commercial   80,000 80,000   

Improvement 
and 
Engagement 
Projects Lead 
Officer 53,470 53,470 0 Yes 

Environmental 
Projects Lead 
Officer 45,610 45,610 0   

Business 
Analysis and 
service 
improvement 
Lead Officer 45,610 45,610 0   

  266,280 513,897 247,617   

          

HRA 53,470 133,470 80,000   

General Fund 212,810 380,427 167,617   

  266,280 513,897 247,617   

 

3 Options and alternatives considered 

Option 1 – utilise existing DBC officers to deliver programme and project activity  

The existing resource is already delivering existing service requirements so is not available to take 

on the level of additional project co-ordination and implementation activities required needed for 

programmes such as HTIP, Waste Transformation and the Commercial Strategy. 

Option 2 – Recruit direct employees 

Given the urgency of work needed to support the programmes outlined above, the time required to 

recruit to permanent project roles would impact the delivery of these programmes. Temporarily 

filling these roles with experienced interim project managers allows the Council to progress 

immediately whilst more permanent resource is secured. 

4 Consultation 

This resource plan was developed with support from the interim Strategic Director (People and 

Transformation) and was reviewed and approved by the Strategic Leadership Team on 8th June 

2022. It was also provided to the Commercial Board on 20th June 2022.  

5 Financial and value for money implications: 

Provisional costs are outlined in the table above. As the above section highlights, other options 

were considered before the preferred recommendation was developed to procure the additional Page 374



resource externally, to allow for temporary project support. This temporary resource will allow the 

new Strategic Director (People and Transformation) and Head of Transformation to shape a long-

term robust PMO to deliver the Transformation Programme, and to support and structure 

programmes and projects across the organisation immediately rather than to stall progress for 

months while we recruit. A delay to recruiting additional PMO support is projected to have a 

significant impact on the financial benefits which will be delivered through the Council’s key 

corporate projects relating to housing, waste and commerciality. 

In terms of achieving best value for money, the Head of Transformation approached a number of 

well-known temporary resource agencies, and they provided a range of candidates with their 

attached curriculum vitae. There were discussions regarding suitable market rates for the calibre 

of candidates requested, the level of work they will be undertaking – i.e. high-profile, large-scale 

transformative programmes, and their level of experience (both from a programme and project 

management point of view but also experience of the relevant service, local authorities and public 

sector). Where possible, the Head of Transformation discussed agency rates with the relevant 

agencies and was able to secure reductions in agency mark-up, in order to secure a lower cost for 

the Council.  

Due to time pressures, it was not possible to go through a full procurement process, as this would 

take around six months to complete. Advice and support have been provided by the Procurement 

Team Leader to the Head of Transformation throughout the process to bring in temporary project 

resource, and advice has been sought regarding the recommendation to put aside the standing 

orders.  

All temporary resource procured via agencies have a short-term contract of six months, and there 

are break options within the contracts, should the work provided not be to expected level of quality. 

The Head of Transformation will be regularly meeting with the relevant programme sponsors to 

ensure that work provided is fit for purpose, and that the project managers are suitably driving 

forward the programmes they have been brought into support.  

6 Legal Implications 

There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

7 Risk implications: 

There is a risk that the time it takes to plan, implement and successfully recruit a more permanent 

staffing structure could take longer than expected, and that the interim positions could need to be 

extended, with additional costs associated.  

8 Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 

There are no equality, community or Human Rights impacts arising from this report. 

9 Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and wellbeing, community 

safety) 

   There are no implications arising from this report. 

10 Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 

This decision will enable the temporary recruitment of short-term resource (3-6mths) to allow for 

further long-term / permanent resourcing to be suitably planned and recruited to. 

11 Statutory Comments 

Deputy Monitoring Officer: 

No comments to add to the report. 

S151 Officer: 

Page 375



The request for £170k General Fund, funding is a short-term solution, whilst a medium to long term 

sustainable PMO structure is created. Given the short-term nature of this resource requirement, 

the use of general fund reserves and, in particular, the Management of Change reserve is in line 

with the rationale for utilising this reserve up. The commitment of this £170k from the management 

of change reserve will result in the Management of Change reserve being almost entirely committed 

in 2022/23. 

The reallocation of £80k of HRA budget from the revenue contribution to capital to fund the PMO 

resources, reduces the funds put aside for future capital developments. 

12 Conclusions:   

In order to deliver the significant financial and transformational benefits of the Commercial, Waste 

and HTIP programmes, it is recommended that the temporary PMO resource be out in place whilst 

the permanent PMO for the Council is established. 

 

 

Page 376



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Title of 

report: 

Paradise Design Code – Draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

Date: 12th July 2022 

Report on 

behalf of:  

Councillor Alan Anderson, Portfolio Holder for Place 

Part: I 

If Part II, 

reason: 

N/A 

Appendices: Appendix A: Paradise Design Code – Draft Supplementary Planning 
Document  
 
Appendix B: Code Compliance Checklist 
 
Appendix C: Community Impact Assessment Paradise Design Code – Draft 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
 

Background 

papers: 

 

The Core Strategy (2006-2031) 
Site Allocations Development Plan Document (2006-2031) 
Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision 
Dacorum Strategic Design Guide SPD 
 
Digital Engagement Hub:  
https://yourhemelhempstead.commonplace.is/  
 
Briefing to SPAEOSC on 24/11/2021.  
The committee noted the report introducing the design code. 
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=2823    

Glossary of 

acronyms 

and any 

other 

abbreviations 

used in this 

report: 

• DBC: Dacorum Borough Council 
• DSDG: Dacorum Strategic Design Guide 
• DLUHC: Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 
• HCC: Hertfordshire County Council 
• HGC: Hemel Garden Communities 
• NMDC: National Model Design Code 
• SCI: Statement of Community Involvement 
• SPD: Supplementary Planning Document 

 

 

 
  

Cabinet 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 377

Agenda Item 13

https://yourhemelhempstead.commonplace.is/
https://democracy.dacorum.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=177&MId=2823
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


Report Authors: Jane Hakes – Principal Urban Designer, Keeley Mitchell – Trainee SPAR Officer 

Responsible Officer: Alex Robinson – Assistant Director, Planning 

 

alex.robinson@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228002 (ext: 2002) 

 

  

  

Corporate 

Priorities 

The Draft Paradise Design Code SPD promotes the achievement of 
all the corporate priorities as set out below: 
• A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 
• Building strong and vibrant communities 
• Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 
• Providing good quality affordable homes, in particular for those 

most in need 
• Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery 
• Climate and ecological emergency 

Wards affected Hemel Hempstead Town Centre 

Purpose of the 

report: 

 

1. To seek Cabinet approval to consult on the Paradise Design Code 
– Draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

Recommendation 

(s) to the decision 

maker(s): 

1. That Cabinet notes the views of Strategic Planning and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

2. That Cabinet approves the Paradise Design Code draft 
Supplementary Planning Document for public consultation. 

3. That Cabinet delegates authority to the Strategic Director (Place) 
following consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Place, to agree 
the timing of the public consultation on the Paradise Design Code 
– draft Supplementary Planning Document. 

Period for post 

policy/project 

review: 

Once the Paradise Design Code is adopted as a Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD), a review of its impact and continuing 
relevance should be undertaken within 5 years. 

Page 378



 

1. Introduction/Background:  
 

1.1 The Government is moving towards greater use of design codes as part of 

wider planning reform proposals. This has been demonstrated by amendments 

to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in 2021. 

 

1.2 In April 2021, Dacorum Borough Council was one of 14 local authorities 

nationally to be awarded DLUHC pilot funding, to develop locally led design 

codes to steer design quality in emerging developments. This programme was 

supported by DLUHC’s newly established Office for Place as part of the Phase 

1 of the National Model Design Code Testing Programme.  

 

1.3 The draft SPD sets out a framework of design requirements for new 

development in the Paradise and Wood Lane area, which is currently allocated 

in the Site Allocations DPD (Reference MU/3). These requirements are site-

specific, clear and detailed. Once adopted, the Paradise Design Code will 

provide clarity about design expectations to applicants, and it is expected to 

enhance the character of the local area and ensure future design quality of 

developments coming forward. It has been prepared with the needs of design 

teams and officers in mind, and will be used by applicants, planning officers, 

statutory consultees and the wider community. 

 

1.4 This document supports the emerging Town Centre Strategy as part of the 
Hemel Place Plan and it will steer the design quality of emerging development 
in the town centre. 

 

2.  Summary of the Draft SPD:   
 

2.1  The project team has consisted of officers from the Development Management 
and Strategic Planning teams. Tibbalds are the lead consultant who have 
provided external support on the design and masterplan. The project is using 
the National Model Design Code to consider the design principles for the 
Paradise industrial area of Hemel town centre. 

 

2.2  The Council appointed the following external consultants to support the 

project’s development: 

 

• Tibbalds Urban Design and Planning – Masterplan Lead  

• Commonplace – Digital Engagement Lead  

• PRD Solutions – Viability Reporting  

 

2.3  The vision, principles and codes for the area, as set out in the draft SPD, have 

been influenced by a contextual analysis of the wider town, and are informed 

by the pillars set out in the Hemel Garden Communities Spatial Vision, to 

ensure the site is considered as a part of the wider town. The preparation of 

the draft SPD has been steered with 1:1 sessions and collaborative roundtables 

with DLUHC and the Office for Place, which have occurred twice a month 

during the 6-month programme. The draft SPD has embedded feedback from 

wider engagement with officers, stakeholders and the local community.   

 

Page 379



Structure of the Draft SPD 

 

2.4  The introductory section of the draft SPD sets out how the document is 

structured, the status of the content and how it should be used, alongside a 

brief summary of the analysis and engagement undertaken to inform the 

content. The introduction also establishes the vision for the area and explains 

the key priorities and objectives that have been identified to address 

opportunities and constraints. 

 

2.5  The Regulatory Plan, (Figure 1.6 p. 14), provides the framework for 

development and establishes the key urban design principles for the site. An 

illustrative masterplan, (Figure 1.7 p. 16), for the site has also been prepared, 

however it is not the intention of the SPD that designers replicate this, the 

purpose is to demonstrate how the principles established within the code could 

be applied spatially. 

 

2.6  The main body of the draft SPD comprises four key sections, which reflect the 

structure and guidance established in the NMDC: 

 Movement: This section provides coding for the movement network within 
the site, including the street hierarchy, parking access and servicing. It 
provides the framework for the site to create a safe and usable movement 
network within its boundaries, and into the wider area. 
 

 Built Form: This section provides coding for the massing of the built form, 
block structures, density and heights. It also provides a strategy for the 
design of ground-floor uses within the site. 
 

 Identity: This section sets out the key character drivers for the site, 
materials, building features and public realm. This section also provides a 
strategy for the open spaces within the site. 
 

 Use: This section establishes the use strategy across the site, including the 
configuration of residential and non-residential uses.  

 

2.7  The codes within the draft SPD specify both mandatory and discretionary 

elements. Where the requirement is mandatory applicants will be expected to 

demonstrate compliance with this, in the case of discretionary elements 

applicants will be required to demonstrate that they have tested the feasibility 

of compliance. This approach reflects current best practice to ensure that a 

high standard of design will be secured, whilst offering applicants flexibility. 

 

2.8  Due to the site being in multiple ownership, Appendix A establishes an 

‘interdependency plan’, which details how sites in separate ownership can 

come forward as part of a wider development to deliver a more comprehensive 

outcome. Appendix B sets out the contextual analysis of the Paradise area in 

the context of the wider town, which informed the codes. 

 

Policy Provision for the Draft SPD 

Page 380



2.9  The NPPF (pp.129) states that in order to carry weight in decision-making, 

design codes should be produced as either part of the development plan, or as 

SPDs.  

 

2.10  The SPD sits under Policy CS11 of the Dacorum Core Strategy, (adopted 

2013), which states ‘The quality of neighbourhood design in towns and large 

villages will be reinforced through a Supplementary Planning Document on 

Urban Design’. It also sits under the DSDG (Adopted February 2021), which 

states that ‘DBC is in the process of preparing detailed guidance for other types 

of applications, to complement the DSDG’. This SPD sets out site-specific 

requirements for design, which go beyond the Borough-wide guidance 

established in the DSDG. 

 

Next Steps 

2.11  The next step in the preparation of the SPD will be a formal public consultation 

in accordance with the Council’s SCI. Following the consultation, the Council 

will consider the views raised and make any changes it feels are necessary to 

the document before returning this to SPAEOSC, Cabinet and Full Council for 

adoption. Once adopted, the SPD will become a material planning 

consideration. 

 

3.  Options and alternatives considered 

 
3.1 Whilst applying for the DLUHC funding, other sites in the town centre were also 

considered for the production of a design code to steer development and 

improve development quality. From this, the Paradise area was selected due 

to the emerging Local Plan, and the fact that the ownership of the site is heavily 

fragmented and would benefit from a comprehensive development framework.  

 

3.2 Design Codes were chosen as the policy direction for this site due to the 

flexibility in approach, which allows for individual character of development 

whilst safeguarding quality.  

 

3.3 Not preparing the SPD was not an option due to the risk of schemes of a lower 

design quality coming forward within the area. 

 

4. Consultation and Engagement 
 

4.1 The following have been consulted on the work undertaken to date: 

 

 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

 Development Management  

 Conservation and Design 

 Strategic Planning 

 Hemel Garden Communities  

 Housing Development and Needs 

 Clean, Safe and Green  

 Community Partnerships 

Page 381



 Hertfordshire County Council 

 

4.2 All 15 landowners on the site were contacted during the summer of 2021 with 

an invitation to meet via letter.  

 

4.3 1:1 meetings were then held with 9 of the landowners in July and October to 

feed into the developing masterplan and codes.  

 

4.4 Two virtual stakeholder workshops hosted by the Council and Tibbalds took 

place in August and October 2021. The invites went out to landowners, local 

businesses, stakeholders, residents and subscribers to the project 

Commonplace platform. Flyers were distributed in the local area to promote the 

workshops. These were attended by Paradise landowners and business 

owners.  

 

4.5 Targeted community involvement on the Paradise Design Code has taken 

place with a youth group ran by YC Hertfordshire (August 2021).   

 

4.6 Engagement with members has involved a members’ walking group to the 

Paradise Area, (August 2021), project briefings with the Portfolio Holder and a 

briefing at SPAEOSC to provide a project update (November 2021). 

 

4.7 Wider public engagement has taken place using the Commonplace 

consultation on the Town Centre and Paradise site, 

https://yourhemelhempstead.commonplace.is/. This consultation took place 

between June 2021 and November 2021. Flyers and paper surveys were 

distributed in person to local businesses, residents and West Herts College. 

The commonplace consultation generated a substantial response, with 187 

respondents producing 479 contributions. 

 

4.8 When exploring the comments from this consultation relating to the wider 

Hemel town centre, the key themes of positive comments were the place being 

close to nature, having attractive design and having a strong sense of 

community. In contrast, key themes of negative comments were the place 

feeling unsafe, having no sense of community and being bad for pedestrians.  

 

4.9 When specifically focusing on the existing Paradise site the overall sentiment 

from respondents was mostly negative. Key themes from the responses 

included that the area feels unsafe, especially at night, the area is poorly 

connected, the area should facilitate safe movement for pedestrians and 

cyclists, and that with more homes being built, these should be attractive and 

high quality, and should be provided with more outdoor green spaces.  

 

4.10 Following the statutory consultation on the draft SPD, a full engagement report 

will be prepared to inform the final version of the document.  

 

5.  Financial and value for money implications: 

 
5.1 The Council received £50,000 grant funding from the Department of Levelling 

Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), as part of a national pilot scheme to 

Page 382



test and apply the National Model Design Code (NMDC). In addition to this, 

£8,500 from the Place Budget was used to appoint consultants to review the 

draft SPD to ensure what was being proposed is financially viable. 

 

5.2 The consultants were appointed through a formal procurement process where 

quality, cost and value for money considerations were reflected in the scoring 

criteria. 

 

5.3 There are no financial implications in adopting the Paradise Design Code as 

an SPD, it would be expected that it would optimise the development 

management process in the Paradise and Wood Lane area, therefore saving 

internal resource and cost. 

 

6.  Legal Implications 

 

6.1 There are no legal implications directly associated with this report.  

 

6.2 Following the completion of the committee process, the draft SPD will be 

consulted on and made publicly available, in accordance with the Council’s 

adopted SCI (2019). This will ensure full compliance with the relevant statutory 

requirements for SPDs, as set out in the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 

6.3 A screening assessment to carry out Strategic Environmental Assessment 

(SEA) and Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) will be required prior to the 

adoption of the SPD, and will be undertaken following the consultation. 

 

7.  Risk implications: 

 
7.1 The site was proposed for mixed-use development in the Emerging Strategy 

for Growth consultation document in 2020. Since this time, a number of 

landowners have expressed an interest in developing their site and have come 

forward for pre-application discussions with the Council.  

 

7.2 Alongside this, there are emerging masterplans for both the adjacent Hemel 

Hospital site and the Paradise Fields Housing site. Because of this active 

planning context, there is a clear need for a development framework to steer 

quality and bring forward comprehensive redevelopment.  

 

7.3 Adopting this SPD will help to steer the development and delivery quality of 

schemes on sites in the area through guidance on density, uses, character, 

green spaces and quality, amongst others. If this SPD is not adopted, there 

would be a risk of schemes of a lower design quality coming forward and the 

strategic place making objectives set in the design code not being delivered.  

 

7.4 Having an adopted SPD will ease the development management process, by 

establishing metrics for key parameters such as heights, build form and 

materials for applicants to comply with. 

 

Page 383



7.5 One area of risk on implementing the SPD is the interface with the Council’s 

car parking standards, set out in the separate Car Parking SPD. The Paradise 

Design Code does not change these standards; it merely provides guidance on 

design. In certain development scenarios, particularly if build costs continue to 

increase and sales values stagnate, it may prove challenging to deliver fully 

policy compliant car parking across the site, which is a risk to implementation. 

 

8.  Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 

 
8.1 A Community Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is annexed to this 

report. This assesses the potential positive and negative impacts on people 

who share protected characteristics, which may arise from the adoption of the 

SPD. This identifies that by setting out requirements for the design of 

development, the Paradise Design Code SPD will have a positive impact on 

communities within both new and existing neighbourhoods within the area.   

 
8.2 There are no implications for Human Rights relating directly to this report. The 

consultation and engagement will be optional and there will be free text boxes 
to capture all feedback. This would not contravene respect for private and 
family life, home and correspondence, freedom of thought, belief and religion, 
freedom of expression and protection from discrimination in respect of these 
rights and freedoms. 

 

9.  Sustainability implications (including climate change, health and 
wellbeing, community safety): 

 
9.1 The Draft Paradise Design Code, once adopted, will deliver multiple benefits 

relating to climate change, health and wellbeing and community safety. The 
vision, objectives and priorities for the site as established by the draft SPD are 
framed around creating sustainable development and as a result, the proposals 
within the document set out the mechanisms for achieving this, including but 
not limited to: 

 

 Implementing an open space strategy, which encourages the provision of 

open spaces, tree planting, urban wilding, and utilising roof space to 

provide enhancements to biodiversity and/or wider sustainability (such as 

communal growing spaces or sustainable energy generation). 

 

 Delivering improvements to pedestrian and cycle safety, and improving and 

creating connections, to encourage active travel and contribute to a modal 

shift away from the use of private cars – a measure that will assist in 

mitigating wider impacts of climate change. 

 

 Protecting both residential privacy and environmental features by 

establishing no build zones and clear setback distances from main roads, 

and by defining areas with sensitive building frontages. 

 

 Ensuring that all residential units are provided with their own outdoor space.  

 

9.2 The potential implications for the nature reserve located towards the east of the 

site have been considered as part of the preparation process for this document. 

Page 384



The requirements of the SPD will ensure that the design of proposals on the 

site are sensitive to the character and biodiversity of the nature reserve, and 

that existing connections to the area from the site are retained and enhanced. 

This will improve community safety when moving between the site and the 

nature reserve, and will also promote biodiversity and landscape 

enhancements, and provide health and wellbeing benefits by encouraging 

access to open space.  

 

9.3 Once adopted, the Paradise Design Code will improve the overall sustainability 

and biodiversity of the area. 

 

10.  Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and 

other resources): 

 

10.1  There are no implications directly associated with health & safety and HR/OD 

arising from this report.  

 

10.2  There is a pending scheme for consideration relating to a Dacorum owned site 
(Paradise Depot) which falls within the boundary of the area covered by the 
draft SPD. The Housing Development team has been consulted throughout the 
process of developing the document. The scheme is compliant with the 
mandatory requirements set out within the SPD. 

 
11.  Statutory Comments: 

 
Monitoring Officer  

 
11.1  The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012 

is the relevant statutory framework that governs the form and content of 
supplementary planning documents which includes the requirement for a two-
stage public consultation process.  The recommendations in this report will 
ensure that the consultation requirements of the 2012 Regulations are met. 

 
Section 151 Chief Finance Officer 

 
11.2  There are no financial implication of the implementation of the proposed design 

code, and government funding is expected to fund the remainder of this project 
through the consultation phase. 

 
12.  Conclusions: 

 
12.1  The draft Paradise Design Code SPD has been produced as part of a 

collaborative process, and the content has been informed by extensive 
engagement with Council officers, members and the wider community.  

 

12.2  The next stage in preparing the Design Code is to undertake formal public 

consultation. This will allow the views of the community to be taken into account 

as the document develops. The Council will carefully consider the views 

received and revise the document as necessary. 

 

12.3  Once adopted, this SPD will be a material consideration in determining 

planning applications and will steer the quality of schemes proposed. The 

Page 385



existing development context relating to this site is currently active, with 

multiple sites coming forward for pre-application during the preparation of this 

document. By establishing parameters and instructions for applicants to comply 

with, this SPD will ensure the creation of a distinctive, attractive and sustainable 

place; therefore, it is key the draft SPD progresses to consultation to ensure it 

is adopted in a timely manner. 

Page 386



Paradise Design Code
Draft Supplementary Planning Document 
July 2022

Hemel Hempstead Town Centre 

P
age 387



JULY 2022

 ❚ Contents

This document has been produced by Tibbalds Planning 
and Urban Design on behalf of Dacorum Borough Council 

01 INTRODUCTION 4

Introduction and Vision  4

Purpose and status of this document 6

How to use this design code  7

Design topics  7

The Site and Context  10

Contextual Influences  10

Engagement 12

Key Priorities and Objectives 12

Regulatory Plan  14

02 MOVEMENT 20

2.0 Movement  20

2.1 Site wide codes  22

2.2 Street Hierarchy  23

2.3 Parking 25

2.4 Access: Pedestrians and Cyclists 28

2.5 Vehicular Access and Servicing  28

03 BUILT FORM 32

3.0 Built Form  32

3.1 Site wide codes  34

3.2 Density & Heights Strategy   35

3.3 Block Structure & Urban Grain   36

3.4 Ground Floor Frontages 42

04 IDENTITY 46

4.0 Identity  46

4.1 Site wide codes  48

4.2 Open space strategy 49

4.3 Typology A: Street Spaces 52

4.4 Typology B: Courtyard spaces 58

4.5 Typology C: Podium Gardens 58

4.6 Typology D: Roof Gardens   59

4.7 Typology E: Balconies  60

4.8 Elevational Treatment  61

05 USE 68

5.0 Use 68

5.1 Site wide codes  70

5.2 Land Use Strategy  71

5.3 Opportunities   72

5.4 Frontages  73

Appendices 

Appendix A 78

Appendix B 86

P
age 388



P
age 389



P
age 390



Introduction01

P
age 391



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
4

JULY 2022

01

Introduction and Vision 

The Paradise Design Code aims 
to transform this part of Hemel 
Hempstead into a gateway 
neighbourhood for people to live, work, 
play and be active. It will build on the 
existing positive characteristics of the 
town, such as the high quality public 
open space, the established business 
community and its original New Town 
ambitions, to deliver a distinctive sense 
of place. It will create an inspiring, 
attractive and sustainable place which 
generates professional and social 
opportunities for the benefit of the 
new and wider community, whilst also 
protecting and enhancing the natural 
environment.

The production of this design code has 
been a collaborative process involving 
Dacorum Borough Council, Hertfordshire 
County Council, the local community, and 
the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities as part of the National 
Model Design Code Pilot. 

The National Model Design Code defines a 
design code as: 

	■ a set of simple, concise, illustrated 
design requirements that are visual and 
numerical wherever possible to provide 
specific, detailed parameters for the 
physical development of a site or area.

Photograph © Jim Stephenson

Paradise will be a neighbourhood for people to live, work, play and be active. 

Workspaces will be carefully integrated  

Above: Images of best practice urban design schemes

New Town detailing will be interpreted in a 
contemporary way 

High quality and multi-functional public realm

P
age 392



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

5

01

Paradise Vision (Illustrative, compliant scheme shown). 

P
age 393



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
6

JULY 2022

01

Purpose and status of this 
document

Paradise will set a benchmark for high-
quality development in the centre of Hemel 
Hempstead. The Paradise Design Code 
is envisaged to be used by a number of 
different groups: 

	■ Developers, as instructions to inform 
their design;

	■ The community, as information about 
the development and what they can 
expect; and 

	■ Council officers and members, as 
a tool to assess individual planning 
applications. 

This Design Code is a draft SPD, and 
when adopted it will become a material 
consideration in determining planning 
applications. 

Any individual planning applications must 
be designed in accordance with current 
policy, any other material considerations 
and a further understanding of technical 
constraints such as utilities and 
infrastructure. 

All future planning applications will need 
to be accompanied by a statement which 
demonstrates that the code compliance 
checklist, which can be obtained from 
Dacorum Borough Council, has been 
satisfied. Figure 1.1: Structure and status of the Design Code content. 

* Note: all sections contain precedent images of good practice examples and schemes. 

Supporting 
information 

Introduction 
Key Priorities and Objectives 

Regulatory Plan 

Movement
Overarching Principles 

Key Plan and supporting codes

Illustrative Sections 

3D massing of code compliant 
illustrative masterplan 

Building Typologies

Stacked Open Space Strategy 

Land Use Opportunities 

Overarching Principles 

Built Form Key Plan, Heights Plan, Frontages 
and supporting codes

Overarching Principles 

Identity Key Plan, Key Spaces, On-street 
treatment and supporting codes

Overarching Principles 

Use Key Plans and supporting codes

Built Form 

Identity 

Use

Code compliance checklist 

Engagement 
Report

Site and Context Analysis 
(Appendix B) 

Illustrative Masterplan and Capacity 
Testing (Appendix A) 

D
es

ig
n 

C
od

in
g 

Ke
y 

G
ui

da
nc

e/
Ill

us
tr

at
iv

e 
 M

at
er

ia
l 

P
age 394



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

7

01

How to use this design code 

This Design Code has been prepared with the needs of 
designers and officers in mind, so that it is practical and 
sets out clear justifications and requirements. It includes 
mandatory and discretionary elements. The words ‘must’ 
and ‘will’ indicate mandatory coding elements. ‘Should’ 
indicates advisory /discretionary guidance elements - 
where these are used then applicants will be required 
to demonstrate that they have tested the feasibility of 
compliance with the requirement. ‘Could’ and ‘may’ 
indicate elements of the code that are encouraged, but not 
compulsory. Illustrative material shows examples of how the 
coding could be applied as a design solution on Site. 

For avoidance of doubt all coding images should be 
construed as mandatory unless specifically marked as 
guidance/illustrative. 

An illustrative masterplan, shown in Figure 1.7 has been 
prepared to demonstrate how the principles within this 
design code could be applied to the code spatially. The 
intention is not that the illustrative scheme is copied by 
designers. 

The appendices within this document set out the contextual 
analysis, from which the site specific coding has been 
derived.

Design topics 

All design guidance chapters are laid out on the page in a 
similar format with a reference bar along the right hand side 
of the spread. This provides the key information that the 
chapter relates to e.g. design priority, engagement topic and 
other areas of the design code that are cross-referenced. 

This design code covers four key sections: Movement, Built 
Form, Identity and Use, as set out on the next page.

04

Key
Central open space

Gateway space

Linear space

Strategic open space 

Indicative residential courtyards

Indicative commercial courtyards

Shared pedestrian /cycleway

Opportunity for tall building

Formal frontage character 

Paradise 

Park Lane

Wood Lane

Linear space

Informal frontage character 

Park edge

Priority: 

Also related to: 

COMMONPLACEThe feeling of being 
close to nature is what 
I like best about the 
open spaces in Hemel 
Hempstead

Site priority addressed Section number 

Other areas of the 
design code that are 
interrelated 

Quote from engagement 
event: Commonplace, 
Youth Workshop or Officer/
Member Engagement

Each section has a key plan, which builds on 
the regulatory plan and provides additional 
information according on the topic being 
coded

IDENTITY04

Figure 1.2: Sample design code page

P
age 395



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
8

JULY 2022

01

03 Built Form 

02 Movement 

05 Use

04 Identity 

Section 3 sets out the 
codes for the articulation of 
the built form and massing. 

This section provides 
coding for the movement 
network within the site, 
including street hierarchy, 
parking and servicing.

This section establishes the 
use strategy across the site, 
including the configuration 
of residential and non-
residential uses. 

This section sets out the 
key character drivers for 
the site, including specific 
codes on the approach to 
the open spaces within the 
site. 

P
age 396



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

9

01

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 397



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
10

JULY 2022

01

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

J U N C T I O N  8  M 1
( 7  m i n  d r i v e )

T H E  S I T E 

T H E  P L O U G H 
R O U N D A B O U T 

H O S P I TA L 
A L L O C AT I O N 

L E I G H T O N  B U Z Z A R D
( 2 7  m i n  d r i v e )

B E R K H A M S T E A D
( 1 0  m i n  d r i v e )

WAT F O R D
( 2 0  m i n  d r i v e )

Figure 1.3: Site Location Plan

The Site and Context 

The site of Paradise is located to the east 
of the central core of Hemel Hempstead, 
and is within the town centre boundary. It 
sits to the north of St Albans Road, a major 
arterial route into the town, however, it lacks 
presence within the town and isn’t a place 
that residents or visitors would happen 
across without a specific reason.  The site is 
currently occupied by a mix of commercial 
and industrial businesses, as well as a 
community food bank, all of which benefit 
from the transport links and proximity to the 
inner core of the town centre The site area 
is 2.92ha. The site is currently allocated for 
B1 led business and housing (75 homes) in 
the Site Allocations Document Adopted in 
2017. In 2020 we consulted on a draft Local 
Plan which included the site as an emerging 
allocation, for Employment generating uses, 
residential (350 homes), replacement DENS 
foodbank and public open space.

The site is in fragmented land ownership 
and in order to address this complexity an 
interdependency plan has been developed 
which sets out the assumptions made to 
progress the framework and code. This 
is set out in Appendix A, and explains 
how and where sites within separate land 
ownerships could come forward as part 
of a wider plot to produce a more positive 
outcome.  

Contextual Influences 

The codes set out in this document have 
been influenced by contextual analysis 
of the wider town centre, encompassing 
both the new and old town. 

A number of residential developments are 
coming forward in close proximity to the 
site, including the recently constructed 
Poppy and Primrose Court development 
and the consented Paradise Fields 
scheme to the east. To the north of 
the site is Hemel Hempstead General 
Hospital, which is currently allocated for 
a replacement hospital, a new two form 
entry primary school and housing (400 
homes). The site must be considered 
in view of this, as part of a wider 
neighbourhood. 

Further detail on the analysis that has been 
undertaken and how this has influenced 
the design code is included in Appendix B.

 

N

P
age 398



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

11

01

The site is used by a variety of businesses within the commercial and industrial sectors. 

Riverside, Hemel Hempstead town centre, is within a 10 minute walk of the site. 

A number of residential developments are coming forward within close proximity of the site. 

Hemel Hempstead’s identity as a New Town is strongly linked back to Geoffrey Jellicoe’s original 
vision for the town as a ‘city in a park’. 

P
age 399



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
12

JULY 2022

01

Engagement

A series of engagement events have been 
undertaken to inform the design process 
and code work as it has developed. This 
programme of events has included the 
following: 

	■ Landowner and Stakeholder 
Workshops; 

	■ Officer and Member Workshops & 
walkovers; 

	■ Youth Engagement Workshop; and 

	■ The wider general public via 
Commonplace. 

Through reviewing the feedback received 
from these events, some of the common 
opinions expressed were: 

	■ The importance of open space to the 
character of Hemel Hempstead. The 
existing open spaces within the town 
are generally considered some of the 
most positive spaces within the town. 

	■ Desire for additional planting and 
greenery as well as improved access to 
the existing green spaces. 

	■ Many buildings in the town centre are 
considered ‘dull or boring’  - there is 
a strong desire for an attractive new 
environment where development is 
coming forward. 

	■ Access and safety issues both with 
regard to pedestrian and cyclist 
movement and generally within open 
spaces were raised on a number of 
occasions. Lack of safety for cyclists 
on the main roads and particular 
concern about moving through areas 
that weren’t well overlooked were 
prominent in the feedback.  

The feedback received has been used to 
shape the aims and objectives of the code, 
with the key priorities aiming to specifically 
target community ambitions and concerns 
for the new development. 

Key Priorities and Objectives

The major opportunity for the site is to 
create a compact development that 
signalises the approach to the town 
centre from the east. This site has the 
opportunity to create a benchmark 
for new, sustainable and mixed use 
development that has strong links to 
Hemel Hempstead’s New Town heritage 
and serves its local community. The site’s 
topography and proximity to Paradise 
Fields lend itself to a development that 
draws on Jellicoe’s original, radical visions 
for the town, embracing and celebrating 
its location between the town centre and 
the nature beyond.  The masterplan will 
draw on the site’s central location with 
improved access between the town centre 
and Paradise Fields via a green link. 

Figure 1.4 sets out the key priorities and 
objectives for Paradise, which have been 
defined through the engagement process 
and through a detailed urban design 
and townscape analysis of the site in the 
context of the town centre. These priorities 
have been shaped to ensure that when 
brought together, they directly address the 
vision for the site. 

The priorities and objectives sit within the 
four pillars set out in the Hemel Garden 
Communities Spatial Vision, which are for: 

	■ A green network; 

	■ Integrated neighbourhoods; 

	■ A self-sustaining economy; and 

	■ Engaged communities. 

The three key priorities and objectives 
identified to achieve them address the site 
specific opportunities and constraints. 
The symbols shown adjacent (Figure 1.5) 
are used for each of the priorities, and 
are referred to throughout the document 
when a coding topic addresses a specific 
priority. 

Engagement events have taken a highly 
participatory approach to inform the coding. 
This image shows a photo taken by a member 
of the youth group during their walkover. 

P
age 400



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

13

01

F o u r  p i l l a r s 
s p a t i a l  v i s i o n 

s e t  o u t  i n 
H e m e l  G a r d e n 
C o m m u n i t i e s 

P a r a d i s e 
K e y 

p r i o r i t i e s 

Integrated: Connectivity, 
movement & sustainable 

transport 

Sustainable & Green  Urban Community 

P a r a d i s e 
K e y 

o b j e c t i v e s 

A green network 
Integrated 

neighbourhoods 

Use emerging uses & development 
to create a positive transition 

between neighbourhoods to the 
east, Paradise Fields, & the town 

centre 

Create a strong 
identity connected to 
Hemel Hempstead’s 
New Town heritage 

Provide a responsive 
and futureproof 
development 

Draw on the 
opportunity to 

provide a compact 
neighbourhood 

Positively integrate 
residential and 

employment uses 

Provide the right mix 
of uses: Support the 
community that live & 

work in Paradise 

Enhance the character 
of the area 

Improved connectivity, 
accessibility and 
feeling of safety 

Provide flexible 
amenity space to 

serve the on site and 
wider community 

A self-sustaining 
economy 

Engaged 
communities 

Activate streets and 
spaces & provide a 
high quality public 

realm

Improve connections 
to the town centre 
and provide new 

connections to the 
north 

P R I O R I T Y  1 P R I O R I T Y  2 P R I O R I T Y  3

Figure 1.4: Key principles and objectives for Paradise Figure 1.5: Symbolised key principles for 
Paradise, used throughout code

P
age 401



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
14

JULY 2022

01

Regulatory Plan 

The Regulatory Plan shown on Figure 1.6 
sets the framework for the development 
at Paradise. This establishes the essential 
urban design principles for the site: 

	■ Streets and blocks: The existing 
street network and alignment has 
been retained and enhanced with 
additional pedestrian and cycle links, 
to create a connected, legible street 
network. Proposals must adhere to 
the principles of the blocks set out on 
the plan. Variation in depth and width 
of blocks is acceptable and will be 
determined through detailed design, 
provided the key codes and objectives 
for the frontages set out in this 
document are adhered to. 

	■ Key nodes: These are junctions or 
gateways that serve an important 
townscape purpose either within the 
site or to increase prominence of the 
site in the wider context. 

	■ Improved connections:  The existing 
connections to the nature reserve to the 
east, and the Paradise Fields housing 
development which are currently 
overgrown and underused must be 
retained and enhanced, so that they 
are usable, legible and safe. New 
connections to the future development 
on the hospital site to the south must 
also be provided. 

	■ Continuous active frontages: 
Frontages that define the primary route 
through the site, between the town 
centre and nature reserve to the east. 
These frontages must contribute to the 
urban neighbourhood character and 
residential vehicular access must be 
provided between or around the side of 
the blocks along this frontage. 

	■ Secondary and sensitive 
frontages: All streets and spaces 
will be overlooked by frontages. The 
regulatory plan requires particular 
alignments of frontages where this is 
considered important to the character. 

	■ Marker buildings: The buildings 
identified on the plan, which include 
landmark buildings (see Section 3) 
are individual buildings that terminate 
strategic views or mark important 
corners within the neighbourhood. 
Their importance as a marker building 
doesn’t necessarily relate to the 
height of the building, but they can 
be exceptional through other design 
approaches, for example stepping 
forward of the building line or through 
distinctive, high quality elevational 
treatment.

P
age 402



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

15

01

Figure 1.6: Regulatory Plan

ST ALBANS ROAD 

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

N

N AT U R E  R E S E R V E 
Town centre boundary Sensitive edge

Site boundary Existing building

Formal open space Primary street

Informal open space
Existing strategic route

Pedestrian priority
Existing pedestrian /  
cycle route

Mixed-uses
Shared pedestrian /  
cycle route

Indicative residential 
development Existing pedestrian route 

Opportunity for future 
strategic pedestrian 
and/or cycle route 

Marker building

TPOsContinuous active frontage

Key node

Secondary frontage

Sensitive frontage (ensure 
over-looking and element of 
activity / residential access)

Hospital site

P
age 403



 ❚ INTRODUCTION

Paradise Design Code   Introduction
16

JULY 2022

01

Figure 1.7: Left: Paradise Vision (Illustrative, compliant scheme shown)

St
 A

lb
an

s 
R

oa
d 

P
age 404



Paradise Design Code   IntroductionJULY 2022

17

01

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 405



P
age 406



02 Movement

P
age 407



 ❚ MOVEMENT

Paradise Design Code   Movement
20

02

JULY 2022

MOVEMENT

2.0 Movement 

This section provides coding for the 
movement network within the site, 
including the street hierarchy, parking and 
servicing.

The site’s location is within the town centre 
boundary of Hemel Hempstead, and as 
such is well located in terms of proximity 
to public transport, shops and services 
within the heart of the town. At present, 
however, the site is very isolated despite its 
central location due to poor public realm 
connections, with the movement routes 
towards the centre being indirect and 
fragmented. In addition, the existing route 
into the nature reserve to the east from 
the site is overgrown and illegible, with no 
sense of where the route leads to. 

The existing street network within the site 
is heavily dominated by road infrastructure 
and parked cars, making it an undesirable 
environment for pedestrians and 
cyclists. At present, partially due to the 
industrial nature of the site, there are few 
pedestrians or cyclists moving through, 
unless they are visiting the site for a 
specific reason. 

The coding within the section provides 
the framework to create a safe and usable 
movement network with improved access 
for pedestrians and cyclists, both within its 
boundaries and into its wider context. 

The movement network must support 
safe and direct passage through the site 
in all directions, to the nature reserve, the 
town centre, the proposed neighbourhood 
to the north and to St Albans Road. The 
existing route into the nature reserve to the 
east must be opened up and improved, 
with design proposals that are sensitive 
to the character and biodiversity of this 
existing open space. 

Vehicular movement and parking must 
not dominate the streetscape /open 
spaces and must be integrated sensitively 
into the public realm. 

Parking provision must be designed to 
have flexibility in use in the future, if car 
dependency reduces. (Image above 
shows how a hard surfaced area can be 
repurposed to serve the community). 

1. 2. 3. 

P
age 408



Paradise Design Code   Movement
21

JULY 2022

02

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 409



 ❚ MOVEMENT

Paradise Design Code   Movement
22

02

JULY 2022

2.1 Site wide codes 

The following key code principles apply to the 
movement across the site: 

	■ The footpath between the eastern end of Paradise 
and the nature reserve to the east must be retained 
and enhanced to form a legible, accessible and safe 
link for pedestrians.  

	■ If the Marlowes is redeveloped in the future, a 
connection through to Paradise is desirable, as 
illustrated on Figure 2.1. 

	■ A north-south link for pedestrians and cyclists 
must be provided between Paradise and the future 
neighbourhood to the north (Hospital Allocated Site). 
This north-south shared pedestrian/cycle route 
identified on Figure 2.1 has a preferred east-west 
deviation limit of 37m maximum – this preferred zone 
is highlighted on the plan. 

	■ The streets must accommodate shared vehicular 
and cycle movement corridors, with pavements 
provided for pedestrians. Where routes are provided 
off-street (refer to Figure 2.1), the space must be 
designed to incorporate shared pedestrian and cycle 
facilities. Future improvements to the public realm, 
including the potential for segregated cycleways 
within the existing street corridors should be 
explored in line  with emerging land use requirements 
throughout the site. 

	■ Vehicular accesses must be provided at appropriate 
intervals so as not to be detrimental to the public 
realm and pedestrian/cycle movement e.g. through 
excessive carving up of the pavement. This will be 
considered on a case by case basis. Consolidated 
access points between sites should be provided if 

Figure 2.1: Movement Key Plan 

ST ALBANS ROAD 

Potential future connection 
to town centre 

N AT U R E  R E S E R V E 

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

N

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

Existing road network and 
access to be considered 
for future public realm 
improvements

Existing section of road to 
become access only

Existing strategic route

Primary vehicle access

Existing pedestrian / cycle 
route

Bus stop

Primary shared pedestrian / 
cycle route

Walking distances

Off-street shared 
pedestrian  / cycle route

Potential strategic links to 
wider area to be determined 
as part of town centre 
strategy

Strategic pedestrian / cycle 
route

Key pedestrian 
intervention

Indicative surface car-
parking

Illustrative location of 
vehicle access to plots

Primary pedestrian and 
cycle access to plots

P
age 410



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Movement
23

02

COMMONPLACE

JULY 2022

The negative perception 
of the existing area was 
partially down to being 
‘bad for cyclists.’

The code retains and enhances the existing street 
network within the site. 

adjacent sites come forward at the same 
time, unless it is unviable or unworkable 
with land use requirements. Each 
individual site should have a maximum 
of one access point, taking into account 
the preference for consolidated access 
above.  

	■ If, in the future, sites are changing in use 
from industrial to residential or other, 
resulting in the removal of industrial 
traffic from the street network then traffic 
calming schemes should be designed 
and implemented with the owners and 
occupiers at the time. 

	■ Wood Lane and Paradise are streets 
that must be targeted for public realm 
improvements in the future as part of 
a comprehensive street improvement 
scheme, accommodating any change of 
use on site within a pedestrian and cycle 
safe and environment.

	■ Parking must be provided to the rear 
of the street frontages where possible, 
with the exception of those stated in the 
parking codes. Please refer to section 2.5 
for coding relating to servicing and 2.3 for 
parking codes. 

	■ All pavements/pedestrian links provided 
within the site must comply with DDA 
requirements.

2.2 Street Hierarchy 

The principal movement corridors and their 
alignment are set out on the Movement Key 
Plan (Figure 2.1). There is an existing street 
network within the site, with access currently 
provided from Park Lane to the west and 
St Albans Road to the south. Paradise and 
Wood Lane are the two existing streets 
within the site, which are approximately 
7.5m wide, with footpaths either side. 
These streets are currently dominated by 
on street parking, with cars banking onto 
the pavements, and wide, frequent access 
points (dropped kerbs) into the businesses 
on site. This results in a poor and unsafe 
environment for pedestrian and cycle 
movement. 

The code retains the alignment of the 
existing streets so as not to compromise 
the traffic requirements of the existing 
businesses on site, and enhances the wider 
network of pedestrian and cycle routes 
into which it connects. The design of the 
pedestrian and cycle routes focusses on 
high levels of connectivity within the site, to 
and from Hemel Hempstead town centre 
and into the surrounding neighbourhoods, 
including the future neighbourhood to the 
north. 

The movement coding within this section, 
together with the on-street frontage 
conditions coded in Section 4.33 improves 
the existing environment for pedestrians and 
cyclists, and provides an interconnected, 
legible movement network. 

It is of utmost importance that all street 
elements within the network are designed 
to be inclusive and, in particular, consider 
needs relating to disability, age, gender 
and maternity. This must be addressed in 
conversations with highways officers at the 
detailed design stage. 

There are two categories of street within the 
site;

	■ the existing streets which accommodate 
all modes of transport (pedestrian, cycle 
and vehicle); and

	■ key areas of public space that 
accommodate only pedestrian and cycle 
movement. 

In addition, the spaces to the rear/within 
the centre of the blocks must be designed 
to accommodate all modes of transport, 
but will not be delineated with carriageway/
pavements as with the existing streets. 
Instead, paving treatment and planted 
boundaries, for example, will subtly delineate 
the vehicle movement zones from the public 
spaces/gardens. Please refer to Section 4.4 
for the coding relating to the design of these 
spaces. 

P
age 411



 ❚ MOVEMENT

Paradise Design Code   Movement
24

02

JULY 2022

Pedestrian and Cycle Movement

Cycling is seen as an essential mode of 
transport for the residents and employees 
within Paradise, as well as anyone moving 
through the site between the town centre 
and nature reserve. The site will provide 
shared pedestrian and cycle leisure 
routes. Local variations in alignment 
may be agreed as part of an application, 
however the links must be provided 
to connect the destinations as shown 
on Figure 2.1. Further information on 
pedestrian and cycle access is set out in 
Section 2.4. 

Vehicular Movement Network 

All streets must be designed in 
accordance with Manual for Streets and 
the Hertfordshire Highways Design Guide 
and any future versions of these guidance 
documents. An indicative section of the 
retained street along Paradise, and how 
this sits within the wider framework of plots 
is shown on Figure  2.3. As can be seen, 
the existing carriageway and pavements 
have been retained, which will be subject 
to future improvements depending on the 
known users /businesses along the street. 
Further information on vehicular access 
and servicing is set out in Section 2.5. 

Figure 2.3: Illustrative section.

Figure 2.2: Section location

Non-residential use 

Landowner boundary 

Existing ProposedProposed

Landowner boundary 

Non-residential use 

P
age 412



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Movement
25

02

“

“

JULY 2022

YOUTH ENGAGEM
EN

T

2.3 Parking

This section sets out the codes for 
parking areas to ensure that they are well 
integrated, convenient and provide a 
positive environment. A range of parking 
solutions are acceptable to the different 
block typologies within Paradise: 

	■ Restricted on-street parking 

	■ Undercroft parking

	■ Podium parking 

	■ Courtyard parking 

	■ Basement/semi-basement parking

On Street 

	■ Must only be provided for essential 
access needs, e.g. blue badge visitor 
parking or to be used as servicing 
bays; 

	■ Any spaces should  be surfaced with 
block pavers. Black or grey tarmac 
is undesirable and spaces must not 
be delineated with white highway 
markings. If black/grey tarmac is to 
be used it must be demonstrated 
that block pavers are unviable or 
undeliverable. If this is proven to be the 
case, any tarmac must be edged with 
block pavers. Parking bay delineation 
must be carried out with paving units; 

	■ Parallel parking should be a minimum 
of 2.0m wide x 6.0m long. There must 
not be more than 3 spaces in a line 
without landscape or tree planting to 
break them up; and

	■ On-street parking spaces must be 
clearly demarcated and integrated into 
the wider public realm strategy (please 
refer to Section 4.33).

Thumbs down for car dominance

Undercroft Parking 

	■ Entrances to undercroft parking must 
be legible for users, but minimise 
impact on public realm. If access 
to undercroft parking is to be from 
primary frontages, this must only 
be for private residential vehicles (i.e. 
not double height servicing/industrial 
accesses) and attractively screened; 

	■ Residential units above undercroft 
parking must provide surveillance to 
the street and must have balconies 
and/or large windows to provide a 
sense of overlooking.

Figure 2.4: Illustration of suitable undercroft parking provision. 

P
age 413



 ❚ MOVEMENT

Paradise Design Code   Movement
26

02

JULY 2022

Podium Parking 

	■ Can be incorporated in a podium 
which is either in use solely as parking 
space, or mixed with uses that require 
a deeper floorplate, for example light 
industrial uses. 

	■ The podium must be carefully 
designed so that no blank walls are 
created. This can be achieved through 
the wrapping of the podium in active 
uses and/or stepping of the landscape 
down to street level to address any level 
change created by the podium. 

Please refer to Section 4.5 for further 
coding on the open space strategy for 
courtyard parking areas. 

Non-residential use 

Residential unit Residential unit

Non-residential use 

Figure  2.5: Unit Typology 1a with podium parking - guidance plan. 

Figure 2.6: Unit Typology 1b with podium parking - guidance plan. 

P
age 414



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Movement
27

02

COMMONPLACE“

JULY 2022

..any opportunities 
for additional amenity 
space should be 
considered before 
cars.. “

Courtyard Parking 

	■ Rear courtyards must be clearly defined as 
either public or private.  

	■ The courtyard should be surfaced with block 
pavers or other high quality surfacing. If 
black or grey tarmac is to be used it must be 
demonstrated that block pavers are unviable or 
undeliverable. If this is proven to be the case, 
any tarmac must be edged with block pavers.; 

	■ The layout of any parking must allocate 
space for electric charging points and should 
accommodate vehicles that may be arising 
as part of modal shift such as e-bikes or car 
sharing schemes. 

	■ The space must be designed with the ability 
to be repurposed when dependence on the 
private car diminishes, for example as an area 
of green open space/recreation. This principle 
is illustrated on figures 2.7 and 2.8). 

Please refer to Section 4.4 for further coding on 
the open space strategy for courtyard parking 
areas. 

Semi-Basement/Basement Parking 

This typology of parking should be provided where 
the quality of the public/private space around the 
block is likely to be compromised by a dominance 
of car parking. This solution relieves the open 
space of vehicles, allowing it to operate as a 
functional area of open space for the residents/
employees of Paradise. The deliverability of this 
approach is to be determined through plot-by-plot 
viability testing.

 

Figure 2.7: Courtyard parking integrated into landscaping- guidance plan. 

Figure 2.8: Future use of courtyard garden if car dependence reduces - guidance plan. 

P
age 415



 ❚ MOVEMENT

Paradise Design Code   Movement
28

02

JULY 2022

2.4 Access: Pedestrians and 
Cyclists

All residents and visitors will access their 
homes directly from either Paradise, Wood 
Lane or the key areas of public realm. The 
residential buildings will be via a mix of 
communal residential entrance lobbies 
and private front doors to either individual 
street facing apartments or maisonettes. 
The key codes for pedestrian and cycle 
access are as follows: 

	■ All pedestrian accesses must be 
provided on the street/public realm 
frontage. 

	■ Pedestrian access points into 
community/commercial/industrial 
floorspace should be separate from 
the servicing access. 

	■ Cyclists storage for occupants should 
be provided within the curtilage of the 
building, where there will be secure 
storage and direct access into the main 
entrance lobbies. 

	■ Additional cycle storage must be 
provided on-street or within shared 
commercial courtyards for non-
residential uses and visitors. 

2.5 Vehicular Access and Servicing 

Access and servicing arrangements will 
fall under two key categories: 

	■ mixed-use units fronting onto Wood 
Lane/Paradise; and 

	■ units fronting onto the key pedestrian/
cycle priority spaces. 

The strategy for the two different locations 
has been designed to ensure the key 
public realm objectives of the site aren’t 
compromised while still enabling the 
‘mixed-use’ spaces to function efficiently. 

General codes: 

	■ Access to parking should be 
provided through, or around the block 
frontage so that parked vehicles are 
removed from the street frontage. The 
acceptable parking typologies set out 
in Section 2.3 must be followed. 

	■ Servicing should be provided directly 
from the street network. 

	■ Servicing must be designed to ensure 
access to the units is not restricted. 

Typology 1: Mixed-use units fronting 
onto Wood Lane /Paradise 

	■ Access and servicing must be 
designed to be efficient and so that it 
doesn’t compromise the public realm 
or neighbouring residential uses. 

	■ Servicing bays should be integrated 
into any on-street parking provided. 
Please refer to Section 4.33 for further 
codes associated with on-street 
treatment. 

Typology 2: Units fronting onto 
pedestrian /cycle priority spaces

	■ Loading must be designed to be time 
limited, to ensure that the requirements 
for different types of units are met 
within a time frame, outside of which 
the public realm can operate as usual. 

	■ Residential vehicular access must 
be provided away from the key public 
realm spaces, to the rear of the 
frontage within shared courtyards, 
podium or undercroft parking. This 
ensures these spaces are kept free 
from continuous through traffic.

P
age 416



Paradise Design Code   Movement
29

02

JULY 2022

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 417



P
age 418



03 Built Form 

P
age 419



 ❚ BUILT FORM 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
32

03

JULY 2022

3.0 Built Form 

This section sets out the codes for the 
articulation of the built form and massing. 

The urban neighbourhood aspirations set 
out for the site are afforded by its proximity 
to the core of the town, and location 
within the town centre boundary. The 
built form on site is low rise in nature and 
does not positively contribute to the urban 
townscape of the centre, with poorly 
defined frontages and little enclosure 
provided to the street. The low rise nature 
of the site means it isn’t prominent despite 
its position on a major arterial route into 
the town (St Albans Road). 

The built form coding set out in this 
section sets out the parameters for any 
development coming forward on the site, 
which addresses the key opportunities 
afforded by the site’s location and 
responds to the distinctive qualities of 
the new town. This section provides the 
coding for the articulation and massing of 
the built form as well as the ground floor 
strategy for the site. 

There are three key code objectives that 
this section addresses, as set out on this 
page.

The block structure and typologies used 
must embrace variety and interest, 
whilst maintaining a legible and coherent 
townscape.

Buildings must be articulated to provide 
strong definition and enclosure to the 
streets and spaces within the site with 
positive and active building frontages of 
high quality design.

The heights strategy must respond to 
the surrounding context; with landmark 
buildings marking the primary entrances 
from St Albans Road and Park Lane and 
decreased height respecting the privacy 
and amenity of the existing dwellings on 
Orchid Drive and Poppy and Primrose 
Court.

1. 2. 3. 

BUILT FORM

Kings Crescent by Karakusevic Carson ©Peter Landers 

P
age 420



Paradise Design Code   Built Form
33

03

JULY 2022

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 421



 ❚ BUILT FORM 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
34

03

JULY 2022

3.1 Site wide codes 

The following key code principles apply to the built 
form across the site: 

	■ A consistent building line must be provided 
along Paradise and Wood Lane, providing 
enclosure and definition to the streets. 

	■ All buildings on Paradise are to be set back 
from the highways boundary behind a 3m 
space, and a minimum of 2m for buildings on 
Wood Lane. The codes for this space are set 
out in Section 03. With justification, marker 
and landmark buildings may be exempted 
from this code for a particular reason e.g. a 
stepped building line to frame an urban open 
space. It must be demonstrated that this won’t 
compromise any street-wide public realm 
improvements. 

	■ Broken /less continuous frontages are to be 
provided along the northern and eastern tree 
belts. This could be through the use of open 
courtyard blocks (see section 2.32) or stepped 
building lines. 

	■ To reflect the New Town character of the town 
centre, interest and variety in the townscape 
must be created through variation in massing 
(height) and/or elevational treatment rather than 
through variation in roof typology. All roof forms 
should be flat.

	■ Marker buildings have been identified on Plan 
3.1. These can be buildings of additional height, 
or exceptional in other ways e.g. stepped 
building line or particular façade treatment. 

N

Figure 3.1: Built Form Key Plan 

Continuous active/formal frontages must maintain a consistent and 
continuous building line. 

Left: ‘Sensitive/informal 
frontages’ may be broken, with 
shorter lengths of frontage and/
or a varied building line defining 
the spaces they front onto. This 
example shows a courtyard 
garden breaking the block 
frontage. 

ST ALBANS ROAD 

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

HIGHTOWN 

N AT U R E  R E S E R V E 

Marker building

Secondary frontage

No build zone

Opportunity for tall building

Indicative courtyard block

Indicative linear block

Strategic pedestrian /  
cycle route

Setback from highways 
boundary  
min of 3m on Paradise 
min of 2m on Wood Lane

Continuous active frontage 
(no vehicle access)

Sensitive frontage (ensure 
over-looking and element of 
activity / residential access)

P
age 422



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
35

03

JULY 2022

YOUTH WORKSHO
P

	■ No-build zones backing onto the existing 
dwellings in Orchid Drive and Poppy and 
Primrose Court must be adhered to, in 
order to protect the privacy and amenity 
of existing residents. This ensures an 18m 
separation distance between the new and 
existing dwellings. 

	■ All blocks must provide usable communal 
amenity space either within ground level 
courtyard spaces or in podium gardens. 
Please refer to sections 3.4 and 3.5 for 
coding relating to these open space 
typologies. 

	■ A mixture of flats and maisonettes are 
encouraged across the site. 

3.2 Density & Heights Strategy  

The density and heights strategy is defined 
by the ambitions to create an urban 
neighbourhood that remains sensitive to the 
existing context. 

The following key code principles apply:

	■ The landmark (6-8 storey) elements must 
retain a vertical element that complies 
with the façade balance set out in  4.13. 
This must be achieved by applying a 
similar ratio of upper floor height on the 
frontage as shown on the  heights plan in 
solid colour. 

	■ Building heights must step down in 
response to the existing dwellings on 
Orchid Drive which are 2-3 storeys in 
height. 

Note: Heights taken from ground level. Minimum and maximum height ranges for any built development 
within these zones, excluding podium parking. 

Thumbs up for marker buildings helping me f nd my way!

Figure 3.2: Heights Plan 

N

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

Opportunity for landmark 
element  6-8 storeys

5-6 storeys

Marker building No-build zone
4-5 storeys

4 storeys

2-3 storeys

Flexible height range of 
up to 6-8 storeys

Flexible height range of 
up to 7 storeys

Single storey podium or 
Ground floor courtyard

P
age 423



 ❚ BUILT FORM 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
36

03

JULY 2022

	■ Building heights must step up in the 
landmark building locations identified 
on Figure 3.1. 

	■ Pop-up elements at roof level such 
as lift overruns, stairs to access roof 
spaces and/or balustrades to roof 
spaces are permitted exceptions to the 
identified storey heights provided: 

	- they do not provide any habitable or 
other accommodation at roof level;

	- they are set back from the building 
lines so as to maintain the simplicity 
of the roofscape in street views; and 

	- they are designed to be positive 
elements of the roofscape.

	■ Parapets are also permitted to extend 
above the storey heights identified 
provided they do so by no more than 
1m.

	■ Please refer to Section 3.6 for further 
information on the productive use of 
the roofscape.  

	■ Steps in height must be meaningful. 
Where a building is intended as a 
landmark, it should be at least 3 
storeys higher than the block which it 
is a counterpart of. The upper height 
limits identified on Figure 3.2 apply in 

3.3 Block Structure & Urban Grain  

Two principle block typologies are set out 
for the site: 

	■ Linear block; and

	■ Courtyard block. 

The recommended locations for these 
blocks have been identified in this section 
to address the townscape vision, and the 
site specific constraints, such as narrow 
plots and steep topography. The treatment 
and articulation of these blocks will be 
such that variation and interest is created, 
but that the townscape is coherent and 
legible. 

Within the two principle block typologies 
identified, there are two sub-categories: 

	■ Landmark elements; and 

	■ Stacked maisonettes. 

These typologies may either be 
incorporated into a wider block structure 
that adheres to the codes set out for the 
principle typologies or as standalone 
elements with a design justification. If 
individual planning applications do not 
comply with the recommended block 
typologies for their location then it must be 
demonstrated that all of the principles of 
the plot set out within the code are being 
satisfied with the proposed block type. 

This section sets out the design codes for 
the block typologies on site. 

All roof forms should be flat as a reflection of this 
distinctive architectural characteristic of Hemel 
Hempstead New Town. Above image shows 
contemporary building comprising a flat roof in 
London. 

The landmark elements must retain a vertical 
element, as seen here in Kings Crescent by 
Karakusevic Carson ©Peter Landers 

all cases, i.e. if part of a building is 3 
storeys taller than its counterparts, the 
tallest element must not exceed the 
upper height limit identified on the plan. 

	■ Please refer to Section 3.4 for codes 
relating to floor to ceiling heights.

	■ Pavilions may be acceptable where 
they are located within an open space 
or site and serve to activate it. They 
could include community uses, or 
anchor a view point for example within 
the gateway space through to the 
nature reserves to the east. 

	■ Any building heights proposed must 
respond sensitively to the adjacent 
nature reserve and any ecological 
constraints. 

P
age 424



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
37

03

JULY 2022

COMMONPLACE

Figure 3.4: Linear block typology 

Views through 

Urban, consistent  

frontage to Paradise 

Urban, consistent  

frontage to Paradise 

Access 

Figure 3.3: Appropriate linear block locations 

What is important to 
have in a home?

#5 Attractive building ““

ST
 A

LB
AN

S 
RO

AD
 

3.31 Linear Block 

The following key code principles apply:

	■ Vehicle access must be provided 
between, or around the side of linear 
blocks. 

	■ Blocks must be no longer than 50m 
in length without a break or step in 
massing no less than 2 storeys in 
height. 

	■ Residential entrances must be 
provided directly from the street on the 
primary frontage. 

	■ All residential units must have their 
own private outdoor space.  

	■ The blocks must be designed to 
incorporate podium or courtyard space 
to the rear. See section 4 for more 
information on these typologies of 
open space. 

	■ Where the courtyard spaces to the rear 
are narrow, the massing must step 
down on the rear façade to ensure the 
built form isn’t oppressive at ground 
level. 

P
age 425



 ❚ BUILT FORM 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
38

03

JULY 2022

Glim
psed 

views Access removed 

from frontage 

Figure 3.5: Illustration of appropriate courtyard block 
locations

Figure 3.6: Courtyard block typology guidance 

ST
 A

LB
AN

S 
RO

AD
 

3.32 Courtyard block 

The following key code principles apply:

	■ Courtyard blocks must be assembled 
from a series of block components. The 
blocks north of Paradise must have an 
urban continuous frontage overlooking 
Paradise with limited breaks of no 
more than 10m each for access. A step 
down in massing reflects the stacked 
maisonette typologies extending 
towards the trees along the northern 
boundary. 

	■ All residential units must have their 
own outdoor space. 

	■ Views towards the tree belt to the north 
should be framed. 

	■ Any sub-components within a 
courtyard block, for example stacked 
maisonettes, must be selected in 
response to the character of the streets 
they overlook. 

	■ Blocks should offer glimpsed views 
through the frontage to the gardens 
beyond, giving a sense of the character 
of the space and providing some 
greening to the streetscape views. This 
could be through the provision of link 
blocks between two frontage blocks, or 
through a courtyard entrance from the 
street through to the rear gardens. 

P
age 426



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
39

03

COMMONPLACE

JULY 2022

What sort of houses 
should be in the town 
centre? 

#1 Courtyard block with 
garden square ““

	■ Blocks must be articulated so that a 
courtyard or podium space is created 
in the centre of the block (see Sections 
4.4 and 4.5). 

	■ Any frontage must not be any longer 
than 50m without a step change and/or 
set back in massing (refer to previous 
point on link blocks).  

	■ Parking must be provided away from 
the  frontage onto Paradise. Drop-off 
and servicing requirements for flexible 
Class E and/or F2 units (see section 3.4 
for definition)  are an exception to this 
code.  

	■ The blocks should accommodate 
steps in massing. Any height change 
should also be reflected in an 
appropriate elevational treatment for 
the typology being used. Relevant 
change in elevation must be distinctive 
and accompanied by change in height.

The courtyard blocks in Myatts Field use a coherent palette of scales and typologies to form one 
courtyard block. 

(Left): Glimpsed views are offered 
through this block in Burridge Gardens. 

P
age 427



 ❚ BUILT FORM 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
40

03

JULY 2022

3.33 Sub Category: Landmark Elements

There are two key locations identified for 
landmark elements within the site; framing the 
gateways onto St Albans Road and Wood Lane. 
The following key code principles apply to these 
elements:

	■ The landmark elements should be integrated 
into a wider courtyard block or linear block 
(see sections 3.31-3.32) 

	■ All residential units must have their own 
outdoor space. 

	■ Landmark blocks must be at least 
three storeys higher than their adjoining 
counterparts within the courtyard block to 
maintain the emphasis of a landmark building.

	■ Appropriate forms of parking for landmark 
elements are: 

	- semi-basement; or 

	- basement. 

	- Alternatively, off-site locations could 
be explored and discussed with HCC 
Highways Authority. 

	- Podium parking may be provided as long 
as it complies with the principles set out in 
Section 4.5. 

	■ Parking must not dominate rear courtyard 
spaces. Please refer to Section 4.4 for further 
information on how these spaces must be 
designed.  

	■ See Section 4.8 for further information on 
elevational treatment.

Figure 3.7: Illustration of appropriate locations for landmark 
elements 

Figure 3.8: Landmark element typology guidance 

ST
 A

LB
AN

S 
RO

AD
 

Courtyard 
amenity space 

Landmarks must be at 
least 3 storeys higher 
than their surrounding 

counterparts 

Access 

P
age 428



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
41

03

COMMONPLACE

JULY 2022

What is important to 
have in a home? 

#1 Own front door ““
Figure 3.10: Stacked maisonette typology guidance 

3.34 Sub category - Stacked maisonette 

The stacked maisonettes on site provide 
the opportunity for larger, family orientated 
units or units that offer more private open 
space. This typology has been located 
in areas that have been designated as 
suitable for family housing, including 
backing onto the existing houses at 
Orchid Drive, and within the secondary 
streets and links/open spaces on site, 
where the direct front door access can 
aid in nurturing a community focussed 
environment. 

The following key code principles apply

	■ Stacked maisonettes should be part 
of either a linear, or courtyard block 
typology (see sections 3.31-3.32). 

	■ All maisonettes must have their own 
outdoor space, within balconies and/
or upper floor terraces. Terraces can 
either be accommodated with a set 
back upper level (see figure 3.10). or 
through the stepping of the roofscape 
to create terraces in between units. 
In the case of a stacked maisonette 
backing onto podium parking, the 
ground floor unit must have an open 
space provided on top of the podium, 
accessible from the rooms at first floor 
level. 

	■ Please refer to Section 3.8 for further 
information on elevational treatment.

Figure 3.9: Illustration of appropriate maisonette 
locations 

ST
 A

LB
AN

S 
RO

AD
 

Direct access 
onto the street 

Set back 
allowing space 

for a private 
terrace

P
age 429



 ❚ BUILT FORM 

Paradise Design Code   Built Form
42

03

JULY 2022

3.4 Ground Floor Frontages

The ground floor strategy for the site 
comprises two key unit typologies:  

	■ Typology 1: Flexible Units, defined as: 

	- 1a: Uses within Class E  
Commercial, Business and Service 
and/or F2 that have the flexibility 
to be converted to residential in 
the future if the market demand is 
apparent. 

	- 1b: Residential units that have the 
flexibility to be converted to Class E 
uses in the future 

	■ Typology 2: Permanent residential 
units. 

This strategy has been designed to 
ensure the scheme has inherent flexibility 
and thus the ability to respond to current 
market demands. Due to the site’s 
location within the wider town centre, a 
large proportion of the units have been 
designated as flexible commercial/
residential units, to allow for employment 
provision within the core of Hemel 
Hempstead. For the purpose of this 
code, it should be assumed that only 
the locations highlighted on Figure 3.9 
should be considered as permanent 
residential units.

 

	■ Large openings must be provided at 
ground floor level. Internal offices or 
workspaces are encouraged to have 
an active and visible presence on the 
street. 

	■ Signage may be provided on street to 
provide the businesses with a sense 
of identity and prominence in the area. 
The signage must be clear and legible, 
and complement the colours of the 
façade treatment. Personal expression 
through signage is encouraged.

	■ Units fronting onto Paradise must have 
a minimum floor to ceiling height of 
4.2m. Elsewhere, a minimum floor to 
ceiling height of 3.2m is acceptable. If 
internal vehicle access is required then 
ceiling heights should be increased 
appropriately.

	■ The larger frontages must be used 
creatively with architectural interest 
and expression. Please refer to the 
materials palette set out in Section 
3.8 for more information on façade 
treatment. 

	■ Front doors must be provided directly 
onto the street. 

	■ Habitable rooms must be located at 
the front of the dwelling to encourage 
passive surveillance and visible activity 
from the street. 

	■ Flexible residential units at ground 
floor must have a minimum floor to 
ceiling height of 4.2m. The increased 
height of the ceiling in comparison to a 
standard residential unit must be used 
creatively, for example through the use 
of a mezzanine level.

	■ Front doors to ground floor flats 
and stacked maisonettes must be 
provided onto the street. For stacked 
maisonettes each unit should have its 
own door: one to access a private core 
(upper level) and one directly into the 
unit (lower level). 

	■ Habitable rooms must be positioned at 
the front of the lower floor unit to ensure 
activity at street level. 

	■ Permanent residential units at ground 
floor and upper floor level must have a 
minimum floor to ceiling height of 2.4m.

1a: Flexible Class E /F2 Units 1b: Flexible Residential Units 2: Permanent Residential 

P
age 430



Paradise Design Code   Built Form
43

03

JULY 2022

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 431



P
age 432



Identity04

P
age 433



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
46

JULY 2022

04

4.0 Identity 

This section sets out the key character drivers 
for the site, including specific codes on the 
approach to the open spaces within the 
site. The identity of the site is made up of a 
combination of open space and built form 
characteristics, therefore codes relating to 
both of these are set out within this section. 
Paradise is located within close proximity 
of the town centre and the site includes 
buildings of a range of townscape qualities 
that typically do not contribute positively in 
architectural character to the identity of the 
neighbourhood. However, they serve an 
important role in providing employment to the 
inner regions of the town.  
The location of Paradise creates a key 
opportunity to significantly enhance the 
character and sense of place, within the 
context of Hemel Hempstead as a New Town. 
A defining characteristic of the New Town is 
the prominence of open space, both in natural 
and urban settings. This includes generous 
landscaped parks, the Water Gardens  with 
wild banks in the heart of the town and long 
distance views to the rising, heavily treed 
land to the south. Another characteristic 
of the New Town is the prominence of flat 
roofs combined with horizontal architectural 
rhythms. This design code brings together 
these two overarching themes to create a 
unique and distinctive identity for Paradise. 
For specific codes on built form please refer to 
Section 03.

Positively interpret the original vision  
for the town 

Proposals must respond to the area’s 
heritage and character as a New Town and 
in terms of the prominence of landscape 
in Jellicoe’s concept of a ‘city in a park’. 
This must be through the vertical stacking 
of open spaces from street level to the 
roofscape and through the provision of a 
green route to Paradise Fields, creating a 
network of green spaces that lead to the 
town centre. 

Improve legibility and connectivity 

The site is poorly connected at the 
moment and proposals must seek to 
improve the legibility and connectivity 
between the town centre, Paradise, the 
nature reserve to the east and the future 
neighbourhood to the north. This must be 
achieved through new and improved areas 
of public realm and encouraging walking 
and cycling as active modes of transport. 

Positively reflect the distinctive 
qualities of Hemel Hempstead 

The New Town comprises a wide range 
of architectural and building styles. This 
section identifies the elements that must 
be used to reflect the character of the town 
to ensure the site is rooted in its context.

1. 3. 2. 

IDENTITY

P
age 434



Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

47

04

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 435



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
48

JULY 2022

04

4.1 Site wide codes 

The key identity parameters for the site are 
illustrated on Figure 4.1. This key plan defines 
the following: 

	■ The key movement routes through the site 
for pedestrians and cyclists. These run 
along key desire lines (in addition to the 
existing street network) to connect the site, 
nature reserve to the east and the future 
neighbourhood on the hospital site to the 
north. Paradise is indicated as a strategic 
green link, and street tree planting must 
be provided to respond to the status of 
this route and highlight it as the primary 
thoroughfare. 

	■ The connected network of open spaces 
within the site have been defined using the 
aforementioned desire lines, and to ensure 
that a variety of different types of spaces are 
provided, each offering unique opportunities.  

	■ Frontage hierarchy, with the more urban, 
continuous and formal frontages along 
Paradise and Wood Lane as well as the 
defined open spaces provided off street. The 
informal frontages along the nature reserve 
to the east and adjoining the existing tree 
belt to the north are also identified. These 
frontages respond to their context, creating 
an urban core to the neighbourhood which 
breaks down to the reflect the natural, 
wilder boundaries of the site. The difference 
between these two frontages predominantly Figure 4.1: Identity Key Plan 

N

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

ST ALBANS ROAD 

N AT U R E  R E S E R V E 

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

Central open space

Opportunity for tall building

Park Lane

Strategic open space Strategic pedestrian /  
cycle route

Park Edge

Gateway space

Strategic green link

Wood Lane

Indicative residential 
courtyard

Formal frontage character

Informal frontage character

Linear space

Existing street network

Linear space

Indicative commercial 
courtyard

Paradise

P
age 436



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

49

04

COMMONPLACE

lies in the consistency and continuity of 
the building line, with the formal edges 
being continuous and linear creating 
a strong urban edge, and the informal 
edges having the flexibility to be broken 
down into shorter plot widths. All 
frontage typologies identified on this 
plan must provide an active edge. 

	■ The opportunity for landmark buildings 
on the key gateways into the site; St 
Albans Road and Park Lane.  

Why do people feel 
positive about a 
place? 

#1 Close to nature  “ “

4.2 Open space strategy

The feeling of ‘being close to nature’ 
was one of the most prominent positive 
responses on the Commonplace 
engagement for the town. Therefore, the 
identity of the site must respond to the 
importance of open space and greening  
as character drivers for the town.  This will 
root the site in Hemel Hempstead’s New 
Town heritage, and create an appropriate 
transition between the town centre and 
Paradise Fields. To reflect this, any new 
buildings must contribute to the hierarchy 
of spaces set out on the following pages. 
The spaces will  be structured to be 
visible at all levels within the site; from 
street level interventions to wildflower 
green roofs. In addition these spaces will 
fulfil sustainable and energy production 
roles as well as creating spaces for the 
community to come together. This will 
create the distinctive identity of an urban 
neighbourhood intertwined in landscape. 

The strategy for the site is for the spaces 
to transition from formal landscaping in 
proximity to St Albans Road and Park 
Lane, to wilder and more natural on 
approach to the tree belts to the north, 
and particularly the east of the site where 
a legible link through to Paradise Fields will 
be created. 

P
age 437



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
50

JULY 2022

04

D

A

A

A

C

B

B

B

D

A

B

C

D

Street spaces 

Podium gardens

Courtyard spaces

Roof gardens

Figure 4.2: Stacked open space 
strategy. Note: illustrative, code 
compliant scheme shown. 

P
age 438



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

51

04

The spaces across the site must be designed 
to be visible at all levels and will include: 

	■ a clear sequence of spaces (A) with a 
coherent character at street level. This 
will aid in creating a sense of place for this 
new neighbourhood and improve legibility 
between the town centre, Paradise Fields 
and the potential future neighbourhood to 
the north; 

	■ a range of productive roof gardens (D)
(both accessible and inaccessible, private 
and semi-public) that follow the concept of 
wilding to the edges and create an aerial 
transition between urban centre (west) and 
open space (east); 

	■ a wilder and more natural accessible edge 
adjacent to the retained tree belts; 

	■ courtyard spaces, either above podium/
semi-basement parking (C) or at ground 
level (B). Blocks will offer glimpsed views 
into these gardens from the street. 

Further detail on the design codes for the 
spaces are set on the following pages.

D
 R

oo
f G

ar
de

ns
 

D
 R

oo
f G

ar
de

ns
 

B
/C

 C
ou

rt
ya

rd
/P

od
iu

m
 

G
ar

de
ns

A
 S

tr
ee

t l
ev

el
 s

pa
ce

D

D

A

CB

YOUTH WORKSHO
P

Thumbs up for green in the town centre!

Figure 4.3: Illustration of spaces provided at different levels 

P
age 439



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
52

JULY 2022

04

4.3 Typology A: Street Spaces

This section sets out the design codes for 
the key spaces at street level. 

4.31 Enclosure Ratios 

The different types of space set in this 
section have enclosure ratio codes 
attached to them. The enclosure ratio 
of a space is defined by the height of 
the buildings fronting onto it and the 
width of the space. Enclosure ratios of 
1:1-1:1.5 result in more urban, enclosed 
and overlooked spaces, whereas ratios 
over 1:2 result in wider spaces at street 
level that are looser and have increased 
flexibility if there is to be larger areas of 
landscaping, parking or access required 
within the space.  

4.32 Paradise Fields Gateway Space 

The Paradise Fields Gateway Space is the 
transition point between the site and the 
open space beyond (east). It must be a 
legible, safe and accessible route between 
the two spaces. It should also be a 
place for people to dwell, not just pass 
through, with soft landscaping and seating 
opportunities. FORMAL

WILD

FRAMED VIEW TO PARADISE FIELDS 

ENCLOSURE RATIO: 1:1 - 1:1.5
(width of space on illustration: 14m) 

STEPPED BUILDING LINE TO FRAME SPACE 

PARKING

Figure 4.5: Principles plan for the Paradise Fields Gateway Space 

Figure 4.4: Locator Plan 

Illustrative section showing impact of building 
height on width of space to achieve an enclosure 
ratio of 1:1 - 1:1.5

Open Space 14-21m 

B
ui

ld
in

g 
he

ig
ht

 1
4m

 

P
age 440



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

53

04

YOUTH WORKSHO
P

Public Realm 

	■ The space must be designed 
for shared pedestrian and cycle 
movement, vehicle access should be 
restricted to emergency vehicles only. 

	■ The space must be lit to create a 
distinct area and include signage to the 
adjacent nature reserve. Dull orange 
street lighting is not permitted. 

	■ Parking and servicing entrances to 
buildings must be located away from 
the frontages of the space to support 
its public use. 

	■ The space must include soft 
landscaping which responds to the 
gradual transition to wilder landscapes 
on the eastern boundary. 

	■ The space must be designed using 
high quality hard landscape materials 
to accommodate cycle parking 
for visitors to the nature reserve, 
informal doorstep play, seating and 
potential outdoor tables and chairs 
in association with an active ground 
floor use in the building to the north. 
The placement of the above features 
must be designed with the intention of 
encouraging social interaction.

Irregular tree planting and natural seating soften 
the streetscape of this urban courtyard. 

Wilder areas of planting in an urban 
environment, Kings Crescent Estate, London. 

Seating opportunities for groups and individuals 
are provided in this square in Manchester. 

Thumbs up for places to sit and hang out!

Built Form & Use 

The following design codes apply to the 
buildings to the north and south of the 
gateway space only. All site wide built form 
codes (Section 02) must apply. 

	■ The building to the north of the route 
must have large ground floor openings 
to overlook and supervise the gateway 
space. Active uses are encouraged at 
ground floor level, particularly those 
that can spill out into the public realm. 
At this key location, there is a particular 
opportunity for a ground floor use 
that promotes social interaction and 
a sense of community, for instance 
a local cafe. If residential uses are to 
be provided at ground floor level in 
this northern building due to viability, 
then it must retain the principle of 
large openings onto the street through 
the provision of an entrance lobby or 
similar. 

	■ The building line should step into the 
space to create a distinct entrance 
point to the nature reserve. 

	■ The enclosure ratio of the space must 
range between 1:1 and 1:1.5. Refer 
to Section 03 Built Form for more 
information on enclosure ratios. 

Photograph © Jim Stephenson

P
age 441



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
54

JULY 2022

04

4.32 Linear Space 

The north-south linear space will be a key 
movement corridor within the Paradise 
site. The following key principles apply to 
this space: 

	■ provide a vital pedestrian and cycle 
connection between the east-west 
link connecting Paradise Fields to 
the town centre, and between the 
new neighbourhood and the future 
development on the hospital site. 

	■ serve an important function as a 
community space and neighbourhood 
focal point. It will be an off-street space 
where people will be able to sit and 
socialise, and for children to play. As 
the neighbourhood to the north will 
comprise a primary school, this link 
should also incorporate play-on-the-
way facilities that can be continued 
north when the development comes 
forward. 

	■ be terminated at the southern end 
by a building on the opposite side of 
Paradise, which draws people into the 
site from the north by creating a sense 
of intrigue. 

The space will be an urban space with a 
high level of enclosure and overlooking. 
The built form overlooking the space will 
be stacked maisonette typologies with 
front doors onto the street. The frontages 

PLAY ON THE WAY, SEATING, SOFT 
LANDSCAPING

EYES ON THE STREET EYES ON THE STREET 

Indicative land ownership boundary 

Front doors to open 
directly onto space 

Front doors to open 
directly onto space 

Figure 4.6: Locator Plan 

Figure 4.7: Principles plan for the north-south linear space 

Illustrative section showing impact of building 
height on width of space to achieve an enclosure 
ratio of 1:1 - 1:1.5

Open Space 10-15m 

B
ui

ld
in

g 
he

ig
ht

 1
0m

 

onto the space must be continuous to 
provide an appropriate level of enclosure 
and definition. As the space links Paradise 
with the tree belt to the north, urban 
wilding must be explored within the 
space.  

The optimum location for this space is 
shown on Figure 4.6. If the space cannot 
be provided in this location, another 
solution that addresses these objectives, 
within 25m east-west range of the route 
indicated must be put forward. 

HEIGHTS STEP DOWN 
TO FRAME INTIMATE 
COMMUNITY SPACE 

ENCLOSURE RATIO: 1:1 - 1:1.5
(width of space on illustration: 13m) 

P
age 442



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

55

04

COMMONPLACEWhy do people feel positive 
or mostly positive about a 
place? 

#3 Sense of community “ “

Built Form & Use 

The following design codes apply to the 
buildings to the east and west of the linear 
route only. All site wide built form codes 
(Section 02) must apply: 

	■ The units to the east and west of the 
route should have front doors that 
open directly onto the street. 

	■ Defensible space for the buildings 
must be demarcated using the options 
set out in Section 4.33. 

	■ The enclosure ratio of the space must 
range between 1:1 and 1:2. Refer 
to Section 03 Built Form for more 
information on enclosure ratios. 

Public Realm 

	■ The space must be designed 
for shared pedestrian and cycle 
movement, vehicle access must be 
restricted to emergency vehicles only. 

	■ Parking for the residential units fronting 
onto the space must be located to the 
rear of the buildings, to support the 
public use of the space. 

	■ The space must be designed to 
accommodate play on the way, public 
seating and soft landscaping that 
visibly reflects the strategy of ‘wilding 
to the edges’. 

	■ Hard landscaping: continuous paving 
materials must be used, with variation 
allowed only where there is residential 
defensible/privacy space. 

	■ The residential units must have a 
defensible /privacy strip of minimum 
1m between the building line and open 
space.

This linear space incorporates both hard and soft 
landscaping with seating opportunities. 

Incidental opportunities for play integrated into 
the public realm in Myatts Field, London. 

P
age 443



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
56

JULY 2022

04

4.33 On-street treatment  

The Regulatory Plan safeguards a 3m 
setback between the building frontage and 
the highway boundary for Paradise and 
2m for Wood Lane. This setback allows 
for the space to be coded to positively 
impact on the streetscene, and provide 
the appropriate response to the ground 
floor uses. The following pages set out the 
codes for how the street frontage must be 
treated for each of the ground floor unit 
typologies. Please refer to Section 3.4 for 
information on the ground floor strategy 
that determines the unit typologies. 

In addition to the setback space, the 
opportunity must be taken to improve the 
movement corridors within the highways 
boundaries in the future. Paradise is a key 
east-west link through the site and public 
realm improvements must prioritise and 
safeguard pedestrian and cycle movement 
along this axis. 

	■ Servicing bays should be 
provided within the set back 
with movable planters or other 
temporary planting interventions at 
either end. 

	■ Floor to ceiling heights must 
comply with the codes set out in 
Section 02. 

	■ The paving materials should 
clearly demarcate the servicing 
bay from the frontage spill out 
space. This space could also 
include movable planters.

	■ Planters, street furniture and other 
landscape interventions can be used 
to demarcate the defensible /privacy 
space in front of and in between 
residential units. 

	■ Car parking spaces may be provided 
on street. There should be no more 
than three parking spaces in a row 
without landscape interventions 
breaking them up. 

	■ Floor to ceiling heights must comply 
with the codes set out in Section 03.

	■ Bin and cycle stores should be 
designed as integral to the buildings, 
or on-street in front of the buildings. 
If they are to be designed as part of 
the frontage, a high-quality masonry 
enclosure should be provided to 
relate to the primary façade materials 
and to create an attractive on-street 
feature. 

1a: Flexible Class E /F2 Units 1b: Flexible Residential Units 

Figure 4.9Figure 4.8

These movable planters are used as a feature 
of the space amongst seating blocks in 
Manchester. 

Typology 1: Flexible Units (refer to 
Section 3.4 for definition) 

Common Principles

	■ All new lighting must be provided on 
the front wall of the ground floor unit, 
not within the streetscape. 

	■ Trees with a 2m clear stem must be 
provided at appropriate distances 
so as not to compromise servicing 
requirements for any particular 
commercial or light industrial use. 

	■ All ground floor uses must provide an 
active edge to the street (see Built Form 
Section 03). 

	■ Each forecourt space must include an 
area of soft landscape.

P
age 444



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

57

04

COMMONPLACE

Why do people feel positive 
about a place? 

#5 Pedestrian friendly 

	■ Defensible space must be demarcated through 
the use of planters, low vegetation, wild pockets of 
landscaping or railings with inter-visibility between 
the street and ground level unit. For each unit it must 
incorporate an element of soft landscape. 

	■ On more intimate streets, where trees may not be 
appropriate, climbing plant species should be used 
to introduce greening to the façades. The exposure 
and direction facing of the unit must be considered in 
species choice. 

	■ Bin and cycle stores should be designed as integral 
to the buildings, or on-street in front of the buildings. 
If they are to be designed as part of the frontage, a 
high-quality masonry enclosure should be provided 
to relate to the primary façade materials and to create 
an attractive on-street feature. 

	■ Front doors must be provided directly onto the 
street. For more information on the built form please 
refer to Section 3.4. 

	■ Boundary treatment must be consistent along the 
length of the street. 

2: Permanent Residential 

Planters at the front of the house provide a 
privacy strip in St Andrews, Bromley-by-Bow. 

Wild front gardens are used to demarcate 
private/public land in some of the more historic 
areas of Hemel Hempstead. 

Climbing plants and shrub planting are used to soften the edge of the housing and green the street in 
William Street Quarter, London. 

Figure 4.10

“ “

P
age 445



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
58

JULY 2022

04

4.4 Typology B: Courtyard spaces

Courtyard spaces can be provided 
within either the linear or courtyard block 
typologies. For the purposes of illustration, 
this page identifies the coding for the space 
to the rear of a linear block, however these 
same codes apply if the space is provided 
within a courtyard block. 

	■ Parking must be sensitively integrated 
into the public realm. This must be 
achieved through discreet demarcation 
of the parking bays using low walls, 
boundary planting or paving variations. 
White painted lines are not permitted. 
Inter-visibility between the soft and hard 
landscaped areas must be provided. 

	■ High quality and permeable paving 
materials must be used for parking areas.  

	■ Parking spaces must be designed so 
as not to compromise the ability for the 
space to change /be reclaimed for an 
alternative use in the future. 

	■ Soft landscaping must be incorporated 
into the public realm. This must be 
designed to be usable, each area of open 
space must not be smaller than 10% of 
the overall space and must be designed 
with a justifiable use, e.g. informal play. 

	■ Direct access must be provided from 
ground floor units where undercroft 
parking is not provided. This should be 

4.5 Typology C: Podium Gardens

Podium gardens may be provided as 
an open space typology over either car 
parking or other uses that require a deep 
floorplate, for other non-residential uses 
that require a deeper floorplate than 
residential uses. The following design 
codes apply to these raised gardens: 

	■ The open space must relate to 
surrounding landscape. As these 
gardens are raised, they must provide 
access to the surrounding street /
landscape through the use of stepped 
landscape /public realm.  Parking must 
be wrapped in uses that provide an 
active street frontage, where frontages 
are defined on the key plan (Figure 4.1). 

	■ The units surrounding the space 
must provide a high level of passive 
surveillance, through window 
positioning and the use of balconies. 

	■ Where Class E uses are adopted over 
two storeys on the street frontage, 
the opportunity for these to step out 
directly onto the podium as a semi-
public space must be explored. 

	■ The podium spaces must include: 
space for informal play, soft 
landscaping, the opportunity for 
informal play and seating opportunities. 

Well overlooked courtyard space that sensitively 
incorporates, but is not dominated by, parking. 

Parking incorporated into the public realm in a 
way that means the spaces could be reclaimed 
for a different use in future. 

Podium gardens offering a range of natural play 
opportunities within a soft landscaped  garden. 

a rear door to semi-private patios, with 
the primary residential access provided 
from the street frontage. 

	■ Please refer to Appendix A for sections 
illustrating how the courtyard gardens 
could be provided within the block to 
accommodate parking that could be 
repurposed in future.

	■ Please refer to Appendix A for section 
illustrating how the podium gardens 
can be provided within the block, with 
direct access from either residential or 
Use Class E /F2 units.

P
age 446



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

59

04

YOUTH WORKSHO
P

4.6 Typology D: Roof Gardens  

The following codes apply to all flat roofs 
within the site: 

	■ All roofs must contribute to the site’s 
sustainability and/or biodiversity 
functions. The following are acceptable 
approaches (more than one function 
can be applied to a single roof): 

 - Accessible communal roof gardens 
with prevalence of soft landscaping. 
This could include spaces for 
exercise, community spaces for 
exercise and/or other community 
spaces including a café, gym or 
workspaces subject to viability.  

 - Communal growing spaces.

 - Green/blue roofs contributing to 
the drainage functionality and/or 
ecological biodiversity of the site. 

 - Energy generation including solar 
PVs and air source heat pumps. 

	■ The site must provide variety in 
roofscape approaches. Each site 
must be assessed for its individual 
merits, but must demonstrate a varied 
approach to other applications to 
ensure variety.

Co

mmunal growing 

Gr
ee

n/blue roof

Ac
ce

ssible gardens 

Figure 4.11: Principles plan for roof gardens 

I like that people grow things here! 

P
age 447



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
60

JULY 2022

04

4.7 Typology E: Balconies 

All units must provide outdoor amenity 
space. In addition to the roof spaces set 
out in Section 3.6, this can be provided 
through the use of balconies. The suitable 
use of balconies on frontages is set out 
below: 

	■ Inset or partially inset/recessed 
balconies must be provided on south 
facing units that front onto Paradise or 
Wood Lane. These must be designed 
to create a privacy buffer between 
internal living spaces and the street. 

	■ Protruding balconies are only 
permitted on rear façades, overlooking 
communal or private gardens or 
frontages identified as informal on 
Figure 4.1. 

	■ The design and depth of balconies 
must be designed to maximise 
sunlight /daylight whilst maintaining an 
appropriate level of privacy. Balconies 
must achieve a minimum width and 
depth of 1500mm. 

For more information on balcony 
treatment and materials please refer to 
Section 3.8.

External balconies are permitted on rear façades. Partially inset balconies are considered a more 
sustainable option to inset balconies whilst 

maintaining a clean and simple façade. 

Inset balconies are an option on south facing units, or units 
overlooking Paradise or Wood Lane 

P
age 448



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

61

04

COMMONPLACE

Why do people feel 
mostly positive about a 
place? 

#1 Important to the 
character of Hemel 

Textured brickwork is used to add interest to the façade in Horsted Park. 

Glazed brickwork is used as a secondary element.

4.8 Elevational Treatment 

The material palette has been developed 
through an analysis of the local context. 
It is influenced by the heritage of Hemel 
Hempstead as a new town, and makes 
nods to the old town in a contemporary 
fashion. The palette has been developed 
with a view of creating a development 
rooted in the identity of the town, while 
also allowing a degree of variety and 
interest. The codes set out in this section 
apply to both formal and informal 
frontages as identified on Figure 4.1. 

Primary façade materials 

Brick must be used as the primary facing 
material. Other materials will require a 
strong justification as to their use as a 
primary material within an application. 
Rendering, as either a primary or 
secondary material will not be deemed 
acceptable. All brick façades must 
employ a simple and restrained palette of 
primary materials.

To ensure variety and avoid the 
predominance of a single brick tone, 
which engagement responses found 
unattractive, adjoining buildings should 
use a different brick tone. 

For each development, the selected 
brick must complement the colours of 
adjoining developments and buildings. 

“ “

P
age 449



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
62

JULY 2022

04

All brick façades must incorporate elements 
of decorative detail, through the introduction 
of one of:

	■ Textured brickwork;

	■ Change in brick bond e.g. soldier or stack 
bond; or

	■ Secondary elements as identified below. 

Secondary Elements 

Selected elements should be selected from 
the palette used in the early New Town centre 
buildings. These include: 

	■ Textured brick; 

	■ Patterned brick panels; 

	■ Flint panels (knapped or whole); 

	■ Metal cladding panels; 

	■ Glass; 

	■ Ceramic tiles; 

	■ Mosaics; 

	■ Precast decorative panels. 

Other high-quality materials may be used as 
secondary elements where they will create 
a similar visual effect, with justification, 
for instance glazed brickwork in place of 
ceramic tiles. 

All buildings must incorporate decorative 
details as part of their façade design. These 
must be selected from the materials listed 
above. 

Gainsford Road applies a regular horizontal rhythm on brick façades

Strong framing of windows and 
entrances in Hemel Hempstead 
New Town 

Saxon Court uses secondary elements to 
reinforce entrances and windows

This entrance court in Gainsford 
Road uses glazed tiles to create 
interest 

Tiled mural, Hemel Hempstead 
New Town 

Regular horizontal rhythms are a distinctive 
feature of Hemel Hempstead New Town

P
age 450



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

63

04

Expressive balconies, Hemel Hempstead New 
Town 

This block in Burridge Gardens demarcates windows using a different tone 
of brickwork and uses different balcony extrusions to add interest

Lattice screens, Hemel Hempstead New Town The entrances to the homes within the Colville 
Estate use lattice detailing on the doors which 
compliments the brick façadeP

age 451



 ❚ IDENTITY

Paradise Design Code   Identity
64

JULY 2022

04

Decorative materials should provide 
visual interest and detail in positions 
where people are likely to see the façade 
from close up, such as around entrances, 
window openings, or around balconies. 

Decorative details may also introduce 
horizontal or vertical emphasis on the 
façade or at roof level. Decorative details 
must be selected to support the design 
concept for the building.

Proportions and rhythms

For stacked maisonettes, vertical or 
balanced façade rhythms are appropriate 
and the massing of the building may 
emphasise this. 

For linear blocks of apartments, balanced 
or horizontal façade rhythms are 
appropriate. 

For taller/tall buildings, vertical or balanced 
façade rhythms are appropriate.

Balustrades & Screens 

Balustrades should allow sunlight into a 
balcony space while giving a degree of 
privacy to the user. Metal railings, when 
used, should add distinctive detail to a 
building façade. 

Metal screens may also provide filtered 
views and privacy, for example to 
communal stairs or to ground floor 
accommodation, or screen views of car 

parking or refuse stores from outside while 
allowing daylight and cross ventilation to 
the parking area. 

Openings

Openings must be emphasised either 
by creating a reveal, setting window 
and doors back at least half a brick as 
a minimum and by framing them with a 
window surround. 

Framing of ground floor flexible units 
(see Section 3.4 for definition) 

Façades should create a strong frame for 
the ground floor unit, which may contrast 
with the primary façade material.

Entrances 

Entrances and communal lobbies should 
be generous and well lit, with canopies, 
projections  or setback porches to provide 
shelter above the entrance door.

Residential entrances may be set back by 
at least one brick.  

Canopies should be lightweight and 
elegant in appearance.

Stacked maisonettes with vertical façade 
elements and rooftop amenity spaces  create 

a stepped roofscape in Ouseburn (Ash Sakula 
Architects) 

Figure 4.12: For stacked maisonettes, vertical 
or balanced façade rhythms are appropriate 
(Illustration of rhythm shown ).

P
age 452



Paradise Design Code   IdentityJULY 2022

65

04

Figure 4.13: For landmark elements, vertical or balanced façade 
rhythms are appropriate (Illustration of rhythm shown).

Figure 4.14: For linear blocks of apartments, balanced or horizontal façade rhythms are appropriate (Illustration of 
rhythms shown) .  

P
age 453



P
age 454



05 Use

P
age 455



 ❚ USE

Paradise Design Code   Use
68

05

JULY 2022

USE

5.0 Use

This section establishes the use strategy 
across the site, including the configuration 
of residential and non-residential uses. 

The site will provide a mix of residential 
and non-residential uses, with areas of the 
ground floor and first floor space coded to 
ensure flexibility for interchange between 
the two in response to market demand. 
The two overarching principles for the 
uses within Paradise are set out on this 
page.

	■ The site must incorporate ground 
floor units that have inherent flexibility 
to accommodate a range of uses /
occupiers. 

	■ The different uses within the site must 
be designed to co-exist in harmony 
to create a positive environment for 
residents, employees and visitors. 

The site must incorporate ground floor units that have 
inherent flexibility to accommodate a range of uses /
occupiers. 

The different uses within the site must be designed to 
co-exist in harmony to create a positive environment 
for residents, employees and visitors. 

1. 2. 

P
age 456



Paradise Design Code   Use
69

05

JULY 2022

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 457



 ❚ USE

Paradise Design Code   Use
70

05

JULY 2022

5.1 Site wide codes 

The following key code principles apply to the 
uses across the site: 

	■ Where ‘mixed-use’ floorspace is identified, 
orthogonal layouts should be provided 
to enable flexibility in use, layout and 
occupation. If the layout is not orthogonal (at 
right angles), it must demonstrate how the 
space can be used with a suitable level of 
flexibility for future change in use.  

	■ Commercial workspace must be designed 
to allow future sub-division of the space. This 
includes the design of circulation and spaces 
to allow for flex in use and occupation. 

	■ Where the workspace occupier is known, 
a specific set of design requirements must 
be established for that occupier, within the 
framework set out within this code. 

	■ Where ground floor courtyards are provided 
in the centre of a block, or to the rear of a 
block, these courtyards must be designed 
as part of the sequence of spaces used for 
access/egress by the residents, with easy 
access from the main residential circulation 
core. This will ensure a strong and coherent 
relationship between the users and the 
space, and encourage activity. 

	■

Figure 5.1: Ground Floor Land Use Opportunities Guidance Plan 

N

W
OOD LANE

PARADISE

PA
R

K 
LA

N
E 

ST ALBANS ROAD 

N AT U R E  R E S E R V E 

POPPY & 
PRIMROSE 

COURT 

Subject to Article 4 

Additional land use 
opportunity 

Potential area for Mixed Use 
and residential class C3, 
E (all) + F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 (a), 
F2 (b) in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Mixed use & opportunity for 
larger scape Industrial uses 
Use class  E (all) + F1 (b), F1 (c), 
F2 (a), F2 (b),  
Residential entrance permitted

Potential area for residential 
uses only: Use class C3

Potential area for residential 
use only in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Mixed Uses: Use class  E (all) + 
F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 (a), F2 (b),  
Residential entrance permitted

Indicative location for DENs 
food bank

Primary active frontage

Opportunity for cafe /  
Community use

Opportunity for  
Local convenience

P
age 458



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Use
71

05

JULY 2022

YOUTH ENGAGEM
EN

T

	■ Primary access routes into courtyard 
spaces for all users must be a minimum 
of 6m in width to create a generous, 
welcoming and safe access point. 

	■ Floor to ceiling heights must comply with 
the codes set out in Section 3.4.

	■ Where mixed-use space is identified 
at ground floor level, the space 
should be partially fitted out to enable 
the opportunity for small-medium 
enterprises (SMEs)  to move in.   

5.2 Land Use Strategy 

Figures 5.1-5.3 illustrate the guidance for the 
land use strategy at the ground floor, first 
floor and upper floor levels. 

The ground floor strategy for the site has 
been designed to be inherently flexible, so 
that it can respond to market demand in the 
future. In some locations the opportunity for 
two storeys of mixed use has been identified 
on important frontages, such as fronting 
onto Paradise, on the western site gateway 
with Park Lane and to the south of Wood 
Lane, overlooking St Albans Road. 

Where mixed-uses are provided, either at 
the ground floor or upper floor levels, these 
should explore the opportunity to step out 
into the courtyard spaces to the rear (or 
podium level gardens) where beneficial.

‘A cafe would be nice next to the nature reserve’

Figure 5.2: First Floor Use Guidance Plan 

Figure 5.3: Upper Floors Guidance Plan 

N

N
Subject to Article 4 

Subject to Article 4 

Potential area for Use class 
C3, E (all) + F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 
(a), F2 (b) in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Potential area for Use class 
C3, E (all) + F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 
(a), F2 (b) in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Potential area for residential 
uses only: Use class C3

Potential area for residential 
uses only: Use class C3

Potential area for residential 
use only in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Potential area for residential 
use only in compliance with 
provision of routes, open 
space and access

Mixed Uses - class C3, E (all) + 
F1 (b), F1 (c), F2 (a), F2 (b),  
Residential entrance permitted

Indicative location for DENs 
food bank

P
age 459



 ❚ USE

Paradise Design Code   Use
72

05

JULY 2022

5.3 Opportunities 

Whilst the site land use strategy has 
retained inherent flexibility, the location of 
some of the parcels lend themselves to 
specific use opportunities, as identified on 
Figure 5.1 and described below: 

	■ There are two broad locations that 
are identified as key opportunities for 
a cafe. These locations have been 
selected as they would create a 
dynamic relationship between the two 
key areas of public realm within the site 
and the ground floor that overlooks 
them:  

	η the public space linking to the 
nature reserve to the east. This 
location is clearly visible within the 
public realm, sits along a key desire 
line and would act to draw people 
through the site on entrance from 
the west. 

	η To the south of the north-south link 
that connects into the east-west 
route towards the town centre and 
to the future neighbourhood on the 
hospital site. A cafe or community 
use in this location would provide a 
bookend to this space and would 
have the ability to spill out into it, 
thus activating the communal space 
here. 

	■ Plot K (shaded orange on Figure 
5.1) has been identified as a suitable 
location for a more substantial 
provision of industrial space. This is 
afforded by the proximity of the site 
to St Albans Road, meaning that 
traffic wouldn’t need to come into 
the heart of the site. In addition, the 
topographical conditions and scale of 
the floorspace available means that a 
deeper floorplate could be provided 
without compromise to the street 
frontage. In addition, there is adequate 
space for turning on site, provided the 
suitable access arrangements were 
to be designed in according to the 
specific requirements of the occupier. 
Recognising the landmark nature of 
this plot, any industrial spaces must be 
visually attractive and integrated into 
the façade design of the building. 

	■ An opportunity for a commercial 
courtyard /working yard spill out 
space as been identified on the corner 
plot where Paradise meets Wood 
Lane. This space could be more of 
an intimate courtyard space, adding 
variety to the hierarchy of open spaces 
and sitting on a potential link between 
the site, the future neighbourhood 
to the north and the east-west link 
connecting the town centre to the 
nature reserve.  

Temporary Initiatives

Temporary uses could be brought forward 
on the site to support its transition from 
an employment led area to a mixed-use 
neighbourhood. Small scale initiatives 
such as a pop-up coffee shop, or hoarding 
that hosts public art could be used to 
attract interest in the site. The most 
suitable locations for these initiatives are 
along key future desire lines, as identified 
in Section 2, and where a site is coming 
forward in phases, this having additional 
space available. 

If a parcel is to come forward in phases, 
for example if a business relocates off-
site then the existing building should be 
considered as a venue for a temporary 
initiative, for example a recreational sports 
space. Temporary initiatives could be used to support 

the transition to a mixed-use neighbourhood. 

P
age 460



PRIORITY: 

ALSO RELATED TO: 

Paradise Design Code   Use
73

05

COMMONPLACE

JULY 2022

Design of spaces needs to 
include ways to foster a friendly 
and social neighbourhood. 
This may include culture and 
entertainment facilities. 

5.4 Frontages 

The frontages of the site are of critical 
importance to the character of the streets 
and spaces within the site. The variety 
of uses and occupiers at ground floor 
level will contribute to the vibrancy of the 
streetscape, and the frontages must be 
carefully designed to ensure that they are 
benefiting the public realm as well as being 
fully functional for the users. The following 
codes apply to the ground floor frontages 
across the site:  

	■ Any spaces within Use Classes E or F2 
must balance privacy requirements 
with the need to provide an active 
frontage and functional internal spatial 
arrangements. Where these spaces 
exist they must provide a window /
intervisibility between the internal 
space and the street, and where 
possible between the working space /
community space and the street. 

	■ Any privacy measures can be taken 
internally (for example through the use 
of partitions). Where uses may evolve to 
become more public facing, the design 
of frontages should allow for future 
adaptation to accommodate this need.

	■ Spaces that are to be used within Use 
Class E /F2 can be double fronted to 
overlook both the street and the rear 
space. This affords the opportunity for 

rear spill-out space for the employees/
visitors. It must be ensured that there 
is no conflict with the access provision 
and other uses to the rear, particularly 
where the space is shared with 
residential uses. 

	■ Residential entrances must be visible 
from the street, and demarcated using 
the codes set out in Section 4.8.

Secondary elements are encouraged to emphasise 
residential entrances, which should be clearly visible from 
the street. 

“

“

P
age 461



P
age 462



 A Appendix

P
age 463



76
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix A

A  ❚ Appendix A

Masterplan evidence base 

Interdependencies 

The Figure adjacent sets out the plot interdependencies 
assumed as part of the coding process. The complexities 
of the land ownership pattern on site result in a 
fragmented and piecemeal series of plots. This plan 
identifies how these plots could come together, as 
demonstrated in the framework, to produce a more 
positive outcome in any of the following ways: 

	■ Parking. 

	■ Open space & landscaping. 

	■ Capacity. 

	■ Access.

Joint vehicular access is encouraged between land plots 
where deliverable. 

Further Opportunities 

As set out in the ‘Use’ section of this design code, Plot 
K has a potential further option on its land uses. If other 
industrial uses are to be retained on site, that do not fall 
in within Use Class E, it would be the most suitable site 
to accommodate this type of industry. This is due to its 
proximity to St Albans Road, and the minimised impact 
it would have on transit through to the heart of the site in 
comparison to the other plots. 

A
B

C
D

E

F

H

K

J

G

Appendix A

Sites considered 
interdependent within code

Sites that would benefit from 
coming forward together as part 
of wider parcel

Interdependent

Figure A1: Plot Interdependencies 

P
age 464



JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix A
77

A

Floor Area Ratios 

The illustrative masterplan for Paradise 
demonstrates how the site could come 
forward in a code compliant way. The 
plot ratios and floor area ratios that are 
achieved with the blocks on the Illustrative 
Masterplan are set out on the adjacent 
table. 

Site (See Figure A1) Plot coverage Floor Area Ratio

A 0.4 2.3

B 0.4 1.1

C 0.4 1.5

D 0.5 1.9

E 0.4 1.2

F 0.5 2.1

G 0.4 1.5

H 0.8 1.6

J 0.4 1.6

K 0.8 2.4

Table A1: Floor Area /Plot Ratios 

P
age 465



78
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix A

A  ❚ Appendix A

Car Parking 

The illustrative masterplan shown on 
Figure A2 accommodates parking in a 
variety of ways, the locations of which are 
shown indicatively on Figure A2: 

	■ Undercroft/podium car parking 

	■ Semi-basement parking; and

	■ Courtyard parking. 

Any parking requirements are to be 
extracted from DBC’s Parking Standards 
SPD 2020 and any future iterations of this 
guidance. 

Existing Car Parking on Paradise Lane 

P
age 466



JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix A
79

A

Ground floor parking

Surface car parking 

30 existing car parking 
spaces

Plot A has been 
identified as a suitable 
location for a semi-
basement car park

Circulation space

Undercroft parking

Indicative minimum 
open space requirement 
(10%)

Plot K has been 
identified as a suitable 
location for Podium 
parking

Figure A2: Illustrative Car Parking Locations 

P
age 467



80
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix A

A  ❚ Appendix A

Indicative time frames

The Figure adjacent sets indicative time 
frames for the different plots within the 
site to come forward within.  Short, 
medium and long term sites are identified 
(time frames to be confirmed with DBC). 
These indicative time frames have been 
determined based on the land ownership 
information made available. 

Proposed buildings 

Existing buildings 

Stage 1 

Stage 3  

Stage 2

Short-term

Medium / Long-term

Long-term

P
age 468



JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix A
81

A

3D Massing 

The images on this page illustrate the 3D 
massing for the illustrative masterplan. 
This scheme is code compliant, and the 
heights fall within the specified parameters 
set out on Figure 3.2, with heights varying 
from 3 storeys in sensitive locations, 
to 8 storeys where there is a landmark 
opportunity. 

Viewpoint location 

Viewpoint location 

St Albans R
oad 

St Albans Road 

St Albans Road 

Paradise 

St Albans R
oad 

Flexible ground floor units 

Flexible ground floor units 

P
age 469



82
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix A

A  ❚ Appendix A

P
age 470



JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix A
83

A B Appendix

P
age 471



Analysis 

This appendix sets out the baseline analysis for Paradise 
in the context of the wider town centre, focussing on the 
following aspects: 

	■ Movement: Pedestrians, cyclists, public transport and 
vehicular; 

	■ Green and  blue infrastructure;

	■ Land Use;

	■ Heights; 

	■ Heritage; and 

	■ Built Form & Character. 

Above: NMDC Extract illustrating Design Code Process 

This section covers the 
Baseline stage of the 
Design Code process 

84
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix BAppendix B

P
age 472



K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

Movement: Pedestrians and Cyclists 

Wider Town Centre 

Hemel Hempstead comprises two main centres: the Old Town to the north, and the New 
Town to the south. Figure 1 illustrates the key destinations within the town, which are visibly 
concentrated in two key clusters within the heart of each centre. Paradise is well located in 
relation to the two centres; with the Old Town just over 15 minutes walk north and the New 
Town (centred on the Marlowes) within a 10 minute walk. 

Pedestrian connectivity through the town comprises a mix of pedestrianised routes, 
pavements along roads and routes within landscape corridors and open space. Within the 
retail core of each of the two centres, a positive pedestrian environment has been created; 
from the pedestrianised Marlowes within the New Town, to the raised tables and level 
surfacing on the Old Town High Street. The Water Gardens  provide an attractive, alternative 
off-road route that extends the majority of the distance between the two centres within the 
town. 

Pedestrian movement along St Albans Road and across the Plough Roundabout towards 
the station is undesirable, with a number of underpasses that are occasionally flooded. 
There is a very limited number of pedestrian crossings along St Albans Road, making it a 
large barrier for movement north-south. 

There is a lack of cycle infrastructure, with no dedicated cycle lanes within the town centre. 

Paradise 

Marlowes, the main pedestrianised high street within the New Town is within a 10 minute 
walk of the site, however the pedestrian movement routes between the two are indirect and 
need improvement. The large scale block of the Marlowes Shopping Centre & Car Park 
creates a major barrier between the New Town centre and the site.  In addition, there is a 
level change between Marlowes and Wolsey Road, with the accesses ramped or stepped 
up around the northern and southern edges of the Marlowes Centre. 

Within the site boundaries, there are pavements provided for pedestrians, however due to 
the industrial nature of the site it isn’t heavily trafficked by people moving through on foot. 
However, the context of the site is changing with the emerging development in Paradise 
Fields and the Poppy and Primrose Court residential units, which will increase pedestrian 
presence on site. 

There are two pedestrian access points between the site and Paradise Fields, however 
these are overgrown and underused at present. Figure B1: Pedestrian and Cycle Movement 

Destinations   
(incl. schools, library, High 
Street and the Old Town)

Walking distances

 5 minutes

 10 minutes

 15 minutes

Primary footpath 

Secondary footpath 

Tertiary footpath

Town Centre connectivity 
from Paradise 

Key pedestrian crossing

Key 

10 minute cycle, 26 
minute walk to Hemel 
Hempstead Station 

JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
85

B
N

P
age 473



Movement: What does this tell us? 

	■ Any new development should maximise pedestrian and cycle permeability and 
safety through the site. 

	■ Car parking should be rationalised to maximise the usability of the internal spaces 
and create a high quality and healthy place. 

	■ The movement routes must be connected into a wider movement strategy to 
improve connections between the site and the town centre. 

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

J U N C T I O N  8  M 1
( 7  m i n  d r i v e )

L E I G H T O N  B U Z Z A R D
( 2 7  m i n  d r i v e )

B E R K H A M S T E A D
( 1 0  m i n  d r i v e )

WAT F O R D
( 2 0  m i n  d r i v e )

Primary street

Secondary street

Tertiary street

Arterial street

Pedestrianised High Street

Public car parking 

Access road 

Key 

Movement: Vehicular 

Wider Town Centre 

The main access to the town centre from the south is via the Plough roundabout, where 
6 routes converge. St Albans Road provides a major transport route between the town 
centre and the M1 to the west, whilst traffic moving north travels via Leighton Buzzard Road 
or Marlowes to reach the Old Town.  

Paradise  

The site is bounded by St Albans Road to the south and to the west adjoins the junction 
connecting Paradise with Park Lane. 

The existing site has 2 access points for vehicles, provided from St Albans Road (A414)  
and Park Lane. Paradise and Wood Lane are adopted roads, with Paradise terminating in 
a dead end with an 18m wide turning head at its eastern end.  The existing industrial uses 
on site benefit from easy access to the M1 via St Albans Road, without having to navigate 
through the town centre. 

Car parking is distributed throughout the site both on-street and within plots and tends to 
dominate the streetscape. 

Figure B2:Vehicular Movement 

86
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B
N

P
age 474



Public transport: What does this tell us? 

	■ Paradise is a sustainable location for both living and 
working. It has easy access to the town centre and 
to local bus routes. The train station, which offers 
direct services to London, is within a 25 minute walk 
however the connection requires improvement in  
order to be a safe and efficient route for pedestrians 
and cyclists. HERT, when delivered, will improve its 
public transport accessibility further. 

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

LE
IG

H
T

O
N

 B
U

Z
Z

A
R

D
 R

O
A

D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

20
 m

i n
u t

e  
w

a l
k

15
 m

in
ut

e 
w

al
k

Potential HERT route 

Indicative walking 
distances 

Bus stop 

Key Public transport 

Existing 

Hemel Hempstead railway station is situated to the south 
west of the town centre, approximately 25 minute walk or 10 
minute cycle from Paradise. 

Existing bus routes serving the town centre are concentrated 
on a north south route along Marlowes, Bridge Street and 
Waterhouse Street with bus stops within a 5 minute walk 
of Paradise. More limited services run east west at the 
southern end of the town centre along St Albans Road and 
Station Road. Buses also serve Midland Road to the north of 
Paradise. 

Emerging: Hertfordshire - Essex Rapid Transit

The proposed Hertfordshire - Essex Rapid Transit (HERT) 
is an accessible, reliable and affordable Mass Rapid 
Transit (MRT) system that will run east to west from Hemel 
Hempstead and West Watford, joining just south of St 
Albans in Hertfordshire, to Harlow in Essex and onwards 
to Stansted Airport. It will provide a new, sustainable 
passenger transport network, carrying people in greater 
numbers than a typical private car, while providing greater 
convenience and reliability than a traditional bus service.

Project status: public engagement in Autumn 2021

Figure B3. Public transport
JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

87

B
N

P
age 475



What does this tell us? 

	■ Landscape is a defining feature of the town. 

	■ East-west connectivity between open spaces must be considered in the wider/
strategic town centre strategy. 

	■ The Paradise development must be linked into the green infrastructure network and, 
where possible, green infrastructure should be brought into the site. 

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

Green and Blue Infrastructure 

Wider Town Centre 

The green and blue infrastructure is a defining feature of Hemel Hempstead and the wider 
town benefits from several large parks. It comprises a variety of elements, from large 
parks offering a variety of play opportunities, to formal landscaping within streetscapes 
and distant views towards the rising land to the south of the railway. Jellicoe’s original 
vision for Hemel Hempstead was based on the ideal of development set within swathes of 
landscape, and his linear Water Gardens  remain a distinctive and important feature within 
the town. They introduce water and soft landscape into the heart of the New Town centre, 
otherwise hard environment. 

As can be seen on Figure 3 there are extensive green fingers running north south through 
and around the town, however, there is a noticeable lack of east-west links connecting 
these swathes of landscape together. The site’s location provides a key opportunity to 
connect the network of green spaces that link the Nickey Line to Paradise Fields, through 
to the town centre. 

Paradise 

With the exception of the street trees and intermittent grass verges, the site doesn’t 
currently offer any open or amenity space for public use.  To the east of the site there 
is an extensive network of open space extending north from Paradise Fields towards 
Keens Field and the Nickey Line, a strategic footpath/cycleway. However, the connections 
between the site and this open space are underused and understated and the Nickey 
Line does not extend into the town centre at present. Therefore, the site provides a key 
opportunity for a new green link to connect the town centre into the existing network. 

Figure B4: Green and Blue Infrastructure

Green space 

Formal play space

Water 

Green belt 

TPO (Tree Preservation Order)

Hertfordshire County Council 
Wildlife Site

Allotments 

Pedestrianised High Street

Nickey Line

Key 

N

88
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

P
age 476



What does this tell us? 

	■ The land use context of the site is changing, and the proposed and emerging co-
location of light industrial, business, community services and residential uses needs 
carefully consideration and management.  

	■ The site is removed from the core of the town centre and should not aim to compete. 
The mix of uses on site must address the needs of the neighbourhood whilst making 
the most of the opportunities of its central location for providing local business. 

Land Use 

The two distinct centres within Hemel Hempstead offer a differing range of facilities and 
services. 

The Old Town 

The Old Town is located at the northern end of the wider town centre area and comprises a 
linear high street with a mix of shops and services, including a regular market. The Old Town 
has a higher concentration of independent shops as well as public houses whose hours 
provide for a large proportion of the night-time economy within the town.

The New Town  

The New Town centre is largely linear in form, and comprises the pedestrianised Marlowes, 
and two shopping centres: Riverside and the Marlowes. The retail and service provision is 
concentrated south of the Market Square, and includes restaurants, cafés and a range of 
shops. 

Paradise 

The existing site comprises a mix of heavy and light industrial, community facilities, services 
and retail. In recent years residential development has been planned within the immediate 
vicinity of the site including the (currently under construction) Poppy and Primrose Court 
residential development and Paradise Fields to the south east, that comprises 58 dwellings. 
Directly to the north of the site is the hospital site, which has been allocated for mixed-use 
development comprising 450 dwellings, a primary school and associated open space.

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K

Figure B5:Land Use

Retail 

Commercial 

Industrial 

Community

Leisure 

Education 

Religious

Residential

Emerging residential

Car parking 

Key 
N

JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
89

B

P
age 477



Heights 

Wider town centre area 

The tallest building within Hemel Hempstead is the KD Tower, which is 22 storeys and sits 
significantly above the skyline of the rest of the town. The core of the New Town centre has 
little variation in height, with the majority of buildings between 3-4 storeys in height. There 
are existing taller and midrise buildings of 6+ storeys in the town centre including within 
new and emerging development, which are beginning to set a precedent for intensifying 
development closest to the core of the new town. The height decreases towards the 
Old Town to the north and the residential estates to the east and west, which generally 
comprise 2-3 storey housing. 

Paradise 

The generally low rise nature of the site is reflective of the site’s industrial history. South 
of the site boundary, fronting onto St Albans Road are a row of residential units that are 4 
storeys in height. Orchid Drive, directly adjoining part of the site’s western boundary is a 
residential development 2-3 storeys in height. However, the identity of the site is changing, 
and Poppy and Primrose Court, a residential development that is currently being built out, 
will rise to 5 storeys. 

The set back of the majority of the buildings on site, in combination with their low rise 
nature results in a streetscape that is undefined by building form and could be improved 
in terms of overlooking. Any new development should provide frontages that have a close 
relationship with the street. 

What does this tell us?  

	■ Paradise is an appropriate area to increase building heights and extend the existing 
cluster of taller buildings at the south end of the town centre. 

	■ The KD Tower is widely used as a local point of orientation to identify the town 
centre. The Paradise area is not part of the core town centre, so buildings should 
avoid competing for prominence with the KD Tower. 

	■ Height will need to carefully respond to the topography and the existing dwellings

K E E N S
F I E L D

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
O

A
D

M
A

R
L

O
W

E
S

S TAT I O N  R O A D

Q U E E N S WAY

WA R N E R S  E N D  R D

H E AT H 
PA R K

G A D E B R I D G E
PA R K Storey height

 Single 

 2-3

 4-5

 6-8

 9-14

 15+

Key 

Figure B6: Building Heights

N

90
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

P
age 478



Topography 

The town centre of Hemel Hempstead lies in the valley 
bottom of the River Gade with the land rising up to the 
east. The valley side incorporates a number of dry valleys, 
including one along the alignment of St Alban’s Road. 
The topography of the Paradise area slopes down along 
Paradise to the town centre and also down along Wood 
Lane which then flattens out to join St Alban’s Road. 

What does this tell us?  

	■ The topography will influence the visual prominence 
of new buildings, so siting of any tall or taller buildings 
needs to be considered carefully to maintain the visual 
prominence and concentration of height and density 
of the town centre. 

	■ There may be opportunities for undercroft parking to 
be tucked into slopes. 

2

3

4

5

8

9

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

PA R A D I S E

2

4

7

9 8 3

Figure B7:  Section Locator Plan Figure B8: Existing Site Sections 
JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

91

B

P
age 479



Heritage and Townscape

Designated heritage assets within the town are concentrated within the Old Town 
Conservation Area. However, as a new town, Hemel Hempstead has elements of distinctive 
landscape and townscape character that should be considered alongside its designated 
heritage assets. 

The townscape character is made up of the spatial form of the town centre together with 
its landscape and architectural character. An initial built form & character assessment 
has been undertaken for the wider town centre area, as well as a more detailed block 
assessment of the existing buildings within the site. 

Landscape character

The New Town was originally defined by Jellicoe’s vision for its landscape, as touched on 
in the ‘Green and Blue Infrastructure’ section and this New Town landscape character 
continues to be one of the defining features of the town that is highly valued today. 

Spatial form/urban grain

The spatial form of the town centre is strongly linear with two separate areas of distinctively 
different urban grain and character that run north to south along the bottom of the valley as 
shown on the figure ground study in Figure 8. These are:

	■ the Old Town, based around the High Street; and 

	■ the New Town centre, based around the pedestrianised Marlowes. 

They are linked together by the original Marlowes area, originally a suburb to the Old 
Town that became the civic and educational hub of the new town. The latter is now in the 
process of redevelopment with replacement college buildings and the Gade residential 
development. At present this area still has a more suburban character than either the Old 
Town or the New Town centre. 

The Old Town is characterised by  a fine and compact grain of development, with blocks 
made up of a number of relatively small plots. These are narrow and deep in configuration, 
with built development forming a continuous street frontage, and with many narrow alleys, 
lanes and entrances under buildings to courtyards serving the land behind the frontage, 
particularly on the east side of the street.

Conservation area

Listed buildings

Buildings of Architectural 
merit

Key 

Figure B9: Building Heritage

The Jellicoe 
Water Gardens : 
Registered Park 
& Gardens

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
D

 

N

92
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

P
age 480



The New Town centre has a large-scale grain of development. Its character is based on 
blocks with large and wide plots, in some cases with a single plot making up an entire 
block. Buildings create continuous street frontages. On its west side, there are regular east-
west links to Waterhouse Street and to the Water Gardens . These are mainly in the form of 
streets, although Bank Court is a notable example of a link created via a series of interlinked 
courtyards. However, on its east side is the Marlowes internal shopping centre and multi-
storey car park, with a large office buildings beyond on  Park Lane, and there are very few 
east-west links through to the New Town industrial area of Paradise or to the hospital. 

Paradise is characterised by a fragmented urban grain, with medium to large plots of 
varied widths, some being relatively deep while others are shallow.  Due to the nature of the 
industrial uses on site, buildings are sited within the plots with no consistent relationship to 
the street. The recent development onto St Albans Road at the south of the site creates a 
partial street frontage of continuous development on to this major route.  

Figure B10: Urban Grain 

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

L
E

IG
H

T
O

N
 B

U
Z

Z
A

R
D

 R
D

 

What does this tell us? 

	■ Designated heritage buildings are concentrated within Old Town. 

	■ Hemel Hempstead has a strong landscape heritage, as already identified in the 
‘Green and blue infrastructure’ section and this must influence the design process 
for any new development. 

	■ Both the Old Town and New Town have an urban character based on blocks with 
continuous built street frontages and this must influence the Paradise area. 

	■ The New Town centre’s spatial form is strongly linear with barriers to eastward 
movement so the wider town centre strategy should consider how to address this.

	■ Both the Old Town and New Town centre include positive examples of public or 
semi-public courtyards set behind the built development of the street frontage, 
and there is an opportunity for these to influence the future form of development for 
Paradise. 

JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
93

B

P
age 481



Architectural Character 

The Old Town and New Town centre have contrasting 
architectural character. 

The architectural character of the Old Town is varied. The 
rhythm of buildings along the street is generally vertical or 
balanced, with shop fronts creating a secondary horizontal 
rhythm. The roofscape is also varied, with buildings of 
different heights and different roof and eaves conditions. 
Gables, turrets, bays, dormers and projecting features such 
as signs or clocks and oblique views of gable ends of taller 
buildings visible above the eaves of lower buildings all add to 
its complexity in views along the street. 

Materials are also varied, with a variety of bricks - red, purple 
and brown, painted stucco and render, flint and timber 
framing. 

A high proportion of the buildings in the Old Town are of 
architectural merit. The quality of their materials, details and 
decoration and condition is generally high.

The New Town centre does not have a strongly coherent 
architectural character overall. However, a number of the 
early New Town buildings constructed in late 1950s and 
early 1960s have been identified as having architectural 
merit. They incorporate a variety of distinctive features or 
details of quality that are characteristic of their time and of 
the initial development of the new town. However, many of 
them are much altered or in poor repair rather than being 
celebrated. Later development, in particular from the 1990’s 
and 2000’s, does not pick up on the character of the original 
New Town buildings or match their quality of materials, 
details, or crafted decorative elements. 

The Old Town is generally 
characterised by vertical or balanced 
building rhythms

Building rhythm 

Roofscape 

Varied roofscape: Old Town Flat roofs: New Town 

Red & buff brick 
characteristic of 
many of the recent 
developments 

A wide range of materials 
are used within the Old 
Town

Red brick and glass is 
used widely on the larger 
buildings along Park Lane 
to the west of the site

New buildings have large plot widths and 
introduce a vertical building rhythm

Flat roofs: New Town 

Materials 

The New Town centre is generally 
characterised by strong horizontal 
building rhythms

A wide range of materials 
are also used within the 
New Town centre (see also 
opposite

Use of coloured cladding 
introduces a deep red to new 
development. 

94
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

P
age 482



Common characteristics include a strongly horizontal 
architectural rhythm across a large plot, which unifies a 
number of smaller units. 

The majority of the larger buildings within the New Town 
have flat roofs.  Together these create a strong contrast with 
the character of the Old Town and, in combination with the 
difference in plot widths between the two areas, this creates a 
distinct change in identity between the two centres. 

The palette of materials is very varied and includes cladding, 
render, glass, red brick, buff brick and weatherboarding. 

The early New Town centre buildings incorporate:

	■ horizontal or balanced rhythms, with some points of 
emphasis highlighted using vertical rhythms;

	■ flat roofs;

	■ a materials palette, mainly of buff brick as the primary 
material, incorporating a variety of different brick textures;

	■ a variety of secondary materials, including flint panels 
(knapped or whole), stone, glass, ceramic tiles, mosaics, 
and precast decorative panels;

	■ framing of openings such as windows or shopfronts with 
contrasting surrounds; 

	■ carefully designed and expressive balustrades and 
screens to filter views;

	■ decorative or crafted details, including tiled murals or 
panels, mosaic or fluted columns, sculptural relief panels; 
and 

	■ elegant canopies to highlight entrances. 

Buildings of architectural merit: Key elements

Buff brick with textured 
brickwork

Flint panels and stonework

Lattice screensMural in ceramic tiles

Horizontal rhythm of façade emphasised by 
projecting eaves of oversailing flat roof

Balanced rhythm of façade 

Strong framing of shopfronts 
and windows

Vertical emphasis 
to marker element 
that projects 
forward of building 
line

Precast sculptural 
relief panels

Expressive balconies

Mosaic columns 

What does this tell us? 

	■ The architectural character of the early New Town 
centre buildings provides a series of cues for design 
that must influence the Paradise area.

JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
95

B

P
age 483



Paradise: Block Analysis

This section sets out the block analysis for the existing 
buildings and plots within the site. This exercise has been 
undertaken to gain a thorough understanding of the 
existing situation on site, where the industrial land uses 
and piecemeal land ownership heightens the need for an 
individual assessment of each block, as opposed to a site 
wide assessment. This analysis identifies the current size 
and use of the building as well as any relevant planning 
information. In addition, the existing built form and the colour 
and material palettes adopted by each block are identified. 

96
Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

Block details

EXPO BUILDING

Block details

MAPLE HOUSE

Address: Wood Lane Paradise, 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4TP

Use: Commercial (B1(a,b or c))

Area (m2): 1261

Storeys: 2 commercial storeys

Planning: N/A

Description: Brick and corrugated metal cladding. 
Typically characteristic of light industrial /
commercial uses. 

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address: Maple House /Heritage Reclamation
Wood Lane Paradise, 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4TP

Use: Light industrial

Area (m2): 1222

Storeys: 2 commercial storeys

Planning: N/A

Description: The mixed materiality includes: 
brickwork, corrugated metal sheeting, 
render and concrete.

Car parking provided on site. 

P
age 484



B

  Appendix B
97

Block details

909 PARADISE LANE

Block details

VITALIA HOUSE

Block details

AMBER HOUSE

Address: Hanafan Auto Care
909 Paradise, 
Paradise Ind Est, 
Hemel Hempstead, 
HP2 4TF

Use: Industrial with MOT usage (B2)

Area (m2): 1459

Storeys: Part single storey, part industrial store /
garage

Planning: Relevant planning permission from 2014:

4/02763/14/FUL 

Change of use from storage/distribution 
(b8) to general industrial (b2) with mot 
usage 

Description: A predominantly brick and clad building 
with large window and garage access. 

Considered to have active frontages onto 
Wood Lane and Paradise.

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address: Vitalia House
Paradise, 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4TP

Use: Commercial (B1)

Area (m2): 980

Storeys: 2 commercial storeys

Planning: N/A

Description: Red brick with simple window and 
façade detailing. Typically characteristic 
of light industrial /commercial uses. 

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address: Amberside House 
9 Wood Lane Paradise, 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP2 4TP

Use: Commercial (B1(a,b or c))

Area (m2): 3441

Storeys: 3 commercial storeys

Planning: Relevant planning permission from 
2007:

4/00471/07/FUL 

Refurbishment & recladding of building, 
use of building for b1(a,b or c) business 
purposes 

Description: Predominantly glass clad building, 
minimal detailing. Typically 
characteristic of light industrial /
commercial uses. 

Whilst the primary entrance fronts onto 
Wood Lane, there is an extensive set 
back from the access, which reduces 
the activity onto the street.

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

P
age 485



98

B  ❚ Appendix B

Block details

CO-OP FUNERAL BUILDING

Block details

HERTFORDSHIRE HOUSE

Block details

DENS FOOD BANK 

Address: The Hub 
2 Paradise 
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate,  
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Use: 4105

Area (m2): XXX

Storeys: Single storey

Planning: N/A

Description: A mix of glass, brick and clad materiality 
across the building, the general 
appearance of the building is typical of 
light industrial uses. 

Whilst there are windows and access 
points from Paradise there is not 
considered to be an active frontage onto 
the street.

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address: Co-op Funeralcare, 
Wood Lane,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate,  
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Use: Funerals & storage

Area (m2): 732

Storeys: Single storey

Planning: N/A

Description: The modest building comprises a brick 
and glass, single storey structure that 
benefits from car parking provided on 
site. 

Address: Hertfordshire House  
Wood Lane Paradise,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate,  
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Use: Commercial (B1(a,b or c))

Area (m2): 1873

Storeys: 3 commercial storeys

Planning: Relevant planning permission from 2000 
/2001:

4/01950/00/FUL

Three storey office building with car parking

and

4/01535/01/FUL

Enclosure of 1st floor balcony and change of 
use of part ground floor from b1 (office) to d1 
(clinic). Replace solid panel with Window.

Description: The building comprises a mix of concrete, 
glass and clad materials with a consistent 
blue and white façade material. Typically 
characteristic of light industrial /commercial 
uses. 

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

P
age 486



99

B

Block details

PARK HOUSE

Block details

PARADISE FURNITURE PROJECT

Block details

EXPO HOUSE

Address: Park House 
Wood Lane Paradise,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate,  
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Use: Commercial (B1a)

Area (m2): 1713

Storeys: 3 commercial storeys

Planning: Relevant planning permission from 2019:

4/01618/19/OPA

Change of use from office building (b1a) to 
12 residential flats (c3.) 

Description: Predominantly glass and brick building, 
minimal detailing. Typically characteristic 
of light industrial /commercial uses. The 
building sits in a cutting.

Extensive car parking provided on site 
and at ground level. 

Address: Expo House 
2 Paradise,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate,  
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Use: Commercial (B1a)

Area (m2): 1259

Storeys: 2 commercial storeys

Planning: Relevant planning permission from 2008:

4/01169/08/FUL

Conversion of existing warehouse and 
storage area to offices and training facility 
and refurbishment of buildings and car park

Description: Brick and clad building, minimal detailing. 
Typically characteristic of light industrial /
commercial uses. 

Extensive car parking provided on site. 

Address: The KTM Centre 
Wood Lane Paradise,  
Hemel Hempstead Industrial Estate,  
Hemel Hempstead  
HP2 4TP

Use: Retail and Garage

Area (m2): 1253

Storeys: Single storey

Planning: Relevant planning permission from 2016:

4/03592/15/FUL

Change of use to motorcycle retail and 
repairs

Description: Red brickwork building, minimal 
detailing. Whilst there is an entrance 
and windows facing Wood Lane, the 
significant set back means there is 
minimal activity fronting the street. 

Car parking provided on site. 

P
age 487



100
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

Cumulative schemes 

As part of the Baseline analysis, we have mapped the 
cumulative schemes on and adjacent to the site. The 
following applications have been included:

1. 20/02483/FUL
 - rooftop extension of 2 floors to provide mixed use 

office and 9 apartments.

2. 4/01121/18/MFA
 - construction of 44 one and two bed dwellings.

3. 20/02519/MFA
 - construction of 58 apartments.

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

PA R A D I S E

1

2

3

1

2

3

Figure B11: Cumulative Schemes

P
age 488



JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
101

B

Site Opportunities 

The following key site opportunities have been identified for 
Paradise: 

	■ Improve the connectivity between the town centre and 
the site.

	■ Emphasise the link to Paradise Fields and associated 
network of open space.

	■ Opportunity to integrate with the residential development 
to the north.

	■ Introduce a gateway/arrival location for pedestrians and 
cyclists to move between the town centre and Paradise 
Fields via the site. 

	■ Opportunity to improve the public realm.

	■ Opportunity to create an urban neighbourhood with a mix 
of uses that complement but does not compete with (or 
copy) existing parts of the town centre.  

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

PA R A D I S E

Potential pedestrian and cycle 
gateway 

Pedestrian and cycle green link 

Green links to wider network 

Pedestrian and cycle 
connections to adjacent 
residential areas

Wildlife area 

Future mixed-use development 

Improvements to public realm 

Paradise Fields proposed 
development area

Paradise Fields proposed open 
space 

Town centre proximity 

Retained buildings 

Key 

Figure B12: Site Opportunities

P
age 489



102
JULY 2022Paradise Design Code   Appendix B

B  ❚ Appendix B

Site Challenges

The following key challenges have been identified for 
Paradise: 

	■ Sensitive edges along the rear boundaries of the existing 
properties on Orchid Drive.

	■ St Albans Road creates a major barrier between the site 
and the neighbourhoods to the south. 

	■ The building set back creates a poor sense of enclosure/
frontage to the public realm.

	■ Dominance of road infrastructure & parking within the 
site.

	■ Indirect routes between the site and the town centre. 

	■ Rising topography with a high point in the north east of 
the site.

	■ Underused open land at nodal point between site, 
hospital site and potential east-west link into town centre 
(marked ‘1’ on plan).

1. 

ST  ALBANS  ROAD

PA R A D I S E

Existing road layout 

Dominance of surface car 
parking 

Barrier to pedestrian movement 

Elevation change across site 

Sensitive edge 

Views from current 
development and proximity 
to current development with 
overlooking from new homes

Retained buildings

Key 

Figure B13: Site Challenges

P
age 490



JULY 2022 Paradise Design Code   Appendix B
103

B

This page has been left intentionally blank. 

P
age 491



P
age 492



Paradise Design Code: Compliance Checklist 

Applicant 

Site 

Proposal 

Completed by

Date 

Chapter Reference Page no. (Code) Design Code Criteria Compliant?

1 15
Are all of the spatial codes set out on the Regulatory Plan 

satisfied? 

2.0 20
Does the proposal support the three overarching principles for 

Movement within the site?

2.1 22-23 Are all of the site wide codes satisfied? 

How to use this document: This checklist is for use by officers assessing applications, or applicants. Please fill in 

your details in the information box below before compelting the checklist. The explanatory comments box 

should be used to provide an explanation of partial- or non-compliance of codes.  

Note: this compliance list should not be used exclusively, as a number of important codes are explained and set out within the main body of the 

Design Code that aren't duplicated here. This checklist covers coding i.e. mandatory elements only, whereas the Design Code also includes 

guidance which is discretionary. Please refer to Figure 1.1 within the Design Code for an explanation of which elements are classified as coding 

or guidance. The intention of this checklist is to give an initial  overview of the level of compliance. 

 Chapter 1: Introduction 

Chapter 2: Movement 

P
age 493



2.1 22
Does the proposal comply with the spatial principles as 

identified on the Movement Key Plan? 

2.2 24
Are the street hierarchy (including pedestrian, cycle and 

vehicular movement) codes satisfied? 

2.3 25-27 Are all of the parking codes satisfied?

2.4 28
Do the access proposals comply with the pedestrian and cycle 

access codes? 

2.5 28
Do the access proposals comply with the vehicular access and 

servicing codes? 

3.0 32
Does the proposal support the three overarching principles for 

Built Form within the site?

3.1 34-35 Are all of the site wide codes satisfied? 

3.1 34
Does the proposal comply with the spatial principles as 

identified on the Built Form Key Plan? 

3.2 35-36 Are the heights and density codes satisfied? 

3.2 35
Are the heights proposed within the ranges coded on the 

Heights Plan? 

3.3 36-39

Do the block typologies satisfy the block structure and urban 

grain codes set out, even if they are not courtyard/linear block 

typologies? 

3.31-3.34 40

If landmark, linear or courtyard blocks or stacked maisonettes 

are proposed do they comply with their typology specific 

codes? 

3.4 42-43
Do all ground frontages proposed comply with the codes set 

out?

4.0 46
Does the proposal support the three overarching principles for 

Identity within the site?

Chapter 3: Built Form 

Chapter 4: Identity 

P
age 494



4.1 48-49 Are all of the site wide codes satisfied? 

4.1 48
Does the proposal comply with the spatial principles identified 

on the Identity Key Plan? 

4.2 49-51 Are the open space strategy codes satisfied? 

4.32 52-55
If the proposal fronts onto the Paradise Fields Gateway Space 

or North-South linear space does it satisfy the Paradise Fields 

Gateway Space/Linear Space specific codes? 

4.33 56-57
Do the proposals comply with the on-street treatment codes 

for its typology? 

4.4, 4.5 58 Does the proposal provide either communal courtyard space 

or podium gardens that satisfy the typology specific codes? 

4.6 59
If the proposal has a flat roof, is it compliant with the roof 

garden codes? 

4.7 60 Do all units provide outdoor amenity space? 

4.7 60
If the proposal provides balconies, does it comply with the 

balcony coding? 

4.8 65
Does the proposal comply with the elevational treatment 

codes? 

5.0 68
Does the proposal support the two overarching principles for 

Use within the site?

5.1 70 Are all of the site wide codes satisfied? 

5.1 70-71
Are the uses proposed compliant with the spatial principles  

set out on the Use Key Plans 

5.2 71 Are the land use strategy codes satsifed? 

5.3 72 Are the frontage codes satisfied? 

Produced by Tibbalds Planning & Urban Design on behalf of Dacorum Borough Council 

Chapter 5: Use 

P
age 495



Produced by Tibbalds Planning & Urban Design on behalf of Dacorum Borough Council 

P
age 496



Explanatory Comments 

P
age 497



P
age 498



P
age 499



 1 

Dacorum BC Community Impact Assessment (CIA) 

Policy / service / decision Paradise Design Code – Draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

Description of what is being impact assessed 

What are the aims of the service, proposal, project? What outcomes do you want to achieve? What are the reasons for the proposal or change? Do you 

need to reference/consider any related projects? Stakeholders; Who will be affected? Which protected characteristics is it most relevant to? Consider the 

public, service users, partners, staff, Members, etc.  

It is advisable to involve at least one colleague in the preparation of the assessment,  dependent on likely level of impact 

 In April 2021, Dacorum was one of 14 local authorities nationally to be awarded DLUHC pilot funding, to develop locally led 

design codes to steer design quality in emerging developments. This programme was supported by DLUHC’s newly established 

Office for Place as part of the Phase 1 of the National Model Design Code Testing Programme.  

The draft SPD sets out a framework of design requirements for new development in the Paradise and Wood Lane area, which is 

currently allocated in the Site Allocations DPD (Reference MU/3). Once adopted the Paradise Design Code will provide clarity 

about design expectations to applicants, and is expected to enhance the character of the local area and ensure future design 

quality. It has been prepared with the needs of design teams and officers in mind, and will be used by applicants, planning 

officers, statutory consultees and the wider community. 

This document supports the emerging Hemel Place Strategy, by steering design quality of emerging development in the Hemel 

Hempstead town centre. The principles and codes were also informed by the principles established in the Hemel Garden 

Communities Spatial Strategy, to ensure coherence with the wider ambitions of the town. 

By setting out requirements for development to be of the highest possible design quality, the Paradise Design Code SPD will 

have a positive impact on communities within both new and existing neighbourhoods within and around the area. 

P
age 500



 2 

Evidence 

What data/information have you used to assess how this policy/service/decision might impact on protected groups? 

(Include relevant national/local data, research, monitoring information, service user feedback, complaints, audits, consultations, CIAs from other projects 

or other local authorities, etc.). You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

The Paradise Design Code SPD has an indirect effect on individuals – it is through the application of the SPD during the planning 

application and decision making process that any impacts will directly occur, and therefore this assessment cannot be definitive 

on the impact on individuals with protected characteristics. However, a number of documents have been reviewed whilst 

preparing this assessment, in order to understand the broad range of potential impacts on individuals with protected 

characteristics the adoption of the SPD may create.  

The CIA for the Paradise Design Code SPD has been compared with the associated CIA for the Hemel Place Strategy, which 

was prepared in May 2022 and the CIA prepared for the Hemel Garden Communities project. Both projects have informed the 

development of the content of the SPD. 

The engagement and consultation work undertaken for this document will ensure that all feedback from residents has been 

considered and has informed the design codes as they are set out within the draft SPD. Effective community engagement 

advances equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do not by ensuring all 

sections of society are able to influence the content of the proposals. As the document is a draft SPD, once adopted it becomes a 

material consideration, and will therefore ensure that the recommendations from respondents to engagement and consultation 

activities are delivered in new development. 

Who have you consulted with to assess possible impact on protected groups?  If you have not consulted other people, please 

explain why? You should include such information in a proportionate manner to reflect the level of impact of the policy/service/decision.   

P
age 501



 3 

The initial engagement for the draft SPD utilised a wide range of engagement methods and tools. This ensured that information 

was accessible to a variety of groups in the community, and improved opportunities for individuals to become involved in the 

process and to better influence outcomes. 

Analysis of impact on protected groups (and others) 

The Public Sector Equality Duty requires Dacorum BC to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster 

good relations with protected groups. Consider how this policy/service/decision will achieve these aims.  Using the table below, 

detail what considerations and potential impacts against each of these using the evidence that you have collated and your own 

understanding.  Based on this information, make an assessment of the likely outcome, before you have implemented any 

mitigation. 

 The PCs of Marriage and Civil Partnership and Pregnancy and Maternity should be added if their inclusion is relevant for impact assessment. 

 Use “insert below” menu layout option to insert extra rows where relevant (e.g. extra rows for different impairments within Disability). 

Protected group 

Summary of impact 

What do you know?  What do people tell you? Summary of data and feedback about service 

users and the wider community/ public. Who uses / will use the service? Who doesn’t / can’t 

and why? Feedback/complaints?  

Negative 

impact / 

outcome 

Neutral 

impact / 

outcome 

Positive 

impact / 

outcome 

Age The provisions established in the SPD to support healthy lifestyles, 
active travel and social interaction should indirectly benefit all age 
ranges, however this will particularly benefit older people where 
accessibility is a greater barrier and social isolation is more 
prevalent. 
 
The impact of the promotion of mixed-use development has been 
considered on residents; therefore, the SPD makes provisions to 
ensure vehicle servicing is separate from pedestrian access points, 
that servicing must not compromise public realm or residential 
amenity, and that residential vehicular access and parking should be 
positioned away from the public realm to ensure these areas remain 

☐ ☐ ☒ 

P
age 502



 4 

traffic free. These measures reduce potential negative impacts from 
mixed-use development, and provide positive outcomes regarding 
reduced congestion, increased pedestrian accessibility and 
improved air quality, measures that will particularly benefit younger 
and older people. 
 
Specific proposals that provide places for play, particularly facilitating 
informal and ‘play on the way’ opportunities, will positively benefit 
children who live and travel through the area. 
 
Increased emphasis on creating places with a safe and secure 
movement network, which minimises the scope for conflicts between 
pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles can have particular benefits for 
older people and younger people, by facilitating and promoting 
cheap and independent active travel. 
 

Disability (physical, 

intellectual, mental) 

Refer to CIA Guidance Notes 

and Mental Illness & 

Learning Disability Guide 

The provisions established in the SPD to support healthy lifestyles, 
social interaction and active travel will particularly benefit people with 
disabilities where accessibility is a greater barrier, and social 
isolation is more prevalent.  
 
Increased emphasis on creating places with a safe and secure 
movement network, which minimises the scope for conflicts between 
pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles can have particular benefits for 
people with disabilities and health conditions, by facilitating and 
promoting cheap and independent active travel. 
 
As discussed previously the potential negative impacts on delivering 
a mixture of residential and employment uses on the public realm 
have been addressed with measures that will benefit people who 
have mobility and/or sensory impairments. Reducing congestion and 
car dominance in the public realm will benefit those who are more 

☐ ☐ ☒ 

P
age 503



 5 

vulnerable to adverse effects of poor air quality particularly 
individuals with particular health conditions. 

Pregnancy/Maternity Research supports that exposure to high levels of air pollution 
causes negative impacts during pregnancy. As discussed the SPD 
introduces measures to reduce congestion and car dominance in the 
public realm, which will benefit pregnant and breastfeeding people 
who are more vulnerable to adverse effects of poor air quality. 
 
Proposals to create accessible connections within a mixed-use area 
have bene found to indirectly benefit outcomes for pregnant people. 
For example, research has identified that the risk of developing 
postpartum depression (in urban settings) is reduced in high quality 
urban settings comprised of mixed-use and walkable 
neighbourhoods1. 

   

Gender reassignment It is considered that the adoption of the Paradise Design Code SPD 
will not have direct material impacts on this protected characteristic. 
All members of the community should benefit from strengthened 
design requirements. 
 
Proposals to improve community safety and promote social 
interaction may indirectly benefit individuals within the LGBTQ+ 
community including those at any stage of their gender 
reassignment process. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Race and ethnicity It is considered that the adoption of the Paradise Design Code SPD 
will not have direct material impacts on this protected characteristic. 
All members of the community should benefit from strengthened 
design requirements. 
 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

                                                           
1 After adjusting for age, education level, marital status, and income inequality. https://bmcpregnancychildbirth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12884-021-04056-1  

P
age 504

https://bmcpregnancychildbirth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12884-021-04056-1


 6 

Proposals to improve community safety and promote social 
interaction may indirectly benefit those from minority ethnic 
communities. 

Religion or belief It is considered that the adoption of the Paradise Design Code SPD 
will not have direct material impacts on this protected characteristic. 
All members of the community should benefit from strengthened 
design requirements. 
 
Proposals to improve community safety and promote social 
interaction may indirectly benefit those from minority religious 
communities. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

Sex All members of the community should benefit from strengthened 
design requirements. 
 
Proposals to improve community safety and promote social 
interaction will contribute to the achievement of gender inclusive 
urban spaces. Incorporating design factors such as high quality 
lighting and appropriate overlooking contributes to reducing violence 
and fear of violence, and will ensure mobility and access to the 
public realm is not curtailed. 

☐ ☒ ☒ 

Sexual orientation It is considered that the adoption of the Paradise Design Code SPD 
will not have direct material impacts on this protected characteristic. 
All members of the community should benefit from strengthened 
design requirements. 
 
Proposals to improve community safety and social interaction may 
indirectly benefit individuals within the LGBTQ+ community. 

☐ ☒ ☐ 

P
age 505



 7 

Not protected 

characteristics but 

consider other 

factors, e.g. carers, 

veterans, homeless, 

low income, 

loneliness, rurality 

etc. 

All members of the community should benefit from strengthened 
design requirements.  
 
The SPD promotes the creation of flexible and mixed-use spaces, 
which make use of higher density urban and accessible 
neighbourhoods. It is considered that this ambition will have no 
direct impact on people who share protected characteristics, but 
could have indirect benefits for all groups with restricted mobility, 
including those living in low-income households. 
 
There is extensive research that supports the role of nature in 
benefitting personal wellbeing. The SPD establishes an open space 
strategy, which will provide residents and employees within the site 
with access to a variety of green spaces. It is not expected that 
increasing access to nature will have a positive impact on all, 
particularly those with health conditions and those who have been 
negatively impacted by a lack of access to nature previously. 
 
Supporting environments which makes it easier for all people to 
move around will help to advance equal opportunities between those 
with and without protected characteristics. A genuine choice of 
transport modes should consequently help reduce congestion and 
improve air quality and public health. Also by improving the network 
for pedestrians and cyclists, the SPD will facilitate cheap and 
independent active travel for individuals impacted by reduced access 
to mobility, particularly individuals on low incomes or facing income 
insecurity. 
 
Introducing safety measures within the public realm, including the 
provision of adequate lighting, and overlooking has the potential to 
benefit users who are more likely to experience violence or feelings 
of unsafety when travelling. 
 

☐ ☐ ☒ 

P
age 506



 8 

The SPD has made provisions for the food bank provided by the 
charity DENS working in partnership with the Trussell Trust. This is 
an essential service for individuals and families facing food 
insecurity. 

Negative impacts / outcomes action plan 

Where you have ascertained that there will potentially be negative impacts / outcomes, you are required to mitigate the impact of 

these.  Please detail below the actions that you intend to take. 

Action taken/to be taken 

(copy & paste the negative impact / outcome then detail action) 
Date 

Person 

responsible 
Action complete 

N/A Select date  ☐ 

 Select date  ☐ 

 

If negative impacts / outcomes remain, please provide an explanation below. 

N/A 

 

 

 

P
age 507



 9 

Completed by (all involved in CIA) Keeley Mitchell – Trainee SPAR Officer 

Date 14/06/2022 

Signed off by (AD from different Directorate 

if being presented to CMT / Cabinet) 

Alex Robinson – Assistant Director (Planning) 

Date 21/06/2022 

Entered onto CIA database - date  

To be reviewed by (officer name)  

Review date  

 

 

P
age 508



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Title of report: Constitution update  

Date: 12th July 2022 

Report on behalf 

of:  

Councillor  Graeme Elliott, Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Amended version of  Part 3 and Part 4 of the Constitution 

Amended version of the Financial Regulations 

Background 

papers: 

 

Statutory guidance on the making and disclosure of Special Severance 

Payments by Local Authorities in England (May 2012) 

Glossary of 

acronyms and 

any other 

abbreviations 

used in this 

report: 

SLT – Strategic Leadership Team 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Mark Brookes, Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services)   

 

Mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228236 (ext. 2236) 

 

  

Corporate Priorities A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 

Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Providing good quality affordable homes, in 

particular for those most in need 

Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service 

delivery 

Climate and ecological emergency 

0

 
   

Cabinet 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 509

Agenda Item 14

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


 

Wards affected All 

Purpose of the report: 

 

1. To seek approval to amend the Constitution as 

set out in the body of the report. 

2. To seek approval to amend the Council’s 

Financial Regulations as set out in the body of 

the report. 

3. To seek approval to amend the Council’s 

Commissioning and Procurement Standing 

Orders as set out in the body of the report. 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker 

(s): 

1. That Cabinet recommend Council agrees the 

amendments to Part 3 of the Constitution as 

highlighted in the report and shown in tracked 

changes on the attached document entitled 

“Constitution – Part 3 – Responsibility for 

Functions” 

 

2. That Cabinet recommend Council agrees the 

amendments to Part 4 of the Constitution as 

highlighted in the report and shown in tracked 

changes on the attached document entitled 

“Constitution – Part 4 – Rules of Procedure” 

 
 

3. That Cabinet recommend Council agrees the 

amendments to the Council’s Financial 

Regulations as highlighted in the report  and 

shown  in tracked changes on the attached 

document entitled “Financial Regulations v.1.1” 

 
 

4. That Cabinet recommend Council approves the 

proposed amendment to Commissioning and 

Procurement Standing Orders as set out in 

section 4.5 to the report. 

 

Period for post policy/project review: The Constitution is kept under continuous review by 

the Monitoring Officer and updates are proposed to 

Cabinet when required. 

Page 510



1 Introduction  
 

1.1 The Monitoring Officer is under a continuous duty to review the Constitution to ensure that 
it is up to date and provides an appropriate governance framework for all Council decision 
making.    
  

1.2 Proposals for change may be prompted not only by formal internal reviews, but also by the 
Monitoring Officer, the Cabinet, other Members or officers and by public opinion. 
 

1.3 The changes proposed in this report result primarily as a result of the Strategic and 
Corporate Leadership Team restructure and associated realignment of Cabinet Portfolios.  
Further changes are proposed in order to assist the operational effectiveness of the Council 
and these are set out and explained in the body of the report. 

 
2 Leadership Team Restructure and realignment of Portfolios. 

 
2.1 The restructure of the Council’s Leadership Team is now complete and became operational 

in April of this year.  The Constitution, including the Financial Regulations and the 
Commissioning and Procurement Standing Orders have therefore been reviewed to ensure 
that relevant job titles have been reviewed and functions are allocated to the correct post 
holder or councillor.    
 

2.2 As part of the restructure, the Leader of the Council has reviewed the Cabinet Portfolios to 
ensure that they are correctly aligned to service areas. These changes were announced at 
Annual Council in May and have now been updated in the revised version of the 
Constitution.  
 

2.3 Part 3 of the Constitution is the section which sets out the responsibilities for Council and 
Executive functions and  a tracked changes version showing all proposed changes is 
attached to this report in Part 3 of the Constitution.  
 

2.4 Part 4 of the Constitution is the Part which sets out the Rules of Procedure.  There have 
been some very minor changes to this part of the Constitution as explained in paragraph 
4.2 and a tracked changes version showing all proposed changes is attached to this report. 

 
3 Update to the Financial Regulations   

 
3.1 The Council’s Financial Regulations form part of the Constitution and are reviewed 

periodically to ensure that they remain relevant throughout any structural or operational 
changes within the Council, as well as legislative changes and relevant best practice 
guidance.  

 
3.2 The Financial Regulations, including recommended updates, can be found in the annexed 

tracked changes of the Regulations to this report. Details of the recommended changes to 
the current approved Regulations are set out below. 

 
3.3 It is recommended that the Financial Regulations are updated throughout to reflect changes 

in Corporate Leadership Team responsibilities and role titles.  This includes the designation 
of the Council’s Chief Finance Officer as Section 151 Officer. 

 
3.4 Annex D Regulation D.4. Scheme of Delegation 
 

It is recommended that the Unit 4 Business World approval limit for Heads of Services be 
increased to match that of Assistant Directors at £250k. This approval limit relates to the 
approval of transactions in the Council’s financial system. The recommendation will ensure 
approval parity between Heads of Service and Assistant Directors. This reflects the new 
Corporate Leadership Team structure and ensures financial transaction approvals are 
undertaken by those with the appropriate level of operational knowledge.  
 

Page 511



3.5 Annex E Section 1 Clause 3.h).  Electronic Purchase Cards (EPCs). 
 
It is recommended that Heads of Services are able to authorise higher transaction limits on 
EPCs cards, with the approval of the Section 151 Officer.  This authorisation is currently 
undertaken by Assistant Directors, with the approval of the Section 151 Officer.  This 
recommendation reflects the new Corporate Leadership Team structure and ensures the 
decision to assign EPC limits are undertaken by those with the appropriate level of 
operational knowledge.  

 
4 Other material changes to Part 3 of the Constitution to note 
 

4.1 The Constitution is kept under continuous review to ensure that it continues to provide a 
framework for effective and agile decision making.  It is also reviewed to ensure that it 
considers any new and/or amended legislation or guidance.  As a result of this review the 
following amendments are proposed: 

 
4.2 New delegations relating to Special Severance Payments are proposed (see pages 100 

and 112 of the annexed Part 3) following new guidance published in May 2022 entitled 
“Statutory guidance on the making and disclosure of Special Severance Payments by Local 
Authorities in England” 

 
 Special Severance Payments are payments made to employees when leaving employment 

in public service. Employers may sometimes consider making such a payment in situations 
where the individual concerned resigns, is dismissed, or agrees a termination of contract 
via a settlement agreement. 

 
The new guidance requires: 

 
 payments of £100,000 and above must be approved by a vote of full council, as set 

out in the Localism Act 2011 
 payments of £20,000 and above, but below £100,000, must be personally approved 

and signed off by the Head of Paid Service, with a clear record of the Leader’s 
approval and that of any others who have signed off the payment 

 payments below £20,000 must be approved according to the local authority’s 
scheme of delegation.  

 Where the payment is to the Chief Executive, to avoid a conflict of interest, the 
payment should be approved by a panel including at least two independent 
members. 

 
The amendments proposed to the Constitution delegate authority to the Chief Executive to 
approve payments of £20,000-£100,000 subject to agreement with the Leader of the 
Council in consultation with the S.151 Officer and Monitoring Officer.  Any payments above 
£100,000 will be approved by Full Council.   Any payments up to £20,000 must be approved 
by a member of the Strategic Leadership Team.  
 
Any payment to the Chief Executive will be approved by the Appointments Committee who 
will co-op two Independent Persons for the purpose of approving any payment.   An 
amendment to the Terms of Reference for the Appointments Committee has been made to 
confirm this position at page 177 of Part 4 of the Constitution (copy annexed). 

 
4.3 An existing delegation has been moved to the Chief Executive delegations on page 100 

relating to the approval of early retirement and redundancy proposals.  This delegation 
previously existed under the Corporate Director, Finance and Resource post (now deleted), 
see page 112 of Part 3 annexed to this report for the existing wording, and was previously 
subject to a three year pay-back test.    This test has been amended as it is operationally 
restrictive and replaced with a more relevant test of Best Value which means that a longer 
term view of the proposal can be considered in appropriate circumstances. 

 

Page 512



4.4 A new delegation is also recommended to the Chief Executive to approve funding for 
interim resource to deliver corporate priorities. The Chief Executive will report all 
expenditure and funding made pursuant to this delegation to Cabinet and Council every six 
months. This delegation will give the Chief Executive the clear operational flexibility to 
ensure that appropriate resource is in place to deliver the Council’s corporate priorities and 
this delegation will only be exercised where an approved budget is in place in accordance 
with the Council’s financial regulations.   

 
4.5 In support of this proposal an amendment is also proposed to the Council’s Commissioning 

and Procurement Standing Orders to provide an ability for the Chief Executive to exempt 
procurement standing orders where there is a need to procure interim resource to deliver 
corporate services.   A record of the reason that this provision is used will be completed 
and passed the Head of Commercial Development.  The wording for the new exemption 
will be: 

 
“The approval of the Chief Executive has been obtained to procure supplies or services for 
interim resource to deliver corporate priorities.  A record of the decision including the reason 
for the decision must be passed to the Head of Commercial Development with 5 days of 
the decision being taken.” 
 
This additional flexibility will enable the Chief Executive to respond to requirements for 
resourcing without going through a full competitive procurement process. The exemption 
will be used in limited circumstances but will be enable the organisation to respond in an 
agile manner to resourcing requirement if needed and will also be reported to Audit 
Committee in accordance with agreed practices for exemptions. 

 
5 Options and alternatives considered 

 
No other options are considered relevant as the changes are required to ensure that the Council 
can operate with the appropriate delegations in place. 
 

6 Consultation 
 
There has been consultation with the Council’s Strategic Leadership Team, Corporate Leadership 
Team and senior Cabinet Members to ensure that the appropriate delegations are in place to 
enable the Council to operate effectively 
 

7 Financial and value for money implications: 
 

The scheme of delegation in Part 3 of the Constitution, the Financial Regulations and the 
Commissioning and Procurement Standing Orders  provides a framework for effective and 
compliant decision making and should help to ensure that decisions are taken at the right level 
and therefore improve the efficient running of Council services.   
 

8 Legal Implications 
 

The scheme of delegation in Part 3 of the Constitution, the Financial Regulations and the 
Commissioning and Procurement Standing Orders   ensure that decisions are made by the 
correct Committee, Councillor or Officer according to the function being discharged.  Failure to 
have an effective and up to date Constitution in place could lead to legal challenge 
 

9 Risk implications: 
 

Failure to have an effective and up to date Constitution in place could lead to legal challenge 
and/or operational challenges as Members, Officers and the public will not be clear how or by 
whom decisions should be taken. 

 
10  Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 
 

Page 513



There are no Equalities, Community Impact of Human Rights implications arising from this report. 
 

11 Sustainability implications. 
 

  There are no sustainability implications arising from this report. 
 

12  Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 
 
      There are no implications arising from this report. 
 
13 Statutory Comments 
 

Monitoring Officer: 
 
The scheme of delegation in Part 3 of the Constitution provides a framework for effective decision 
making and should ensure that officers act within their appointed delegations and therefore 
minimise legal challenge. 
 
S151 Officer: 
 
The majority of minor changes made to the constitution reflect the approved Council restructure 
that has been undertaken at Tier 2 and Tier 3 levels in the organisation. This includes the financial 
regulation changes proposed at para 3.4 and 3.5, which have been proposed to bring approval 
limits in line with officer seniority. 
 
The additional proposed delegations to the Chief Executive will be monitored and reported to 
members accordingly in line with current financial regulations. 
 
A change in the financial assessment of proposed redundancies and retirements to a Best Value 
assessment from a rigid 3 year pay back criteria allows for a more analytical view of these complex 
decisions from a value for money perspective. As detailed in the constitution, and in line with good 
practice guidelines, the Chief Executive would seek advice from both the S151 and Monitoring 
officer’s prior to making these decisions. 

 
14 Conclusions:   
 

The changes proposed in this report are required to ensure that the Council has an appropriate 
framework in place to facilitate effective decision making and remain agile to enable it to deliver 
the Council’s priorities.   The recommendations in the header of this report are therefore presented 
to Cabinet for referral to Council for final approval.   

 
 
 

Page 514



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PART 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 
 

July 
2022Dece
mber 
2021 

Page 515



 

 51 

PART 3 RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS  
   
Introduction – Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000 
 

1. Responsibility for discharging the functions of the Council rests with the 
Leader and Cabinet except for those functions, which are specified in 
The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) Regulations 2000 
(as amended) as not being the responsibility of the Council’s executive.  
These functions specified in the Regulations, for example, development 
control and licensing, remain the responsibility of the Council.  The 
Regulations also specify a number of functions which may be (but need 
not be) the responsibility of the Cabinet (the determination of appeals for 
example).  Responsibility for those functions is down to local choice. 
 
Functions, which are the responsibility of the Leader and Cabinet, can 
be discharged by the Leader or the Cabinet collectively, or by a 
committee of the Cabinet, or by any individual Cabinet Member (Portfolio 
Holder) or by any individual officer of the Council. 
Those functions, which remain the responsibility of the Council, can be 
discharged through committees or sub-committees or by any individual 
officer of the Council. 
The Council is required to set out in its Constitution the following 
information concerning the allocation (or delegation) of responsibility for 
functions: 
 

(a) who is responsible for “local choice functions”, 
 

(b) a description of the functions of the Cabinet which, for time being, are 
exercisable by individual Cabinet Portfolio Holders stating the name of 
the Cabinet Member by whom it is exercisable, 
 

(c) a description of those powers of the Cabinet which for the time being are 
exercisable by an officer of the Council stating the title of the officer by 
whom the power is exercisable, 
 

(d) a description of the terms of reference of the committees or sub-
committees appointed by the Council for the purpose of discharging 
those functions for which it still has responsibility, 
 

(e) a description of those powers which have been delegated by the 
Council, or by a committee or sub-committee, to be exercisable by an 
officer of the Council stating the title of the officer 

 
Interpretation 
 
2. In this Part all references to the title of an officer by whom a specified 

power is exercisable shall include reference to any officer who has been 
appointed to act in that capacity on an interim basis during the vacancy 
in that post.  ‘Chief Officer’ means the holder for the time being of any of 
the following posts:  Chief Executive; Deputy Chief Executive (Resident 

Page 516



 

 52 

Services) Corporate Strategic Director (Corporate and Commercial 
Services), Strategic Director (Place), Strategic Director (People and 
Transformation) Finance and Operations); Corporate Director (Housing 
and Regeneration). 
 

3. References to an Act of Parliament, statutory provision or statutory 
instrument include a reference to that Act of Parliament, statutory 
provision or statutory instrument as amended, extended or re-enacted 
from time to time and to any regulations made under it; 

 
Delegation of Powers 

 
4. Every officer designated in this Part is authorised to act on behalf of and 

in the name of the Council in those matters shown as delegated to him 
or her. 

 
5. The powers delegated under this Part shall be exercised in accordance 

with any requirements in the Council’s Constitution and the necessary 
financial provision having been made in the approved budget. 

 
6. Any power delegated by this Part to the Chief Executive may, during the 

absence of the Chief Executive, or during his or her inability to act for 
any other reason, or during the vacancy in the post of Chief Executive, 
be exercised by any other Chief Officer. 

 
6. An officer empowered under this Part to exercise delegated power in 

respect of any matter may authorise the exercise of that power by such 
other officers as he or she may deem appropriate for the proper 
performance of the work.  Any authorisation given under this provision 
must be recorded in writing and a copy supplied to the Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic Services) Corporate and Contracted Services).  
Any exercise of a delegated power in such manner shall be expressed to 
be on behalf of the officer specified in this Part, who shall remain 
responsible for the act of his or her appointee.   

 
1. RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTIONS 
 
Function Who is responsible 
  
1. The determination of an appeal 

against any decision made by 
or on behalf of the Council 

 The Appeals Committee 

    
2. The conducting of Best Value 

reviews 
 The Cabinet will oversee the conduct 

of Best Value reviews but may 
commission a Task and Finish Group 
to run the reviews who will report their 
recommendations to the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
prior to it being reported to Cabinet 

Page 517



 

 53 

    
3. Any function relating to 

contaminated land 
 The Cabinet 

    
4. The discharge of any function 

relating to the control of 
pollution or the management of 
air quality 
 

 The Cabinet 

5. The service of an abatement 
notice in respect of a statutory 
nuisance 
 

 The Cabinet 

6. The passing of a resolution that 
Schedule 2 to the Noise and 
Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 
should apply in the Council's 
area 

 The Cabinet 

    
7. The Inspection of the Council's 

area to detect any statutory 
nuisance 

 The Cabinet 

    
8. The investigation of any 

complaint as to the existence of 
a statutory nuisance 
 

 The Cabinet 

9. The obtaining of information 
under Section 330 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 
as to interests in land 

 The Council 

    
10. The obtaining of particulars of 

persons interested in land 
under Section 16 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 

 The Cabinet 

    
11. Making agreements for the 

execution of highway works 
 The Cabinet 

    
12. The appointment of any 

individual: 
 
(a) To any office other than an 

office in which he is 
employed by the Council; 

 
(b) To any body other than: 
 

 The Council  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 518



 

 54 

 (i) The authority; 
 
 (ii) A joint committee of 

two or more 
authorities;  or 

 
(c) To any committee or sub-

committee of such a body 
 
and the revocation of any such 
appointment. 
 
(d) The appointment of an 
officer to an external company  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive in consultation with 
the Leader of the Council 

13. The making of agreements with 
other local authorities for the 
placing of staff at the disposal 
of those other authorities. 

 The Cabinet 

Page 519



 

 55 

2. RESPONSIBILITY FOR COUNCIL FUNCTIONS 
 

2.1 The Regulatory Committees of the Council 
 

2.1.1 The “Regulatory Committees of the Council” are politically 
proportionate Committees appointed for the purpose of 
discharging those functions, which are not the 
responsibility of the Cabinet.  They comprise of: 

 
The Development Management  Committee 
The Licensing and Health & Safety Enforcement Committee 
The Licensing and Health & Safety Enforcement Sub 
Committee 

The Licensing of Alcohol & Gambling Sub Committee 
The Appeals and Reviews Committee 
The Audit Committee 

 
2.1.2 The Appeals Committee has a variable membership which 

will be chosen from a pool of members appointed by the 
Council and who have received relevant training. 

 
2.1.3 A Member of the Cabinet is permitted to be a  member of 

any Regulatory Committee but shall not attend any 
committee meeting which is hearing an appeal or review 
against a decision which is made by a service which falls 
within their Portfolio. 

 
2.1.4 The Chairmen, Vice Chairmen and Members of the 

Regulatory Committees are appointed by full Council. 
 
2.2 Development Management Committee 

 
2.2.1 Shall comprise of 14 members of the Council. 
 
2.2.2 Shall meet in accordance with the cycle of meetings 

approved annually by the Council. 
 
2.2.3 Terms of Reference 
 
 The functions of the Development Management  

Committee shall be to exercise all powers of the Council 
relating to: 

 
(i) Town and country planning and development 

control (except matters relating to the review, 
alteration or approval of the Development Plan) 

 
(ii) The protection and preservation of trees 
 
(iii) The protection and preservation of hedgerows 

Page 520



 

 56 

 
(iv) The various powers relating to public rights of way 

contained in the Highways Act 1980, which have 
been delegated to the Council by Hertfordshire 
County Council as the Highway Authority, under an 
Agency Agreement.  These include the powers to 
protect and assert public rights of way, including 
powers to create, divert or stop up footpaths, 
bridleways and byways 

 
(v) Complaints about high hedges 
 
(vi) The authorisation of all allied enforcement action. 

 
2.3 Delegation to Officers from Development Management  

Committee 
 
POWER OR FUNCTION TO  WHOM 

DELEGATED 
DETERMINATION OF APPLICATIONS  
  
2.3.1 The making of decisions or representations 

on all planning and other applications falling 
to be considered by the Borough Council as 
local planning authority. 

Assistant Director 
(Planning), 
Development & 
Regeneration),Head of 
Development 
Management, 
Development 
Management Team 
Leaders and Assistant 
Team Leaders or the 
Specialist Services 
Team Leaders.  Group 
Manager (Planning & 
Development), the 
Planning Casework 
Team Leader, the 
Major Developments 
Team Leader, the 
Development 
Management Team 
Leader, the Specialist 
Services Team 
Leader, or Assistant 
Team Leaders 
(Development 
Management).  
 

   
 The above authority to include: 

 
- the disposal of applications in accordance 

 

Page 521



 

 57 

with Article 4025 (131) of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Development 
Management Procedure) (England Order 
)Order 20151995 
 

- the service of Building Preservation 
Notices pursuant to Section 3 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 

- the authority to make applications for spot 
listing to the Department of Culture, 
Media and Sport or any successor 
Department. 

 
- the making, varying or revoking of Tree 

Preservation Orders (including 
confirmation where there are no 
objections) 

 
- the making of decisions on all planning 

applications falling to be considered by 
the Borough Council as local planning 
authority where there is a deadline under 
statute or regulation after which planning 
permission, prior approval or consent is 
deemed to be granted  

   
2.3.2 The following matters are excluded from 

delegation under paragraph 2.3.1: 
 

   
 (1) Decisions on proposals other than 

householder developments*, which 
would have the effect, either 
cumulatively or otherwise of granting 
permission, consent or other approval 
for matters previously refused by the 
Development Management  Committee 

 

 

 (2) Decisions on proposals which any 
Borough Councillor representing the 
ward within which the application site is 
situated, or the Chairman, Vice-
Chairman of the Development 
Management Committee or Portfolio 
Holder for Planning and Regeneration 
has, within a time period of no more 
than 28 days from public consultation 
commencement or date of the 
advertisement of the application, 

 

Page 522



 

 58 

requested should be reported to the 
Development Management Committee 
and where that request is made in 
writing and supported with material 
planning reasons save that: 

 
a) in the event of a public re-consultation 

following amendment or amendments 
to an application any Borough 
Councillor representing the ward within 
which the application site is situated, or 
the Chairman, Vice-Chairman of the 
Development Management Committee 
or Portfolio Holder for Planning and 
Regeneration may, within a time period 
of no more than 14 days from 
commencement of the public re-
consultation, request the application 
should be reported to the Development 
Management Committee but only 
where that request is made in writing 
and  relates purely to the amended 
element or elements and is supported 
with material planning reasons. 
 

b) Excluded from the call-in power 
referred to in 2.3.2(2) above are all 
planning applications falling to be 
considered by the Borough Council as 
local planning authority where there is 
a deadline under statute or regulation 
after which planning permission, prior 
approval or consent is deemed to be 
granted 

 

POWER OR FUNCTION  
DETERMINATION OF APPLICATIONS  
  
 (3) Decisions (other than those relating to 

applications for lawful development 
certificates, applications for approval 
required by condition or under the 
provisions of a Tree Preservation Order, 
all planning applications falling to be 
considered by the Borough Council as 
local planning authority where there is a 
deadline under statute or regulation 
after which planning permission, prior 
approval or consent is deemed to be 
granted notifications for the removal of 

  

Page 523



 

 59 

hedgerows and works to trees in 
Conservation Areas) on proposals 
where a Town or Parish Council 
expresses a contrary view (either to 
object or to support) to that of the 
Assistant Director (Planning, 
Development & Regeneration) and 
Head of Development 
ManagementGroup Manager 
(Development Management & Planning) 
where that contrary view is submitted in 
writing and  supported with material 
planning reasons. 

   
 (4) Decisions on large scale major 

development* proposals which are 
linked either to an existing agreement 
pursuant to s.52 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1971 or s.106 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 or to an existing or proposed 
planning obligation under s.106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as substituted by s.12 of the Planning 
and Compensation Act 1991)  

 
(4(a)) Decisions on proposals seeking 

variations to existing legal agreements 
made either within 5 years or under 
Section 106A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 unless (in the opinion 
of the Assistant Director (Planning, 
Development & Regeneration) or the 
Head of Development Management 
Group Manager (Development 
Management and Planning) they are 
considered to be minor variations. 

 

   
 (5) Decisions on major proposals* or 

proposals where there is any objection 
submitted in writing and supported by 
material planning reasons for the 
construction of new buildings or the 
change of use of existing buildings 
either submitted by or on behalf of the 
Borough Council or affecting land or 
buildings in which the Borough Council 
has an interest.  Decisions on  minor 
material and non –material amendments 
to approved proposals are not included 

 

Page 524



 

 60 

within this exclusion. 

 
 

POWER OR FUNCTION  

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATIONS  

   

 (6) Decisions on proposals (other than those 
relating to applications for lawful 
development certificates, applications for 
approval required by condition or under 
the provisions of a Tree Preservation 
Order, applications under Parts 6, 24 and 
31 of Schedule 2 to the Town and 
Country Planning General Permitted 
Development Order 1995 or notifications 
for the removal of hedgerows and works 
to trees in Conservation Areas) 
submitted by or on behalf of either 
Borough Councillors or members of staff. 

 

   

 (7) Decisions on proposals which, in the 
opinion of the Assistant Director 
(Planning, Development & Regeneration) 
or the Head of Development 
Management Group Manager (Planning 
& Development)are of significant public 
interest, would have a significant impact 
on the environment, or should otherwise 
be reported to the Development 
Management  Committee 

 

   

 ENFORCEMENT OF PLANNING CONTROL 
 

2.3.3 The making of decisions on all 
enforcement matters falling to be 
considered by the Borough Council as 
local planning authority 

 
 

Assistant Director 
(Planning, Development 
& Regeneration), Head 
of Development 
Management, 
Development 
Management Team 
Leaders and Assistant 
Team Leaders, the 
Specialist Services 
Team Leaders or the 

Page 525



 

 61 

Assistant Team Leader 
(Planning 
Enforcement)Group 
Manager (Planning & 
Development), ,the 
Planning Casework 
Team Leader, the Major 
Developments Team 
Leader, the Specialist 
Services Team Leader, 
or the Assistant Team 
Leader (Planning 
Enforcement). 
 

 The above authority to include but not be 
limited to: 
 

- Service of an enforcement notice 
pursuant to S.172 Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990  

- Service of an enforcement notice relating 
to a listed building pursuant to s S.38 
Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990  

- Service of a stop notice  pursuant to 
s.183 Town and Country Planning Act 
1990  

- Service of temporary stop notice 
pursuant to S.171E Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990  

- Injunctions to prevent unauthorised 
development  

- Prosecutions under Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990  
 
All enforcement action under 2.3.3 to be 
reported on a quarterly basis to 
Development Management Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
The following matters are excluded from 
delegation under paragraph 2.3.3: 
 
(1) Decisions on whether to vary or withdraw 

proceedings previously authorised by the 
Development Management Committee. 

 

Page 526



 

 62 

   
 DEALING WITH APPEALS 

 
 

 2.3.5 The making of decisions on all matters 
(including settling the case to be made) 
in relation to the conduct of appeals to 
which the Borough Council as local 
planning authority is a party. 

Assistant Director 
(Planning, Development 
& Regeneration), Head 
of Development 
Management, 
Development 
Management Team 
Leaders and Assistant 
Team Leaders or the 
Specialist Services 
Team Leaders’Group 
Manager (Planning & 
Development), the 
Planning Casework 
Team Leader, the Major 
Developments Team 
Leader, the 
Development 
Management Team 
Leader, the Specialist 
Services Team Leader, 
or Assistant Team 
Leaders (Development 
Management).  
 

 
POWER OR FUNCTION 

 
TO  WHOM 
DELEGATED 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATIONS  
   
 PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

 
2.3.6 The making of decisions on all 

procedural and administrative matters 
(including the adoption of a screening 
opinion under Regulation 5 of the Town 
and Country Planning (Environmental 
Impact Assessment) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 1999) falling to be 
considered by the Borough Council as 
local planning authority. 

 
 

Assistant Director 
(Planning) , 
Development & 
Regeneration), Group 
Manager (Planning & 
Development), Head of 
Development 
Management, 
Development 
Management Team 
Leaders and Assistant 
Team Leaders or the 
Specialist Services 
Team LeadersGroup 
Manager (Strategic 
Planning & 
Regeneration), the 
Planning Casework 
Team Leader, the Major 

Page 527



 

 63 

Developments Team 
Leader, the 
Development 
Management Team 
Leader, or the Specialist 
Services Team Leader. 
 

 
   
 2.3.7 The following matters are excluded 

from delegation under paragraph 2.3.6: 
 

   
 (1) Confirmation or modification of a Tree 

Preservation Order where any 
objections and representations have 
been duly made and not withdrawn. 

 

   
 (2) The making of a Direction under Article 

4 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) 
Order 1995 in relation to parts 6, 7, 11, 
17, 19, 20, 21-24, 26, 30 and 31 of 
Schedule 2 (other than in cases where 
the Assistant Director (Planning, 
Development & Regeneration) or the 
Group Manager (Planning and 
Development), Head of Development 
Management in consultation with the 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services)Corporate and 
Contracted Services), considers urgent 
action is necessary). 

 

   
 (3) Decisions to defer from consideration 

applications which have been included in 
the agenda for a meeting of the 
Development Management  Committee. 

 

   
 (4) Any matter relating to the preparation of 

the Local Development Framework, and 
the designation or alteration of 
conservation areas. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 528



 

 64 

* Definitions 
Householder:  Householder developments are defined as those within the curtilage of a 
house which require an application for planning permission and are not a change of use.  
Included in householder developments are extensions, conservatories, loft conversions, 
dormer windows, alterations, garages, car ports or outbuildings, swimming pools, walls, 
fences, domestic vehicular access including footway crossovers, porches and satellite 
dishes.  Excluded from householder development are any work relating to a flat(s), 
applications to change the number of dwellings (flat conversions, building a separate house 
in the garden), changes of use to part of all of the property to non-residential (including 
business) uses, anything outside the garden of the property (including stables if in a separate 
paddock) 
Large Scale Major Development:  For dwellings, a large-scale major development is one 
where the number of residential units to be constructed is 200 or more.  Where the number 
of residential units to be constructed is not given in the application a site area of 4 hectares 
or more should be used as the definition of a large-scale major development.  For all other 
uses a large-scale major development is one where the floorspace to be built is 10,000 
square metres or more, or where the site area is 2 hectares or more 
Major Development: For dwellings, a major development is one where the number of 
residential units to be constructed is 10 or more. Where the number of residential units to be 
constructed is not given in the application a site having an area of 0.5 hectares or more 
should be used as the definition of a major development.  For all other uses a major 
development is one where the floorspace to be built is 1000 square metres or more, or a 
change of use of floorspace of 1000 square metres or more.  
 

 

POWER OR FUNCTION TO  WHOM 
DELEGATED 

DETERMINATION OF APPLICATIONS  
   
 HIGHWAYS  
   
 2.3.8 To confirm unopposed orders for the 

stopping–up, diversion, reclassification 
and addition to the Definitive Map of 
footpaths, bridleways and byways. 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and 
Democratic 
Services)Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)  

   
 2.3.9. The discharge of the Council’s powers 

relating to highways and public rights 
of way contained in the Highways Act 
1980, the Acquisition of Land Act 
1981, the Wildlife and Countryside 
Acts 1981 and The Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 2000, the Cycle 
Tracks Act 1984, the Housing Act 
1981 and the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 unless otherwise 
specified elsewhere in this Part. 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery)  

   
 
 
 
 

HIGH HEDGES 
 
Part 8  Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 529



 

 65 

 
 
 

2.3.10 The making of decisions on all 
matters falling to be considered by 
the Council under s.68 (procedure for 
dealing with complaints), s.69 
(remedial notices), s.70 (withdrawal 
or relaxation of requirements of 
remedial notices) 

 
2.3.11 The power to authorise persons to 

enter land for the purposes of 
complaints to and appeals under 
s.74. 

 
2.2.12 The power to authorise proceedings 

under s.75 (offences). 
 
2.3.13 The power to authorise persons to 

enter land for the purposes of taking 
required action under s.77. 

 
2.3.14 The power to authorise the recovery 

of expenses under s.77. 
 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and 
Democatric Services 
)Corporate and 
Contracted Services)  
 
 
 
 
 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and 
Democratic 
Services)Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services) 
 
 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and 
Democratic Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services) 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and 
DemocraticCorporate 
and Contracted 
Services) 
 
Assistant Director 
(Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   

2.4 The Licensing and Health and Safety Enforcement 
Committee: 

 
2.4.1 Shall comprise of 13 members of the Council. 

 

2.4.2 Shall meet on an ad hoc basis when summoned by the 
Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic services 
Corporate and Contracted Services) to deal with matters 
specified on the Agenda. 

 

2.4.3 Terms of Reference 
 

The functions of the Licensing and Health and Safety 
Enforcement Committee shall be: 
 
(i) to fulfil the role of the licensing committee of the 

Council in its capacity as a licensing authority under 

Page 530



 

 66 

section 6 of the Licensing Act 2003 and section 154 
of the Gambling Act 2005, and  

 

(ii) to exercise all the powers of the Council relating to 
the grant, renewal, refusal, variation, cancellation, or 
imposition of conditions upon any licence or 
authorisation which the Council has a power or duty 
to issue, including the following: 
 

 Hackney carriages and private hire vehicles, 
drivers and operators 

 Sale and supply of alcohol, regulated 
entertainment and late night refreshment  
(Licensing Act 2003) 

 Non remote gambling by way of betting, gaming 
or lotteries (Gambling Act 2005) 

 Sex shops, sex cinemas and sexual 
entertainment venues 

 Animal welfare related establishments 

 Food safety 

 Caravan sites, camping sites and moveable 
dwellings 

 Street trading 

 Charitable collections 

 Acupuncture, tattooing, piercing and electrolysis 

 The registration of persons or premises in 
pursuance of other public health, safety or 
related functions 

 Any other licensing matter as may from time to 
time require determination by the Council. 

 
 

(iii) to exercise all the powers of the Council relating to 
the setting of fees and charges, policies (where not 
otherwise prohibited) and guidance  for the above 
mentioned authorisations.  

 

(iv) to exercise all the functions relating to health and 
safety under any “relevant statutory provision” within 
the meaning of Part I of the Health and Safety at 
Work Act 1974, to the extent that those functions 
are discharged otherwise than in the Council’s 
capacity as employer. 

 

(v) to exercise all the powers of the Council relating to 
the making of an order identifying a place as a 
designated public place for the purposes of police 
powers in relation to alcohol consumption (section 
13(2) of the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001). 

 

Page 531



 

 67 

2.5 Scheme of Delegation to Officers (From the Licensing and 
Health and Safety Enforcement Committee) 

 
POWER OR FUNCTION TO WHOM 

DELEGATED 
  
Food Safety  
  
2.5.1 To register and issue licences in respect of 

premises used or to be used for the 
purposes of a food business (S.19 Food 
Safety Act 1990 and the appropriate 
Regulations) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery) Corporate and 
Contracted Services)   

 
2.5.2 To grant licences authorising the use of 

special milk designations (S.189(2) Food 
Safety Act 1990 and the appropriate 
Regulations) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery) Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)   

   
2.5.3 To grant licences to slaughter animals (SS 

39 & 40 Slaughterhouses Act 1974 as 
amended by the Welfare of Animals at 
Slaughter Act 1991) 

 Assistant Director 
(Corporate and 
Contracted Services, 
(Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery))   

   
2.5.34 To register hawkers of food and their 

premises 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services), 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery)    

   
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles  
  
2.5.45 To grant and renew vehicle and driver 

licences in respect of hackney carriages 
and private hire vehicles on the Council’s 
relevant Standard Conditions in 
accordance with the provisions of the 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976. 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services), 
Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services   

   
2.5.56 Power to grant variations or exemptions to 

the Council’s Standard Conditions subject 
to a right of appeal against a refusal to 
grant an exemption or variation to the 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 

Page 532



 

 68 

Committee. Services Corporate and 
Contracted Services)   

   
2.5.67 To grant or renew private hire operators’ 

licences  
Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services (Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)   

   
2.5.78 To inspect and test a licensed vehicle 

under section 68 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, and 
to suspend a vehicle’s license under that 
section where the officer was not satisfied 
as to the fitness of the vehicle or the 
accuracy of the taximeter on inspection or 
test thereof, until such time as any defects 
have been rectified to the satisfaction of 
the officer. 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services (Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)   

   
2.5.89
a 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5.89
b 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5.89
c 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5.89

To suspend hackney carriage and private 
hire drivers’ licences in accordance with 
the provisions of S.50 of the Town Police 
Clauses Act 1847 and S.61 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 
 
To suspend a vehicle’s licence under 
section 60 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, on 
the grounds that the vehicle is unfit for use 
as a hackney carriage or private hire 
vehicle 
 
To suspend or revoke a vehicle’s licence, 
a driver’s licence, or an operator’s licence 
with immediate effect under section 60, 61 
or 62 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
respectively, on any of the grounds 
thereunder, following consultation with the 
chair or vice-chair of the Licensing, Health & 
Safety and Enforcement Committee  
 
To inspect and test a licensed vehicle 
under section 68 of the Local Government  
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, and  
to suspend a vehicle’s licence under that 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services (Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)  
 
 
 

 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 
 
 
 

 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 
 

Page 533



 

 69 

d section where the officer was not satisfied 
as to the fitness of the vehicle or the  
accuracy of the taximeter on inspection or 
test thereof, until such time as any defects 
have been rectified to the satisfaction of  
the officer 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

2.5.19
0 
 
 

To approve the display of advertisements 
on the outside or inside of a hackney 
carriage  
 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services (Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)  

Charitable/Street Collections  
   
2.5.10
11 

To issue licences for house to house 
collections in the Borough 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services), 
Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services 
(Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
2.5.11
2 

To deal with applications for the use of 
public precincts for meetings, street 
collections or similar purposes. 

Assistant  Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services), 
Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services 
(Corporate and 
Contracted Services)  

   
2.5.13 To grant permits for street collections and 

to exercise the Council’s other powers 
under relevant regulations. 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services), 
Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services 
(Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
Street Trading Consents  
   
2.5.13
4 

(1) To grant consents and impose 
conditions upon consents to trade in 
streets in the Borough (other than 
prohibited streets) under the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
provisions) Act 1982 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services), 
Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services 
(Corporate and 
Contracted Services)  

Page 534



 

 70 

   
 (2) To  authorise  designated employees 

of the Council to be proper officers for 
the purpose of enforcing the street 
trading provisions 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services), 
Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services 
(Corporate and 
Contracted Services)  

   
 (3) To institute proceedings in respect of 

contravention of street trading 
consents and street trading in 
prohibited streets under the 
provisions of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services), 
Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services 
(Corporate and 
Contracted Services)  

  
 
 

 

Animals  
   
   
   
   
   
   
2.5.14
5 

To act as the Council’s Licensing Officer   
for the grant (including determining the 
length and risk rating of licences where 
relevant), variation, refusal, and revocation 
of licences under the following enactments 
(and any subordinate legislation made or 
deemed to be made thereunder): 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
   
 Relating to Animals:  
 The Animal Welfare Act 2006 

 
 

  
 

 

 Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976  
  

The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities 
Involving Animals)(England) Regulations 
2018 

 

 Zoo Licensing Act 1981 
 
To institute proceedings in respect of any 
offence committed under the following 
enactments (and any subordinate 
legislation made or deemed to be made 
thereunder)   

 
 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services (Corporate 

Page 535



 

 71 

 
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 
 
Zoo Licensing Act 1981 
 
Animal Welfare Act 2006 
 
 

and Contracted 
Services) 

   
  

   
 Relating to theatres, entertainments, 

etc: 
 

   
 Hypnotism Act 1952  
   
2.5.15
6 

To act as the Council’s Licensing Officer 
and to grant, vary or revoke licences 
(including the giving of consents to 
requests for variations to licence 
conditions)  under the following 
enactments (and any subordinate 
legislation made or deemed to be made 
thereunder) where: 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services (Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services) 

   
 (1) there is no objection to the grant of a 

licence AND 
 

 (2) the character or antecedents of the 
applicant are either not an issue or 
are not in doubt AND 

 

 (3) all formalities have been duly 
complied with AND 

 

 (4) the Licensing Officer has no other 
reason to refer the matter to the 
Council’s Licensing and Health and 
Safety Enforcement Committee for 
determination 

 

   
2.5.16
7 

Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982: Part II and 
Schedule 3 (sex establishments) 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services), Assistant 
Director (Strategic 
Housing) 

   
 
 
2.5.17
8 

Relating to Caravan and Camping Sites 
 
To make all decisions/determinations 
serve notices and authorise the taking of 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democartic 
Services Corporate 
and Contracted 

Page 536



 

 72 

any necessary action in pursuance of the 
Council’s licensing and enforcement 
responsibilities (including, but not limited 
to, the service of notices and orders, 
imposing civil penalties, arranging for the 
carrying out of remedial works, the 
recovery of expenses and the keeping of 
registers of licences and orders) and all 
other duties or powers which the Council 
may have in accordance with the following 
statutory provisions and any orders or 
regulations made thereunder: 

Services), Assistant 
Director ( Strategic 
Housing) 

 
 
2.5.18
9 

 
 
Caravan Sites Control of Development Act 
1960 

 
 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services), 
Assistant Director 
(Housing) 

 
2.5.19
20 

 
Mobile Homes Act 2013 

 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services) Corporate and 
Contracted Services),  

   
 
 
2.5.20
1 

 
 
Under or in relation to any of the 
enactments specified in paragraphs 2.5.15 
and 2.5.20 above and the subordinate 
legislation referred to therein, and in 
accordance with S.223 Local Government 
Act 1972 to act as authorised Officer of the 
Council, to inspect premises, to authorise 
the institution of proceedings in a 
Magistrates’ Court and to appear in any 
proceedings instituted by the Council 

 
 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services Corporate and 
Contracted Services)  

   
 
 
Sunday Trading 
 

 

2.5.21
2 

To appoint by an instrument in writing 
Inspectors for the purposes of the Sunday 
Trading Act 1994 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services Corporate and 
Contracted Services)  

   
2.5.22
3 

To authorise the institution of legal 
proceedings for offences under the 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 

Page 537



 

 73 

Sunday Trading Act 1994 Services Corporate and 
Contracted Services)  

   
Health and Safety at Work 
 

 

2.5.23
4 

To exercise the powers of the Council 
under S.19 Health and Safety at Work, etc 
Act 1974: 

Assistant Director  
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery) and Assistant 
Director (Housing) 

   
 (1) To appoint by an instrument in 

writing signed by him or her 
persons as Inspectors for the 
purposes of the 1974 Act, being 
persons having suitable 
qualifications; 
 

 

 (2) To specify in the instrument of 
appointment which of the following 
powers are to be exercisable by 
each of the persons so appointed: 
 

 

 (a) the powers of an Inspector 
specified in: 
 

 

 (i) SS.20, 21, 22 and 25 of the 
1974 Act; 
 

(ii) the provisions of the Acts 
mentioned in Schedule 1 to 
the 1974 Act which are 
specified in the third 
column of that Schedule 
and of the Regulations, 
Orders or other instruments 
of a legislative character 
made or having effect 
under any provision so 
specified, as in force from 
time to time; 

 

 

 (b) to authorise the institution of 
proceedings in England and 
Wales pursuant to S.38 of the 
1974 Act. 

 

   
 (3) to terminate any appointment so 

made whether by him or her or 
another 

 

   

Page 538



 

 74 

2.5.24
5 

To authorise another person to 
accompany an Inspector of Health and 
Safety on any inspection, examination or 
investigation under the Health and Safety 
at Work, etc Act 1974 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery), Assistant 
Director (Housing) 

   
2.5.25
6 

To provide general legal representation on 
behalf of Inspectors appointed by the 
Council in relation to matters covered by 
the Health and Safety at Work, etc Act 
1974 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
2.5.26
7 

To transfer or assign responsibility for 
enforcement of the Health and Safety at 
Work etc Act 1974 to or from the Health 
and Safety Executive in cases where the 
responsibility is uncertain or where one 
authority is more appropriate for 
enforcement. 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 

   
Tattooing/Acupuncture/Piercing/Electrolysis  
   
2.5.27
8 

To register persons carrying on the 
practice of acupuncture, or the business of 
tattooing, piercing, or electrolysis, and 
their premises (SS.14 & 15 Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982)  

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
2.5.28
9 
 
 
 
 
2.5.29
30 

To authorise the institution of proceedings 
for offences under s.16 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982 
 
To authorise officers to inspect premises 
under s.17 Local Government (Misc 
Provisions) Act 1982 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 
 
 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services Corporate and 
Contracted Services), 
Assistant Director 
(Housing), Group 
Manager (Strategic 
Housing) 

   
  
   
2.5.30
1 

To authorise the administration of formal 
cautions in appropriate circumstances 
 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services, Head of 
Legal and Democratic 

Page 539



 

 75 

Services Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

Highways (Provision of services, amenities, etc)  
   
2.5.31
2 

To grant permission for provision, etc of 
services, amenities, recreation and 
refreshment facilities on a highway, and 
related powers. (Sections 115E, 115F and 
115K of the Highways Act 1980) 

Assistant Director 
(Planning), 
Development & 
Regeneration) 

   
2.5.32
3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5.33
4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5.34
5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5.35
6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5.36
7 
 
 

To publish notice in respect of proposal to 
grant permission under Section 115E of 
the Highways Act 1980 (Section 115G 
Highways Act 1980) 
 
Licensing Act 2003 
 
To make representations on behalf of the 
licensing authority in its capacity as a 
responsible authority in respect of 
applications under sections 17, 29, 34, 
41A, 51, 53A, 71, 84, 86A, 87 or 167 of 
the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
To apply for the review of a premises 
licence under section 51 of the Licensing 
Act 2003 on behalf of the licensing 
authority in its capacity as a responsible 
authority, and make appropriate 
supporting representations at the resulting 
committee hearing. 
 
To apply for the review of a club premises 
certificate under section 87 of the 
Licensing Act 2003 on behalf of the 
licensing authority in its capacity as a 
responsible authority, and make 
appropriate supporting representations at 
the resulting committee hearing 
 
Gambling Act 2005 
 
To make representations on behalf of the 
licensing authority in its capacity as a 
responsible authority in respect of 
applications under sections 159, 187, 188, 
195, 197, 200 or 204 of the Gambling Act 
2005. 
 
To apply for the review of a premises 

Assistant Director 
(Planning), 
Development & 
Regeneration) 
 
 
 
Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services 
 
 
 

 
Assistant Director 
((Legal and 
Democratic Services), 
Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 
 
 
 
 

 
Assistant Director 
((Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

 
 
 
 

Page 540



 

 76 

 
 
 
 
2.5.37
8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5.38
9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

licence under section 197 of the Gambling 
Act 2005 on behalf of the licensing 
authority in its capacity as a responsible 
authority, and make appropriate 
supporting representations at the resulting 
committee hearing. 
 
To initiate reviews of premises licences of 
a particular class under section 201 of the 
Gambling Act 2005 on behalf of the 
licensing authority, and make appropriate 
supporting representations at the resulting 
committee hearing(s). 
 

 
 
 
Assistant Director 
((Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

 
 
 
 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

 
 
 
 
 

Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic 
Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
Services (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

 
  

2.6  Delegation to the Licensing and Health and Safety 
Enforcement Sub-Committee: 

 
2.6.1. The Licensing and Health and Safety Enforcement Committee 

has appointed a Sub-Committee comprised of 7 members which 
shall meet in accordance with the cycle of meetings approved 
annually by the Council or when summoned by the Assistant 
Director (Corporate and Contracted Services) to deal with matters 
specified on the agenda. 

 
2.6.2 Terms of reference 

 
To carry out any of the functions relating to the determination of 
applications, the conditions applied to authorisations, or 
exemptions from the Council’s standard policies, which may 
otherwise be carried out by the Licensing and Health and Safety 
Enforcement Committee, except for those functions otherwise 
delegated to the Licensing of Alcohol and Gambling Sub 

Page 541



 

 77 

Committee, contained within the Licensing Act 2003 and the 
Gambling Act 2005. 
 

2.7 Delegation to the Licensing of Alcohol and Gambling Sub-
Committee 

 
2.7.1 The Licensing of Alcohol and Gambling Sub-Committee is an ad 

hoc Sub-Committee with a membership of 3 members chosen 
from the 12 members of the full Committee and summoned by the 
Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted Services) to deal 
with the licensing matters specified on the Agenda.  A meeting of 
the Sub-Committee shall not be quorate if less than three 
members are present. 

 
2.7.2 The Sub-Committee shall have the delegated power from the full 

Committee to deal with the following licensing matters, and in all 
cases the Sub Committee may take any of the steps for the 
determination of those matters as may be set out in the relevant 
legislative provisions so indicated: 

 
 Licensing Act 2003 

  
2.7.3 Determination of an application for a premises licence where 

relevant representations have been made and not withdrawn 
(s.18). 

 
2.7.4 Determination of an application for a provisional statement where 

relevant representations have been made and not withdrawn 
(s.31) 

  
  

2.7.5 Determination of an application to vary a premises licence where 
relevant representations have been made and not withdrawn 
(s.35) 

  
 

2.7.6 Determination of an application to specify a designated premises 
supervisor on a premises licence where an objection notice has 
been given and not withdrawn (s.39) 

 
2.7.7 Determination of an application to transfer a premises licence 

where an objection notice has been given and not withdrawn 
(s.44) 

 
 

2.7.8 Cancellation of an interim authority notice where an objection 
notice has been given and not withdrawn (s.48) 

 
2.7.9 Determination of an application for review of a premises licence 

(s.52) 

Page 542



 

 78 

 
2.7.10 Determination of an application for summary review of a 

premises licence (s.53C), and setting of interim steps pending 
review (s.53B) 

  
2.7.11 Determination of application for a club premises certificate where 

relevant representations have been made and not withdrawn 
(s.72) 

  
2.7.12 Determination of application to vary a club premises certificate 

where relevant representations have been made and not 
withdrawn (s.85) 

 
2.7.13 Determination of an application for review of a club premises certificate 

(s.88) 
 

2.7.14 Issue of a counter-notice following an objection to a standard 
temporary event notice (s.105) 

 
2.7.15 Imposition of conditions on a standard temporary event notice 

following an objection (s.106A) 
 
2.7.16 Determination of application for grant of a personal licence, 

where an objection notice has been given and not withdrawn 
(s.120) 

 
2.7.17 Determination of application for renewal of a personal licence, 

where an objection notice has been given and not withdrawn 
(s.121) 

 
2.7.18 Consideration of convictions coming to light after grant or 

renewal of a personal licence, where an objection notice has 
been given and not withdrawn (s.124) 

 
2.7.19 Determination of a review of a premises licence following a 

closure order and magistrates’ court notification (s.167) 
 
2.7.20 Imposition of restrictions on dancing and live music, on review of 

a premises licence or club premises certificate (s.177, s.177A) 
 
2.7.21 Decision to make representation when the authority is consulted 

on a premises licence application by a neighbouring licensing 
authority 

   
    
  Gambling Act 2005  

  
2.7.22 Determination of application for a premises licence where 

representations have been made and not withdrawn, or 
where it is proposed to attach an additional condition or 

Page 543



 

 79 

exclude a default condition (s.163, s. 169) 
  
2.7.23 Determination of application to vary a premises licence 

where representations have been made and not withdrawn, 
or where it is proposed to attach an additional condition or 
exclude a default condition (s.187) 

  
2.7.24 Determination of application to transfer a premises licence 

where representations have been made and not withdrawn, 
or where it is proposed to attach an additional condition or 
exclude a default condition (s.188) 

  
2.7.25 Determination of application to reinstate a premises licence 

where representations have been made and not withdrawn, 
or where it is proposed to attach an additional condition or 
exclude a default condition (s.195) 

  
2.7.26 Determination of a review of a premises licence (s.201) 
  
2.7.27 Determination of application for a provisional statement 

where representations have been made and not withdrawn, 
or where it is proposed to attach an additional condition or 
exclude a default condition (s.204) 

  
2.7.28 Issue of counter-notice following receipt of a notice of 

objection in respect of a temporary use notice (s.224) 
  
2.7.29 Dismissal of objections given in respect of temporary use 

notices (s.225) 
  
2.7.30 Refusal of application for a family entertainment centre 

gaming machine permit, or for renewal of an existing permit 
(Sched. 10) 

  
2.7.31 Refusal of application for registration for the promotion of 

small society lotteries, or revocation of registration (Sched. 
11, part 5) 

  
2.7.32 Determination of applications for a club machine permit or 

club gaming permit, where objections have been made and 
not withdrawn, or consideration of the cancellation of 
permits (Sched. 12) 

  
2.7.33 Refusal of application for a licensed premises gaming 

machine permit, grant for lesser/lower number of machines 
than requested, or cancellation or variation of permit 
(Sched. 13) 

  
2.7.34 Refusal of transfer of licensed premises gaming machine 

permit (by virtue of refusal of an application for transfer of an 

Page 544



 

 80 

alcohol licence) 
  
2.7.35 Refusal of application for a prize gaming permit, or for 

renewal of an existing permit (Sched. 14) 
   

 
2.8 DELEGATION TO OFFICERS FROM LICENSING OF 

ALCOHOL AND GAMBLING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

Licensing Act 2003 
 
 MATTER TO BE DEALT WITH TO WHOM DELEGATED 
 
2.8.1 

 
Application for a personal licence where 
no police objection is made and the 
applicant has no unspent convictions 

 
Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic 
Services)Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
2.8.2 Application for a premises licence/club 

premises certificate where there are no 
relevant representations made 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
2.8.3 Application for a provisional statement 

(where premises being built, etc) where 
there are no relevant representations 
made 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
2.8.4 Application to vary a premises 

licence/club premises certificate where 
there are no relevant representations 
made 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
2.8.3 Application for a provisional statement 

(where premises being built, etc) where 
there are no relevant representations 
made 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

2.8.5 Application to vary designated premises 
supervisor where there is no police 
objection 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
2.8.6 Request to be removed as designated 

premises supervisor 
Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
2.8.7 Application for a transfer of a premises 

licence where there is no police 
objection 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 

Page 545



 

 81 

Contracted Services) 
   
2.8.8 Applications for an interim authority 

where there is no police objection 
Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
2.8.9 A decision on whether a complaint is 

irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious, etc 
Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
Rights of Entry for the following purposes 
   
2.8.10 The inspection of premises before the 

grant, variation or review of a licence or 
a provisional statement 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
2.8.11 To investigate whether a licensable 

activity is being carried on in 
accordance with an authorisation 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
2.8.12 To assess the likely effect of a 

temporary event notice on the 
promotion of the crime prevention 
objective in the Council’s Licensing 
Policy 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
Authorised persons 
   
2.8.13 
 
 
 
 
 

To act as ‘authorised persons’ for the 
purposes of the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
 
 
. 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 
together with any one or 
more of his/her staff who 
he/she so authorises 
 

 
 
Gambling Act 2005  

 
 MATTER TO BE DEALT WITH 

 
TO WHOM DELEGATED 

2.8.14 Application for premises licence where 
no representations received/ 
representations have been withdrawn. 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and Contracted 
Services) 

Page 546



 

 82 

   

2.8.15 Application for a variation to a licence 
where no representations received/ 
representations have been withdrawn. 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and Contracted 
Services) 

   

2.8.16 Application for a transfer of a licence 
where no representations received from 
the Gambling Commission. 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and Contracted 
Services) 

   

2.8.17 Application for a provisional statement 
where no representations received/ 
representations have been withdrawn. 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and Contracted 
Services) 

   

2.8.18 Application for club gaming/club 
machine permits where no objections 
made/objections have been withdrawn 

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and Contracted 
Services) 

   

2.8.19 Applications for other permits Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and Contracted 
Services) 

 
2.8.20 

 
Cancellation of licensed premises 
gaming machine permits 

 
Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and Contracted 
Services) 

   
2.8.21 Consideration of temporary use notice Assistant Director (Legal 

and Democratic Services 
Corporate and Contracted 
Services) 

   
2.8.22 
 

Fee setting (when appropriate) 
 
  

Assistant Director (Legal 
and Democratic Services 
Corporate and Contracted 
Services) 

2.9 The Appeals and Reviews Committee 
 

2.9.1 The Appeals and Reviews Committee is an ad hoc 
committee with a membership of 5 members of the Council 
chosen from a pool of Members appointed by the Council 
who have received appropriate training and summoned by 
the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted Services) 
to deal with matters specified on the Agenda. 

 

2.9.2 Terms of Reference 
 

Page 547



 

 83 

 The function of the Appeals and Reviews Committee is to 
hear and determine all appeals and reviews with regards to 
any decision made by or on behalf of the Council in 
relation to the following matters: 

  
(i) The determination of appeals brought by employees 

against dismissals resulting from redundancy, 
misconduct, ill-health and capability. 

 
 

(ii) To consider any objections and representations that 
have been duly made, in respect of a Tree 
Preservation Order and to confirm or modify any 
such Order. 

 

(iii) The determination of appeals against decisions 
made in relation to discretionary rate relief. 

 
2.10 Audit Committee 
 

2.10.1 Shall comprise of 6 members of the Council.  
 
2.10.2 The Audit Committee shall meet a minimum of 4 times a year and 

in accordance with the cycle of meetings approved annually by 
the Council. 

 
2.10.3 Terms of Reference 

 
 The functions of the Audit Committee shall be to exercise the audit 

powers of the Council in relation to: 
 
External Audit: 
 
(i) To consider the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report and 

opinion, and a summary of Internal Audit activity (actual and 
proposed) and the level of assurance it can give over the 
Council’s governance arrangements. 

 
(ii) To consider summaries of specific Internal Audit reports as 

requested. 
 
(iii) To consider reports dealing with the management and 

performance of the providers of Internal Audit Services. 
 
(iv) To consider a report from Internal Audit on agreed 

recommendations not implemented within a reasonable 
timescale. 

 
(v) To consider the External Auditor’s Annual Letter, relevant reports, 

and the report to those charged with governance. 
 

Page 548



 

 84 

(vi) To consider specific reports as agreed with the External Auditor 
 
(vii) To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and 

to ensure it gives value for money. 
 
(viii) To liaise with the Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA 

LTD)Audit Commission over the appointment of the Council’s 
external auditor. 

 
(ix) To commission work from Internal and External Audit. 

 
Regulatory Framework: 
 
(x) To maintain an overview of the Council’s Constitution in respect 

of contract procedure rules, financial regulations and codes of 
conduct and behaviour. 

 
(xi) To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive or a 

Chief Finance Officer, Strategic Corporate DDirector, or any 
Council body. 

 
(xii) To monitor the Ggovernance and Risk arrangements within the 

Council. 
 
(xiii) To monitor council policies on ‘Raising Concerns at Work’ and 

‘Anti-fraud and corruption’. 
 
(xiv) To oversee the production of the Council’s Annual Governance 

Statement and to formally agree it. 
 
(xv) The Council’s arrangements for governance and agreeing necessary 

actions to ensure compliance with best practice. 
 
(xvi) The Council’s compliance with any relevant legislation and its own 

and other published, policies  standards and controls. 
 
 
Accounts 
 
(xvii) To review and approve the annual statement of accounts. 

Specifically to consider whether appropriate accounting policies have 
been followed and whether there are concerns arising from the 
financial statements or from the audit. 

 
(xviii) To consider the External Auditor’s report to those charged with 

governance on issues arising from the audit of the accounts. 
 
Support 
 

Page 549



 

 85 

(xix) In order that the Audit Committee can exercise its audit powers 
properly it may require any senior officer to attend before the Audit 
Committee to answer questions within their remit and it is the duty of 
those persons to attend if so required”. 

 

3. RESPONSIBILITY FOR EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS 
 

3.1 Executive functions are grouped together in the form of ‘Cabinet 
Portfolios’, the number and scope of which are agreed by the  
Leader. 

3.2 The Leader may discharge any of those executive functions 
which are the responsibility of the Leader and Cabinet, or may 
arrange for the discharge of any of those functions by the 
Cabinet, by another member of the Cabinet, by a committee of 
the Cabinet, or by an officer of the Council.   

3.3 The Leader is responsible for allocating responsibility for the  
Cabinet Portfolios among the individual members of the Cabinet.  
The Leader will allocate the Cabinet Portfolios on an annual 
basis.  The table at Schedule 1 below sets out which Cabinet 
Member is currently responsible for each particular Portfolio.  
Schedule 1 also shows the relevant Directorate(s) in respect of 
each Portfolio. 

3.4 The delegation of executive functions from the Leader and 
Cabinet to Chief Officers is set out in Schedule 2. 

3.5 The onward delegation of executive functions from Chief Officers 
to other officers is set out in Schedule 3. 

 

3.6 If or to the extent that the functions which are the responsibility of 
the Leader and Cabinet are not allocated under Schedule 1, the 
Leader  may discharge any of those functions or may arrange for 
their discharge by the Cabinet collectively, or by a committee of 
the Cabinet, or by an individual Cabinet Member or by an officer 
of the Council. 

 

3.7 Any function allocated under Schedule 1 to an individual Cabinet 
Member may, during the absence of that Cabinet Member, or 
during his or her inability to act for any other reason, or during the 
vacancy of that Cabinet position, be exercised by the Leader.

Page 550



 

 86 

CABINET PORTFOLIOS AND DIRECTORATES 
SCHEDULE 1 

 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITIES OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY LEAD OFFICERS 

Commercial Strategy and Delivery Corporate and 
Contracted Services  

  

Cllr Andrew Williams 
 
Commercial Strategy and Programme 
Corporate Project Delivery 
Procurement 
Contract Management 
Parking Services 
Garage Management 
 

 ICT 

 Performance & Project Management 

 Democratic Services/Corporate Support 

 Legal 

 Licensing 
 

 Procurement/Contract of Services  

 Facilities Management Contract 

 Car parking Contract 

 Leisure Management Contract 

Principally:  Finance & Resources 
 
 
Performance Board 
 
Licensing Committee 
 
 
Standards Committee 

Strategic Director, Corporate and 
Commercial Services 
Head of Commercial Development 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
AD PERFORMANCE, PEOPLE & 
INNOVATION 
AD PERFORMANCE, PEOPLE & 
INNOVATION 
AD CORPORATE AND 
CONTRACTED SERVICES 

   
   
   
   
   

   
   

P
age 551



 

 87 

   
   
   

 
 
 
 
 
 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITIES OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY LEAD OFFICERS 

Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services Finance & 
Resources: 

  

   
Cllr GRAEME ELLIOTT 
 
Corporate Services 
Financial Services 
Revenues and Benefits 
Legal and Democratic Services 
 
People and Transformation 
People (HR, OD and Equality and Diversity) 
Digital 
Transformation 
Performance and complaints 
CSU 
Project Management Office 
Corporate Governance 
Communications and Engagement 

Principally FINANCE & 
RESOURCES 

      Audit Committee 
Standards Committee  
Licensing Committee  

CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(FINANCE AND OPERATIONS)  

Strategic Director (Corporate and 
Commercial Services) 
Strategic Director (People & 
Transformation) 
 
Chief Finance Officer 
AD Legal and Democratic Services 
AD People 
Head of Digital 
Head of Comms and Engagement 
Head of Transformation 

 Financial Services 

 Payroll 

 Insurance 

 Audit 

       AD FINANCE & RESOURCES 

P
age 552



 

 88 

 Income/Payments 

 Accountancy 

 Commercial Assets & 

 Property Development 

 Sustainability 

 Fraud 

 Council Tax 

 Benefits 

 Business Rates 
   
   
   
   

   
   
   
   
   

P
age 553



 

 89 

 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITIES OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY OFFICER SUPPORT 

Portfolio Holder for Communitiesy and Regulatory  Services:   
Cllr Julie Banks  
 
Community Safety 
Community Safety Team 
Domestic abuse 
CCTV 
Problematic Places Group 
 
Environmental Protection 
Corporate Health Safety and Resilience 
Environmental Health 
Operations and Public Health 
 
Communities 
Community Partnerships 
Events 
Arts and Culture 
Adventure Playgrounds 
 
Cllr JULIE BANKS 
 

 Community Partnerships 

 Communications 

 Customer Services 

 Children Services 

 Arts & Entertainment 

 Neighbourhood Action 

 CSP/Safeguarding 

 Community Protection 

Principally HOUSING & 
COMMUNITY OSC 

Deputy Chief Executive (Resident 
Services) 
Strategic Director (Place) 
 
AD Neighbourhood Delivery 
AD Place, Communities & Enterprise 
Head of Communications and 
Engagement 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR (FINANCE & 
OPERATIONS) 
AD NEIGHBOURHOOD DELIVERY 
AD PERFORMANCE, PEOPLE & 
INNOVATION 
 
 

P
age 554



 

 90 

 Civil Contingencies 

 Business Continuity Planning 

 Food Safety 

 Health & Safety 

 Anti Social Behaviour 

 Human Resources 

  
   
   
   

P
age 555



 

 91 

 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBLITIES OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY OFFICER SUPPORT 

Portfolio Holder for Housing Services:   
   

Cllr Margaret Griffiths ARGARET GRIFFITHS 
 
Housing Management 
Engagement 
Income Management 
Supported Housing 
Tenancy Sustainment 
Tenant and Leaseholder Services 
 
Housing Property Services 
Compliance 
Housing Asset Management 
Planned and Adaptations 
Cleaning Services 
Responsive repairs and key to key services 
Service Charge/Leasehold Management 
 
Strategic Housing 
Homeless Prevention 
Housing Needs 
Private Sector Housing 
Strategic Housing 
Housing supply 
Stock Review process 
Estate Regeneration 
Housing Performance & Complaints 
 

Principally, HOUSING & 
COMMUNITY 

Deputy Chief Executive (Resident 
Services) 
 
 
 
Assistant Director  (Strategic Housing) 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations) CORPORATE 
DIRECTOR (HOUSING & 
REGENERATION) 

   

        AD HOUSING 

P
age 556



 

 92 

 Landlord/Tenant Relationships 

 Housing Rents 

 Tenancy Management 

 Garage Management 

 Supporting People 

 Tenancy Sustainment Team 

 Housing Asset Management 

 Responsive Repairs 

 Planned Maintenance 

 Cleaning Service 

 Aids and Adaptations 

 Housing Maintenance re 

     Procurement Project 

 Empty Homes 

 Disabled Facilities Grants 

 Housing Advice & Options 

 Housing Allocations & Lettings 

 Housing Engagement Strategy 
   & Policy 

 Private Sector Housing 

 Enforcement Protection & Housing 

 Housing Development 

 Council New Build 

 Affordable Housing Enabling  

P
age 557



 

 93 

 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITIES OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY  OFFICER SUPPORT 

   
Portfolio Holder for Place Environmental Services     
   
Cllr AlanLAN AndersonNDERSON 
Planning 
Development Management   
Land Charges 
Planning Enforcement 
Strategic Planning 
Infrastructure/ Developer Contributions 
 
Place & Enterprise 
Inward Investment 
Economic Growth 
Place Strategies  
 
Property Services 
Valuation and Estates 
Building Services and Facilities Management 
Community Assets 
Regeneration Property function 
 
Development Services 
Housing development 
Capital project delivery 
 
Partnership Programmes 
Hemel Garden Communities 
SW Herts JSP  
 

Principally,  STRATEGIC 
PLANNING & ENVIRONMENT 

Strategic Director (Place) 
 
Assistant Director  (Planning) 
Asistant Director  (Place, Communities 
& Enterprise) 
Hemel Place Manager 
Head of Property Services 
Head of Development 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR (FINANCE 
& OPERATIONS) 

   

P
age 558



 

 94 

Waste Collection and recycling  AD NEIGHBOURHOOD DELIVERY 
Clean, Safe and Green 

 Commercial Waste  

 Vehicle Repair 

 Trees and Woodland 

  

   
   
   
   
   

   
   
   

P
age 559



 

 95 

 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITIES OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY OFFICER SUPPORT 
   

Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhood Services   Planning & 
Infrastructure 

  

Cllr Graham Barrett 
 
Environmental Services 
Clean Safe and Green 
Parks and Open Spaces 
Trees and Woodlands 
Fleet Services 
Waste Transformation 
Depot Services 
Refuse and Recycling 
Cemeteries and Bereavement services 
 

Principally, STRATEGIC PLANNING & 
ENVIRONMENT 

Deputy Chief Executive (Resident 
Services)  
 
Assistant Director  (Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 
 
 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(HOUSING & REGENERATION) 

   

 Development Management 

 Building Control 

 Planning Enforcement 

 Land Charges 

 Conservation 

 Strategic Planning 

 Economic Development 

 AD PLANNING & REGENERATION 

P
age 560



 

 96 

 Town Centre Management 

   

   

 

 
 

P
age 561



 

 97 

 
SCHEDULE 2 

 
SCHEME OF DELEGATION FROM THE CABINET TO CHIEF OFFICERS 

 
 

PART 1 
 

Overall Basis 
 
1.1 In relation to delegation of powers and duties generally the Council has 

approved, as part of its Executive Arrangements, the following broad 
principles for determining the distribution of decisions within the 
Council’s political management structure: 

 
(i) Major strategic/policy decisions and regulatory issues (e.g. 

development control and licensing) are made or dealt with by full 
Council or a Committee of the Council. 

 
(ii) Strategic/policy issues are dealt with by full Cabinet. 
 
(iii) Major operational issues are dealt with by individual Cabinet 

Members. 
 
(iv) Straightforward operational issues are dealt with by officers at an 

appropriate level of seniority. 
 
(v) Matters for information only should be distributed to all Members 

via a separate regular information bulletin (including performance 
management information). 

 
1.2 This Scheme delegates the functions of the Cabinet to officers and 

should be interpreted widely rather than narrowly. 
 
1.3 This Scheme delegates powers and duties within broad functional 

descriptions and includes powers and duties under all legislation present 
and future within those descriptions and all powers and duties incidental 
to that legislation, including appointment and dismissal of staff and 
authorising the affixing of the Common Seal. 

 
1.4 This Scheme operates under the Local Government Act 2000 (“the Act”) 

and all other powers enabling the Council. 
 
1.5 None of the provisions contained in this Scheme which delegates the 

exercise of powers or duties to officers prevent the Cabinet from 
exercising those powers or duties. 

 
1.6 This Scheme can be amended, varied, temporarily amended for 

specified purposes or revoked by the Cabinet at any time. 
 

Page 562



 

 98 

Overall Limitations 
 
1.7 This Scheme does not delegate to officers: 
 

(i) Any matter which is not the responsibility of the Cabinet by virtue 
of the Act, any Regulations made thereunder or the Executive 
Arrangements adopted by the Council. 

 
(ii) The power to make new policy or amend any policy which has 

been adopted by the Council or the Cabinet. 
 
(iii) The power to exceed the provision of capital and revenue 

budgets for their services except insofar as authorised by the 
Council’s Financial Regulations or Procurement Standing Orders.  

 
(iv) Any other matter which is specifically excluded in this Scheme. 
 

1.8 Officers shall exercise delegated powers in accordance with: 
 

(i) The provisions of legislation, in particular the requirements of the 
Act and Regulations made thereunder in respect of the taking and 
recording of Key Decisions; 

 
(ii) The provisions of the Constitution and Executive Arrangements 

adopted by the Council; 
 
(iii) The requirements of Sections 1.10-1.16 below in respect of 

consultation with Members. 
 
(iv) Policies approved by the Council or the Cabinet; 
 
(v) Instructions from the Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service. 
 

1.9 In exercising delegated powers, officers shall have regard to any report 
by the Head of the Paid Service or the Monitoring Officer under Sections 
4 and 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 or of the Chief 
Finance Officer under Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988. 

 
Consultation with Members 
 
1.10 Before taking any decision on behalf of the Council, an officer must 

consider whether to involve Members. 
 
1.11 If the matter is a straightforward operational issue (e.g. a purely routine 

technical or professional matter) which is not controversial in any way, 
Members will not need to be involved. 

 

Page 563



 

 99 

1.12 If the matter has local significance, but no general significance for the 
Council and no controversial aspects, the officer shall inform the Ward 
Member(s) in writing and proceed.  It is essential that officers ensure 
that Ward Members are kept properly informed on issues affecting 
their Wards. 

 
1.13 If the matter has general significance for the Council or is, or is likely to 

be, controversial, the officer shall consult with the relevant Cabinet 
Member before proceeding.  In some cases it will be necessary to 
consult more than one Cabinet Member, and in some cases the Leader 
will need to be consulted. 

 
1.14 Consultation may be in writing but officers must allow sufficient time for 

the consultee to respond before a decision is taken. 
 
1.15 A consultee may ask that other Members’ views be sought, including 

those of the Ward Member(s). 
 
1.16 If the Cabinet Member concurs with the officer’s proposed course of 

action, the officer may proceed. 
 
Further Provisions 
 
1.17 This Scheme includes the power for officers to further delegate in writing 

all or any of the delegated functions to other officers (described by name 
or post) either fully or under the general supervision and control of the 
delegating officers.  Sub-delegations shall be recorded in a register kept 
by the Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Corporate and 
Contracted Services). Sub-delegations may be made across strategic 
departmental boundaries and to other Councils and their officers. 

 
1.18 Wherever possible officers shall devolve responsibilities for service 

delivery and management (whether or not involving sub-delegation 
under this Scheme) to the nearest practicable point to the service user 
and in a way, which clearly identifies accountabilities. 

 
1.19 It shall always be open to an officer not to exercise his/her delegated 

powers but to refer the matter to the Cabinet for decision. 
 
1.20 In exercising delegated powers, officers shall consult with such other 

officers as they determine appropriate and shall have regard to any 
advice given. 

 
1.21 The Scheme delegates to the holder of each post named in it the 

management of the resources made available for the duties of the post 
as specified in the terms of the post-holder’s appointment. 

 

Page 564



 

 100 

PART 2 
 

Delegation to Officers of the Council 
 
2.1 This Part of the Scheme describes which functions of the Cabinet have 

been allocated to individual officers of the Council. 
 
2.2 It is important that this Part of the Scheme is read in conjunction with the 

provisions in Part 1 which set out the limitations and constraints placed 
on officers when exercising these delegated powers and duties. 

 

A. TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

(a) To be responsible for all aspects of operational management of 
the Council. 

 
(b) To authorise, after consultation with the Leader of the Council, 

twinning arrangements. 
 

(c) To incur expenditure, and grant funding to any external 
organisation or Council contractor as the Chief Executive deems 
appropriate, in the event of a civil emergency.  The Chief 
Executive will report all expenditure and funding made pursuant 
to this delegation to the next available Cabinet and Council 
meeting. 

 
(d) To manage the co-ordination of budget processes, including 

overall strategy, planning and information. 
 

(f) To approve Special Severance  payments of £20,000 and above, but 
below £100,000, subject to agreement with the Leader of the Council, 
and consultation with S.151 Officer and Monitoring Officer, and agree 
the terms of any associated Settlement Agreements. 
 

(g) To approve all early retirements and redundancies, subject to an 
assessment on Best Value and consultation with the Monitoring Officer 
and S.151, and to report on a six-monthly basis to the relevant Cabinet 
Portfolio holder on the use made of this power. 
 

(h) To approve  funding for interim resource to deliver corporate priorities 
subject to a budget being approved in accordance with the Council’s 
Financial Regulations and to report all expenditure and funding on a six-
monthly basis to the relevant Cabinet Portfolio holder on the use made 
of this power. 

(f)(i)  
 
(fe) All operational matters in relation to civil aid and emergency 

planning. 
 
(g) In cases of urgency, after consultation with the Leader of the Council 

and the relevant Cabinet Member, to take any decision which could 
be taken by the Cabinet. 

 

Page 565



 

 101 

The functions of the Cabinet in relation to operational matters falling within the 
Chief Executive’s Unit and Performance & Projects as shown in the table below 

 

Chief Executive’s Unit 
 
Legal Governance 
 

 Legal 

 Freedom of Information 

 Data Protection 

 Information Security 

 Ethics and Standards 

 Licensing 
 
Democratic Services/Corporate 
Support  
 

 Elections & Electoral 
Registration 

 Member Support & 
Development 

 Town & Parish Liaison 

 Corporate Support 
 

People 
 

 Partners 

 Communications & 
Consultation 

 Community Engagement 

 Website Content 

 Customer Service 
Profiling 

 Human Resources 
 

 Equalities 

 Organisational 
Development & Training 

 Health & Safety 

 Arts & Entertainment 
 
 

Procurement & Contracts 
 

 Procurement 

 Contracted Services 

 Facilities Management 

 Closed Circuit Television 
 
 
 

Performance & Projects 
 

 Performance 

 Projects 

 Dacorum Anywhere 

 Corporate Complaints  
 
Information, Communications 
& Technology 
 

 ICT Architecture 

 ICT Networks 

 ICT Helpdesk 

 Data Storage 

 Website Architecture 

Page 566



 

 102 

 

 
 
Note: The Chief Executive is Head of Paid Service. 

 

B. TO THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR (CORPORATE AND COMMERCIAL 
SERVICES)  CORPORATE DIRECTOR (FINANCE AND 
OPERATIONS)  

 

(a) To be responsible to the Council for ensuring that appropriate 
advice is given to it on all financial matters, for keeping proper 
financial records and accounts, and for maintaining an effective 
system of internal financial control. 
 

(b)(a) The functions of the Cabinet in relation to operational matters 
falling within the Corporate and Commercial Services) Finance 
and Operations Directorate as shown in the table below 
 
Commercial  
Commercial Strategy and 
Programme 
Corporate Project Delivery 
Procurement 
Contract Management 
Parking Services 
Garage Management 
Neighbourhood Delivery 
 

Corporate 
Financial Services 
Revenues  and Benefis 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Elections and Electoral registration 
Licensing  

Finance & Resources 
 
 

Environmental Services Financial Services: 
  
Waste & Recycling Financial Services 
Clean, Safe & Green Accounting 
Resident Services Payroll 
 Transactional Human 

Resources 
Children & Youth Services Corporate Risk 
Community Cohesion 

 Neighbourhood Action 

 Anti-Social Behaviour 

Treasury Management 
           Commercial Assets &       
           Property Development 

Town Centre Management Commercial Property 
 Civil Buildings 
Regulatory Services Assets & Facilities Management 
Civil Contingencies Car Parks 
Business Continuity Planning 

 Environmental Health 
 

Cemeteries 
 
Revenues, Benefits & Fraud 

  
 Revenues 
 Benefits 
 Fraud 
  

 

(b) Except for: 
 

Page 567



 

 103 

(i) Grants to external organisations of above £2,000 per 
annum. 

 

(ii) Any relevant income and charging strategies. 
 

(iii) Major restructuring proposals. 
 

(c) To make recommendations on the above service areas as 
follows: 

 

(i) On major operational decisions – to the relevant individual 
Cabinet Member. 

 

(ii) On strategic or policy issues – to the Cabinet. 
 
(ii) On major strategic issues – to the Council. 

 
 To manage the Council’s banking arrangements. 

 
(d) To manage the Council’s Borrowing and Lending Portfolio. 

 
(d) To implement national and local pay awards and increase 

payments under the Pension Increase Acts. 
 

(d) To manage the Council’s insurance arrangements. 
 

(d) To manage the Council’s Leased Car and Car Loan Scheme. 
 

(d) To agree the writing-off of debts of any value where the debtor 
has gone into liquidation or bankruptcy 

 
(d) To review, in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder, the 

monetary value thresholds for accepting credit card payments 
and where commission charges may be added to service costs 
for non-statutory services. 

 
(d) To set and monitor the Internal Audit Programme 
 

 
Note: The Corporate Director (Finance and Operations) is the Council’s 
S.151 Officer. 

 
C. TO THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (RESIDENT SERVICES) 

CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND REGENERATION)  
(a) The functions of the Cabinet in relation to operational matters 

falling within the Resident Services Housing and Regeneration 
Directorate, as shown in the table below. 

 

Planning, Development and 
Regeneration 
Environmental Services 
Clean Safe and Green 
Parks and Open Spaces 
Trees and Woodlands 

Housing  
Housing Management 
Engagement 
Income Management 
Supported Housing 
Tenancy Sustainment 

Page 568



 

 104 

Fleet Services 
Waste Transformation 
Depot Services 
Refuse and Recycling 
Cemeteries and Bereavement 
services 
 
Community Safety 
Community Safety Team 
Domestic abuse 
CCTV 
Problematic Places Group 
 
Environmental Protection 
Corporate Health Safety and 
Resilience 
Environmental Health 
Operations and Public Health 
 
 

 

Tenant and Leaseholder 
Services 
 
Housing Property Services 
Compliance 
Housing Asset Management 
Planned and Adaptations 
Cleaning Services 
Responsive repairs and key to 
key services 
Service Charge/Leasehold 
Management 
 
Strategic Housing 
Homeless Prevention 
Temporary Accomodation 
Housing Needs 
Private Sector Housing 
Strategic Housing 
Housing supply 
Stock Review process 
Estate Regeneration 
Housing Performance & 
Complaints 

  
  
Development Management & 
Planning: 

Tenants and Leaseholders: 

  
Development Management Landlord & Tenant 

Relationship 
Building Control  Garage Management 
Local Land Charges Supporting People 
  
Strategic Planning & 
Regeneration: 

Property & Place: 

  
Economic Development Housing Asset Management 
Neighbourhood Renewal Responsive Repairs 
Spatial Planning Planned Housing 

Maintenance 
Town Centre Management Cleaning Service 
Life Long Learning  

 Community Infrastructure 
Levy 

Aids & Adaptations (Council 
homes) 

  
 Strategic Housing: 
  

 Housing Options 
 Housing Enabling 
 Housing Strategy 
 Private Sector Strategy 

 Private Sector Housing 

 Except for: 

Page 569



 

 105 

 
(i) Grants to external organisations of above £2,000 per 

annum. 
 
(ii) Any relevant income and charging strategies. 
 
(iii) Major restructuring proposals. 
 

(b) To make recommendations on the above service areas as 
follows: 

 
(i) On major operational decisions – to the relevant individual 

Cabinet Member. 
 
(ii) On strategic or policy issues – to the Cabinet. 
 
(iii) (iii) On major strategic issues – to the Council. 

 
D. TO THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR (PLACE)  

(a) The functions of the Cabinet in relation to operational matters 
falling within the Place Directorate, as shown in the table below. 

 

 
 
Property Services 
Valuation and Estates 
Building Services and Facilities 
Management 
Community Assets 
Regeneration Property function 
 
Development Services 
Housing development 
Capital project delivery 
 
Partnership Programmes 
Hemel Garden Communities 
SW Herts Joint Strategic Plan 
 
Communities 
Community Partnerships 
Arts and Culture 
Adventure Playgrounds 

 

 
Planning 
 
Development Management   
Land Charges 
Planning Enforcement 
Strategic Planning 
Infrastructure/ Developer 
Contributions 
 
Place & Enterprise 
Inward Investment 
Economic Growth 
Place Strategies  
 

 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 : 
  
  

Page 570



 

 106 

  
  
  

   

  
  
  

  
  
  
   

 Except for: 
 

(i) Grants to external organisations of above £2,000 per 
annum. 

 
(ii) Any relevant income and charging strategies. 
 
(iii) Major restructuring proposals. 
 

(b) To make recommendations on the above service areas as 
follows: 

 
(i) On major operational decisions – to the relevant individual 

Cabinet Member. 
 
(ii) On strategic or policy issues – to the Cabinet. 
 
(iv) On major strategic issues – to the Council. 

 
(c)  Development Plan Documents 
 

To respond on behalf of the Council to any representations made 
in respect of the Core Strategy or a Development Plan Document 
which has been submitted to the Secretary of State, except that, 
the Leader of the Council shall be responsible for responding on 
behalf of the Council where there are major planning policy issues 
involved and/or major changes to a Development Plan Document 
are being suggested by officers. 
 

(d) Strategic Environmental Assessments 
 

To make determinations on behalf of the Council as local 
planning authority as required under regulation 9 of the 
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004 as to whether or not a plan, programme or 
modification of a description referred to therein is likely to have 
significant environmental effects.   
 
The Staretgic Director (Place) will be responsible: 
 

Page 571



 

 107 

(i) To initiate apply and/or act in relation to the provisions of 
the Derelict Land Act 1982. 

 
(ii) To commission, initiate and/or review ground stabilisation 

works as are necessary in relation to Council land and/or 
its statutory or public obligations. 

 
 
E. TO THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR (PEOPLE AND 

TRANSFORMATION)  
(a) The functions of the Cabinet in relation to operational matters 

falling within the People and Transformation  Directorate, as 
shown in the table below. 

 

 
 

 

People and Transformation 
People (Human Resources, 
Occupational Development and 
Equality and Diversity) 
Digital Transformation 
Performance  
Customer Services Unit 
Project Management Office 
Corporate Governance 
Communications and 
Engagement 
Events 

 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 : 
  
  
  
  
  

   

  
  
  

  
  
  
   

 Except for: 
 

(i) Grants to external organisations of above £2,000 per 
annum. 

 

Page 572



 

 108 

(ii) Any relevant income and charging strategies. 
 
(iii) Major restructuring proposals. 
 

(b) To make recommendations on the above service areas as 
follows: 

 
(i) On major operational decisions – to the relevant individual 

Cabinet Member. 
 
(ii) On strategic or policy issues – to the Cabinet. 
 
(v) On major strategic issues – to the Council. 

 
 

(c)  Development Plan Documents 
 

To respond on behalf of the Council to any representations made 
in respect of the Core Strategy or a Development Plan Document 
which has been submitted to the Secretary of State, except that, 
the Leader of the Council shall be responsible for responding on 
behalf of the Council where there are major planning policy issues 
involved and/or major changes to a Development Plan Document 
are being suggested by officers. 
 

(c) Strategic Environmental Assessments 
 

To make determinations on behalf of the Council as local 
planning authority as required under regulation 9 of the 
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 
Regulations 2004 as to whether or not a plan, programme or 
modification of a description referred to therein is likely to have 
significant environmental effects.   
 
The Corporate Director (Housing & Regeneration) will be 
responsible: 
 
(i) To initiate apply and/or act in relation to the provisions of 

the Derelict Land Act 1982. 
 
(ii) To commission, initiate and/or review ground stabilisation 

works as are necessary in relation to Council land and/or 
its statutory or public obligations. 

 
 
F   TO THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 

(a) To be responsible to the Council for ensuring that appropriate advice 
is given to it on all financial matters, for keeping proper financial 
records and accounts, and for maintaining an effective system of 
internal financial control. 

(b) To manage the Council’s banking arrangements. 

Page 573



 

 109 

 
(c) To manage the Council’s Borrowing and Lending Portfolio. 

 
(d) To implement national and local pay awards and increase payments 

under the Pension Increase Acts. 
 

(e) To manage the Council’s insurance arrangements. 
 

(f) To manage the Council’s Leased Car and Car Loan Scheme. 
 

(g) To agree the writing-off of debts of any value where the debtor has 
gone into liquidation or bankruptcy 

 
(h) To review, in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder, the 

monetary value thresholds for accepting credit card payments and 
where commission charges may be added to service costs for non-
statutory services. 

 
(i) To set and monitor the Internal Audit Programme 
(a)(j)  
Note: The Chief Finance Officer is the S.151 Officer 

GD. TO THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC 
SERVICESCORPORATE AND CONTRACTED SERVICES)  

 
(a) To be responsible for ensuring that agreed procedures are 

followed and that all applicable statutes, regulations and other 
relevant statements of good practice are complied with. 

 
(b) To authorise the institution, defence, withdrawal or compromise of 

any claims or legal proceedings, civil or criminal. 
 
(c) To authorise officers of the Council to appear in the Crown and 

Magistrates Courts and County Courts. 
 
(d) To take decisions as Proper Officer of the Council except where 

legislation or this scheme names another officer and to authorise 
the making and issue of any formal documents. 

 
(e) To be the Senior Information Risk Officer for the purposes of 

compliance with the Council’s responsibilities under the Data 
Protection Act in relation to information security.   

 
(f) To be the Senior Responsible Officer for the purposes of 

compliance with the Council’s policies and procedures on the use 
of covert surveillance and the use of covert human intelligence 
sources and with the requirements of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and the Codes of Practice made 
thereunder. 

 
(g) To be the delegated person for instituting Proceeds of Crime 
 investigations under the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 on behalf of 

Page 574



 

 110 

 the Council (whilst the Council’s enforcement officers shall be 
 delegated as investigating officers). 
 
Note: the Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services) Corporate 
and Contracted Services) is the Council’s Monitoring Officer 

 
SCHEDULE 3 

 
SCHEME OF ONWARD DELEGATION FROM CHIEF OFFICERS TO OTHER 
OFFICERS 
 
A. FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
POWER OR FUNCTION TO WHOM DELEGATED 
  
1. To control the salaries and wages budget 

 
 

Each Member of Corporate 
Leadership Management Team 

   
2. 
 
 
 
3. 

To make appointments and promotions 
within the authorised establishment other 
than Chief Officer. 
 
To make temporary appointments 
additional to the authorised 
establishment. 

Each Member of Corporate 
LeadershipManagement Team 
 
 
Each Member of Corporate 
Leadership Management Team 

   
4. To suspend an employee from duty or to 

take other appropriate action in 
accordance with the approved 
procedures for conduct and capability 

Each Member of Corporate 
LeadershipManagement Team 

   
5. To dismiss an employee Each Member of Corporate 

LeadershipManagement Team 
   
6. To authorise in-service training including 

day release, study leave and financial 
assistance in accordance with national 
and local agreements 

Each Member of Corporate 
Leadership TeamAssistant 
Directors /Group Managers 

   
7. To authorise the attendance of 

employees at training courses, 
qualification courses and other 
development events 

Each Member of Corporate 
Leadership TeamAssistant 
Directors/Group Managers 

   
8. To grant special leave with pay for 

extraneous duties (e.g. acting as Justice 
of the Peace, or Jury Service) or arising 
out of the illness or death of a near 
relative 

Each Member of Corporate 
Management Leadership Team 

   
9. To grant leave of absence without pay Each Member of Corporate 

Page 575



 

 111 

Leadership Management Team 
   
10. To authorise employees, in exceptional 

circumstances, to carry forward annual 
leave from one year to the next 

Each Member of Corporate 
LeadershipManagement Team 

   
 
11. To authorise attendance by employees at 

conferences, seminars and the like 
concerning their duties 

Each Member of Corporate 
Leadership TeamAssistant 
Directors/Group Managers 

   
12. To authorise the payment of installation 

costs of telephones in the homes of 
employees where this is considered 
necessary in the performance of their 
jobs, and telephone rentals and business 
calls where justified 

 Chief Officers 

   
13. To approve bonus schemes and methods 

of remunerating employees of like effect 
subject to equal value considerations 

Strategic Leadership Corporate 
Management Team 

   
14. To authorise the granting of leave with 

pay (additional to normal entitlement) to 
employees attending annual camps 
associated with service in non-regular 
forces 

Each Member of Corporate 
LeadershipManagement Team 

   
15. To implement awards and 

recommendations in regard to salaries, 
wages and service conditions of any 
National Joint Negotiating Body 
recognised by the Council.  Such awards 
and recommendations to be reported to a 
meeting of the Cabinet 

Chief Finance OfficerCorporate 
Director (Finance & Operations) as 
to financial matters.   

   
16. To approve, or otherwise vary the 

allocation of, essential or casual user car 
allowances for posts in the authorised 
establishment 

Each Member of Corporate 
Leadership Management Team 

   
17. To approve loans to employees for the 

purchase of cars and other forms of 
transport for use on the Council’s 
business 

Each Member of Corporate 
LeadershipManagement Team in 
consultation with the Chief 
Finance OfficerCorporate 
Director (Finance & Operations) 

   
18. To authorise the payment of lodging and 

travelling home allowances; removal 
expenses allowances, within the 
Council’s approved relocation scheme 

Each Member of Corporate 
LeadershipManagement Team 

   

Page 576



 

 112 

19. To allocate service tenancies in relation 
to general fund properties to authorised 
employees 

 Strategic Director 
(Place)Corporate Director 
(Finance & Operations) 

   
20. To authorise the provision of uniforms or 

protective clothing for employees 
Each Member of Corporate 
Leadership TeamAssistant 
Directors/Group Managers 

   
21. To authorise payments in respect of 

clothing and personal items damaged 
accidentally in the course of an 
employee’s duties 

Each Member of Corporate 
Leadership  Team Assistant 
Directors/Group Managers 
 

   
22. To deal with the letting of rooms at the 

Forum, Hemel Hempstead, Berkhamsted 
Civic Centre and Victoria Hall, Tring and 
use of the foyer and forecourt areas 

 Head of Property Services 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
23. To exercise the powers of the Council to 

refuse applications for regrading from 
employees.  

Each Member of Corporate 
Leadershiprporate Management 
Team 

   
24. To approve all early retirements and 

redundancies, subject to the costs being 
accompanied by an associated saving 
which will pay all of the termination 
costs within 3 years, and to report on a 
six-monthly basis to the relevant 
Cabinet Portfolio holder on the use 
made of these powers 

 Corporate Director (Finance & 
Operations) 

   
25. To approve the redesignation of posts 

provided there are no cost implications 
Each Member of Corporate 
LeadershipManagement Team 

   
26.

8
. 

To approve the regrading of posts in the 
establishment (other than Chief 
Officers) within the overall budget 
provision and to report from time to time 
to the relevant Cabinet Portfolio holder 
on the use made of these powers. 

Chief Officers 

   
27.

0
. 

To award payment of benefits in respect 
of retirement on compassionate ground 
or any other payments permitted by 
virtue of the Local Government 
(Discretionary Payments) Regulations 
1996s (Local Government Pension 
Regulations 1997 – Regulation E2 (4)) 

Chief Officers 

   
   
28.

0
To make the maximum award permitted 
by Part 2 of the Local Government 

Chief Officers 
 

Page 577



 

 113 

. (Compensation for Redundancy) 
Regulations 1995 in all eligible cases of 
redundancy, unless there are sound and 
substantial reasons to make an 
exception. 
29.To approve Special Severance  
payments up to a value of £20,000 and 
agree the terms of any associated 
Setllement Agreements.  

 
 
 
 
Chief Officers in consultation with 
the S.151 and Monitoring Officer 

   
29.

.
0
. 

To approve all matters relating to the 
acquisition, appropriation, sale or other 
disposal of land and buildings having a 
current market value of £5,000 or less. 
 
NB: For authority to dispose of land 
valued at £500,000 and above please 
refer to the Financial Regulations, 
Annex F, Section 1 Land Disposals 
paragraph 1.c) at page 47 and to 
paragraph 1.d) for land valued at more 
than £5000 but less than £500,000.      

Strategic Director (Place) 
Corporate, Head of Property 
Services in consultation with the 
Chief Finance Officer Director 
(Finance & Operations),  
(Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
30. To exercise the powers of the Council in 

respect of the management and control 
of all general fund land and buildings 
owned by the Council. 

 Strategic Director (Place),  Head 
of Property Services Assistant 
Director (Finance & Resources) 

   
31. To exercise all the powers and duties of 

the Chief Executive in relation to the 
closure of noisy premises conferred by 
sections 40 and 41 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour Act 2003. 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery)  
subject to giving the Chief 
Executive prior notice of the 
exercise of these powers where 
reasonably practicable. 

  
32. To settle and execute, either under seal 

or under hand (as appropriate), any 
contract, agreement, lease, notice or 
document of a like nature required to 
give effect to any decision of the Council 
or of the Cabinet or any Committee or 
employee acting under delegated 
powers. 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Corporate and 
Contracted Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services  

   
33.

4
. 

To serve notices requiring information 
as to use of, operations carried out on 
and ownership or interest in property 
pursuant to any statute or statutory 
instrument. 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
34.

. 
To institute legal proceedings in relation 
to any matter contained in this Scheme, 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 

Page 578



 

 114 

at the direction of the employee having 
delegated power in that behalf 

Legal and Democratic Services 
Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
35.

6
. 

To authorise the issue of formal 
cautions in lieu of prosecutions in 
appropriate cases 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
36.

7
. 

To agree the quantum of costs awarded 
to or against the Council in the course of 
legal proceedings. 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
ServicesAssistant Director 
(Corporate and Contracted 
Services) 

   
37.

8
. 

To recover possession of any land 
(including buildings) from persons who 
have entered without the Council’s 
consent. 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
38.

9
.
0
. 

To release bonds on the completion of 
contracts 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

39.
4
0
. 

To prepare and maintain a list of 
politically restricted posts under s.2 of 
the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 and any regulations made 
thereunder 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
40. To authorise any officer of the Council 

to prosecute, defend and appear on 
behalf of the Council in proceedings 
before a magistrates’ court or a County 
Court in accordance with S.223 Local 
Government Act 1972 and S.60 County 
Court Acts 1984 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
41. To enter into contracts and/or extend 

existing contracts in respect of the 
purchase of gas and electricity supplies 
as is necessary to service the Council’s 
properties and, more generally, in terms 
of the award, extension, renewal and 
termination of such arrangements as 
are in the best interests of the Council 

StrategicCorporate Director 
(Corporate and Commercial 
Services)Finance & Operations) 
or Head of Commercial 
Development r  Assistant Director 
(Finance & Resources) 

   

Page 579



 

 115 

42. 
 
 
 
 
43 
 
 
 
 
44. 
 
 
 
45. 
 
 
 
 
 
46. 
 
 
 
 
 
47. 
 
 
 
 
48. 
 
 
 
 
 
49. 
 
 
 
 
 
50. 
 
 
 
 
 
51. 
 
. 

To purchase or lease fleet vehicles 
subject to the Capital Programme and 
Fleet Strategies in pursuance of the 
Council’s operational requirements 
 
To appoint representatives to replace 
those who resign from outside 
organisations and school governing 
bodies during the municipal year 
 
To initiate, manage and determine 
corporate contracts in accordance with 
Procurement Standing Orders 
 
To institute proceedings under S.64 (1) 
Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 against any drivers 
reported to have parked on a duly 
appointed Hackney Carriage stand 
 
To exercise all the functions, duties and 
powers of the Council contained in the 
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 or in any 
amendments thereto or in any 
secondary legislation made thereunder. 
 
To award grants of up to £5000 to 
community organisations who are 
eligible under the criteria which is 
applied in the Council’s grants process.   
 
To grant licenses for the use of land as 
a caravan site where the conditions to 
be applied follow the Council’s standard 
conditions (Caravan Sites and Control 
of Development Act 1960) 
 
To authorise the institution of legal 
proceedings for offences under the Pet 
Animals Act 1951, the Animal Boarding 
Establishments Act 1963, and the 
Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 
 
To grant licenses for the use of land as 
a caravan site where the conditions to 
be applied follow the Council’s standard 
conditions (caravan Sites and Control of 
Development Act 1960) 
 
To exercise the powers of the Council 
under section 19 of the Criminal Justice 
and Police Act 2001(closure notices)  
 

Deputy Chief Executive (Resident 
Services) Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) or  
Chief Finance Officer Assistant 
Director (Finance & Resources) 
as appropriate 
 
Assistant Director  (Legal and 
Democratic (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) in 
consultation with the relevant 
Group Leader 
Head of Commercial Development  
 
Assistant Director 
(Finance and Resources)) 
 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services 
 
 
 
Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services)Assistant 
Director Place (Communities and 
Enterprise) 
 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services 
 
 
Assistant Director 
(Performance, People and 
Innovation ) or the  
Group Manager 
(People and Performance)  
Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services 
 
 
 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 
 
 

Page 580



 

 116 

52. 
 
 
 
 

To exercise the powers of the Council 
under section 19 of the Criminal Justice 
and Police Act 2001(closure notices)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 
 

   
  

Page 581



 

 117 

B. FROM THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR CORPORATE DIRECTOR 
(CORPORATE AND COMMERCIAL SERVICESFINANCE AND 
OPERATIONS) 

 
1. To invest and raise loans in exercise of 

any borrowing authorised by the Council 
in accordance with statute, all necessary 
consents and the Voluntary Code of 
Practice for Local Authority Borrowing 

Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
2. To apply to the High Court for the 

payment to the Council of money paid 
into court under ss.76 or 85 Land 
Clauses Consolidation Act 1845 or s.9 
or Schedules 2 or 3 to the Compulsory 
Purchase Act 1965 where after twelve 
years a court has not ordered payment 
of it to anyone else 

Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
3. To make and to agree or object to 

proposals for the valuation of property 
for local taxation purposes. 

Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
4. To serve or withdraw completion notices 

in respect of newly erected buildings in 
pursuance of Paragraph 1 Schedule 4A 
to the Local Government Finance Act 
1988. 

Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
5. To administer Housing Benefit, Council 

Tax Benefit, Discretionary Housing 
Payment, Local Scheme and any 
subsequent modifications in accordance 
with statutory provisions and assess 
applications and claims in respect of 
same. 

Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
6. To grant disability allowances under the 

Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
7. To remit rates on Business Rate 

properties on the grounds of hardship 
under section 49 Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 

Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
8. To bill, collect and enforce Council Tax 

and Non-Domestic Rates in accordance 
with statutory provisions 

Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
9. To submit proof of debt or relevant  

claim in insolvency proceedings 
Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 

Page 582



 

 118 

Resources) 
   
10. To recover rates, other debts or 

damages. 
Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
11. To institute proceedings to recover 

overpaid Housing Benefit 
 Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
12. To reduce or remit payment of Non-

Domestic rates in accordance with the 
schemes agreed by the Council under 
 
S.47 Local Government Finance Act 
1988 – Discretionary Rate Relief to 
Charitable and Other Organisations 
 
S.1 Local Government and Rating Act 
1997 – Discretionary Rate Relief for 
businesses in rural areas. 

Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
13. To authorise the institution of 

proceedings for any offence under s.111 
and s.112 of the Social Security 
Administration Act 1992 and/or the Theft 
Act 1968 (including the authorisation of 
any other sanctions referred to in these 
Acts) 
 

 Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

Property and Asset Management  
  
14. To give undertakings to and enter into 

agreements with the Water Undertaker 
for the provision of a supply of water for 
new buildings erected by or for the 
Council. 

 Head of Property 
ServicesAssistant Director 
(Finance & Resources) 

   
15.

4 
To take licences, wayleaves or 
easements over private land where 
necessary for the use or enjoyment by 
the Council of land or premises in its 
ownership or for the purpose of carrying 
out any function. 

 Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 
Head of Property Services 

   
16.

. 
To grant:  

 (a) Leases, tenancies and licences 
for any period other than in 
respect of dwellings and garages 
used for housing purposes. 

 Head of Property Services 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

    

Page 583



 

 119 

 (b) Wayleaves and easements  Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
   
17. To consent to assignment, subletting, 

charging or change of use, in respect of 
any lease (other than dwellings and 
garages used for housing purposes). 

 Head of Property Services 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
18. To determine or accept the surrender (in 

whole or in part) or vary the terms and 
conditions (including as to rent) of any 
lease, tenancy or licence of property 
owned by the Council (other than 
dwellings and garages used for housing 
purposes) including the payment of any 
compensation due under the Landlord 
and Tenant Act 1954, without recourse to 
court proceedings. 

 Head of Property Services 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
19. To seek planning permission and 

building control consent in order to carry 
out development which the Council 
propose to carry out.  

 Head of Property Services,  
Head of DevelopmentAssistant 
Director (Finance & Resources)/ 
Assistant Director (Housing) 

   
20. To manage the Council’s markets.  Head of Property Services 

Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
   
21. To authorise the use of Council land and 

buildings for the delivery of services, 
allocate space appropriately and re-
allocate space that is under-utilised or 
being inefficiently used. 

 Head of Property Services 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
22. To approve the release and/or variation 

of restrictive covenants (including the 
terms and conditions of such release) 
which have been imposed in relation to 
any former Council property or land 

 Head of Property Services 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

   
23.

5
. 

To award contracts relating to any 
insurance claim in satisfaction of 
agreements reached with a loss adjuster 

 Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & Resources) 

   
Renovation Grants  
   
24. To approve applications for grants for 

house renovations 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing) 

Page 584



 

 120 

   
25. To deal with the repayment of house 

renovation grants where there has been 
a breach of the conditions attached to 
the grant 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director  
(Strategic Housing) 

 

   
26. To authorise and make the following 

payments 
 

 

 (1) Well-maintained or partially well-
maintained payments  under the 
Housing Act 1985 (Schedule 23) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

    
 (2) Owner/occupier supplement 

payments under the Housing Act 
1985. (Schedule 24) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

    
 (3) Compensation payable in respect 

of closing or demolition orders 
(S.584A Housing Act 1985) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery). 
Assistant Director  
(Strategic Housing) 

    
 (4) Home loss payments where 

persons displaced from dwelling 
(Ss.29 and 30 Land 
Compensation Act 1973) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director  
(Strategic Housing) 

    
 (5) Disturbance payments for 

persons without compensatable 
interests (Ss.37 and 38 Land 
compensation Act 1973) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director  
(Strategic Housing) 

  
   
27. To authorise proceedings in respect of 

alleged harassment or unlawful eviction. 
 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Assistant 
Director (Strategic 
Housing)Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

Leisure, Sport and Recreation  
    
28. To deal with the letting of pitches and 

recreational facilities 
 Head of Property Services 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

    
   
    
29. To deal with the letting for specific 

occasions or performances of the Old 
Town Hall and any other Council 
buildings used for entertainments or 
other leisure pursuits. 

 Head of Property Services 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

    

Page 585



 

 121 

30. To grant permission for the use of public 
parks and recreation grounds for 
organised functions and to approve the 
taking of collections at such functions. 

 Head of Property Services 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

    
31. To make grants, not exceeding £1,000 

in any one case to non-profit making 
organisations in the Borough having 
recreational, sporting, artistic, cultural, 
community services or entertainment’s 
aims or interests. 

 Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & Resources) 

    
 
32. 

 
To deal with the allocation of allotments. 

 
 Head of Property Services 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

33. To serve Notice to Quit Allotments and 
to authorise any necessary proceedings 
to recover possession in the event of 
arrears of rent, poor cultivation, or for 
any other reason in pursuance of a 
decision of the Council or of a 
Committee acting under delegated 
power. 

 Head of Property Services 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

    
34. To accept the transfergift of amenity 

open space not exceeding 0.25 
hectares when completed on private 
housing developments, on payment of a 
commuted sum estimated to cover 25 
years’ maintenance costs. 

Chief Finance Officer Assistant 
Director (Finance & Resources) 
in consultation with the relevant 
StrategicCorporate Director 

    
35. To review and revise charges for the 

use of facilities and participation in 
activities. 
 

 Head of Property Services 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

Cemeteries 
 
36. To deal with the grant, transfer or 

surrender of rights of burial and the 
maintenance of graves in accordance 
with the Council’s regulations 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

 

    
37. To grant relief from the payment of 

double fees in respect of the interment 
of former residents 

 Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

 

 
Public Health 

 

    

Page 586



 

 122 

38
.
.
. 

To make decisions, serve notices and 
arrange for the carrying out of works or the 
taking of other necessary action (including 
the authorisation of any criminal or civil 
proceedings) in pursuance of or in default of 
compliance with any notice or Court Order, 
in accordance with the following statutory 
provisions: 

 

    
 (1) S.48 Public Health Act 1936 

(Examination and testing of drains) 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director Strategic 
(Housing), Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 

    
 (2) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
(3) 

S.50 Public Health Act 1936 
(Overflowing and leaking 
cesspools) 
 
 
 
 
s.79 Public Health Act 1936 
(Power to require removal of 
noxious matter by occupier of 
premises in urban district) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 
 
 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 
 

 
 (4) SS.83-85 Public Health Act 1936 

(Filthy and verminous premises, 
articles and persons and their 
clothing 

 Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 

    
 (5) 

 
 
 
 
 
(6) 

S.140 Public Health Act 1936 
(Closing or restricting use of water 
from polluted source of supply) 
 
 
 
S.141 Public Health Act 1936 
(Power to deal with insanitary 
cisterns, &c) 

 Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 
 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 

    
 (7) 

 
 
 
(8) 

S.259 Public Health Act 1936 
(Nuisances in connection with 
watercourses, ditches, ponds etc) 
 
s.264 Public Health Act 1936 

 Assistant Director  
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 
 
 
Assistant Director  

Page 587



 

 123 

(Urban authority may require repair 
and cleansing of culverts 
 

(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 

    
 (9) 

 
 
(10) 
 
 
 
 
(11) 
 
 
 
(12) 

S.268 Public Health Act 1936 
(Tents, vans, etc) 
 
s.275 Public Health Act 1936 
(Power of local authority to execute 
certain work on behalf of owners or 
occupiers. 
 
s.287 Public Health Act 1936 
(Power to enter premises) 
 
 
s.290 Public Health Act 1936 
(Provisions as to appeals against, 
and the enforcement of, notices 
requiring execution of works) 
 

 Assistant Director                                      
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Head of Regulatory Services 
 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Head of Regulatory 
Services, Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 
 
 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Head of Regulatory 
Services, Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 
 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 
 

    
 (13) Prevention of Damage by Pests 

Act 1949 
Assistant Director  
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Head of Regulatoryaudit 
 Services ,  
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 
 
 

 

    
 (14) S.20 Clean Air Act 1993 

(Proceedings in cases arising from 
emission of smoke in smoke 
control areas) 

Assistant Director  
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 
 

 

    
 (15) S.24 (1) Clean Air Act 1993 

(Adaptation of fireplaces in private 
dwellings) 

 Assistant Director  
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 
 

  

    
 (16) S.17 Public Health Act 1961 

(Repair of drains and stopped-up 
drains) 

  Assistant Director  
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

    
 (17) S.22 Public Health Act 1961 

(Cleansing or repairing of drains) 
 Assistant Director  
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

    
 (18) S.34 Public Health Act 1961  Assistant Director  

Page 588



 

 124 

 
 
 
 
 
(19) 
 
 
 
(20) 

(Accumulations of rubbish) 
 
 
 
 
S.36 Public Health Act 1961 
(vacation of premises during 
fumigation) 
 
S.74 Public Health Act 1961 
(power to reduce number of 
pidgeons) 
 

(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 
 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Assistnat Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Group Manager (Strategic 
Housing) 
 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Assistant Director), 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 
Group Manager (Strategic 
Housing) 
 
 

    
   (21) S.14-16 Clean Air Act 1993 (Height 

of chimneys) 
 Assistant Director  
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

    
   (22) S.23 Clean Air Act 1993 

(Acquisition and Sale of 
Unauthorised Fuel in Smoke 
Control Area) 

Assistant Director  
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

 

    
   (23) S.60 Control of Pollution Act 1974 

(Control of noise on construction 
sites) 

Assistant Director  
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Housing),  
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 
 

 

 
 (24) S.61 Control of Pollution Act 

1974 (Prior consent for work on 
construction sites) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Housing),  
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 
 

    
 (25) SS.10, 11, 12, 6 and 36 Clean 

Air Act 1993 (Measurement of 
and requiring information about 
air pollution) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

    
 (26) S.93 Control of Pollution Act 

1974 (Power of obtaining 
information) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Housing),  
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 
 

Page 589



 

 125 

    
 (27) S.20 Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 (Provision of sanitary 
appliances at places of 
entertainment) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing),  
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 
 

    
 (28) S.35 Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 (Removal of obstructions 
from private sewers) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Housing),  
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 
 

    
 (29) SS.29, 30, 31 and 32 Local 

Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 (Protection 
of Buildings) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

    
 (30) S.28 Public Health (Control of 

Disease) Act 1984 (Prohibiting 
work where notifiable disease 
exists) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) in 
consultation with the Director of 
Public Health at Hertfordshire 
County CouncilCouncil’s Medical 
Adviser 

    
 (31) S.59 Building Act 1984 

(Drainage of building) 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing),  
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 
 

    
 (32) S.64 Building Act 1984 and S.45 

Public Health Act 1936 
(Defective or unsatisfactory 
closets) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing),  
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 
 

    
 (33) S.76 Building Act 1984 

(Defective premises – urgent 
action) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing),  
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 
 

    

Page 590



 

 126 

 (34) Part III of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 (Statutory 
Nuisances) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing),  
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 
 

 
 (35) S.103 Clean Air Act 1993 Assistant Director 

(Neighbourhood Delivery) 
    
 (36) S.51 Clean Air Act 1993 

 
 
 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

 37) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
38)  
 
 
 
39)  
 
 
 
40)  
 
 
 
 
 
41)   

(Part II of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 section 59 
and 59za (Powers to require 
removal of waste unlawfully 
deposited and supplementary 
power in relation to owner of 
land) 
 
S.59, 60,62, 64,65,66,76,78, 84, 93, 
95,96, 99 Building Act 1984 
 
 
S.60,61, 62, 91, 92, 93 Control of 
Pollution Act 1974 
 
 
 
S.6,7,8,9,10,11,13,14, 19(2), 22(2), 
22(4), 33, 59, 78b(3), 78c, 78e, 78m 
78n, 80(i) 80(ii), 81, 88, 92A, 92C(3), 
94A, 94B,149 Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 
 
S.45,48,50,79,141,259,264,275,287,
290 Public Health Act 1936 
 

 
 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Housing),  
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 
 
 
 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing),  
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
 
 
 
 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 
 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing) Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery),, 
Group Manager (Strategic 
Housing) 
 
 
 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 
 
 
 

  

Page 591



 

 127 

41. To approve grant applications for the 
purposes of complying with smoke 
control orders. 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
42. To make application for any such Order 

as is authorised by S.47 of the National 
Assistance Act 1948 as amended by the 
National Assistance (Amendment) Act 
1951 (removal of persons in need of 
care and attention). 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services) in 
consultation with aA senior 
Doctor in Public Health or a 
consultant in communicable 
disease control 

   
   
   
Smoke Free Premises  
  
44.

7
. 

To exercise the enforcement duties of 
the Council in relation to smoke-free 
premises under the Health Act 2006 
including the appointment of authorised 
officers under Section 10 of that Act. 
 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing)  

Food Safety  
   
45. To authorise proceedings under S.20 of 

the Food Safety Act 1990 (offences due 
to fault of another person), S.197(1) of 
the Food Safety and Hygiene (England) 
Regulations 201306 and Regulation 4 of 
the General Food Regulations 2004  

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
46. To exercise the powers of the Council 

under S.5 of the Food Safety Act 1990: 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Housing), 
Group Manager (Strategic 
Housing)   

   
 (a) To appoint by an instrument in 

writing Authorised Officers for the 
purposes of the Act, being 
Officers having suitable 
qualifications and experience 

 

    
 (b) To specify in the instrument of 

appointment which of the 
following powers are to be 
exercisable by each of the 
Officers so appointed: 

 

    
  (i) SS.9, 10, 12, 29, 30 and 

32 of the Food Safety Act 
1990 

 

  (ii) Regulations made under  

Page 592



 

 128 

SS.16, 17, 18 and 19 of 
the Food Safety Act 1990 

     
 (c) To terminate any appointment so 

made whether by him or her or 
another 

 

    
 (d) To authorise the institution of 

legal proceedings for the offence 
of failing to comply with an 
Improvement Notice, Prohibition 
Order, Emergency Prohibition 
Notice or Emergency Prohibition 
Order made or issued under the 
Food Safety Act 1990  

 

    
 (e) To authorise the institution of 

proceedings for offences under 
SS.8, 14 and 15 of the Food 
Safety Act 1990 

 

    
47.

5
0
. 

To manage the emptying of cesspools  Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

48. To settle the terms of and enter into 
agreements under S.21 of the Public 
Health Act 1936. (Agreements with 
County Council for use of highway 
drains) 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services) Corporate 
and Contracted Services) 

   
49. To discharge the functions of a local 

authority in relation to Air Pollution 
Control under Part 1 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and 
Regulations made thereunder. 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
50. To discharge the functions of a local 

authority under the Environment Act 
1995.  

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
51. To discharge the functions of a local 

authority in relation to the Control of 
Dogs under SS.149 and 150 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and 
S.13 of the Animal Health Act 1981 as 
amended by S.151 of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 and Orders made 
thereunder. 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Housing),  
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 
 

   
52. To enforce the provisions of the Control 

of Pesticides Regulations 1986, as 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

Page 593



 

 129 

specified by the Minister of Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Food under S.19 (1B) 
Food and Environment Protection Act 
1985 

   
53. To exercise the powers and duties in 

the Dangerous Dogs Act 1991 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
54. To enforce the provisions of Control 

Orders made under The Dogs (Fouling 
of Land) Act 1996 including the issue of 
fixed penalties and the authorisation of 
the institution of legal proceedings 
under the Act 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Assistant 
Director (Neighbourhood 
Delivery) Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
55. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
56.

6
1
. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

To issue a Direction under Section 77 of 
the Criminal Justice and Public Order 
Act 1994 and to commence proceedings 
immediately against persons camping or 
stationing any caravan or other vehicles 
used or adapted for human habitation 
on any land in the Borough where to do 
so constitutes a contravention of an 
enforcement notice under Section 179 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 or contravention of an Order under 
Section 23 of the Caravan Sites and 
Control of Development Act 1960 or an 
offence under Section 77 of the Criminal 
Justice and Public Order Act 1994. 
 
To seek such injunction or other legal 
action as may be considered 
appropriate against any person or 
persons in control of a caravan or 
vehicle which is occupied as living 
accommodation while stationed on any 
off-street parking place owned or 
operated by the Council.  
 
 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
ServicesCorporate and 
Contracted Services) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services 
Corporate and Contracted 
Services) 

57.
.
3
. 

To grant bus permits in accordance with 
the Council’s scheme 

Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & Resources) 

58. Regulatory Services (Miscellaneous) 
 
To exercise all of the council’s powers 
and duties, including the making of 
decisions, the service of notices and the 
carrying out of works or the taking of 
any other necessary action (including 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery), 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), Assistant Director, 
(Legal and Democratic Services) 
Group Manager (Strategic  
Housing) 

Page 594



 

 130 

the authorisation of any criminal or civil 
proceedings) in pursuance of, or in 
default of compliance with any notice or 
court order, in accordance with the 
following legislation: 
 
1) Home Energy Conservation Act 

1995 
2) Clean Neighbourhoods & 

Environment Act 2005 (and all 
other related legislation such as 
the Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 
1978 and Environmental Protection 
Act 1990) 

3) Pollution Prevention and Control 
Act 1999 

4) Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 
1993 

5) Protection from Eviction Act 1977 
6) Housing Act 1988 
7) Smoke 
8)7) Caravan Sites Act 1968 
9)8) Water Industry Act 1991 
10)9) Environmental Protection Act 

1990 
11)10) Sunbeds (Regulation) Act 

2010 
12)11) Animal Welfare Act 2006 
13)12) The Microchipping of Dogs 

(England) Regulations 2015 
14)13) Enterprise and Regulatory 

Reform Act 2013 
 

 

59. To deal with the removal and disposal of 
abandoned vehicles and refuse under 
the Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 
 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

60. To authorise proceedings under S.87 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 
against persons depositing litter outside 
of the household waste sites in the 
Borough 
 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services), Head of 
Legal and Democratic 
ServicesCorporate and 
Contracted Services) 

61.
8
. 

To discharge the Council’s functions 
relating to S.88 of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 and Orders made 
thereunder relating to the imposition of 
fixed penalty notices for leaving litter 
 
 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

Environmental Services 
 

 

Page 595



 

 131 

62.
.
. 

To exercise the powers of the Council 
under S.25 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
(Dangerous trees) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
63.

. 
To exercise the powers of the Council 
under S.25 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
(Dangerous excavations) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
64. To accept the dedication of land for 

highway purposes where the total cost 
(including accommodation works and 
professional fees) does not exceed 
£5000. 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic ServicesCorporate 
and Contracted Services) in 
consultation with the Assistant 
Director (Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 

   
65. To accept responsibility for the 

maintenance of new street lighting, 
traffic sign lighting and traffic signals 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
66 To adopt private streets in pursuance of 

S.228 Highways Act 1980 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) on the 
recommendation of the Assistant 
Director (Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 

   
67. To serve notices, deal with plans and 

proposals submitted under and 
authorise proceedings under the New 
Roads and Street Works Act 1991 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
68. To issue notices, to make orders and to 

apply for consent to continue in force 
orders temporarily restricting or 
prohibiting traffic (SS.14, 15 and 16 
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984) 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) in 
consultation with the Assistant 
Director (Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 

   
69. To give notice of the Council’s intention 

to introduce all forms of traffic regulation 
orders and cycle track orders 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) 

   
70. To make and confirm unopposed traffic 

regulation and cycle track orders. 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) 

   
71. To arrange for floral displays and 

emblems. 
 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

Page 596



 

 132 

72. To erect flagpoles, etc on highways, for 
the purpose of displaying decorations 
(S.144 Highways Act 1980) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
73. To serve notices and to take any action 

in default of compliance therewith under 
SS.46 and 47 Environmental Protection 
Act 1990.  (Dustbins, or receptacles for 
commercial or industrial waste) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
74. In connection with charitable events or 

temporary promotions by the Council 
and other public bodies to carry out or 
authorise works for the placing of 
structures on footpaths, bridleways and 
other pedestrianised areas of highway 
under Part VIIA Highways Act 1980 
(Provision of Amenities on certain 
Highways) and to serve the requisite 
notices 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
75. To discharge the Council’s functions in 

relation to keeping land and highways 
clear of litter etc under s.89 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and 
Orders made thereunder 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

76. To discharge the Council’s functions in 
relation to the service of “litter 
abatement notices” under S.92 and 
“street litter control notices” under 
S.93 of the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990 and Orders made thereunder 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

77. To approve a discount charging 
structure for the collection of 
commercial waste where more than 
two containers are sited at the same 
site 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

78. To determine the charges for the 
collection of materials from premises 
for  recycling 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

79. To agree contracts and pricing 
structures for the disposal of materials 
for recycling 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
80. To manage payments to local 

community groups for the collection of 
used aluminium beverage cans. 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 
 

   

Page 597



 

 133 

81. To exercise the powers of the Council  
under Sections 14 to 17, 25, 26 and 64  
of the Land Drainage Act 1991  
(maintenance of flow of watercourses,  
powers to undertake drainage works  
against flooding, powers of entry for  
purposes of the Act) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

   
  
Anti-Social Behaviour (Residents Services) 

 

    
82. To authorise the application for an 

injunction against a person aged 10 or 
over under Part 1 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) in 
consultation with the relevant 
Assistant Director and the 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) 

  
To authorise the issue of a closure notice 
and application for a closure order in 
respect of premises used or likely to be 
used to commit nuisance or disorder 
under Part 4, Chapter 3 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 
 
 
To authorise the issue of Community 
Protection Notices under Part 4, Chapter 
1 of the Ant-social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014 
 

 
83. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
84. 

Chief Executive in consultation 
with the relevant Assistant 
Director and the Assistant 
Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services Corporate and 
Contracted Services) where the 
specified duration of the closure 
notice exceeds 24 hours. 
 
The Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) or the 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing)  in consultation with  
the Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) in all 
other cases 

    

Page 598



 

 134 

 
85. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
85  
(a)  
 
 
 
86. 

 
To authorise the application and 
confirmation  of for a public spaces 
protection order under Part 4, Chapter 2 
of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014 and to set the sum 
payable for fixed penalty notices for 
contravention of the relevant order.  
 
 
 
To authorise officers to issue fixed 
penalty notices pursuant to any public 
space protection order in force. 
 
 
To give penalty notices for graffiti and fly 
posting.  (Section 43 Anti-Social 
Behaviour Act 2003) 

 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) in 
consultation with the relevant 
Assistant Director and the 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) 
 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) in 
consultation with the relevant 
Assistant Director and the 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) 
 
Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) in 
consultation with the relevant 
Assistant Director and the 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) 
 

   
87.

. 
To serve graffiti removal notices.  
(Section 48 Anti-Social Behaviour Act 
2003) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) in 
consultation with the Assistant 
Director ( Corporate and 
Contracted Services) 

   
88. To authorise the recovery of expenditure 

from a person who has been served with 
a graffiti removal notice.  (Section 49 
Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003) 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood Delivery) 

 

Page 599



 

 135 

C. FROM THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
(RESIDENT SERVICES) (HOUSING AND REGENERATION)  

 
POWER OR FUNCTION TO WHOM DELEGATED 
  
Housing Management  
  
1. To allocate the tenancies of dwellings in 

accordance with the Council’s Allocation 
Policy and its Choice Based Lettings 
Scheme and to. provide nominations to 
Registered Providers in line with 
nomination agreements and the 
Council’s Allocations Policy. 

Assistant Director Group 
Manager (Strategic Housing) 

   
   
   
2. To deal with exchanges of tenancies of 

Council dwellings, including mutual 
exchanges between tenants, transfers 
of tenancies to survivors of the same 
household and reciprocal transfers with 
other local authorities 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations), Head of Housing 
ManagementGroup Manager 
(Tenants & Leaseholders) 

   
3. 
 
 
4. 
 

To deal with cases of homelessness 
 
 
To determine reviews requested under 
section 202 of the Housing Act 1996 (as 
amended) 

Assistant Director  (Strategic 
Housing), Homeless Prevention 
Team Leader Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 
 
Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing), or the Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing), or the 
Service Improvement and 
Projects Team LeaderStrategic 
Housing Team Leader (Property)  

  
 

 

5. To grant to homeless persons licences 
to occupy temporarily Council dwellings 
and to determine such licences as 
necessary 

Assistant Director  (Strategic 
Housing), Homeless Prevention 
and Temporary Accommodation 

(Review) Team Leaders Group 
Manager (Strategic Housing) 

   
6. To allocate the tenancies of garages 

held for housing purposes which do not 
comprise part of a commercial letting 

Assistant Director  (Strategic 
Housing), Head of Commercial 
Development Group Manager 
(Tenants and Leaseholders) 

   
7. To deal with all matters of estate 

management falling within the 
conditions of tenancy of dwellings or 
garages held for housing purposes 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations), Head of 
Commercial Development Group 
Manager (Tenants & 

Page 600



 

 136 

which do not comprise part of a 
commercial letting 

Leaseholders)  

   
8. (1) To serve a Notice of Seeking 

Possession in respect of any 
dwellings let under a secure 
tenancy, or a Notice to Quit in 
respect of any other dwelling held 
for  housing purposes which do 
not comprise part of a 
commercial letting 

Assistant Director  ( Housing 
Operations)Group Manager 
(Tenants and Leaseholders) 

    
 
 
 (2) To determine by notice the 

tenancies of garages held for 
housing purposes and not 
comprising part of a commercial 
letting for non-payment of rent or 
other breaches of the conditions 
of tenancy 
 

 Assistant Director   (Housing 
Operations), Head of 
Commercial DevelopmentGroup 
Manager (Tenants and 
Leaseholders) 

 (3) To serve a notice of proceedings 
for possession in respect of any 
dwelling let under an introductory 
tenancy 
 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations)Group Manager 
(Tenants and Leaseholders) 

 
 

(4) To conduct a review of a decision 
to seek an order for possession 
of a dwelling let under an 
introductory tenancy 
 

Assistant Director  ( Housing 
Operations)Assistant Director 
(Housing) 

 
 

(5) To serve a notice of extension to 
the trial period in relation to an 
introductory tenancy.  
 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations)Group Manager 
(Tenants and Leaseholders) 

 (6) To conduct a review of a decision 
that the trial period for an 
introductory tenancy should be 
extended 
 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations)Assistant Director 
(Housing) 

 (7) To apply to the Court for a 
demotion order in respect of any 
dwelling let under a secure 
tenancy 
 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations)Group Manager 
(Tenants and Leaseholders) 

 (8) To serve a notice of proceedings 
for possession in respect of any 
dwelling let under a demoted 
tenancy 
 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations)Group Manager 
(Tenants and Leaseholders) 

 (9) To conduct a review of a decision Assistant Director (Housing 

Page 601



 

 137 

to seek an order for possession 
of a dwelling let under a demoted 
tenancy 
 

Operations) 

9. (1) To make application for a 
Possession Order in respect of 
any Council dwelling where 
considered necessary 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic ServicesCorporate 
and Contracted Services) 

    

Page 602



 

 138 

 

 (2) To make application for a 
Possession Order in respect of 
any Council dwelling where 
considered necessary in a case 
of serious arrears of rent or 
licence fees in respect of 
temporary accommodation 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations)Group Manager 
(Tenants and Leaseholders)  

    
10. To authorise the institution of 

proceedings for the recovery of sums in 
respect of which cheques have been 
tendered for rent or arrears of rent 
which are subsequently dishonoured. 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations)Group Manager 
(Tenants and Leaseholders) 

   
11. To authorise the commencement of 

possession proceedings where 
considered necessary in respect of any 
dwellings held for housing purposes 
which do not comprise part of a 
commercial letting. 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations)Group Manager 
(Tenants and Leaseholders) 

   
12. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
13. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
14. 

To authorise the repossession 
(including the enforcement of any order 
for possession) of any dwellings held for 
housing purposes which do not 
comprise part of a commercial letting. 
 
Anti-social Behaviour (Tenants and 
Leaseholders) 
 
To serve a notice of proceedings for 
possession on absolute ground for anti-
social behaviour in respect of any 
dwelling let under a secure tenancy 
under Part 5 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 
2014.  
 
To conduct a review of a decision to 
seek possession on absolute ground for 
anti-social behaviour in respect of any 
dwelling let under a secure tenancy 
under Part 5 of the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 
2014. 
 
 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations)Group Manager 
(Tenants and Leaseholders) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations), Head of Housing 
Management 
Group Manager (Tenants and 
Leaseholders) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assistant Director (Housing 
Operations) 

  

Page 603



 

 139 

15. To authorise the commencement of 
injunction proceedings in relation to 
conduct capable of causing nuisance or 
annoyance to any person insofar as the 
conduct relates to any dwellings held for 
housing purposes which do not comprise 
part of a commercial letting (including the 
authorisation of any subsequent 
proceedings necessary to enforce 
breaches of any such injunction), or 
insofar as the conduct directly or 
indirectly relates to or affects the housing 
management functions of the Council. 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations)Group Manager 
(Tenants and Leaseholders) 

   
16.

1
. 

To approve terms and conditions for the 
leasing of properties from Government 
departments and other public bodies for 
use as housing accommodation 

Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing) 

   
    
17. To grant applications for loans or the 

purchase or improvement or repair of 
houses within the Borough and to grant 
consent to the letting, transfer or sale of, 
or otherwise relating to, property in 
mortgage to the Council. 

Chief Finance Officer, Head of 
Financial Services,  Assistant 
Director  (Strategic Housing) 
Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) 

    
18. To seal vacating receipts on redemption 

of mortgage. 
Assistant Director (Legal and 
DemocraticCorporate and 
Contracted Services) 

    
19.

6
. 

To accept tenders for items included in 
the approved budget for housing repairs 
and maintenance provided that no 
tender shall be accepted which is in 
excess of the provision of the budget. 

Head of Housing Property 
ServicesGroup Manager 
(Property & Place) 

   
20. Right to Buy Scheme  
    
 (1) To make such determinations of 

fact as are necessary for the 
purposes of Part V of the 
Housing Act 1985 or any 
scheme extending the Right to 
Buy 

Relevant Assistant Director 

    
 (2) To respond to a written notice 

claiming to exercise the right to 
buy served upon the Council by 
a secure tenant 

Chief Finance Officer, Head of 
Financial Services, Assistant 
Director (Finance & Resources) 

    
 (3) To agree to include in the sale of Assistant Director  (Strategic 

Page 604



 

 140 

a dwellinghouse land used for 
the purposes of the dwelling-
house which is not let to the 
tenant under the tenancy of the 
dwellinghouse (e.g. a garage or 
accessway) 

Housing) Head of Housing 
Management Group Manager 
(Tenants & Leaseholders) 

 
 (4) To consent to members of a 

tenant’s family who reside with 
him or her, but have done so for 
less than 12 months, sharing the 
Right to Buy 

Chief Finance Officer Assistant 
Director (Finance & Resources) 

 
 (5) To determine all valuations 

required to be made by the 
Council for the purpose of Part V 
of the Act or of any scheme 
extending the Right to Buy 

Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & Resources) 

    
 (6) To agree and settle the 

provisions to be contained in 
conveyances, leases and 
mortgage deeds for the purpose 
of Part V of the Act or any 
scheme extending the Right to 
Buy 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) 

    
 (7) To grant extensions of the 

period for claiming to exercise 
the right to a mortgage 

Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & Resources) 

    
 (8) To serve notice requiring a 

tenant to complete the 
transaction within a specified 
period 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic ServicesCorporate 
and Contracted Services) 

    
 (9) To grant extensions of the 

period for serving notice 
claiming entitlement to defer 
completion 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) 

    
 (10) To sign and give Certificates of 

Title to convey the freehold or 
make the grant 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) or a 
solicitor or barrister employed by 
or acting for the Council 

    
 (11) To accept as sufficient evidence 

of the matters declared therein, 
any statutory declaration made 
for the purpose of Part V of the 
Act or any scheme extending 

Chief Finance Officer Assistant 
Director (Finance & Resources) in 
consultation with the Assistant 
Director (Legal and Democratic 
ServicesCorporate and 

Page 605



 

 141 

the Right to Buy Contracted Services) 
    
 (12) To consent to a disposal to a 

person satisfying the condition 
stated in S.157(3), where a 
locality covenant is imposed by 
the Council 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services)Corporate 
and Contracted Services) 

    
 (13) To make applications under 

paragraph 11 of Schedule 5 
Housing Act 1985 for 
determination of the Right to 
Buy in respect of dwellings 
occupied by the elderly 

Assistant Director (Strategic 
Housing) Group Manager 
(Tenants & Leaseholders) 

    
 (14) To determine applications for 

assignment under S.92 Housing 
Act 1985 and to consent to 
subletting under S.94 Housing 
Act 1985. 

Group Manager (Tenants & 
Leaseholders) 
Assistant Director (Housing 
Operations) 

    
 (15) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(16)  

To give consent,  in accordance 
with section 156 of the Housing 
Act 1985,  to the Council 
postponing its charge on 
premises in respect of  liability to 
repay the statutory discount under 
the Right to Buy Scheme  in 
favour of any advance or further 
advance provided to the tenant or 
former tenant by an external 
lender. 
 
To agree to the service of a Initial 
and Final Demolition Notice in 
accordance with Schedule 5(A) 
Housing Act 1985 

Chief Financial OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance and Resources) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chief Financial Officer  
 

   
21.

1
8
.
. 

To determine freehold reversion sales. Chief Financial OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance & Resources) 

   
22.

9
.
2
. 

To prove for housing rents in bankruptcy 
or liquidation. 

Group Manager (Tenants & 
Leaseholders) Assistant Director 
(Housing Operations) 

   

Page 606



 

 142 

23.
0
. 

To authorise the institution of 
proceedings for possession and arrears 
in cases of default by mortgagors. 

Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) Chief Financial Officer 

   
24.

1
. 

To deal with applications under the 
Right to Repair Scheme including 
payment to tenants. 

Head of Property ServicesGroup 
Manager (Property & Place) 

   
25.

2
. 

To agree terms for the purpose of 
individual properties under the 
Acquisition of Existing Properties 
Scheme. 

Assistant Director (Finance & 
Resources) Chief Financial Officer 

   
26. 
 

To exercise the powers of the Council in 
respect of the management and control 
of all Housing Revenue Account land 
and buildings owned by the Council for 
development purposes including, but 
not limited to, authorising the completion 
of: 
(i) leases, licenses, easements and 
wayleaves  
(ii) Planning obligations under S.106 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(iii) Agreements under S.278 Highways 
Act 1980 
 

Assistant Director  (Housing 
Operations)) or Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 

    
Regeneration  
   
27

.
3
.
.
. 

To sign any document required for the 
purpose of making, amending or 
substantiating any form of application to 
obtain funding to effect the Council’s 
Economic Development 

Strategic Director (Place), 
Assistant Director (Place, 
Communities and 
Enterprise)lanning), , 
Development & Regeneration) 

   
28

.
4
.
.
. 

To amend any document relating to any 
form of application to obtain funding to effect 
the Council’s Economic Development 
Strategy, where the amendment is 
necessary to correct an error and/or to give 
effect to a decision of the Council or of the 
Cabinet or any Committee, Sub-Committee 
or employee acting under delegated powers. 

Strategic Director (Place), 
Assistant Director (Place, 
Communities and 
Enterprise)anning, 
Development & Regeneration) 

   
29

.
5
.
.
.

To approve the provision of and expenditure 
on hospitality and the undertaking of any 
expenditure on overseas travel and the 
incurring of attendant expenses in relation to 
such overseas travel in connection with any 
application for funding to effect the Council's 

Assistant Director (Place, 
Communities and Enterprise) 
lanning, Development & 
Regeneration) in consultation 
with the Strategic Director 
(Place)Corporate Director   

Page 607



 

 143 

7
. 
Economic Development Strategy. 
 

(Housing & Regeneration) 

30.
6
. 

(a) To authorise the delegation of the 
decision on naming streets within 
a parish to the appropriate Town 
or Parish Council and to settle 
the terms of formal agency 
arrangements between the 
Council and the appropriate 
Town or Parish Council to enable 
such decisions to take effect 

Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services)Corporate 
and Contracted Services) 

    
 (b) To settle the names of streets in 

unparished areas of Hemel 
Hempstead 

 Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) or the 
Information Security Team 
Leader  

    
 (c) To settle the names of streets in 

parished areas of the Borough 
where no such arrangements as 
mentioned in (a) above have 
been entered into or authorised 

 Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) or the 
Information Security Team 
Leader  

    
31.

7
9
. 

To number and renumber streets  Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services Corporate 
and Contracted Services) or the 
Information Security Team 
Leader  

 Building Control  
   
32.

2
8
. 

The making of decisions on all matters 
falling to be considered by the Council 
under or in connection with the Building 
Regulations and associated legislation, 
including decisions to commence 
enforcement proceedings under S.35 of 
the Building Act 1984. 
 

Head of Development 
ManagementGroup Manager 
(Development Management & 
Planning) 

33.
2
9
.
.
0
. 

To authorise the issue of permits for 
access by vehicles to the pedestrianised 
areas of town centres and the institution 
of legal proceedings for breach of the 
conditions of such permits 

 Assistant Director (Planning), 
Development & Regeneration)  

   
34.

0
. 

In relation to the pedestrianised area of 
Hemel Hempstead Town Centre 

 

   

Page 608



 

 144 

 (1) To grant Street Trading 
Licences under Part VIIA 
Highways Act 1980, approve the 
terms of such Licences, allocate 
trading pitches and approve any 
variations of the Street Trading 
Policy. 

Assistant Director (Planning, 
Development & Regeneration) 

    
 (2) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
35. 
 
 
 
 
 
36. 

To administer street trading 
under Part VIIA Highways Act 
1980, including logging 
enquiries, processing 
applications and Street Trading 
Licences, making 
recommendations to members, 
enforcement of breaches of 
Licence Conditions   and to 
exercise power to withdraw 
Licences or prohibit unlicensed 
traders. 
 
 
To accept, make use of and 
keep confidential statistical 
information received from 
outside agencies relating to 
Development Plan matters 
 
To determine applications  for 
the removal of Public Telephone 
Kiosks under Communications 
Act 2003 
 
 
 
 

Assistant Director (Planning, 
Development & Regeneration) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of Development 
ManagementGroup Manager 
(Development Management & 
Planning) 
 
 
 
 
Assistant Director (Planning, 
Development & Regeneration) 
and the Head of the Group 
Manager (Development 
Management & Planning)  
 
 

Page 609



 

 145 

 
 
37. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
38. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
39. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
40. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
41. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
To make all decisions relating to   liability 
for CIL payments contained in the 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) including 
but not limited to decisions relating to 
calculation, exemptions, relief from CIL, 
surcharges, and internal reviews. 
 

To make all enforcement decisions 
relating to CIL Stop Notices as detailed 
in Part 9 Chapter 2 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended). 
 
 
To determine whether to accept land as 
payment in kind in accordance with Part 8 
regulation 73 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended). 
 
 
 
 
 
To serve Demand Notices, manage the 
collection and accounts for CIL and 
distribute funds to infrastructure 
providers, Town and Parish Councils and 
Ward Councillors as approved by 
Council. 
 
To authorise the commencement of any 
action to recover CIL contained in Part 9 
Chapter 3 of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended). 

 
 
Assistant Director (Planning, 
Development and Regeneration), 
Head of Development 
Management Group Manager 
(Strategic Planning and 
Regeneration), or the Team 
Leader  (Strategic Planning and 
Regeneration) 
 
 
Assistant Director (Planning, 
Development & Regeneration),  
Head of Development Group 
Manager (Development 
Management & Planning) , the 
Assistant Team Leader (Planning 
Enforcement) 
 
Assistant Director (Planning, 
Development and Regeneration), 
Group Manager (Strategic 
Assistant Director Place, 
Communities and 
EnterprisePlanning and 
Regeneration) in consultation 
with the Chief Finance Officer 
Assistant Director (Finance and 
Resources) or the Group 
Manager (Commercial Assets 
and Property Development) 
 
Chief Finance OfficerAssistant 
Director (Finance and 
Resources), Head of Financial 
ServicesGroup Manager 
(Financial Services) 
 
 
 
 
Assistant Director (Finance and 
Resources), Group Manager 
(Financial Services) 
 

 

Page 610



 

 146 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Houses in Multiple Occupation/Unfit Premises  

 

    
42. To make all decisions/determinations serve notices and 

authorise the taking of any necessary action in pursuance 
of the Council’s licensing and enforcement responsibilities 
(including, but not limited to, the service of notices and 
orders, imposing civil penalties, arranging for the carrying 
out of remedial works, the recovery of expenses and the 
keeping of registers of licences and orders) and all other 
duties or powers which the Council may have in 
accordance with the following statutory provisions and any 
orders or regulations made thereunder: 

Assistant Director  
(Strategic HousingHousing) ,  
Group Manager  
(Strategic Housing)) 

    
 (1) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(1a) 
 
 
 
 
 
(1b) 
 
 
(1c) 

Housing Act 2004 
 
Part 1 – Housing Conditions 
Part 2 – Licensing of Houses in Multiple 

Occupation 
Part 3 - Selective Licensing of  
 Other Residential 
 Accommodation 
Part 4 - Additional Control 
 Provisions in Relation to Residential 

Accommodation 
Part 6 - Chapter 3 Mobile Homes 
 Chapter 5 Miscellaneous 
Part 7 - Supplementary Powers 
Including any relevant schedules contained in 
the Act. 
 
Housing and Planning Act 2016 
 
All parts, sections, schedules, regulations and 
orders relating to private sector landlords and 
property agents. 
 
Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 
Regulations (2015)  
 

Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) 

 

Page 611



 

 147 

 
 
(1d) 
 
 
(1e) 
 
 
 
(1f) 
 
(1g) 
 
(1h) 
 
(1i) 
 
 
 
(1j) 
 
 
(1k) 
 
 
 
 
(1l) 
 
 
(1m) 
 
 
(1n) 
 
(1o) 
 
 
 

(England and Wales) Regulations (2015)  
 
Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013  
(Tenancy Redress Schemes s.83-88 
 
Sections 60, 62, 65, 66, 78, 84, 95, 96 & 99 
Buildings Act 1984 
 
Sections 62, 91 & 91 Control of Pollution Act 
1974 
 
Section 33 Environmental Protection Act 1990 
 
Works for preventing unauthorised entry to 
certain unoccupied premises or for preventing 
such premises from being a danger to public 
health (s.29 Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982). 
 
Sections 331(2)(c), 335, 336, 337, 338, 340 and 
600 Housing Act 1985 
 
Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration 
Act 1996, Regulatory Reform Act 2001, 
Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England 
and Wales) Order 2002 
 
Section 16 Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 
 
Part II Section 2 and Schedule 3 – Local 
Government (Misc Provisions) Act 1982 
 
Sections 13-17 Local Government (Misc 
Provisions) Act 1982 
Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
43. 

(2) 
 
 
 

Works for preventing unauthorised entry to 
certain unoccupied premises or for preventing 
such premises from being a danger to public 
health (s.29 Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982). 

  
 
 
 
 
To arrange, at the request of the occupier of a 
dwelling, for the undertakers to restore or 
continue to supply gas, water or electricity to the 

Assistant Director  
(Neighbourhood  
Delivery),  
Assistant Director Housing)  ,  
(Housing Operations)Group Manager  
(Strategic Housing) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assistant Director  

Page 612



 

 148 

dwelling where it is, or is likekly to be, cut off 
because of the failure of the owner to pay for it; 
and to exercise the Council’s powers of recovery 
of any sum due in consequence of such action 
(S.33 Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976). 
 
 

(Strategic Housing)  ,  
Group Manager  
(Strategic Housing) 
 
 

   
  

Page 613



 

 149 

DELEGATION TO ALL OFFICERS IN THE CORPORATE LEADERSHIP 
TEAM LL ASSISTANT DIRECTORS 
 
POWER OR FUNCTION LIMITS ON DELEGATION 
  
1. To authorise an employee of the Council 

to enter on any land (including buildings) 
in the Borough in exercise of any right of 
entry for any purpose in connection with 
the execution of the Council’s functions, 
and to take with him or her any other 
persons, equipment, materials or 
vehicles, provided that: 
 

 

 (a) The public have access to the 
land; or 
 

 

 (b) the occupier (or if there is no 
occupier, the owner) has 
expressly or implicitly consented 
to the entry; or 
 

 

 (c) entry is urgently necessary to 
prevent death or injury to any 
person or serious damage to 
property 

 

   
2. To authorise any employee of the 

Council to enter on any land (including 
buildings) in the Borough in exercise of 
any right of entry for any purpose in 
connection with the execution of the 
Council’s functions and to take with him 
or her any other persons, equipment, 
materials or vehicles without the consent 
of the occupier or owner of the land or to 
apply to a court for authority to enter 

 

   
3. To dispose of any lost or uncollected 

property which has or will become vested 
in the Council and to make charges for 
storage and administrative costs to 
owners of lost property. 

 

   
4. To sign any notice, demand, licence, 

certificate or other document pursuant to 
any power contained in this scheme. 

 

 
 
   

Page 614



 

 150 

5. To initiate procurement exercises, accept 
tenders and make contracts up to a 
value of £250,000 for the supply of 
goods or materials or the execution of 
work or the provision of services in 
relation to such purposes as are under 
the control of the authorising employee 
and for which specific budgetary 
provision has been approved by the 
Council subject to the compliance with 
the requirements of the Council's 
Procurement Standing Orders. 

To report to the relevant Portfolio 
Holder the exercise of such 
power in all cases. 

   
6. To commence procurement exercises in 

pursuance of Council, Cabinet or 
Portfolio Holder decisions 

To report to the relevant Portfolio 
Holder the exercise of such 
power in all cases 

   
7. To commence procurement exercises in 

pursuance of Council policy decisions, or 
operational matters set out in Part 2, 
A(d), B(a), C(a) and D(a) above, subject 
to there being specific budgetary 
provision previously approved by the 
Council and subject also to compliance 
with Procurement Standing Orders.  This 
delegation requires that the authority to 
award a contract shall only flow from 
provisions elsewhere in this Part 3 
Responsibility for Functions or in 
accordance with Procurement Standing 
Orders 

 

   
8. To authorise the obtaining of particulars 

of persons interested in land under 
Section 16 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

 

 

Page 615



 

 151 

 

SCHEDULE 4 SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
 
 Provision or class of provision Proper 

Officer 
Substitute Proper 
Officer 

    
1. Every enactment not otherwise 

specified in this Schedule and in 
respect of which no express 
appointment of a Proper Officer is 
made after the coming into 
operation of this Constitution. 
 
In relation to each provision or class 
of provisions specified in column 1 
of this Schedule the holder for the 
time being of the office specified in 
column 2 shall be the Proper 
Officer, provided that during any 
time that officer is absent or 
otherwise unable to act, or there is 
a vacancy in that office, then the 
holder for the time being of the 
office specified in column 3 shall be 
the Proper Officer 
 

Chief Executive Assistant Director 
(Legal and 
Democratic 
Services)Corporat
e and Contracted 
Services)  

Local Government Act 2000 and any 
regulations made thereunder 

  

   
2. To act as Proper Officer on all 

aspects of this Act and any 
Regulations made thereunder 

Chief Executive Assistant Director 
(Legal and 
Democratic 
Services Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)  

   
Local Government Act 1972   
     
3. S.83(1) 

(2) and 
(3) 

To receive and witness 
declarations of 
acceptance of office 

Chief Executive Assistant Director 
(Legal and 
Democratic 
Services Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)  

     
4. S.84(1) To receive resignations Chief Executive Assistant Director 

(Legal and 
Democratic 
Services Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)  

     

Page 616



 

 152 

5. S.88(2) To convene meeting of 
Council to fill casual 
vacancy in the office of 
Mayor 

Chief Executive Assistant Director 
(Legal and 
Democratic 
Services Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)  

 
 Provision or class of provision Proper 

Officer 
Substitute Proper 
Officer 

6. S.89(1) To receive notice of 
casual vacancy 

Chief Executive Assistant Director 
(Legal and 
Democratic 
Services Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)  

     
7. S.96(1) To receive notice of 

members’ pecuniary 
interest 

Chief Executive Assistant Director 
(Legal and 
Democratic 
Services Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)  

     
8. S.96(2) To record general notice 

of and particular 
disclosures of interest 
under Ss.94 and 96(1) 

Chief Executive Assistant Director 
(Corporate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

     
9. S.100B 

(2) 
Withholding from public 
deposit of ‘Part 2’ reports 

Assistant 
Director (Legal 
and 
Democratic 
Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

     
10. S.100B 

(7) 
Supply to newspapers of 
additional documents 

Assistant 
Director (Legal 
and 
Democratic 
Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

     
11. S.100C 

(2) 
Written summary of ‘Part 
2’ proceedings 

Assistant 
Legal and 
Democratic 
Services 
Director 
(Corporate 

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

Page 617



 

 153 

and 
Contracted 
Services)  

     
12. S.100D Identifying and compiling 

list of ‘Background Papers’ 
Relevant 
Corporate 
Leadership 
Team 
OfficerAssistant 
Director 

The most senior 
Officer responsible 
for the preparation 
of the report 

     
13. S.100F 

(2) 
Deciding whether 
document discloses 
exempt information of 
certain types 

Assistant 
Director (Legal 
and 
Democratic 
Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

     
     
     
14. S.115 

(2) 
To receive money due 
from Officers 

Chief Finance 
Officer 
Corporate 
Director 
(Finance and 
Operations) 

Head of Financial 
ServicesAssistant 
Director (Finance 
& Resources) 

     
15. S.146 

(1) 
Declarations and 
certificates with regard to 
securities 

Chief Finance 
Officer 
Corporate 
Director 
(Finance and 
Operations) 

Head of Financial 
ServicesAssistant 
Director (Finance 
& Resources) 

 

Page 618



 

 154 

 
 
 Provision or class of provision Proper 

Officer 
Substitute Proper 
Officer 

     
16. S.151 Administration of Council’s 

financial affairs 
Chief Finance 
Officer 
Corporate 
Director 
(Finance and 
Operations) 

Head of Financial 
ServicesAssistant 
Director (Finance 
& Resources) 

     
17. S.191 

(2) 
To receive directions from 
Ordnance Survey 

Assistant 
Director 
(Planning) 
Group Manager 
(Development 
Management & 
Planning)  

Head of 
Development 
Management 
Senior Building 
Control Officer 

     

     
     
18. S.225 

(1) 
Deposit of documents Assistant 

Director (Legal 
and Democratic 
Services)Corpor
ate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

     
19. S.229 

(5) 
Authentication of 
photographic copies 

Assistant 
Director ((Legal 
and Democratic 
Services)Corpor
ate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

     
20. S.234 Authentication of 

documents 
Relevant 
StrategicCorpor
ate Director 

Relevant 
Corporate 
Leadership Team 
OfficerAssistant 
Director 

     
21. S.236 

(9) and 
(10) 

To send By-laws to other 
Councils 

Assistant 
Director ((Legal 
and Democratic 
Services)Corpor
ate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

     

Page 619



 

 155 

22. S.238 Authentication of copy 
Bye-laws 

Assistant 
Director ((Legal 
and Democratic 
Services)Corpor
ate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

     
23. S.248 To keep freemen’s roll Chief Executive Head of Legal and 

Democratic 
Services Group 
Manager 
(Democratic 
Services) 

     
24. 12th Sch 

Para 4 
Executiv
e (2)(b) 
and (3) 

To sign summons to 
attend Council meeting 
and to receive notice as to 
address for service of 
summons 

Chief Executive Assistant Director 
((Legal and 
Democratic 
Services)Corporat
e and Contracted 
Services)  

     
25. 14th Sch 

Para 
25(7) 

Certification of particular 
resolutions 

Assistant 
Director ((Legal 
and Democratic 
Services)Corpor
ate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

 
 
 Provision or class of provision Proper 

Officer 
Substitute Proper 
Officer 

 Public Health Act 1936   
     
26. S.84 Certification as to filthy 

or verminous articles 
Assistant 
Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 

Head of 
Regulatory  
ServicesGroup 
Manager 
(Regulatory 
Services) 

     
27. S.343 (1) Authorised Officer Assistant 

Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 

Head of 
Regulatory 
Services Group 
Manager 
(Regulatory 
Services) 

     
 Public Health Act 1961   
     
28. S.17 Summary power to Assistant  Head of Regulatory 

Page 620



 

 156 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
29 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
S.36 

remedy stopped-up 
drains 
 
 
 
 
 
Power to require 
vacation of premises 
during fumigation 

Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 
 
 
 
 
Assistant 
Director 
(Housing 
Operations) 

ServicesGroup 
Manager 
(Regulatory 
Services), Assistant 
Director (Housing 
Operations), Group 
Manager (Strategic 
Housing) 
 
 
Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 

     
29a 
 
 
 
 
 
 

S.37 Prohibition on sale of 
verminous articles 

Assistant 
Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 

 Head of Regulatory 
ServicesGroup 
Manager 
(Regulatory 
Services), Assistant 
Director (Housing), 
Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 
 

     
 Representation of the People Act 1983  
     
30. S.8 Electoral Registration Chief Executive Assistant Director 

(Legal and 
Democratic 
Services)Corporat
e and Contracted 
Services)  

     

31. S.35 Returning Officer for 
borough and parish 
elections 

Chief Executive Assistant Director 
(Legal and 
Democratic 
Services Corporate 
and Contracted 
Services)  

     
 Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984  
     
32. All the provisions of the Public 

Health (Control of Disease) Act 
1984 and the Public Health 
(Infectious Diseases) Regulations 
1988, conferring powers or duties 
upon a proper officer or an 
authorised officer 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery), 
Assistant Director 
(Housing 
Operations) 
 

Head of 
Regulatory  
Services, Head of 
Housing 
ManagementGrou
p Manager 
(Regulatory 
Services) 
Group Manager 
(Strategic Housing) 

 Housing Act 1985   
     

Page 621



 

 157 

33. S.606 Reports on particular 
houses or areas 

Assistant Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 

 Head of 
Regulatory  
Services Group 
Manager 
(Regulatory 
Services) 

     
 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976  
     
34. S.41 To authorise the evidence 

of resolutions and minutes 
of proceedings etc 

Assistant 
Director (Legal 
and Democratic 
Services)Corpor
ate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

 
 Local Government and Housing Act 1989  
     
35. SS.2 

& 3 
To prepare, maintain and 
supervise the list of 
politically restricted posts 
within the Council’s 
establishment 

 Assistant 
Director (Legal 
and Democratic 
Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

     
36. S.4 Head of Paid Service Chief Executive Deputy Chief 

Executive 
(Resident 
Services) 

     
37. S.5 Monitoring Officer Assistant 

Director (Legal 
and Democratic 
Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

 Deputy Monitoring 
Officer 

    
38. SS.15 

& 16 
To receive and deal with 
notices relating to the 
constitution and 
membership of political 
groups 

Assistant 
Director (Legal 
and Democratic 
Services 
Corporate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

     
39. S.19 To receive and deal with 

notices relating to Members’ 
interests and to maintain a 
register of such interests 

Assistant 
Director (Legal 
and Democratic 
Services 

Any solicitor or 
barrister employed 
by the Council 

Page 622



 

 158 

Corporate and 
Contracted 
Services)  

     
 Food Safety Act 1990   
     
40. S.49 

(3) 
To act as Proper Officer to 
the Council with respect to 
the signing of documents 

Assistant 
Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 

 Head of 
Regulatory 
Services Group 
Manager 
(Regulatory 
Services) 

     
41. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
42. 
 
 
 
 

S.49 
(3) 
 
 
 

To authorise in writing 
Officers to sign documents 
 
 
 
Localism Act 2011 
 
To maintan a register of 
 interest of members and  
 co-opted  members of the 
 authority 
 
 
 
 

Assistant 
Director 
(Neighbourhood 
Delivery) 
 
 
 
Assistant 
Director (Legal 
and Democratic 
Services) 

Head of 
Regulatory  
Services Group 
Manager 
(Regulatory 
Services) 
 
Head of Legal and 
Democratic 
Services 

 

Page 623



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PART 4 
 
 
 

RULES OF PROCEDURE

Page 624



 

 116 

 
 

1. ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 
 

1.1 Timing and business 
 
In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the 
Annual Meeting will take place within 21 days of the retirement of 
the outgoing Councillors.  In any other year, the Annual Meeting 
will take place in March, April or May. 
The Annual Meeting will: 
(i) elect a person to preside if the Mayor is not present; 
(ii) elect the Mayor; 
(iii) elect the Deputy Mayor; 
(iv) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
(v) receive any announcements from the Mayor and/or the 

Chief Executive; 
(vi) elect the Leader (only in the case of the first Annual 

Meeting following the ordinary election of Councillors); 
(vii) receive any report from the Leader on the appointment of 

the Deputy Leader and members of the Cabinet and the 
allocation of responsibility for the Cabinet Portfolios among 
the Cabinet members or any subsequent changes thereto;   

(viii) appoint 3 Overview and Scrutiny Committees, a Standards 
Committee and such other committees as the Council 
considers appropriate to deal with matters which are 
neither reserved to the Council nor are executive functions 
(as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution); 

(ix) agree such part of the scheme of delegation as the 
Constitution determines it is for the Council to agree (as 
set out in Part 3 of this Constitution); 

(x) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council 
for the year; 

(xi) consider any business set out in the notice convening the 
meeting. 

 
1.2 Selection of Councillors on Committees and Outside Bodies 

 
At the Annual Meeting, the Council will: 
(i) decide which committees to establish for the municipal 

year; 
(ii) decide the size and terms of reference for those 

committees; 
(iii) decide the allocation of seats and substitutes to political 

groups in accordance with the political balance rules; 
(iv) receive nominations of Councillors to serve on each 

committee and outside body;  and 
(v) appoint to those committees and outside bodies except 

where appointment to those bodies has been delegated by 
the Council. 

 

Page 625



 

 117 

 
 

2. ORDINARY MEETINGS 
 

Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with a 
programme decided at the Council's annual meeting.  Ordinary meetings 
will: 
(i) elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are not 

present; 
(ii) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
(iii) receive any declarations of interest from members; 
(iv) receive any announcements from the Mayor or the Chief 

Executive; 
(v) receive any report from the Leader on the appointment of 

members to the Cabinet and the allocation of responsibility for the 
Cabinet Portfolios among the Cabinet members or any 
subsequent changes thereto; 

(vi) receive any announcements or reports from the Leader or other 
Members of the Cabinet and receive questions and answers on 
any of those reports or on matters within their respective 
portfolios; 

(vii) receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public in 
relation to matters, which in the opinion of the person presiding at 
the meeting are relevant to the business of the Council; 

(viii) deal with any outstanding business from the last Council meeting; 
(ix) receive reports or referrals from the Cabinet and the Council's 

Committees and receive questions and answers on any of those 
reports; 

(x) receive reports or referrals from Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees and receive questions and answers on any of those 
reports. 

(xi) receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the 
business of joint arrangements and external organisations; 

(xii) consider motions;  and 
(xiii) consider any other business specified in the summons to the 

meeting, including consideration of proposals from the Cabinet in 
relation to the Council's budget and policy framework and reports 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees for debate. 

(xiv) deal with any Petitions as detailed in the Dacorum Borough 
Council Petitions Scheme 2010. 

 
 
3. EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS 
 

3.1 Calling extraordinary meetings 
 

 Those listed below may request the proper officer to call Council 
meetings in addition to ordinary meetings: 

 
(i) The Council by resolution; 
 
(ii) the Mayor; 

Page 626



 

 118 

 
(iii) the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted 

Services)Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services);  and 

 
(iv) any five members of the Council if they have signed a 

requisition presented to the Mayor and he/she has refused 
to call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting within 
seven days of the presentation of the requisition. 

 
3.2 Business 
 

No business shall be transacted at a meeting other than that 
specified in the summons except as required by any enactment or 
as a matter of urgency in accordance with this Constitution. 

 
4. TIME AND PLACE OF MEETINGS 
 
 The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Chief 

Executive and notified in the summons. 
 
5. NOTICE OF AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS 
 

The Chief Executive will give notice to the public of the time and place of 
any meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Rules.  At 
least five clear days before a meeting, the Chief Executive will send a 
summons signed by him or her by post to every member of the Council 
or leave it at their usual place of residence.  The summons will give the 
date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business to be 
transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are available. 
 

6. CHAIR OF MEETING 
 
 The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of 

the Mayor.  Where these rules apply to committee and sub-committee 
meetings, references to the Mayor also include the chairman of 
committees and sub-committees. 

 

Page 627



 

 119 

 
7. QUORUM 
 

The quorum of a meeting will be 18 members of the whole number of 
members.  During any meeting if the Mayor counts the number of 
members present and declares there is not a quorum present, then the 
meeting will adjourn immediately.  Remaining business will be 
considered at a time and date fixed by the Mayor.  If he/she does not fix 
a date, the remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary 
meeting. 
 

8. DURATION OF MEETING 
 
 All meetings of the Council, except meetings where the summons states 

a different time, will commence at 7.30 pm. 
 
9. QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC 
 

9.1 General 
 
 Members of the public may ask questions of members of the 

Cabinet at ordinary meetings of the Council. 
 
9.2 Order of questions 
 
 Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received, 

except that the Mayor may group together similar questions. 
 
9.3 Notice of questions 
 
 A question may only be asked if notice has been given by 

delivering it in writing or by electronic mail to the Chief Executive 
or the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted 
Services)Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services) no 
later than the date and time set out in Appendix A.  Each question 
must give the name and address of the questioner and must 
name the member of the Council to whom it is to be put. 

 
9.4 Number of questions 
 
 At any one meeting no person may submit more than 1 question 

and no more than 2 such questions may be asked on behalf of 
one organisation. 

 
9.5 Time allowed for questions 
 
 The time allocated for questions by the public and replies shall 

not exceed one half-hour.  Each questioner shall be allowed up to 
three minutes to put his/her question. 

 

Page 628



 

 120 

9.6 Scope of questions 
 
 The Mayor may reject a question if it: 
 

 is not about a matter for which the Council has a 
responsibility or which affects the Borough; 

 

 is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
 

 is substantially the same as a question which has been put 
at a meeting of the Council in the past six months;  or 

 

 requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt 
information. 

 
9.7 Record of questions 
 
 The Chief Executive will enter each question in a book open to 

public inspection and will immediately send a copy of the question 
to the member to whom it is to be put.  Rejected questions will 
include reasons for rejection. 

 
 Copies of all questions will be circulated to all members and will 

be made available to the public attending the meeting. 
 
9.8 Asking the question at the meeting 
 
 The Mayor will invite the questioner to put the question to the 

member named in the notice.  If a questioner who has submitted 
a written question is unable to be present, they may ask the 
Mayor to put the question on their behalf.  The Mayor may ask the 
question on the questioner’s behalf, indicate that a written reply 
will be given or decide, in the absence of the questioner, that the 
question will not be dealt with. 

 
9.9 Supplemental question 
 
 A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one 

supplementary question without notice to the member who has 
replied to his or her original question.  A supplementary question 
must arise directly out of the original question or the reply.  The 
Mayor may reject a supplementary question on any of the 
grounds in Rule 9.6 above. 

 
9.10 Written answers 
 
 Any question, which cannot be dealt with during public question 

time, either because of lack of time or because of the non-
attendance of the member to whom it was to be put, will be dealt 
with by a written answer. 

 
 

Page 629



 

 121 

9.11 Reference of question to Cabinet or a Committee 
 
 Unless the Mayor decides otherwise, no discussion will take place 

on any question, but any member may move that a matter raised 
by a question be referred to Cabinet, the appropriate committee 
or sub-committee.  Once seconded, such a motion will be voted 
on without discussion. 

 
10. QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS 
 

10.1 On reports of Cabinet Members 
 

10.1.1 The Leader and Cabinet members may make a report 
(either orally or in writing) to the Council on any matter 
falling within their portfolio. 

 
10.1.2 Where the Leader or a Cabinet member makes a report 

to the Council under 10.1.1 above a member of the 
Council may, at the conclusion of the report, ask the 
Leader or Cabinet member any question without notice 
upon an item on the report or upon any matter falling 
within their portfolio. 

 
10.1.3 Where the Leader or a Cabinet member does not make a 

report to the Council under 10.1.1 above a member of 
the Council may, nonetheless, ask the Leader or Cabinet 
member any question without notice upon any matter 
falling within their portfolio. 

 
10.1.4 If a Cabinet member is absent a report need not be given 

to the Council on their behalf by another Cabinet 
member.  Any question which may have been asked of 
the absent Cabinet member may be asked of the Leader.  
The Leader may, where appropriate, ask another Cabinet 
member to answer any such question. 

 
10.1.5 The maximum time allowed for members of the Council 

to ask questions without notice of the Leader or a 
Cabinet member under 10.1.2 and 10.1.3 above and for 
answers to be given is 10 minutes in respect of each 
executive member. 

 
10.2 On reports of the Cabinet or Committees 
 
 A member of the Council may ask the Leader or the Chairman of 

a committee any question without notice upon an item on the 
report of the Cabinet or a committee when that item is being 
received or under consideration by the Council. 

 

Page 630



 

 122 

10.3 Questions on notice at full Council 
 
 Subject to Rule 10.5, a member of the Council may ask: 
 

 the Mayor 
 

 a member of the Cabinet; 
 

 the chairman of any committee or sub-committee 
 

a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has 
powers or duties or which affects the Borough. 
 

10.4 Questions on notice at committees and sub-committees 
 
 Subject to Rule 10.5, a member of a committee or sub-committee 

may ask the chairman of it a question on any matter in relation to 
which the Council has powers or duties or which affect the 
Borough and which falls within the terms of reference of that 
committee or sub-committee. 

 
10.5 Notice of questions 
 

 A member may only ask a question under Rule 10.3 or 10.4 if 
either: 

 
(a) they have given notice in writing as set out in Appendix A;  

or 
 

(b) the question relates to urgent matters, they have the 
consent of the Mayor or chairman of the committee or sub-
committee to whom the question is to be put and the 
content of the question is given to the Chief Executive by 
10 am on the day of the meeting. 

 

10.6 Response 
 
An answer may take the form of: 
 

(a) a direct oral answer; 
 
(b) where the desired information is in a publication of the 

Council or other published work, a reference to that 
publication;  or 

 

(c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a 
written answer circulated later to the questioner. 

 
10.7 Supplementary questions 

 

A member asking a question under Rule 10.3 or 10.4 may ask a 
maximum of three supplementary questions without notice of the 
member to whom the first question was asked.  A supplementary 
question must arise directly out of the reply to the previous 
question. 

Page 631



 

 123 

 
11. MOTIONS ON NOTICE 
 

11.1 Notice  
 
 Except for motions which can be moved without notice under 

Rule 13, written notice of every motion must be delivered to the 
Chief Executive or the Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services)Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services) not later than the date and time set out in Appendix A.  
These will be entered in a book open to public inspection. 

 
11.2 Motion set out in agenda 
 
 Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the 

agenda in the order in which notice was received, unless the 
member giving notice states, in writing, that they propose to move 
it to a later meeting or withdraw it. 

 
11.3 Scope 
 
 Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a 

responsibility or which affect the Borough. 
 

12. MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 
 
 The following motions may be moved without notice: 
 

(a) to appoint a chairman of the meeting at which the motion is 
moved; 

 
(b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 
 
(c) to change the order of business in the agenda; 
 
(d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 
 
(e) to appoint a committee or member arising from an item on the 

summons for the meeting; 
 
(f) to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of the Cabinet 

or committees or officers and any resolutions following from them; 
 
(g) to withdraw a motion; 
 
(h) to amend a motion; 
 
(i) to proceed to the next business; 
 
(j) that the question be now put; 
 
(k) to adjourn a debate; 

Page 632



 

 124 

 
(l) to adjourn a meeting; 
 
(m) to suspend a particular Council procedure rule; 
 
(n) to amend the Council procedure rules; 
 
(o) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 

Information Rules; 
 
(p) to not hear further a member named under Rule 20.3 or to 

exclude them from the meeting under Rule 20.4;  and 
 
(q) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by 

this Constitution. 
 

13. RULES OF DEBATE 
 

13.1 No speeches until motion seconded 
 
 No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a 

proposal and explained the purpose of it until the motion has 
been seconded. 

 
13.2 Right to require motion in writing 
 
 Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Mayor 

may require it to be written down and  handed to him/her before it 
is discussed. 

 
13.3 Seconder's speech 
 
 When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve 

their speech until later in the debate. 
 
13.4 Content and length of speeches 
 
 Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to 

a personal explanation or point of order.  No speech may exceed 
10 minutes in the case of a mover of a motion and 5 minutes in 
the case of any other speaker without the consent of the Mayor. 

 
13.5 When a member may speak again 
 
 A member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again 

whilst it is the subject of debate, except; 
 

(a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another 
member; 

 
(b) to move a further amendment if the motion has been 

amended since he/she last spoke; 

Page 633



 

 125 

 
(c) if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by 

another member, to speak on the main issue (whether or 
not the amendment on which he/she spoke was carried); 

 
(d) in exercise of a right of reply; 
 
(e) on a point of order;  and 
 
(f) by way of personal explanation. 
 

13.6 Amendments to motions 
 
(a) An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion 

and will either be: 
 

(i) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or 
individual for consideration or reconsideration; 

 
(ii) to leave out words 
 
(iii) to leave out words and insert or add others;  or 
 
(iv) to insert or add words 
 
as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to negate the 

motion. 
 

(b) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any 
one time.  No further amendment may be moved until the 
amendment under discussion has been disposed of. 

 
(c) If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the 

original motion may be moved. 
 
(d) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes 

the place of the original motion.  This becomes the 
substantive motion to which any further amendments are 
moved. 

 
(e) After an amendment has been carried, the Mayor will read 

out the amended motion before accepting any further 
amendments, or if there are none, put it to the vote. 

 
 
13.7 Alteration of Motion 

 
(a) A member may alter a motion of which he/she has given 

notice with the consent of the meeting.  The meeting's 
consent will be signified without discussion. 

 
 

Page 634



 

 126 

(b) A member may alter a motion which he/she has moved 
without notice with the consent of both the meeting and the 
seconder.  The meeting's consent will be signified without 
discussion. 

 
(c) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment 

may be made. 
 

13.8 Withdrawal of motion 
 
A member may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with 
the consent of both the meeting and the seconder.  The meeting's 
consent will be signified without discussion.  No member may 
speak on the motion after the mover has asked permission to 
withdraw it unless permission is refused. 
 

13.9 Right of reply 
 

(a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the 
debate on the motion, immediately before it is put to the 
vote. 

 
(b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original 

motion has the right of reply at the close of the debate on 
the amendment, but may not otherwise speak on it. 

 
(c) The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the 

debate on his or her amendment. 
 

13.10 Motions which may be moved during debate 
 
 When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved 

except the following procedural motions: 
 

(a) to withdraw a motion; 
 
(b) to amend a motion; 
 
(c) to proceed to the next business; 
 
(d) that the question be now put; 
 
(e) to adjourn a debate; 
 
(f) to adjourn a meeting; 
 
(g) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the 

Access to Information Rules;  and 
 
(h) to not hear further a member named under Rule 20.3 or to 

exclude them from the meeting under Rule 20.4. 

Page 635



 

 127 

13.11 Closure motions 
 

(a) A member may move, without comment, the following 
motions at the end of a speech of another member: 

 
 (i) to proceed to the next business; 
 
 (ii) that the question be now put; 
 
 (iii) to adjourn a debate;  or 
 
 (iv) to adjourn a meeting. 
 
(b) If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and 

the Mayor thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, 
he or she will give the mover of the original motion a right 
of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote. 

 
(c) If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and 

the Mayor thinks the item has been sufficiently discussed, 
he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote.  If it is 
passed he/she will give the mover of the original motion a 
right of reply before putting his/her motion to the vote. 

 
(d) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting 

is seconded and the Mayor thinks the item has not been 
sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably be so 
discussed on that occasion, he/she will put the procedural 
motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original 
motion the right of reply. 

 
13.12 Point of order 

 
A member may raise a point of order at any time.  The Mayor will 
hear them immediately.  A point of order may only relate to an 
alleged breach of these Council Procedure Rules or the law.  The 
member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which 
he/she considers it has been broken.  The ruling of the Mayor on 
the matter will be final. 
 

13.13 Personal explanation 
 
 A member may make a personal explanation at any time.  A 

personal explanation may only relate to some material part of an 
earlier speech by the member which may appear to have been 
misunderstood in the present debate.  The ruling of the Mayor on 
the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final. 

 

Page 636



 

 128 

14. RULING BY MAYOR/CHAIRMAN 
 

The Mayor/Chairman may issue a ruling during a meeting which can 
only be overturned by two thirds of members present voting against the 
ruling.  The proposer of the motion to reverse the ruling will have 2 
minutes to speak, the seconder will have the right to speak and there will 
be no debate.  The Mayor/Chairman will put the motion to the vote. 
 

15. PREVIOUS DECISIONS AND MOTIONS 
 

15.1 Motion to rescind a previous decision 
 

A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting 
of Council within the past six months cannot be moved unless the 
notice of motion is signed by at least 8 members. 
 

15.2 Motion similar to one previously rejected 
 
 A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been 

rejected at a meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be 
moved unless the notice of motion or amendment is signed by at 
least 8 members.  Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, 
no one can propose a similar motion or amendment for six 
months. 

 
16. VOTING 
 

16.1 Majority 
 
 Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be 

decided by a simple majority of those members voting and 
present in the room at the time the question was put. 

 
16.2 Mayor’s casting vote 
 
 If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Mayor will 

have a second or casting vote.  There will be no restriction on 
how the Mayor chooses to exercise a casting vote. 

 
16.3 Show of hands 
 
 Unless a ballot or recorded vote is demanded under Rules 16.4 

and 16.5, the Mayor will take the vote by show of hands, or if 
there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting. 

 
16.4 Ballots 
 
 The vote will take place by ballot if 3 members present at the 

meeting demand it.  The Mayor will announce the numerical result 
of the ballot immediately the result is known. 

 

Page 637



 

 129 

16.5 Recorded vote 
 

16.5.1 If 3 members present at the meeting demand it, the 
names for and against the motion or amendment or 
abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and 
entered into the minutes.  A demand for a recorded 
vote will override a demand for a ballot. 

 
16.5.2 A recorded vote will be required at a meeting of the 

Council on business to approve the Budget or set 
Council Tax. The minutes of the Council meeting will 
record the names of those voting for, against and 
abstaining. 

  
 (Amended 02/15) 

 
 
16.6 Right to require individual vote to be recorded 
 
 Where any member requests it immediately after the vote is 

taken, their vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show 
whether they voted for or against the motion or abstained from 
voting. 

 
16.7 Voting on appointments 
 
 If there are more than two people nominated for any position to 

be filled and there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one 
person, then the name of the person with the least number of 
votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken.  The process 
will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. 

 
17. MINUTES AND RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
 

17.1 The Mayor will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next 
suitable meeting.  The Mayor will move that the minutes of the 
previous meeting be signed as a correct record.  The only part of 
the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy. 

 
17.2 No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at 

extraordinary meeting 
 
 Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the 

purpose of signing the minutes is a meeting called under 
paragraph 3 of schedule 12 to the Local Government Act 1972 
(an Extraordinary Meeting), then the next following meeting 
(being a meeting called otherwise than under that paragraph) will 
be treated as a suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 
41(11) and (2) of schedule 12 relating to signing of minutes. 

Page 638



 

 130 

 
17.3 Form of minutes 
 
 Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the exact 

form and order the Mayor put them. 
 
17.4 Record of proceedings 
 
 Those present may make a written record of the proceedings but 

no person (including members) may undertake photography or 
any form of sound or vision recording without the express consent 
of the Mayor. 

 
18. RECORD OF ATTENDANCE 
 

All members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign 
their names on the attendance sheets before the conclusion of every 
meeting to assist with the record of attendance. 
 

19. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 
 Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in 

accordance with the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution or Rule 21 (Disturbance by Public). 

 
20. MEMBERS’ CONDUCT 
 

20.1 Standing to speak 
 
 When a member speaks at full Council they must stand and 

address the meeting through the Mayor.  If more than one 
member stands, the Mayor will ask one to speak and the others 
must sit.  Other members must remain seated whilst a member is 
speaking unless they wish to make a point of order or a point of 
personal explanation. 

 
20.2 Mayor standing 
 
 When the Mayor stands during a debate, any member speaking 

at the time must stop and sit down.  The meeting must be silent. 
 
20.3 Member not to be heard further 
 
 If a member persistently disregards the ruling of the Mayor by 

behaving improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs 
business, the Mayor may move that the member be not heard 
further.  If seconded, the motion will be voted on without 
discussion. 

Page 639



 

 131 

 
20.4 Member to leave the meeting 
 
 If the member continues to behave improperly after such a motion 

is carried, the Mayor may move that either the member leaves the 
meeting or that the meeting is adjourned for a specified period.  If 
seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion. 

 
20.5 General disturbance 
 
 If there is a general disturbance making orderly business 

impossible, the Mayor may adjourn the meeting for as long as 
he/she thinks necessary. 

 
21. DISTURBANCE BY PUBLIC 
 

21.1 Removal of member of the public 
 

 If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Mayor will 
warn the person concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the 
Mayor will order their removal from the meeting room. 

 

21.2 Clearance of part of meeting room 
 
 If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room 

open to the public, the Mayor may call for that part to be cleared. 
 

22. SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE 
RULES 

 
22.1 Suspension 
 
 All of these Council Procedure Rules except Rule 16.6 and 17.2 

may be suspended by motion on notice or without notice if at 
least one  half of the whole number of members of the Council 
are present.  Suspension can only be for the duration of the 
meeting. 

 
22.2 Amendment 
 

 Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Procedure 
Rules will, when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned 
without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

 

23. COMMITTEES RULE APPLICATION  
 

23.1 All of these Council Procedure Rules apply to meetings of full 
Council.  Rules 4-6, 9, 10.4, 14 and 16-19 apply to meetings of 
committees and sub-committees.  The Rules applicable to 
meetings of the Cabinet are set out in the Executive Procedure 
Rules. 

 

Page 640



 

 132 

23.2 Rule 8 also applies to meetings of Committees and Sub-
Committees except that the meeting of the Development 
Management Committee will commence at 7.00 pm. 

 

24. PROGRAMME 
 

24.1 A programme of meetings of the Council's Committees shall be 
approved annually by the Council but the date of any meeting 
may be varied by the appropriate Council's Committee. 

 
24.2 Meetings of other Committees or Sub-Committees shall be held 

at times determined by the respective Chairs. 
 

25. SPECIAL MEETINGS 
 

25.1 The Chairman of a Committee may call a special meeting at any 
time. 

 
25.2 On the written requisition signed by one half of the whole number 

of members of a Committee delivered to the Chief Executive a 
special meeting of the Standing Committee shall be called. 

 
25.3 The summons to a special meeting shall set out the business to 

be transacted and no other business shall be considered at that 
meeting. 

 
26. RIGHT TO ATTEND 
 

A member of the Council may attend any meeting of any Committee or 
sub-Committee of which he or she is not a member and may, with the 
permission of the Chairman of the meeting, speak but shall not move or 
second any motion or vote. 
 

27. QUORUM 
 

The quorum of a meeting of a Committee appointed by the Council will 
be a third of the whole number of members.  During any meeting, if the 
Chair/man counts the number of members present and declares there is 
not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately. 
 

28. ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
 Order of business shall be as indicated in the agenda or otherwise as 

the Chairman shall prescribe. 
 
29. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

29.1 An item will be included on the agenda for meetings of the 
Committees after the item on "Apologies for Absence" to allow 
members of the public to make statements or ask questions in 
accordance with the rules for public participation. 

 

Page 641



 

 133 

29.2 At a meeting of a Committee (except for planning applications at 
Development Management Committee) a member of the public 
may (if written notice has been given by 12 noon on the working 
day preceding the date of the meeting) make a statement or ask 
the Chairman a question provided that it is within the powers and 
functions of that Committee. 

 
29.3 The maximum time allowed for the making of statements and the 

asking of questions is 15 minutes. 
 
29.4 Every person is allowed a maximum of 2 minutes in which to 

make their statement or ask their question. 
 
29.5 Every person must when invited to do so address their statement 

or question to the Chairman of the Committee. 
 
29.6 Every statement or question answered must be answered without 

discussion and the Chairman may decline to answer. 
 
29.7 Every person must maintain respect for the Chairman and the 

meeting. 
 
29.8 Every person must after making a statement or asking a question 

take their seat to listen to the reply or if they wish join the public 
for the rest of the meeting or leave the meeting. 

 
29.9 The Chairman may at his or her discretion disallow the making of 

a statement or the asking of questions if he or she is of the 
opinion that the proper dispatch of the business of the Committee 
may be impeded or that a breach of order may be occasioned. 

 
29.10 The questioner may not ask the same or a similar question within 

a six month period except for the following circumstances: 
 

(a) Deferred planning applications which have foregone a 
significant or material change since originally being 
considered. 

 
(b) Re-submitted planning applications which have foregone a 

significant or material change. 
 
(c) Any issues which are re-submitted to Committee in view of 

further facts or information to be considered. 
 
That matters with regard to (a) and (b) above be determined by 
the case officer in consultation with the Development Control 
Manager and Chairman.  Matters with regard to (c) above, the 
case officer and relevant Chairman. 
 
That in cases where there are more than 1 or 2 people wishing to 
speak on a planning application, the shared time be increased 
from 3 minutes to 5 minutes. 

Page 642



 

 134 

 
29.11 Development Management Committee 
 

 At a meeting of the Development Management Committee, a 
person or their representative may, if notice in writing, by 
telephone or in person has been given by 12 noon on the day of 
the meeting, speak on a particular planning application, provided 
that it is on the agenda to be considered at the meeting. 

 

29.12 For each planning application, which is subject of consideration at 
the meeting, a maximum period of five minutes will be allocated 
for each of the following to address the meeting, on a 'first come 
first served’ basis: 

 

 Town/Parish Council and Neighbourhood Associations 
 Objectors to an application 
 Supporters of the application 
 
29.13 If more than one person in any of the categories in 29.12 above 

wishes to speak they should agree with the other members of that 
category the order in which they should speak or alternatively 
they may if they so wish, agree that one member of a category 
will represent the views of the others.  Where one person in a 
category wishes to speak that person will be allowed a maximum 
of three minutes.  Where more than 1 person in a category 
wishes to speak, a total time of 5 minutes will be shared between 
the speakers in that category. 

 
29.14 If a person wishes to speak on any other matter (other than a 

planning application) they must give notice and comply with the 
conditions in paragraph 29.2 above. 

 
30. MOTIONS AND AMENDMENTS 
 

30.1 Every motion shall be relevant to some matter within the 
Committee's terms of reference and shall arise upon a matter 
contained within the agenda.  The Chairman may however at his 
or her discretion allow consideration of reports or motions which 
are within the Committee's terms of reference but not contained 
within the agenda, if by reason of special circumstances which 
shall be specified in the minutes, the matter is urgent. 

 
30.2 Motions and amendments shall not be considered unless they are 

moved and seconded. 
 

31. SPEECHES 
 
 All speeches shall be concise and relevant to the matter in hand. 
 
32. QUESTIONS 
 

32.1 Questions relating to matters on the agenda shall be asked when 
that matter is discussed. 

Page 643



 

 135 

 
32.2 Questions may be addressed to the Chairman or, through the 

Chairman, to an employee, who may answer orally, may 
undertake to provide a written reply within seven days or may 
decline to answer. 

 
33. CONDUCT 
 

33.1 The Chairman shall control the conduct of the meeting and the 
decision of the Chairman on any point of order shall be final and 
shall not be questioned during the meeting. 

 
33.2 Smoking is prohibited during meetings. 
 
33.3 Members may speak sitting and as often as the Chairman may 

consider reasonable and may move motions without notice. 
 
33.4 Except as otherwise indicated in this paragraph, the rules of order 

of debate of the Council shall, as far as they are applicable, 
govern the proceedings of all Committees and Sub-Committees. 

 
34. MISCONDUCT 
 

34.1 Misconduct by Member 
 
 If a member persistently disregards the ruling of the Chairman, 

behaves in a disorderly manner or wilfully obstructs the business 
of the meeting, the Chairman may require that the member be 
silent or that the member leave the meeting.  If the member does 
not comply or otherwise persists in misconduct, the Chairman 
may order that the member be removed. 

 
34.2 Misconduct by Public 
 
 If a member of the public interrupts the meeting or behaves in a 

disorderly manner the Chairman shall give a warning.  If the 
warning is disregarded, the Chairman may order that the member 
of the public be removed and may adjourn or suspend the 
meeting for so long as seems fit. 

 
34.3 General Disturbance 
 
 In the case of general disturbance by members of the public, the 

Chairman may order that all or part of the room be cleared and 
may order that members of the public be removed from all or any 
part of the building. 

 
35. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 
 

35.1 Subject to paragraph 35.10, below, substitute members will where 
required be nominated by the relevant Leader or Deputy Leader 
of a political group  for each Committee and Sub-Committee  

Page 644



 

 136 

,subject to the following rules: 
 
35.2 The substitution of a member shall be effected by the service of 

an email notice upon the Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services)Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic 
Services) sent to member.support@dacorum.gov.uk by the 
Leader or Deputy Leader of the appropriate political group. 

 
35.3 The Leader or Deputy Leader of the political group of which the 

member to be substituted is a member must serve notice of the 
substitution on the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted 
Services)Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services) as 
soon as possible, and in any event not less than 24 hours before 
the meeting in respect of which the substitution is proposed.   

 
35.4 That a reason for the substitution of a member be included in the 

email  and that the circumstances in which substitution may be 
permitted are Members’ business commitments (including Council 
business) sickness, inescapable family commitments, religious or 
cultural reasons or reasons of disability. 

 
 
35.5 The substitute member must be of the same political group as the 

member substituted and no substitute member may substitute for 
more than one ordinary member of a Committee or Sub-
Committee at any one time. 

 
35.6 In respect of the Development Management Committee, the 

Licensing and Health & Safety Enforcement Committee (including 
the appointed Licensing sub-committees), the Appeals and 
Reviews Committee and the Audit Committee, the substitute 
member must have attended appropriate training. 

  
 
35.7 Notices of substitute membership served on the Assistant 

Director (Corporate and Contracted Services)Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic Services) in accordance with this Standing 
Order shall be recorded in the minutes. 

 
35.8 If a substitute member attends a Committee in accordance with 

the above rules he or she will be entitled to the full rights of 
membership including the right to speak and vote, subject to the 
rules relating to declaration of interests. 

 
35.9 Once a member or substitute member has attended for part of a 

meeting he or she shall not be entitled to be replaced for any 
subsequent part of the same meeting. 

 
35.10 These rules relating to substitute members shall not apply to the 

Standards Committee or any sub-committee of the Standards 
Committee. 

 

Page 645

mailto:member.support@dacorum.gov.uk


 

 137 

APPENDIX A 
 
TABLES 
 
Notices of Motion 
 
Set out in the table below is the day and time on which Notices of Motion must 
be delivered to the Chief Executive or the Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services)Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services) 
 

Day of Meeting Date on which notice must 
be delivered to Chief 
Executive or the  
Assistant Director 
(Corporate and 
Contracted 
Services)Assistant 
Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services)  

Latest time notice must be 
received by the Chief 

Executive or the 
Assistant Director 
(Corporate and 

Contracted 
Services)Assistant 
Director (Legal and 

Democratic Services)  

   
Monday and Tuesday The 2nd Wednesday 

preceding the meeting 
 

4.00 pm 

   
Wednesday, Thursday 
and Friday 

The 2nd Friday preceding 
the meeting 

 

4.00 pm 

 
Questions by Members of the Council and Public 
 
Set out in the table below is the day and time on which Questions must be 
delivered to the Chief Executive or the Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services)Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services)  
 

Day of Meeting The date on which 
notice must be received 
by the Chief Executive 
or the Assistant Director 
(Corporate and 
Contracted 
Services)Assistant 
Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services)  
 

Latest time notice must 
be received by the Chief 
Executive or the 
Assistant Director 
(Corporate and 
Contracted 
Services)Assistant 
Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services)  

   
Monday and Tuesday The Wednesday 

preceding the meeting 
 

4.00 pm 

   
Wednesday, Thursday 
and Friday 

The Friday preceding the 
meeting 

 

4.00 pm 

Page 646



 

 138 

 

Page 647



 

 139 

PART 4 ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. SCOPE 
 
 These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees, the Standards Committee and regulatory committees and 
public meetings of the Cabinet (together called meetings). 

 
2. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 
 
 These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information 

contained elsewhere in this Constitution or the law. 
 
3. RIGHTS TO ATTEND MEETINGS 
 
 Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the 

exceptions in these rules. 
 
4. NOTICES OF MEETING 
 
 The Council will give at least five clear days notice of any meeting by 

posting details of the meeting at the Council’s main offices. 
 
4(a) NOTICE OF PRIVATE MEETINGS OF THE EXECUTIVE 
 
4(a)(1) At least 28 days before a private meeting of the Executive the 

proper officer will publish on the Council’s website and make 
available at the Council’s office a notice of the Executive’s 
intention to hold a meeting in private.  The notice must contain the 
reasons why the meeting is to be held in private. 

 
4 (a)(2) At least 5 clear days before a private meeting the proper officer 

will publish on the Council’s website and make available at the 
Council’s office a further notice detailing the reasons for the 
meeting being held in private and details of any representations 
received about why the meeting should be open to the public and 
any response to those representations.  

 
4 (a) (3)  Where the date by which a meeting must be held makes 

compliance with 4 (a) (1) and/or 4 (a) (2) impracticable the 
meeting may only be held  in private where agreement has been 
sought and obtained from the Chairman of the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, or if there is no Chairman or they are 
unable to act, the Mayor or in his absence the Deputy Mayor. 

 
4 (a) (4) Where agreement has been obtained under 4 (a) (3) a notice 

must be published on the Council’s website and made available 
at the Council’s office setting out the reasons for the urgency of 
the meeting. 

 
5. ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 
 

Page 648



 

 140 

 The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the 
public available for inspection at the Council’s main offices at least five 
clear days before the meeting.  If an item is added to the agenda later, 
the revised agenda will be open to inspection from the time the item was 
added to the agenda (where reports are prepared after the summons 
has been sent out, the designated officer shall make each such report 
available to the public as soon as the report is completed and sent to 
Councillors). 

 
6. SUPPLY OF COPIES 
 
 The Council will supply copies of: 
 

(a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
 
(b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the 

nature of the items in the agenda;  and 
 
(c) if the proper officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents 

supplied to Councillors in connection with an item; 
 
to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs. 
 

Page 649



 

 141 

7. ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC AFTER THE MEETING 
 
 The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after 

a meeting: 
 

(a) the minutes of the meeting or records of decisions taken, together 
with reasons, for all meetings of the Cabinet, excluding any part of 
the minutes of proceedings when the meeting was not open to the 
public or which disclose exempt or confidential information; 

 
(b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the 

minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair 
and coherent record; 

 
(c) the agenda for the meeting;  and 
 
(d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 

 
8. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

8.1 List of background papers 
 

The report author will set out in every report a list of those 
documents (called background papers) relating to the subject 
matter of the report which in his/her opinion: 
 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an 

important part of the report is based;  and 
 
(b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing 

the report; 
 
but does not include published works or those which disclose 
exempt or confidential information (as defined in Rule 10) 

 
8.2 Public inspection of background papers 
 

The Council will make available for public inspection for four 
years after the date of the meeting one copy of each of the 
documents on the list of background papers. 
 

9. SUMMARY OF PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 
 

A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to 
inspect and copy documents must be kept at and available to the public 
at the Council’s main offices. 
 
A copy of these Rules will constitute the written summary. 

Page 650



 

 142 

10. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO MEETINGS 
 

10.1 Confidential information – requirement to exclude public 
 
 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely 

in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the 
nature of the proceedings that confidential information would be 
disclosed. 

 
10.2 Exempt information – discretion to exclude public 
 
 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in 

view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature 
of the proceedings that exempt information would be disclosed. 

 
 Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or 

obligations, or adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the 
Human Rights Act 1998 established a presumption that the 
meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is 
necessary for one of the reasons specified in Article 6. 

 
10.3 Meaning of confidential information 
 
 Confidential information means information given to the Council 

by a Government Department on terms which forbid its public 
disclosure or information which cannot be publicly disclosed by 
Court Order. 

 
10.4 Meaning of exempt information 
 

(a) Exempt information means information falling within the 
descriptions set out in the following paragraphs (subject to 
the qualifications mentioned at (b) (c) and (d) below): 

 
 

Category  Condition 
 

1. Information relating to any individual.   

2. Information which is likely to reveal the 
identity of an individual. 

  

3. Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding 
that information). 

 “financial or business affairs” includes 
contemplated, as well as past or current 
activities. 

4. Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between 
the authority or a Minister of the Crown 
and employees of, or office holders 
under, the authority. 

 “employee” means a person employed 
under a contract of service 
 
“labour relations matter” means: 
 
(a) any of the matters specified in 

paragraphs (a) to (g) of sections 
218(1) of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 
1992 (matters which may be the 
subject of a trade dispute, within the 
meaning of that Act): or 

 
 

Page 651



 

 143 

(b) any dispute about a matter falling 
within paragraph (a) above 
 
and for the purposes of this definition the 
enactments mentioned in paragraph (a) 
above, with the necessary modifications, 
shall apply in relation to office-holders 
under the authority as they apply in 
relation to employees of the authority 
 
“office-holder in relation to the authority, 
means the holder of any paid office 
appointments to which are or may be 
made or confirmed by the authority or by 
any joint board on which the authority is 
represented or by any person who holds 
any such office or is an employee of the 
authority. 

 

5. Information in respect of which a claim 
to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

  

6. Information which reveals that the 
authority proposes: 

 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice 

under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a 
person; or 

 
(b) to make an order or direction under 

any enactment 

  

7. Information relating to any action taken 
or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution 
of crime 

  

 Where a meeting of the Standards 
Committee, or a sub-committee of the 
Standards Committee is convened to 
consider a matter referred under 
regulations 13 or 16 to 20 of the 
Standards Committee (England) 
Regulations 2008, or referred under 
section 58(1)(c) of the Local 
Government Act 2000 the following 
descriptions of exempt information are 
inserted -  

  

7A. Information which is subject to any 
obligation of confidentiality. 

  

7B. Information which relates in any way to 
matters concerning national security. 

  

7C. Information presented to the Standards 
Committee or a sub-committee of the 
Standards Committee, set up to 
consider any matter under regulations 
13 or 16 to 20 of the Standards 
Committee (England) Regulations 
2008, or referred under section 
58(1)(c) of the Local Government Act 
2000. 

  

 

Page 652



 

 144 

(b) Information falling within the description in paragraph 3 above is 
not exempt information by virtue of that paragraph if it is required 
to be registered under: 

 
(h) the Companies Act 1985; 
(ii) the Friendly Societies Act 1974 and 1992; 
(iii) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 
(iv) the Building Societies Act 1986*; or 
(v) the Charities Act 1993 

 
”registered” in relation to information required to be registered 
under the Building Societies Act 1986 means recorded in the 
public file of any building society (within the meaning of the Act) 
 

(c) Information falling within any of the above descriptions is not 
exempt information if it relates to proposed development for which 
the local planning authority can grant itself planning permission 
under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General 
Regulations 1992. 

 
(d) Information which: 

 
(i) falls within any of the above descriptions; and 
(ii) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of (b) and (c) 

above; 
 

is exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of 
the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 
 
11. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS 
 
 If the proper officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the 

public to reports which in his or her opinion relate to items during which, 
in accordance with Rule 10, the meeting is likely not to be open to the 
public.  Such reports will be marked “Not for publication” together with 
the category of information likely to be disclosed. 

 
 
12. APPLICATION OF RULES TO THE EXECUTIVE 
 

(a) Rules 13-22 apply to the Cabinet and its committees.  If the 
Cabinet or its committees meet to take a decision in public then it 
must also comply with Rules 1-11. 

 
(b) If the Cabinet or its committees meet to discuss a key decision to 

be taken collectively within 28 days of the date according to the 
forward plan by which it is to be decided, then it must also comply 
with Rules 1-11 unless Rule 15 (general exception) or Rule 16 
(special urgency) apply.  This requirement does not include 
meetings, whose sole purpose is for officers to brief members. 

Page 653



 

 145 

 
13. PROCEDURE BEFORE TAKING KEY DECISIONS 

 
 Subject to Rule 15 (general exception) and Rule 16 (special urgency) a 

key decision may not be taken unless: 
 

(a) a notice (called here a forward plan) has been published in 
connection with the matter in question; 

 
(b) at least 5 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the 

forward plan;  and 
 
(c) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet or 

its committees, notice of the meeting has been given in 
accordance with Rule 4 (notice of meetings). 

 
14. THE FORWARD PLAN 
 

14.1 Period of forward plan 
 
 Forward plans will be prepared by the Leader to cover a period of 

four months, beginning with the first day of any month.  They will 
be prepared on a monthly basis and subsequent plans will cover 
a period beginning with the first day of the second months 
covered in the preceding plan. 

 
14.2 Contents of forward plan 
 

(a) The forward plan will contain matters which the Leader has 
reason to believe will be the subject of a key decision to be 
taken by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, 
individual members of the Cabinet, officers, or under joint 
arrangements in the course of the discharge of an 
executive function during the period covered by the plan.  It 
will describe the following particulars insofar as the 
information is available or might reasonably be obtained: 

 
(i) the matter in respect of which a decision is to be 

made; 
 
(ii) where the decision taker is an individual, his/her 

name and title, if any and where the decision taker 
is a body, its name and details of membership; 

 
(iii) the date on which, or the period within which, the 

decision will be taken; 
 
(iv) the identity of the principal groups whom the 

decision taker proposes to consult before taking the 
decision; 

Page 654



 

 146 

(v) the means by which any such consultation is 
proposed to be undertaken; 

 
(vi) the steps any person might take who wishes to 

make representations to the Cabinet or decision 
taker about the matter in respect of which the 
decision is to be made, and the date by which those 
steps must be taken;  and 

 
(vii) a list of the documents submitted to the decision 

taker for consideration in relation to the matter. 
 

(b) The forward plan must be published at least 14 days 
before the start of the period covered.  The proper officer 
will publish once a year a notice in at least one newspaper 
circulating in the area, stating: 

 
(i) that key decisions are to be taken on behalf of the 

Council; 
 
(ii) that a forward plan containing particulars of the 

matters on which decisions are to be taken will be 
prepared on a monthly basis; 

 
(iii) that the plan will contain details of the key decisions 

to be made for the fourth month period following its 
publication; 

 
(iv) that each plan will be available for inspection at 

reasonable hours free of charge at the Council’s 
main offices; 

 
(v) that each plan will contain a list of the documents 

submitted to the decision takers for consideration in 
relation to the key decisions on the plan; 

 
(vi) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or 

restriction on their disclosure, copies of, or extracts 
from, any document listed in the forward plan is 
available; 

 

(vii) that other documents may be submitted to decision 
takers; 

 

(viii) the procedure for requesting details of documents (if 
any) as they become available;  and 

 
(ix) the dates on each month in the following year on 

which each forward plan will be published and 
available to the public at the Council’s offices. 

 
(c) Exempt information need not be included in a forward plan 

and confidential information cannot be included. 

Page 655



 

 147 

15. GENERAL EXCEPTION 
 
 If a matter which is likely to be a key decision has not been included in 

the forward plan, then subject to Rule 16 (special urgency), the decision 
may still be taken if: 

 
(a) the decision must be taken by such a date that it is impracticable 

to defer the decision until it has been included in the next forward 
plan and until the start of the first month to which the next forward 
plan relates; 

 
(b) the proper officer has informed the Chairman of the relevant 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or if there is no such person, 
each member of that committee in writing, by notice, of the matter 
to which the decision is to be made; 

 
(c) the proper officer has made copies of that notice available to the 

public at the offices of the Council, and published notice  on the 
Council’s web-site;  and 

 
(d) at least 5 clear days have elapsed since the proper officer 

complied with (a) and (b). 
 
As soon as reasonably practicable after the proper officer has complied 
with a) and b) he/she must publish a notice on the Council’s website  
stating why compliance with Rule 14 is impracticable. 
 

16. SPECIAL URGENCY 
 
 If by virtue of the date by which a key decision must be taken Rule 15 

(general exception) cannot be followed, then the decision can be made 
by the decision taker if the Chairman of the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee agrees that the decision is urgent and cannot 
reasonably be deferred.  If there is no Chairman of a relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, or if the Chairman of the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee is unable to act, then the agreement of the Mayor, 
or in his/her absence the Deputy Mayor will suffice. 

 
 As soon as reasonably practicable after the decision taker has obtained 

agreement a notice must be published on the Council’s web-site setting 
out the reasons for urgency and that it cannot reasonably be deferred. 

 
17. REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 

17.1 When an Overview and Scrutiny Committee can require a 
report 

 
 If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee thinks that a key decision 

has been taken which was not: 
 

(a) included in the forward plan;  or 
 

Page 656



 

 148 

(b) the subject of the general exception procedure;  or 
 
(c) the subject of an agreement with the relevant Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee Chairman or the Mayor/Deputy 
Mayor of the Council under Rule 16; 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may require the Cabinet to 
submit a report to the Council within such reasonable time as the 
Committee specifies.  The power to require a report rests with the 
Committee, but is also delegated to the proper officer who shall 
require such a report on behalf of the Committee when so 
requested by the Mayor or any 5 members.  Alternatively, the 
requirement may be raised by resolution passed at a meeting of 
the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
17.2 Cabinet’s report to Council 
 
 The Cabinet will prepare a report for submission to the next 

available meeting of the Council.  However, if the next meeting of 
the Council is within 7 days of receipt of the written notice, or the 
resolution of the Committee, then the report may be submitted to 
the meeting after that.  The report to Council will set out 
particulars of the decision, the individual or body making the 
decision, and if the Leader is of the opinion that it was not a key 
decision the reasons for that opinion. 

 
17.3 Quarterly reports on special urgency decisions 
 

 In any event the Leader will submit quarterly reports to the 
Council on the executive decisions taken in the circumstances set 
out in Rule 16 (special urgency) in the preceding three months.  
The report will include the number of decisions so taken and a 
summary of the matters in respect of which those decisions were 
taken. 

 
18. RECORD OF DECISIONS 
 
 After any meeting of the Cabinet or any of its committees, the proper 

officer or, where no officer was present, the person presiding at the 
meeting, will produce a record of every decision taken at that meeting as 
soon as practicable.  The record will include a statement of the reasons 
for each decision and any alternative options considered and rejected at 
that meeting. 

 
19. OFFICERS 
 

(a) the Head of the Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer and the 
Monitoring Officer, and their nominees are entitled to attend any 
meeting of the Cabinet and its committees.  The Cabinet may not 
meet unless the proper officer has been given reasonable notice 
that a meeting is to take place. 

 

Page 657



 

 149 

(b) A Cabinet meeting may only take place in the presence of the 
proper officer or his/her nominee with responsibility for recording 
and publicising the decisions. 

 
In all of the above examples, the provisions of Rule 18 (recording and 
publicising decisions) will apply. 

 

Page 658



 

 150 

20. DECISIONS BY INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE        
           OFFICERS UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

 
20.1 Reports intended to be taken into account 
 
 Where an individual member of the Cabinet receives a report 

which he/she intends to take into account in making any key 
decision, then he/she will not make the decision until at least 5 
clear days after receipt of that report. 

 
20.2 Provision of copies of reports to Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees 
 
 On giving of such a report to an individual decision maker, the 

person who prepared the report will give a copy of it to the 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman of every relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee as soon as reasonably practicable, and make 
it publicly available at the same time. 

 
20.3 Record of individual decision 
 
 As soon as reasonably practicable after an executive decision 

has been taken by an individual member of the Cabinet or an 
officer, he/she will prepare, or instruct the proper officer to 
prepare, a record of the decision, a statement of the reasons for it 
and any alternative options considered and rejected.  The 
provisions of Rules 7 and 8 (inspection of documents after 
meetings) will also apply to the making of decisions by individual 
members of the Cabinet or officers.  This does not require the 
disclosure of exempt or confidential information. 

 
21. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES ACCESS TO 
DOCUMENTS 
 

21.1 Rights to copies 
 

Subject to Rule 21.2 below, an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will be entitled to copies of any document which is in the 
possession or control of the Cabinet or its committees and which 
contains material relating to: 

 
(a) any business transacted at a meeting of the Cabinet or its 

committees;  or 
 
(b) any decision taken by an individual member of the Cabinet. 
 

Page 659



 

 151 

21.2 Limit on rights 
 
 An Overview and Scrutiny Committee will not be entitled to: 
 

(a) any document that is in draft form; 
 
(b) any part of a document that contains exempt or 

confidential information, unless that information is relevant 
to an action or decision they are reviewing or scrutinising 
or intend to scrutinise. 

 
22. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS FOR MEMBERS 
 

22.1 Material relating to previous business or business to be 
transacted 

 
22.1.2 Subject to paragraph 22.1.3 below, all members of the 

Council will be entitled to inspect any document which is in 
the possession or under the control of the Council or the 
Cabinet and contains material relating to any business to 
be transacted (or previously transacted) at a meeting of the 
Council, or a committee or sub-committee of the Council, 
or the Cabinet. 

 
22.1.3 Members of the Council are not entitled to inspect any 

document if it appears to the proper officer that it discloses 
exempt information unless it is information of a description 
for the time being falling within: 

 
(a) paragraph 3 (except to the extent that 

the information relates to any terms 
proposed or to be proposed by or to 
the Council in the course of 
negotiations for a contract, or 

 
(b) paragraph 6. 

 
22.2 Material relating to key decisions 
 
 All members of the Council will be entitled to inspect any 

document (except those available only in draft form) in the 
possession or under the control of the Cabinet or its committees 
which relates to any key decision. 

 
22.3 Nature of rights 
 
 These rights of a member are additional to any other right he/she 

may have. 
 

 
 

Page 660



 

 152 

PART 4 BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. The Council is responsible for the adoption of its budget and policy 

framework as set out in Article 4.  Once a budget or a policy framework 
is in place, it is the responsibility of the Cabinet to implement it. 

 
2. The Process for Developing the Framework 
 

(a) The Cabinet will publicise a timetable for making proposals to the 
Council for the adoption of any plan, strategy or budget that forms 
part of the budget and policy framework, and its arrangements for 
consultation after publication of those initial proposals.  The 
Chairmen of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will also be 
notified.  The consultation period shall in each instance be not 
less than 6 weeks. 

 
(b) At the end of that period, the Cabinet will then draw up firm 

proposals having regard to the responses to that consultation.  If 
a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee wishes to respond 
to the Cabinet in that consultation process then it may do so.  As 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committees have responsibility for 
fixing their own work programme, it is open to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to investigate, research or report in detail with 
policy recommendations before the end of the consultation 
period.  The Cabinet will take any response from an Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee into account in drawing up firm proposals 
for submission to the Council, and its report to Council will reflect 
the comments made by consultees and the Cabinet’s response. 

 
(c) Once the Cabinet has approved the firm proposals, the proper 

officer will refer them at the earliest opportunity to the Council for 
decision. 

 
(d) In reaching a decision, the Council may adopt the Cabinet’s 

proposals, amend them, refer them back to the Cabinet for further 
consideration, or in principle, substitute its own proposals in their 
place. 

 
(e) If it accepts the recommendation of the Cabinet without 

amendment, the Council may make a decision which has 
immediate effect.  Otherwise, it may only make an in-principle 
decision.  In either case, the decision will be made on the basis of 
a simple majority of votes cast at the meeting. 

 
(f) The decision will be publicised in accordance with the Access to 

Information Rules and a copy shall be given to the Leader. 
 
(g) An in-principle decision will automatically become effective at 

least 5 days from the date of the Council’s decision, unless within 
that period the Leader informs the proper officer in writing that 
he/she objects to the decision becoming effective and provides 
reasons why. 

Page 661



 

 153 

 
(h) In that case, the proper officer will call a Council meeting within a 

further 5 days.  The Council will be required to re-consider its 
decision and the Leader’s written submission within 10 days of 
being called.  The Council may: 

 
(i) approve the Cabinet’s recommendation by a simple 

majority of votes cast at the meeting;  or 
 
(ii) approve a different decision which does not accord with 

the recommendation of the Cabinet by a simple majority. 
 

(i) The decision shall then be made public in accordance with the 
Access to Information Rules, and shall be implemented 
immediately. 

 
(j) In approving the budget and policy framework, the Council will 

also specify the extent of virement within the budget and degree 
of in-year changes to the policy framework which may be 
undertaken by the Cabinet.  Any other changes to the policy and 
budgetary framework are reserved to the Council. 

 
3. Urgent Decisions Outside the Budget or Policy Framework 
 

(a) The Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, an individual member 
of the Cabinet or officers, or joint arrangements discharging 
executive functions may take a decision which is contrary to the 
Council’s policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the budget approved by full Council if the 
decision is a matter of urgency.  However, the decision may only 
be taken: 

 
(i) if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the full 

Council;  and 
 
(ii) unless both the Chairman and Vice Chairman of a relevant 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees that the decision 
is a matter of urgency. 

 
The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting 
of full Council and the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees’ consent to the 
decision being taken as a matter or urgency must be noted on the 
record of the decision.  In the absence of the Chairman and Vice-
Chairman of a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee the 
decision be referred to a special meeting of the Council. 
 

4. Virement 
 

(a) The Council’s rules concerning the transfer of budgets (virement) 
are set out in the Financial Regulations 

 

Page 662



 

 154 

 
5. In-Year Changes to Policy Framework 
 
 The responsibility for agreeing the budget and policy framework lies with 

the Council, and decisions by the Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, 
an individual member of the Cabinet or officers, or joint arrangements, 
discharging executive functions must be in line with it.  No changes to 
any policy and strategy which make up the policy framework may be 
made by those bodies or individuals except those changes necessary to 
ensure compliance with the law, ministerial direction or statutory 
guidance. 

 
6. Call-In of Decisions Outside the Budget or Policy Framework 
 
 (a) Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of the opinion that 

an executive decision is, or if made would be, contrary to the 
policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with 
the Council’s budget, then it shall seek advice from the Assistant 
Director (Corporate and Contracted Services)Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic Services) and/or Chief Finance Officer. 

 
 (b) In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet, 

the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted 
Services)Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services)  
report and/or Chief Finance Officer’s report shall be to the 
Cabinet with a copy to every member of the Council.  Regardless 
of whether the decision is delegated or not, the Cabinet must 
meet to decide what action to take in respect of the Assistant 
Director (Corporate and Contracted Services)Assistant Director 
(Legal and Democratic Services) report and/or Chief Finance 
Officer’s report and to prepare a report to Council in the event that 
the Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted 
Services)Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services) or 
the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the decision was a 
departure, and to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee if the 
Assistant Director (Corporate and Contracted Services)Assistant 
Director (Legal and Democratic Services) or the Chief Finance 
Officer conclude that the decision was not a departure. 

 
 (c) If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made, but not yet 

implemented, and the advice from the Assistant Director 
(Corporate and Contracted Services)Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services) and/or the Chief Finance Officer is that the 
decision is or would be contrary to the policy framework or 
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget, the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee may refer the matter to 
Council.  In such cases, no further action will be taken in respect 
of the decision or its implementation until the Council has met and 
considered the matter.  At the meeting the Council will receive a 
report of the decision or proposals and the advice of the Assistant 
Director (Corporate and Contracted Services)Assistant Director 

Page 663



 

 155 

(Legal and Democratic Services) and/or the Chief Finance 
Officer.  The Council may either: 

 
 (i) endorse a decision or proposal of the executive decision 

taker as falling within the existing budget and policy 
framework.  In this case no further action is required, save 
that the decision of the Council be minuted and circulated 
to all Councillors in the normal way; 

 
 OR 
 
 (ii) amend the Council’s Financial Regulations or policy 

concerned to encompass the decision or proposal of the 
body or individual responsible for that executive function 
and agree to the decision with immediate effect.  In this 
case, no further action is required save that the decision of 
the Council be minuted and circulated to all Councillors in 
the normal way; 

 
 OR 
 
 (iii) where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is 

contrary to the policy framework or contrary to or not 
wholly in accordance with the budget, and does not amend 
the existing framework to accommodate it, require the 
Cabinet to reconsider the matter in accordance with the 
advice of either the Assistant Director (Corporate and 
Contracted Services)Assistant Director (Legal and 
Democratic Services) Chief Finance Officer. 

 
 

Page 664



 

 156 

CABINET PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. HOW DOES THE CABINET OPERATE? 
 

1.1 Who may make executive decisions? 
 

The Leader decides how the Council’s executive functions are to 
be exercised unless this Constitution directs otherwise. 
 
Executive functions may be discharged by: 
 
(i) the Cabinet as a whole; 
 
(ii) a committee of the Cabinet; 
 
(iii) an individual member of the Cabinet; 
 
(iv) an officer; 
 
(v) joint arrangements;  or 
 
(vi) another local authority. 
 

1.2 Delegation by the leader 
 
 At the Annual Meeting of the Council, the Leader will present to 

the Council a written record of delegations made by him/her for 
inclusion in the Council's Scheme of Delegation at Part 3 to this 
Constitution.  The document presented by the Leader will contain 
the following information about executive functions in relation to 
the coming year: 

 
(i) the allocation of the Cabinet Portfolios among the Cabinet 

members for insertion in Schedule 1 of this Constitution; 
 

(ii) the extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet members 
individually, including details of the limitation on their 
authority; 

 
(iii) the terms of reference and constitution of such Cabinet 

committees as the Leader appoints and the names of 
Cabinet members appointed to them; 

 
(iv) the nature and extent of any delegation of executive 

functions to any other authority or any joint arrangements 
and the names of those Cabinet members appointed to 
any joint committee for the coming year;  and 

 
(v) the nature and extent of any delegation to officers with 

details of any limitation on that delegation and the title of 
the officer to whom the delegation is made. 

 

Page 665



 

 157 

1.3 Sub-delegation of executive functions 
 

(a) Where the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or an 
individual member of the Cabinet is responsible for an 
executive function, they may delegate further to any joint 
arrangements or an officer. 

 
(b) Unless the Council directs otherwise, if the Leader 

delegates functions to the Cabinet, then the Cabinet may 
delegate further to a committee of the Cabinet or to an 
officer. 

 
(c) Unless the Leader directs otherwise, a committee of the 

Cabinet to whom functions have been delegated by the 
Leader may delegate further to an officer. 

 
(d) Even where executive functions have been delegated, that 

fact does not prevent the discharge of delegated functions 
by the person or body who delegated. 

 
1.4 The Council's scheme of delegation and executive functions 
 

(a) Subject to (b) below the Council's scheme of delegation 
will be subject to adoption by the Council and may only be 
amended by the Council.  It will contain the details required 
in Article 7 and set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 
(b) The Leader may amend the scheme of delegation relating 

to executive functions at any time during the year.  To do 
so, the Leader must give written notice to the proper officer 
and to the person, body or Cabinet committee concerned.  
The notice must set out the extent of the amendment to the 
scheme of delegation, and whether it entails the withdrawal 
of delegation from any person, body, committee or the 
Cabinet as a whole.  The proper officer will present a 
report to the next ordinary meeting of the Council setting 
out the changes made by the Leader. 

 
(c) Where the Leader seeks to withdraw delegation from a 

Cabinet committee, notice will be deemed to be served on 
that committee when he/she has served it on its Chairman. 

 
1.5 Conflicts of Interest 
 

(a) Where the Leader has a conflict of interest this should be 
dealt with as set out in the Council's Code of Conduct for 
Members in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 
(b) If any member of the Cabinet has a conflict of interest this 

should be dealt with as set out in the Council's Code of 
Conduct for Members in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 

Page 666



 

 158 

(c) If the exercise of an executive function has been delegated 
to a committee of the Cabinet, an individual member of the 
Cabinet or an officer, and should a conflict of interest arise, 
then the function will be exercised in the first instance by 
the person or body by whom the delegation was made and 
otherwise as set out in the Council's Code of Conduct for 
Members in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 
1.6 Cabinet meetings – when and where 
 
 The Cabinet will meet at least 12 times per year at times to be 

agreed by the Leader.  The Cabinet shall meet at the Council's 
main offices or another location to be agreed by the Leader. 

 
1.7 Meetings of the Cabinet 
 
 Meetings of the Cabinet shall be open to the public (subject to the 

exclusion in circumstances defined in the Access to Information 
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution). 

 
1.8 Quorum 
 
 The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet, or a committee of it, 

shall be one quarter of the total number of members of the 
Cabinet (including the Leader), or 3 including the Leader, 
whichever is the larger. 

 
1.9 How are decisions to be taken by the cabinet? 
 

(a) Cabinet decisions which have been delegated to the 
Cabinet as a whole will be taken at a meeting convened in 
accordance with the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 
of the Constitution. 

 
(b) Where Cabinet decisions are delegated to a committee of 

the Cabinet, the rules applying to Cabinet decisions taken 
by them shall be the same as those applying to those 
taken by the Cabinet as a whole. 

 
2. HOW ARE CABINET MEETINGS CONDUCTED? 
 

2.1 Who presides? 
 
 If the Leader is present he/she will preside.  In his/her absence, 

then a person appointed to do so by those present shall preside. 
 
2.2 Who may attend? 
 
 See Access to Information Rules in Part 4. 
 
 

Page 667



 

 159 

2.3 What business? 
 
 At each meeting of the Cabinet the following business will be 

conducted: 
 

(i) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 
 
(ii) declarations of interest, if any; 
 
(iii) matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by an Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee or by the Council) for 
reconsideration by the Cabinet in accordance with the 
provisions contained in the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules or the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution; 

 
(iv) consideration of reports from Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees;  and 
 
(v) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, and which 

shall indicate which are key decisions and which are not in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
2.4 Consultation 

 
All reports to the Cabinet from any member of the Cabinet or an 
officer on proposals relating to the budget and policy framework 
must contain details of the nature and extent of consultation with 
stakeholders and relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees, 
and the outcome of that consultation.  Reports about other 
matters will set out the details and outcome of consultation as 
appropriate.  The level of consultation required will be appropriate 
to the nature of the matter under consideration. 
 

2.5 Who can put items on the Cabinet agenda? 
 
(a) The Leader will decide upon the schedule for the meetings 

of the Cabinet.  He/she may put on the agenda of any 
Cabinet meeting any matter which he/she wishes, whether 
or not authority has been delegated to the Cabinet, a 
committee of it or any member or officer in respect of that 
matter.  The proper officer will comply with the Leader's 
requests in this respect. 

 
(b) Any member of the Cabinet may require the proper officer 

to make sure that an item is placed on the agenda of the 
next available meeting of the Cabinet for consideration.  If 
he/she receives such a request the proper officer will 
comply. 

 
 

Page 668



 

 160 

(c) There will be a standing item on the agenda of each 
meeting of the Cabinet for matters referred by Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees. 

 
(d) Any member of the Council may ask the Leader to put an 

item on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting for consideration, 
and if the Leader agrees the item will be considered at the 
next available meeting of the Cabinet.  The notice of the 
meeting will give the name of the Councillor who asked for 
the item to be considered.  However, there may only be up 
to 3 such items per Cabinet meeting. 

 
(e) The Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer 

may include an item for consideration on the agenda of a 
Cabinet meeting and may require the proper officer to call 
such a meeting in pursuance of their statutory duties.  In 
other circumstances, where any two of the Chief 
Executive, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer are 
of the opinion that a meeting of the Cabinet needs to be 
called to consider a matter that requires a decision, they 
may jointly include an item on the agenda of an Cabinet 
meeting.  If there is no meeting of the Cabinet soon 
enough to deal with the issue in question, then the 
person(s) entitled to include an item on the agenda may 
also require that a meeting be convened at which the 
matter will be considered. 

 
3. TIME AND DURATION OF MEETINGS 
 
All meetings of the Cabinet except meetings where the agenda states a 
different time, will commence at 7.30 pm. 
 
4. VOTING 
 
 4.1 Majority 
 
 Any matter shall be decided by a simple majority of those 

members voting and present in the room at the time the question 
is put. 

 
4.2 Chair's casting vote 
 
 If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chairman 

will have a second or casting vote.  There will be no restriction on 
how the Chairman chooses to exercise a casting vote. 

 
4.3 Show of hands 
 
 The Chairman will take the vote by show of hands, or if there is 

no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting. 
 
 

Page 669



 

 161 

4.4 Voting on appointments 
 

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to 
be filled and there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one 
person, then the name of the person with the least number of 
votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken.  The process 
will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. 
 

4.5 Right to require a vote to be recorded 
 
Where any member requests it immediately after the vote is 
taken, their vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show 
whether they voted for or against the motion or abstained from 
voting. 
 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AT CABINET MEETINGS 
 

5.1 At a meeting of the Cabinet a member of the public may (if written 
notice has been given by 12 noon on the working day preceding 
the date of the meeting) make a statement or ask the Chairman a 
question provided that it is within the powers and functions of the 
Cabinet. 

 
5.2 The maximum time allowed for the making of statements and the 

asking of questions is 15 minutes. 
 
5.3 Every person is allowed a maximum of 2 minutes in which to 

make their statement or ask their question. 
 
5.4 Every person must when invited to do so address their statement 

or question to the Chairman of the Cabinet. 
 
5.5 Every statement or question answered must be answered without 

discussion and the Chairman may decline to answer. 
 
5.6 Every person must maintain respect for the Chairman and the 

meeting. 
 
5.7 Every person must after making a statement or asking a question 

take their seat to listen to the reply or if they wish join the public 
for the rest of the meeting or leave the meeting. 

 
5.8 The Chairman may at his or her discretion disallow the making of 

a statement or the asking of questions if he or she is of the 
opinion that the proper dispatch of the business of the Committee 
may be impeded or that a breach of order may be occasioned. 

 
5.9 The questioner may not ask the same or a similar question within 

a six month period except on any issues which are re-submitted 
to Cabinet in view of further facts or information to be considered. 

 
 

Page 670



 

 162 

 
6. DISTURBANCE BY PUBLIC 
 

6.1 Removal of a member of the public 
 
 If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chairman 

will warn the person concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the 
Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room. 

 
6.2 Clearance of part of meeting room 
 
 If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room 

open to the public, the Chairman may call for that  part to be 
cleared. 

Page 671



 

 163 

PART 4 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES  
 
1. THE NUMBER AND ARRANGEMENTS FOR OVERVIEW AND 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 
 

(a) The Council will have the Overview and Scrutiny Committees set 
out in Article 6 and will appoint to them annually.  Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees may also be appointed for a fixed period, on 
the expiry of which they shall cease to exist. 

 
(b) The Council will have a minimum of three Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees, which will perform all overview and scrutiny 
functions on behalf of the Council.  They will consist of at least 12 
members of the Council on a politically proportional basis to be 
appointed at the Annual Meeting of Council.  The Chairman and 
Vice-Chairman of each Committee will be appointed at the Annual 
Meeting of Council.   

 
(c) The Chairman and Vice-Chairmen of the Overview & Scrutiny 

Committees will be appointed from within the majority group and 
one of the three Vice-Chairmen will be appointed from outside the 
majority group. 

 
(d) The terms of reference of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 on matters within its scope will be: 
 

(i) the performance of all overview and scrutiny functions on 
behalf of the Council; 

 

(ii) to approve an annual overview and scrutiny work 
programme, so as to ensure that the committee's time is 
effectively and efficiently utilised; 

 

(iii) in the event of reports to the Cabinet exceeding limits in 
this Constitution, or if the volume of such reports creates 
difficulty for the management of business or jeopardises 
the efficient running of Council business, at the request of 
the Cabinet to make decisions about the priority of referrals 
made. 

 

(iv) to appoint informal member working groups or panels to 
assist the work of the Committee. 

 
2. WHO MAY SIT ON OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES? 
 

All Councillors except the Mayor and Cabinet members may be members of an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  However, no member may be involved in 
scrutinising a decision in which he/she has been directly involved. 
 
3. CO-OPTEES 
 

Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to recommend to 
Council the appointment of a number of people as non-voting co-optees. 
 

Page 672



 

 164 

4. MEETINGS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 
 
Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall have meetings programmed at 
least every 8 weeks.  Additional Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 
may be called by the Chairman of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, by any 3 members of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 1 
member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the agreement of the 
Chairman or by the proper officer if he/she considers it necessary or 
appropriate. 
 
5. QUORUM 
 
The quorum for an Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be as set out for 
committees in the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
6. CHAIRMAN 
 
The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will be appointed at the Annual Meeting of Council. 
 
7. WORK PROGRAMME 
 
Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for setting their own 
work programme and in doing so they shall take into account wishes of 
members on that Committee who are not members of the largest political group 
on the Council.  The Chairman and Vice Chairman of all Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees will meet at least once a month to ensure that the work of the 
Committees is properly co-ordinated. 
 
8. Agenda Items 
 

(a) Any member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be 
entitled to give notice to the proper officer that he/she wishes an 
item relevant to the functions of the Committee to be included on 
the agenda for the next available meeting of the Committee.  On 
receipt of such a request, the proper officer will ensure that it is 
included on the next available agenda. 

 
(b) The leader of any political party may, without the consent of the 

Chairman, on up to 3 occasions per Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee per year require the proper officer to include an item 
on the agenda of a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 
consideration.  The proper officer shall inform the Chairman of the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the request at the 
earliest opportunity, and make arrangements for the  matter to be 
included on the agenda at the next available meeting of that 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
(c) Any 5 members of the Council may give written notice to the 

proper officer that they wish an item to be included on the agenda 
of a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  If the proper 
officer receives such a notification, then he/she will include the 

Page 673



 

 165 

item on the first available agenda of the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for consideration by the committee. 

 
(d) Any member of the Council may give written notice to the proper 

officer that they wish a local government matter to be included on 
the agenda of a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee of 
which he/she is not a member.  If the proper officer receives such 
a notification, then he/she will include the matter on the first 
available agenda of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for consideration by the Committee.  In deciding how 
to deal with the matter the Committee may consider 
representations from the member who referred the matter, and 
take into account the extent to which the member has exercised 
any delegated functions which the Council or Leader may have 
given them.  It is open to the Committee to decide not to exercise 
any of its powers in relation to the matter, but it must let the 
member know its decision and the reasons for it. 

 
(e) Where a member has referred a local government matter to an 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and the Committee makes a 
report or recommendation to the Council or the Cabinet in relation 
to the matter, it must provide a copy to the member.  

 
“Local government matter” means any matter which relates to the 
discharge of any function of the Council and affects all or part of 
the member’s ward or any person who lives or works in the ward, 
with the exception of:   
 

 a local crime and disorder matter within the meaning of 

section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006,   

 issues relating to individuals concerning planning and 

licensing, 

 issues which are vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable 

to be included on the agenda, and 

issues where there is already a right to a review or appeal 
(other than the right to complain to the Local Government 
Ombudsman). 

 
(f) Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee makes a report or 

recommendations to the Council or the Cabinet – 
 
 (i) it may publish the report or recommendation 
 
 (ii) it must by notice in writing, require the Council or the Cabinet –  
 

 to consider the report or recommendations, 
 

Page 674



 

 166 

 to respond to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
indicating what (if any) action the Council, or the Cabinet, 
proposes to take 

 

 if the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has published to 
report or recommendations, to publish the response, 

 

 if the Overview and Scrutiny Committee provided a copy of 
the report or recommendations to a member of the Council 
under (e) above, to provide the member with a copy of the 
response.   

 
(g) The Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall also respond, as 

soon as their work programme permits, to requests from the 
Council and if it considers it appropriate, the Cabinet, to review 
particular areas of Council activity.  Where they do so, the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall report their findings and 
any recommendations back to the Cabinet and/or Council.  The 
Council and/or the Cabinet shall consider the report of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee within two months of receiving 
it. 

 
9. POLICY REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

(a) The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees in relation to 
the development of the Council's budget and policy framework is 
set out in detail in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. 

 
(b) In relation to the development of the Council's approach to other 

matters not forming part of its policy and budget framework, 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees may make proposals to the 
Cabinet for developments in so far as they relate to matters within 
their terms of reference. 

 
10. REPORTS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 
 

(a) Once it has formed recommendations on proposals for 
development, an Overview and Scrutiny Committee will prepare a 
formal report and submit it to the proper officer for consideration 
by the Cabinet (if the proposals are consistent with the existing 
budgetary and policy framework), or to the Council as appropriate 
(e.g. if the recommendation would require a departure from or a 
change to the agreed budget and policy framework).  The 
Chairman, or in his/her absence, the Vice-Chairman of the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be responsible for 
presenting the report to the Cabinet or the Council as appropriate. 

 
(b) If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one 

single final report to the Council or Cabinet as appropriate, then 
up to one minority report may be prepared and submitted for 
consideration by the Council or Cabinet with the majority report. 

Page 675



 

 167 

 
(c) The Council or Cabinet shall consider the report of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee within two months of it being submitted 
to the proper officer. 

 

Page 676



 

 168 

11. MAKING SURE THAT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY REPORTS ARE 
CONSIDERED BY THE CABINET 

 
(a) The agenda for Cabinet meetings shall include an item entitled 

'Issues Arising From Overview and Scrutiny'.  The reports of 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees referred to the Cabinet shall 
be included at this point in the agenda (unless they have been 
considered in the context of the Cabinet's deliberations on a 
substantive item on the agenda) within two months of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee completing its 
report/recommendations. 

 
(b) Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee prepares a report for 

consideration by the Cabinet in relation to a matter where the 
Leader has delegated decision making power to another 
individual member of the Cabinet, then the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will submit a copy of their report to him/her for 
consideration.  At the same time, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee shall serve a copy on the proper officer.  The member 
with delegated decision making power must consider the report 
and respond in writing to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
within 4 weeks of receiving it.  A copy of his/her written response 
to it shall be sent to the proper officer and the Leader.  The 
member will also attend a future meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to present their response, if requested by the 
Committee. 

 
(c) Only one report every three months may be submitted by each 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee to the Cabinet. 
 
(d) Overview and Scrutiny Committees will in any event have access 

to the Cabinet's forward plan and timetable for decisions and 
intentions for consultation.  Even where an item is not the subject 
of detailed proposals from an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
following a consideration of possible policy/service developments, 
the Committee will at least be able to respond in the course of the 
Cabinet's consultation process in relation to any key decision. 

 
12. RIGHTS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

TO DOCUMENTS 
 
(a) In addition to their rights as Councillors, members of Overview 

and Scrutiny Committees have the additional right to documents, 
and to notice of meetings as set out in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
(b) Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between 

Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee as appropriate 
depending on the particular matter under consideration. 

 

Page 677



 

 169 

13. MEMBERS AND OFFICERS GIVING ACCOUNT 
 
(a) Any Overview and Scrutiny Committee may scrutinise and review 

decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge 
of any Council functions.  As well as reviewing documentation, in 
fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any member of the 
Cabinet, the Chief Executive and/or any senior officer to attend 
before it to explain in relation to matters within their remit: 

 
(i) any particular decision or series of decisions; 
 
(ii) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council 

policy;  and/or 
 
(iii) their performance 
 
and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 
 

(b) Where any member or officer is required to attend an Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee under this provision, the Chairman of 
that Committee will inform the proper officer.  The proper officer 
shall inform the member or officer in writing giving at least 5 
working days notice of the meeting at which he/she is required to 
attend.  The notice will state the nature of the item on which 
he/she is required to attend to give account and whether any 
papers are required to be produced for the Committee.  Where 
the account to be given to the Committee will require the 
production of a report, then the member or officer concerned will 
be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that 
documentation. 

 
(c) Where, in exceptional circumstances, the member or officer is 

unable to attend on the required date, then the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee shall, in consultation with the member or 
officer, arrange an alternative date for attendance to take place 
within a maximum of 10 working days from the date of the original 
request. 

 
14. ATTENDANCE BY OTHERS 

 
An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite people other than those 
people referred to in paragraph 13 above to address it, discuss issues of local 
concern and/or answer questions.  It may for example wish to hear from 
residents, stakeholders and members and officers in other parts of the public 
sector and may invite such people to attend. 
 
15. CALL-IN 
 
Call-in should only be used in exceptional circumstances.  These are where 
Members of the appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committee have evidence 
which suggests that the Cabinet or Officer did not take the decision in 
accordance with the principles set out in Article 12 (Decision Making). 

Page 678



 

 170 

(a) When a decision is made by the Cabinet, an individual member of the 
Cabinet or a Committee of the Cabinet, or a key decision is made by an 
officer with delegated authority from the Cabinet, or under joint 
arrangements, the decision shall be published, and shall be available at 
the main offices of the Council within 2 working days of being made.  
Chairmen and Vice Chairmen of all Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
will be sent copies of the records of all such decisions within the same 
timescale, by the proper officer responsible for publishing the decision. 

 
(b) That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify 

that the decision will come into force, and may then be implemented, on 
the expiry of 5 working days after the publication of the decision, unless 
5 members of the Council objects to it and calls it in. 

 
(c) During that period, the proper officer shall call-in a decision for scrutiny if 

so requested by any 5 members of the Council.  Any member who calls 
in a decision must give supporting reasons in writing which must fall 
within one or more of the ‘Principles of Decision Making set out in 
paragraph 12.2 of Article 12.  Such member may also submit in writing a 
proposed recommendation(s) for suggested actions or alternative 
actions for consideration by the relevant Overview and Scrutiny.  The 
Proper Officer shall notify the decision-taker of the call-in.  The called in 
decision will be referred to the next meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  In exceptional circumstances, the Proper Officer 
may, after consultation with the Chairman and Vice Chairman arrange 
an extraordinary meeting of the Committee to consider the called in 
decision. 

 
(d) If, having considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

is still concerned about it, it may refer it back to the decision making 
person or body for reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its 
concerns or refer the matter to full Council.  The decision maker shall 
then reconsider the decision within 4 weeks amending the decision or 
not, before adopting a final decision. 

 
(e) If following an objection to the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee does not refer the matter back to the decision making person 
or body, the decision shall take effect on the date of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee meeting. 

 
(f) If the matter was referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee to full 

Council and the Council does not object to the decision which has been 
made, then no further action is necessary and the decision will be 
effective in accordance with the provisions below.  However, if the 
Council does object, it has no power to overturn or change a Cabinet 
decision unless it is contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or 
not wholly consistent with the budget.  Unless that is the case, the 
Council will refer any decision to which it objects back to the decision 
making person or body, together with the Council's views on the 
decision.  That decision making body or person shall choose whether or 
not to amend the decision before reaching a final decision and 
implementing it.  Where the decision was taken by the Cabinet as a 

Page 679



 

 171 

whole or a committee of it, the decision will be reconsidered at its next 
meeting.  Where the decision was made by an individual, the individual 
will reconsider within 4 weeks of the Council request. 

 

(g) If the Council does not refer the decision back to the decision making 
body or person, the decision will become effective on the date of the 
Council meeting.   

 

16. CALL-IN AND URGENCY 
 

16.1 The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the 
decision being taken by the Cabinet is urgent.  A decision will be 
urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process 
would seriously prejudice the Council's or the public's interests.  
The record of the decision, and notice by which it is made public 
shall state whether in the opinion of the decision making person 
or body, the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not subject 
to call-in.  The Mayor must agree both that the decision proposed 
is reasonable in all the circumstances and to it being treated as a 
matter of urgency.  In the absence of the Mayor, the Deputy 
Mayor's consent shall be required.  In the absence of both, the 
Chief Executive or his/her nominee's consent shall be required.  
Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the 
next available meeting of the Council, together with the reasons 
for urgency. 

 
16.2 The operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency 

shall be monitored annually, and a report submitted to Council 
with proposals for review if necessary. 

 
17. THE PARTY WHIP 
 

17.1 The Party Whip is defined as: 
 

"Any instruction given by or on behalf of a political group to any 
councillor who is a member  of that group as to how that 
councillor shall speak or vote on any matter before the Council or 
any committee or sub-committee, or the application or threat to 
apply any sanction by the group in respect of that councillor 
should he/she speak or vote in any particular manner" 
 

17.2 The imposition of the party whip is regarded by the Council as 
incompatible with Overview and Scrutiny.  The Party Whip should 
not therefore be imposed on any member of an Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee while engaged in the work of Overview and 
Scrutiny. 

 

18. PROCEDURE AT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS 

 

(a) Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall consider the following 
business: 

 
(i) minutes of the last meeting; 

Page 680



 

 172 

 
(ii) declarations of interest; 
 
(iii) consideration of any matter referred to the committee for a 

decision in relation to call in of a decision; 
 
(iv) responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee;  and 
 
(v) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 
 

(b) Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts investigations 
(eg with a view to reviewing policy), the Committee may also ask people 
to attend to give evidence at Committee meetings which are to be 
conducted with the following principles: 

 
(i) that the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the 

Committee be given the opportunity to ask questions of 
attendees, and to contribute and speak; 

 
(ii) that those assisting the Committee by giving evidence be treated 

with respect and courtesy;  and 
 
(iii) that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the 

efficiency of the investigation or analysis. 
 

(c) Following any investigation or review, the Committee shall prepare a 
report for submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate and 
shall make its report and findings public. 

 
20. MATTERS WITHIN THE REMIT OF MORE THAN ONE OVERVIEW 

AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
(a) Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts a review or 

scrutinises a matter which also falls (whether in whole or in part) within 
the remit of another Overview and Scrutiny Committee, then the 
Committee conducting the review shall: 

 
(i) invite the Chairman of the other Committee (or his/her nominee) 

to attend its meetings when the matter is being reviewed 
 
or 
 
(ii) before submitting its findings to the Cabinet and/or Council for 

consideration, the report of the reviewing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee shall be considered by the other Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for comment.  These comments shall be 
incorporated into the report which is then sent to that body for 
consideration. 

 
 

Page 681



 

 173 

TASK AND FINISH GROUPS PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. PROGRAMMING PANEL 
 

1.1 The Programming Panel will comprise the three political Group 
Leaders or their representatives and will receive advice and 
support from appropriate officers. 

 
1.2 The Panel will have the following functions: 
 

1.2.1 To co-ordinate requests for the setting up of Task and 
Finish Groups made by the Chairman or Vice-Chairmen of 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees, the Cabinet or 
individual Cabinet Members. 

 
1.2.2 To regulate the number and duration of the Task and 

Finish Groups to ensure that there is no duplication of work 
being carried out by these Groups. 

 
1.2.3 To appoint the membership and decide the terms of 

reference for each Task and Finish Group. 
 
1.2.4 To assist both Members and officers in the allocation and 

timetabling of matters for consideration.  The Panel is to be 
regarded as an administrative tool to promote effective and 
efficient decision making and co-ordination of the work of 
the Task and Finish Groups. 

 
1.3 The Panel will meet at least once every cycle of meetings and will 

elect its own Chairman. 
 

2. THE APPOINTMENT AND ROLE OF TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
 

2.1 Task and Finish Groups will be set up by the Programming Panel 
to carry out detailed work in relation to specific topics or issues.  
The Panel will decide what Task and Finish Groups are set up 
and what their terms of reference will be.  All requests to the 
Panel for the setting up of a Task and Finish Group must be 
submitted to the Panel in the form of a standard pro forma. 

 
2.2 Subject to these procedure rules, Members will be appointed to 

Task and Finish Groups by the Panel.  The important 
consideration will be a Member's interest in the particular topic or 
issue, their interest as a Ward Member (if the issue is 
geographically based), and any particular personal knowledge, 
ability or expertise that may be valuable to the group. 

 
2.3 Task and Finish Groups are informal bodies and shall have no 

decision making powers.  There is no requirement to have formal 
agendas or minutes of meetings. 

 

Page 682



 

 174 

2.4 Meetings of Task and Finish Groups will, as far as possible, be 
Member led, and will not require advice or support from officers 
unless specifically requested. 

 
2.5 All Task and Finish Groups set up at the request of an Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee shall – 
 

2.5.1 Consist of at least six members. 
 
2.5.2 Comply with the political balance rules in section 15 of the 

Local Government and Housing Act 1985. 
 
2.5.3 Elect their own Chairman. 
 

2.6 Task and Finish Groups set up at the request of the Cabinet or an 
individual Cabinet Member do not have to comply with the 
political balance rules and may, if appropriate, consist entirely of 
Members from the same political Group. 

Page 683



 

 175 

PART 4  OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. Recruitment and appointment 

 
(a) Declarations 
 
 (i) The Council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for 
  appointment  as an officer to state in writing whether they are the 
  parent, grandparent, partner, child, stepchild, adopted child,  
  grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece of an 

existing councillor or officer of the Council;  or of the partner of 
such  persons. 

 
(ii) No candidate so related to a councillor or an officer will be 

appointed without the authority of the relevant chief officer or an 
officer nominated by him/her. 
 

(b) Seeking support for appointment 
 

(i) The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly 
seeks  the support of any councillor for any appointment with the 
Council.  The content of this paragraph will be included in any 
recruitment information. 
 

(ii) No councillor will seek support for any person for any 
appointment with the Council. 

 
2. Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and Chief Officers 
 
 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer and it is not 

proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from among their 
existing officers, the Council will: 

 
(a) draw up a statement specifying: 

 
(i) the duties of the officer concerned; and 

 
 (ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be 

  appointed; 
 
(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is 

likely to  bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to 
apply for it;  and 

 
(c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in paragraph 

(1) to be sent to any person on request. 
 

3. Appointment of Head of Paid Service 
 

(a) The full Council will approve the appointment of the Head of Paid 
Service before the offer of appointment is made following the 
recommendation of such an appointment by the Appointments 

Page 684



 

 176 

Committee.  The Appointments Committee must include at least one 
member of the Cabinet. 

 
(b) The full Council may only make or approve the appointment of the Head 

of Paid Service where no well-founded objection has been made by any 
member of the Cabinet. 

 
4. Appointment of Chief Officers and deputy Chief Officers 
 
(a) The Appointments Committee will appoint Chief Officers and deputy 

Chief  Officers.  The Appointments Committee must include at least one 
member of the Cabinet. 

 
(b) An offer of employment as a Chief Officer or deputy Chief Officer shall 

only be made where no well-founded objection from any member of the 
Cabinet has been received. 
 

5. Other appointments 
 
(a) Officers below deputy chief officer.  Appointment of officers below 

deputy chief officer is the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or 
his/her nominee, and may not be made by councillors. 

 
(b) Assistants to political groups.  Appointment of an assistant to a 

political group shall be made in accordance with the wishes of that 
political group. 

 
6. Disciplinary action 

 
(a) The terms of reference of the Appointments Committee include the 

dismissal of, and taking disciplinary action against, a Chief Officer or 
deputy Chief Officer. Where the Chief Officer or the deputy Chief Officer 
is the designated Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or 
Monitoring Officer full Council must approve the dismissal before notice 
of dismissal is given.   

 
(b) The Appointments Committee may suspend a Chief Officer or deputy 

Chief  Officer for a period of up to two months on full pay for the purpose 
of investigating alleged misconduct, or the taking of disciplinary action, 
where the officer under investigation or the subject of the disciplinary 
action is the designated Head of Paid Service. 

 
(c) The Chief Executive, in consultation with the Chairman of the 

Appointments Committee, may suspend a Chief Officer or deputy Chief 
Officer, including the designated Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring 
Officer, for a period of up to two months on full pay for the purpose of 
investigating alleged misconduct, or the taking of disciplinary action. 

 
(d) No other disciplinary action may be taken in respect of the designated 

Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer except 
in accordance with the procedure set out in the Schedule below and the 

Page 685



 

 177 

Appointments Committee, together with any independent persons appointed to 
it by the Council, shall constitute “the Panel” as referred to in the Schedule.   

 
(e)        The Appointments Committee together with two Independent Persons  to be 

co-opted to the Committee shall approve any Special Severance Payments to 
the Head of Paid Service. 

 
7. Dismissal 

 
 Councillors will not be involved in the dismissal of any officer below 
deputy chief officer except where such involvement is necessary for any 
investigation  or inquiry into alleged misconduct, though the Council's 
disciplinary, capability and related procedures, as adopted from time to 
time may allow a right of appeal to members in respect of dismissals. 

Page 686



 

 178 

     SCHEDULE 
Procedure to be followed in the event that disciplinary action is taken  in 
respect of  the designated Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or 
Monitoring Officer 
 
[inserted under regulation 6 of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2015] 
 
1. In the following paragraphs –  

 
(a) “the 2011 Act” means the Localism Act 2011; 

 
(b)    “the chief finance officer”, “disciplinary action”, “head of the authority’s 

 paid service” and “monitoring officer” have the same meaning as in 
 regulation 2 of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)  
 Regulations 2001; 

 
(c) “independent person” means a person appointed under section 28(7)  

 of the 2011 Act; 
 

(d) “local government elector” means a person registered as a local 
government elector in the register of electors in the authority’s area in 

 accordance with the Representation of the People Acts; 
 
(e) “the Panel” means a committee appointed by the authority under  

section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 for the purposes of 
advising the authority on matters relating to the dismissal of relevant 
officers of the authority; 

 
(f) “relevant meeting” means a meeting of the authority to consider whether 

or not to approve a proposal to dismiss a relevant officer; and  
 
(g) “relevant officers” means the chief finance officer, head of authority’s 

paid service or monitoring officer, as the case may be. 
 
2. A relevant officer may not be dismissed by an authority unless the 

procedure set out in the following paragraphs is complied with. 
 
3. The authority must invite relevant independent persons to be considered 

for appointment to the Panel, with a view to appointing at least two such 
persons to the Panel. 

 
4. In paragraph 3 “relevant independent person” means any independent 

person who has been appointed by the authority or, where there are 
fewer than two such persons, such independent persons as have been 
appointed by another authority or authorities as the authority considers 
appropriate. 

 
 
 
 

Page 687



 

 179 

5. Subject to paragraph 6, the authority must appoint to the Panel such 
relevant independent persons who have accepted an invitation issued in 
accordance  with paragraph 3 in accordance with the following priority 
order –  

 
(a) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the  

 authority and who is a local government elector; 
 

(b) any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by  the 
 authority;  
 
(c) a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another  
 authority or authorities  
 
6. An authority is not required to appoint more than two relevant 

independent  persons in accordance with paragraph 5 but may do so. 
 
7.       The authority must appoint any Panel at least 20 working days before the 

relevant meeting. 
 
8. Where the Panel proposes dismissal, the Monitoring Officer shall notify 

every Member of the Cabinet of the name and any particulars relevant to 
the dismissal. The Leader of the Council shall notify the Monitoring Officer 
within 5 working days if the Cabinet object to the dismissal with reasons.    
The objection shall then be referred to the Panel for further consideration. 

 
9. Before the taking of a vote at the relevant meeting on whether or not to 

approve such a dismissal, the authority must take into account, in 
particular –  

 
(a) any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel; 

 
(b) the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; and  

 
(c) any representations from the relevant officer. 

 
 

9. Any remuneration, allowances or fees paid by the authority to an 
independent  person appointed to the Panel must not exceed the level of 
remuneration, allowances or fees payable to the independent person in 
respect of that person’s role as independent person under the 2011 Act”. 

 
 

Page 688



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

 

Author  Fiona Jump, Head of Financial Services 

Responsible Officer Nigel Howcutt,  Chief Finance Officer 

 

Date of publication July 2022 Date of last version October 2021 

Version no.  7 Date of expiry  N/A 

 

 

Working in partnership, to create a Borough which enables the communities of Dacorum to thrive and prosper 

 

 

 

Page 689



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | i July 2022  
 
 

Contents 

Section Page No. 

 

Financial Regulations 

 

1. Introduction, general and interpretation 1 

A: Financial management 3 

B: Financial Planning and budgeting policy framework 8 

C: Risk management and resource control 10 

D: Income and assets 12 

E: Expenditure, liabilities and procurement of, ordering and paying for goods, 

works, services and assets 

16 

F: External arrangements 19 

  

Detailed regulations and guidance  

Annex A: Monitoring Officer responsibilities – schedule of values 21 

Annex B: Financial Planning and budgeting policy framework 22 

Section 1: Budgeting and budgetary control 22 

Section 2: Capital plans and budgets 23 

Section 3: Scheme of virement 

Section 4: Scheme of supplementary budget 

24 

26 

Annex C: Risk management and resource control 27 

Section1: Maintaining internal control 27 

Section 2: staffing and consultancy arrangements 31 

Annex D: Schemes of delegation 34 

Annex E: Income and assets 35 

Section 1: Accounting for income 35 

Section 2: Documentation and cash handling 38 

Section 3: Petty cash, change floats, and electronic purchasing card purchases 42 

Section 4: Debt write-off and credit write-on procedures and limits 43 

Section 5: Responsibilities for stocks, stores and minor assets 46 

Annex F: Disposal of assets (including stock and stores) 49 

Section 1: Land disposals 49 

Section 2: Equipment disposals 52 

Section 3: Major reusable items 54 

Section 4: Disposal of other assets 55 

Annex G: Expenditure, liabilities and procurement of, ordering, and paying for 

goods, works, services and assets 

57 

Section 1: Detailed regulations governing the procurement of, ordering, and 

paying for works, goods and services 

57 

Section 2: Responsibilities for procurement of, ordering, and paying for works, 

goods and services 

58 

Section 3: Responsibilities of Strategic Directors in respect of contracts 61 

Section 4: Responsibilities for engagement of, and payments to, employees 

Section 5: Responsibilities for the acquisition of assets                                                                                                                                        

  62 

            64 

Annex H: Partnerships, external funding and third party contracts 67 

Section 1: Partnerships expectations 67 

Section 2: Responsibilities in respect of partnerships, external funding and third 

party contracts 

68 

  

Schedule of Authorisations 71 

  

 

Page 690



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 1 July 2022  
 
 

1. INTRODUCTION, GENERAL AND INTERPRETATION 
 

1.1. Financial Regulations provide the framework for managing the financial affairs 
of the Council.  They are approved by the Council and they apply to every 
Member and employee of the Council and to anyone acting on its behalf. All 
Members and employees must adhere to them at all times.   Financial 
Regulations form part of the Council’s constitution.  Any changes to the 
Financial Regulations must be agreed by Council following their presentation to 
Audit Committee. 

 
1.2. The Chief Finance Officer is the Council’s Section 151 Officer and is 

accountable to the Council for the financial regulations.  All Chief Officers are 
accountable to the Chief Finance Officer for compliance with these regulations. 
All officers with delegated responsibilities for undertaking financial responsibility 
are accountable to their Strategic Director for compliance with the Financial 
Regulations. 

 
1.3. Executive Members and Strategic Directors must maintain a written record 

where they have delegated decision-making to employees, including seconded 
employees. Where they have delegated or devolved decisions to other 
responsible employees, references to the Strategic Director in the regulations 
should be read as referring to those employees. 

 
1.4. All Members and employees have a general responsibility for taking reasonable 

action to provide for the security of the assets under their control, and for 
ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, is properly authorised, 
provides value for money and contributes to the Council’s strategic aims. 

 
1.5. Should a breach of the Financial Regulations come to light it must be reported 

immediately to the Section 151 Officer. The Section 151 Officer is responsible 
for maintaining a continuous review of Financial Regulations and for submitting 
any additions or changes necessary to the full Council for approval. They are 
also responsible for reporting material breaches of the Financial Regulations to 
the Senior Leadership Team, the Cabinet or the Full Council as they consider 
appropriate. Disciplinary action can be taken for breaches of Financial 
Regulations. 

 
1.6. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for issuing advice and guidance to 

underpin Financial Regulations that Members, employees and others acting on 
behalf of the Council are required to follow. 

 
1.7. This document should be read and applied in conjunction with the Council’s 

constitution and other internal regulatory documents forming part of the 
constitution. 

 
1.8. Throughout these Financial Regulations, where the words ‘Strategic Director’ 

and ‘Director’ appear in a departmental context, they refer also to the Chief 
Executive. References are made to ‘Heads of Service’.  In these instances (and 
where Heads of Service report directly to Assistant Directors) Assistant 
Directors are responsible for ensuring that  Heads of Service for their group of 

Page 691



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 2 July 2022  
 
 

services have adequate arrangements in place and will also apply to Assistant 
Directors where they are directly responsible for functions or projects or where 
there is no Head of Service in post.  The post of Chief Finance Officer is 
included within ‘Assistant Directors’ for the purposes of these Financial 
Regulations. 

 
1.9. The term ‘current’ as it applies in these Regulations shall mean the last approval 

given by Council, Cabinet or Strategic Director under delegated powers. 
 
1.10. The terms ‘Chief Finance Officer’ and ‘Section 151 Officer’ are synonymous in 

the current structure of the Council. If, at any time, that should cease to be the 
case, all duties, authorities and responsibilities assigned to the Chief Finance 
Officer in these Financial Regulations shall be interpreted as applying to the 
Section 151 Officer. 

 
 

Page 692



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 3 July 2022  
 
 

Financial Regulation A:  Financial Management 
 
Introduction 
 
A.1. Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the 

running of the authority, including the policy framework and budget. 
 
Committees of the Council 
 
A.2.  The functions and responsibilities of the full Council, the Cabinet, the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committees and Regulatory Committees are set out in Part 3 of 
the Council’s constitution. The Council and all subsidiary bodies must have 
regard to financial regulations and procurement standing orders in the conduct 
of Council business. 

 
Statutory officers 
 
Chief Executive 
 
A.3.  The Chief Executive, as Head of Paid Service, is responsible for the corporate 

and overall strategic management of the Authority as a whole.  They are also 
responsible, together with the Monitoring Officer, for the system of record 
keeping in relation to all the Council’s decisions. 

 
Monitoring Officer 
 
A.4.  The Assistant Director Legal and Democratic Services is the Authority’s 

designated Monitoring Officer, under Section 5 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989. The role of the Monitoring Officer is set out in the Council’s 
Constitution (Article 11). 

 
A.5.  They (together with the Section 151 Officer – see below) is responsible for 

advising the Portfolio Holder, Cabinet or Council about whether a decision is 
likely to be considered contrary or not wholly in accordance with the approved 
budget. Actions that may be ‘contrary to the budget’ include: 

 
a) initiating a new policy 
 
b)  taking, or failing to take action which will, or is likely to result in any defined 

budget for the current year being exceeded by a given value, determined 
by the Section 151 Officer  

 
c)  committing, or seeking to commit expenditure in future years above the 

approved level 
 
d)  causing the Council’s total budgeted sum for either the Housing Revenue 

Account or the General Fund to increase by more than an amount 
specified  by the Section 151 Officer in any one year. 

 
Current values in relation to regulation A.5. are given at Annex A.  

Page 693



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 4 July 2022  
 
 

 
Section 151 Officer 
 
A.6.  The Chief Finance Officer is the Council’s designated Section 151 Officer. This 

post has statutory duties in relation to the financial administration and 
stewardship of the Council’s financial affairs. These duties arise from Section 
151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and subsequent legislation and cannot 
be overridden.  

 
A.7. The functions of the Section 151 officer are defined in the Council’s constitution 

(Article 11). In particular, they have responsibility for the administration of the 
financial affairs of the Council, for keeping proper financial records and 
accounts, and for maintaining an effective system of internal financial control. 

 
A.8.  Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the Section 

151 Officer to report to the Cabinet, Council, and external auditor if the Council 
or one of its officers: 

 
(a)  has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring 

unlawful expenditure 
 
(b)  has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has resulted or 

would result in a loss or deficiency to the authority 
 
(c)  is about to make an unlawful entry in the authority’s accounts. 

 
A.9.  Section 114 also requires the Section 151 Officer to nominate a properly 

qualified member of staff to deputise should he or she be unable to perform the 
duties under Section 114 personally. The Head of Financial Services is the 
designated officer for this purpose. 

 
A.10. The Act also requires the Council to provide the Section 151 Officer with 

sufficient staff, accommodation and other resources – including legal advice 
where it is necessary to carry out duties under S114. 

 
Strategic Directors 
 
A.11. Strategic Directors are individually responsible for financial management within 

their own areas of responsibility and collectively for matters of corporate 
responsibility. In respect of Financial Regulations they have specific 
responsibilities for: 

 
a) Ensuring that Members of Cabinet and the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee(s) are advised of the financial implications of all proposals and 
that the financial implications have been agreed with the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
b) Consulting with the Section 151 Officer and seeking approval on any 

matter liable to affect the Council’s finances materially before any 
commitments are incurred. 

Page 694



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 5 July 2022  
 
 

 
c) Demonstrating the proper financial management and effective 

deployment of resources allocated to their respective services. 
 
d) Ensuring that all staff have access to a copy of Financial Regulations and 

that these are retained in a current state and ensuring that employees 
comply with them at all times. 

 
e) Ensuring that Assistant Directors, Heads of Service and other key 

personnel receive sufficient training to enable them to discharge their 
responsibilities under these Regulations, Procurement Standing Orders 
and related rules and procedures introduced from time to time. 

 
f) Ensuring that their Portfolio Holder and, as appropriate, the Portfolio 

Holder for Corporate Services are advised of the financial implications of 
any proposals and that the financial implications have been agreed by the 
Section 151 Officer. 

 
g) Ensuring the financial probity and correctness of all reports, advice and 

opinions submitted to Members and others that may act on such 
information. Where they have any doubt in this regard, the Strategic 
Director must consult with the Section 151 Officer prior to issuing a report, 
providing advice or offering an opinion. 

 
h) Ensuring that the Section 151 Officer is consulted on and approves any 

proposal that may affect the ability of stand-alone financial systems and 
processes to be reconciled with any relevant corporate financial 
information system. 

 
i) Signing contracts on behalf of the Council which are not under seal. 
 
j) Ensuring that vouchers and other financial documents are not destroyed 

other than in accordance with the Council’s Corporate Retention of 
Documents Policy. 

 
k) Maintaining a complete management trail allowing financial transactions 

to be traced from accounting records to source and vice versa. 
 
l) Ensuring that all financial systems’ inputs are genuine, complete, 

accurate, timely and not previously processed. 
 
Management of in-year finances 
 
A.12. Strategic Directors are responsible for effective financial management. To 

support them, the Council has specific policies relating to six key control areas: 
 

(a) Transfer of budgets. Council sets the budget and Cabinet has executive 
responsibility for the delivery of services within budgets.  Resources are 
allocated to defined budget headings which are managed by budget 
managers (usually allocated at Head of Service or Assistant Director 

Page 695



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 6 July 2022  
 
 

level).  A scheme of virement is required to enable budget holders to 
transfer resources between budgets where appropriate and necessary. 
The Council is responsible for approving a scheme for enabling virement.  
This is set out in regulation B.11. 

 
(b) Use of contingencies. When approving the annual budget the Council 

may set aside specific sums to meet unforeseen eventualities. 
 

(c) Supplementary budgets. Strategic Directors are responsible for 
arranging the effective delivery of services within the annual budgets 
allocated. Under circumstances where it cannot be dealt with under the 
Council’s scheme of virement, and where appropriate, Cabinet, on the 
advice of the Section 151 Officer, may grant a supplementary budget to 
be met from any contingency provision established under section A12.b 
above. Where insufficient resources exist, Cabinet may, on the advice of 
the Section 151 Officer, seek Council approval to the granting of a 
supplementary budget to be met from relevant balances or reserves. This 
is set out in regulation B.12. 

 
(d) Supplementary budgets: section 106 and Community Infrastructure 

Levy (CIL) Contributions. Council sets the budget and Cabinet has 
executive responsibility for the delivery of services within budgets. 
Delegation is given to the Section 151 Officer for in-year amendments to 
budgets via supplementary budget where a one-off item is to be funded 
wholly from Section 106 receipts or CIL receipts.  This is set out in 
regulation B.12. 
 

(e) Supplementary budgets: grant income. Delegation is given to the 
Section 151 Officer for in-year amendments to budgets via supplementary 
budget where expenditure is to be funded wholly from grant receipts, up 
to the value of £100k.  For expenditure equal to or above £100k Cabinet 
may, on the advice of the Section 151 Officer, seek Council approval to 
the granting of a supplementary budget to be met from grant funding.  This 
is set out in regulation B.12 
 

(f) Under- and overspends. The Council is responsible for agreeing any 
procedures, on the advice of the Section 151 Officer, for carrying forward 
under- and overspending against revenue budgets. The unspent portion 
of budgets will be transferred by the Section 151 Officer to Reserves and 
Balances after the year end. The unspent portion of budgets will not be 
carried forward to the following year’s service budgets without the express 
authority of Council which decision shall be made on the advice of the 
Section 151 Officer. This function has been delegated to the Audit 
Committee as part of the review and approval of the annual Statement of 
Accounts. The Section 151 Officer will report to Cabinet as soon as is 
practicable after the year end on which budgets have underspent and 
which budgets have overspent, together with the net position. Cabinet will 
make recommendations to the Audit Committee who carry out this 
function on behalf of Council as part of their responsibility for review of the 
preparation of the Statement of Accounts. Cabinet and Audit Committee 

Page 696



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 7 July 2022  
 
 

will take account of the advice of the Section 151 Officer on how any net 
overspend should be funded. 

 
(g) Urgency. Nothing in these Financial Regulations shall preclude 

expenditure being incurred where an emergency or disaster involving 
destruction of, or danger to, life or property occurs, or is imminent, that 
may not be contained within the totality of budgets allocated to Strategic 
Directors. If, in the opinion of the relevant Director, in consultation, where 
possible, with the Chief Executive and the Section 151 Officer, the 
urgency of the situation will not permit delay, the Director may authorise 
such expenditure as is measured and reasonable in the circumstances. 
Where a Director has had to act without having been able to consult the 
Chief Executive and/or the Section 151 Officer, they shall be informed as 
soon as is practicable. Action under this Regulation shall be reported at 
the first opportunity to Cabinet and to the full Council. 

 
The Annual Report 
 
A.13.  The Audit Committee is responsible for approving the Annual Report and 

Statement of Accounts. 

Page 697



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 8 July 2022  
 
 

Financial Regulation B:  Financial Planning and Budgeting Policy Framework 
 
Introduction 
 
B.1.  These Financial Regulations apply to all plans and strategies within the 

Council’s policy framework. Financial Regulations relating to budgets apply to 
General Fund and to Housing Revenue Account matters, and to both revenue 
and capital. 

 
B.2. The Council is responsible for approving procedures for setting and varying 

budgets on the advice of the Section 151 Officer, for agreeing plans and 
strategies forming the policy framework and for determining the circumstances 
in which a decision will be deemed to be contrary to the budget or policy 
framework. The Council is also responsible for setting the level at which the 
Cabinet may reallocate budget funds from one service to another (virement). 
Details of the virement scheme are provided under Regulation B.11. 

 
B.3.  The Cabinet is responsible for taking in-year decisions on resources and 

priorities in order to deliver the budget policy framework within the financial 
limits set by the Council. Consideration of such matters will be on the advice of 
the Section 151 Officer. 

 
Corporate Governance 
 
B.4.  Budgeting and budgetary control forms an essential part of the overall 

governance arrangements of the Council. The full Council is responsible for 
agreeing corporate governance arrangements, its framework and policies and 
the budget. Within such timescale as may be laid down by statute the Audit 
Committee under delegated powers from the Council shall approve publication 
of the Annual Report and Statement of Accounts and the Leader and Chief 
Executive shall concurrently present a statement of compliance with the 
framework. 

 
Revenue budgeting and budgetary control 
 
B.5.   The Section 151 Officer is responsible for determining the format of the revenue 

budgets and ensuring that they are prepared on an annual basis for 
consideration by the Cabinet, before submission to the Council in the fourth 
quarter of the financial year.   

 
B.6.  Strategic Directors, and their delegated representatives, are responsible for 

ensuring that budget estimates reflect agreed service plans and comply with 
the budget guidance issued by the S151 Officer which will take account of the 
Council’s approved Medium Term Financial Strategy. The submitted budgets 
will be scrutinised and endorsed by appropriate Members including Portfolio 
Holders. These will be collated by the S151 Officer for submission to a 
combined meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees to scrutinise the 
draft budget, prior to submission to Cabinet. 

 

Page 698



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 9 July 2022  
 
 

B.7.  Strategic Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service are responsible 
for controlling income and expenditure within their area, taking account of 
financial information provided by the Section 151 Officer, as well as 
supplementary local information systems. Each Director shall ensure that all 
expenditure committed by his/her directorates is within a revenue, capital, or 
other budget approved by Council. Any potential expenditure or loss of income, 
which cannot be funded from within the totality of the service budget, supported 
by the approved scheme of virement, shall be reported to the Section 151 
Officer as soon as this is anticipated by the Director. 

 
B.8.  Detailed regulations relating to revenue budgeting and budgetary control are 

set out in Annex B, section 1.   
 
Capital plans and budgets 
 
B.9.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that a rolling 5 year Capital 

Programme is prepared on an annual basis for consideration by Cabinet and 
submission to the Council as part of its annual budget-setting process, and that 
capital and revenue budgets are fully integrated. Detailed regulations governing 
capital budgeting are set out in Annex B, section 2. 

 
Maintenance of reserves 
 
B.10. Under the Local Government Act 2003, the Section 151 Officer must advise the 

Cabinet and/or the Council on prudent levels of reserves and balances. The 
Section 151 Officer will prepare, keep under review and present to Cabinet, at 
least annually, a strategy for the Council’s reserves that provides a justification 
for each earmarked reserve, together with a recommended minimum level of 
general (un-earmarked) reserves. Consideration of these issues will include the 
application of risk management processes. 

 
Scheme of virement 
 
B.11. To support Strategic Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service to fulfil 

their responsibilities under Regulation B.7, the transfer of funds between budget 
lines is permitted, subject to approval, where this supports sound financial 
management. The Virement policy is set out in Annex B, section 3 and applies 
to all transfers of budget, of any value and for any reason, including for reasons 
of organisational restructure. 

 
Scheme of supplementary budgets 
 
B.12. To support Strategic Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service to fulfil 

their responsibilities under Regulation B.7, under circumstances where these 
responsibilities cannot be dealt with under the Council’s scheme of virement, a 
supplementary budget may be granted, subject to appropriate approval, where 
this supports sound financial management. The supplementary budgets policy 
is set out in Annex B, section 4 and applies to all supplementary budgets, of 
any value and for any reason. 

 

Page 699



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 10 July 2022  
 
 

 
Financial Regulation C:  Risk Management and Resource Control 
 
Introduction 
 
C.1.  It is essential that robust, integrated systems are developed and maintained for 

identifying and evaluating all significant strategic and operational risks to the 
Council and for identifying and evaluating significant opportunities for 
development. This should include the proactive participation of all those 
associated with planning and delivering services. 

 
Risk and opportunity management 
 
C.2.  The Cabinet is responsible for approving amendments to the Council’s risk 

management strategy and for reviewing the effectiveness of the Council’s risk 
management practices. It is also responsible for ensuring that proper insurance 
exists where appropriate. 

 
C.3.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for preparing the authority’s risk 

management strategy, for ensuring that there is proper management of risk 
throughout the Council, and for advising the Cabinet on proper insurance cover 
or alternative arrangements. 

 
Maintaining internal control 
 
C.4.  Internal control refers to the management processes and systems of control 

devised by management and endorsed by Members to help ensure that the 
Council’s objectives are achieved in a manner that promotes economic, efficient 
and effective use of resources, safeguards the Council’s assets and interests 
and enables the Council to take advantage of opportunities. The operation of 
sound internal control is an essential component of good corporate governance. 

 
C.5.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for advising on effective systems of 

internal control. Strategic Directors are responsible for establishing sound 
arrangements for safeguarding public funds by planning, appraising, 
authorising and controlling their operations in order to achieve continuous 
improvement, economy, efficiency and effectiveness, and for achieving their 
personal and service based financial and outcome performance targets. 

 
C.6.  Effective internal control is supported by policies relating to: 
 

i) Audit arrangements 
 

ii) Preventing and detecting fraud and corruption 
 

iii) Securing assets 
 

iv) Treasury management. 
 

Detailed regulations governing these policies are set out in Annex C, section 1. 

Page 700



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 11 July 2022  
 
 

 
Staffing Arrangements 
 
C.7.  A staff structure is required to provide support to the Cabinet, the Council and 

the Committees of the Council for the conduct of business. The Chief Executive, 
as Head of Paid Service, is responsible for determining how officer support for 
Cabinet and non-Cabinet roles within the authority will be organised in line with 
hierarchy of the authorisations specified in Annex C, Clause 2.g. The Chief 
Executive is responsible for providing overall management to staff and for 
ensuring that there is proper use of the evaluation or other agreed systems for 
determining remuneration of employment. 

 
C.8.  Detailed responsibilities and regulations governing staffing arrangements are 

set out in Annex C, section 2. This section includes arrangements relating to: 
 

i) The staffing structure.  
 

ii) Consultants.  
 
 
 
 

Page 701



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 12 July 2022  
 
 

Financial Regulation D:  Income and Assets 
 
Introduction 
 
D.1.  The Council has many systems and procedures relating to the control of the 

authority’s assets. These include purchasing, costing and management 
systems. Each must contain effective controls to ensure that all transactions 
are recorded and properly processed, and that errors are detected promptly. 

 
General Responsibilities 
 
D.2.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the sound and proper operation of 

the authority’s accounting systems, the form of accounts and supporting 
financial procedures and records. Any changes proposed to be made by 
Strategic Directors to their existing financial systems or the establishment of 
new systems must be approved beforehand by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
D.3.  Strategic Directors are responsible for ensuring that: 
 

a)  there is the proper operation of financial processes within their Directorate 
 
b)  data exists to enable them to plan, formulate and deliver the Council’s 

objectives, targets and budgets 
 
c)  performance is communicated to relevant managers on an accurate, 

complete and timely basis 
 
d)  intelligence exists to warn of potential deviations from targets, plans and 

budgets requiring management attention 
 
e)  systems and procedures are fully documented and operate effectively and 

securely 
 
f)  staff receive relevant financial training approved by the Section 151 

Officer. 
 
D.4. Strategic Directors shall maintain a scheme of delegation identifying officers 

authorised to act on their behalf on financial matters. A copy of this, together 
with specimen signatures shall be supplied to the Section 151 Officer.  A copy 
of the scheme of delegation is attached at Annex D to these regulations.  

 
Accounting for Income 
 
D.5.  Effective income collection systems are necessary to ensure that all revenues 

due to the Council are collected. Income can be vulnerable to loss. In order to 
maximise the Council’s income, it is important that all income due is properly 
identified, collected, receipted, banked and recorded in accounting systems. 

 
 
 

Page 702



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 13 July 2022  
 
 

Key controls and responsibilities 
 
D.6.  The Section 151 Officer and the Strategic Directors are responsible for the 

operation of the key controls governing the receipt of income and for ensuring 
that all due income is correctly recorded and received. Detailed responsibilities 
governing the collection of income are set out at Annex E, section 1.  The 
Section 151 Officer shall review these responsibilities from time to time. 

 
Documentation and cash handling 
 
D.7.  In accordance with these regulations the Section 151 Officer and Strategic 

Directors are responsible for securing the Council’s assets. Cash due and held 
by the Council is vulnerable to loss and must be recorded, held, processed and 
banked securely. Detailed requirements governing documentation and record 
keeping relating to Council income, for handling cash and cash held for third 
parties, are set out in Annex E, Section 2. 

 
Banking and investment arrangements 
 
D.8.  The Section 151 Officer shall: 
 

a)  Make arrangements for all banking services. 
 
b)  Ensure that surplus cash is systematically invested on a daily basis 

consistent with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
c)  Ensure all cheques or other financial instructions issued on behalf of the 

Council bear the impression or manuscript signature of an authorised 
officer, in accordance with the counter-signature hierarchy specified in 
Annex  G, Clause 1.f. 

 
d)  Be responsible for the ordering and control of cheques and similar secure 

stationery, and make sound arrangements for the safe custody of cheque 
stocks, and the control and reconciliation of those issued. 

 
e)  Make secure arrangements for the telephonic and electronic transmission 

of payments and receipts, including the application of effective internal 
controls to mirror those set out above. 

 
D.9.  Strategic Directors are responsible for ensuring that their staff comply with all 

guidance and instructions issued by the Section 151 Officer in this regard. 
 
Petty Cash, Change Floats, and Electronic Purchasing Card Payments 
 
D.10.  The Council’s resources may be held as cash only where there is a business 

need.  Any cash holdings must be authorised by the Section 151 Officer who 
will review the need for such cash holdings periodically and may, at his/her 
discretion, in consultation with Strategic Directors, withdraw or alter the size of 
cash holdings. Detailed regulations governing cash, change floats and 
electronic purchasing cards are set out in Annex E, section 3. 

Page 703



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 14 July 2022  
 
 

 
Debt collection 
 
D.11.  The invoicing, collection and enforcement of Sundry Income is the responsibility 

of the Chief Finance Officer who shall initiate proceedings to recover monies 
owing to the Council in an expeditious manner. The Section 151 Officer will 
ensure that there are recovery procedures for all debts due and which have 
remained unpaid. These will take place automatically. 

 
D.12.  Where a debtor is also a creditor to the Council, the amount due to the Council 

shall be deducted from amounts payable by the Council where, in the opinion 
of the Chief Finance Officer such a course would seem to be more expeditious 
and/or cost effective than recovery action through the courts. 

 
Bad debts and unclaimed credits 
 
D.13.  Where recovery processes have been fruitless and the debt has become 

irrecoverable, it will be written off. The procedure to be followed for writing off 
bad debts is set out at Annex E, section 4. 

 
D.14.  Where unclaimed credits are held within the Council’s accounts, they may be 

considered for write on. The procedure to be followed for writing on unclaimed 
credits is set out at Annex E, section 4.  

 
Stocks and stores and minor assets 
 
D.15.  Stocks and stores represent short term assets of the authority and are therefore 

subject to the same general regulations applying to other assets and cash 
holdings. Detailed regulations and responsibilities for managing stocks and 
stores are set out in Annex E, section 5. 

 
Trading Accounts/Business Units 
 
D.16.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for advising on the establishment and 

operation of trading accounts and business units. 
 
D.17.  Strategic Directors shall take advice from the Section 151 Officer where a 

business unit wishes to enter into a contract with a third party where the contract 
expiry date exceeds the remaining life of their main contract with the Council. 
Such contracts should not be entered into unless they can be terminated within 
the main contract period without penalty. 

 
D. 18. All officers must observe statutory requirements in relation to business units, 

including the maintenance of a separate revenue account to which all relevant 
income and expenditure, including full overhead costs are charged, and to 
produce an annual report in support of the final accounts. 

 
D.19.  Strategic Directors must ensure that the appropriate accounting principles are 

applied to trading accounts as advised by the Section 151 Officer. Each internal 
trading unit shall prepare an annual business plan. 

Page 704



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 15 July 2022  
 
 

 
D.20.  Cabinet shall approve the Council’s banking and brokering arrangements, and 

authorised signatories on the advice of the Section 151 Officer. 
 
Document retention – general 
 
D.21.  Hard copy documentation or electronic media admissible by the Courts created 

or maintained for transactions covered by these Financial Regulations or the 
Council’s Procurement Standing Orders shall be retained for a period not less 
than 6 years after the transaction/ project ceases to be current and/or the 
financial year to which it relates. For more specific guidance please refer to the 
Retention Schedule. 

 
D.22.  All quotations (including unsuccessful ones) obtained for orders made in 

accordance with these Financial Regulations shall be retained for not less than 
the current year plus one. 

 
Disposal of Assets (including Stocks and Stores) 
 
D.23.  As a public authority the Council should, in the disposal of its landholdings and 

other assets, always seek to obtain the best price reasonably obtainable, in 
terms of money or monies worth, unless it is absolved from this duty by statute, 
regulation or other lawful authority. If in the particular case of any disposal these 
rules cannot be followed in such a way as to ensure both propriety and optimum 
value, the matter must be reported to the Cabinet by the Chief Finance Officer 
for authority to proceed in a different way. 

 
D.24.  Detailed regulations governing the disposal of assets are set out in Annex F. 

The annex covers detailed regulations concerning the disposal of:  
 

 Land 
 

 equipment  
 

 scrap and ICT equipment 
 

 major reusable items 
 

 investments 
 

 intangible assets. 
 

Page 705



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 16 July 2022  
 
 

Financial Regulation E:  Expenditure, Liabilities and Procurement of, Ordering, 
and Paying for Works, Goods, Services  and Assets 
 
Introduction 
 
E.1  The Council has a duty to manage and spend public money with due regard to 

probity and in accordance with the Council’s policies. All staff and Members of 
the Council are required to comply with the Council’s procurement policies and 
procedures, as set out in Procurement Standing Orders. In particular, every 
officer and Member of the Council must advise the Monitoring Officer of any 
real or perceived links or personal interests they may have with purchasers 
suppliers and/or contractors if they are engaged in contractual or purchasing 
decisions on behalf of the Council. 

 
E.2.  Procurement Standing Orders are supplemented by detailed regulations 

governing the day-to-day ordering of works, goods and services. These are 
provided in Annex G, section 1. 

 
E.3.  The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for reporting to the Cabinet not less 

than twice each financial year on the exercise of his/her delegated powers. One 
such report will comprise an annual report on procurement for presentation 
within the following financial year. 

 
E.4.  It is the responsibility of Strategic Directors to ensure that a proper scheme of 

delegation has been established for the procurement, certification and 
authorisation of payment within their area, and to take steps periodically to test 
that the scheme is operating effectively. Further detailed responsibilities of the 
Section 151 Officer and Strategic Directors in respect of the regulations 
governing ordering and paying for works, goods and services are set out in 
Annex G, section 2. 

 
E.5.  All acquisitions of assets by the Council, as defined in Annex F, must comply 

with the detailed regulations set out in Annex G, section 5. 

 
Contract arrangements 
 
E.6.  All contracts with a value in excess of the amount specified in Annex G, section 

3, are subject to the provisions contained in the Council’s Procurement 
Standing Orders. No tender shall be accepted and no contract shall be entered 
into until all of the requirements of Procurement Standing Orders as well as all 
necessary approvals, sanctions and consents have been obtained. Prior to 
letting a contract, Officers must ensure that they have the necessary delegated 
authority to proceed and there is sufficient budget provision in place. 

 
E.7. For all contract in excess of the value specified in Regulation E.6, the Section 

151 Officer will be responsible for: 
 

a)  Arranging payment in accordance with the contract terms or Council’s 
scheme for prompt payment. 

Page 706



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 17 July 2022  
 
 

 
b)  Examining, at his/her discretion, and making such enquiries as may be 

necessary to satisfy him/herself as to the fairness and accuracy of the 
accounts. 

 
E.8.  The Assistant Director Legal and Democratic Services shall consider all claims, 

which appear not to clearly fall within the scope of the primary contract with a 
view to determining liability. They will consult with the Section 151 Officer on 
any financial consideration before settlement is reached. 

 
E.9.  Detailed responsibilities of Strategic Directors in relation to contracts are set out 

in Annex G, Section 3. 
 
Engagement of, and Payments to, Employees 
 
E.10.  The Chief Executive, as Head of the Paid Service, has overall responsibility for 

ensuring that all staff emoluments and entitlements are approved for all current 
employees.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for calculating emoluments 
and entitlements and for ensuring that all payments are timely and accurate. 

 
E.11.  Detailed responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer and Strategic Directors in 

respect of engagement of, and payment to, employees are set out in Annex G, 
section 4. In particular, no advances of pay shall be made without the express 
agreement of the Section 151 Officer. Any advances of pay that are made shall 
be effected through the Council’s payroll system unless determined otherwise 
by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
Payments to Members 
 
E.12.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the payment of allowances and other 

sums due to Members in accordance with the Council’s Members’ Allowances 
Scheme, and best practice nationally. 

 
E.13.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for implementing the provisions for 

Members’ travel and subsistence contained in the Members’ Allowances 
Scheme.  

 
Taxation 
 
E.14.  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for managing the Council’s tax affairs, 

approving systems and processes where in the opinion of the Section 151 
Officer they may have a significant impact on the Council’s tax position, and 
advising Strategic Directors on all taxation issues affecting the authority.  They 
are also responsible for maintaining the authority’s tax records, making all tax 
payments by the due dates, receiving tax credits and submitting tax returns by 
their due date as appropriate. 

 
E.15.  Strategic Directors are responsible for ensuring that the correct amount of VAT 

is paid and/or collected on rateable purchases and supplies, in accordance with 
guidance issued by the Section 151 Officer, and for making proper 

Page 707



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 18 July 2022  
 
 

arrangements to administer the correct tax liabilities for contractors engaged in 
construction and maintenance works. 

 

Page 708



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 19 July 2022  
 
 

Financial Regulation F:  External Arrangements 
 
Partnerships 
 
F.1.  For the purpose of the Regulations a partnership is defined as a joint working 

arrangement between otherwise independent bodies that: 
 

a)  agree to co-operate to achieve a common goal 
 

b) create new organisational structures or processes to achieve this goal 
separate from their own organisations 

 
c) plan and implement a jointly agreed programme often with joint staff or 

resources 
 

d)  share relevant information 
 

e)  pool risks and rewards. 
 

Service contracts that are described colloquially as “partnerships” are not 
partnerships for this purpose but are regarded as contracted services dealt with 
under procurement rules. 

 
Responsibilities and expectations 
 
F.2.  The Council requires that potential partners are aware of their responsibilities 

under the Authority’s Financial Regulations and the procurement requirements. 
When partnerships are developed, the partners shall agree on which financial 
regulations and standing orders shall apply as part of the governance 
arrangements for the partnership. The Council’s expectations regarding 
partnerships are set out at Annex H, section 1. These should be adapted and 
written into partnership governance documents, as appropriate. 

 
F.3.  The Council is responsible for considering, and where appropriate, approving 

the formation of any strategic partnership or any proposed change to existing 
external relationships, on the recommendation of the Leader of the Council. 

 
F.4.  The Chief Executive shall be the Council’s principal advisor and representative 

on partnership and external bodies. Further detailed responsibilities are set out 
in Annex H section 2. 

 
External funding 
 
F.5.  Where funding is due from external bodies the Section 151 Officer shall ensure 

that: 
 

(a) All funding due is received and properly recorded in the authority’s 
accounts. 

 

Page 709



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations  
 

Page | 20 July 2022  
 
 

(b) Match-funding requirements and obligations are considered prior to 
entering into any agreement, and that future revenue budgets reflect these 
requirements. 

 
(c) Audit requirements are met. 

 
F.6   Further responsibilities in respect of external funding and providing works to 

third parties are set out in Annex H, Section 2. 

Page 710



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex A 
 

Page | 21 July 2022  
 
 

 
Annex A 
 
Monitoring Officer responsibilities – schedule of values 
 
Regulation  A.5. 
 
Last updated:  September 2015 
 
The Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services) is the Authority’s designated 
Monitoring Officer, under Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
They (together with the Section 151 Officer) are responsible for advising the Portfolio 
Holder, Cabinet or Council about whether a decision is likely to be considered contrary 
or not wholly in accordance with the approved budget. Actions that may be ‘contrary 
to the budget’ include: 
 
a) Initiating a new policy 
 
b) Taking, or failing to take action which will, or is likely to result in any defined 

budget for the current year being exceeded by an amount which in the view of 
the Section 151 Officer, taking into account all the circumstances at the time, is 
contrary or not wholly in accordance with the budget. 

 
c)  Committing, or seeking to commit expenditure in future years above the 

approved level. 
 
d)  Causing the Council’s total budgeted sum for either the Housing Revenue 

Account or the General Fund to increase by more than the following amount in 
any one year (determined by the Section 151 Officer): 

 
£100,000 

 

Page 711



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex B 
 

Page | 22 July 2022  
 
 

ANNEX B  
 
Financial Planning and Budgeting Policy Framework 
 
Section 1: Budgeting and budgetary control 
 
Regulation B.8  
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
The Section 151 Officer shall determine the format of how budgets, revenue and 
capital, are presented and reported on. Revenue and capital budgets shall be 
submitted to Cabinet for consideration together and will be fully integrated and cross-
referenced. 
 
Section 1: Budget preparation 
 
1.a)   The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that a revenue budget is 

prepared on an annual basis for consideration by the Cabinet, before 
submission to the Council in the fourth quarter of the financial year. Fully-costed 
service budgets shall be prepared by the Section 151 officer in conjunction with 
the delegated budget holder. Budgets proposed to Cabinet should include 
allocations to each service and projects (where appropriate), proposed taxation 
levels and contingency funds (where appropriate). Such budgets will be in 
accordance with the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, will include 
revenue projections covering three years and capital projections covering five 
years, and will include appropriate risk management processes in their 
compilation. 

 
1.b)  It is the responsibility of Strategic Directors, and their delegated 

representatives, to ensure that budget estimates reflect agreed service plans 
and are scrutinised and endorsed by appropriate Members including Portfolio 
Holders and relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committees, prior to collation by 
the Section 151 Officer for submission to Cabinet. 

 
1.c)  The budget submission for the coming year shall show in respect of each 

defined item of income and expenditure: 
 

i) the original estimate and any revised estimate for the current year 
 

ii) the actual outturn for the previous year 
 

iii) estimates for the coming year with appropriate explanation of any 
significant issues or variations anticipated in the future.  

 
In relation to i.) above the responsible Director, or the Section 151 Officer, shall 
report on any material variations. 

 

Page 712



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex B 
 

Page | 23 July 2022  
 
 

1.d)  The Cabinet shall consult with stakeholders and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee(s) and make amendments as thought fit (subject to the advice of 
the Section 151 officer), prior to recommending appropriate budgets to Council. 

 
1.e)  Changes to the Budget which increase the Council’s total expenditure and 

require either the use of the Council’s general reserves or increased borrowing 
must be referred by the Section 151 Officer to the Cabinet for consideration 
before being referred to the full Council for approval. 

 
Budget monitoring and control 
 
1.f) In order to enable budgets to be monitored effectively, the Section 151 Officer 

will provide appropriate financial information to Strategic Directors, Assistant 
Directors and Heads of Service. The Section 151 officer will monitor 
expenditure and income against budget, and will report to the Senior 
Leadership Team on the Council’s financial position against its budget on a 
monthly basis, and to Cabinet on a quarterly basis. This quarterly report will 
include the detailed actual position in comparison to the budget for the year, 
projected outturn position for the end of the year, and any proposed action to 
be taken to deal with any variances. The report will show performance against 
individual detailed service budgets and also on a subjective basis. 

 
1.g)  Strategic Directors shall make appropriate arrangements, subject to these 

having been approved by the Section 151 Officer, to process all income and 
expenditure in a timely manner and charge it to an appropriate account code, 
so that information, and interpretations thereof, provided in accordance with 
clause 1.f above fairly reflects the true position. 

 
1.h)  It is the responsibility of Strategic Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of 

Service to control income and expenditure within their area, taking account of 
financial information provided by the Section 151 Officer, as well as 
supplementary local information systems. Each Director shall ensure that all 
expenditure committed by their directorates is within a revenue, capital, or other 
budget approved by Council. Any potential expenditure or loss of income, which 
cannot be funded from within the totality of the service budget, supported by 
the approved Scheme of Virement shall be reported to the Section 151 Officer 
as soon as this is anticipated by the Director. 

 
1.i)  The inclusion of items in approved revenue or capital budgets shall constitute 

approval to incur expenditure, subject to compliance with Procurement 
Standing Orders or other requirements included within these Regulations. 

 
Section 2: Capital plans and budgets 
 
Regulation B.9 
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 
 
 

Page 713



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex B 
 

Page | 24 July 2022  
 
 

Preparation and approvals 
 
2.a)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that a rolling 5 year Capital 

Programme is prepared on an annual basis for consideration by Cabinet and 
submission to the Council as part of its annual budget-setting process, and that 
capital and revenue budgets are fully integrated. 

 
2.b)  The Programme will be informed by the Council’s Capital Strategy and Medium 

Term Financial Strategy and by such capital and revenue resources as the 
Section 151 Officer recommends be made available over the Programme 
period. 

 
2.c)  The Section 151 Officer, in conjunction with Strategic Directors, will prepare 

and submit to Cabinet the estimates of capital payments planned to be incurred 
in the ensuing years. Capital estimates will be integrated with and cross-
referenced to revenue budget estimates. 

 
2.d)  The Capital Programme submitted to Cabinet for consideration will include the 

total sum set aside for capital projects in the year under consideration and for 
future relevant years, together with details of individual projects being submitted 
for approval. The Capital Programme submitted to Cabinet will also include 
details of and provision for capital schemes already approved and in progress 
from previous years. Projects will be considered for inclusion within the Capital 
Programme in accordance with the arrangements set out in the Capital 
Strategy. 

 
2.e)  So far as is possible, all new schemes for the coming year will be identified in 

the budget report. Any subsequent new schemes will be approved by Cabinet 
within the total made available for capital schemes. Cabinet may ringfence 
sums of capital, or agree schemes in principle, with release of detailed sums 
delegated to the Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services if it considers it 
appropriate. 

 
Section 3: Scheme of virement 
 
Regulation B.11 
 
Last updated: October 2021 
 
3.a)  Virement is an in-year mechanism for formally determining and seeking 

agreement to the transfer of funds from one approved budget heading to 
another. The Virement policy set out below applies to all transfers of budget, of 
any value and for any reason, including for reasons of organisational 
restructure. 

 
3.b)  No virement has been carried out unless it has been done in accordance with 

these Regulations, has been approved by the Section 151 Officer and is 
recorded in a register maintained by him/her, and the Council’s corporate 
Financial Management Information System has been updated accordingly. The 

Page 714



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex B 
 

Page | 25 July 2022  
 
 

recording of an approved virement does not alter the original budget approved 
before the start of the year. 

 
3.c)  The rules on virement apply to revenue and to capital and to all accounts under 

the Council’s control. 
 
3.d)  A virement cannot increase nor decrease the total amount of budget resource 

available: the net effect of all virements must be nil. 
 
Levels of authority 
 
3.e)   A hierarchy of authorities is required to determine the type and level of virement 

that may be authorised by committees and officers of the Council. This is given 
in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 1. 

 
3.f)  In no instance should a virement be considered where approval would have the 

effect, or be seen to have the effect of frustrating, circumventing or amending 
the Council’s policies or budget framework. Proposals for any new capital or 
revenue scheme, new sources of income, and significant variation in approved 
charges shall be considered by Cabinet and, if appropriate, Council. 

 
Principles of application 
 
3.g)  The proposed virement must be for a purpose or budget previously approved 

by Council. Sufficient funds must remain in the transferor budget to meet all 
remaining commitments for the year. “Transferor budget” in this context refers 
to individual line budgets and not to the total budget for the service. 

 
3.h)  Subject to being over-ridden by a higher authority, no virement shall take place 

without the agreement of the transferor. 
 
3.i)  In seeking approval for a revenue virement, it must be specified whether a 

virement is one- off in nature (impacting current year budgets only) or 
represents a permanent change (affecting current and all future year budgets).  
Capital virements may only be one- off in nature. 

 
3.j)  Any proposed transfer of funding to ‘employee’ budgets must not increase total 

employment costs beyond the current year. Employment cost for this purpose 
shall include payments to and for staff, agency and other temporary 
engagements, and overtime. 

 
3.k)  Where not specifically budgeted for within a scheme or project, consultancy and 

agency staff fees shall be deemed to be included within ‘employee’ costs for 
the purpose of this scheme. 

 
3.l)  Budgets for central and departmental recharges, asset rents, depreciation, 

interest receivable, capital receipts / charges, and similar corporate ‘accounts’ 
are excluded from this scheme. 

 
 

Page 715



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex B 
 

Page | 26 July 2022  
 
 

Section 4: Scheme of supplementary budgets 
 
Regulation B.12 
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 
4.a)  Supplementary budgets  are an in-year mechanism for formally determining 

and seeking agreement to the increase of a budget heading to be wholly funded 
by a specific funding sources, usually, existing reserves, s106 receipts, CIL 
receipts or grant funding.  The supplementary budgets policy set out below 
applies to all supplementary budgets, of any value and for any reason. 

 
4.b)  No supplementary budget has been carried out unless it has been done in 

accordance with these Regulations, has been approved by the Section 151 
Officer and is recorded in a register maintained by him/her, and the Council’s 
corporate Financial Management Information System has been updated 
accordingly.  

 
4.c)  The rules on supplementary budgets apply to revenue and to capital and to all 

accounts under the Council’s control. 
 
Levels of authority 
 
4.d)   A hierarchy of authorities is required to determine the type and level of 

supplementary budget that may be authorised by committees and officers of 
the Council. This is given in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 2. 

 
4.e)  In no instance should a supplementary budget be considered where approval 

would have the effect, or be seen to have the effect of frustrating, circumventing 
or amending the Council’s policies or budget framework. Proposals for any new 
capital or revenue scheme, new sources of income, and significant variation in 
approved charges shall be considered by Cabinet and, if appropriate, Council. 

 
Principles of application 
 
4.h)  The supplementary budgets must not commit expenditure in any following year. 

Base budgets for the following year(s) shall be ‘re-set’ to exclude any 
supplementary budget made. 

 
4.i)  Any proposed supplementary budgets altering ‘employee’ budgets must not 

increase total employment costs beyond the current year. Employment cost for 
this purpose shall include payments to and for staff, agency and other 
temporary engagements, and overtime. 

 
4.j)  Where not specifically budgeted for within a scheme or project, consultancy and 

agency staff fees shall be deemed to be included within ‘employee’ costs for 
the purpose of this scheme. 

 
 
 

Page 716



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 27 July 2022  
 
 

ANNEX C 
 
Risk Management and Resource Control 
 
Section 1: Maintaining internal control  
 
Regulation C.6  
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 
Audit arrangements 
 
1.a)  The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, require every local authority to 

undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 
management, control and governance processes. The Chief Finance Officer 
has the responsibility to ensure that the Internal Audit Contractor independently 
reviews and reports formally to the Audit Committee on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Council’s control environment. 

 
1.b)  The Section 151 Officer shall maintain an adequate and effective system of 

internal audit of all accounting, financial and other operations of the Council, 
and in particular shall arrange, either directly or through an Internal Audit 
service provided under contract, for the examination, review and appraisal of: 

 
i) the soundness, adequacy and application of internal controls 

 
ii) the safeguards applied to Council assets to protect them from loss, theft, 

fraud, waste, inefficiency, extravagance, or poor value for money 
 

iii) the suitability and reliability of financial and other management 
information 

 
iv)  compliance with rules, regulations, legislation, policy and procedures. 

 
1.c)  The Chief Finance Officer shall be responsible for ensuring that an annual 

report is prepared setting out: 
 

i) an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 
control environment  
 

ii) disclosure and qualifications to that opinion 
 

iii) a summary of the audit work undertaken, and 
 

iv)  any issues that are relevant to the preparation of the Annual Governance 
Statement. This shall be submitted to the Audit Committee as soon as is 
practicable after the end of the year to which it relates. 

 

Page 717



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 28 July 2022  
 
 

1.d)   Internal Audit staff have specific authority to access appropriate Council 
personnel, correspondence and data at any time.  Details of these powers are 
set out in the contract with the Internal Audit provider.  

 
Preventing and detecting fraud and corruption 
 
1.e)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the development and maintenance 

of an anti-fraud, anti-corruption and whistleblowing policies. The Monitoring 
Officer shall be advised in any instance where a member may be implicated. 

 
1.f)  The Section 151 Officer shall be notified immediately by the relevant Strategic 

Director of any suspected irregularity: 
 

i) concerning income, expenditure, cash, stores or other property of the 
Council 

 
ii)  in the exercise of the functions of the authority that may appear to place 

an officer(s) or member(s) under suspicion of obtaining financial benefit, 
directly or indirectly, as a result of the exercise of any Council function with 
which they are associated. 

 
Where notification has been received, the Section 151 Officer shall take such 
steps as is considered necessary by way of investigation and report. 

 
1.g)  Should it be found that any major irregularity has, is, or is about to occur, the 

Section 151 Officer shall immediately inform the Chief Executive and the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for 
determining whether any irregularity shall be referred to the Police. There shall, 
however, be a presumption when considering any case, that suspected criminal 
acts perpetrated against the Council should be referred to the Police for 
investigation. 

 
Security of assets 
 
1.h)  Strategic Directors should ensure that records and assets are properly 

maintained and securely held. They should also ensure that effective 
contingency plans are in place to: 

 
i) ensure continuity of service in the event of disaster or system failure 

  
ii) ensure that assets are secured in the event of disaster 

 
iii) hold in trust all assets secured as a result of clearing vacated council-

owned premises until such a time as they can be properly disposed of in 
accordance with the regulations to be set out in the contingency plan.  

 
1.i)  The Head of Property Service shall maintain a terrier of all land and buildings 

owned by the Council, or premises in which the Council has an interest. They 
shall ensure that all council buildings comply with all relevant legislation and 
that all relevant permissions and consents are secured. 

Page 718



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 29 July 2022  
 
 

 
1.j)  The Assistant Director Legal and Democratic Services shall be responsible for 

the safe custody of all title deeds, formal contracts and agreements, under 
secure arrangements agreed with the Chief Executive and the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
1.k)  Heads of Service  shall maintain adequate and proper security at all times for 

all buildings, stocks, stores, furniture, equipment, vehicles, plant, cash and 
other assets of the Council, under their control. 

 
1.l)  Maximum limits for cash holdings, in whatever receptacle, shall be agreed with 

the Section 151 Officer, and shall not be exceeded without his/her express 
permission and with regard to the appropriate insurance limit.  Current limits are 
set out in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 3. Cash received in total in 
excess of this amount must be banked within 24 hours. 

 
1.m)  Officers, who in the course of their duties collect monies on behalf of the  

Council, the Council’s partners or third parties, shall take all reasonable steps 
to secure safe custody and shall comply with any instructions given by the 
Section 151 Officer. 

 
1.n)  Each Strategic Director shall make arrangements to maintain a register of keys 

for external doors, safes, cash boxes and others items of similar importance. 
All safes shall meet with such specifications determined by the Section 151 
Officer after consultation with the Council’s insurers. The Register shall list the 
keyholders and out of hours contact arrangements. The Register should be held 
securely and only be available to authorised officers. All keys issued to staff are 
to be carried on the person, or held in a secure place, by those responsible at 
all times. Safe keys must not be left on the premises where the safe is situated. 
The loss of keys must be reported to the relevant Director and Section 151 
Officer immediately. 

 
1.o)  With regard to computing, systems, software and data integrity, the Strategic 

Director responsible for ICT services shall: 
 

i) Ensure  proper security and privacy arrangements are applied in respect 
of all information held on the Council’s computer installations, and that 
information is used is in accordance with Data Protection and other 
relevant legislation. 

 
ii) Ensure that effective contingency plans, disaster recovery and back-up 

procedures enable information systems to resume speedily in the event 
of an interruption. These should be documented and distributed to all 
appropriate personnel. They shall from time to time arrange for such 
plans to be tested. 

 
iii) Ensure that the Council, its employees, contractors, partners and agents 

working in support of the Council, comply with copyright, design, patent 
and similar legislation. 

 

Page 719



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 30 July 2022  
 
 

1.p)  Each Strategic Director shall ensure that all staff and third party 
contractors/partners are aware of, and observe such rules and guidance, as 
may be issued under clause 1.m above. In addition, they shall ensure that the 
same standards of care apply to those computer systems directly under their 
control. 

 
1.q)  Strategic Directors are responsible for ensuring that all visitors to any Council 

buildings or sites, except in public areas, are signed-in and wear authorised 
identification. They shall also ensure that any visitor is adequately supervised 
to ensure confidentiality of information and security of Council assets at all 
times. 

 
1.r)  Strategic Directors, acting with the advice of the Section 151 Officer, shall 

ensure that the principles of separation of duties and good control procedures 
are observed in the allocation of accounting duties. They shall make 
arrangements so that:  

 
i)  Duties of providing information regarding sums due to or from the Council 

and of calculating, checking and recording such sums shall be separated 
from the duty of cash or income handling and disbursing them. 

 
ii)  Officers responsible for examining and checking the accounts for cash, 

stocks, stores and similar transactions shall not themselves be engaged 
in any of these transactions. 

 
iii)  The organisational structure provides internal controls and minimises the 

risk of fraud or other malpractice. 
 
Treasury management 
 
1.s)  The authority has adopted the Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 

the Public Services published by CIPFA (2021 edition). 
 
1.t)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for reporting to Cabinet a proposed 

Treasury Management Strategy for the coming financial year on an annual 
basis. The Council is responsible for approving the Treasury Management 
Statement. The Section 151 Officer has responsibility for implementing and 
monitoring the Statement. 

 
1.u)  They are responsible for reporting to the Cabinet at least twice in each financial 

year on the activities of the treasury management operation and on the exercise 
of his or her delegated treasury management powers. One such report will 
comprise an annual report on treasury management for presentation within the 
period of the succeeding financial year. 

 
1.v)  All executive decisions on borrowing, investment or financing shall be 

delegated to the Section 151 Officer, who is required to act in accordance with 
CIPFA’s Code of Practice.  

 

Page 720



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 31 July 2022  
 
 

1.w)  All money in the hands of the Council is controlled by the Section 151 Officer. 
All external investments shall be made in the name of Dacorum Borough 
Council and shall be undertaken by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
1.x)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for authorising the opening of any new 

bank accounts or for closing bank accounts, for managing and controlling all 
bank accounts held by the Council, and for liaison with the Council’s bankers. 
They will also approve the financial limits of authorised signatories to bank 
accounts. The term ‘bank account’ includes accounts with building societies, 
the post office or any financial institution and also includes credit or debit card 
facilities. 

 
1.y)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for applying for any debit or credit cards 

and for determining the ongoing need for any such cards in use. 
 
Section 2: Staffing and consultancy arrangements 
 
Regulations C.7 & C.8 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Staffing arrangements 
 
2.a)  A staff structure is required to provide support to the Cabinet, the Council and 

the Committees of the Council for the conduct of business. The Chief Executive, 
as Head of Paid Service, is responsible for determining how officer support for 
Cabinet and non-Cabinet roles within the authority will be organised in line with 
hierarchy of the authorisations specified in Annex C, Clause 2.g). The Chief 
Executive is responsible for providing overall management to staff and for 
ensuring that there is proper use of the evaluation or other agreed systems for 
determining remuneration of employment. 

 
2.b)  Strategic Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service are responsible 

for ensuring that: 
 

i)  staffing levels can be funded within the totality of the approved current and 
forward years’ budget provision allocated to them 

 
ii)  rules relating to virement as they apply to the engagement of staff are 

observed. 
 
2.c)  The Chief Executive  shall ensure that there is an official record of the officer 

structure showing each post. 
 
2.d)  The Chief Finance Officer will ensure that the annual budget presented for 

approval balances with the approved structure charts , net of any vacancy 
provision policy that the Council may operate from time to time. 

 
2.e)  Directors may appoint employees only to posts identified in the structure chart 

and on grades set out therein (apart from any additional remunerative 

Page 721



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 32 July 2022  
 
 

arrangements such as leased cars, market forces supplements etc. that the 
Council may apply from time to time). 

 
2.f)  The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that the corporate employee database 

and payroll reflect only the official gradings of posts, and that additions to the 
payroll are effected only for posts within the structure charts.  

 
2.g)  Changes may be made to the structure charts in accordance with the hierarchy 

of authorities given in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 4, where the net 
effect of any changes is no increase in cost for the current, or a full year. Where 
a change to the structure chart results in an increased net cost, it shall require 
the approval of Council on the recommendation of Cabinet. 

 
2.h)  Strategic Directors may engage temporary staff to cover for the exigencies of 

the moment and/or staff absences/vacancies. Whilst not reflected on the 
structure charts , payment may be effected through the payroll if in the opinion 
of the Section 151 Officer it is appropriate to do so. The Section 151 Officer will 
ensure that all such ‘employment’ is clearly shown on system as temporary and 
will ensure that no contractual commitment is entered into that would cause the 
temporary or interim worker to gain full employment rights. 

 
2.i)  The annual budget report submitted by the Chief Finance Officer shall include 

a section identifying any changes made to the structure charts since the 
previous budget report and defining the structure  for the coming year. 

 
Use of consultants 
 
2.j)  A consultant organisation or consultant may be engaged, where in the opinion 

of the Chief Executive or relevant Strategic Director, they consider that the 
consultant will add value to the Council’s determination of a particular technical, 
professional, managerial or political matter. This scheme applies to 
commissioned work and managing or advising consultancy and does not 
embrace the engagement of agency or other personnel covering vacancies 
within established posts. Costs of consultants must be contained within existing 
budgets. 

 
2.k)  A consultancy or interim staffing arrangement will exist where the person and/or 

company is not employed under a direct contract of employment with the 
Council and such appointments shall be procured through the following: 

 
i)  an agency contract agreed under a framework agreement for the supply 

of agency staff as detailed on the Council’s Contract Register; or 
 
ii)  be procured through the Corporate Procurement Team and in accordance 

with Procurement Standing Orders. 
 

2.l)  Prior to inviting consultancy support the relevant Strategic Director shall identify 
and set down in writing the project objective(s), required ‘deliverables’, and 
timescales, which shall then form the basis of any consultancy contract. 

 

Page 722



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex C 
 

Page | 33 July 2022  
 
 

Project brief and monitoring arrangements 
 
2.m)  In letting and managing a consultancy contract, the Strategic Director shall: 
 

i)  ensure that the outcomes and timescales of a consultancy are determined 
in writing in advance of any contract being let 

 
ii)  assign responsibility within his/her directorate for the day to day 

management of the consultancy 
 
iii)  determine the monitoring arrangements, review points, and any 

documentation and/or access and/or other protocols necessary for the 
conduct of the consultancy 

 
iv)  ensure that adequate and appropriate records are kept of consultant hours 

and/or outputs where payment is based on time used or production of 
specified outputs 

 
v)  ensure that all consultants are engaged on the basis of a written contract, 

set down and agreed before the commencement of the consultancy, and 
that such contract requires the consultant(s) to comply and be bound by 
any prevailing policies, standing orders, financial regulations and other 
instructions that are relevant to the consultancy task as though the 
consultant(s) were employees of the Council 

 
vi)  ensure that all documentation or other outputs generated by the 

consultancy are and remain the property of the Council in all respects, but 
especially including copyright and intellectual property rights, and that 
such material shall be in the possession of the Council at the end of the 
consultancy 

 
vii)  ensure that where consultants are retained to supply a product of 

significant ongoing tangible value to the Council, e.g. architects, 
engineers, software consultants etc, that the consultant(s) have adequate 
professional indemnity and public liability insurance cover in place, and 
that the existence of such cover shall be a contractual requirements. 

 
 
 
 

Page 723



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex D 
 

Page | 34 July 2022  
 
 

ANNEX D 
 
Schemes of Delegation 
 
Regulation D.4. 
 
Last updated: July 2022 
 
Strategic Directors are required to maintain a scheme of delegation identifying officers 
authorised to act on their behalf on financial matters. A completed copy will be retained 
by the Section 151 Officer. 
 
The scheme shall cover authorisation of payments to be made to staff, contractors 
and suppliers, the collection of income and placing of orders including variations. The 
scheme shall also apply to the authorisation of Accounts Receivable credits and 
cancellation of invoices. In each instance, the financial limits within which the member 
of staff or agent has authority to act shall be identified as follows. All contracts must 
be let in accordance with the Procurement Standing Orders, and Procurement 
guidance must be sought for the letting of contracts outside of the approval levels 
contained within the table below. Where a postholder meets more than one of the 
criteria below e.g. Section 151 Officer and Strategic Director, the higher of the two 
values should be taken. 
 

Postholder Authorisation Level 

  Contract Letting 
Unit 4 Business 
World Approval 

Chief Executive £500,000 £20,000,000 

Section 151 Officer £500,000 £10,000,000 

Strategic Director £500,000 £1,000,000 

Assistant Director £250,000 £250,000 

Head of Service £75,000 £250,000 

Team Leader £25,000 £25,000 

Page 724



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 35 July 2022  
 
 

ANNEX E 
 
Income and assets 
 
Section 1: Accounting for income 
 
Regulation D.6 
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 
1.a)  The key controls for income are that: 
 

i)  all income due to the Council is identified and charged correctly, in a timely 
manner and in accordance with corporate charging policies, and is 
collected and properly accounted for 

 
ii)  in the case of significant contracts, a financial vetting procedure is used to 

assess the merits of trading with the prospective (or, where appropriate, 
existing) customer 

 
iii)  all income is banked or remitted to the Finance Department within one 

working day in line with the requirements of the Section 151 Officer 
 
iv)  responsibility for cash handling should be separated from the person 

raising the debt 
 
v)  effective action is taken to pursue non-payment within defined timescales 
 
vi)  formal approval for debt write-off is obtained in accordance with Council 

policy and actioned promptly 
 
vii)  retention and storage of all appropriate income documents is in 

accordance with the document retention guidelines. 
 
Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer 
 
1.b)  The responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer are: 
 

i)  To authorise arrangements for the collection of all income due to the 
Council and to approve the procedures, systems and documentation for 
its collection. 

 
ii)  To maintain a financial vetting procedure for use in selecting and 

approving prospective (or, where appropriate, existing) customers in 
respect of significant contracts. 

 
iii)  To establish and initiate appropriate recovery procedures, including legal 

and bailiff action where necessary (subject to legal advice where 
appropriate), for debts that are not paid promptly. 

 

Page 725



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 36 July 2022  
 
 

iv)  To authorise the write-off of bad debts up to an approved limit and to 
ensure that larger sums are referred to the Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Services with their recommendation, or to Cabinet as appropriate. 

 
iv) To ensure that appropriate accounting adjustments are made following 

write off action for all debts 
 
vi)  Debts will be collected by the Chief Finance Officer unless specifically 

authorised otherwise by them. Assistant Directors/Heads of Service will 
notify the Chief Finance Officer of all debts due promptly so that they can 
issue debtor accounts expeditiously. Such notification to the Chief Finance 
Officer will include all information required by him/her, and be in a form 
required by him/her to enforce collection effectively. This may include 
evidence to support enforcement during legal proceedings. 

 
vii)  To maintain and keep updated by submitting proposals to Cabinet, a 

policy for fees and charges, in consultation with relevant Strategic 
Directors. 

 
viii)  Reviewing the ordering, issuing and control of official receipting 

documentation. 
 
ix)  Regularly advising relevant managers of the status of debts outstanding. 
 
x)  Agreeing, determining and advising responsible officers of the minimum 

amount for which an invoice may be raised. 
 
xi)  Agreeing and determining the use and terms acceptable for credit and 

debit card receipting. 
 
xii)  Ensuring that appropriate accounting adjustments are made following 

write-off action. 
 
xiii)  Where money, money’s worth or the security of financial documents may 

be at risk ensuring, where practical, that at least two employees are 
present when post is opened so that funds, or the financial document 
received is properly identified and recorded. 

 
Responsibilities of Strategic Directors 
 
1.c.  The responsibilities of Strategic Directors are: 
 

i)  To establish departmental charges for the supply of goods or services, 
including the appropriate charging of VAT, and to review them at least 
annually, in line with the corporate charging policies. 

 
ii)  To ensure that the advice of the Section 151 Officer (or an officer to whom 

responsibility has been delegated) is obtained in respect of prospective 
(or, where appropriate, existing) customers where significant contracts are 
being considered. 

Page 726



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 37 July 2022  
 
 

 
iii)  To supply the Section 151 Officer with details relating to work done, goods 

supplied, services rendered or other amounts due in a timely manner, so 
that sums due to the Council are recorded correctly. This includes 
ensuring that there is sufficient evidence of a usable quality is taken and 
held for debt collection purposes such as proving invoices or initiating 
legal proceedings.  

 
iv)  To separate the responsibility for identifying amounts due and the 

responsibility for collection, as far as is practicable. 
 
v)  To ensure that proper banking and accounting procedures are observed, 

which will include the issue of official receipts and to ensure that 
appropriate details are recorded on to bank paying-in slips to provide an 
audit and management trail. These details should match the payment to 
the account or invoice to be credited. 

 
vi)  To assist the Section 151 Officer by providing any further information 

requested by Financial Services to facilitate the follow up and recovery of 
outstanding debts and to assist in the following up of outstanding debts on 
behalf of the Council. 

 
vii)  Identification, collection, receipt, custody, control, disposal and proper 

accounting of all monies received, or receivable by the Council in 
accordance with any requirements of the Section 151 Officer.  

 
viii)  Immediate acknowledgement of sums received by an officer, by the issue 

of a sequentially pre-numbered receipt, ticket, voucher, or other document 
approved by the Section 151 Officer. Accounting for all receipts issued to 
officers, ensuring that they are used for official purposes and that the 
monies so receipted have been promptly collected and paid over to the 
Council, or its bankers intact, and without deduction for other purposes.  

 
ix)  Systematic consideration of bad and doubtful debts, including the 

cessation of service where there is a history of persistent poor payment in 
consultation with the Section 151 Officer. 

 
x)  Levying and collecting charges in advance or at the time for services 

provided. Where this is not feasible responsible officers shall promptly 
issue a sundry debtor account. 

 
Responsibility for recovering the Council’s income 
 
1.d)  The responsibility for recovering the Council’s income is as follows: 
 

i)  Council Tax and Business Rates – Chief Finance Officer 
 
ii)  Housing rents and associated income – Assistant Director (Housing 

Operations). 
 

Page 727



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 38 July 2022  
 
 

iii)  Parking – Head of Commercial Development 
 
iv)  Entertainment – Assistant Director (Place, Communities and Enterprise). 
 
v)  Sales – various. 
 
vi)  Government grants – Chief Finance Officer. 
 
vii)  Commercial rents and associated income – Head of Property Services). 
 
viii)  Planning application fees – Assistant Director (Planning). 
 
viiii)  Licensing application fees – Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic 

Services). 
 
x)  Invoicing annual fees - Chief Finance Officer 
 
xii)  Sundry income invoiced through Accounts Receivable – Chief Finance 

Officer. 
 

The definition of “Sundry Income” for the purposes of the above is: 
 
(a) those amounts due in respect of sales, fees and charges for services 

provided by the Council or falling due for payment, and which are: 
 

(b) invoiced using the Accounts Receivable system, and/or 
 

(c)  all income types other than those listed above. 
 
Section 2: Documentation and cash handling 
 
Regulation D.7 
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 
2.a)  All books and forms of account and all official receipt forms or books, licences, 

tickets and all documents or vouchers or tokens representing receipts or money 
shall be in a form approved by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
2.b)  The arrangements for ordering, storing and control of such receipts, forms, 

books and other documents shall be approved by the Section 151 Officer. All 
receipts and issues of such documents shall be properly recorded and 
acknowledged in a manner approved by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
2.c)  All cash received on behalf of the Council shall be properly acknowledged by 

the issue of an official Council receipt or other document of a type referred to 
above, unless alternative arrangements have been approved by the Section 
151 Officer. 

 

Page 728



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 39 July 2022  
 
 

2.d)  Receipts for payments made by cheque should be made when requested by 
the payer. Payments received by automated methods, such as by debit/credit 
cards or via the Internet, must be recorded in such a manner as to facilitate 
reconciliation of the amounts received with the account(s) to be credited. 

 
2.e)  Bankings must always be intact, i.e. to include all monies received that day (or 

other agreed period). 
 
2.f)  No expenditure should be made out of income received which should all be 

banked in full. Refunds of overpayments must be made through the Creditors 
system, unless specifically sanctioned by the S151 Officer. 

 
2.g)  Third-party cheques should only be accepted where the cheque is from an 

approved source, e.g., utility undertaking and where it is used in full or part 
settlement of a Council debt. In no circumstances should they be cashed, or be 
accepted and change given. 

 
2.h)  Council cheques should only be accepted when it has been confirmed with 

Financial Services that no "stop" exists. 
 
2.i)  No cheques from anyone should be cashed at all apart from, in limited 

situations, Dacorum Borough Council cheques being cashed or opened. Where 
a request is made to open a cheque, such action must be approved by the 
Section 151 Officer.  

 
2.j)  Under no circumstances should personal cheques belonging to staff be cashed 

in, or money borrowed from, income or other Council monies. Breach of this 
Financial Regulation will be regarded as disciplinary matter. 

 
Holding cash for third parties 
 
2.k)  In instances where officers of Members of the Council receive cash belonging 

to third parties, such as in the case or clearing council owned property and 
retaining assets until they can be passed to an identified owner, the standard 
procedure note for receipting cash will be followed.  

 
Invoices and record keeping 
 
2.l)  Demand notices or invoices shall be raised in respect of all debts except: 
 

(i) parking fees 
 
(ii) entertainment tickets 
 
(iii) ad hoc cash sales 
 
(iv) such other situations as the Section 151 Officer may determine as 

appropriate, such situations being recorded in a revision of Financial 
Regulations as soon as is practical. 

 

Page 729



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 40 July 2022  
 
 

2.m)  Where income is derived from a certificated grant claim to the government, the 
documentary provisions related to that claim shall apply for record keeping 
purposes. 

 
2.n)  Where a demand notice or invoice is required, the following services shall be 

responsible for issuing them: 
 

i) Council Tax and Business Rates – Chief Finance Officer – Demand 
Notices. 

 
ii) Housing rents and associated income – Assistant Director (Housing 

Management) – Rent Statements. 
 
iii) Commercial rents and associated income – Head of Property Services – 

Invoice. 
 
iv) (Sundry income via Accounts Receivable – Chief Finance Officer – 

Invoice. 
 
2.o)  For debts arising for Council Tax, Business Rates and Housing Rents, there 

are statutory provisions that must be followed for raising demand notices. These 
provisions are set out in separate procedure manuals and are not repeated 
here. 

 
2.p)  Where a debt is to be invoiced and recovered by Financial Services, it shall be 

the responsibility of the Head of Service that has arranged or provided the 
service to ensure that: 

 
(i)  Liability is properly established. 
 
(ii)  The service is documented in a contract or agreement that has been 

correctly signed by all relevant parties. 
 
(iii) That the contract or agreement or other relevant evidence is provided to 

Financial Services as evidence with the invoice request. 
 
(iv)  All liabilities should be raised against individuals or corporate entities. 

Liabilities shall not be raised in the name of “The Occupier” or similar forms 
and neither should trading names be used in the place of proper legally 
recognised persons. 

 
2.q)  It is imperative that proper evidence supports invoice requests as this prevents 

invalid invoices being issued. Invalid invoices generally lead to debit reversal to 
the originating department cost centre or bad debts and write offs. 

 
2r)  All notifications of debt to debtors will be by official invoice issued by the Chief 

Finance Officer or by a Strategic Director in respect of a service and in a manner 
approved by the Section 151 Officer. Under no circumstances may service 
departments operate unofficial debtor systems or seek to manage debt via 
correspondence with the debtor. 

Page 730



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 41 July 2022  
 
 

 
2.s)  All invoices for income due to the Council shall be prepared and issued by 

Financial Services, such issues immediately following an invoice request that 
is supported with the relevant evidence. Invoice requests that are not 
adequately supported will be returned to the originating department for 
rectification. 

 
2.t)  Invoices shall be set out and issued in the manner approved by the Section 151 

Officer. 
 
2.u)  Invoices may be reduced in value if the services provided have been incorrectly 

charged at a higher level. Where the value of an invoice needs to be reduced, 
a written instruction must be provided to Financial Services detailing the 
reasons and the revised amount and authorised in line with the Scheme of 
Delegation, Annex D. 

 
2.v)  Invoices may only be cancelled where: 
 

(i)  the debt has been raised against an incorrect liable party 
 
(ii)  a variation to a lease or licence results in a lower charge 
 
(iii)  the planned service has not been provided, e.g. a trade refuse contract 

that has commenced, but the bin was not been delivered 
 
(iv)  the information recorded on the invoice is factually wrong, or 
 
(v)  the “debtor” has no liability in law. 

 
2.w)  Where an invoice is cancelled, the reason for cancellation must be recorded in 

a written instruction and authorised in line with the Scheme of Delegation, 
Annex D. In all other circumstances where an invoice needs to be cancelled, 
the write off procedure must be used. 

 
2.x)  No customer should be advised that a debt is uncollectable or will be written off 

or be given similar undertakings unless the decision making process with 
regard to debt write-off has been completed. 

   
 
Section 3: Petty cash, change floats, and electronic purchasing card (EPCs) 
purchases 
 
Regulation D.10 
 
Last updated: July 2017 
 
3.a)  The Council’s resources may be held as cash only where there is a business 

need.  Any cash holdings must be authorised by the Section 151 Officer who 
will review the need for such cash holdings periodically and may, at his/her 

Page 731



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 42 July 2022  
 
 

discretion, in consultation with Strategic Directors, withdraw or alter the size of 
cash holdings.  

 
3.b)   Any requests for cash holdings shall be made by the relevant Strategic Director 

to the Section 151 Officer. Directors will also furnish the Section 151 Officer 
with a schedule of all cash holdings with details of the officer responsible for 
their custody. 

 
3.c)   In all instances vouchers seeking payment shall be properly certified for 

payment by officers authorised to do so and coded. All vouchers shall have 
attached to them securely receipts and/or other appropriate documentation in 
support of the full value of the payment that is requested. Vouchers shall be 
stored in line with the Document retention schedule. 

 
3.d)   The Section 151 officer shall determine the form for vouchers to be used to 

seek disbursement from petty cash holdings or imprests. No other form of 
voucher shall be used to obtain disbursement of official monies in this manner. 

 
3.e)   Cash reimbursements shall be limited to minor purchases (when supported by 

receipts) not exceeding a sum determined by the Section 151 Officer and 
specified in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 5. Payments must not be 
broken up to avoid this limit. Petty cash floats may not be used for 
reimbursements of employee expenses, payments of invoices, or refunds. 
Official monies must never be used for cashing personal cheques. 

 
3.f) Periodically, and at least monthly, responsible officers shall perform, in 

conjunction with another officer regular checks to ensure that the balance of 
credit on the account together with the sums disbursed equal the amount of the 
approved imprest. A record of such reconciliation, signed by both officers, shall 
be retained. 

 
3.g)  Strategic Directors shall ensure that any imprest held by an officer leaving 

his/her post is checked prior to his/her leaving and either paid back into the 
Council’s Bank Account or transferred to another authorised officer. 

 
3.h)   Electronic Purchasing Cards (EPCs) will be issued to, and retained by officers 

who have a business need. Applications for Plastic Cards with Standard and 
Higher Spend Limits shall be counter-signed by the Head of Service of the 
relevant Department. In cases where the application is for a higher limit, these 
shall be signed thereafter the Council’s Section 151 Officer on the advice of the 
Head of Financial Services. 

 
3.i)   The use of EPCs, standard limits and controls are set out in the Councils 

separate e-purchasing cards policy, available to employees on the intranet. 
Employees will only be issued with an EPC after formal training on the scheme, 
and signing a cardholder agreement detailing proper usage. 

 
3.j)   EPCs will never be used for obtaining cash advances. 
 

Page 732



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 43 July 2022  
 
 

3.k)  Employees holding EPCs will ensure that VAT receipts are obtained, where 
relevant, for all transactions and that all supporting documentation is handed 
over promptly to permit the payment of EPC bills. 

 
3.l)  In addition to plastic cards, the Council has the ability to lodge embedded cards 

with suppliers. Embedded Cards are recommended for high value transactions, 
and are to be used for the Council’s larger contracts and where the Council will 
generate a significant rebate.  

 
3.m)  The suitability of a supplier for the use of an embedded card will be identified 

by Financial Services and will be approved by the Council’s Section 151 Officer. 
  
Section 4: Debt write-off and credit write-on procedures and limits 
 
Regulations D.13 & D.14 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Write-offs 
 
4.a)  A write-off request must be prepared detailing: 
 

(i) name and address of the debtor 
 
(ii)  value of the debt 
 
(iii)  service provided 
 
(iv)  reason why the debt is irrecoverable 
 
(v)  the authorisation route that must be followed. 

 
4.b)  The write-off request should account for the full indebtedness of an individual 

or organisation and any information relevant to determining their financial 
obligations to the Council, and should also identify previous write- offs for that 
debtor. 

 
4.c)  Where credits exist in the name of the debtor, they should be offset against the 

debt in order to minimise the extent of write-off. 
 
4.d)  Where there are multiple write-off requests, the requests shall be compiled into 

a schedule for each month that shows the following: 
 

(i) name of the debtor 
 
(ii)  value of the debt 
 
(iii)  type of reason why the debt is irrecoverable 
 

Page 733



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 44 July 2022  
 
 

(iv)  the total value of debt write-off requests in the period covered by the 
schedule and the sub-total of values by type. 

 
4.e)  The write-off request must be supported by appropriate working papers 

that support the reason for writing off the debt. The individual request or 
schedule of requests must be approved by the relevant Head of Service and 
the Section 151 Officer. The Section 151 Officer may request further details of 
write-off requests listed on the schedules prior to approval. 

 
4.f)  Authorisation for write-offs depends on the value of the write-off request. A 

schedule of authorisations is provided in the Schedule of Authorisations, 
item 6. Depending upon the write-off thresholds, the request may be supported 
with a minute/decision sheet relating to a Portfolio Holder or Cabinet decision. 
All proposed write-offs shall be subject to review and approved by the Section 
151 Officer who may, if they consider it appropriate, determine that a higher 
level of authority for write-off should be exercised. 

 
Write-ons 
 
4.g)  Where unclaimed credits are held within the Council’s accounts, they may be 

considered for writing on. Where this happens, a write-on request form shall be 
prepared detailing: 

 
(i) name and address of the account holder 
 
(ii)  value of the credit 
 
(iii)  service that the credit relates to 
 
(iv)  reasons why the credit should be written on. 

 
4.h)  The write-on request form must be signed by the relevant Head of Service and 

supported by appropriate working papers. The request will be considered and 
determined by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
4.i)  All write-off and write-on paperwork shall be retained for such period of time as 

required by the Document Retention Schedule for Dacorum Borough Council. 
 
 
Write-off recovery thresholds 
 
4.j)  The cost of undertaking recovery proceedings can be expensive and given the 

low value of some debts, it may not be economic to commence such action. 
The Section 151 Officer, shall set de-minimis levels for recovery action and 
review and amend them on a periodic basis.  Write-off recovery thresholds are 
set out in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 7. 

 
4.k)  Where a debt is considered in court proceedings and it is in the interests of the 

Council to accept a consent order for a lower amount in full and final settlement 
of the debt, any value that needs to be written off will be accounted for as per 

Page 734



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 45 July 2022  
 
 

the threshold table with the reasons attached to it. Where this occurs, the 
authorising role will not be able to challenge the write-off due to the existence 
of a court order. However, if there are doubts as to the appropriateness of the 
full and final settlement decision that related to the court order, then the Section 
151 Officer shall investigate the case and take appropriate action. 

 
4.l)  With the exception of court order cases, the process of writing off debt is not 

irreversible and in the event that monies are recovered in the future, the 
relevant amount will be credited back into the Council’s accounts. 

 
Credit Limits 
 
4.m)  There is a general presumption that discretionary services provided to a 

customer should be paid for on time. In the event of a repeated failure to pay in 
accordance with the credit terms and where appropriate, the Accounts 
Receivable Team will recommend to the service department that the provision 
of services should cease. In the event that the recommendation is not accepted 
by the service department, then the service department must provide reasons 
in writing to the Section 151 Officer as to why services should continue to be 
supplied. 

 
4.n)  To reduce the risk of loss of income or value of good and services to be 

supplied, the Section 151 Officer shall maintain a financial vetting procedure in 
order to assess or review the risk of entering into or, where appropriate, 
continuing with, significant contracts with existing and prospective customers, 
suppliers or partners. 

 
4.o)  The procedure referred to in Clause 4.n above shall define the term ‘significant 

contract’ and take into account the Council’s revenue streams, procurement 
contracts and partnerships and the prevailing risks associated with them. 
Where a prospective (or, where appropriate, existing) customer, supplier or 
partner fails to achieve a satisfactory financial vetting assessment, the Council 
shall: 

 
(i)  not enter into any new contractual arrangement and 
 
(ii) review any existing contractual arrangement to establish whether it is 

appropriate to continue the said existing contractual arrangement in the 
light of the assessment. 

 
Section 5: Responsibilities for stocks, stores and minor assets 
 
Regulation D.15. 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer 
 
5.a)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 
 

Page 735



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 46 July 2022  
 
 

i)  Adopting appropriate accounting policies and advising Strategic Directors 
of the basis to be adopted for valuing stocks and stores. 

 
ii)  Ensuring that the valuation of all stocks and stores is fairly reflected in the 

Annual Financial Statement of Accounts. 
 
iii)  Determine minimum standards to be complied with under regulations 

relating to assets, at paragraphs (a) (b) and (e) below. 
 
Responsibilities of Strategic Directors 
 
5.b)  Each relevant Strategic Director is responsible for, ensuring : 
 

i)  That there are effective and efficient procedures for procuring, holding and 
the issue of stocks and stores, and that such procedures are to the 
satisfaction of the Section 151 officer. 

 
ii)  That objective statistical methods are used, in accordance with best 

practice, to determine order quantities and maximum and minimum order 
levels, and that such methods are to the satisfaction of the Section 151 
officer.  

 
iii)  Furnishing the Section 151 Officer with details and a signed certificate of 

the value of stocks and stores held within their directorates as and when 
required by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
iv)  Arranging for goods to be checked at the time of delivery to ensure that 

quantity, quality and price comply with the contractual or order 
specification.  

 
v)  That comprehensive, complete and up to date stores/stock records are 

maintained and that such records are in a form that is satisfactory to the 
Section 151 Officer. Where stores / stock recording systems are 
computerised, they shall interface appropriately with the Council’s main 
Financial Management System and interface controls will be to the 
minimum standard determined by the Section 151 officer. 

 
vi)  Regular and systematic stocktaking, ensuring that every item is checked 

at least once annually, and that fast moving, valuable or desirable items 
are checked more frequently. 

 
vii)  Procedures for the disposal of surplus or obsolete stock are correctly 

complied with. These are set out under Financial Regulation D.23. 
 
Asset inventories 
 
5.c)  Asset inventories shall be held and kept current by Heads of Service , who will 

ensure that all areas under their authority have an asset inventory. They shall 
contain clear descriptions of all fixed and moveable assets having a current 
value in excess of an amount specified by the Section 151 Officer in the 

Page 736



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 47 July 2022  
 
 

Schedule of Authorisations, item 8, other than land and buildings, which are 
listed in the property terrier, which is kept by the Head of Property Services and 
ICT equipment for which a separate inventory is kept by the responsible 
Strategic Director. 

 
5.d)  Where assets have unique serial numbers, they shall be recorded in the asset 

inventory. 
 
5.e)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 
 

i)  Ensuring that all equipment, furniture, fixtures and fittings, plant, 
machinery, tools and other valuables are appropriately insured, and that 
appropriate risk management reviews are undertaken periodically. 

 
ii)  Determining the form for official inventories. 
 
iii)  Determining the basis for valuation of items recorded in asset inventories. 

 
5.f)  The Strategic Director with responsibility for Digital Services is responsible for: 
 

i)  The maintenance of a comprehensive Hardware and Software Inventory 
for all Council ICT equipment held throughout the Council. 

 
5.g)  Strategic Directors are responsible for: 
 

i)  Ensuring that each Head of Service compiles and maintains an inventory 
of assets in the official form (other than land and buildings, and ICT 
equipment), and that appropriate entries are made at the time of purchase 
and disposal. 

 
ii) Arranging for an independent annual inspection of all items on the 

inventory. 
 
iii)  Informing the Section 151 Officer and if it appears that assets cannot be 

accounted for. 
 
iv)  Ensuring that all purchases of ICT equipment are made through ICT 

Services. 
 
v)  Advising the Section 151 Officer of the valuation of inventories for 

insurance purposes. 
 
vi)  Determining the method by which redundant or assets surplus to 

requirements shall be disposed of. Asset disposals shall be undertaken in 
accordance with these regulations and in accordance with European 
Directives on the disposal of electrical and computer equipment. 

 
vii)  Ensuring that all assets are used wholly and exclusively for Council 

business. 
 

Page 737



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex E 
 

Page | 48 July 2022  
 
 

Section 

Page 738



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 49 July 2022  
 
 

ANNEX F 
 
Disposal of Assets (including Stocks and Stores) 
 
As a public authority the Council should, in the disposal of its landholdings and other 
assets, always seek to obtain the best price reasonably obtainable, in terms of money 
or monies worth, unless it is absolved from this duty by statute, regulation or other 
lawful authority. The following regulations govern the disposal of assets. 
 
Section 1: Land disposals 
 
Regulation D.24 
 
Last updated: July 2022 
 
1.a)  For the purposes of the following, "land" includes land of which the Council 

owns the freehold or leasehold interest and interests such as restrictive 
covenants of which the Council has the benefit It includes land and buildings, 
leases, easements and other rights of way. 

 
1.b)  Disposals of land shall always be for the best consideration possible, including 

monetary and other relevant factors. Any authorisations from Government that 
are required in respect of the need to seek best consideration shall be applied 
for by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
1.c)  Disposals of land valued at £500k or above shall be authorised by Cabinet on 

the basis of advice by the Chief Finance Officer and Cabinet shall also approve 
any nonmonetary aspects of the disposal where they are material to the 
consideration sought. 

 
1.d)  Disposals of land valued above £15k but below £500k may be authorised by 

the Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Services. Where the disposal relates to assets held by the Council’s Housing 
Revenue Account, the Chief Finance Officer will, in addition, consult with the 
Portfolio Holder for Housing Services.  

 
1.e)  Disposals of land valued at £15k or below may be authorised by the Chief 

Finance Officer or Head of Financial Services. 
 
1.f)  All valuations and negotiations in respect of land disposals must be carried out 

by or under the supervision of a properly qualified member of the Society of 
Valuers and Auctioneers or a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors, who is not a member of the Council and who is in a position to judge 
the conditions prevailing in the local property market. 

 
1.g)  All valuations will be carried out in a manner that will satisfy external audit 

requirements, and the advice of the Section 151 Officer will be taken in that 
respect. 

 

Page 739



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 50 July 2022  
 
 

1.h)  Negotiations with prospective developers should take place at the Council's 
offices or the developer's office within normal office hours (subject to the 
necessity for such negotiations to be extended in exceptional circumstances 
beyond those hours). Two officers of the Council will be present during 
negotiations and all such valuations and negotiations shall be subject to written 
record and approved by the Chief Finance Officer unless delegated. A signed 
record of all meetings shall be retained. 

 
1.i)  The Strategic Director of the appropriate directorate and the Council's duly 

appointed valuer or other agent shall be involved in or appraised of all major 
steps in the negotiations in respect of transactions or of a series of transactions, 
the estimated value or the aggregated value of which exceeds an amount 
specified by the section 151 Officer in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 
9. 

 
1.j)  It shall be the duty of the Chief Finance Officer to report on the progress of any 

major transaction authorised by the Council to Cabinet at least at six monthly 
intervals and upon completion of the transaction. This duty will apply to 
transactions in respect of which the aggregate consideration is likely to exceed 
the amount specified in Clause 1.g above and those where there are significant 
operational implications. 

 
1.k)  No land owned or leased by the Council shall be disposed of to another body 

or person until it has been offered to all other services of the Council, unless in 
the opinion of the Senior Leadership Team such land is of no conceivable value 
or interest to any of the Council's services. Transfer of land between services 
requires the approval of: 

 
i) the Senior Leadership Team 
 
ii) the "transferor" Cabinet Portfolio Member* 
 
iii)  the "transferee" Cabinet Portfolio Member*. 

 
*Approval by Cabinet Portfolio Holders in this regard shall be by formal Portfolio 
Holder decision. 

 
1.l)  The Chief Finance Officer shall effect any transfer in the accounts that may be 

required. 
 
1.m)  No land owned by the Council or of which the Council is lessee shall be 

disposed of except by way of renewal of lease until a report has been prepared 
by the Chief Finance Officer containing:- 

 
i) an inspection report describing the land and, where appropriate, its 

physical characteristics and development constraints 
 

ii) a report on title by the Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services) 
 

Page 740



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 51 July 2022  
 
 

iii) any information from the Council's records which would affect the land's 
value or development potential 

 
iv) where appropriate an assessment of the development potential of the land 

by the Assistant Director (Planning) 
 

v)  any advice by the Strategic Director seeking to dispose of the land.  
 
1.n)  In formulating his/her advice, the Chief Finance Officer shall make 

recommendations in respect of 
 

i) issues that need to be resolved before marketing of the land can proceed 
 
ii) the method of disposal 
 
iii) the title to be transferred 
 
iv) the price the Council should receive along with the "asking" and "reserve" 

price 
 
v) any special conditions of sale 

 
vi)  any appointment of external advisers or agents that may be desirable. 

 
1.o)  All disposals of land owned or leased by the Council shall be by one of the 

following methods. The Chief Finance Officer shall determine on the basis of 
appropriate professional advice which method is in the best interests of the 
Council at any given time. 

 
i)  Private Treaty 

This method may be used where in view of the size, value or location of 
the land there is only one prospective purchaser with a foreseeable 
interest in acquiring it. It may also be appropriate where the number of 
those interested is limited to two or three and the value of the land is low, 
but in any such case those with a foreseeable interest should be notified 
of the Council's intention to dispose of the land and any interest in 
acquiring it should be pursued and assessed. 

 
ii)  Tender 

This method may be appropriate where there are two or more prospective 
purchasers with a foreseeable interest in acquiring the land. Where the 
estimated value of the land exceeds a value specified by the Section 151 
Officer in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 10 and more than one 
prospective purchaser exists, this method should be used in preference 
to Private Treaty. Advertisements should be placed in the local newspaper 
and, if appropriate, national newspapers. Tenders should be on the basis 
of identical terms and conditions of the sale. The tender documentation 
should make it clear that the Council is not obliged to accept the highest 
or any tender and in the event of any higher offer being received before a 
contract is exchanged, the Council may be obliged to consider it. In the 

Page 741



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 52 July 2022  
 
 

event of any such higher offer being received, all interested parties who 
have submitted a tender must be given the opportunity of making a further 
or revised offer by a specified date. 

 
iii)  Public Auction 

This method will be used where the value of the land is difficult to ascertain 
in view of its size, location, development constraints or other factors, and 
interest in it is unknown. If the land is valued by a Chartered Surveyor as 
likely to achieve £500k or over, then appropriate conditions of sale and 
any reserve price should be approved by Cabinet. If the land is valued by 
a Chartered Surveyor as likely to less than £500k, then appropriate 
conditions of sale and any reserve price should be approved by Chief 
Finance Officer in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Services. Where the disposal relates to assets held by the Council’s 
Housing Revenue Account, the Strategic Director will, in addition, consult 
with the Portfolio Holder for Housing.  The current requirement for third 
party valuation of land for disposal would remain, as would the 
requirement for sign off by the Council’s S151 Officer and Monitoring 
Officer. 
 

iv)  Building Agreements 
Where land is to be disposed of under a building agreement and 
subsequent lease, developers' proposals should be invited by public 
advertisement and considered by the appropriate Cabinet Portfolio 
Member.  

 
1.p)  These rules do not apply to a disposal under the "Right to Buy" provisions of 

the Housing Act 1985, to disposals under any scheme adopted by the Council 
for the extension of the "Right to Buy", to any disposal which is required either 
by statute or by a court of law, or to a disposal otherwise than for best price 
reasonably obtainable under a general or specific consent of the Secretary of 
State. 

 
Section 2: Equipment disposals 
 
2.a)  This Section applies to all plant, equipment and other smaller assets. It includes 

vehicles, plant, machinery, office equipment (including ICT equipment) etc. It 
also applies to items of stocks and stores with an individual value of less than 
the amounts specified by the Section 151 officer in the Schedule of 
Authorisations, item 11. 

 
2.b)  Save for any ICT equipment, any vehicle or article of equipment, machinery, 

furniture, etc., which is surplus to the requirements of one of the Council's 
service units must be valued by or under the instructions of the Head of Service 
of the service unit which has responsibility for it. The need for accuracy in the 
valuation will depend largely upon the intrinsic value placed upon the article. 

 
Scrap Items (where the responsible Head of Service is satisfied that there is 
no economic value in the item for its original or intended use). 

 

Page 742



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 53 July 2022  
 
 

2.c)  The Head of Service should use his/her best endeavours to obtain best price 
on the open market. 

 
2.d)  If on investigation a better value can be obtained in a trade-in for new equipment 

than on a sale on the open market, the Head of Service may conduct the 
disposal on the basis of trade-in. 

 
ICT Equipment 
 
2.e)  All ICT equipment for disposal should be passed to Digital Services. 
 
2.f)  Digital Services should ensure all equipment conforms to licensing and Health 

and Safety requirements. 
 
2.g)  Where possible Digital Services should re-use the equipment within the 

Council. 
 
2.h)  If the equipment is not required by the Council, it may be given free of charge 

to voluntary or not-for-profit organisations. 
 
2.i)  If the equipment has value, the best price possible to should be obtained.  
 
2.j)  The Digital Services are  required to schedule and retain documentary evidence 

of the disposal of ICT equipment for a period, as outlined in then Retention 
Schedule for documents. 

 
2.k)  The Head of Service responsible for Digital Services will ensure that all ICT 

equipment disposed of has sensitive data or material that would contravene the 
Data Protection Act or other legislation erased irretrievably and retained in 
accordance with the Council’s document retention strategy. 

 
Other Minor Usable Items (with an intrinsic resale value up to the value 
specified in clause (a) above. 

 
2.l)  The responsible Head of Service should first cause an internal advertisement 

for the article to be published amongst all Heads of Service with a potential use 
for the article for Council business. 

 
2m)  Where no service unit Manager requires the article to be disposed of, it may be 

advertised for sale to Council employees at the price placed upon the article by 
the responsible Heads of Service. 

 
2.n)  Where no Head of Service or employee requires the article to be disposed of 

it may be publicly advertised for sale at the price placed upon the article by the 
responsible Head of Service; or it may be offered to a voluntary or educational 
organisation. 

 
2.o)  The responsible Head of Service is authorised to dispose by way of trade-in or 

by way of Private Treaty with a view to obtaining best price or value reasonably 
obtainable. 

Page 743



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 54 July 2022  
 
 

 
2.p)  Where the value of asset to be disposed of is as specified by the Section 151 

Officer in the Schedule of Authorisations at item 11b, sections 2a)- 2.o) 
above apply and the Head of Service must also seek formal authorisation for 
the disposal from the Section 151 Officer and relevant Strategic Director via an 
approved officer decision sheet, prior to any disposal taking place. 

 
Section 3: Major reusable items  
 
3.a)  This section applies to assets with an intrinsic resale value in excess of the 

amount specified under Clause 2.a) above and to stocks and stores with an 
individual value above this amount. 

 
3.b)  Assets within this section should be the subject of public advertisement in local 

or national newspapers and/or appropriate trade journals and open tendering 
procedures. Tenders should be on the basis of identical terms and conditions 
of sale. The tender documentation should stipulate that the Council is not 
obliged to accept the highest or any tender. 

 
3.c)  Alternatively these items may be disposed of by way of public auction, with or 

without reserve price including via electronic auction on a recognised auction 
website. 

 
3.d)  Alternatively, these items may be disposed of by way of trade-in for new or 

replacement equipment if this method will achieve better value than the best 
open market price reasonably achievable. 

 
3.e)  Disposals of major reusable items must be authorised by the Cabinet where the 

disposal may achieve a receipt in excess of an amount above that specified by 
the Section 151 Officer in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 12. The 
responsible Head of Service must prepare a report containing: 

 
 i)  An inspection report describing the equipment and its condition. 
 
ii)  Any information from the Council's records or within the responsible Head 

of Service’s knowledge which would affect the equipment's value. 
 
iii) Recommendations where appropriate on the following: 

 
a.) issues that need to be resolved before marketing of the equipment 

can proceed 
 

b.) the method of disposal 
 

c.) the price the Council should receive along with the "asking" and any 
"reserve" price, if the equipment is to be sold by public auction. 

 
d.) any special conditions of sale 

 
e.) the appointment of external advisers or agents 

Page 744



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 55 July 2022  
 
 

 
f.)  whether negotiations should proceed with a special purchaser. 

 
3.f) These rules shall not apply to disposal by the Council of items by way of sale 

in the normal course of the Council's business (e.g. food from the food outlets 
etc.). 

 
Section 4: Disposals of other assets 
 
4.a)  This Section applies to all other tangible or intangible assets, including but not 

restricted to stocks and shares, works of art, debts, goodwill and intellectual 
property such as copyright. 

 
Investments 
 
4.b)  The disposal of all investments is delegated to the Section 151 Officer and shall 

be made in compliance with the best prevailing advice of the Council’s 
appointed advisers, CIPFA or other reputable and authoritative sources such 
as the Bank of England, Stock Exchange or HM Treasury. 

 
4.c)  All procedures relating to the disposal of investments shall be detailed in a 

Treasury System Document produced by or under the direction of the Section 
151 Officer. 

 
Other Intangible Assets 
 
4.d)  All ‘Other Assets’ other than investments (eg debts, patents, trade marks) which 

are to be disposed of shall be valued by a person who is professionally qualified 
in the particular field.  

 
4.e)  The appropriate Strategic Director will obtain Cabinet authorisation where the 

value of the asset(s) to be disposed of exceeds an amount specified by the 
Section 151 Officer in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 13. The Cabinet 
report will include: 

 
a) a description of the asset 

 
b) a report on title by the Assistant Director Legal and Democratic Services  

 
c)  any information from the Council's records or within the knowledge of its 

employees which may affect the asset’s value. 
 
4.f)  The report to the Cabinet Portfolio Member shall contain recommendations on: 
 

a) the method of disposal 
 

b) an estimate of the price which the Council should receive along with the 
"asking" price and any "reserve" price, if appropriate 

 
c) any special conditions of sale 

Page 745



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex F 
 

Page | 56 July 2022  
 
 

 
d) the appointment or external advisers or agents 

 
e)  whether negotiations should proceed with a special purchaser. 

 
4.g)  The method of disposal of other assets will depend upon the nature of the asset, 

its intrinsic value and the professional advice of any employee or appointee 
who is qualified to advise in the particular field. 

 

Page 746



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 57 July 2022  
 
 

ANNEX G 
 
Expenditure, Liabilities and Procurement of, Ordering, and Paying for Works, 
Goods, Services and Assets 
 
Section 1: Detailed regulations governing the procurement of, ordering and 
paying for works, goods and services 
 
Regulation E.2 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
1.a)  Every officer and member of the authority must comply with the Ethical Code 

contained in the Council’s Procurement Standing Orders (Section 1, 
paragraphs 5 and 6). 

 
1.b)  Official orders must be in a form approved by the Section 151 Officer in 

conjunction with the Monitoring Officer. Official orders must be issued for all 
works, goods or services to be supplied to the authority, except for supplies of 
utilities, periodic payments such as rent or rates, petty cash purchases or other 
exceptions specified by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
1.c)  Each order must conform to approved procurement guidelines and the 

standardisation of supplies and materials. Standard terms and conditions must 
not be varied without the prior approval of the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
1.d)  Apart from petty cash, and other payments from advance accounts, the normal 

method of payment from the authority shall be by BACS or cheque (or other 
instrument or approved method), drawn on the Council’s approved bank 
accounts by the Section 151 Officer or a signatory approved by the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
1.e)  Direct debit facilities shall not be set up other than by the Section 151 Officer 

and no officer shall commit to payment by that means without the prior 
agreement of the Section 151 Officer.  

 
1.f)  Arrangements for signing and countersigning cheques and other payments will 

be determined by the Section 151 Officer. Signing and countersigning limits are 
set out in the Schedule of Authorisations, item 14. 

 
1.g)  Official orders must not be raised for any personal or private purchases, nor 

must personal or private use be made of the Council’s contracts. 
 
1.h)  All goods and services may be ordered only by persons authorised to do so in 

line with each Strategic Director’s scheme of delegation and must be correctly 
recorded. 

 
1.i)  Goods and services received must be checked to ensure that they are in 

accordance with the order. The person who placed the order should preferably 
not receive goods. 

Page 747



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 58 July 2022  
 
 

 
1.j)  Unless specifically agreed with the Section 151 Officer in each instance, 

advance payment shall not be made for goods or services. The Section 151 
Officer may authorise specific categories and/or values of expenditure as 
standing exceptions to this Regulation, and may amend or delete any such 
exceptions from time to time. Standing exceptions are recorded in the 
Schedule of Authorisations, item 15. 

 
1.k)  Payments shall be made to the correct person, for the correct amount and shall 

be properly recorded, regardless of the payment method. 
 
1.l)  Payments by the Council shall be made only on an official invoice, except for 

recurring payments, for contract payments and for other exceptions as may be 
specifically approved by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
1.m)  Appropriate evidence of the transaction and payment documents shall be 

retained and stored for the defined period, in accordance with the Council’s 
document retention schedule. 

 
1.n)  Expenditure, including VAT, shall be accurately recorded against the correct 

budget code.   
 
1.o)  Processes shall be put in place, according to the regulations governing 

responsibilities, to maintain the security and integrity of data for transacting 
business electronically. 

 
1.p)  Invoices shall be settled within the period defined by Government prompt 

payment requirements. Where invoices are disputed, that fact will be clearly 
recorded on any invoices together with the date that the dispute was settled 
before such invoices are passed for payment.  

 
1.q)  In the case of significant contracts, a financial vetting procedure shall be used 

to assess the merits of trading with the prospective (or, where appropriate, 
existing) supplier. 

 
Section 2: Responsibilities for procurement of, ordering, and paying for works, 
goods and services 
 
Regulation E.4 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer 
 
2.a)  The Section 151 Officer shall: 
 

i)  Ensure that sufficient fidelity guarantee insurance is in place to cover 
those officers authorised to initiate or make payments. 

 

Page 748



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 59 July 2022  
 
 

ii)  Make payments from the Authority’s funds on the authorisation of the 
appropriate officer that the expenditure has been duly incurred in 
accordance with financial regulations. 

 
iv) Subject to the receipt of properly signed-off invoices in good time,  arrange 

payment to suppliers promptly. 
 
iv)  Make payments, whether or not provision exists within the estimates, 

where the payment is specifically required by statute or is made under a 
court order. 

   
v)  Make payments to contractors on the certificate of the appropriate 

Strategic Director, which must include details of the value of work, 
retention money, amounts previously certified and amounts now certified.  

 
vi)  Determine, in conjunction with the Assistant Director Legal and 

Democratic Services the form of official orders. 
 
vii) Agree and determine a scheme for the issue and usage of corporate 

electronic payment cards where the costs of ordering and procuring is 
excessive when judged against the value of purchases.  

 
viii)  Approve ‘draw-down’ arrangements for supplies and provisions covered 

by annual contracts. 
 
ix)  Maintain a financial vetting procedure for use in selecting and approving 

prospective (or, where appropriate, existing) suppliers in respect of 
significant contracts. 

 
Responsibilities of Strategic Directors 
 
2.b)  Strategic Directors shall ensure that: 
 

i)  All procurement practices accord with the Council’s policies on 
procurement. 

 
ii)  Relevant officers authorised to sign orders or certify payments do so with 

a full signature where done manually or under a password-controlled 
electronic process. Initialled authorisations will be rejected by the 
Section 151 Officer’s Accounts Payable Team. 

 
iii)  Official orders are used for all goods and services, other than for 

exceptions specified, and that they are used only for goods and services 
to be consumed by services under the Director’s control. 

 
iv)  The authoriser of the order should be satisfied that the goods and 

services ordered are appropriate and needed, that there is adequate 
budgetary provision and that quotations or tenders have been obtained 
where required by these regulations and other instructions. 

 

Page 749



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 60 July 2022  
 
 

v)  Goods and services are checked on receipt to verify that they are in 
accordance with the order. A different officer from the person who 
authorised the order should where possible, carry out this check. 
Appropriate entries should then be made in inventories or stores records.  

 
vi)  Payment is not made unless a proper VAT invoice has been received, 

checked, coded and certified for payment. When an authorised officer 
certifies an invoice for payment, they are confirming:  

 
(a.) That the official order procedure has been observed and that 

Standing Orders are complied with. 
 

(b.) Receipt of goods or services. 
 

(c.) That the invoice has not previously been paid. 
 

(d.) That expenditure has been properly incurred and is within budget 
provision. 

 
(e.) That prices and arithmetic are correct and accord with quotations, 

tenders, contracts or catalogue prices.  
 

(f.) That the correct accounting treatment of tax has been followed in 
line with guidance issued by the Section 151 Officer. 

 
(g.) That the invoice is correctly allocated to an approved budget code 

under the director’s jurisdiction. 
 

(h.) That discounts have been taken where available and where it is 
cost effective for the Council to take them. 

 
(i,)  That appropriate entries have been made in inventories, stores 

records or stock books and in accounting records. 
 

vii)  The principle of division of duties is applied wherever practicable. 
Different members of staff shall be involved in the ordering, receiving 
and payment processes. Where practical, a different officer from the 
person who authorised the order, and in every case, a different officer 
from the person checking an invoice, should authorise the invoice. 

 
viii) Payments are not made on a photocopied or faxed invoice, statement or 

document other than the formal invoice. 
 
ix)  Invoices are duly and correctly processed in good time to make payment 

to suppliers within stipulated timeframes. 
 
x)  Loans, leasing or rental contracts are not entered into without agreement 

of the Section 151 Officer.  
 

Page 750



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 61 July 2022  
 
 

xi)  The Section 151 Officer is notified of outstanding expenditure (formal 
commitments) relating to the previous financial year as soon as possible 
after 31 March in line with the timetable determined by the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
xii)  With regard to contracts for construction and alterations to buildings and 

for civil engineering works, that procedures exist to document and agree 
with the Section 151 Officer the systems and procedures to be adopted 
in relation to financial aspects, including certification of interim and final 
payments, checking, recording and authorising payments, the system for 
monitoring and controlling capital schemes and the procedures for 
validation of subcontractors’ tax status.  

 
xiii)  The Section 151 Officer is notified immediately of any expenditure to be 

incurred as a result of statute/court order where there is no budgetary 
provision. 

 
xiv)  All appropriate payment records are retained and stored for the period 

defined by the Council’s document retention schedule. 
 
xv)  No Head of Service, Assistant Director or Strategic Director shall commit 

expenditure against any budget head for which they are not accountable, 
without the specific and written authority of the accountable budget 
holder and in accordance with the virement scheme set out in these 
regulations. 

 
xvi)  Suppliers’ invoices are not amended manually. 
 
xvii)  The advice of the Section 151 Officer (or an officer to whom 

responsibility has been delegated) is obtained in respect of prospective 
(or where appropriate, existing) suppliers where significant contracts are 
being considered. 

 
Section 3: Responsibilities of Strategic Directors in respect of contracts 
 
Regulations E.6 & E.9 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
3.a)  All contracts are subject to the provisions contained in the Council’s 

Procurement Standing Orders. 
 
3.b)  Strategic Directors shall be responsible for: 
 

i)  Maintaining a Contract Register which shall include major contracts (as 
defined by the Head of Commercial Development) entered into by the 
Directorate and schedules of payments, retentions, fees and other specific 
matters relating to each contract let to individual contractors. 

 

Page 751



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 62 July 2022  
 
 

ii)  Informing the Head of Commercial Development of all major contracts, 
and contract extensions entered into.  

 
iv)  Advising the Head of Commercial Development of all relevant contract 

payments. 
 
v)  Making payments to contractors on account only on approved certificates 

issued by the authorised Managing Officer or Consultant. 
 
vi)  Ensuring that any variation order is authorised in writing and can be met 

within the approved budget. 
 
vii)  Where the sum of all variations pertaining to a contract, is likely to result 

in a cost over-run exceeding a value shown in the Schedule of 
Authorisations, item 16, reporting the potential over-run for approval to 
both the relevant Portfolio Holder and the Section 151 Officer prior to 
payment. Such cost over-runs shall be contained within the Portfolio 
Holder’s overall budget allocation. 

 
viii)  Seeking claims for restitution, acceleration of programme or liquidated 

damages when appropriate.  
 
ix)  Ensuring that the release of retention monies and final payments under a 

contract are not made prior to checks on contractors’ final claims being 
undertaken by a qualified independent officer. 

 
Section 4: Responsibilities for engagement of, and payments to, employees 
 
Regulation E.11. 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer 
 
4.a)  The Section 151 is responsible for: 
 

i) Calculation and payment of all staff emoluments and entitlements for 
current and former employees. 

 
ii) Reconciliation of and reporting on payroll expenditure against approved 

current budgets and future budget allocations.  
 
iii) Securely retaining payment details, including pension payments history in 

accordance with the Council’s Document retention schedule. 
 
iv) Agreeing, where appropriate an advance of pay, on request of a Director. 
 
v) Ensuring that current HM Revenue and Customs requirements are 

properly applied and that the correct liabilities are duly accounted for 
within the statutory periods.  

Page 752



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 63 July 2022  
 
 

 
vi) Providing guidance to Strategic Directors with regard to the Council’s 

potential tax and national insurance liabilities. 
 
vii) Ensuring those adequate arrangements exists for administering 

superannuation matters. 
 
viii) Controlling and paying to third parties sums deducted from pay by Court 

Order or at the employee’s request in a timely manner.  
 
Responsibilities of Strategic Directors 
 
4.b)  Strategic Directors shall be responsible for ensuring that: 
 

i)  Appointments are made in accordance with the regulations and can be 
afforded within budgets delegated to them. 

 
ii)  The Section 151 Officer is notified of all appointments, terminations or 

variations that may affect the pay or pension of an employee or former 
employee, in the form and to the timescale required by the Section 151 
Officer. 

 
iii)  Adequate and effective systems and procedures are operated, so that: 

 
a.)  Payments are only authorised to bona fide employees. 
 
b.) Payments are only made where there is a valid entitlement, and 

budget provision exists to fund employment. 
 
c.)  Conditions and contracts of employment are correctly applied. 
 
d.)  Employees’ names listed on the payroll are checked at regular 

intervals to verify accuracy and completeness. 
 
e.)  Appropriate time keeping and charging rates are operated, such that 

Directors are aware of, and may therefore be held accountable for 
the effective deployment of staff. 

 
iv)  An up-to-date list of the names of officers, authorised to sign records is 

provided to the Section 151 Officer, or such contractor as may be engaged 
by him/her together with specimen signatures. 

 
v)  Payment to staff is processed only through the payroll system. 
 
vi)  Careful consideration is given to the employment status of individuals 

employed on a self-employed consultant or subcontract basis. In cases of 
doubt, advice should be sought from the Section 151 Officer.  

 
vii)  Travel and subsistence claims and other allowances are appropriately 

examined and approved. Certification is taken to mean that journeys were 

Page 753



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 64 July 2022  
 
 

authorised and expenses properly and necessarily incurred. Due 
consideration should be given to any tax implications affecting claims.  

 
viii)  The Section 151 Officer is notified of the details of any employee benefits 

in kind, by a date determined by him/her for each year to enable full and 
complete reporting to HM Revenue and Customs. 

 
ix)  Appropriate payroll documents are retained and stored for the defined 

period in accordance with the document retention schedule. 
 
x)  Statistical returns are accurately completed by the due date. 

 
Travel and subsistence 
 
4.c)  The Section 151 Officer shall: 
 

i)  Make all payments in respect of travel and subsistence expenses to 
employees when properly due and authorised by the appropriate officer. 

 
ii)  Determine the specification of all reimbursement forms to be used. 
 
iii)  Ensure that all employees making expenses claims in respect of the use 

of their private cars on council business have adequate motor insurance 
in place. 

 
4.d)  Strategic Directors shall make arrangements to ensure that: 
 

i)  Claims are properly certified by an officer specifically authorised to do so. 
 
ii)  A current list of authorised officers, with specimen signatures, is provided 

to the Section 151 Officer. 
 
iii)  The lower of actual costs, or the allowances permitted under the scheme, 

are certified for payment. 
 

4.e)  All employees are responsible for ensuring that expense claims are submitted 
promptly in accordance with timetable specified by the Payroll Client Officer. 
Claims must be submitted within one month of the date of the expenditure and 
within the financial year in which the expenditure was incurred. All claims, 
including claims for mileage incurred on Council business, must be supported 
by a VAT receipt where VAT is incurred. 

 
Section 5: The acquisition of assets 
 
Regulation E.5 
 
Last updated: October 2021 
 
5.a)  Asset definitions are given at Annex F.  The purchases of these assets shall be 
authorised under a scheme of delegation as follows: 

Page 754



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 65 July 2022  
 
 

 

Postholder Authorisation Level 

  
Total asset purchase 

price 

Chief Executive £500,000 

Section 151 Officer £500,000 

Strategic Director £500,000 

Assistant Director £250,000 

Head of Service £75,000 

Team Leader £25,000 

 
 
i)  Any acquisition with a total purchase price of over £500k in value shall be 
authorised by Cabinet, with the exception of land or buildings purchased for the 
Council’s Housing Revenue Account new build housing programme and which is 
100% funded from the Housing Revenue Account’s Strategic Acquisitions reserve. 
 
ii)  Authorisation of the acquisition of any land or buildings with a total purchase 
price of over £500k purchased for the Council’s Housing Revenue Account new build 
housing programme and which is 100% funded from the Housing Revenue Account’s 
Strategic Acquisitions reserve will be delegated to the Strategic Director, Resident 
Services in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, the Assistant Director, Legal 
and Democratic Services, the Portfolio Holder for Housing Services and the Portfolio 
Holder for Corporate Services. 
 
 
Responsibility of the Section 151 Officer 
 
5.b)  The Section 151 Officer shall: 
 

i)  Ensure that sufficient fidelity guarantee insurance is in place to cover 
those officers authorised to initiate or make payments. 

 
ii)  Make payments from the Authority’s funds on the authorisation of the 

appropriate officer that the acquisition is carried out in accordance with 
financial regulations. 

 
 
Responsibilities of Strategic Directors 
Strategic Directors shall ensure that: 
 

i)  Relevant officers authorised to sign orders or certify payments do so with 
a full signature where done manually or under a password-controlled 
electronic process.  

 
ii)  No Head of Service, Assistant Director or Strategic Director shall commit 

expenditure against any budget head for which they are not accountable, 
without the specific and written authority of the accountable budget holder 
and in accordance with the virement scheme set out in these regulations. 

Page 755



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 66 July 2022  
 
 

 
iii)  The advice of the Section 151 Officer (or an officer to whom responsibility 

has been delegated) is obtained in respect of prospective (or where 
appropriate, existing)  asset purchases being considered  relating to land, 
buildings or with a purchase price of over £100k . 

 
iv)  The advice of the Assistant Director Legal and Democratic Services or an 

officer to whom responsibility has been delegated) is obtained in respect 
of prospective (or where appropriate, existing) asset purchases being 
considered relating to land, buildings or with a purchase price of over 
£100k. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ANNEX H 
 
Partnerships, External Funding and Third Party Contracts 
 
Section 1: Partnerships expectations 
 
Regulation F.2. 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
1.a)  The Council requires that potential partners are aware of their responsibilities 

under the Authority’s Financial Regulations and the procurement requirements. 

Page 756



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 67 July 2022  
 
 

When partnerships are developed, the partners shall agree on which financial 
regulations and standing orders shall apply as part of the governance 
arrangements for the partnership. The following expectations should be 
adapted and written into governance documents, as appropriate  

 
i)   The agreed set of financial regulations governing this partnership will be 

those of XXXXX [organisation]. 
 

Partners will: 
 

ii) Support the concept of risk management within the partnership and 
actively work with the Council to ensure that risk management processes 
are in place to identify and assess all potential risks. 

 
iii)  Ensure that project appraisal processes are in place to demonstrate the 

viability of the project in terms of resources, staffing, expertise, and 
expected outcomes. 

 
iv)  Agree and formally endorse the roles and responsibilities of each of the 

partners involved in the project before the initiative commences. 
 
v)  Communicate regularly with other partners throughout the initiative so that 

potential problems are identified, shared and successfully resolved. 
 
vi)  Openly and explicitly share a vision of collective and individual 

expectations. 
 
vii)  Demonstrate an ability and willingness to add real value to any 

relationship. 
 
viii)  Be open and honest about any conflicts of interest that might arise, and 

demonstrate a willingness to agree mechanisms to resolve these from the 
outset. 

 
ix)  Demonstrate a willingness to take on a role in the broader programme 

appropriate to the skills and resources of the partnering organisations. 
 
x)  Act in good faith at all times and in the best interests of the partnership’s 

aims and objectives. 
 

xi)  Will be comfortable with, support, and comply with the principles of “open-
book accounting”. 

 
xii)  Hold as confidential any information received as a result of partnership 

activities or duties that is of a sensitive or confidential nature. 
 
xiii)  Act as champions and ambassadors for the project. 

 
Section 2: Responsibilities in respect of partnerships, external funding and third 
party contracts 

Page 757



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 68 July 2022  
 
 

 
Regulations F.4 & F.6 
 
Last updated:  September 2011 
 
2.a)  Cabinet is responsible for approving the contractual arrangements for any work 

proposed to be undertaken for external bodies. 
 
Responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer 
 
2.b)  The Monitoring Officer is responsible for: 
 

(i)  Ensuring that governance and standards of conduct arrangements to be 
adopted by partnerships and joint ventures are no less stringent than 
apply to the Council. 

 
(ii)  Ensuring that partnership contractual documentation requires any 

partner(s) to comply with the agreed Financial Regulations and 
Procurement Rules unless Council determines otherwise. 

 
Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer 
 
2.c)  The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 
 

(i)  Ensuring that accounting, audit, control, governance, and risk 
management arrangements to be adopted by partnerships and joint 
ventures are no less stringent than apply to the Council. 

 
(iii) Ensuring that partnership contractual documentation requires the Partner 

to comply with the agreed Financial Regulations, to the satisfaction of the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
(iv) Providing advice on the key funding elements of any project, including: 

 

 Appraisal of financial viability for the current and future years. 
 

 Risk appraisal and management. 
 

 Resourcing, including taxation issues. 
 

 Audit, security and control requirements. 
 

 Budget ‘carry-forward’ arrangements. 
 

(iv)  Issuing guidance with regard to the financial aspects of third party 
contracts. 

 
(v)  Ensuring that the Council’s accounting and costing conventions identify 

the fair cost of trading and working for third parties.  

Page 758



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 69 July 2022  
 
 

 
(vi)  Maintaining a financial vetting procedure for use in selecting and 

approving prospective (or, where appropriate, existing) partners in respect 
of significant contracts. 

 
Responsibilities of Strategic Directors 
 
2.d)  Strategic Directors are responsible for:  
 

(i)  Ensuring that appropriate approvals are obtained before any negotiations 
are concluded. 

 
(ii)  Maintaining a register of all contracts entered into with external bodies in 

accordance with procedures specified by the Monitoring Officer and 
Section 151 Officer. 

 
(iii)  Ensuring that, before entering into agreements with external bodies, a 

comprehensive risk assessment has been carried out, a risk register 
drawn up, and appropriate mitigation action taken. 

 
(iv)  Ensuring that such agreements and arrangements do not impact 

adversely upon the services provided by the Council or other services 
provided to the Council. 

 
(v)  Ensuring that all agreements, arrangements and contracts are properly 

documented. 
 
(vi)    Ensuring that partnership contractual documentation requires the Partner 

to comply with the agreed Financial Regulations, to the satisfaction of the 
Monitoring Officer. 

 
(vii)  Providing information to the Section 151 Officer as may be required by 

him/her to enable a note to be entered into the authority’s statement of 
accounts  

 
(viii)  Ensuring that all claims for external funds are made by the due date. 
 
(ix)  Ensuring that the project progresses in accordance with the agreed project 

plan and that all expenditure is properly incurred and recorded. 
 
(x)  Informing, where the project is potentially deviating significantly from the 

plan, his/her Portfolio Holder and the Section 151 Officer as soon as this 
becomes apparent. 

 
(xi)  Ensuring that records are kept of resource usage and/or service delivery 

that accord with the requirements of the external funding source. 
 
(xii)  Ensuring that all requirements and stipulations relating to the payment of 

external funding and the auditing thereof, are understood and acted upon. 
 

Page 759



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations – Annex H 
 

Page | 70 July 2022  
 
 

(xiii)  Putting appropriate insurances in place through the Section 151 Officer 
for all dealings with third parties and external partners. 

 
(xiv)  Ensuring, as far as reasonably possible, that the external contracts and 

partnerships for which they are responsible do not put the Council at risk 
from bad debts. 

 
(xv)  Ensuring that no contract entered into with third parties is subsidised by 

the Council either directly or indirectly. 
 
(xvi)  Seeking, wherever possible, payment in advance of the delivery of the 

service. 
 
(xvii) Ensuring that the Division/unit has the appropriate expertise to undertake 

the contract or to manage the contract in a client capacity. 
 
(xix)   Seeking the advice of the S151 Officer (or an officer to whom 

responsibility has been delegated) is obtained in respect of prospective 
(or, where appropriate, existing) partners where significant contracts are 
being considered. 

Page 760



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations 
 

Page | 71 July 2022  
 
 

DACORUM BOROUGH COUNCIL - FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 
SCHEDULE OF AUTHORISATIONS 
 
Item 1.  Virement policy – hierarchy of authorisations 
 
Annex B, clause 3.e) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 

Type Applies to transfers between  Sanctioning Authority 

1 Between Cabinet Portfolios Cabinet 

2 Between Services within a Portfolio Strategic Director and 
Portfolio Holder* 

3 Between CIPFA Subjective headings within the 
same Service 

Strategic Director and 
Head of Service 

4 Between budgets both within the same Service 
and the same CIPFA Subjective heading  

Strategic Director and 
Head of Service 

5 For items 2, 3 and 4 above where the amount to 
be vired is at least  
 

 £50,000 
And 

 10% of the transferring budget  
 

Cabinet 

 
All proposed virements shall be subject to review and comment by the Section 151 
Officer. They shall determine whether the proposal should be subject to the positive 
endorsement of a higher authority. 
 
*“Portfolio Holder” means a formal Portfolio Holder decision. 
 
Item 2.  Supplementary budget policy- hierarchy of authorisations 
 
Annex B, clause 4.d) 
 
Last updated: December 2019 
 

Type Applies to supplementary budget 
wholly funded by  

Sanctioning Authority 

1 Reserve balances held Cabinet, to recommend to 
Council 

2 Grant income S151 Officer, Strategic Director 
and Head of Service 

3 For item 2 above where the amount is 
greater than £100k 

Cabinet, to recommend to 
Council 

4 S106 income or CIL income S151 Officer, Strategic Director 
and Head of Service 

 

Page 761



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations 
 

Page | 72 July 2022  
 
 

All proposed supplementary budgets shall be subject to review and comment by the 
Section 151 Officer. They shall determine whether the proposal should be subject to 
the positive endorsement of a higher authority. 
 
Item 3. Limits on cash holdings 
 
Annex C, clause 1.l) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Maximum limits for cash holdings, in whatever receptacle, shall be agreed with the 
Section 151 Officer, and shall not be exceeded without his/her express permission 
and with regard to the appropriate insurance limit. Cash received in total in excess of 
this amount must be banked within 24 hours. The current limit is: 
 
£500 
 
Item 4.  Changes to Structure  - hierarchy of authorisations 
 
Annex C, clause 2.g) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Where the net effect of any changes is no increase in cost for the current, or a full 
year, changes may be made to the official structure in accordance with the following 
hierarchy of authorities. Where a change to the official structure results in an increased 
net cost, it shall be allowed only on the authority of Cabinet. 
 

Type  Applies to Changes where one or more 
changes impacts as follows 

Sanctioning 
Authority 

1 Between General Fund and HRA 
Services 

Council 

2 Between Cabinet Portfolios Cabinet 

3 Between Services within a Portfolio Strategic Director and 
Portfolio Holder 

4 Between budgets, activities and project 
provision being the responsibility of an 
individual Head of Service. 

Strategic Director and 
Head of Service 

 
All proposed changes to the official establishment shall be subject to review and 
comment by the Section 151 Officer. They shall determine whether the proposal 
should be subject to the positive endorsement of a higher authority. 
 
In considering the matter, the Section 151 Officer shall satisfy him/herself that all 
proposed changes will be correctly recorded on the corporate employee database and 
that all necessary budgetary virements have also been identified and will be 
implemented. 
 
 

Page 762



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations 
 

Page | 73 July 2022  
 
 

Item 5.  Petty Cash, Change Floats, and Electronic Payment Card Purchase 
Value of cash reimbursements for minor purchases 
 
Annex E, clause 3.e) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
The value of cash reimbursements shall not exceed: 
 
£50.00 
 
Item 6. Debt write-offs - Hierarchy of authorisations 
 
Annex E, clause 4.f)  
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 

Individual value (per debtor) Authorised by: Conditions 

Up to £20,000 Section 151 officer in 
consultation with the 
appropriate Strategic 
Director 

 

Above £20,000 Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate Services on 
the advice of the 
Section 151 Officer and 
Strategic Director 

Applicable in situations 
where a referral to 
Cabinet (see below) is not 
necessary 

Above £20,000  Cabinet on the advice 
of the Section 151 
Officer and Strategic 
Director 

Where the write off, if 
approved, would, in the 
opinion of the Section 151 
Officer, have budgetary 
implications for the 
relevant service 

Any value, where the amount 
written off will cause the 
Council’s General Fund or 
Housing Revenue Account to 
fall into deficit 

Council on the advice 
of the Section 151 
Officer 

 

 
Item 7. Debt write-off recovery threshold 
 
Annex E, clause 4.j) 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
The de-minimis level for debt recovery action and review is determined by the Section 
151 Officer and shall be as follows: 
 
£50 
 
 

Page 763



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations 
 

Page | 74 July 2022  
 
 

Item 8.  De minimis amount for asset registers 
 
Annex E, clause 5.c) 
 
Last updated: September 2015  
 
Asset inventories shall be held and kept current by Heads of Service, who will 
ensure that all areas under their authority have an asset inventory. They shall contain 
clear descriptions of all fixed and moveable assets, other than land and buildings, 
having a current value in excess of an amount specified by the Section 151 Officer. 
This amount is: 
 
£500 
 
Land and buildings are listed in the Asset Management System (see Regulation.C6), 
and ICT equipment is listed in a separate inventory kept by the relevant Strategic 
Director. 
 
Item 9.  Transaction authority level for asset disposals 
 
Annex F, clause 1.g) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
The Strategic Director of the appropriate directorate and the Council's duly appointed 
valuer or other agent shall be involved in or appraised of all major steps in the 
negotiations in respect of transactions or of a series of transactions, the estimated 
value or the aggregated value of which exceeds the following amount: 
 
£100,000 
 
Item 10.  Disposal by tender 
 
Annex F, clause 1.m), ii) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Disposal by tender may be appropriate where there are two or more prospective 
purchasers with a foreseeable interest in acquiring the land. This method should be 
used in preference to Private Treaty where: 
 
i)   more than one prospective purchaser exists, and 
ii)  the estimated value of the land exceeds the following amount: 
 
£25,000  
 
Item 11.  Disposal of equipment 
 
Annex F, clause 2.a) 
 

Page 764



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations 
 

Page | 75 July 2022  
 
 

Last updated: December 2019 
 
The regulations relating to disposals within Section 2 of this annex apply to all assets 
specified in clause 2.a) as follows: 
 
11a)  those with a value of up to and including £50,000; 
 
11b)  those with a value of greater than £50,000 but less than £100k. 
 
Item 12.  Major reusable items 
 
Annex F, clause (3.e) 
 
Last updated: July 2017 
 
Disposals of major reusable items must be authorised by the Cabinet where the 
disposal may achieve a receipt in excess of the following amount: 
 
£50,000 
 
Item 13.  Disposals of other intangible assets 
 
Annex F, clause 4.e) 
 
Last updated: July 2017 
 
The appropriate Strategic Director will obtain Cabinet authorisation for the disposal of 
other intangible assets where the value of the asset(s) to be disposed of exceeds the 
following amount: 
 
£50,000, 
 
Item 14. Hierarchy of authorisations for cheque and electronic payments 
 
Annex G, clause 1.f) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Payment by cheque (or any electronic payment) by an amount to be determined by 
the Section 151 Officer shall be signed by one of those approved to do so by the 
Section 151 Officer. One authorised officer shall countersign cheques (or any 
electronic payment) over a value to be determined by the section 151 officer.  The 
values so determined are as follows: 
 

Value Authorising signatories 

Up to £40,000 Any one authorised officer (electronic or manual signature) 

Above £40,000 Any two authorised officers (electronic or manual signatures ) 

 
 
 

Page 765



Dacorum Borough Council Financial Regulations 
 

Page | 76 July 2022  
 
 

Item 15.  Exceptions to advance payments regulations 
 
Annex G, clause 1.j) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Advance payment shall not be made for goods or services. The Section 151 Officer 
may authorise specific categories and/or values of expenditure as standing exceptions 
to this Regulation, and may amend or delete any such exceptions from time to time. 
Standing exceptions currently in place are as follows: 
 
Software Support and Maintenance 
Software Licences 
Artists/Performer Fees 
 
Item 16.  Value of cost-overruns to be reported 
 
Annex G, clause 3.b) vii) 
 
Last updated: September 2015 
 
Where the sum of all variations pertaining to a contract, is likely to result in a cost over-
run exceeding the value shown below, The relevant Head of Service shall report the 
potential over-run for approval to both the relevant Portfolio Holder and the Section 
151 Officer prior to payment: 
 

Value of scheme Over-run limit 

Up to £100,000 £5,000 

Above £100,000 10% of value of scheme 

 

Page 766



 

 

 

 

 

Report for: Cabinet 

Title of report: West Herts Crematorium Joint Committee  

Date: 12th July 2022 

Report on behalf 

of:  

Councillor Graeme Elliott, Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services 

Part: I 

If Part II, reason: N/A 

Appendices: Options Assessment – Anthony Collins Solicitors (appendix 1) 

Background 

papers: 

 

None 

Glossary of 

acronyms and 

any other 

abbreviations 

used in this 

report: 

None 

 

Report Author / Responsible Officer  

Mark Brookes, Assistant Director (Legal and Democratic Services)   

 

Mark.brookes@dacorum.gov.uk  /  01442 228236 (ext. 2236) 

 

  

Corporate Priorities Building strong and vibrant communities 

Ensuring economic growth and prosperity 

Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service 

delivery 

 

Wards affected All 

 

   

Cabinet 

 

 

www.dacorum.gov.uk 

Page 767

Agenda Item 15

https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20E-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20F-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20G-1/c.aspx
https://dacorum-mail.co.uk/3QGJ-1BNTK-10QSOQ-UU20H-1/c.aspx


Purpose of the report: 

 

To seek approval to new governance 

arrangements for the West Herts 

Crematorium Joint Committee 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker 

(s): 

1. That Cabinet notes that the West Herts 
Crematorium Joint Committee has resolved to 
agree to the adoption of a Lead Authority 
model for the future operation of the Joint 
Committee 

 
2. That Cabinet agrees that the Lead Authority 

model be adopted and that Three Rivers 
District Council be the Lead Authority.  
 

3. That Cabinet agrees that a new Joint 
Committee Agreement be developed along 
with any other legal documents required to 
facilitate the new governance structure and 
delegates authority to the Strategic Director 
(Corporate and Commercial Services) in 
consultation with the Assistant Director, Legal 
and Democratic Services and the Council’s 
nominated member of the Joint Committee to 
finalise and complete the new Joint 
Committee Agreement and any other legal 
documents required. 

 Period for post project review The revised governance arrangements will be kept 

under continuous review by the Joint Committee and 

its performance will be reported at least annually to 

Strategic Planning and Environment Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, Finance and Resources 

Overview and Scrutiny and Cabinet. 

 

  

Page 768



 

1 Introduction  
 

1.1 The West Herts Crematorium Joint Committee has been in existence since 1973 and is 
made up of 5 councils in South West Hertfordshire, including Dacorum, Hertsmere Borough 
Council, St Albans City and District Council, Three Rivers District Council and Watford 
Borough Council. The Joint Committee has had the responsibility of running the 
crematorium in Three Rivers, employing the staff and entering into all contracts related to 
the operation of the crematorium. 
 

1.2 The Joint Committee is also in the process of building a second crematorium at Bunkers 
Farm in Dacorum which is due to complete in December and open in January 2023. 

 
1.3  It has become clear that the existing governance structure requires development as the 

activities of the Joint Committee expand into the development and operation of a second 
crematorium.   Formal legal agreements need to be in place relating to the ownership and 
management of the crematorium and stronger governance is required in relation to the 
overall operation of the Joint Committee’s activities. In particular, the Joint Committee’s 
legal status, its ability to enter into contractual arrangements, employ staff, sharing of 
surplus and liabilities need to be developed to provide an appropriate governance and 
decision-making framework going forward. 

 
2. Proposed Arrangements 
 

2.1  Independent legal advice was commissioned by the partner authorities from Anthony 
Collins solicitors on governance options for the future. Anthony Collins have produced a 
detailed advice note on the issues, the options considered and the recommended approach 
going forward. This is attached as appendix 1. 
 

2.2  The Honorary Secretary of the Joint Committee has met with the Chief Executives of the 
councils involved in the Joint Committee, and all authorities are recommending that the 
Joint Committee operates as a Lead Authority model. What this means in practical terms is 
that, rather than the Joint Committee itself, which is not a separate legal entity, one of the 
councils will be responsible for employing the crematorium staff, for entering into any 
contracts necessary for the operation of the crematorium and for entering into a land 
management or lease arrangement with the council that the crematorium is in and who 
currently owns the land. 
 

2.3     It would still be overseen by the Joint Committee who would act as now, on behalf of the 5 
councils to have overall management responsibility.  Each partner authority has one 
nominated councillor representative who represents its authority on the Joint Committee.  
The Council’s current appointed representative is Councillor Terry Douris. 
 

2.4 Three Rivers District Council has volunteered to undertake the Lead Authority role. The 
existing crematorium in Garston is in their area and they currently lead on providing 
administrative and financial advice and support to the Joint Committee.     
 

2.5 Subject to all partner councils agreeing the new governance arrangements, work will then 
commence to draft a new Joint Committee Agreement and also to put in place appropriate 
indemnity agreements between each of the councils to ensure that the Lead Authority is 
indemnified and will only incur its fifth share of the costs and liabilities. The current staff 
employed by the Joint Committee will be consulted and TUPE transferred from the Joint 
Committee to Three Rivers. Contracts in existence will need to be assigned over as well. 
This work to transition from the current way of operating to the new operating model will be 
led by Three Rivers as the proposed Lead Authority. 

 
2.6 The intention would be for the new arrangements to take effect from 1 January 2023 in time 

for the opening of the new crematorium. 
 Page 769



3. Management arrangements and Joint Committee Agreement 
 

3.1 The Lead Authority will be responsible for employing staff, entering into contracts to 
manage the facility, overseeing the direct financial management of the two sites, but this 
will be done in accordance with the framework agreed in a new Joint Committee Agreement. 
 

3.2 The new Joint Committee Agreement will provide a much clearer and detailed framework 
which the Lead Authority will be required to operate within.   The Agreement will be 
developed once all partners have agreement from their respective authorities to progress 
this model, and will cover: 
 
 The decision-making process for strategic and major operational decisions, including 

the identification of the decisions which will be reserved for the Joint Committee itself, 
and those which can be delegated to the Lead Authority. 

 The financial governance arrangements, including profit/loss share, share of risk and 
liabilities, audit and scrutiny requirements. 

 Agreements with regard to land interests required to operate the two sites. 
 The performance monitoring arrangements 

 
3.3 The new Joint Committee Agreement must be in place by the time the new crematorium is 

open in early 2023 and will be developed by officers with support from external legal 
advisers.  It will be signed off formally in accordance with the delegations set out in 
recommendation 3 of this report. 

   
4. Options and alternatives considered 
 

An options report considering different governance options is annexed to this report.  The report 
assessed three different options. The first was keeping the current structure with no Lead Authority; 
this was discounted because it did not provide the required separate legal entity to enable the 
partnership to employ staff, enter into building or service contracts.  
 
The report also considered setting up a local authority company, but the complexities of setting up 
and running a company and the tax implications make this option less favourable than the Lead 
Authority model. 
 
The Lead Authority model provides the separate entity the partners require to make it legally sound 
and will enable Three Rivers as Lead Authority to employ staff directly and enter into the required 
contracts to operate the two sites successfully.   This model also has a favourable tax position 
when compared to the separate company option.  
 

5. Consultation 
 
The Joint Committee itself, which includes a councillor representative from each authority, has 
considered the structure proposed and agreed to the proposed governance structure set out in this 
report. 
 

6. Financial and value for money implications: 
 

Under the Lead Authority model, financial transactions relating to the West Herts Crematorium 
Joint Committee will form part of the Three Rivers District Council statement of accounts.  Financial 
support to the Joint Committee is already provided by Three Rivers District Council and there are 
no issues anticipated with the transition.  The Joint Committee is currently registered separately 
for VAT.  Advice on VAT matters will be sought, however, it is not anticipated that the proposed 
changes will have an impact on the VAT efficiency of Three Rivers District Council or the Joint 
Committee.  The new Joint Committee agreement will be a critical document to ensure that 
liabilities, risks and rewards remain shared between the members of the Joint Committees.   
 

7. Legal Implications 
 

Page 770



Independent legal advice has been sought by the partner authorities from Anthony Collins Solicitors 
and is attached to this report. They will continue to assist with the drafting of the new Joint 
Committee Agreement and other legal work required to effect the change. 
 

8. Risk implications: 
 
Failure to have an effective and legally sound governance structure in place will impact the 
operation of the two crematorium sites and may increase the likelihood of legal challenge related 
to the operations.  The proposed new Joint Committee Agreement will also make each partners’ 
obligations and liabilities clearer which should assist the effective running of the two sites. 
 

9. Equalities, Community Impact and Human Rights: 
 

There are no Equalities, Community Impact of Human Rights implications arising from this report. 
 

10.  Sustainability implications. 
 

There are no direct sustainability implications arising from this report. 
 

11. Council infrastructure (including Health and Safety, HR/OD, assets and other resources) 
 
      Staff are currently employed directly by the Joint Committee and they will need to be formally 

consulted on the proposal and would TUPE transfer to Three Rivers. In addition, Three Rivers will 
need to enter into an agreement with the Pension Provider to ensure that any pension liabilities are 
agreed. 

 
 A land management or lease will need to be entered into between Three Rivers acting on behalf 

of the Joint Committee for the new crematorium.  The form of agreement will be developed 
alongside the Joint Committee Agreement. 

 
11 Statutory Comments 
 

Monitoring Officer: 
 
The proposed governance framework is appropriate to ensure that the two crematoria can operate 
efficiently within a sound legal structure.  The Joint Committee Agreement will be developed to 
ensure that each authority’s obligations, liabilities and share of any surplus are clearly defined and 
agreed.   This will be developed with support from external solicitors who will help to ensure that a 
balanced approach is agreed across the partnership. 
 
S151 Officer:  
 
The single lead authority structure should provide a clear transparent approach to operations 
reporting and governance, with the board overseeing key decisions making. The Joint Committee 
Agreement that will be developed, by the partnership, will provide greater detail of the shared 
financial risks and rewards and will also set out a clear reporting and performance monitoring 
framework.  
 

12 Conclusions:   
 

The governance arrangements proposed in this report are required to ensure that the Joint 
Committee has an appropriate framework in place to facilitate effective decision making and the 
day to operation of the crematoria.   The recommendations in the header of this report are therefore 
presented to Cabinet for approval. 

  

Page 771



Appendix 1 

 

OPTIONS PAPER  

WEST HERTS CREMATORIUM JOINT COMMITTEE  

BACKGROUND   
1.1 A facilitated workshop took place with some officers of the West Herts Crematorium Joint Committee 

(“the Committee”) on 10 June 2021, during which the current arrangements for the provision of 

crematorium services were discussed and a number of matters of concern were identified.   

1.2 We then produced an advice note looking at some of the wider issues in terms of how the Joint 

Committee currently operates and considering a “Lead Authority” model for future delivery of crematoria 

services. We also produced an advice note looking at the employment law and pension implications looking 

at the current arrangement and moving to a lead authority model.   

1.3 A meeting took place involving the Member Authorities in October 2021 and a further meeting took 

place on Wednesday, 2 February 2022.  Afterwards, further advice was requested in relation to the options 

and this was provided in April 2022. 

OPTIONS  
2.1 We have been asked to set out the options in respect of the provision of crematorium services, 

particularly in light of the fact of the new crematorium that is being built in Dacorum.   

2.2 We have seen some financial information which suggests that the Joint Committee is operating the 

crematoria services in surplus this financial year, although the surplus is forecast to be less than the 

budgeted surplus figure. We are unsure of the projected financial position once the new crematorium is 

operational.    

2.3 Essentially, the options available to you are as detailed below. 

2.4 We understand that the view of members is that they would like to continue with the Joint Committee 

and it should be noted that the Joint Committee can continue to be the senior decision making body under 

any of the options; including if the option of a company, LLP or Joint venture was chosen.    

A change to the way in which the services were structured would mean that the Terms of Reference and 

other documentation relating to the way in which the Joint Committee operated should be reviewed, 

including scrutiny arrangements and a new agreement drawn up between the participating authorities in 

relation to indemnities, risk, assets and liabilities.     

2.5 We also understand that the second crematorium is under construction and expected to open by the 

end of the calendar year.   More staff will be recruited and so there is a consideration needed as to decide 

whether they will be employed under the current arrangements or be employed by the Lead Authority, if 

this is the solution decided upon.  

 

  

  

  

  
Report to:   West Herts Crematorium Joint Committee   
Subject:   Opti ons Pa per   

Page 772



Options   Advantages / disadvantages   

Continue to run 

crematorium services 

through the Joint  

Committee   

Advantages – it avoids the upheaval involved with other 

options; there is an established way of working that is 

producing a surplus, albeit it there are improvements that 

the Lead Authority model offer which the Joint Committee 

cannot benefit from.   

Disadvantages - The challenges with this approach are (i) 

the lack of a developed management structure at the 

Crematorium to allow staff to progress and upskill; (ii) the 

lack of senior officer oversight into the day to day 

operation of the crematoria services (iii) the management 

of the service and (iv) if an employee was to bring a claim 

against the Joint Committee in an Employment Tribunal 

(or indeed any other legal forum), it is not currently clear 

who would pick up liability beyond the Joint Committee’s 

ability to pay.  We understand that the authority 

(Dacorum) where the new crematorium is being built is 

concerned about the legalities relating to the building and 

the difficulties of creating a lease with a Joint Committee 

as the lessee.   

Designate one of the five 

Member Authorities as the 

“Lead Authority”  
Advantages – (i) Liability for any employment dispute 

would sit with the Lead Authority and an agreement 

would need to be put in place between the five Member 

Authorities of how liability would be shared; (ii) staff will 

operate within a wider management structure (ie in the 

Lead Authority) and there will be greater development 

opportunities for them as well as greater opportunity for 

the Lead  

  

Page 773



 Authority to input into the day to day management of the 

service.   

Disadvantages - An exit payment would fall due from the 

Local Government Pension Scheme on the Joint 

Committee ceasing to have any active members and the 

Hertfordshire LGPS fund are likely to want to put in place 

a subsumption agreement whereby the amount of the exit 

payment is added to the liabilities of the Lead Authority. 

Alternatively, the five Member Authorities may decide to 

share liability (either directly with the Fund or between 

the Member Authorities and the Lead Authority).   

Set up a Local Authority 

Company -including a Joint 

Venture with the Private 

Sector 

Advantages- setting up a company or LLP would in theory 

take the delivery of the service out of the control of the 

authorities and into a private limited company.  A company 

limited by shares would be most appropriate if the councils 

wished to receive income from the profits of the company. 

If the company is to employ staff, any existing employees 

would be TUPE transferred to the company on existing 

terms and conditions.  However, it is possible for new staff 

to be employed on different terms and conditions 

(including pension terms), although care should be taken 

with this as it can be seen as creating a two-tier workforce 

and may be subject to equal pay claims. 

If the company is to employ staff who are in the LGPS it 

would need to gain admitted body status. 

The councils would be able to loan the company money 

provided that the necessary rules around subsidy control 

were observed; and provided that the loan was within the 

councils’ investment strategies.  The interest payable on 

the loan would be classed as income to the councils; and 

would be an expense so far as the company was 

concerned. 

Disadvantages- There is considerable work in setting up 

and then running a local authority company owned jointly 

by the councils; any company needs to operate under the 

requirements of the Companies Acts and the requirements 

of the regulator, Companies House, which is a not 

inconsiderable burden.  A joint committee would still be 

needed, and the councils would have to decide on what 

functions that joint committee was to have, including how 

the shareholder function is to be exercised for each 

council.  (Where councils operate an Executive model of 

Page 774



governance, the shareholder function is an executive 

function.) 

A business case would be required in order to make the 

decision to set up the company and the company would 

need to draw up detailed business plans.  Directors would 

need to be appointed, and care taken to avoid conflicts of 

interest between the company and the councils. 

Whilst the service delivery would be the responsibility of 

the company, the councils cannot avoid ultimate liability; 

and would need to agree amongst themselves how to 

share any liabilities that might arise. 

Any profits made by the company would be subject to 

corporation tax; which is levied at 19% on trading profits.  

This is a disadvantage against the current position where 

councils are not subject to pay corporation tax on any 

surplus. 

If the council were to consider a Joint Venture, with a 

private sector partner, an alternative to a company for the 

councils would be a LLP arrangement.  In such a scenario 

each party to the LLP would be taxed in accordance with 

the tax regime which applied to that body and so the 

councils would not pay corporation tax on any profits.  

However, setting up a JV is both a costly and time-

consuming arrangement; the selection of a partner alone 

can take a long time and inevitably the councils would lose 

some control over the service. 

If the service is going to be provided by a third party, care 

must be taken with how the company is set up so as to 

avoid any procurement implications. 

This advice does not deal in detail with the implications of 

the situation with the current arrangements for financing 

the second crematorium.  However, if the councils are 

minded to consider further setting up a company or 

entering into a joint venture, detailed legal and financial 

advice would be required in relation to the implications of 

this on these arrangements. 

  

2.6 If the decision is taken to go down the ‘Lead Authority’ route then questions that will need to be 

addressed are as follows:  

 2.6.1  Which member authority will be the ‘Lead Authority’?  

2.6.2  How will the Member Authorities share the risks, surplus, assets and liabilities?   

2.6.3  How will the Member Authorities seek to share liability for the pension exit payment that will 

arise on the Joint Committee ceasing to have any active members?  

Page 775



 2.6.4  How will crematorium staff fit into the staffing structure at the Lead Authority?  

2.6.5 What is the timeline for seeking agreement from the Member Authorities to a Lead Authority model?  

2.6.6 What is the timeline for implementing the Lead Authority model (to include a timeline to ensure 

sufficient engagement with employees and trade unions)?  

2.6.7 What is the current position on the development of the second crematorium in Dacorum? How many 

new staff will need to be employed to run it and over what timescales?   

 2.7  If the councils wish to consider the setting up of a company further detailed legal, tax and financial advice 

should be taken on the implications of this for the authorities; both in terms of the funding arrangements and the 

implications due to corporation tax.   The councils would need to fund this, and the costs of setting up and then 

administering the company; setting up the Board of Directors and dealing with the shareholder requirements.    

2.8  In reality, for most councils the costs of setting up a company, combined with the additional administrative 

burdens; the loss of control and the taxation burden, mean that many decide that it is better to keep the services 

in house unless there are other issues which mean that a company makes corporate and financial sense.  Often 

this relates to housing issues; or to situations where the setting up of a company or a Joint Venture enables 

additional investment and expertise to be provided which outweighs the disadvantages outlined above. 

  

Anthony Collins Solicitors LLP  

4 April 2022  

Anthony Collins Solicitors LLP  134 Edmund Street  |  Birmingham  |  B3 2ES  
76 King Street  |  Manchester  |  M2 4NH   www.anthonycollins.com  |  @ACSLLP   

 

 

 

Page 776



Document is Restricted

Page 777

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Cabinet Forward Plan
	7 South West Herts Joint Strategic Plan
	FINAL - Appendix A_SCI for the SW Herts JSP_version for adoption
	FINAL - Appendix B_South West Herts strategic plan10
	FINAL - Appendix C_SW Herts JSP Scoping Report_updated
	SW Herts JSP Scoping Report.pdf
	1.1.pdf
	3.1.pdf
	3.2.pdf
	3.3.pdf
	3.4.pdf
	3.5.pdf
	3.6.pdf
	3.7.pdf
	3.8.pdf
	3.9.pdf
	3.10.pdf
	3.11.pdf
	3.12.pdf

	Appendix D_Community Impact Assessment form JSP July 2022

	8 Provisional Outturn Report
	FINAL - Appendix A General Fund Provisional Financial Outturn 2021-22
	FINAL - Appendix B Housing Revenue Account Provisional Financial Outturn 2021-22
	FINAL - Appendix C Capital Monitoring Provisional Outturn 2021-22

	9 Chief Housing Officer
	10 Public Space Protection Orders - Town Centre
	FINAL - Appendix A - Consultation Responses
	FINAL - Appendix B - Draft PSPO
	FINAL - Appendix C - Current PSPO
	Appendix D - Community Impact Assessment

	11 Public Space Protection order - Dog
	FINAL - Appendix 1 2022 May Overview and Scrutiny Report V.Final- Post SLT1
	FINAL - Appendix 2 Printed minutes 14062022 1930 Strategic Planning Environment Overview Scrutiny
	FINAL - Appendix 3 Cabinet Report Dog PSPO Final Version- EFW - March 2019
	Appendix D - Community Impact Assessment

	12 PMO Reserve
	13 Paradise Design Code
	FINAL - Appendix A Paradise Design Code – Draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
	Appendix B Code Compliance Checklist
	FINAL - Appendix C Community Impact Assessment Paradise Design Code  Draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

	14 Constitution and Financial regulations
	FINAL - Constitution - Part 3 - Responsibility For Functions (June 2022 V4)
	FINAL - Constitution - Part 4 - Rules Of Procedure (May 2022)
	FINAL - Financial Regulations 2022 v1.1

	15 Crematorium Governance
	17 Commercial Programme Update



